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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS


COUNTY DEPARTMENT, LAW DIVISION
PAUL R. DULBERG, INDIVIDUALLY  
AND THE PAUL R. DULBERG  
REVOCABLE TRUST


Plaintiffs,
vs.


ADR SYSTEMS OF AMERICA, LLC., et al.
Defendants,


)
)
)
)
) CASE NO. 2022L010905
)
)


DULBERG’S REPLY TO “ALPHONSE A. TALARICO’S RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF 
DULBERG AND KOST’S MOTION TO RECONSIDER APRIL 22, 2025 FINAL ORDER 


BASED ON MISTAKES IN LAW”


A. TALARICO’S AUGUST 20, 2025 STATEMENTS ARE CONTRARY TO EVIDENCE AND COMMUNICATIONS RECORDS


1. Talarico stated:


“Regarding Movants’ mistaken interpretation of the facts and their repeated and continued claim of Alphonse A. Talarico lying to this Honorable Court and the Attorney 
Registration and Disciplinary Commission Talarico unequivocally denies the false allegation and demands Movants’ strict proof thereof.”


In our February 24, 2025 submission and March 17, 2025 submissionc and May 20, 2025 submission to the court we provided evidence for the many acts of willful and wanton prima facie 


professional misconduct committed by Talarico against Dulberg in case 22L010905. These acts took place over 3 successive time periods over about 30 months and included at least 5 separate, 


unique and identifiable stages of intentional lying by our retained attorney Talarico.1 


We did not make any claims concerning Talarico that were not supported by evidence. This document does the same. Talarico did not respond to and completely ignored the specific claims made 


and the supporting evidence provided and states he “demands Movants’ strict proof thereof” (while systematically ignoring the evidence and claims we provided to the court).


2. Talarico stated:


 “Finally, after working with, representing and defending against allegations of the Movants herein, I have come to the conclusion, as an attorney, not as a medical diagnosis, 
that the Movants’ are not lying but see the Law, Lawyers, Judges, Court Personnel through the filter of Persecutory Delusions.”


Talarico is claiming that our claims are not evidence-based but rather based on ‘persecutory delusions’ (for example, that we avoid evidence and instead make sweeping emotive generalizations 


laced with inventions). We state  (and demonstrate) that our claims are strictly evidence based. Talarico provides 2 examples of Dulberg and Kost seeing “the Law, Lawyers, Judges, Court 


Personnel through the filter of Persecutory Delusions”. Talarico states the first example below:


“Examplel. Dulberg is NOT a “Disabled Individual under Federal or Illinois law.


Dulberg’s repeated and continual claims of “Disability” are viewed by Respondent not as a lie or a subliminal request for special treatment but as a clear showing of 
Persecutory Delusion as Dulberg’s Disability legal determination, after much litigation and appeal ended on Apri123, 2013. Respondent raises this issue and those that 


1  Described in detail in MOTION TO RECONSIDER APRIL 22, 2025 FINAL ORDER BASED ON MISTAKES IN LAW paragraphs 1 to 19







follow to spotlight Dulberg’s credibility. (Please see Exhibit R1 which is redacted page 9 of an 814 page report, the full report can be submitted to the Honorable Court in 
camera if requested to do so.”


Talarico is intentionally lying to the presiding judge by using a document dated May 19, 2014 as evidence. Talarico knows the decision in the document he presents as evidence was corrected on 


April 20, 2017 (Exhibit CM). Talarico offered the sealed medical records (Exhibit BO)1 collected by DDS (Illinois Disability Determination Service) to Judge Otto at an August 29, 2023 hearing, 


so it is not possible that Talarico does not know the decision Talarico uses as evidence had been overruled on appeal and that the judge ruled Dulberg to be permanently disabled on April 20, 2017. 


. Once again we offer the judge the sealed Appellate Court documents (Exhibit BO) for an in camera review as evidence that Dulberg is permanently disabled and as evidence that Talarico is 


deliberately lying to the court. 


3. Talarico states the second example of Dulberg and Kost seeing “the Law, Lawyers, Judges, Court Personnel through the filter of Persecutory Delusions” as the following:


“Example2. Every lawyer, judge, court administrator, court employee, reporter etc. is conspiring to harm Dulberg and Kost. The following are ten (10) redacted examples of 
Complaints that Movants have filed against attorneys:


No. 2023JN02517 (submitted on July 27, 2023)
No.2023IN02518 (submitted on July 27, 2023)
No. 2023IN03135 (submitted on September 15, 2023)
No. 2023IN03136 (submitted on September 15, 2023)
No. 20231N03894-R (submitted on November 8, 2023)
No. 20231N0389&R (submitted on November 8, 2023)
No. 2023IN03897-R (submitted on November 8, 2023)
No.2023IN03895-R (submitted on November 8, 2023)
No. 2023IN03896-R (submitted on November 8, 2023)


Alphonse A Talarico No.2024 IN 00264 (submitted on March 15, 2024 and concluded on January 14, 2025 please see Exhibit R2 and R3 attached)(Please see Exhibit R4 an email 


from Dulberg and Kost to the ARDC substantiating the above 10 Complaints !led by the movants  herein)”


4. On January 6, 2024 Talarico sent us an email which informed us to place a “preamble” (contrary to Illinois law) in the Supreme Court Petition related to case 17LA377 (which was due by 


January 8, 2024). The email (Exhibit BJ)2 is reproduced below:


Date : 1/6/2024 11:52:32 AM 
From : “Alphonse Talarico” 
To : “Paul Dulberg” , “Paul Dulberg” , “T Kost” 
Subject : Preamble 


Gentlemen,


Please use the word “Preamble”. 
PREAMBLE: Much of the matter that follows can be characterized as fraud by officers of the court. Currently there are nine (9) related ARDC investigations pending 
(#2023INO2517, #2023INO2518, #2023INO3135, #2023INO3136, #2023INO3894-R, #2023INO, 2023INO3898-R, #2023INO3897-R, 2023INO3895-R, #2023 INO3896-R), 
two (2) submitted Judicial Inquiry Board “Complaints against a Judge,” and one (1) Judiciary Inquiry Board “Complaint against a Judge” that was unable to be processed 


1  See  Exhibit BO in COURT APPROVED SUPPLEMENT TO DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS
2  See Exhibit BJ in  COURT APPROVED SUPPLEMENT TO DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS







because the individual named is no longer an active Illinois state court judge.


The quote above is Talarico instructing us, in his own words, how to begin the Supreme Court Petition (by using a ‘preamble”) and what the first paragraph in the “preamble” should be.  Talarico 


wrote the same list of ARDC complaints and Judicial complaints in the email that Talarico (less than 5 months later) presented to the ARDC (and by extension the Illinois Supreme Court) as 


evidence of Dulberg trying to “bring down the Illinois Judicial system”. Talarico now uses the same list about 19 months later in this court as evidence of Dulberg and Kost seeing “the Law, 


Lawyers, Judges, Court Personnel through the filter of Persecutory Delusions” to the presiding judge. In the 2 examples Talarico chose to use as evidence of Dulberg’s and Kost’s delusional 


behavior, Talarico chose to deliberately lie to the presiding judge in both cases. 


5. Talarico listed Dulberg as a Self Represented Litigant in the 17LA377 appeal without Dulberg knowing it. (Exhibit CN) Talarico represented himself to Dulberg as if Talarico was 


Dulberg’s acting attorney during the 17LA377 appeal process (Exhibit CO)(Exhibit CP) and Talarico continued to charge Dulberg fees the entire time. After Talarico failed to file an Appellate 


Court Brief the case was dismissed by the Appellate Court (for failure to file a brief). 


6. On January 8, 2024 (the day the Supreme Court Petition related to case 17LA377 was due) Talarico informed us that the Supreme Court clerk told Talarico we can place hyperlinks in the 


Supreme Court Petition (contrary to Illinois law). Talarico also informed us hours before the Supreme Court Petition was due that Talarico “didn’t know how” to write an index for a Supreme 


Court Petition and we would have to figure that out ourselves. 


7. In addition, Talarico was provided with evidence as early as November 11, 2022 of a sophisticated system of document and information suppression and suppression of key evidence which 


Clinton and Williams (Dulberg’s retained attorneys in 17LA377 before Talarico)  used against Dulberg in 17LA377 while collaborating with opposing counsel Flynn (Exhibit CR). Dulberg and 


Kost wrote and filed a 143 page ARDC Complaint against Clinton and Williams with all claims supported with over 34 gigabytes of evidence1 on a thumb-drive given to the ARDC on July 28, 


2023. We wanted to file the complaint ourselves directly with the ARDC but Talarico insisted that we file the complaint with the ARDC through him, so we did. The same information appeared 


on the public website www.fraudonthecourt.net as of October 13, 2023 and Talarico accepted a $10,000 retainer on September 26, 20232 to pursue the same issues. 


8. In the attorney-client email communication3 Talarico never referred to the information he was provided on November 11, 2022 or the 143 page ARDC Complaint against Clinton and 


Williams (written entirely by Kost and Dulberg and filed by Talarico with the ARDC on July 28, 2023) in a negative way4.  Talarico was unquestionably aware that Clinton and Williams 


intentionally suppressed key evidence (Tilschner v Spangler) in 17LA377 because Talarico issued 2 subpoenas to Clinton and Williams which specifically concerned Tilschner v Spangler (the 


buried key evidence) in September and October, 2022. Talarico then personally interviewed Williams on November 4, 2022 on the 17LA377 court record specifically about key evidence Tilschner 


v Spangler. So it is impossible that Talarico did not know about the active and ongoing burial of key evidence Tilschner v Spangler in case 17LA377 by Clinton and Williams. The exchange 


between Williams and Talarico is reproduced in (Exhibit 264), beginning on page 20. For the very first time in any communications record5 (on May 29, 2024 in Talarico’s Response to the ARDC 


1  Available at www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits
2  See Exhibit CI in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO TALARICO’S MOTION TO UNSEAL...
3  Group Exhibit 50 All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Talarico and Kost and Talarico (about 2600 email files) are available online at this link:  


https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/
4  Group Exhibit 50  All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Talarico and Kost and Talarico (about 2600 email files) are available online at this link:  


https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/
5  Group Exhibit 50 All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Talarico and Kost and Talarico (about 2600 email files) are available online at this link:  


https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/







complaint against him) Talarico makes the first statement (in any record) which refers to the many claims we made about Clinton and Williams (which are documented in the 143 page ARDC 


complaint against them) negatively as a “conspiracy theory”. 


•  "is is more than 17 months a#er Talarico was !rst provided with the evidence and Talarico directly asked Williams about the missing key evidence Tilschner v Spangler during a hearing in 


case 17LA377.


•  "is is about 10 months a#er Talarico insisted we !le a 143 page complaint with the ARDC (that Kost and Dulberg wrote describing the claims in detail through Talarico.


•  "is is more than 8 months a#er Talarico accepted a $10,000 retainer to pursue the same claims against Clinton and Williams, among other claims.1


•  "is is more than 4 months a#er Talarico told Dulberg to inform the Illinois Supreme Court of the same claims against Clinton and Williams in a “preamble’ to our 17LA377 Supreme Court 


Petition and abruptly resigned as counsel 8 days later (6 days a#er the Supreme Court Petition was rejected by the clerk due to issues with format).


9. On August 19, 2025 (for the second time in any communications record) Talarico refers to the claims against Clinton and Williams as evidence of Dulberg’s and Kost’s ‘persecutory 


delusional’ behavior to the presiding judge in 22L010905. On May 29, 2024 Talarico made his very first negative comment about the website www.fraudonthecourt.net in any communications 


record (in his response to the ARDC complaint we filed against him) when Talarico wrote:


“Mr. Dulberg has created a web site with his half-brother Thomas Kost to “reveal to the world” all the injuries that the now ten named attorneys and judge and court clerks 
and certified court reporters have intentionally caused his family and himself.”  (Talarico’s ARDC Response, p3)


•  "e website www.fraudonthecourt.net was created around October 13, 2023.2 


•  Talarico was given access to the website on October 14, 2023.3 


•  Talarico accepted $10,000 dollars retainer around September 26, 2023 to pursue “Fraud on the court, Civil rights violations, Reopening the bankruptcy, ect”.4


•  "e contents of the website are identical with the contents of the ARDC Complaints we !led and they share a common +34 Gigabyte exhibits folder.


•  Talarico told Dulberg to place a “preamble” in the 17LA377 Supreme Court Petition which informs the Illinois Supreme Court of the claims against Popovich, Mast, Balke, the Baudins, 


Gooch and Clinton and Williams made in our ARDC Complaints against them on January 6, 2024.


•  In the attorney-client email communication Talarico never referred to the website in a negative way.5 


 For the first time in any record of communications (on May 29, 2024, in Talarico’s Response to the ARDC complaint) Talarico makes the first statement (in any record) which refers to the website 


contents negatively as a “conspiracy theory”.  For the second time in any communications record (On August 19, 2025) Talarico refers to the contents of the website www.fraudonthecourt.net as 


evidence of Dulberg’s and Kost’s ‘persecutory delusional’ behavior to the presiding judge in 22L010905


10. On August 21, 2025, in response to being informed that the ARDC is initiating an investigation of Thomas Gooch (Dulberg’s first retained attorney in 17LA377, Talarico being the third 


1  See Exhibit CI in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO TALARICO’S MOTION TO UNSEAL...
2  See Exhibit CG in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO TALARICO’S MOTION TO UNSEAL...
3  See Exhibit CH in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO TALARICO’S MOTION TO UNSEAL
4  See Exhibit CI in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO TALARICO’S MOTION TO UNSEAL...
5  Group Exhibit 50 All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Talarico and Kost and Talarico (about 2600 email files) are available online at this link:  


https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/







retained attorney in 17LA377) in response to the ARDC complaint we filed against him, we submitted a document called “A FURTHER RECORD OF HOW GOOCH (TOGETHER WITH 


CLINTON AND WILLIAMS AND TALARICO) INTENTIONALLY DESTROYED DULBERG’S CLAIMS IN 17LA377 AGAINST ACTUAL AND POTENTIAL DEFENDANTS”. (Exhibit 


264)1


11.  The key secondary legal source “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” Chapter 22 Section 29 is reproduced as Exhibit 253, but we have added red, blue, purple and green underlines to 


highlight certain key statements. The statements underlined in red go to the heart of the requirements for legal sufficiency for a legal malpractice claim in Illinois. The statements underlined in 


blue go to the heart of how to calculate the Statute of Limitations in a legal malpractice case in Illinois. The key secondary legal source “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” (8th edition), has 


been available since 1964 and  is currently available through Westlaw. The section on attorney professional misconduct (Chapter 29, Section 22) is only 3 pages long. It is not credible that Gooch 


and Clinton and Williams and Talarico were not aware of the contents of “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” since this key secondary legal source has been available to them probably during 


their entire careers as Illinois lawyers. 


12. The underlined statements in Exhibit 253 help us clearly see how Gooch (and Clinton and Williams) intentionally targeted Dulberg. The process of destroying Dulberg’s claims in 


17LA377 (as described in “A FURTHER RECORD...) (Exhibit 264) began with Gooch, who intentionally misrepresented the statements in “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” Chapter 29, 


Section 22 (Exhibit 253) underlined in red (about legal sufficiency) and underlined in blue (about calculating Statute of Limitations) to Dulberg. This is how Gooch intentionally guaranteed 


that the 17LA377 Complaint and First Amended Complaint would both be rejected by the court for being legally insufficient. Gooch never filed (intentionally refused to file) a legally sufficient 


complaint on behalf of Dulberg.


13. The process continued through Clinton and Williams, who intentionally continued and extended Gooch’s original intentional misrepresentation of the statements in “Trial Handbook for 


Illinois Lawyers” Chapter 29, Section 22 (Exhibit 253) underlined in blue (about calculating Statute of Limitations) when filing the Second Amended Complaint.2  The statements underlined 


in red and blue in Exhibit 253 unmistakably reveal acts of systematic and coordinated willful and wanton prima facie professional misconduct by both Gooch and Clinton and Williams in the 


actions concerning case 17LA377. It is not possible that they were not aware of the statements underlined in red and the statements underlined in blue in Exhibit 253


14. Talarico intentionally destroyed the 17LA377 appeal process and Talarico intentionally acted to create a Supreme Court petition of the wrong format, and then to blame Dulberg and Kost 


for the wrong format, which allowed the case to be dismissed with finality based on a Statute of Limitations legal theory which was intentionally distorted by Gooch and Clinton and Williams and 


which is contrary to Illinois law.  Just as Gooch was the first of 3 law firms to intentionally destroy any claims Dulberg had against actual and potential defendants in 17LA377, so Talarico was 


the law firm to intentionally destroy any claims Dulberg had against actual and potential defendants in 22L010905.


15. Talarico stated:


“Appellate Court Judge Susan F. Hutchinson with the Judiciary Inquiry Board. (Please see Exhibit RS attached) Retired Judge Thomas A. Meyer, now an independent 
contractor for Alternative Dispute Resolution, a party herein (Please see Movants’ Motion To Reconsider)” 


1  Version with working links at:   https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/ardc/2025-08-22_GOOCH_ARDC-2023IN03895_DULBERGs-response-to-investigation-request.pdf
2  The Second Amended Complaint was accepted by the court because Clinton and Williams addressed the statements underlined in red (concerning legal sufficiency) but the Second Amended Complaint was intentionally crafted 


by Clinton and Williams with the same misrepresentation of the statements underlined in blue (of how to calculate statute of limitations) that Gooch placed in the original Complaint and the First Amended Complaint.







Talarico sent Dulberg an email1 (on February 17, 2022) with an attachment of a prior recusal of Judge Meyer from case 12LA126, the reason given was that Thomas Meyer is personal friends with 


Thomas Popovich, a key defendant in 17LA377, . Further research into court records reveals a number of instances where Judge Meyer ruled favorably toward Popovich even though Judge Meyer 


already self-recused from cases and declared the reason for the recusal is a personal friendship with Popovich. (Exhibit BI-1) (Exhibit BI-2) (Exhibit BI-3) (Exhibit BI-4) (Exhibit BI-5) 


(Exhibit BI-6) (Exhibit BI-7)2


16. Talarico stated


“Thomas Long, Respondent’s former attorney herein based upon Long’s employment with a Law Firm that represented a client who was married to an attorney Dulberg 
filed an ARDC Complaint against and based upon that alone the Movants’ now alleged Tom Long to be in a conspiracy with all of the above to harm Dulberg and Kost. 
(Please see Movants’ Motion To Reconsider and Exhibit R6 attached.)”


This is not what we claimed. Our statements concerning Tom Long are directly in the record.3 Tom Long was involved in case 12LA326 so Tom Long must be aware of the recusal of Judge Meyer 


from that case and the reason Judge Meyer gave for his recusal. 


17. Talarico states:


“Movants claim that Alphonse A. Talarico drafted the portion of the Complaint against Alternative Dispute Resolution without their input or knowledge, and therefore they 
should be exonerated from any blame and liability.”


This is not what we claimed. Our claims are stated clearly in court documents. The body4 of the complaint was written completely by Thomas Kost. Talarico deleted over 80% of what Thomas 


Kost wrote and added only a single sentence to the body of the complaint that Thomas Kost wrote. 


18. Talarico stated:


“Summary: Respondent attorney Alphonse was under a compulsion to file and thereafter litigate this matter regarding the constraints and instructions of Movants based 
upon the immediate (within 24-48 hours) expiration of a statute of limitation expiring”


Concerning Statute of Limitations, Talarico informed Dulberg that the complaint needed to be filed by December 8, 2022 to be within the 6 year limit from when the binding mediation award was 


decided (which was on December 8, 2016). We later learned that it is when 12LA178 was finally dismissed (on December 12, 2016) (Exhibit CQ) that begins a 6 year limit, meaning the case 


needed to be filed by December 12, 2022. In the above quote Talarico continues to intentionally mis-state that the 6 year limit for filing fell on December 8, 2022, this time to the presiding judge.. 


19. The entire editing process of the Complaint can be known with extreme accuracy (meaning to the single letter or punctuation mark) simply by tracking successive drafts of the complaint 


and placing them in order. We use a simple and transparent method to document exactly what Talarico added to the body of the complaint and what Talarico deleted from the body of the 


complaint. Each successive draft is placed in a simple text file format (.txt) and side-by-side, line-by-line analysis is done. A simple ‘method of subtraction’ can be done with successive drafts to 


reveal exactly what was deleted (and what was added), draft by draft. 


20. Because Talarico deleted so much (over 80%) of the body of the complaint and added so little (a single sentence) to the body of the complaint written by Thomas Kost, and because 


1  See Exhibit CL in  DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO TALARICO’S MOTION TO UNSEAL...
2  See exhibits in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS
3  See paragraph 55 in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS
4  By ‘body’ we mean all relevant case history and all relevant facts







Talarico did not change a single sentence or a single punctuation mark in the less than 20% of the body of the complaint Talarico did not delete, locating the portions of the complaint that Talarico 


deleted is a simple process that yields precise result that opposing parties and parties of interest can easily check and, if incorrect, refute. Using this approach we compiled the following text files: 


November 12, 2022:      2022-11-12_2_baudin_olsen_complaint.txt                    (Exhibit AC)1


                                       Body of baudin_olsen_complaint of 2022-11-12.txt       (Exhibit CS)


December 6, 2022:         Body of baudin_olsen_complaint of 2022-12-06.txt       (Exhibit CT)


December 8, 2022:         2022-12-08_filed complaint body as text file.txt           (Exhibit CU)


21. Between December 6, 2022 and December 8, 2022 all the information in the following text file was deleted from the body of the complaint by Talarico:


Sections removed from body of complaint from 2022-12-06 to 2022-12-08.txt   (Exhibit CV)


22. Only a single sentence was added between December 6, 2022 and December 8, 2022 to the body of the complaint by Talarico, which is:


“On October 4, 2016 Bankruptcy trustee Olsen filed 2 motions with the bankruptcy court (Please see exhibit 4 and 5 attached)”


23. Using these text files as tools, the previous quote (reproduced below) can be seen more clearly:  As to Talarico’s preparation of the body of the complaint “within 24 to 48 hours”, it can be 


known with precision that Talarico took the body of a complaint written entirely by somebody else (Thomas Kost),, sat on the complaint given to him on December 1, 20222 for 6 days, doing 


nothing at all, and then for “24 to 48 hours” added a single sentence (requiring 1 to 2 minutes) and spent the rest of the time highlighting text and hitting the delete button. Talarico has never 


explained why he deleted this massive amount of ‘relevant facts’ in Exhibit CV written by Thomas Kost.


24. Talarico told Dulberg that Talarico’s internet was out on December 7 and December 8, 2022. Dulberg sent Talarico an email on December 7, 2022 stating::


“Dear Mr Talarico, Pre our phone conversation today  Since your internet went down today and we have a filing deadline of tomorrow, You have license to remove anything 
and everything below: • On December 12, 2016 The ADR Mediator The Honorable James P. Etchingham, (Ret) issued a Binding Mediation Net Award of $561,000 That you 
don’t deem necessary to this complaint and sign the complaint on my behalf.


This will be an uncertified complaint since we hit a log jam with your internet being down. We can Modify the complaint after its filed and certify the amended complaint.


You also have license to modify any part of the complaint to meet the requirements necessary so we meet the filing deadline of tomorrow.


I am available all night and anytime tomorrow should your internet issue be corrected. Thank You, Paul”


Dulberg informed Talarico “this will be an uncertified complaint because we hit a log jam with your internet being down. We can Modify the complaint after its filed and certify the amended 


complaint” due to Talarico’s ‘internet outage’.


25.  On December 8, 2022 at 9:14AM Talarico sent his third edit (a 3 count complaint) to Dulberg. (Exhibit AG)3, at 12:56PM Talarico sent his fourth (and final) edit to Dulberg. Count 4 and 


5 of the complaint, ‘Breach of Contract’ against ADR Systems and Allstate, was added only after 9:14AM and appears for the first time at 12:56PM and Talarico added 2 new defendants (Allstate 


1  See Exhibit AC in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS 
2  See Exhibit AD in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS 
3  See Exhibit AG in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS







and ADR Systems) between 9:14AM and 12:56PM on December 8, 2022.. (Exhibit AH)1


26. Dulberg signed the complaint without seeing it because Talarico telephoned Dulberg and claimed he was having internet outage issues for the past several days and wanted Dulberg’s 


signature on the last 2 pages as soon as possible before finishing the complaint just in case Talarico’s internet went down again. Talarico assured Dulberg the final complaint would be legally 


sufficient. Dulberg followed Talarico’s instruction, hurried home, downloaded the document on or after 12:56PM (Exhibit AH)2, printed the last 2 pages and signed the last page where indicated. 


Dulberg then scanned in the signed page, attached it to an email and sent it back to Talarico at 1:04PM to finish. (Exhibit AI)3 Dulberg was in possession of the final complaint less than 10 


minutes before sending the signed pages to Talarico.


27. Talarico states 4 points he claims  “will prove that these allegations are false” (the ‘allegations’ being that “Alphonse A. Talarico drafted the portion of the Complaint against Alternative 


Dispute Resolution without their input or knowledge”, a claim we never made) which he calls 3a, 3b, 3c and 3d. Talarico states point 3a:


“3a. Respondent’s Exhibit R7 (attached) is an email from Movants to Alphonse A. Talarico titled A smoking gun that Dulberg never signed the agreement and who may 
have stating that the signed ADR agreement was not signed by Dulberg.” 


Yes, Dulberg also stated multiple times in 22L010905 court records that Dulberg never signed the binding mediation agreement. Thomas Kost wrote this in the original body of the complaint. 


Talarico deleted the information from the complaint. But this has nothing to do with the claim “breach of contract” at the center of the sanctions award. How did the forged binding mediation 


agreement get changed into “breach of contract”?


28. Talarico states point 3b:


“3b. Respondent’s Exhabit R8 (attached) is an email from Movant Dulberg to respondent Talarico showing differences in the terms of the Bankruptcy Judge’s approved 
agreement and the one that was used at the binding mediation that Movant Dulberg claims he did not sign.”


Yes. Dulberg has always stated that Dulberg did not agree to enter into binding mediation and did not sign the binding mediation agreement. There are clearly differences between the two 


documents. But this has nothing to do with “breach of contract” at the center of the sanctions award. Why was the forgery information deleted from the complaint by Talarico? How were forgeries 


changed to a “breach of contract” argument by Talarico? 


29. Talarico states point 3d:


“3d. Respondent’s Exhibit R10 (attached) is the verification and Rule 222(b) affidavit signed by Movant Dulberg. Under Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137, it is not a valid 
defense to sanctions that a plaintiff signed a complaint without reading it. Rule 137 explicitly requires that the signature of an attorney or party on a pleading, motion, or 
other document certifies that the signer has read the document, conducted a reasonable inquiry into its basis, and believes it is well-grounded in fact, warranted by existing 
law, or supported by a good-faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law.”


 “The rule further mandates that the document must not be filed for any improper purpose, such as harassment or causing unnecessary delay or expense Medical Alliances, 
LLC v. Health Care Serv. Corp., 371 Ill. App. 3d 755, Ill. Sun. Ct., R 137.”


Talarico knew that Dulberg was in possession of the complaint for less than 10 minutes before signing. Talarico intentionally put Dulberg in this position (even though there were no Statute of 


Limitations concerns connected with December 8, 2022) by lying to Dulberg about the Statute of Limitations dates and by using the excuse of an “internet outage”. 


1  See Exhibit AH in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS
2  See Exhibit AH in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS
3  See Exhibit AI in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS







30. Talarico stated:, “the implied threats of ARDC reporting by Movants of the violated statute of limitations and other personal reasons.”   Talarico intentionally misadvised Dulberg on how 


to calculate the Statute of Limitations deadline as December 8, 2022 when it appears to be December 12, 2022 instead. As for “implied threats of ARDC reporting by Movants”, there is no 


evidence in any communications record1 of any actual or implied threats toward Talarico. 


B. TALARICO’S ONLY EXPLANATION AND JUSTIFICATION FOR HIS ACTIONS IN 22L010905 ARE IN HIS AUGUST 19, 2025 SUBMISSION AND IN TALARICO’S 
RESPONSE TO THE ARDC COMPLAINT AGAINST HIM


31. In our February 24, 2025 submission and March 17, 2025 submission and May 20, 2025 submission to the court we provided evidence for the many acts of willful and wanton prima facie 


professional misconduct committed by Talarico against Dulberg in case 22L010905. These acts took place over 3 successive time periods over about 30 months and included at least 5 separate, 


unique and identifiable stages of intentional lying by our retained attorney Talarico.2 5 separate and distinct acts of sabotage were necessary for Talarico to secure a sanctions punishment against 


his permanently disabled client. Talarico had to: (1) Establish “breach of contract” claims, (2) refuse to file the Amended Complaint written by his clients and given to him, (3) establish a sanctions 


claim, (4) secure the sanctions claim and (5) destroy any appeal attempt. (A 6th and final stage in the process is to transfer the penalty and cost to Dulberg alone, which Talarico is now attempting 


to do.)


32. The entirety of Talarico’s explanations for his actions during each of the 5 stages are given in only two sources: Talarico’s Response to an ARDC complaint filed against him (on May 29, 


2024)3 and Talarico’s submission of August 19, 2025. How does Talarico explain his actions during each of these 5 stages? 


C. TALARICO’S EXPLANATION AND JUSTIFICATION FOR HIS ACTIONS IN 22L010905


33. Talarico’s explanation for filing on December 8, 2022 the way he did (stage 1: establish “breach of contract” claims) was explained in paragraphs 17 to 25. Talarico never explains why his 


actions match the Res Judicata Game Plan.4. Talarico never explains the massive deletion editing process. How were each of the sentences and sections in the Exhibit CV text file chosen for 


deletion? Why were these specific sentences or sections chosen? What is the logic and reasoning behind editorial strategy? Using what criteria? Talarico never explains how he determined that 


June 8, 2022 was the last day Dulberg could file a complaint against defendants Baudins and Olsen. Talarico never explained his “internet outages” over December 7 and December 8, 2022. 


Talarico knew Dulberg was in possession of the “fourth edit” for less than 10 minutes before signing the last page. Talarico knew Dulberg informed Talarico “this will be an uncertified complaint 


because we hit a log jam with your internet being down. We can Modify the complaint after its filed and certify the amended complaint”.


34. Talarico’s explanation for failing to file an Amended Complaint (stage 2: refuse to file the Amended Complaint written by his clients and given to him)  is as follows:


“Furthermore Respondent’s failure to amend the Complaint regarding the section against the Alternative Dispute Resolution was caused by the former Judge Otto stating 
that he thought that he had released the Alternative Dispute Resolution and since there was no representative for Alternative Dispute Resolution in court nor did anyone 
correct the record when the order was circulated, Respondent approached this issue as one that had to be Appealed”


This is not what Talarico told Dulberg about why Dulberg should not appear in court for a status hearing called by ADR Systems on October 31, 2023. Dulberg sent this email to Talarico Just 


1  Group Exhibit 50 All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Talarico and Kost and Talarico (about 2600 email files) are available online at this link:  
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/


2  Described in detail in Paragraphs 1 to 19 of MOTION TO RECONSIDER APRIL 22, 2025 FINAL ORDER BASED ON MISTAKES IN LAW
3  See Exhibit BY in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO MOTION TO UNSEAL...
4  See paragraph 19 in COURT APPROVED SUPPLEMENT TO DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS







after the hearing: (Exhibit AV)1


Date : 10/31/2023 12:40:32 PM
From : “Paul Dulberg”
To : “Alphonse Talarico”
Cc : “Tom Kost”
BCc : “Paul Dulberg”
Subject : Kangaroo court order issued today in Baudin, Olsen, ADR, Allstate case
Dear Mr Talarico,
If I understand you correctly from our phone conversation;
1. Judge Otto and the cook county circuit court lost jurisdiction to have any more hearing in the case because we had
already !lled for appeal.
2. We !led for the appeal a#er ADR !led this motion to clarify but before the motion to clarify was heard.
3. Motions to clarify orders do not stay the date to !le the appeal.
4. Only motions challenging court orders stay appeal proceedings.
If I got anything wrong in what I understood from our phone conversation or if I missed anything please let me
know.
Please send me a copy of the Kangaroo court order issued today by Mr Otto who just played Judge in a kangaroo
court because he has no jurisdiction.
A more detailed explanation of what happened and what we can or need to do would be appreciated as well.
"anks,
Paul


Talarico encouraged Dulberg to believe the October 31, 2023 hearing was called in an invalid court with no jurisdiction. Talarico encouraged Dulberg to see the hearing as a “kangaroo court”. 


Talarico told Dulberg that if Talarico or Dulberg attended the hearing they would be legitimizing an invalid court. 


35. Talarico’s explanation for why he did not attend (and instructed Dulberg to not attend) the October 31, 2023 status hearing (concerning an Amended Complaint) called by ADR Systems 


(stage 3: establish a sanctions claim)  is not given anywhere. Talarico walks around and ignored the issue. The evidence for the actual instructions that Talarico gave Dulberg concerning the 


October 31, 2023 status hearing and the true reason Dulberg did not attend are given in the email reproduced in the previous paragraph. 


36. Talarico has never explained why he submitted the document “DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO SANCTIONS” on our behalf (stage 4: secure the sanctions claim) after Talarico resigned 


under conditions described in this document without informing us and without letting us see it, review it or comment on it. The issue is simply assumed as valid with no explanation given and 


ignored. Given that opportunity, Talarico predictably knowingly and systematically lied to the presiding judge while writing the document for Dulberg on Dulberg’s behalf.. 


37. Talarico has never given any explanation for receiving payment to represent Dulberg during the appellate process, treating Dulberg as if Talarico is Dulberg’s retained attorney during the 


appellate process, yet filing Dulberg’s Notice of Appeal in a way that places Dulberg as a Self Representing Litigant (SLR) or Pro-se in 3 consecutive Appellate Court Notices of Appeal (stage 5: 


destroy any appeal attempt.) . The issue is just walked around and ignored by Talarico.


D. TALARICO’S EXPLANATION AND JUSTIFICATION FOR HIS ACTIONS IN BOTH 17LA377 AND 22L010905. 


38. A list of key actions by Talarico in cases 17LA377 and 22L010905 together with Talarico’s entire explanation and justification for Talarico’s actions are as follows:


1  See Exhibit AV in MOTION TO RECONSIDER APRIL 22, 2025 FINAL ORDER BASED ON MISTAKES IN LAW







•  Talarico sends Judge Meyer recusal to Dulberg: (February 17, 2022) Talarico never explained why he sent this to Dulberg, then never presented it in court or used it in any way, and then 


over 2 years later Talarico claimed Dulberg sees Meyer “through the !lter of Persecutory Delusions” for seeing the Meyer recusal (and others like it) as evidence of a con$ict of interest. 


•  Talarico subpoenaed court reporter signatures and signature authentication exposed at least 5 forged signatures of court reporters on depositions in underlying case 12LA178: (May 


24, 2022) Talarico never explains how reports by Omni of the court reporters signatures compared with signatures on 5 of the 10 depositions taken in underlying case 12LA178 found the 


signatures to be forgeries. Talarico also never explains how we then told him we want the court reporters signatures on the other 5 depositions to be checked for forgery but Talarico didn’t 


pursue the issue. "omas Kost included this information in the complaint "omas Kost wrote but Talarico deleted the information before !ling the complaint on December 8, 2022.


•  Talarico attempted to !le "ird Amended Complaint in 17LA377 with no reference to newly found forgeries: Talarico never explained why about 2 weeks a#er Omni issued their 


reports on the forged signatures Talarico tried to get Dulberg to agree to sign  a ‘"ird Amended Complaint’ (which Talarico had already completely prepared and ready to be signed by 


Dulberg) that did not include any information on the newly discovered forged signatures. Dulberg refused to sign the complaint and the complaint was never !led..


•  Knowledge of Gagnon admission of negligence for Dulberg’s injury: (July, 2022) Talarico !rst explained to Dulberg in July, 2022 that, because Gagnon never !led an answer to a cross-


claim for contributions !led against Gagnon on February 1, 2013, Gagnon e%ectively admitted to the accusations against him in the cross-claim for contributions. "is means that Gagnon 


e%ectively admitted negligence for injuring Dulberg with a chainsaw as of March, 2013. "omas Kost included this information in the complaint "omas Kost wrote but Talarico deleted this 


information before !ling the complaint on December 8, 2022. Talarico has never explained why Talarico deleted this key evidence from the 222L010905 complaint he !led and why Talarico 


never raised this key evidence as an issue in 17LA377.


•  Talarico allowed F1 discovery to close and case 17LA377 to be dismissed without raising the issue of forged signatures and without asking to subpoena any more court reporter 


signatures:. (July 11, 2022) Talarico has never explained why Talarico allowed Judge Meyer to close F1 discovery on July 11, 2022 without Talarico raising the issue of the forged court 


reporter signatures on at least 5 of the 10 depositions taken in 12LA178 and without requesting to investigate the signatures on the remaining 5 depositions. Talarico never explained why 


Talarico never raised the issue of Judge Meyer being friends with Popovich by admission and Judge Meyer’s prior recusal in case 12LA326 due to his friendship with Popovich.


•  Talarico !led Dulberg Notice of Appeal in 17LA377 placing Dulberg as pro se (SLR): Talarico has never explained why Talarico !led 3 di%erent Notices of Appeal on Dulberg’s behalf 


in a way that lists Dulberg as a Self Representing Litigant (SLR) or Pro se while Talarico acted as Dulberg’s attorney for the appeal process and while Talarico charged Dulberg fees for 


representing Dulberg during the appeal process.


•  Talarico destroyed Dulberg’s 17LA377 appeal and Supreme Court Petition: (March 2023 to January, 2024) Talarico never explained why he didn’t know about format requirements of a 


Supreme Court Petition. Talarico never explained why Talarico informed his client to begin a Supreme Court Petition with a “preamble” and why Talarico told Dulberg that the Supreme 


Court clerk told Talarico that hyperlinks can appear in the Supreme Court Petition. Talarico did state to the ARDC (and by extension the Illinois Supreme Court) that Dulberg and Kost 


insisted on including hyperlinks in the Supreme Court Petition:


“Additionally, based upon information and belief and the attorney judgmental rule, and necessitated by the clients’ demand to file with said Petition hundreds of pages of 
information they had prepared for their multiple ARDC Requests for Investigation and their self-created web site, it was decided to file the Petition for Leave to Appeal to 
the Illinois Supreme Court with hyperlinks to their established sites and Complaints.







The Assistant-Clerk of the Illinois Supreme Court, in contact with Mr. Talarico, indicated that the petition with hyperlinks could not be accepted. The Assistant-Clerk of the 
Illinois Supreme Court, as a courtesy, gave instructions about how to correct and refile the Petition for Leave to Appeal and said instructions were forwarded to the 
Complaints herein because Mr. Talarico had already indicated that he was withdrawing from all representations of the Claimants.


This matter was ended as to Mr. Talarico when he was informed by the assistant Clerk of the Illinois Supreme Court that he did not have to withdraw his appearance from 
the Petition for Leave to Appeal because as of on or about January 8, 2024, no Petition had been filed /accepted.”


Note how Talarico acts (to the Illinois Supreme Court) as if Talarico was competently representing Dulberg during the appeal process without informing the Illinois Supreme court that Talarico 


listed Dulberg as Pro se in the Notice of Appeal 


•  Talarico deleted over 80% of complaint and intentionally !led frivolous lawsuit claims based on “breach of contract”: (December 7 and December 8, 2022) "e entirety of Talarico’s 


explanation for these acts has already been presented.


•  Talarico failed to !le Amended Complaint: (June to October, 2023) "e entirety of Talarico’s explanation for these acts has already been presented.


•  Talarico told Dulberg to not appear at status hearing: (October 31, 2023) "e entirety of Talarico’s explanation for these acts has already been presented.


•  Talarico !led Notice of Appeal as if Dulberg is Pro se (SLR) in 22L010905: Talarico has never explained why Talarico did this. Talarico just ignores the subject and makes no comment on 


it.


•  Talarico intentionally misinformed ARDC of number of cases retained for and of representing Dulberg during the appeal processes: (for which Dulberg was unknowingly listed as 


Pro se) (May 29, 2024) Talarico has never explained why  he has never mentioned being retained by us on September 26, 2023 for at least 3 new cases for “Fraud on the court, Civil rights 


violations, Reopening the bankruptcy, Etc”. Even though we have raised the issue a few times in the record, Talarico has never responded to it and simply ignored the event ever since.


•  Talarico accused Dulberg of “avowing” to “bring down the Illinois Justice System” 3 times and deliberately and systematically lied to the ARDC (and by extension to the Illinois 


Supreme Court): (May 29, 2024) Talarico has explained this by how Dulberg and Kost “see the Law, Lawyers, Judges, Court Personnel through the filter of Persecutory Delusions”. We 


asked the presiding judge and the ARDC to subpoena the recorded telephone conversations for the purpose of proving that Talarico is deliberately lying but we were refused. So there is 


absolutely no evidence supporting the claim or any explanation of evidence by Talarico of Dulberg’s “avowing” to “bring down the Illinois justice system”, there is just Talarico’s diagnosis 


of our mental states that serves as Talarico’s only explanation on the record.


•  Talarico intentionally misinformed ARDC of Dulberg’s disability status: accusing Dulberg of lying about his disability status (May 29, 2024) Talarico stated: “Note: some Judges deny 


that Dulberg quali!es as a permanently disabled person in their rulings but Mr. Dulberg categorizes himself in all cases” (Exhibit BY,p4)1 but o%ered no evidence to support the claim. No 


evidence was given with the claim.


•  Talarico intentionally misinformed presiding judge of Dulberg’s disability status: accusing Dulberg of lying about his disability status (August 20, 2025) (already described in paragraph 


2).


E. WHAT WE ARE ASKING THE COURT TO DO


1  See Exhibit BY page 4 in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO TALARICO’S MOTION TO UNSEAL....







39. Our MOTION TO RECONSIDER consists of Sections A through J: Each section gives reasons for why we are asking Judge Swanagan to reconsider his final orders of December 17, 2024 


and April 22, 2025.


40. In Section A we note “Decision does not account for acts of fraud against Dulberg by his own attorney Talarico raised by plaintiffs”. Talarico’s actions throughout 22L010905 go to the 


heart of what actually happened in 22L010905. Collected quotes by Swanagan does not address or mention any of Talarico’s actions. (Exhibit BR)1 Neither the ARDC nor the presiding judge 


addresses or mentions any of Talarico’s actions. Talarico’s actions are simply bypassed and ignored. This is what allows the fraud to proceed to completion. Talarico can then transfer all financial 


responsibility to Dulberg using Skolnick and Metzger v Brotman 


41. Talarico’s actions in 22L010905 are the “elephant in the room” and Talarico is caught “red handed” Securing sanctions against Dulberg was not possible simply by getting Dulberg to sign 


on December 8, 2022. Much more was needed (5 stages total). Talarico intentionally acted through 5 recognizable stages over more than 2 years to secure sanctions against his permanently 


disabled client. Securing sanctions against Dulberg was not possible simply by getting Dulberg to sign on December 8, 2022. Much more was needed (5 stages in total). Talarico intentionally 


acted through 5 recognizable stages over more than 2 years to secure sanctions against his permanently disabled client.


42.  We are asking Judge Swanagan to not allow the punishment of sanctions to be applied to Dulberg under the conditions we have documented and presented to the court since first 


discovering them (after Talarico abruptly resigned). If sanctions are allowed, we ask the court to proportion the punishment for sanctions (award amount) according to responsibility for actions 


taken by Dulberg and by Talarico. We ask the court to explicitly and unambiguously assign penalty to Talarico for his actions (and, if necessary, to Dulberg for his actions) based on what Talarico 


actually did and what Talarico should be held responsible for. The current April 22, 2025 court order holding both talarico and Dulberg responsible “jointly and severally” is an invitation to allow 


Talarico to escape all responsibility for his actions simply by citing Skolnick and Metzger v Brotman (plan A) or by blaming his client for suffering from delusions of persecution (plan B). This is 


foreseeable.


43. In Section B we note “Decision gives attorneys green light to commit fraud on client for profit following a simple template that can be repeated and perfected”.  We used a table we called 


“Res Judicata game plan” to show how Talarico intentionally “switched out” Dulberg’s evidence with a decoy argument crafted to trigger a ‘frivolous lawsuit’ sanction using 5 simple steps.  


Following this 5 step ‘Res Juridicata game plan’ by using the 5 stages of lying over the 3 time periods2 allows any attorney to have a template for successful corruption to be repeated and 


perfected. These 5 steps can destroy anyone’s claims and can successfully violate anyone’s civil right to use a courtroom. If Talarico is allowed to get away with the acts we have documented in 


the court record, what is to stop other attorney networks from acting the same way? Nothing. This is dangerous to the general public.


44. In Section C we note “Decision provides strong economic motivations to attorneys to commit fraud against their own client and fraud on the court without risk”. As mentioned, it is much 


easier to highlight text and hit the delete button than it is to compose a consistent set of claims supported by evidence. The Fees and Costs Table (Exhibit BN-7)3 documents how much Talarico 


stole while committing the acts documented in our submissions to the court.. Talarico also received a $10,000 retainer (which he later denied receiving) to pursue fraud on the court claims (among 


other claims). Talarico also claimed to pay an Expert witness and consulting attorney Allan Kravets $14,500. If Talarico is allowed to get away with these actions, then what is to stop other 


1  See Exhibit BR in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO TALARICO’S MOTION TO UNSEAL. 
2  Described in detail in MOTION TO RECONSIDER APRIL 22, 2025 FINAL ORDER BASED ON MISTAKES IN LAW paragraphs 1 to 19
3  See Exhibit BN-7 in COURT APPROVED SUPPLEMENT TO DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS







attorneys from following Talarico’s model as their business model? This is dangerous to the general public.


45. In Section D we note “Decision does not account for existence of forgeries in 22L010905 and in underlying cases 12LA178 and BK 14-83578 raised by plaintiffs”. Concerning the claim 


against Allstate for ‘breach of contract’, Talarico was in possession of evidence that at least 9 out of 10 depositions in underlying case 12LA178 had no valid certification page and at least 5 of the 


depositions had forgeries of court reporters signatures on the certification pages. Allstate attorneys were participants in all 10 depositions. (Exhibit AJ1) (Exhibit AJ2) (Exhibit AJ3) (Exhibit 


AJ4) (Exhibit AJ5) (Exhibit AJ6) (Exhibit AJ7) (Exhibit AJ8) (Exhibit AJ9) (Exhibit AJ10) (Exhibit AJ11) (Exhibit AJ12) (Exhibit AJ13) (Exhibit AJ15) (Exhibit AJ16)1


46. In Section E we note “Decision does not account for fact that defendant in underlying case admitted negligence in March, 2013 raised by plaintiffs”. This was written in the complaint but 


Talarico deleted it before filing the complaint. Because defendant Gagnon admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury as of March, 2013, there was no reason why Dulberg was ever placed in 


binding mediation in October, 2016. Dulberg was placed in binding mediation by the Baudins and Allstate alone acting without informing the bankruptcy trustee Heeg. This happened before 


Joseph Olsen was appointed bankruptcy trustee. There was no reason for any of this to happen. At this time ADR System, with whom Dulberg never had a reason to encounter, is awarded 


sanctions (with the extreme assistance of Talarico) for a staged claim of “breach of contract” that was never in the complaint written entirely by Thomas Kost after Talarico deleted more than 80% 


of the ‘relevant facts. Because Gagnon admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury as of march, 2013, Dulberg still does not know why the Baudins ever engaged Dulberg’s case with ADR systems 


in the first place.


47. In Section F we note “Decision does not account for acts of fraud on the court raised by plaintiffs”. The responses of all attorney officers of the court involved in 22L010905 has effectively 


been to not respond at all. The issue was just ignored and bypassed in court records to date. Did the Judge Swanagan rule on Dulberg’s fraud on the court claims that were raised on February 


24, 2025? If the judge did not rule on the claim of fraud on the court raised by us, we are asking the court to do so explicitly. This is because if ‘fraud on the court’ is found to occur, then (due to 


the serious nature of the claim) such a ruling would have serious implications for all orders issued in 22L010905 (which could then be challenged as being potentially invalid and therefore void). 


We ask Judge Swanagan to be more explicit on this subject because if the same issue of ‘fraud on the court’ is raised before some other court in the future we need to protect ourselves from an 


opposing argument which claims that the issue of ‘fraud on the court’ was “already adjudicated” by Judge Swanagan and therefore can no longer be raised again at a future time (which is likely to 


happen if the order is not clear on this subject).


48. In Section G we note “Decision does not account for involvement of second retained attorney and their liability raised by plaintiffs”. Just the actions of talarico are not mentioned or 


reflected in the final order of April 22, 2025, our second retained attorney for 22L010905, Alan Kravets, is not found liable for anything and is not mentioned at all. We ask the court to reconsider 


why neither retained attorney is held personally responsible for the abuse of their permanently disabled client we have documented in court records.


49. In Section I we note “The Illinois general public is in danger of being targeted by this scheme or similar schemes at any time” which is why final orders that do not account for Talarico’s 


actions allows all these acts we are documenting to be used on anyone else without limits.


50. In Section J we note “Dulberg was not allowed to conduct any discovery on a number of ‘red flag’ issues”. The vital importance of the telephone records and recordings of telephone 


conversations is at the heart of every one of Talarico’s actions documented here. This is where Dulberg “avowed’ to “bring down the Illinois justice system” and where Dulberg and Kost saw “the 


1  See Exhibits AJ1 to AJ16 in DULBERG’S RESPONSE TO ADR’S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS







Law, Lawyers, Judges, Court Personnel through the filter of Persecutory Delusions”. The inaccessible recordings of telephone conversations is the only ‘fig leaf’ or hiding place that Talarico has 


left. We asked both the presiding judge and the ARDC to subpoena the recorded telephone conversations in order to expose these lies once and for all. We were refused. We are asking for this to 


be reconsidered in light of how important the recording of telephone conversations would be to most all issues raised in this motion. Also,  The court offered us no avenue through which we could 


obtain our case files from Talarico. When we asked for our case files from the court Judge Swanagan stated, “I don’t have any basis for reviewing your request for files. There are ways in which 


clients are supposed to address those requests. I don’t know whether you have, but those requests aren’t supposed to be handled here.”. If the presiding judge does not facilitate the transaction, we 


still don’t know what these methods are.


51. Sections A to J in MOTION TO RECONSIDER are all points we are asking Judge Swanagan to modify in his final orders of December 17, 2025 and April 22, 2025. In the case that Judge 


Swanagan rules against this motion, we welcome this opportunity for Judge Swanagan to explain further any and all of the points A through J that we are raising in this MOTION TO 


RECONSIDER so that have as clear a record as possible on each of the issues raised here and we can respectfully perfect our right to appeal his decisions.


  WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs, PAUL R. DULBERG, INDIVIDUALLY AND THE PAUL R. DULBERG REVOCABLE TRUST, pray that the Court enter an Order GRANTING this 
MOTION TO RECONSIDER APRIL 22, 2005 FINAL ORDER BASED ON MISTAKES IN LAW, STRIKE OR MODIFY the courts APRIL 22, 2005 FINAL ORDER BASED ON MISTAKES 
IN LAW and grant any other relief the court deems appropriate.


Respectfully submitted, this 25th day of August 2025


By: /s/ Paul R. Dulberg 
Paul R. Dulberg
4606 Hayden Ct.  
McHenry, Illinois 60051  
(847) 497-4250  
Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net
 
Pro se for Plaintiffs: Plaintiffs PAUL R. DULBERG, INDIVIDUALLY AND THE PAUL R. DULBERG REVOCABLE TRUST


VERIFICATION BY CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1-109


Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the Code of Civil Procedure, the undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this instrument are true and 
correct, except as to matters therein stated to be on information and belief, and as to such matters the undersigned certifies as aforesaid that he verily believes the same to be true.


 /s/ Paul R. Dulberg 
      Paul R. Dulberg
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Chapter 22. The Burden of Proof and of Proving Specific Causes and Facts in Certain Cases


§ 22:29. Legal malpractice


Trial Strategy


 Actions Against Attorneys for Professional Negligence, 14 Am. Jur. Trials 265


In any legal malpractice action, a plaintiff must plead the existence of a valid underlying cause of action.  Four elements must
be alleged and proven: (1) the existence of an attorney-client relationship that establishes a duty on the part of the attorney,
(2)  a  negligent act  or omission that  breached that  duty,  (3)  proximate cause that  establishes that  but  for  the attorney’s
negligence plaintiff would not have suffered an injury, and (4) damages. Because a plaintiff must establish that but for the
attorney’s negligence he would have been successful in the underlying action, he is required to prove a case within a case,
that is, establish a prima facie case in the underlying action, and then prove it, in order to prove the legal malpractice case.
This is required because of the damages element of the action. No malpractice exists unless counsel’s negligence has resulted
in the loss of an underlying action. Sheppard v. Krol, 218 Ill. App. 3d 254, 161 Ill. Dec. 85, 578 N.E.2d 212 (1st Dist. 1991).
 
When an attorney’s negligence is alleged to have occurred during the representation of a client in the underlying action, and
the underlying action never reached trial because of that negligence, the plaintiff is required to prove counsel’s negligence
was the proximate cause that resulted in the loss of the underlying action.  If the underlying action remained actionable
following the discharge of the former attorney, then the plaintiff can prove no set of facts that connect the defendant’s
conduct with damages sustained as a result of the defendant’s negligence. Cedeno v. Gumbiner, 347 Ill. App. 3d 169, 282 Ill.
Dec. 600, 806 N.E.2d 1188 (1st Dist. 2004).
 
It is prima facie negligent conduct for an attorney to misadvise a client on a settled point of law that can be looked up by the
means of ordinary research techniques. Where there are successive negligent actors, the negligence of the second actor, under
certain circumstances, may be deemed a superseding cause, relieving the original negligent actor of liability, as a matter of
law. A former client’s consultation with a new attorney, regarding possible representation in a wrongful death suit, did not
constitute a superseding cause that relieved the former law firm of liability in legal malpractice action for providing client
with wrong information concerning the statute of limitations when the firm terminated its representation, where the new
attorney did not undertake any representation of the client and had no duty to inform client of the exact amount of time
remaining on the limitations period. Lopez v. Clifford Law Offices, P.C., 362 Ill. App. 3d 969, 299 Ill. Dec. 53, 841 N.E.2d
465 (1st Dist. 2005).
 
The injury in a legal malpractice action is not a personal injury, nor is it the attorney’s negligent act itself. Rather, it is a
pecuniary injury to an intangible property interest caused by the lawyer’s negligent act or omission.  The fact that an attorney
may have breached his duty of care is not, in itself, sufficient to sustain the client’s legal malpractice cause of action. Even if
negligence on the part of the attorney is established, no action will lie against the attorney unless that negligence proximately
caused damage to the client. The existence of actual damages is therefore essential to a viable cause of action for legal
malpractice.  Where  the  alleged  legal  malpractice  involves  litigation,  no  actionable  claim  exists  unless  the  attorney’s
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negligence resulted in the loss of an underlying cause of action. If an underlying action never reached trial because of the
attorney’s negligence, the plaintiff in a legal malpractice action is required to prove that, but for the attorney’s negligence, the
plaintiff would have been successful in that underlying action. Tri-G, Inc. v. Burke, Bosselman & Weaver, 222 Ill. 2d 218,
305 Ill. Dec. 584, 856 N.E.2d 389 (2006).
 
In a legal malpractice action by a former wife against attorneys who represented her in a divorce action, the evidence was
insufficient to establish that the former wife was damaged as a result of the attorneys’ alleged failure to conduct proper
discovery and to obtain an expert witness to value the former husband’s interest in his law firm, where the attorney expert
testifying for the attorneys stated that they did not breach their standard of care in not hiring such an expert, the former wife’s
expert admitted he had not reviewed the record of the divorce action, and the former wife failed to present any concrete
evidence  that  she  would  have  received  more  than  the  $2.07  million  in  assets  and  the  $1,033,747 in  a  nonmodifiable
maintenance that  she  agreed to  accept  in  settlement  of  divorce  action,  after  she terminated the  attorneys  and obtained
substitute counsel, had she not settled out of court. Weisman v. Schiller, Ducanto and Fleck, Ltd., 368 Ill. App. 3d 41, 306 Ill.
Dec. 29, 856 N.E.2d 1124 (1st Dist. 2006).
 
A legal malpractice action filed before one plaintiff turned 18 and within six years of the date on which a second plaintiff
reached the age of majority was timely filed as to those two plaintiffs but, unless some other tolling provision or exception
applied, was untimely as to the remaining two plaintiffs, both of whom turned 18 more than six years before the action was
filed. Fraudulent concealment is ground for tolling statutes of repose, including the statute of repose for legal malpractice. A
fiduciary who is silent, and thus fails to fulfill his duty to disclose material facts concerning the existence of a cause of action,
has fraudulently concealed that action, as would toll the statutes of limitations and repose, even without affirmative acts or
representations. 735 ILCS 5/13-215; DeLuna v. Burciaga, 223 Ill. 2d 49, 306 Ill. Dec. 136, 857 N.E.2d 229 (2006).
 
Damages are not presumed in a legal malpractice case. The plaintiff bears the burden of proving that she suffered damages as
a  result  of  the  attorney’s  negligence.  In  a  legal  malpractice  action  against  the  attorney  who  represented  a  minor’s
guardianship estate in the underlying medical malpractice action relating to injuries that the minor suffered at birth, which
action alleged the attorney’s failure to communicate to the guardian a $1 million pretrial settlement offer by the defense in the
underlying case, the estate was required to prove, for purposes of the proximate cause element of the legal malpractice claim,
that in the underlying action the trial court would have approved the settlement on the minor’s behalf. The failure of the
attorney who represented the minor’s guardianship estate in the underlying medical malpractice action relating to minor’s
injuries at birth, to inform the guardian of the $1 million pretrial settlement offer before the attorney rejected the offer, was
the proximate cause of the injury to the estate, as an element of the legal malpractice, because in the underlying action, the
trial court would have approved of the pretrial settlement on the minor’s behalf, where the settlement amount was adequate,
in the light of weaknesses in the medical malpractice case, the adverse evidentiary rulings, the risk that the jury would find no
medical malpractice, and the motivation of the minor’s mother, which was “[n]ot the money” but rather to “go after the
doctor so he couldn’t do it to another baby.” 755 ILCS 5/19-8. First Nat. Bank of LaGrange v. Lowrey, 375 Ill. App. 3d 181,
313 Ill. Dec. 464, 872 N.E.2d 447 (1st Dist. 2007).
 
To establish proximate cause in a legal malpractice action the plaintiff must essentially prove a case within a case, which
means that but for the attorney’s negligence, the plaintiff would have prevailed in the underlying action. Sufficient evidence
in a client’s legal malpractice action against her attorneys and the law firm that represented her, in a slip-and-fall lawsuit
against her landlord, supported the conclusion that the client would not have prevailed in the slip-and-fall lawsuit, so as to
support the jury’s verdict in favor of the attorneys and the law firm, where the client did not know whether the gutters on her
apartment building were leaking at the spot where she slipped on ice, either before or on the day of the accident, and such ice
could have formed as a result of natural accumulation. Orzel v. Szewczyk, 391 Ill. App. 3d 283, 330 Ill. Dec. 381, 908 N.E.2d
569 (1st Dist. 2009).
 
To prove the proximate cause element in a legal malpractice action, the client must demonstrate that but for the attorney’s
negligence, it would have succeeded in the underlying lawsuit, which requires that the client litigate a case within a case.
Magnetek, Inc. v. Kirkland and Ellis, LLP, 2011 IL App (1st) 101067, 352 Ill. Dec. 720, 954 N.E.2d 803 (App. Ct. 1st Dist.
2011).
 
In a legal malpractice action, a client is not considered “injured,” as would trigger an accrual of a claim, unless and until he
has suffered a loss for which monetary damages may be sought. Where an attorney’s negligence allegedly occurred during
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the attorney’s representation of a client in an underlying litigation, the injury does not accrue and the statute of limitations
does not begin to run on a claim for legal malpractice until the judgment or settlement or dismissal of the underlying action.
Merely hiring new counsel to defend against the lawsuit challenging the attorney’s legal advice and incurring fees does not,
standing alone, trigger a cause of action for malpractice and an accrual of the limitations period for an action. A client’s
payment of attorney fees to new counsel in an underlying action in which a vendor to the clients’ business sued clients for a
breach of fiduciary duty did not constitute an “injury” that would trigger the accrual of the clients’ action against the prior
attorney and law firm for legal malpractice.  Even though, at same time the trial  court  voiced its  opinion that  the prior
attorney’s representation constituted malpractice. At the time of payment of fees to new counsel, an underlying action had not
yet ended adversely to the clients. 735 ILCS 5/13-214.3(b). Suburban Real Estate Services, Inc. v. Carlson, 2022 IL 126935,
456 Ill. Dec. 779, 193 N.E.3d 1187 (Ill. 2022).
 


Westlaw. © 2023 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.


Footnotes


a0 Formerly Circuit Judge of the Eighth Judicial Circuit of Illinois.


a1 Member of the Illinois Bar. Eighth Judicial Circuit of Illinois.


a2 Member of the Illinois Bar.


End of Document © 2024 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government
Works.
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From:  Paul Dulberg at Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net 
Thomas Kost at tkost999@gmail.com


To:  Scott Renfroe at srenfroe@iardc.org


Re: Thomas William Gooch, III in relation to Paul Dulberg No. 2023IN03895


August 22, 2025


Dulberg’s reply to: “LTR - IBC Dulberg - Gooch 4919-1540-2334 v.1.pdf” dated August 12, 2025


Mr. Scott Renfroe, We would like this document submitted to those reviewing Gooch’s actions.


A FURTHER RECORD OF HOW GOOCH (TOGETHER WITH CLINTON AND WILLIAMS AND 
TALARICO) INTENTIONALLY DESTROYED DULBERG’S CLAIMS IN 17LA377 AGAINST 
ACTUAL AND POTENTIAL DEFENDANTS


Thomas Gooch is the first of 3 law firms that represented Dulberg in case 17LA377. After Dulberg fired Gooch 
Dulberg retained the Clinton law firm. After the Clinton law firm resigned as counsel Dulberg retained Alphonse 
Talarico. The ARDC complaint filed against Gooch is available online at this link:
2023-10-31_ARDC Complaint_THOMAS W GOOCH-SABINA WALCZYK.pdf a


In an attempt to rectify what Gooch and the Clinton Law Firm did to Dulberg, Dulberg filed case 22L010905.


We recently sent a reply email to ARDC Administrator Lea Gutierrez (attached to this letter as “Attachment 
1”).  The email contained a list of 4 documents filed in case 22L010905 which describe in detail what Talarico 
intentionally did to Dulberg during 22L010905, and which are reproduced here:
2025-02-24_2022L010905_Dulberg Response to ADR Petition for fees with Exhibits-File Stamped.pdf b


2025-03-17_COURT APPRO9ED SUPPLEMENT TO DULBERGS RESPONSE TO ADRS PETITION FOR 
AN AWARD OF ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS with Exhibits_File Stamped.pdf c


2025-05-20_MOTION TO RECONSIDER APRIL 22 2025 FINAL ORDER BASED ON MISTAKES IN 
LAW_Exhibits-Filestamped.pdf d


2025-07-11_DULBERGS RESPONSE TO TALARICOS MOTION TO UNSEAL with exhibits-FS 2025-07-14.
pdf e


Around one year before submitting these documents we provided the ARDC with the same information that is 
in the court documents linked above (which describes what Talarico did to Dulberg in 22L010905) in the form 
of a video series sent to the ARDC and made available to the general public:f


The revenge of the network 1- Simplest frivolous lawsuit template.mp4
The revenge of the network 2- Setting the target up for sanctions and loss of home using frivolous lawsuit 
templates.mp4
The revenge of the network 3- Trapping target in single issue frivolous lawsuit dead end pathways as they 
desparately struggle to escape.mp4
The revenge of the network 4- Stripping claims against Baudins and Olsen using No Past No Future and Burial 
of troublesome issues.mp4
The revenge of the network 5- Why reverse engineering to pathway point of origin is essential.mp4
The revenge of the network 6- Talaricos Grand finale of sabotages.mp4
The revenge of the network 7- Discovery of forgeries and Judge-defendant friendship.mp4
The revenge of the network 8- Upstream, downstream and parallel sabotages.mp4
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The revenge of the network 9- Downstream ambush and sabotage on ADR Systems pathway.mp4
The revenge of the network 10- The many ways we tried to raise issues of forgery and fraud on all pathways.
mp4
The revenge of the network 11- Multi-sabotage of all appeal pathways.mp4


Concerning the actions of Gooch in case 17LA377, the actions of all 3 law firms (Gooch, Clinton and Williams 
and Talarico) retained by Dulberg in 17LA377 are described in detail and were provided to the ARDC and to 
the general public in this video series: f


Being targeted by an attorney network 1- Targeted by ones own retained attorneys.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 2- The network and the system.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 3- Legal malpractice system of protection.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 4- Simplest way to sabotage targets legal malpractice complaints.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 5- Networks of collaborating attorneys can be mapped.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 6- The escape hatch and cover stories.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 7- A system of suppression.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 8- Targeting emails.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 9- Burial of key evidence.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 10- Reverse engineering the system of suppression.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 11- How the target receives Bates numbered documents.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 12- Decoys to lock out key evidence and finish the victim off.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 13- Hoarding and sitting on key evidence and evidence of fraud.mp4
Being targeted by an attorney network 14- The legal malpractice team targeting a client.mp4


Additionally, the ways by which Talarico intentionally destroyed Dulberg’s attempts to appeal both 17LA377 
and 22L010905 decisions was provided to the ARDC and to the general public in this video series: f


The steering of any appeal into a ditch 1- Using unequal knowledge to quickly finish off permanently disabled 
target.mp4
The steering of any appeal into a ditch 2- Setting up target to loose race against time.mp4
The steering of any appeal into a ditch 3- Talarico becomes the new decoy to distract from the network and 
system.mp4
The steering of any appeal into a ditch 4- Talarico Higher Court sabotage maps.mp4


Even though all this information was provided to the ARDC, on January 14, 2025 the ARDC wrote a 2 page 
final decisiong which claimed that Talarico did nothing wrong in cases 17LA377 and 22L010905 and which 
basically walked around and ignored our evidence which document Talarico’s actions.


Talarico was Dulberg’s only retained attorney for 22L010905 and Talarico was Dulberg’s third and final 
retained attorney for 17LA377. Yet Talarico was found to do nothing wrong by the ARDC in both cases.
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A SIMPLE WAY TO SEE HOW GOOCH (AND CLINTON AND WILLIAMS AND TALARICO) 
TARGETED DULBERG IN CASE 17LA377


Beginning on the next page of this pdf and extending 3 pages (on pages 4, 5 and 6) a key secondary legal source 
“Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” Chapter 22 Section 29 is reproduced, but we have added red, blue, purple 
and green underlines to highlight certain key statements. “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” (8th edition), 
has been available since 1964 and is a key secondary source which is available through Westlaw. The section on 
attorney professional misconduct is only 3 pages long. It is not credible that Gooch and Clinton and Williams 
and Talarico were not aware of the contents of “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” since it has been available 
to them probably during their entire careers as Illinois lawyers.


The underlined statements on pages 4, 5 and 6 help us clearly see how Gooch (and Clinton and Williams) 
intentionally targeted Dulberg.


The statements underlined in red go to the heart of the requirements for legal sufficiency for a legal malpractice 
claim in Illinois.


The statements underlined in blue go to the heart of how to calculate the Statute of Limitations in a legal 
malpractice case in Illinois.


The statement underlined in green describes actions which are considered to be prima facie professional 
misconduct by an attorney in Illinois.


The statements underlined in purple describe conditions under which an attorney may not liable for negligent 
actions they commit toward their client in Illinois.


Gooch targeted his client Dulberg by intentionally filing complaints in case 17LA377 that were not legally 
sufficient according to the minimum standards described in the statements underlined in red. Gooch also 
intentionally misadvised his client Dulberg how to calculate the Statute of Limitations by deliberately 
misinterpreting the statements underlined in blue.


               (space intentionally left blank)
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§ 22:29. Legal malpractice, 1 Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers - Civil § 22:29 (8th ed.)


1 Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers - Civil § 22:29 (8th ed.)


Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers - Civil | September 2023 Update
Robert S. Huntera0, Hon. Mark A. Schuering (Ret.)a1, Julie Schuering Schuetza2


Chapter 22. The Burden of Proof and of Proving Specific Causes and Facts in Certain Cases


§ 22:29. Legal malpractice


Trial Strategy


 Actions Against Attorneys for Professional Negligence, 14 Am. Jur. Trials 265


In any legal malpractice action, a plaintiff must plead the existence of a valid underlying cause of action.  Four elements must
be alleged and proven: (1) the existence of an attorney-client relationship that establishes a duty on the part of the attorney,
(2)  a  negligent act  or omission that  breached that  duty,  (3)  proximate cause that  establishes that  but  for  the attorney’s
negligence plaintiff would not have suffered an injury, and (4) damages. Because a plaintiff must establish that but for the
attorney’s negligence he would have been successful in the underlying action, he is required to prove a case within a case,
that is, establish a prima facie case in the underlying action, and then prove it, in order to prove the legal malpractice case.
This is required because of the damages element of the action. No malpractice exists unless counsel’s negligence has resulted
in the loss of an underlying action. Sheppard v. Krol, 218 Ill. App. 3d 254, 161 Ill. Dec. 85, 578 N.E.2d 212 (1st Dist. 1991).
 
When an attorney’s negligence is alleged to have occurred during the representation of a client in the underlying action, and
the underlying action never reached trial because of that negligence, the plaintiff is required to prove counsel’s negligence
was the proximate cause that resulted in the loss of the underlying action.  If the underlying action remained actionable
following the discharge of the former attorney, then the plaintiff can prove no set of facts that connect the defendant’s
conduct with damages sustained as a result of the defendant’s negligence. Cedeno v. Gumbiner, 347 Ill. App. 3d 169, 282 Ill.
Dec. 600, 806 N.E.2d 1188 (1st Dist. 2004).
 
It is prima facie negligent conduct for an attorney to misadvise a client on a settled point of law that can be looked up by the
means of ordinary research techniques. Where there are successive negligent actors, the negligence of the second actor, under
certain circumstances, may be deemed a superseding cause, relieving the original negligent actor of liability, as a matter of
law. A former client’s consultation with a new attorney, regarding possible representation in a wrongful death suit, did not
constitute a superseding cause that relieved the former law firm of liability in legal malpractice action for providing client
with wrong information concerning the statute of limitations when the firm terminated its representation, where the new
attorney did not undertake any representation of the client and had no duty to inform client of the exact amount of time
remaining on the limitations period. Lopez v. Clifford Law Offices, P.C., 362 Ill. App. 3d 969, 299 Ill. Dec. 53, 841 N.E.2d
465 (1st Dist. 2005).
 
The injury in a legal malpractice action is not a personal injury, nor is it the attorney’s negligent act itself. Rather, it is a
pecuniary injury to an intangible property interest caused by the lawyer’s negligent act or omission.  The fact that an attorney
may have breached his duty of care is not, in itself, sufficient to sustain the client’s legal malpractice cause of action. Even if
negligence on the part of the attorney is established, no action will lie against the attorney unless that negligence proximately
caused damage to the client. The existence of actual damages is therefore essential to a viable cause of action for legal
malpractice.  Where  the  alleged  legal  malpractice  involves  litigation,  no  actionable  claim  exists  unless  the  attorney’s
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negligence resulted in the loss of an underlying cause of action. If an underlying action never reached trial because of the
attorney’s negligence, the plaintiff in a legal malpractice action is required to prove that, but for the attorney’s negligence, the
plaintiff would have been successful in that underlying action. Tri-G, Inc. v. Burke, Bosselman B Weaver, 222 Ill. 2d 218,
305 Ill. Dec. 584, 856 N.E.2d 389 (2006).
 
In a legal malpractice action by a former wife against attorneys who represented her in a divorce action, the evidence was
insufficient to establish that the former wife was damaged as a result of the attorneys’ alleged failure to conduct proper
discovery and to obtain an expert witness to value the former husband’s interest in his law firm, where the attorney expert
testifying for the attorneys stated that they did not breach their standard of care in not hiring such an expert, the former wife’s
expert admitted he had not reviewed the record of the divorce action, and the former wife failed to present any concrete
evidence  that  she  would  have  received  more  than  the  C2.07  million  in  assets  and  the  C1,033,747 in  a  nonmodifiable
maintenance that  she  agreed to  accept  in  settlement  of  divorce  action,  after  she terminated the  attorneys  and obtained
substitute counsel, had she not settled out of court. Weisman v. Schiller, Ducanto and Fleck, Ltd., 368 Ill. App. 3d 41, 306 Ill.
Dec. 29, 856 N.E.2d 1124 (1st Dist. 2006).
 
A legal malpractice action filed before one plaintiff turned 18 and within six years of the date on which a second plaintiff
reached the age of majority was timely filed as to those two plaintiffs but, unless some other tolling provision or exception
applied, was untimely as to the remaining two plaintiffs, both of whom turned 18 more than six years before the action was
filed. Fraudulent concealment is ground for tolling statutes of repose, including the statute of repose for legal malpractice. A
fiduciary who is silent, and thus fails to fulfill his duty to disclose material facts concerning the existence of a cause of action,
has fraudulently concealed that action, as would toll the statutes of limitations and repose, even without affirmative acts or
representations. 735 ILCS 5D13-215E DeLuna v. Burciaga, 223 Ill. 2d 49, 306 Ill. Dec. 136, 857 N.E.2d 229 (2006).
 
Damages are not presumed in a legal malpractice case. The plaintiff bears the burden of proving that she suffered damages as
a  result  of  the  attorney’s  negligence.  In  a  legal  malpractice  action  against  the  attorney  who  represented  a  minor’s
guardianship estate in the underlying medical malpractice action relating to injuries that the minor suffered at birth, which
action alleged the attorney’s failure to communicate to the guardian a C1 million pretrial settlement offer by the defense in the
underlying case, the estate was required to prove, for purposes of the proximate cause element of the legal malpractice claim,
that in the underlying action the trial court would have approved the settlement on the minor’s behalf. The failure of the
attorney who represented the minor’s guardianship estate in the underlying medical malpractice action relating to minor’s
injuries at birth, to inform the guardian of the C1 million pretrial settlement offer before the attorney rejected the offer, was
the proximate cause of the injury to the estate, as an element of the legal malpractice, because in the underlying action, the
trial court would have approved of the pretrial settlement on the minor’s behalf, where the settlement amount was adequate,
in the light of weaknesses in the medical malpractice case, the adverse evidentiary rulings, the risk that the jury would find no
medical malpractice, and the motivation of the minor’s mother, which was FGnHot the moneyI but rather to Fgo after the
doctor so he couldn’t do it to another baby.I 755 ILCS 5D19-8. First Nat. Bank of LaGrange v. Lowrey, 375 Ill. App. 3d 181,
313 Ill. Dec. 464, 872 N.E.2d 447 (1st Dist. 2007).
 
To establish proximate cause in a legal malpractice action the plaintiff must essentially prove a case within a case, which
means that but for the attorney’s negligence, the plaintiff would have prevailed in the underlying action. Sufficient evidence
in a client’s legal malpractice action against her attorneys and the law firm that represented her, in a slip-and-fall lawsuit
against her landlord, supported the conclusion that the client would not have prevailed in the slip-and-fall lawsuit, so as to
support the jury’s verdict in favor of the attorneys and the law firm, where the client did not know whether the gutters on her
apartment building were leaking at the spot where she slipped on ice, either before or on the day of the accident, and such ice
could have formed as a result of natural accumulation. Orzel v. Szewczyk, 391 Ill. App. 3d 283, 330 Ill. Dec. 381, 908 N.E.2d
569 (1st Dist. 2009).
 
To prove the proximate cause element in a legal malpractice action, the client must demonstrate that but for the attorney’s
negligence, it would have succeeded in the underlying lawsuit, which requires that the client litigate a case within a case.
Magnetek, Inc. v. Kirkland and Ellis, LLP, 2011 IL App (1st) 101067, 352 Ill. Dec. 720, 954 N.E.2d 803 (App. Ct. 1st Dist.
2011).
 
In a legal malpractice action, a client is not considered Finjured,I as would trigger an accrual of a claim, unless and until he
has suffered a loss for which monetary damages may be sought. Where an attorney’s negligence allegedly occurred during
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the attorney’s representation of a client in an underlying litigation, the injury does not accrue and the statute of limitations
does not begin to run on a claim for legal malpractice until the judgment or settlement or dismissal of the underlying action.
Merely hiring new counsel to defend against the lawsuit challenging the attorney’s legal advice and incurring fees does not,
standing alone, trigger a cause of action for malpractice and an accrual of the limitations period for an action. A client’s
payment of attorney fees to new counsel in an underlying action in which a vendor to the clients’ business sued clients for a
breach of fiduciary duty did not constitute an FinjuryI that would trigger the accrual of the clients’ action against the prior
attorney and law firm for legal malpractice.  Even though, at same time the trial  court  voiced its  opinion that  the prior
attorney’s representation constituted malpractice. At the time of payment of fees to new counsel, an underlying action had not
yet ended adversely to the clients. 735 ILCS 5D13-214.3(b). Suburban Real Estate Services, Inc. v. Carlson, 2022 IL 126935,
456 Ill. Dec. 779, 193 N.E.3d 1187 (Ill. 2022).
 


Westlaw. K 2023 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. L.S. Govt. Works.


Footnotes


a0 Formerly Circuit Judge of the Eighth Judicial Circuit of Illinois.


a1 Member of the Illinois Bar. Eighth Judicial Circuit of Illinois.


a2 Member of the Illinois Bar.


,nd of -ocument K 2024 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original L.S. Government
Works.
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Gooch knowingly and intentionally wrote the 17LA377 Complaint and Amended Complaint to fail the 
minimum standard for legal sufficiency described in the statements underlined in red. Gooch knowingly 
and intentionally refused to write a complaint on Dulberg’s behalf that would be legally sufficient and could 
therefore be accepted by the court. 


Gooch also knowingly and intentionally misinformed Dulberg how to calculate the Statute of Limitations by 
deliberately misrepresenting statements underlined in blue to his client. In fact, case 17LA377 was ultimately 
dismissed on a Motion for Summary Judgement using the same intentionally misrepresented calculation of 
the Statute of Limitations that both Gooch and Clinton and Williams intentionally placed in Dulberg’s filed 
complaints.


The statement underlined in green gives a clear and concise description of what Gooch did to Dulberg and is 
reproduced below:


It is prima facie negligent conduct for an attorney to misadvise a client on a settled point of law that can be looked up by the means of ordinary research techniques.


When Gooch knowingly and intentionally filed both the Complaint and Amended Complaint that was legally 
insufficient while insisting to Dulberg that the complaints were legally sufficient, Gooch committed willful and 
wanton prima facie professional misconduct because Gooch intentionally misadvised Dulberg, his client, on a 
settled point of law that could be looked up by the means of ordinary research techniques. 


And when Gooch knowingly and intentionally misinformed Dulberg how to calculate the Statute of Limitations, 
Gooch once again committed willful and wanton prima facie professional misconduct because Gooch was 
intentionally misadvising Dulberg, his client, on a settled point of law that could be looked up by the means of 
ordinary research techniques. 


When Clinton and Williams also knowingly and intentionally misinformed Dulberg how to calculate the Statute 
of Limitations, Clinton and Williams also committed willful and wanton prima facie professional misconduct 
because Clinton and Williams were intentionally misadvising Dulberg, their client, on a settled point of law that 
could be looked up by the means of ordinary research techniques. 


 On the next page a Table named “LOCKED-IN HIDDEN STRATEGY IN 17LA377” is placed in order to help 
show the reader the underlying hidden strategy that Gooch, and then Clinton and Williams, and then Talarico 
followed in succession to intentionally destroy Dulbergs claims against actual and potential defendants in 
17LA377.
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LOCKED-IN HIDDEN STRATEGY IN 17LA377
GOOCH-WALCZYK CLINTON-


WILLIAMS
TALARICO


1)  Mess up red (in this source) X
2)  Mess up blue (in this source) X X
3)  Avoid green (bankruptcy) X X X
4)  Avoid defendant Gagnon’s admission of 


negligence for Dulberg’s injury
X X X


5)   Single issue, single defendant claim 
(McGuire settlement, Mast)


X X X


6)   Bury key evidence around single issue 
(Tilschner v Spangler here and here and 
here)


X X X


7)   Plant statements on record purportedly 
made by Dulberg (here and here and here)


X X X


In reaction to Dulberg informing Clinton-Williams of “overwhelming” and “smoking gun” evidence of 
intentional tort on July 8, 2019:


CLINTON-
WILLIAMS


TALARICO


8)   Bury evidence of intentional tort around single issue (here) X X


In reaction to Talarico informing Dulberg that presiding Judge Meyer (who was also presiding Judge in 
underlying case 12LA178) was personal friends with defendant Popovich: 


TALARICO
9) Bury evidence of friendship between presiding Judge and defendant Popovich X


In reaction to discovering forged signatures:


TALARICO
10)  Bury evidence of forgeries and evidence that at least 9 out of 10 depositions have no valid 


certification pages
X


In reaction to being informed of the sophisticated system of document and information suppression used by 
Clinton-Williams to target Dulberg and collaboration with opposing counsel:


TALARICO
11)  Bury evidence of a sophisticated system of document and information suppression used by 


Clinton-Williams against Dulberg and collaboration with opposing counsel Flynn
X


- I 
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The pattern of “;” marks in the Table “LOCKED-IN HIDDEN STRATEGY IN 17LA377” reveals a planned 
strategy through 3 successive law firms retained by Dulberg to systematically and deliberately destroy Dulberg’s 
claims against all actual and potential defendants in 17LA377 while the law firms conceal their actions and 
shield themselves from liability for deliberately targeting their client Dulberg.


When Dulberg attempted to raise issues concerning underlying cases 12LA178 and BK 14-83578 by filing 
case 22L010905, Talarico systematically and methodically destroyed all claims against actual and potential 
defendants in case 22L010905 as is described in court documents listed and linked earlier (on page 1).


The process of destroying Dulberg’s claims in 17LA377 began with Gooch, who intentionally misrepresented 
the statements in “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” chapter 29, section 22 underlined in red (about legal 
sufficiency) and underlined in blue (about calculating Statute of Limitations) to Dulberg. This is how Gooch 
intentionally guaranteed that the 17LA377 Complaint and First Amended Complaint would both be rejected 
by the court for being legally insufficient. Gooch never filed (intentionally refused to file) a legally sufficient 
complaint on behalf of Dulberg.


The process continued through Clinton and Williams, who intentionally continued and extended Gooch’s 
original intentional misrepresentation of the statements in “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” Chapter 
29, Section 22 underlined in blue (about calculating Statute of Limitations) when filing the Second Amended 
Complaint. The Second Amended Complaint was accepted by the court because Clinton and Williams addressed 
the statements underlined in red (concerning legal sufficiency) but the Second Amended Complaint was 
intentionally crafted  by Clinton and Williams with the same misrepresentation of the statements underlined 
in blue (of how to calculate statute of limitations) that Gooch placed in the original Complaint and the First 
Amended Complaint.


The ARDC was provided with Table 4a and Table 4bh in our ARDC complaint against Gooch (linkable from 
page 1 of the ARDC complaint), which contains all statements by both Gooch and Clinton and Williams in the 
Complaint, First Amended Complaint and Second Amended Complaint on how Gooch, Clinton and Williams 
determined the calculation of Statute of Limitations in 17LA377.


In fact, case 17LA377 was ultimately dismissed on a Motion for Summary Judgement using the same 
intentionally misrepresented calculation of the Statute of Limitations that both Gooch and Clinton and Williams 
intentionally placed in Dulberg’s filed complaints. The ARDC was provided with Table 7i in our ARDC 
complaint against Gooch (linkable from page 1 of the ARDC complaint), which contains all statements by the 
presiding Judge Thomas Meyer (who presided over both 17LA377 and underlyng case 12LA178), Judge Joel 
Berg (who presided in case 17LA377 for only 1 day to issue the final order granting the Summary Judgment 
and dismissing the case) and opposing counsel Flynn on how to calculate the Statute of Limitations in case 
17LA377.


And on November 1, 2023 (in their response to the ARDC complaint against themj) Clinton and Williams again 
cited the same intentionally deceptive and incorrect legal theory about calculating the Statute of Limitations in 
17LA377, this time to the ARDC and the Illinois Supreme Court.


And amazingly, the ARDC investigator who made the final decision concerning the ARDC complaint we 
filed against Clinton and Williams simply repeated the same legal theory of how to calculate the Statute of 
Limitations in 17LA377 that Gooch and Clinton and Williams intentionally placed in the 17LA377 court record 
for the purpose of destroying any claims Dulberg had against any actual or potential defendants. 


After we submitted an ARDC Complaint against Clinton and Williamsk as a 143 page set of claims backed by 
over 34 Gigabytes of exhibits and supporting evidence (via a thumbdrive and direct links online), we received 
a final response from the ARDC concerning Clinton and Williamsl that walked around and ignored most every 
claim we made to the ARDC (which are clearly visible on page 1 of the complaint). Of the single issue the final 
decision addressed (which is section 2A of the complaint on bankruptcy), the letter misstated the following 7 
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facts about Dulberg’s bankruptcy:


1)  Moved bankruptcy filing date up about 22 months 
2)  ‘Deleted’ bankruptcy trustee Heeg and invented the term “the trustee” to refer only to trustee Joseph Olsen. 
3)  Claimed Dulberg gave consent to binding mediation 
4)  Ignored fact that defendant Gagnon admitting negligence for Dulberg’s injury as early as March, 2013 
5)  Ignored Dulberg’s status as sole residual beneficiary of the bankruptcy estate since all creditors were paid in full 
6)  All inherited actions (at least 9 out of 10 depositions in underlying case 12LA178 have no valid certification page or forgeries of court reporter signatures attached, burial of key evidence, ect) 
7)  Ignored reason Dulberg declared bankruptcy


The ARDC investigator cited a provably incorrect legal theory (concerning the statements underlined in blue 
on pages 4, 5 and 6) when making a final decision concerning any claim against the actions of Clinton and 
Williams carrying the authority of the Illinois Supreme Court. They also walked around and ignored most every 
issue we raised in our ARDC Complaint while only focusing on section 2A (concerning bankruptcy) of our 
claims, and then they misrepresented the listed 7 features of bankruptcy and used a provably incorrect Statue of 
Limitations legal theory (when compared to the statements underlined in blue on pages 4, 5 and 6). Using this 
reasoning, the ARDC decided Clinton and Williams did nothing wrong in 17LA377.


Concerning items 3, 4, and 5 listed in the Table “LOCKED-IN HIDDEN STRATEGY IN 17LA377”, the very 
purpose of filing 22L010905 was to raise these issues (concernng the forced Gagnon settlement, the �300,000 
“upper cap” placed on the settlement and what happened in bankruptcy) that were being ignored in 17LA377.


We provided evidence for the many acts of willful and wanton prima facie professional misconduct committed 
by Talarico against Dulberg in 22L010905 in our February 24, 2025 submissionb and March 17, 2025 
submissionc and May 20, 2025 submissiond to the court in case 22L010905. These acts took place over 3 
successive time periods over about 30 months and included at least 5 separate, unique and identifiable stages of 
intentional lying by our retained attorney Talarico.


 5 separate and distinct acts of sabotage were necessary for Talarico to secure a sanctions punishment against his 
permanently disabled client in 22L010905. Talarico had to: (1) Establish “breach of contract” claims, (2) refuse 
to file the Amended Complaint written by his clients and given to him, (3) establish a sanctions claim, (4) secure 
the sanctions claim and (5) destroy any appeal attempt.


That is what Talarico intentionally did to Dulberg when he tried to raise any claim about what happened to him 
during bankruptcy and the forced Gagnon settlement in 12LA178 and BK 14-83578.


Just as Gooch was the first of 3 law firms to intentionally destroy any claims Dulberg had against actual and 
potential defendants in 17LA377, so Talarico was the law firm to intentionally destroy any claims Dulberg had 
against actual and potential defendants in 22L010905.


Item 6 in the Table “LOCKED-IN HIDDEN STRATEGY IN 17LA377”, the burial of key evidence, is 
examined later in this document (on page 19).


Item 7 in the Table “LOCKED-IN HIDDEN STRATEGY IN 17LA377” is “place statements on the record 
purportedly made by Dulberg” and linked examples are given.  The ARDC was provided with Table 3m in our 
ARDC complaint against Gooch (linkable from page 1 of the ARDC complaint), which contains 5 factually 
untrue statements of how a �300,000 ”upper cap” came to be placed on Dulberg’s claims against Gagnon from 
June 13, 2016 to August 11, 2016 (Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s chainsaw injury as early 
as March, 2013).


All 5 statements in Table 3m were made by Gooch and Clinton and Williams (on Dulberg’s behalf) and placed 
in the 17LA377 common law record to be deliberately contrary to fact. Gooch and Clinton and Williams must 
have known that the �300, 000 “upper cap” was placed on Dulberg’s claim against Gagnon from June 13, 2016 
to August 11, 2016 by Allstate and the Baudins in front of Judge Meyer in 12LA178 because the placement is 
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clearly described in 12LA178 court transcripts and because Dulberg informed Gooch and Clinton and Williams 
repeatedly that Dulberg never signed the binding mediation agreement and refused to ever agree to participate 
in any binding mediation process. The ARDC was also provided with the June 13, 2016 to August 11, 2016 
transcript quotes and transcripts (as exhibits) in our ARDC Complaint against Gooch and our ARDC Complaint 
against the Baudinsn and our ARDC Complaint against Clinton and Williams.


HOW GOOCH AND CLINTON AND WILLIAMS AND TALARICO CAN GET AWAY WITH 
INTENTIONALLY DESTROYING DULBERG’S CLAIMS IN CASES 17LA377 AND 22L010905


The statements in “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” Chapter 29, Section 22 underlined in purple are 
reproduced below:


“If the underlying action remained actionable following the discharge of the former attorney, then the plaintiff can prove no set of facts that connect the defendant’s conduct 
with damages sustained as a result of the defendant’s negligence”.


and:


“When there are successive negligent actors, the negligence of the second actor, under certain circumstances, may be deemed a superseding cause, relieving the original 
negligent actor of liability, as a matter of law.”


Those who intentionally planned the strategy shown by the pattern of “x” marks in the Table “LOCKED-IN 
HIDDEN STRATEGY IN 17LA377” (on page 8) most probably knowingly planned to use the statements in 
“Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” Chapter 29, Section 22 underlined in purple (in the above quotes) and 
related case laws to evade any legal consequences for what they did to Dulberg. They could claim:


“Dulberg had separate legal counsel who represented him after we withdrew.”


“If there had been legal malpractice, then Dulberg had counsel who could have advised him of his rights, with the applicable stature of limitations.”


Talarico is currently preparing to use the same ARDC 2 page final decision concerning Talarico’s actions 
in cases 17LA377 and 22L010905 to claim Talarico has no responsibility for the sanctioned acts that he 
deliberately caused in 22L010905. Talarico will probably use case law reproduced below to claim Talarico bears 
no responsibility for the sanctions in case 22L010905 that he deliberately caused:


1. Metzger v. Brotman, 2021 IL App (1st) 201218 states:
“...it is undisputed that in Illinois, our supreme court has the inherent power to discipline attorneys who have been admitted to practice before it. Skolnick, 191 Ill. 2d at 229. Illinois treats 
attorney discipline as an exclusively judicial function under the Illinois Constitution’s separation of powers clause. In re Day, 181 Ill. 73, 96 (1899). The court, in turn, has delegated the 
authority to investigate and prosecute claims of attorney misconduct to the ARDC. Skolnick, 191 Ill. 2d at 229. The ARDC’s duties, structure, and authority derive exclusively from rules 
of the Illinois Supreme Court, and the ARDC is not a state agency. Chicago Bar Ass’n v. Cronson, 183 Ill. App. 3d 710, 720 (1989). Moreover, the ARDC and its various officers serve only 
as agents of the supreme court in administering the disciplinary functions that have been delegated to them. In re Mitan, 75 Ill. 2d 118, 123-24 (1979). Attorney disciplinary proceedings 
are conducted by the ARDC completely separate and apart from judicial proceedings in which the alleged attorney misconduct occurred (Reed Yates Farms, Inc. v. Yates, 172 Ill. App. 
3d 519, 530 (1988)), and any sanctions based on alleged professional misconduct must be addressed by the ARDC and not by the trial court (Schnack v. Crumley, 103 Ill. App. 3d 1000, 
1007 (1982)). Additionally,  ecommendations made by the ARDC’s hearing board are merely advisory, and the supreme court retains the ultimate responsibility for imposing discipline on 
attorneys. In re Mulroe, 2011 IL 111378, � 25. Courts other than the supreme court may adjudicate matters touching on attorney discipline only when acting as agents of the supreme court 
upon direct order of that court. Lustig v. Horn, 315 Ill. App. 3d 319, 328 (2000) (citing Ettinger v. Rolewick, 140 Ill. App. 3d 295 (1986)).”


Exactly like Talarico is currently claiming in 22L010905 (concerning a frivilous lawsuit sanction that has been 
ordered against Talarico and Dulberg on December 17, 2024 and April 22, 2025), that Talarico is not responsible 
for any harm done because Talarico was dismissed from an ARDC complaint against him in a 2 page letter from 
the ARDC, so both Clinton and Williams (and later Gooch) could also claim that they, too, have no liability for 
anything they did to Dulberg if Dulberg attempts to file an Illinois state or federal claim against them.


Clinton and Williams (who were both dismissed from the ARDC complaints against them already) can also use 
the letters they now have from ARDC investigators (which act as final decisions carrying the authority of the 
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Illinois Supreme Court) to claim they have no responsibility for anything they did to Dulberg because they were 
“already investigated” concerning the same charges and were found by the ARDC (and therefore the Illinois 
Supreme Court) to have done nothing wrong. 


ALL OF OUR STATED CLAIMS AGAINST GOOCH, CLINTON AND WILLIAMS AND TALARICO 
ARE SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE


To be as clear in our stated position as we possibly can be, we provided the ARDC and the general public with 
explanations backed by evidence as to why the ARDC final decisions regarding Popovich and Mast (of the 
underlying case) and Clinton and Williams contained multiple errors and omissions in the following video 
series: f


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 1- Rebuttal of ARDC decision regarding Popovich and 
Mast.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 2- Rebuttal of ARDC decision regarding Clinton-
Williams.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 3- Rebuttal of ARDC decision regarding Flynn et al 
complaints Part 1.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 4- Rebuttal of ARDC decision regarding Flynn et al 
complaints Part 2.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 5- No fraud or collaboration of opposing counsels is 
acknowledged to exist by ARDC.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 6- Another way to interpret entirety of ARDC logic.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 7- Legal malpractice system of protection possibly 
under ARDC stand down protection.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 8- Attorneys pile on while ARDC stands down a win-
win for all but the victim.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 9- Lady Justice blind to Magicians of ignorance 
bleeding out a victim.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 10- Walking around the chronological record and word 
replacement.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 11- Why we began to make video records of events.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 12- 9alid questions of accident or intentionality.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 13- The chronological record is a life raft.mp4


To be as clear in our stated position as we can possibly be on the many ways which Talarico intentionally lied 
to the ARDC (and by extension the Illinois Supreme Court) in Talarico’s Response to the ARDC complaint we 
filed against him, we sent the following video explanations supported by exhibits to the ARDC and made the 
same available to the general public: f


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 14- Overview of Talarico response.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 15- The 2 theories and writing your own passport.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 16- Using timelines and communications records to spot 
logical poverty.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 17- Theory 2 word replacement and passports and a new 
emerging reality consensus.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 18- Using timelines and communications records to spot 
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more logical poverty and the sadness of the system.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 19- Using timelines and communications records to spot 
more logical poverty.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 20- Its all in Dulbergs mind.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 21- Fact-find then flip into opposite then run.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 22- Talarico fees compared to Talarico work product.
mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 23- A clear explanation that anyone can understand.mp4


There is no doubt that we explained to the ARDC in the videos linked above that the Baudins intentionally lied 
in their ARDC Response systematically and methodically. We also document much of the same deliberate lying 
to the ARDC (and by extension the Illinois Supreme Court) by Talarico in Sections A and B of this submission 
filed in 22L010905:
2025-07-11_DULBERGS RESPONSE TO TALARICOS MOTION TO UNSEAL with exhibits-FS 2025-07-14.
pdf e


To be as clear in our stated position concerning how the Baudins intentionally lied to the ARDC (and by 
extension the Illinois Supreme Court) in their Response to the ARDC complaint we filed against them as we can 
possibly be, we sent the following video explanations supported by exhibits to the ARDC and made the same 
available to the general public: f


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 24- Baudin ARDC response is intentionally engineered 
to deceive the reader.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 25- Baudins intentionally delete trustee Heeg and invent 
sole trustee Olsen.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 26- 7 intentional deceptions the Baudins make to the 
Illinois Supreme Court.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 27-Evidence of collaboration between Talarico and 
Baudins to sabotage Dulbergs complaint filed on 12-8-2022.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 28- Evidence Talarico allowed opposing parties to edit 
complaint before filing complaint on 12-8-2022.mp4


There is no doubt that we explained to the ARDC in the videos linked above that the Baudins intentionally lied 
in their ARDC Response systematically and methodically.


We later realized that the ARDC final decision concerning Clinton and Williams that contained the 7 mistakes 
concerning bankruptcy was issued on February 27, 2024, which is over 3 months before the Baudins wrote their 
response to the ARDC (on June 7, 2024) in which the Baudins intentionally lied to the ARDC about the exact 
same 7 features. ARDC then based their final decision dismissing all claims against Clinton and Williams on the 
7 bankruptcy misstatements and by walking around and ignoring all the other issues we raised in our complaint 
against Clinton and Williams (which are very visible on page 1 of the complaint). 


To be as clear in our stated position concerning Gooch’s Response to the ARDC complaint against him as we 
possibly can be, we sent the following video Reply (supported by exhibits) to Gooch’s Response to the ARDC 
and made the same information available to the general public: f


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 29- Looking at all attorney ARDC responses together.
mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 30- Discovering larger patterns in all attorney ARDC 
responses taken together.mp4







14


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 31- Everyone messing up statements underlined in blue 
together.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 32- How everyone interprets bankruptcy issues seen as 
a whole.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 33- 7 important features moving through the whole 
system of information.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 34- Locked-in hidden strategies of the network and the 
system.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 35- How Gooch locks in the hidden strategy and isolates 
the permanently disabled target.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 36- How Gooch locks in the hidden strategy and isolates 
the permanently disabled target continued.mp4


And to be as clear in our stated position as we possibly can be about the many errors and omissions and the 
patterns of omissions in each and every ARDC final conclusion related to each and every ARDC complaint we 
have filed to date, we sent the following video explanations supported by exhibits to the ARDC and made the 
same available to the general public: f


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 37- Table of all attorney and ARDC responses.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 38- Extreme features of the Table of all attorney and 
ARDC responses.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 39- A system of walking around and bypassing 
information.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 40- How an alternative reality is established to defend 
the attorney network.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 41- Underlying patterns in all attorney and ARDC 
responses to date.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 42- Straw Man argument format of all ARDC final 
decisions.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 43- Overlays as toolsets to track attorney deception.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 44- Twenty overlays show how attorney networks 
manipulate the chronological record together.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 45- Mapping coordinated webs of lies and omissions by 
networks of attorneys.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 46- Rules of the Legal Mouse Trap.mp4
Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 47- At least Dred Scott was given a reason why.mp4


We have made available to the ARDC and to the general public around 100 videos which explain how a 
network of Illinois attorneys targeted Dulberg in underlying cases 12LA178 and BK 14-83578 and in cases 
17LA377 and 22L010905 at this link:  www.fraudonthecourt.net/video


 We support all claims we make with over 34 Gygabytes of exhibits which we have made available to the 
ARDC (as a thumbdrive and online) and to the general public at this link:  www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits  


We did not make any accusation in our ARDC Complaint against Thomas Gooch or in our ARDC Complaint 
against Edward Clinton and Julia Williams or against Alphonse Talarico or in any of our close to 100 videos 
available online or in any of our filed court documents that is not supported by evidence.
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IN CONTRAST, GOOCH AND TALARICO (AND CLINTON AND WILLIAMS) CAN MAKE ANY 
OUTRAGEOUS CLAIM ABOUT DULBERG AND KOST WHILE PROVIDING NO EVIDENCE (AND 
THEY CAN GET AWAY WITH IT)


For example, there is no evidence in the attorney-client email record between Dulberg and Talaricoo of any 
statements of an extreme and outrageous nature like the following:  


“He often remarked to Mr. Talarico while litigating his numerous cases, that he will bring down the entire justice system in Illinois and that he and Mr. Talarico will make 
much money for the movie rights.” (Talarico’s ARDC Reponse, p4)


 and again that: 


Dulberg “avowed to bring down” the “Illinois Justice system”.  (Talarico’s ARDC Reponse, p4)  


Talarico stated a third time in the same document: 


“He is blameless and the Illinois Justice system, which he avows to bring down” (Talarico’s ARDC Reponse, p4). 


Talarico made these statements to the ARDC in his Response to our ARDC Complaint against him in which he 
repeated 3 times that Dulberg “avowed” to “bring down the Illinois Justice system”. There is no evidence of any 
statements of this nature in the entire attorney-client email communications (close to 2600 emails)1 available to 
the public for any claim as crazy as the ones Talarico makes here. These are shockingly provocative statements 
for any attorney to make about their client with no evidence (since, apparently, Dulberg “avowed to bring 
down” the “Illinois Justice system” only over the phone to Talarico).


We asked the ARDC to subpoena the phone records and recorded telephone conversations between Talarico 
and Dulberg so we can prove that Talarico’s claims are crazy and that Talarico is lying but we were refused. We 
asked the presiding Judge in 22L010905 to allow us to subpoena the telephone conversations and phone records 
between Talarico and Dulberg to prove that Talario is lying but we were refused.


Gooch invented an artificial, after-the-fact crisis over events of which there is no evidence in the 
communications records as we documented in detail in our ARDC Complaint against Gooch, beginning on page 
13, paragraph 93 and reproduce below:
1. On 10/2/2018 1:06 PM Thomas Gooch replied to Dulberg by email stating:2


“>


> Mr. Duhlberg;


>


> I have your attachment and am deeply offended by it.


>


> I more upset over being ordered to call you today.  I am preparing for trial and frankly don’t have time 
to read or comment on your attempts to educate me on what legal malpractice is all about, I particularly 
don’t have time top read outdated cases on the elements of a legal malpractice case, nor do I have any 
intention of quoting the law you sent to me.


>


> You understand full well I’m sure that I have been doing this for a very long time, if I need help on 
understanding the law I will get from someone who knows how to do legal research, you and your 


1  Group Exhibit 50 All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Talarico and Kost and Talarico (about 2600 
email files) are available online at this link:  
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/


2  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
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brother don’t.


>


> If I have anymore of this authoritative comments or instructions I will have to give particular thought 
to withdrawing my appearance and letting you represent your self or find someone else, understand this 
is not an empty threat, I will tolerate any more of this.  If I need a factual question answered and I’m 
sure I will in the course of this litigation then I will ask you but kindly stop with rudimentary research.  
The Google searches of you and your brother are not replacements for my law license.


>


> I generally don’t have a proble3m with relatives helping out and being involved just so long as the 
client understands that the relatives involvement may waive the attorney client privilege.  However at 
this point your brother has become more the problem then helpful.  While I can not prevent him from 
injecting himself into your case through you, I am no longer willing to have him present at conferences 
or communicate directly with me.


>


> At this point with everything I have going and the attitude you are displaying I have serious doubts as 
continuing to represent you.  Kindly do not communicate with my staff on the telephone in the manner 
you chose today


>


> Sincerely


>


> Thomas W Gooch”


2. Dulberg responded by email stating3, 
“Hello Tom and Sabina,  I didn’t understand the last email I received so I need some clarification.  I was 
never rude or not courteous to you staff and your staff was always courteous to me.  Yesterday I talked 
with Nikki breifly just to confirm that the office received the email.  She was friendly and courteous.  I 
said nothing rude or offensive.


I never ordered you or anyone to call me yesterday.  I honestly don’t know why you believe I did.  I 
was not aware there was anything offensive in the attachment I sent.  As I read it again I still can’t see 
anything offensive in it.


As you know I have a permanent disability.  You may not know I am on medication to control pain and 
spasms and this medication does not allow me to focus on complex subjects to a prolonged time.  Since 
I do not understand your last email and I don’t have much time before appearing in court I need to know 
where I stand.


Are you thinking of not continuing to represent me in this case?


Are you going to submit a second amended complaint on October 10 and appear in court?


Will I be given enough time to review the complaint before it is submitted?


May I comment on it or request changes to it or ask questions about it?


I do not want to offend anyone, so I need to know what I can comment on or ask questions about.


I have no memory of any inappropriate behavior when talking to Nikki yesterday.  Please let me know 


3  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
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how I can communicate with your staff or what I can include in an email in the future so you are not 
offended again.


Sorry if I did anything wrong.  Sincerely, Paul Dulberg ”


3.  On October 3, 2018 Gooch replied to Dulberg’s email point by point.  Gooch responses are in red font.  The 
email4 is reproduced: 
“From: Thomas W. Gooch III gooch@goochfirm.com


Subject: RE: from tom


Date: October 3, 2018 at 12:56 PM


To: Paul Dulberg pdulberg@comcast.net


As you know I have a permanent disability. You may not know I am on medica:on to control pain and 
spasms and this medica:on does not allow me to focus on complex subjects for a prolonged :me. Since 
I do not understand your last email and I don’t have much :me before appearing in court I need to know 
where I stand.


You seem to have been very focused when you delivered to me your research notes on the elements 
of legal malprac8ce, not that I need the wri;en lecture on what legal malprac8ce consists of


Are you thinking of not con:nuing to represent me in this case?


Yes I am considering withdrawing on your behalf. I need no research from you on legal 
malprac8ce answering my ques8ons on facts is helpful when I ask. I want no more involvement 
from your brother, Obviously he can talk to you all you want, I can’t prevent that but if I perceive 
further interference from him then I will have to re-evaluate my con8nued ability to competently 
represent you. I will not allow him to be here in my office for any purpose. “


Are you going to submit a second amended complaint on October 10 and appear in court?


We may seek an extension, we appear on court dates as a general rule always. You do not and have 
not had any court dates that require your appearance.


Will I be given enough :me to review the complaint before it is submiFed?


When I determine the complaint is in my opinion legally sufficient it gets filed, naturally you will 
get a copy of it for your records.


May I comment on it or request changes to it or ask ques:ons about it?


You, not your brother, can ask all the ques8ons you wish. I generally do not ask a client if a 
complaint is legally sufficient, nor do I want a client draFing a complaint that I have to sign. Most 
clients do not know the difference between pleading conclusions of law or fact, pleading evidence 
or the correct pleading of ul8mate material factual allega8ons. In as much as you have advised you 
are on pain medicine unable to “focus on complex subjects I ques8on how much you could help in 
any event. I can get a lot done when I don’t have to answer emails like this one.


I do not want to offend anyone, so I need to know what I can comment on or ask ques:ons about.


Making demands and lecturing me on the law are greats way to be offensive, likewise demanding 
to know when you will be called and comments about caring about anyone else we represent or 
other cases is not conducive to not offending us.


gooch”


4  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
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Yet when we look at the contents of the text document5 that set Gooch off against Dulberg and Kost, there is 
nothing in the body of the text documentp which could possibly justify such a negative reaction by Gooch. 
Additionally, there is nothing in the communications records that Gooch could cite in support of his negative 
reaction.


Much more likely than not, Gooch reacted negatively because Gooch was (and is) basically caught “red-
handed” or caught “with his pants down” committing willful and wanton prima facie professional misconduct 
against Dulberg by misadvising Dulberg about a settled point of law that could be looked up by the means 
of ordinary research techniques. The red underlined statements in “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” 
chapter 29 section 22 on pages 4, 5 and 6 (concerning legal sufficiency) states about the same thing that the 
text documentp also states. Gooch reacted so negatively and with so much drama to deflect from the fact that 
the contents of the text documentpGooch was sent describe almost exactly what Gooch was required to do by 
Illinois law to correctly file a legally sufficient legal malpractice complaint. 


All these comments to his client are further examples of Gooch committing willful and wanton prima facie 
professional misconduct because Gooch continued to misadvise Dulberg on a settled point of law that can be 
looked up by the means of ordinary research techniques even after he was caught “red handed” doing so.


Gooch, in his response to the ARDC complaint we filedq against him, stated:
The commission needs to realize this complaint was not written by Mr. Dulberg but by his brother who 
interfered in this matter since “day one”. In support of this allegation, I refer to his email correspondence 
attached hereto as exhibit “C” where he comments on his disability and cognitive issues. I believe that 
email was written by his brother.


What Gooch calls “exhibit “C”” is the exact same email exchange we reproduced on the previous pages. The 
date of the email exchange is October 2, 2018 (days before Dulberg fired Gooch). We first met Gooch on 
December 16, 2016. This is what Gooch would call “day one”� the day we first met in his office. Gooch calls 
an email dated October 2, 2018 as “evidence of interference from “day one” (by citing evidence dated around 
21 months after “day one”). Gooch is also claiming that Thomas Kost is pretending to be Dulberg in the 
reproduced email exchange.


Gooch also stated:
In this case from the first meeting his brother attended and with a strong will furnished his knowledge 
of malpractice and instructions on how I should proceed. The situation became untenable. I attach 
“Exhibits A to C’ which illustrates what to me was the” final straw”. Exhibit” A” is my email to him 
voicing my frustrations with the email marked as “exhibit “B’ with research attached created by his 
brother explaining to me how to properly file an amended complaint. I thought it typical but a bit too 
far and decided I was done dealing with his brother as reflected in Exhibit “A”. Thereafter I received 
“exhibit “C” purportedly written by the client but actually by his brother and I immediately complied 
and withdrew furnishing him the withdrawal order.


Here Gooch uses the exact same October 2, 2018 email exchange Gooch just cited as evidence of interference 
on “day one”, this time as evidence of a “final straw” about 21 months later. And Gooch again stated:


I believe Mr. Clinton was let go and another firm took over until the matter was finally lost I suspect 
with the continued oversight and interference by the complainants brother.


Dulberg “finally lost” case 17LA377 because of the fake Statute of Limitations argument Gooch deliberately 
placed in the 17LA377 common law record (in Dulberg’s name) and because Clinton and Williams also 
deliberately placed in the record in Dulberg’s name as shown in the Table “LOCKED IN HIDDEN STRATEGY 
IN 17LA377” (on page 8). Gooch knowingly and intentionally wrote the 17LA377 Complaint and Amended 


5 Exhibit 123_2018-10-02_second_amended_complaint_comments.txt
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Complaint to fail the minimum standard for legal sufficiency, which is the statements underlined in red in 
“Trial handbook for Illinois Lawyers”, Chapter 29, Section 22 (on pages 4, 5 and 6). Gooch also knowingly and 
intentionally misinformed Dulberg how to calculate the Statute of Limitations by deliberately misrepresenting 
statements underlined in blue (on pages 4, 5 and 6) to his client.  Gooch knows exactly how 17LA377 was 
“finally lost” because Gooch and Clinton and Williams deliberately set the Statute of Limitations argument up 
to lose.


There is no evidence for what Gooch claims in any communications recordsr. Thomas Kost never emailed 
Gooch. Thomas Kost never spoke to Gooch by phone.


Gooch and Clinton and Williams also deliberately suppressed and ‘buried’ key evidence in 17LA377, which 
was also necessary to destroy Dulberg’s claims. The text documentp that Gooch reacted to also informed Gooch 
about the key evidence of (a certified slip copy of an appellate court ruling in) the case Tilchner v Spangler. We 
informed Gooch for a second time of the importance of Tilschner v Spangler as key evidence in case 17LA377. 
TABLE 10 below lists the number of times that our retained attorneys Gooch and Clinton and Williams were 
informed in detail of the importance of Tilschner v Spangler as key evidence in case 17LA377. All documented 
examples are available for viewing through linked provided in the table.


TABLE 10: THE NUMBER OF TIMES DULBERG INFORMED GOOCH, CLINTON AND 
WILLIAMS ABOUT THE IMPORTANCE OF KEY EVIDENCE TILSCHNER V SPANGLER (with 
links to evidence)


When Informed How Informed
2016-12-16 first meeting 


with Gooch
document handed Gooch


2018-10-01 letter to Gooch 
(that led to 
Gooch firing)


email linked (on page 30) 
attached document:  second_amended_complaint_comments.txt


2018-10-10 preparing for 
first meeting 
with Clin-
ton-Williams


email linked 
attached folder: Duberg Complaint 
document:  second_amended_complaint_comments.txt


2018-10-12 first meeting 
with Clin-
ton-Williams


Text document and problems with Gooch were explained at meeting6


2018-12-04 preparing Sec-
ond Amended 
Complaint


email linked 
attached documents:  Working.pdf 


comment on complaint.txt
2018-12-05 preparing Sec-


ond Amended 
Complaint


email linked 
attached document:  comments on Dulberg Second Amended Complaint RED-


LINED 2018 Dec .txt
2019-03-18 preparing dis-


covery docu-
ments


email linked 
document:  IndependantContractor-CaseLaw1_Mast.pdf


2019-07-08 inspecting 
defendants 
documents


email linked 
attached folder: To Julia 
documents:  questions_for_mast.txt 


timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt
2019-07-22 inspecting 


defendants 
documents


email linked 
attached folder: To Julia 
documents:  questions_for_mast.txt 


timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt
2019-11-19 updating infor-


mation
email linked
attached document:  2109-11-19_updated_timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt


6   On October 19, 2018 PDF files were created by Clinton or Williams in “Dulberg Master File” concerning the Tilschner 
case:  Shown in Visual Aid 4 - Tilschner hoax.png
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When Informed How Informed
2020-02-06 preparing for 


Mast deposition
email linked 
attached documents:  questions_for_mast.txt 


timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt
2020-02-08 preparing for 


Mast deposition
email linked 
attached documents:  2109-11-19_updated_timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt 


questions_for_mast.txt
2020-06-18 preparing for 


Mast deposition
email linked 
attached document:  evidence_list.txt 


questions_for_mast.txt
2020-06-24 preparing for 


Mast deposition
email sent at 1:56AM linked 
attached documents:  2020-06-23_updated_timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt
email sent at 10:05AM linked
attached documents:  2020-06-23_updated_timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt


2020-06-24 meeting before 
Mast deposition


Clinton and Williams were told by Thomas Kost of the importance of Tilschner v 
Spangler in proving ‘intentional tort’ and ‘fraud’ during the meeting


How Clinton and Williams suppressed Dulberg’s key evidence Tilschner v Spangler is described in detail (step 
by step) in Section 2C of ‘ARDC Complaint Against Edward ;. Clinton and Julia C. Williams’7.


How the document Tilschner v Spangler in Mast deposition “exhibit 12” inexplicably went missing during the 
deposition of Hans Mast is described in detail in Section 2K of ‘ARDC Complaint Against Edward X. Clinton 
and Julia C. Williams’8.


On November 04, 20229 Williams was asked about the missing key evidence Tilschner v Spangler in “exhibit 
12” (of the Mast deposition) in court. After 4 different subpoena responses related to exhibit 12 over the 
previous 3 months, and after being informed by Dulberg at least 6 different times in writing about the 
importance of Tilschner v Spangler, Williams claimed to not know the contents of exhibit 12. The following 
exchange took place in court:
“MS. WILLIAMS: ... So sometime after the deposition, we -- we did provide the exhibit that was utilized in the 
deposition to the court reporter, and at that time they marked it and sent it back to everyone.
THE COURT: Okay. What was Exhibit 12 again?
MS. WILLIAMS: It was a series of cases. I don’t know that -- I just can’t recall what all was asked about it, but 
I know there were -- it was -- it was --
THE COURT: All right. These would have --
MS. WILLIAMS: -- copies of case law.
THE COURT: All right.
MR. FLYNN: They were photocopies of the old books, Judge, cases that were contained in Mast’s file.
THE COURT: Okay.
MR. FLYNN: And he was -- you know, they have -- they’re, obviously, not complete because they -- placed on 
a printer, appeared like we used to do in the old days.
MR. TALARICO: Yes. Was the Tilsner case included in -- in the blank Exhibit 12 you sent to U.S. Legal, 
Barbara Schmidt? And was -- when you discussed with Mr. Flynn the failure of his -- or Mr. Mast’s internet, 
didn’t he say, I can’t see these, I can only see their first one (indiscernible), which was the Lagano (phonetic) 
case? And wasn’t there continued discussion by Mr. Flynn that he didn’t -- he didn’t produce all of the 


7 Also in Section 2C of Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation
8 Also in Section 2K of Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation
9  Section 2C, paragraph 2C26 of ‘ARDC Complaint Against Edward X. Clinton and Julia C. Williams’ describes how Williams 


inexplicably could not recall anything about Tilschner v Spangler or the contents of ‘Exhibit 12’ weeks after preparing 
multiple subpoenas on ‘Exhibit 12’ and while appearing in court to address the subpoenas because she claimed the events 
happened ‘so long ago’.
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documents you sent on -- in hardcopy because he wanted to save paper?
MS. WILLIAMS: So that’s -- I guess that’s a lot of questions. So what --
MR. TALARICO: It is.
MS. WILLIAMS: What -- what -- I cannot recall what cases were included and weren’t included at this point. 
There -- there was an e-mail to Mr. Flynn with the exhibit that is attached that I believe was produced in the 
subpoena. So whatever that exhibit was is -- is what I would have used. So I know there was, like, a Laravo case 
or -- I remember the first case was like Laravo or Lavajo, L-A-9-A-J-O, or something like that. But right now, 
off the top of my head, I don’t remember what other cases were included.
MR. TALARICO: I’m talking about -- Judge, if I might, please? Excuse me. I’m sorry, Ms. Williams. There was 
-- what the reporter had was blank. What Mr. Flynn’s client said was, I see the Lagano (phonetic) one. So the 
Exhibit 12 that was sent, like, a week or two after the deposition had Lagano, Troy, and the same exact Lagano 
case, and it did not have the Tilsner case involved, and the Tilsner case was very important. So it was an exact 
duplication of one case and a second case. But this is -- Judge, it’s not just the Exhibit 12. The entire deposition 
--
THE COURT: Well, are you asking a question about Exhibit 12? Because if we’re done asking questions, I’m 
gonna let her go.
MR. TALARICO: Okay. Yep. I’m done.”


After we watched our formerly retained attorney in 17LA377 intentionally and methodically lie about 
suppressing key evidence that they knew about from our first meeting together and were informed of repeatedly, 
Dulberg raised the issue of Tilschner v Spangler in a court document in November 23, 2022.10


On November 30, 2022 Flynn filed DEFENDANTS THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPO9ICH, 
P.C. AND HANS MAST’S RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S 2nd AMENDED MOTION TO E;CLUDE THE 
DEPOSITION OF HANS MAST which contains the following point �12:11


“12) Of concern is a statement on page 19 of Dulberg’s motion in which he argues that Mast had insisted 
that the decision in the Tilschner v. Spangler case was the reason Dulberg would not prevail in the 
underlying case against the McGuire’s. The statement is inexplicably made “on information and belief.” 
This is unacceptable. Dulberg has made no such disclosure in fact discovery (now closed) about this 
very specific discussion between Mast and himself regarding the Tilschner case. If Dulberg believes 
he has disclosed it, he should be required to identify where in his answers and amended answers to 
discovery or his deposition he has identified such discussion with this amount of specificity. Defendants 
submit that no such disclosure exists.”


Opposing counsel Flynn and Popovich knew Tilschner v Spangler was never mentioned in the record because 
they collaborated with Dulberg’s legal malpractice attorneys Gooch-Walczyk and Clinton-Williams to 
successfully ‘bury key evidence’ for around 6 years.


It is not credible that Williams made the claim to the court that she cannot recall the contents of “exhibit 12” 
when she stated, “It was a series of cases. I don’t know that -- I just can’t recall what all was asked about it, but 
I know there were -- it was -- it was --” “ -- copies of case law.” and when asked by Dulberg’s current attorney  
(at the time) she claimed, “What -- what -- I cannot recall what cases were included and weren’t included at this 
point.” When Williams states “... at this point” she was implying that her dealings with exhibit 12 were so long 
ago that “at this point” she can no longer recall what they were. But Williams prepared 4 different responses to a 
subpoena which centered on exhibit 12 within the previous 3 months and Williams was then appearing in court 
to address outstanding issues with the subpoena and around exhibit 12, including a motion to compel.


Case 17LA377 was then dismissed on February 1, 2024 on a Motion for Summary Judgment based on the fake 
10    Group Exhibit 41_Appeal Package for 17LA377/CLR_Vol_2_of_2_230421_1627_22D90D40.pdf page 1770
11    Exhibit C21-2022-11-30_Flynn Answer to Motion to Strike Mast Deposition.pdf (�12 on page 4)
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Statute of Limitations argument that Gooch and Clinton and Williams were so instrumental in setting up in the 
17LA377 court record (in Dulberg’s name).


The fake Statute of Limitations argument set up by Gooch and Clinton and Williams was established as final 
when Talarico intentionally destroyed the ability to appeal the decision. Talarico intentionally filed a Notice of 
Appeal to place Dulberg as a Self Representing Litigant without Dulberg’s knowledge. Talarico represented 
himself to Dulberg as if Talarico was Dulberg’s acting attorney during the 17LA377 appeal process and 
continued to charge Dulberg the entire time and act as if Talarico was Dulberg’s acting attorney during the 
17LA377 appeal process. After Talarico failed to file an appellate court brief the case was dismissed by the 
appellate court (for failure to file a brief). As we prepared to file a Supreme Court Petition (which was due 
by January 8, 2024) Talarico sent us an email which informed us to place a “preamble” in the Supreme Court 
Petition (contrary to Illinois law):s


Date : 1/6/2024 11:52:32 AM12


From : “Alphonse Talarico”
To : “Paul Dulberg” , “Paul Dulberg” , “T Kost”
Subject : Preamble 
Gentlemen,
Please use the word “Preamble”.


PREAMBLE: Much of the matter that follows can be characterized as fraud by officers of the court. 
Currently there are nine (9) related ARDC investigations pending (�2023INO2517, �2023INO2518, 
�2023INO3135, �2023INO3136, �2023INO3894-R, �2023INO, 2023INO3898-R, �2023INO3897-R, 
2023INO3895-R, �2023 INO3896-R), two (2) submitted Judicial Inquiry Board “Complaints against 
a Judge,” and one (1) Judiciary Inquiry Board “Complaint against a Judge” that was unable to be 
processed because the individual named is no longer an active Illinois state court judge.


On January 8, 2024 (the day the Supreme Court Petition was due) Talarico informed us that the Supreme Court 
clerk told him we can place hyperlinks in the Supreme Court Petition (contrary to Illinois law). Talarico also 
informed us hours before the Supreme Court Petition was due that Talarico “didn’t know how” to write an index 
for a Supreme Court Petition and we would have to figure that out ourselves. This entire time, Dulberg was 
listed as a Self Represened Litigant in the 17LA377 appeal without knowing it. 


Every one of these acts are examples of Talarico committing willful and wanton prima facie professional 
misconduct toward his client Dulberg because these are all examples of Dulberg’s retained attorney 
misinforming Dulberg about settled points of law that could be looked up by the means of ordinary research 
techniques.


On May 29, 2024 Talarico made his very first negative comment about the website www.fraudonthecourt.net in 
any communications record in his response to the ARDC complaint we filed against him when Talarico wrote:


“Mr. Dulberg has created a web site with his half-brother Thomas Kost to “reveal to the world” all the injuries that the now ten named attorneys and judge and court clerks 
and certified court reporters have intentionally caused his family and himself.”  (Talarico’s ARDC Response, p3)


• The website www.fraudonthecourt.net was created around October 13, 2023.13 
• Talarico was given access to the website on October 14, 2023.14 
• Talarico accepted �10,000 dollars retainer at around September 26, 2023 to pursue “Fraud on the court, 


12     Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/2024-01-06_1152-32__Alphonse 
Talarico_ _contact#lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com__Preamble.pdf


13  Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/2023-10-13_Gmail - T Kost, thank you for 
your order..pdf


14 Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/2023-10-13_Gmail - Online file access.pdf
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Civil rights violations, Reopening the bankruptcy, ect”.15 
• Talarico told Dulberg to place a “preamble” in the 17LA377 Supreme Court Petition which informs the 


Illinois Supreme Court of the claims against Popovich, Mast, Balke, the Baudins, Gooch and Clinton and 
Williams made in our ARDC Complaints against them on January 6, 2024.


• In the attorney-client email communication Talarico never referred to the website in a negative way.16 
• For the first time, on May 29, 2024 in Talarico’s Response to the ARDC complaint, Talarico makes the 


first statement in any record which refers to the website contents negatively as a “conspiracy theory”.


In addition, Talarico was provided with evidence of a sophisticated system of document and information 
suppression as early as November 11, 202217 which Clinton and Williams  used against Dulberg while they 
collaborated with opposing counsel Flynn. Dulberg and Kost wrote and filed a 143 page ARDC Complaint 
against Clinton and Williams with all claims supported with over 34 gygabytes of evidence on a thumbdrive 
given to the ARDC and also available online on July 28, 2023. We wanted to file it directly with the ARDC but 
Talarico asked us to file with the ARDC through him, so we did. The same information appeared on the public 
website www.fraudonthecourt.net as of October 13, 2023 and Talarico accepted �10,000 retainer on September 
26, 2023 to pursue the same issues. 


In the attorney-client email communication Talarico never referred to the information he was provided on 
November 11, 2022 or the 143 page ARDC Complaint written entirely by Kost and Dulberg and filed by 
Talarico with the ARDC on July 28, 2023 in a negative way (Group Exhibit 50)18. For the very first time in any 
communications record, on May 29, 2024, in Talarico’s Response to the ARDC complaint Talarico makes the 
first statement in any record which refers to the many claims we made about Clinton and Williams (which are 
documented in the 143 page ARDC complaint against them) negatively as a “conspiracy theory”. 


• This is more than 17 months after Talarico was first provided with the evidence.
• This is about 10 months after Talarico filed a 143 page complaint with the ARDC that Kost and Dulberg 


wrote describing the claims in detail.
• This is more than 8 months after Talarico accepted a �10,000 retainer to pursue the same claims against 


Clinton and Williams, among other claims.
• This is more than 4 months after Talarico told Dulberg to inform the Illinois Supreme Court of the same 


claims against Clinton and Williams in a “preamble’ to our 17LA377 Supreme Court Petition and abruptly 
resigned as counsel 8 days later (6 days after the Supreme Court Petition was rejected by the clerk).


WE WELCOME FURTHER INVESTIGATION OF THE ACTIONS OF GOOCH BY THE ARDC BUT 
WE HAVE GOOD REASON TO  REMAIN SKEPTICAL BECAUSE CLINTON AND WILLIAMS AND 
TALARICO WERE NOT HELD TO ACCOUNT FOR THEIR ACTIONS


No fact-based investigation and review of Gooch’s actions in 17LA377 can be realized when the 2 law firms 
that perpetrated that same fraudulent acts after Gooch was fired were already found by the ARDC to not be 
liable for any of their fraudulent actions.


Clinton and Williams and also Talarico were already found by the ARDC to have done nothing wrong in 
15  Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/2023-09-26_0808-21__Paul Dulberg_ 


_Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net__Retainer - Multiple cases.pdf
16  Group Exhibit 50 All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Talarico and Kost and Talarico (about 2600 


email files) are available online at this link:  
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/


17   Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/2022-11-10_1256-36__Alphonse Talarico_ 
_contact#lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com__Re_ Document suppression smoking gun.pdf


18   Group Exhibit 50 All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Talarico and Kost and Talarico (about 
2600 email files) are available online at this link:  
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group Exhibit 50_Dulberg-Talarico communication from October, 2020 onward/
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17LA377 and Talarico was already found by the ARDC to have done nothing wrong in 22L010905 despite all 
the evidence and explanations we provided (and continue to provide) to the ARDC. This means the ARDC has 
already laid the groundwork for Gooch to make the following claim:


“Dulberg had separate legal counsel who represented him after we withdrew.”


“If there had been legal malpractice, then Dulberg had counsel who could have advised him of his rights, with the applicable stature of limitations.”


Gooch can then use the statements underlined in purple in “Trial Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” Chapter 22 
Section 29 (on pages 4, 5 and 6) and related case laws in his defense since the ARDC already dismissed claims 
against all subsequent retained attorneys Clinton and Williams and Talarico concerning case 17LA377. There is 
nothing to stop Gooch from using this defense successfully.


Then, after Gooch is found by the ARDC to have done nothing wrong based on this defense, if Gooch is ever 
sued for his actions in 17LA377 in the future, Gooch can use the case law Metzger v Brotman and Skolnick and 
the letter of the final decision by the ARDC which clears him of all wrongdoing to claim the ARDC has already 
adjudicated this issue in Gooch’s favor and Gooch therefore cannot be held liable in any Illinois court for his 
actions in 17LA377.


This is forseeable, because this is exactly what Talarico is now claiming in active case 22L010905. Talarico is 
currently claiming his actions during 22L010905 (described in detail in 22L010905 court records linked earlier 
and in multiple video series provided to the ARDC and made available to the general public) were already 
adjudicated in a 2 page final decision by the ARDC and our claims were found to have no merit. But the 2 page 
letter final decision by the ARDC concerning Talarico’s actions never addressed any of Talarico’s actions in 
either 22L010905 and 17LA377. The subjects were just walked around and ignored.


This is also forseeable concerning Clinton and Williams. They, too, can simply claim that our claims were 
already adjudicated by the ARDC and were found to have no merit. Clinton and Williams can also use the final 
decision by the ARDC concerning them and the case law Metzger v Brotman and Skolnick to claim the ARDC 
has already adjudicated this issue in their favor and they therefore cannot be held liable in any Illinois court for 
their actions in 17LA377.


This places the ARDC in the central role of determining whether Gooch and Clinton and Williams and Talarico 
are allowed to get way with committing systematic willful and wanton prima facie professional misconduct 
against Dulberg.


The key to understanding what actually happened in case 17LA377 is in seeing the pattern in the Table 
“LOCKED-IN HIDDEN STRATEGY IN 17LA377” on page 8. The patterns reveal that these 3 law firms 
worked according to a coordinated, methodical strategy which is visible by watching what happened with items 
1 to 10 listed in the table as a newly retained law firm replaces the previous law firm. Law firms change but 
hidden strategies do not.


The statements underlined in red and blue on pages 4, 5 and 6 unmistakably reveal acts of systematic and 
coordinated willful and wanton prima facie professional misconduct by both Gooch and Clinton and Williams.


Table 4A and 4B contains all statements by both Gooch and Clinton and Williams in the Complaint, First 
Amended Complaint and Second Amended Complaint on how Gooch, Clinton and Williams determined 
the calculation of Statute of Limitations in 17LA377. All statements are unmistakably at variance with the 
explanation of how to calculate the Statute of Limitations for legal malpractice in Illinois given in “Trial 
Handbook for Illinois Lawyers” in the statements underlined in blue on pages 4, 5 and 6.


Table 7 contains all statements by the presiding Judge Thomas Meyer (who presided over both 17LA377 and 
underlyng case 12LA178), Judge Joel Berg (who presided in case 17LA377 for only 1 day to issue the final 
order granting the Summary Judgment and dismissing the case) and opposing counsel Flynn on how to calculate 
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the Statute of Limitations in case 17LA377. All statement are unmistakably at variance with the explanation of 
how to calculate the Statute of Limitations for legal malpractice in Illinois given in “Trial Handbook for Illinois 
Lawyers” Chapter 29, Section 22 in the statements underlined in blue (on pages 4, 5 and 6).


Table 10 and the court statements by Williams about the contents of Mast deposition exhibit 12 and any memory 
she may have of Tilschner v Spangler unmistakably demonstrate she intentionally lied to knowingly conceal her 
active participation in the supression of key evidence in 17LA377.


Table 3 contains statements by Gooch and Clinton and Williams (on Dulberg’s behalf) which are deliberately 
placed in the 17LA377 common law record to be contrary to fact. Gooch and Clinton and Williams must have 
known that the �300, 000 “upper cap” was placed on Dulberg’s claim against Gagnon from June 13, 2016 to 
August 11, 2016 by Allstate and the Baudins in front of Judge Meyer in 12LA178 because the placement is 
clearly described in 12LA178 court transcripts and because Dulberg informed Gooch and Clinton and Williams 
repeatedly that Dulberg never signed the binding mediation agreement and refused to ever agree to participate 
in any binding mediation process.


Talarico intentionally destroyed the 17LA377 appeal process and Talarico intentionally acted to create a 
Supreme Court petition of the wrong format, and then to blame Dulberg and Kost for the wrong format.


Since the ARDC has already dismissed all the actions by both Clinton and Williams and Talarico documented in   
court cases and on our website and in around 100 videos available to the public, we do not understand how the 
same institution that had found Clinton and Williams and Talarico to have done nothing wrong in case 17LA377 
can ever find that Gooch did something wrong in 17LA377.


Under these conditions we do not find the ARDC dismissal of Talarico for doing anything wrong in both 
17LA377 and 22L010905 as credible. The final decision is less than 2 pages long and completely walks around 
and ignores the claims we actually made concerning Talarico’s conduct.


Under these conditions we do not find the ARDC dismissal of Clinton and Williams for doing anything wrong 
in 17LA377 as credible. The final decision completely walks around and ignores the claims we actually made 
concerning the actions of Clinton and Williams.


In the interest of the safety of the public it would be better to reopen the ARDC Complaints against Clinton and 
Williams and Talarico in light of what is currently on the record concerning cases 17LA3777 and 22L010905. 


No fact based investigation and review of Gooch’s actions in 17LA377 can be realized without also 
investigating and reviewing how Clinton and Williams, and then Talarico carried on the actions that Gooch 
established and actively covered for and destroyed any appeal of the fake Statute of Limitations argument first 
placed in the record by Gooch. It was this that led to a Summary Judgment of case 17LA377 based on the same 
fake Statute of Limitations arguments that both Gooch and Clinton worked to establish. Then it is Talarico that 
locked in the fake argument as final and binding by intentionally destroying the appeal process of 17L010905.


It is simply impossible to competently review Gooch’s actions without taking into account the monumental 
role that Clinton and Williams and later Talarico played in the final destruction of Dulberg’s 17LA377 and 
22L010905 claims.


/s/Paul Dulberg 
Paul Dulberg
(847) 497-4250
Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net
4606 Hayden Ct. McHenry, IL 60051


/s/Thomas Kost
Thomas Kost
(847) 553-4404
tkost999@gmail.com
423 Dempster St. Mt. Prospect, IL 60056







From: Alphonse Talarico contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com
Subject: Notice of Motion to Unseal Documents in Dulberg v. ADR et al, 2022L010905, Cook County, Illinois, County Department,


Law Division
Date: July 23, 2025 at 1:05 PM


To: ARDCClerksDepartment@iardc.Org, LAW CALucc law.calucc@cookcountyil.gov, Jochum, Jason
jason.jochum@lewisbrisbois.com, Robert Chapman rchapman@chapmanspingola.com, Suhani Mehrotra
smehrotra@chapmanspingola.com, Anto, Christine canto@amundsendavislaw.com, Manos, George
george.manos@lewisbrisbois.com, McGourty, Zachary zachary.mcgourty@lewisbrisbois.com, Paul Dulberg
paul_dulberg@comcast.net, Tom Kost tkost999@gmail.com, Tinajero, Michelle mtinajero@amundsendavislaw.com,
Schuth, Jennifer jschuth@amundsendavislaw.com, Resis, Michael mresis@amundsendavislaw.com


Dear	Administrator	Gu0errez,


This	email	serves	as	no0ce,	pursuant	to	ARDC	and	Illinois	Supreme	Court	Rules,	of	the	filing
of	a	mo0on	to	unseal	certain	documents	in	the	trial	court	case	of	Dulberg	v.	ADR	et	al,
2022L010905,	Cook	County,	Illinois,	County	Department,	Law	Division	,	currently	pending	in
Calendar	U	Law	Division,	Circuit	Court	of	Cook	County.	


The	mo0on	was	filed	on	June	24,	2025,	in	the	above	said	Circuit	Court	of	Cook	County,
Illinois	and	seeks	to	unseal	the	en0re	file	No.	2024IN00264.	


The	basis	for	the	mo0on	to	unseal	is	that	Dulberg	and	Kost	in	their	post-trial	mo0on	to
reconsider,	and	in	their	response	to	the	above	reference	mo0on	to	unseal	(BEFORE	IT	HAS
BEEN	PRESENTED)	and	in	other	public	forums	make	the	same	allega0ons	they	presented
before	the	ARDC	in	the	above	reference	closed	ARDC	inves0ga0on	and	addi0onally	accuse
aZorney	Alphonse	A.	Talarico	of	lying	to	the	ARDC.	


Please	note	that	this	is	an	amendment	to	the	aZached	previously	filed	no0ce	of	filing,	and
the	ARDC	will	be	provided	with	any	court	orders	or	decisions	related	to	the	mo0on	to
unseal	as	they	become	available.	


Please	see	the	aZached	No0ce	of	Mo0on	and	Mo0on	to	Unseal.


Sincerely,


AAT


Alphonse	A.	Talarico/Law	Office	of	Alphonse	A.	Talarico


707	Skokie	Blvd.,	Suite	600


Northbrook,	Illinois	60062	



Paul Dulberg

Exhibit 263 Stamp







ARDC	#6184530


(312)	808-1410


(312)	608-1410


Filed and set Motion to Unseal for
July 29 2025 06242025 MOT (1…
.pdf2.2 MB


Notice of Motion July 29 2025
Motion to Unsdeal ARDC…
investigation 06242025 NOM and
SL (1).pdf
2.1 MB


I) 
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Hearing Date: 7/29/2025 9:45 AM - 9:50 AM
Location: <<CourtRoomNumber>>
Judge: Calendar, U IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 


COUNTY DEPARTMENT, LAW DIVISION 


PAUL R. DULBERG, INDIVIDUALLY AND 
THE PAUL R. DULBERG REVOCABLE 
TRUST 


Plaintiffs, 


Vs. 


KELLY N. BAUDIN Al.KIA BAU DIN & 
BAUDIN, BAUDIN & BAUDIN AN 
ASSOCIATION OF ATTORNEYS, LAW 
OFFICES OF BAUDIN & BAUDIN, 
BAUDIN & BAUDIN LAW OFFICES, 
WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II A/KIA 
BAUDIN & BAUDIN, BAUDIN & BAUDIN 
AN ASSOCIATION OF ATTORNEYS, LAW 
OFFICES OF BAUDIN & BAUDIN, 
BAUDIN & BAUDIN LAW OFFICES, 
KELRAN, INC A/KIA THE BAUD IN LAW 
GROUP, Ltd., JOSEPH DA YID OLSEN, 
Al.KIA YALDEN, OLSEN &.WILLETTE 
LAW OFFICES, CRAIG A WILLETTE, 
A/KIA YALDEN, OLSEN & WILLETTE 
LAW OFFl ALPHONSE A. TALARICO IN 
RELATION TO THOMAS KOST No. 
2024IN00264CES, RAPHAEL E Y ALDEN 
II, A/KIA Y ALDEN, OLSEN & WILLETTE 
LAW OFFICES, ADR SYSTEMS OF 
AMERICA, LLC., ASSUMED NAME ADR 
COMMERCIAL SERVICES, ALLSTATE 
PROPERTY AND CASUL TY INSURANCE 
COMPANY 


Defendants. 


) 
) 
) 
) 20221010905 
) CASE NO. ______ _ 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 


MOTION TO UNSEAL ATTORNEY REGISTRATION AND DISCIPLINARY COMMISSION 
DOCUMENTS AND FINDINGS IN Re: ALPHONSE A. TALARICO IN RELATION TO THOMAS 
KOST No. 2024IN00264 AND TO ALLOW THE FILING OF ALPHONSE A. TALARICO'S RESPONSE 
TO DULBER and KOST'S POST-JUDGEMENT MOTION TO RECONSIDER WITHIN 14 DAYS 
AFTER A RULING ON THE MOTION TO UNSEAL IS MADE 


NOW COMES, Alphonse A. Talarico, an attorney licensed to appear before this Honorable Court 


and an interested person, pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 766, and hereby respectfully moves 
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tn1s court to unseal amt make public certain Attorney Registration and Uisciplinary Commission 


(ARDC) documents and findings related to the investigation of Alphonse A. Talarico's actions and 


non-actions and secret conspiracies with other attorneys alleged to hinder and damage and continuing 


to hinder and damage the Plaintiffs herein. In support of this Motion, the moving Attorney Alphonse 


A. Talarico states as follows: 


1. The ARDC has conducted an investigation concerning ALPHONSE A. TALARICO IN RELATION TO 


THOMAS KOST No. 2024IN00264 which was concluded on January 14, 2025. 


2. The Complainant in the ARDC matter is now making the same allegations against ALPHONSE A. 


TALARICO in a pending matter before this Court, case number 2022 L 010905. 


3. The ARDC documents and findings contain information directly relevant to the allegations currently being 


litigated in this Court. 


4. Illinois Supreme Court Rule 766(a) designates certain ARDC proceedings as "private and confidential," 


including investigations conducted by the Administrator and proceedings before the Inquiry Board. Ill. Sup. 


Ct., R 766. 


5. However, Rule 766(a) also establishes that proceedings under Rules 751 through 780 "shall be public" with 


specific enumerated exceptions. Ill. Sup. Ct., R 766. 


6. The Illinois Supreme Court has administrative supervision over all attorney disciplinary proceedings through 


the ARDC pursuant to Rule 751. Ill. Sup. Ct., R 751. 


7. The ARDC proceedings regarding ALPHONSE A. TALARICO IN RELATION TO THOMAS KOST No. 


2024IN00264 have concluded, and the information contained therein is directly relevant to the pending 


litigation in this Court. 


8. Illinois law recognizes that court records are generally public records, and "all persons shall have free access 


2 
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for inspection and examination to such records." 705 ILCS 105/16 


9. The interests of justice and judicial economy would be served by unsealing the ARDC documents and 


findings, as they contain information directly relevant to the claims currently being litigated before this 


Court. 


10. Unsealing these documents would prevent duplicative proceedings and ensure that this Court has access to 


all relevant information necessary to make a fully informed decision in case number 2022 L 010905. 


11. The confidentiality provisions of Rule 766 should not be used to shield relevant information from this Court 


when the same allegations that were investigated by the ARDC are now being litigated in this Court. 


Skolnick V. Altheimer & Gray, 191 Ill. 2d 214 (Pl5 L24-P21L5) 


WHEREFORE, Alphonse A. Talarico respectfully requests that this Honorable Court enter an Order: 


1. Unsealing the ARDC documents and findings related to the investigation of ALPHONSE A. TALARICO 


IN RELATION TO THOMAS KOST No. 2024IN00264; 


2. Making such documents and findings available for use in case number 2022 L 010905; 


3. Extending the time for Alphonse A. Talarico to file and serve his Response to Dulberg's Post-Judgment 


Motion to Reconsider to 14 days after a ruling on this Motion to Unseal; 


4. Granting such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 


Respectfully submitted, 


Alp onse A. Talarico 
6184530 & CC53293 
707 Skokie Boulevard Suite #600 


::.--


(312) 808-1410 
contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com 


3 
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Hearing Date: 7/29/2025 9:45 AM - 9:50 AM
Location: <<CourtRoomNumber>>
Judge: Calendar, U


·s;,;;•~~\ NOTICE OF COURT DATE 
FOR MOTION !! 


....... ··J 


.. !:!-~-~----· 
IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, CIRCUIT COURT -


COUNTY: Cook 
County Where You Are Filing the Case 


Enter the cose information as it appears on your other court documents. 


PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER OR IN RE: Paul R. Dulburg 
Who started the case. First, Middle, and Last Name, or Business Name 


DEFENDANTS/RESPONDENTS: Alternative Dis~ute Resolution 2022 L 010905 
Who the case was filed against. Case Number 


First, Middle, and Last Name, or Business Name 


1. MOTION TITLE 
Explain in a few words what you are asking the judge to do. This should match the title you write in 1 on the 
Motion. 


Motion to: to unseal ARDC documents and conclusions 


2. COURT DATE INFORMATION 
Information about getting a court date and how to attend is available from the Circuit Clerk. You can find 
their contact information at ilcourts.info/CircuitClerks. If you are e-filing in Cook County, you may get the 
court date when you e-file. 


a. The court date for the Motion I filed is scheduled on: 


__________ at ______ oa.m. 0 p.m. in _19_0_7 ____ _ 
Month, Day, Year Time Courtroom Number 


Court dates may be scheduled in-person, remotely or a combination of in-person and remotely. Find out how 
your court date will be scheduled and provide that information here. Add the Clerk's phone number and website. 


b. Attend court in any of the ways checked: 


In person at: Richard J Daley Center, 50 W. Washington St., Chicago, Courtroom 1907 
Courtroom Address Courtroom Number 


Remotely (video or telephone option) 


By video conference at: _www __ ._z_o_o_m_.c_o_m ________________ _ 
Video Conference Website 


Log-in information: Zoom Meeting ID: 768 225 2047, Zoom Passcode: 902018 
Video Conference Log-in Information, Meeting ID, Password, etc. 


By telephone at: ~(3_1_2~) 6_2_6_-6_7_9_9 ___________ _ 
Call-in Number for Telephone Remote Appearance 


This form is approved by the Illinois Supreme Court and is required to be accepted in all lflinois Circuit Courts. Forms are free at ilcourts.info/forms. 
MN-N 704.7 Page 1 of 4 (05/24) 
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Case Number: 2022 L 010905 


SIGN 


To find out more about remote court options: 


Phone: (312) 603-5030 
Circuit Clerk's Phone Number 


or Website: cookcountyclerkofcourt.org 
Website URL 


~----=======---
Under Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137, your signature means that you: 


1) read the document, 2) believe it is true and correct, and 3) are not filing it to cause delay or for another bad reason. 


If you are filling out this form on line, sign your name by typing it. If you are filling out this form by hand, sign and 
print your name. 


Print Your Name Your Signature /s/ Alphonse A. Talarico 


Your Address 707 Skokie Boulevard 
Street, Apt. # 


---------------


City State Zip Code 


Your Phone Number (312) 808-1410 Attorney Number (if any) _6_1_84_5_3_0 _______ _ 


Your Email (if you have one) contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com 


Be sure to check your email every day so you do not miss important information, court dates, or documents from 
other parties. 


3. PROOF OF DELIVERY 
Fill out the information below to show how you are sending this document to the other people in the case. If a 
person in the case has a lawyer, you must send this document to their lawyer. 


a. I am sending this document to: 


Name: See Service List Attached 
First Middle last Name 


Address: ________________________________ _ 
Street, Apt. # City State Zip Code 


Email Address: ____________________ _ 


By:~ Electronically to the email address in 3a: 
D By email (not through an EFSP}. 


Using an approved electronic filing service provider (EFSP). 


D I or the person I am sending the document to do not have an email address. I am sending the document by: 
D Mail or third-party carrier to the address in 3a, with postage or delivery charge prepaid. 


Location of mailbox or third-party carrier: _____________________ _ 
City State 


D Personal hand delivery at this address: 
NOTE: You can only deliver to the party, party's family member over 13 at party's residence, party's lawyer, or party's lawyer's office 


Address ------------------------------Street, Apt. #, City, State, and Zip Code 


D Mail to the address in 3a, from a prison or jail: ___________________ _ 
Name of Prison or Jail 


This document will be sent on: Date: 06/24/2025 Time: 9:30pm ------------
Month, Day, Year Include AM or PM 


MN-N 704.7 Page 2 of 4 (05/24) 
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Case Number: 2022 L 010905 


b. DI am not sending these documents to additional people. 
-OR-


I am sending these documents to an additional person not listed in 3a: 
Name: __________________________________ _ 


First Middle last Name 


Address: _________________________________ _ 
Street, Apt. # City State Zip Code 


Email Address: ---------------------
By: D Electronically to the email address in 3b: 


D By email (not through an EFSP). 
D Using an approved electronic filing service provider (EFSP). 


D I or the person I am sending the document to do not have an email address. I am sending the document by: 
D Mail or third-party carrier to the address in 3b, with postage or delivery charge prepaid. 


Location of mailbox or third-party carrier: _____________________ _ 
City State 


D Personal hand delivery at this address: 
NOTE: You can only deliver to the party, party's family member over 13 at party's residence, party's lawyer, or party's lawyer's office 


Address ____________________________ _ 
Street, Apt. #, City, State, and Zip Code 


D Mail to the address in 3b, from a prison or jail: ___________________ _ 
Name of Prison or Jail 


This document will be sent on: Date: ------------ Time: ________ _ 
Month, Day, Year Include AM or PM 


D I am sending the document to more than 2 people and have completed an Additional Proof of Delivery form. 


(~ ---------------------il ~1,1-/1-------------------~ 


SIGN ~----======----
Under 735 ILCS 5/1-109, your signature means that you: 
1) certify that everything in this document is true and correct, and 2) understand that making a false statement on 
this form is perjury and has penalties provided by law. 
If you are filling out this form on line, sign your name by typing it. If you are filling out this form by hand, sign and 
print your name. 


Your Signature'-' ls"'-;/ ___________ _ Print Your Name ______________ _ 


Your Address __________________________________ _ 
City State Zip Code Street, Apt. # 


Your Phone Number ----------- Attorney Number (if any) __________ _ 


Your Email (if you have one) __________________ _ 


Be sure to check your email every day so you do not miss important information, court dates, or documents from 
other parties. 


MN-N 704.7 Page 3 of 4 (05/24) 
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Case Number: 2022 L 010905 


NEXT STEP FOR PERSON FILLING OUT THIS FORM: 
After you fill out your Motion and Notice of Court Date for Motion, file them with the Circuit Clerk's office 
in the county where your case is taking place. Then, send your forms to the other people in the case. Find 
your Circuit Clerk here: ilcourts.info/CircuitClerks. 


Learn more about each step in the process and how to file in our Instructions: 
i lcou rts. info/motion-instructions. 


NEXT STEP FOR PERSON RECEIVING THIS DOCUMENT: 
For more information about responding to a case and going to court, call or text Illinois Court Help at 
833-411-1121 or go to ilcourthelp.gov. 


If there are any words or terms used in these instructions that you do not understand, please visit Illinois 
Legal Aid Online at ilao.info/glossary. You may also find more information, resources, and the location of 
your local legal self-help center at: ilao.info/lshc-directory. 


MN-N 704.7 Page 4 of 4 (05/24) 
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2022 L 010905 


Jason W. Jochum 
George J. Manos 


SERVICE LIST 


LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
550 West Adams Street, Suite 300 


Chicago, Illinois 60661 
P: (312) 345-1718/F: (312) 345-1778 
Jason.Jochum@lewisbrisbois.com 
George.Manos@lewisbrisbois.com 
Zachary. McGourty@lewisbrisbois.com 


Robert A. Chapman 
CHAPMAN SPINGOLA, LLP 
190 South LaSalle Street, Suite 3850 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 
P:(312) 630-9202 
F:(312) 630-9233 
rchapman@chapmanspingola.com 
wdickmann@chapmanspingola.com 


Christine V. Anto 
Amundsen Davis, LLC 
150 North Michigan Avenue, Suite 3300 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
P: (312) 894-3200 
canto@amundsendavislaw.com 
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mtinajero@amundsendavislaw.com 
JSchuth@amundsendavislaw.com 
mresis@amundsendavislaw.com 


Jeremy N. Soeder 
Tribler Orpett & Meyer, P.C. 
225 W. Washington Street, Suite 2550 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
jnboeder@tribler.com 
docket@tribler.com 


Paul Dulberg* 
4606 Hayden Ct. 
McHenry, Ill. 60051 
<Paul_ Dulberg@comcas 
t.net> 


Tom Kost, Trustee** 
423 Dempster St. 
Mt. Prospect, Ill. 60056 
<tkost999@gmail.com> 


2 



Paul Dulberg

Exhibit 263 Stamp







From: Paul Dulberg Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net
Subject: Re: Notice of Motion to Unseal Documents in Dulberg v. ADR et al, 2022L010905, Cook County, Illinois, County Department,


Law Division
Date: July 26, 2025 at 5:01 PM


To: ARDCClerksDepartment@iardc.Org
Cc: Alphonse Talarico contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com, LAW CALucc law.calucc@cookcountyil.gov, Jochum, Jason


jason.jochum@lewisbrisbois.com, Robert Chapman rchapman@chapmanspingola.com, Suhani Mehrotra
smehrotra@chapmanspingola.com, Anto, Christine canto@amundsendavislaw.com, Manos, George
george.manos@lewisbrisbois.com, McGourty, Zachary zachary.mcgourty@lewisbrisbois.com, Tom Kost tkost999@gmail.com,
Tinajero, Michelle mtinajero@amundsendavislaw.com, Schuth, Jennifer jschuth@amundsendavislaw.com, Resis, Michael
mresis@amundsendavislaw.com


Dear Administrator Gutierrez,


Mr Talarico wrote, "The basis for the motion to unseal is that Dulberg and Kost in their post-trial motion to reconsider, and in their 
response to the above reference motion to unseal (BEFORE IT HAS BEEN PRESENTED) and in other public forums make the same 
allegations they presented before the ARDC in the above reference closed ARDC investigation and additionally accuse attorney 
Alphonse A. Talarico of lying to the ARDC."


Concerning any allegations mentioned by Mr Talarico, we provided a detailed explanation to the ARDC (supported by evidence) of how 
Mr Talarico intentionally lied systematically throughout his Response to the ARDC complaint against him in these videos (which are on a 
public website):


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 14- Overview of Talarico response.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Illinois%20response%20to%20being%20informed%20of%20attorney%20network%2014-
%20Overview%20of%20Talarico%20response.mp4


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 15- The 2 theories and writing your own passport.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Illinois%20response%20to%20being%20informed%20of%20attorney%20network%2015-
%20The%202%20theories%20and%20writing%20your%20own%20passport.mp4


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 16- Using timelines and communications records to spot logical poverty.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Illinois%20response%20to%20being%20informed%20of%20attorney%20network%2016-
%20Using%20timelines%20and%20communications%20records%20to%20spot%20logical%20poverty.mp4


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 17- Theory 2 word replacement and passports and a new emerging reality 
consensus.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Illinois%20response%20to%20being%20informed%20of%20attorney%20network%2017-
%20Theory%202%20word%20replacement%20and%20passports%20and%20a%20new%20emerging%20reality%20consensus.mp4


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 18- Using timelines and communications records to spot more logical poverty and 
the sadness of the system.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Illinois%20response%20to%20being%20informed%20of%20attorney%20network%2018-
%20Using%20timelines%20and%20communications%20records%20to%20spot%20more%20logical%20poverty%20and%20the%20sa
dness%20of%20the%20system.mp4


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 19- Using timelines and communications records to spot more logical 
poverty.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Illinois%20response%20to%20being%20informed%20of%20attorney%20network%2019-
%20Using%20timelines%20and%20communications%20records%20to%20spot%20more%20logical%20poverty.mp4


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 20- Its all in Dulbergs mind.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Illinois%20response%20to%20being%20informed%20of%20attorney%20network%2020-
%20Its%20all%20in%20Dulbergs%20mind.mp4


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 21- Fact-find then flip into opposite then run.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Illinois%20response%20to%20being%20informed%20of%20attorney%20network%2021-
%20Fact-find%20then%20flip%20into%20opposite%20then%20run.mp4


Illinois response to being informed of attorney network 22- Talarico fees compared to Talarico work product.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Illinois%20response%20to%20being%20informed%20of%20attorney%20network%2022-
%20Talarico%20fees%20compared%20to%20Talarico%20work%20product.mp4


We also provided a detailed explanation to the ARDC (supported by evidence) of how Mr Talarico sabotaged (intentionally destroyed) 
the claims of his own clients in case 22L010905 in the following video series (which are on a public website):


The revenge of the network 1- Simplest frivolous lawsuit template.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%201-
%20Simplest%20frivolous%20lawsuit%20template.mp4


The revenge of the network 2- Setting the target up for sanctions and loss of home using frivolous lawsuit templates.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%202-
%20Setting%20the%20target%20up%20for%20sanctions%20and%20loss%20of%20home%20using%20frivolous%20lawsuit%20templ
ates.mp4


The revenge of the network 3- Trapping target in single issue frivolous lawsuit dead end pathways as they desparately struggle to 
escape.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%203-
%20Trapping%20target%20in%20single%20issue%20frivolous%20lawsuit%20dead%20end%20pathways%20as%20they%20desparat
ely%20struggle%20to%20escape.mp4


The revenge of the network 4- Stripping claims against Baudins and Olsen using No Past No Future and Burial of troublesome 
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The revenge of the network 4- Stripping claims against Baudins and Olsen using No Past No Future and Burial of troublesome 
issues.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%204-
%20Stripping%20claims%20against%20Baudins%20and%20Olsen%20using%20No%20Past%20No%20Future%20and%20Burial%20
of%20troublesome%20issues.mp4


The revenge of the network 5- Why reverse engineering to pathway point of origin is essential.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%205-
%20Why%20reverse%20engineering%20to%20pathway%20point%20of%20origin%20is%20essential.mp4


The revenge of the network 6- Talaricos Grand finale of sabotages.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%206-
%20Talaricos%20Grand%20finale%20of%20sabotages.mp4


The revenge of the network 7- Discovery of forgeries and Judge-defendant friendship.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%207-
%20Discovery%20of%20forgeries%20and%20Judge-defendant%20friendship.mp4


The revenge of the network 8- Upstream, downstream and parallel sabotages.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%208-
%20Upstream,%20downstream%20and%20parallel%20sabotages.mp4


The revenge of the network 9- Downstream ambush and sabotage on ADR Systems pathway.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%209-
%20Downstream%20ambush%20and%20sabotage%20on%20ADR%20Systems%20pathway.mp4


The revenge of the network 10- The many ways we tried to raise issues of forgery and fraud on all pathways.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%2010-
%20The%20many%20ways%20we%20tried%20to%20raise%20issues%20of%20forgery%20and%20fraud%20on%20all%20pathways.
mp4


The revenge of the network 11- Multi-sabotage of all appeal pathways.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20revenge%20of%20the%20network%2011-%20Multi-
sabotage%20of%20all%20appeal%20pathways.mp4


We describe the same activities of Mr Talarico in the following court documents filed in case 22L010905:


2025-02-24_2022L010905_Dulberg Response to ADR Petition for fees with Exhibits-File Stamped.pdf
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2056_Complete%20legal%20argument%20between%20Talarico%20and%
20ADR%20Systems/2025-02-
24_2022L010905_Dulberg%20Response%20to%20ADR%20Petition%20for%20fees%20with%20Exhibits-File%20Stamped.pdf


2025-03-14_COURT APPROVED SUPPLEMENT TO DULBERGâ€™S RESPONSE TO ADRâ€™S PETITION FOR AN AWARD OF 
ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS with Exhibits.pdf
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2056_Complete%20legal%20argument%20between%20Talarico%20and%
20ADR%20Systems/2025-03-
17_COURT%20APPROVED%20SUPPLEMENT%20TO%20DULBERGS%20RESPONSE%20TO%20ADRS%20PETITION%20FOR%2
0AN%20AWARD%20OF%20ATTORNEYS%20FEES%20AND%20COSTS%20with%20Exhibits_File%20Stamped.pdf


2025-05-20_MOTION TO RECONSIDER APRIL 22 2025 FINAL ORDER BASED ON MISTAKES IN LAW_Exhibits-Filestamped.pdf
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2056_Complete%20legal%20argument%20between%20Talarico%20and%
20ADR%20Systems/2025-05-
20_MOTION%20TO%20RECONSIDER%20APRIL%2022%202025%20FINAL%20ORDER%20BASED%20ON%20MISTAKES%20IN%
20LAW_Exhibits-Filestamped.pdf


2025-07-11_DULBERGS RESPONSE TO TALARICOS MOTION TO UNSEAL with exhibits-FS 2025-07-14.pdf
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2056_Complete%20legal%20argument%20between%20Talarico%20and%
20ADR%20Systems/2025-07-
11_DULBERGS%20RESPONSE%20TO%20TALARICOS%20MOTION%20TO%20UNSEAL%20with%20exhibits-FS%202025-07-
14.pdf


In addition, we also provided a detailed explanation to the ARDC (supported by evidence) of how Mr Talarico intentionally destroyed the 
claims of his own clients in case 17LA377 in the following video series (which are on a public website):


Being targeted by an attorney network 1- Targeted by ones own retained attorneys.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%201-
%20Targeted%20by%20ones%20own%20retained%20attorneys.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 2- The network and the system.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%202-
%20The%20network%20and%20the%20system.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 3- Legal malpractice system of protection.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%203-
%20Legal%20malpractice%20system%20of%20protection.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 4- Simplest way to sabotage targets legal malpractice complaints.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%204-
%20Simplest%20way%20to%20sabotage%20targets%20legal%20malpractice%20complaints.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 5- Networks of collaborating attorneys can be mapped.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%205-
%20Networks%20of%20collaborating%20attorneys%20can%20be%20mapped.mp4
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Being targeted by an attorney network 6- The escape hatch and cover stories.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%206-
%20The%20escape%20hatch%20and%20cover%20stories.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 7- A system of suppression.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%207-
%20A%20system%20of%20suppression.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 8- Targeting emails.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%208-%20Targeting%20emails.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 9- Burial of key evidence.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%209-
%20Burial%20of%20key%20evidence.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 10- Reverse engineering the system of suppression.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%2010-
%20Reverse%20engineering%20the%20system%20of%20suppression.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 11- How the target receives Bates numbered documents.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%2011-
%20How%20the%20target%20receives%20Bates%20numbered%20documents.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 12- Decoys to lock out key evidence and finish the victim off.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%2012-
%20Decoys%20to%20lock%20out%20key%20evidence%20and%20finish%20the%20victim%20off.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 13- Hoarding and sitting on key evidence and evidence of fraud.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%2013-
%20Hoarding%20and%20sitting%20on%20key%20evidence%20and%20evidence%20of%20fraud.mp4


Being targeted by an attorney network 14- The legal malpractice team targeting a client.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/Being%20targeted%20by%20an%20attorney%20network%2014-
%20The%20legal%20malpractice%20team%20targeting%20a%20client.mp4


We also provided a detailed explanation to the ARDC (supported by evidence) of how Mr Talarico intentionally destroyed the appeal 
processes of his own clients in case 17LA377 and in case 22L010905 in the following video series:


The steering of any appeal into a ditch 1- Using unequal knowledge to quickly finish off permanently disabled target.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20steering%20of%20any%20appeal%20into%20a%20ditch%201-
%20Using%20unequal%20knowledge%20to%20quickly%20finish%20off%20permanently%20disabled%20target.mp4


The steering of any appeal into a ditch 2- Setting up target to loose race against time.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20steering%20of%20any%20appeal%20into%20a%20ditch%202-
%20Setting%20up%20target%20to%20loose%20race%20against%20time.mp4


The steering of any appeal into a ditch 3- Talarico becomes the new decoy to distract from the network and system.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20steering%20of%20any%20appeal%20into%20a%20ditch%203-
%20Talarico%20becomes%20the%20new%20decoy%20to%20distract%20from%20the%20network%20and%20system.mp4


The steering of any appeal into a ditch 4- Talarico Higher Court sabotage maps.mp4
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/video/The%20steering%20of%20any%20appeal%20into%20a%20ditch%204-
%20Talarico%20Higher%20Court%20sabotage%20maps.mp4


Everything we state in the videos and in court documents is supported by evidence. We did not make any accusation against Mr Talarico 
that is not supported by evidence.


Paul Dulberg
(847) 497-4250
4606 Hayden Ct.
McHenry, IL. 60051


On Jul 23, 2025, at 1:05 PM, Alphonse Talarico <contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com> wrote:


Dear	Administrator	Gu0errez,


This	email	serves	as	no0ce,	pursuant	to	ARDC	and	Illinois	Supreme	Court	Rules,	of	the	
filing	of	a	mo0on	to	unseal	certain	documents	in	the	trial	court	case	of	Dulberg	v.	ADR	
et	al,	2022L010905,	Cook	County,	Illinois,	County	Department,	Law	Division	,	currently	
pending	in	Calendar	U	Law	Division,	Circuit	Court	of	Cook	County.	
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The	mo0on	was	filed	on	June	24,	2025,	in	the	above	said	Circuit	Court	of	Cook	County,	
Illinois	and	seeks	to	unseal	the	en0re	file	No.	2024IN00264.	


The	basis	for	the	mo0on	to	unseal	is	that	Dulberg	and	Kost	in	their	post-trial	mo0on	to	
reconsider,	and	in	their	response	to	the	above	reference	mo0on	to	unseal	(BEFORE	IT	
HAS	BEEN	PRESENTED)	and	in	other	public	forums	make	the	same	allega0ons	they	
presented	before	the	ARDC	in	the	above	reference	closed	ARDC	inves0ga0on	and	
addi0onally	accuse	aZorney	Alphonse	A.	Talarico	of	lying	to	the	ARDC.	


Please	note	that	this	is	an	amendment	to	the	aZached	previously	filed	no0ce	of	filing,	
and	the	ARDC	will	be	provided	with	any	court	orders	or	decisions	related	to	the	mo0on	
to	unseal	as	they	become	available.	


Please	see	the	aZached	No0ce	of	Mo0on	and	Mo0on	to	Unseal.


Sincerely,


AAT


Alphonse	A.	Talarico/Law	Office	of	Alphonse	A.	Talarico


707	Skokie	Blvd.,	Suite	600


Northbrook,	Illinois	60062	


ARDC	#6184530


(312)	808-1410


(312)	608-1410


Filed and set Motion to Unseal for 
July 29 2025 06242025 MOT (1…
.pdf
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Notice of Motion July 29 2025 
Motion to Unsdeal ARDC …
investigation 06242025 NOM and 
SL (1).pdf
2.1 MB
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Endnotes
a  https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/ardc/2023-10-31_ARDC%20Complaint_THOMAS%20W%20GOOCH-SABINA%20


WALCZYK.pdf


b  https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2056_Complete%20legal%20argument%20between%20
Talarico%20and%20ADR%20Systems/2025-02-24_2022L010905_Dulberg%20Response%20to%20ADR%20Petition%20
for%20fees%20with%20Exhibits-File%20Stamped.pdf


c  https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2056_Complete%20legal%20argument%20between%20
Talarico%20and%20ADR%20Systems/2025-03-17_COURT%20APPROVED%20SUPPLEMENT%20TO%20
DULBERGS%20RESPONSE%20TO%20ADRS%20PETITION%20FOR%20AN%20AWARD%20OF%20
ATTORNEYS%20FEES%20AND%20COSTS%20with%20Exhibits_File%20Stamped.pdf


d  https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2056_Complete%20legal%20argument%20between%20
Talarico%20and%20ADR%20Systems/2025-05-20_MOTION%20TO%20RECONSIDER%20APRIL%2022%202025%20
FINAL%20ORDER%20BASED%20ON%20MISTAKES%20IN%20LAW_Exhibits-Filestamped.pdf


e  https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2056_Complete%20legal%20argument%20between%20
Talarico%20and%20ADR%20Systems/2025-07-11_DULBERGS%20RESPONSE%20TO%20TALARICOS%20
MOTION%20TO%20UNSEAL%20with%20exhibits-FS%202025-07-14.pdf


f series also available at www.fraudonthecourt.net/video


g https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/ardc/2025-01-14_IARDC%20Letter_2024IN00264_Talarico_OCR.pdf


h https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2066_Tables/Table%204.pdf


i https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2066_Tables/Table%207.pdf


j https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/ardc/2023-11-01_R_in_ltr_c_r_jt_response_-_Clinton__et_al_.PDF


k https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/ardc/2023-07-24_ARDC%20Complaint%20Clinton-Williams.pdf


l https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/ardc/2024-02-27_MAINLIB-%231715962-v1-LTR_-_Closure_Ltr_to_CW_-_Clinton.pdf


m https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2066_Tables/Table%203.pdf


n  https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/ardc/2023-10-31_ARDC%20Complaint_KELLY%20N%20BAUDIN-WILLIAM%20
RANDAL%20BAUDIN%20II.pdf


o  All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Talarico and Kost and Talarico (about 2600 email files) are 
available online at this link: https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2050_Dulberg-Talarico%20
communication%20from%20October,%202020%20onward/


p https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Exhibit%20123_2018-10-02_second_amended_complaint_comments.txt


q https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/ardc/2024-07-02_Gooch%20response%20to%20ARDC%20complaint_OCR.pdf


r  All attorney-client email communication between Dulberg and Gooch are available online at this link: 
https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Key%20Clinton%20Folder%2015-Gooch%20communications%20sent%20to%20
Williams/


s  https://www.fraudonthecourt.net/exhibits/Group%20Exhibit%2050_Dulberg-Talarico%20communication%20from%20
October,�202020�20onward/2024-01-06_1152-32__Alphonse�20Talarico_�20_contact#lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.
com__Preamble.pdf
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SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION 


., 1111111~/ 
J\1/ST\l.t> 


Paul R Dulberg 
4606 Hayden Ct 
Mchenry, IL 600 51 


Office of Disability Adjudication and Review 
Ste200 
1033 University PL 
Evanston, IL 6020 l 


Date: April 20, 2017 


Notice of Decision -Fully Favorable 


I carefully reviewed the facts of your case and made a fully favorable decision on your 
application(s) for a period of disability, disability insurance benefits, and Supplemental Se~urity 
Income filed on March 30, 2012 and March 30, 2012. I stated the basis for my decision at your 
hearing held on April 20, 2017. I adopt the findings of fact and reasons that I gave at the hearing. 
Please read this notice of decision. 


I found you disahled as of June 28, 2011 because your impairment or combination of 
impairmi!nts is se severe that you cannot perform any work existing in_ ajgnificant numbers in the 
national economy. 


If you would like more infonnation about my decision, I can provide you with a record of my 
oral decision. You must ask for this record in writing. You may mail or bring your request to any 
Socia] Security or hearing office. Please put the Social Security number shown above on your 
request. 


Another office will process my decision and dt:cidc if you meet the non-disability requirements 
for Supplemental Security Income payments. That office may ask you for more information. If 
you do not hear anything within 60 days of the date of this notice, please contact your local 
office. The contact information for your local office is at the end of this notice. 


If You Disagree With My Decision 


If you disagree with my decision, you may file an appeal with the Appeals Council. 


How To File Au Appeal 


To file an appeal you or your representative must ask in writing that the Appeals Council review 
my decision. You may use our Request for Review fonn (HA-520) or write a letter. The form is 
available a1 WW\'V.socialsecurity.gov. Please put the Socia] Security number shown above on any 


Form HA-82 (07-2011) 
Suspect Social Secul'ity Fraud? 


Please visit Jittp://oig.ssa.gov/i- or call the Inspector General's Fraud Hotline 
at 1-800-269-0271 (TTY 1-866-501-2101). 


See Next Page 
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appeal you file. If you need help, you may file in person at any Social Security or hearing office. 


Please send your request to: 


Time Limit To File An Appeal 


Appeals Counci1 
Office of Disability Adjudication and Review 
5107 Leesbm·g Pike 
Falls Church, VA 22041-3255 


You must file your written appeal within 60 d~lys of the date you get this notice. The Appeals 
Council assumes you got this notice 5 days after the date of the notice unless you show you did 
not get it within the 5-day period. 


The Appeals Council will dismiss a late request unless you show you had a good reason for not 
filing it on time. 


\Vhat Else You May Send Us 


You or your representative may send us a written statement about. your case. You may also send 
us new evidence. You should send your written statement and any new evidence with your 
appeal. Sending your written statement and any new evidence with your appeal may help us 
review your case sooner. 


How An Appeal Works 


The Appeals Council will consider your entire case. It will consider all of my decision, even the 
parts with which you agree. Review can make any part of my decision more or less favorable or 
unfavorable to you. 1be rules the Appeals Council uses are in the Code of Federal Regulations, 
Title 20, Chapter III, Part 404 (Subpart J) and Part 416 (Subpart N). 


The Appeals Council may: 


• Deny your appeal, 
• Return your case to me or another administrative law judge for a new decision, 
• Issue its own decision, or 
• Dismiss your case. 


The Appeals Council will send you a notice telling you what it decides to do. Ifthe Appeals 
Council denies your appeal, my decision will become the final decision. 


The Appeals Council May Review My Decision On Its Own 


The Appeals Council may review my decision even if you do not appeal. They may decide to 
review my decision within 60 days after the date of the decision. The Appeals Council will mail 
you a notice of review if they decide to review my decision. 


Fonn HA-82 (07-2011) 
See Next Page 
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When There Is No Appeals Council Review 


If you do not appeal and the Appeals Council does not review my decision on its own. my 
decision will become final. A final decision can be changed only under special circumstances. 
You will not have the right to Federal court review. 


If You Have Any Q1wstions 


We invite you to visit ot1r website located at www.socialsecurity.gov to find answers to general 
questions about social security. You may also call (800) 772-1213 with questions. If you are 
deaf or hard of hearing, please use our TTY number (800) 325-0778. 


If you have any other questions, please call, write, or visit any Social Security office. Please 
have this notice and decision with you. 1ne telephone number of the local office that serves your 
area is (877)405-7828. Its address_ is: 


Enclosures: 


Social Security 
2450 Lake Shore Dr 
Woodstock, IL 60098-6911 


Lovert F. Bassett 
Administrative Law Judge 


April 20, 2017 
Date 


Form HA-L15 (Fee Agreement Approval) 


cc: Frederick J. Daley, Jr 
Daley Disability Law 
601 W Randolph St 
Ste300 
Chicago, IL 60661 


Fonn IIA-82 (07-2011) 
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IN THE CASE OF 


Paul R Dulberg 
(Claimant) 


(Wage Earner) 


SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION 
Office of Disability Adjudication and Review 


ORDER OF ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDCE 


CLAIM FOR 


Period of Disability, Disability Insurance 
Benefits, and Su lemental Securit Income 


(Social Security Number) 


l approve the fee agreement between the claimant and his representative subject to the condition 
that the claim results in past-due benefits. My determination is limited to whether the fee 
agreement meets the statutory conditions for approval and is not otherwise excepted. I neither 
approve nor disapprove any other aspect of the agreement. 


YOU MAY REQUEST A REVIEW OF THIS ORDER AS INDICATED BELOW 


Fee Agreement Approval: You may ask us to review the approval of the fee agreement. If so, 
write us within 15 days from the day you get this order. Tell us that you disagree with the 
approval of tlie agreement and give your reasons. Your representative also has 15 days 10 write 
us if he or she does not agree with the approval of the foe agreement Send your request to this 
address: 


Sherry D. Thomp:;on 
Regional Chief Administrative Law Judge 
SSA ODAR Regional Ofc 
Ste 2901 
200 W Adams St 
Chicago, IL 60606-5234 


Fe" Agreement Amount: You may also ask for a review of the amount of the fee due to the 
representative under this approved fee agreement. 1f so, please write directly to me as the 
deciding Administrative Law Judge within 15 days of the day you are notified of the amount of 
the fee due to the representative. Your representative also has 15 days to write me if he/she does 
not agree with the fee amount under the approved agreement. 


Form HA-LIS (03-2007) 
See Next Page 
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You should include the social security number(s) shown on this order on any papers that you 
send us. 


cc: Frederick J. Daley, Jr 
Daley Disahility Law 
601 W Randolph St 
Ste 300 
Chicago, IL 60661 


Lovert F. Bassett 
Administrative Law .Judge 


Apri120, 2017 
Date 


Form HA-Ll5 (03-2007) 
s~e Next Page 
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From: Alphonse Talarico contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com
Subject: Additional Courtesy Copy filed Notice of Appeal


Date: March 3, 2023 at 1:13 PM
To: George Flynn gflynn@karballaw.com


Dear	Mr.	Flynn,


Please	see	the	a1ached.


Sincerely,


Alphonse	A.	Talarico
312-808-1410


CC to George K. Flynn.pdf
4.5 MB
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This form is approved by the Illinois Supreme Court and is required to be accepted in all Illinois Appellat~.County, Illinois 
ftft·-· • 


Instructions,... 
Check the box to the 
right if your case 
involves parental 
responsibility or 
parenting time 
( custody/visitation 
rights) or relocation of 
a child. 


Just below "Appeal to 
the Appellate Court of 
Illinois," enter the 
number of the 
appellate district that 
will hear the appeal 
and the county of the 
trial court. 
If the case name in the 
trial court began with 
"In re" (for example, 
"In re Marriage of 
Jones"), enter that 
name. Below that, 
enter the names of the 
parties in the trial 
court, and check the 
correct boxes to show 
which party is filing 
the appeal 
("appellant") and 
which party is 
responding to the 
appeal ("appellee"). 


To the far right, enter 
the trial court case 
number, the trial 
judge's name, and the 
Supreme Court Rule 
that allows the 
appellate court to hear 
the appeal. 


In I, check the type of 
appeal. 
For more information 
on choosing a type of 
appeal, see How to File 
a Notice of Appeal. 


In 2, list the name of 
each person filing the 
appeal and check the 
proper box for each 
oerson. 


NAA-N 2803.6 


--
THIS APPEAL INVOLVES A MATTER SUBJECT TO EXPEDITED DISPOSITI(JHte: 3/3/2023 10 
UNDER RULE 311(a). 


APPEAL TO THE APPELLATE 
COURT OF ILLINOIS 


SECOND District 
from the Circuit Court of 


McHenry County 


In re 


Paul R. Dulberg 


Plaintiffs/Petitioners (First, middle, last names) 


GI Appellants D Appellees 


V. 


Hans Mast and The Law Offices of Thomas J. Po12ovich, P.C. 


Defendants/Respondents (First, middle, last names) 


D Appellants GI Appellees 


NOTICE OF APPEAL (CIVIL) 


1. Type of Appeal: 


GI Appeal 
D Interlocutory Appeal 
D Joining Prior Appeal 
D Separate Appeal 
D Cross Appeal 


2. Name of Each Person Appealing: 
Name: Paul R. 


First Middle 


Katherine M 
Clerk of the Circui 


Trial Court Case No.: 


17LA000377 


Honorable 


Joel D. Berg for S.J. only 


Judge, Presiding 


Supreme Court Rule: 


303 


Dulberg 
Last 


Plaintiff-Appellant Petitioner-Appellant 


Defendant-Appellant D 
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Respondent-Appellant 
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In 3, identify every 
order or judgment you 
want to appeal by 
listing the date the trial 
court entered it. 


Name: 
First Middle Last 


D Plaintiff-App3llant D Petitioner-Appellant 
OR 


D Defendant-Jlppellant D Respondent-Appellant 


3. List the date of every order or judgment you want to appeal: 


05/10/2018 
Date 09/07/2021 


Date 
11/13/2018 
Date 01/04/2022 


Date 
02/25/2019 
Date 05/02/2022 


Date 
05/30/2019 
Date 06/10/2022 


Date 
09/05/2019 
Date 07/11/2022 


Date 
11/04/2019 
Date 11/09/2022 (08:20 AM) 


Date 
02/03/2020 
Date 11/09/2022 (08:27 AM) 


Date 
11/24/2020 
Date 12/06/2022 


Date 
01/06/2021 
Date 12/21/2022 


Date 
02/11//2021 
Date 02/01/2023 


Date 
03/16/2021 
Date 


04/06/2021 
Date 


06/14/2021 
Date 


NAA-N 2803.6 Find Illinois Supreme Court approved forms at; illinoiscourts.gov/documents-and-forms/approved-forms. (05/22) 
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In 4, state what you 
want the appellate 
court to do. You may 
check as many boxes 
as apply. 


4. State your relief: 


ur' reverse the trial court's judgment (change the judgment in favor of the other party into a 
judgment in your favor and ur' send the case back to the trial court for any hearings 
that are still required; 


D vacate the trial court's judgment (erase the judgment in favor of the other party) 
and D send the case back to the trial court for a new hearing and a new judgment; 


ur' change the trial court's judgment to say: Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment is 
Denied 


[Jf Order the trial court to: transfer this case to the first district (Cook County Law Division) 
for reassignment; order Defendants to answer the Discovery filed and served by Plaintiff's 
attorney Thomas W. Gooch: 


Q/ other: Judge Thomas Meyer should have self-recused because he knows the parties, was 
the Judge in the underlying matter 12 LA 178 and is friends with one of the Defendants. 
Therefore all orders should be reviewed; have Case Management Conferences and Case 
Management Orders; reopen F(l) discovery; Plaintiffs privileged discussions with his 
attorney Thomas W. Gooch after retention regarding when he knew that Defendants actions 
were malpractice should be removed from the record; find that Plaintiffs objections of 
"undue burden" to Defendants" Supplemental Requests should be ruled/treated the same as 
Defendants' discovery objections of undue burden; determine whether a hearing on 
Plaintiffs objections made at Plaintiffs deposition were valid; have all Court orders 
redesignated to match the enter date to the file date and to the hearing date; strike all 
motions instigated by the Court; all stipulations must be signed by the party making the 
stipulation; proposed order not agreed to by the Plaintiff should not have been sent to this 
Honorable Court and should not have been entered; Plaintiff, a Party with a Pro Se 
appearance previously filed, should have been allowed to hear and speak at the Zoom 
proceedings when his attorney was hospitalized; oral motions not filed or noticed should not 
be allowed; the Judge should not be allowed to make an oral motion and grant his own oral 
motion; depositions that violate (multiple) Supreme Court rules should be stricken; Zoom 
depositions with missing exhibits should be stricken, Zoom depositions where the officer 
authorized to administer oaths was never given all exhibits used should be stricken; 
Defendants' ex parte communication on November 9, 2022 between non-attorney Ms. 
Wang and Plaintiffs former attorney Julie C. Williams (formerly Julia C. Floyd) and any 
other ex parte communication between: this Honorable Court; Plaintiffs former attorneys 
and Defendants' former offices should be revealed; the Order entered on December 6, 2022 
should be stricken and a corrected Order should replace it because: there was no order 
entered on November 11, 2022 (VETERANS DAY); allow the contemporaneous audio 
recording of Defendant Hans Mast deposition made by the officer authorized to 
administered oaths be entered in to the record as evidence for the purpose of proof that the 
Deposition Of Defendant Hans Mast contained numerous major violation of Supreme Court 
Rules ;strike the Zoom Deposition of Defendant Hans Mast completed in violation of 
numerous Supreme Court Rules without the waiver of said violation by the Parties; grant 
Plaintiffs motion to Depose Defendant Hans Mast; deny Defendants' Motion for Summary 
Judgment based upon the Zoom deposition of Defendant Hans Mast and disregarding the 
Law of the State of Illinois regarding the Statute of Limitation for Legal Malpractice and the 
requirement of pecuniary loss as determined by the Illinois Supreme Court in 2022 IL 
126935 SUBURBAN REAL ESTATE SERVICES, INC., et al., Appellees, v. WILLIAM 
ROGER CARLSON JR. et al., Appellants; upon remand to consider Plaintiffs additional 
vicarious pecuniary losses stemming from Defendants erroneous settlement advice in the 
underlying case to release the homeowners for $5,000.00 (the McGuires in the underlying 
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If you are completing 
this form on a 
computer, sign your 
name by typing it. If 
you are completing it 
by hand, sign by hand 
and print your 
name. Fill in your 
address, telephone 
number, and email 
address, if you have 
one. 
All appellants must 
sign this form. Have 
each additional 
appellant sign the form 
here and enter their 
complete name, 
address, telephone 
number, and email 
address, if they have 
one. 


case 


and grant any other relief that the court finds appropriate. 


Isl Paul R Dulberg 
Your Signature 


Paul R Dulberg 
Your Name 


pdulberg@icloud.com 
Email 


Additional Appellant Signature 
Isl 
Signature 


Name 


Email 


4606 Hayden Ct. 
Street Address 


McHenry, Illinois, 60051 
City, State, ZIP 


(847) 497-4250 
Telephone 


Street Address 


City, State, ZIP 


Telephone 


Attorney# (if any) 


Attorney# (if any) 


GETTING COURT DOCUMENTS BY EMAIL: You should use an email account that you do not share with anyone else and that you check I 
every day. If you do not check your email every day, you may miss important information, notice of court dates, or documents from other parties. 
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In la, enter the name, 
mailing address, and 
email address of the 
party or lawyer to 
whom you sent the 
document. 
In lb, check the box to 
show how you sent the 
document, and fill in 
any other information 
required on the blank 
lines. 
In 1 b, check the box to 
show how you are 
sending the document. 
CAUTION: If you and 
the person you are 
sending the document 
to have an email 
address, you must use 
one of the first two 
options. Otherwise, 
you may use one of the 
other options. 


In c, fill in the date and 
time that you sent the 
document. 


In 2, if you sent the 
document to more 
than I party or lawyer, 
fill in a, b, and c. 
Otherwise leave 2 
blank. 


PROOF OF SERVICE (You must serve the other party and complete this section) 


1. I sent this document: 
a. To: 


Name: ~G~e'""o=rg=e~--------~K~·---------~F'""l.,_ynn=---
First Middle Last 


Address: 200 S. Wacker Drive #2550, Chicago. Illinois, 60606 
Street, Apt # City State ZIP 


Email address: gflynn@karballaw.com 


b. By: 


C. 


Gr An approved electronic filing service provider (EFSP) 
D Email (not through an EFSP) 
Only use one of the methods below if you do not have an email address, or the 
person you are sending the document to does not have an email address. 
D Personal hand delivery to: 


D The party 
D The party's family member who is 13 or older, at the party's residence 
D The party's lawyer 
D The party's lawyer's office 


D Mail or third-party carrier 


On: March 3. 2023 
Date 


At.. 3: .3c _____ O a.m. 
Time 


p.m. 


2. I sent this document: 
a. To: 


Name: 
First Middle Last 


Address: ___________________________ _ 
Street, Apt # City State 


Email address: ________________ _ 


b. By: 
D An approved electronic filing service provider (EFSP) 
D Email (not through an EFSP) 


ZIP 


Only use one of the methods below if you do not have an email address, or the person you are 
sending the document to does not have an email address. 
D Personal hand delivery to: 


D The party 
D The party's family member who is 13 or older, at the party's residence 
D The party's lawyer 
D The party's lawyer's office 


D Mail or third-party carrier 
c. On: 


Date 
At: _____ 0 a.m. 0 p.m. 


Time 
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In 3, if you sent the 
document to more than 
I party or lawyer, fill 
in a, I;>, and c. 
Otherwise leave 2 
blank. 


Under the Code of 
Civil Procedure, 735 
ILCS 5/1-109, 
making a statement 
on this form that you 
know to be false is 
perjury, a Class 3 
Felony. 
If you are completing 
this form on a 
computer, sign your 
name by typing it. If 
you are completing it 
by hand, sign by hand 
and print your name. 


NAA-N 2803.6 


3. I sent this document: 
a. To: 


Name: 
First 


Address: ______ _ 
Street, Apt # 


Email address: 


b. By: 


Middle 


City 


D An approved electronic filing service provider (EFSP) 
D Email (not through an EFSP) 


Last 


State ZIP 


Only use one of the methods below if you do not have an email address, or the person you are 
sending the document to does not have an email address. 
D Personal hand delivery to: 


D The party 
D The party's family member who is 13 or older, at the party's residence 
D The party's lawyer 
D The party's lawyer's office 
Mail or third-party carrier 


c. On: 
Date 


At: a.n p.m. 
Time 


I certify that everything in the Proof of Service is true and correct. I understand that making 
a false statement on this form is perjury and has penalties provided by law 
under 735 ILCS 5/1-109. 


/s/ Alphonse A. Talarico 
Your Signature 


Alphonse A. Talarico 
Print Your Name 


6184530 
Attorney # (if any) 
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From: Alphonse Talarico contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com
Subject: Duplicate Clerlk's fee required.


Date: March 7, 2023 at 2:55 PM
To: Paul Dulberg pdulberg@icloud.com, Paul Dulberg Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net


Dear	Mr.	Dulberg,


Please	see	the	a1ached.


I	believe	my	fee	to	file	with	the	Appellate	Court	is	an	addiAonal	$50.00.


Thank	you,
Alphonse	A.	Talarico


Clerks fee for Record on Appeal
CC-Civil - 2017LA000377 -…
3_7_2023 - - - LETFCC - -.pdf


K A T H E R I N E  M .  K E E F E  


Clerk of the Circuit Court 
22nd JUDICIAL CIRCUIT McHENRY COUNTY 


2200 N. Seminary Avenue 
Woodstock, IL 60098 


www.mchenrycircuitclerk.org 
 
 


March 7, 2023 
 
ALPHONSE A TALARICO 
707 SKOKIE BLVD, STE 600 
NORTHBROOK, IL 60062 
 
 
Title: DULBERG, PAUL VS MAST, HANS, ET AL 
Case Number: 2017LA000377 
Appellate Court Case Number:  2-23-0072 
 
Please be advised that the electronic record is due at the Appellate Court on or before May 5, 2023.   
 


o The Clerk’s Statutory fee for this record is $707.75 and shall be paid before the record can be 
electronically transmitted to the Appellate Court.  If mailing payment, please contact the 
Appeals Division at (815) 334-4058 by April 21, 2023, to confirm that your payment has 
been received or pay on-line www.mchenrycircuitclerk.org click make payment then the 3rd 
green box.   


 
o The Clerk’s Statutory fee for this record has been paid or waived by court order.  The record 


was electronically transmitted to the Appellate Court on. 
 


o This record contains Trial Court Exhibits: 
o You are responsible for picking up the exhibits and delivering them to the Appellate 


Court.  
o The exhibits will be mailed to the State Appellate Defender’s Office. 
o The exhibits will be filed electronically with the Appellate Court. 


 
To view or request a copy of the Record on Appeal, please contact the Appellate Court at (847) 695-3750. 
 


Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Clerk of the Circuit Court McHenry County 


Civil Division 
815.334.4310 


Criminal/Traffic Division 
815.334.4190 


Felony/Juvenile Division 
815.334.4313 


Fax 
815.338.8583 


** FILED **   Env: 21759412
McHenry County, Illinois
2017LA000377
Date: 3/7/2023 1:53 PM
Katherine M. Keefe
Clerk of the Circuit Court


Received 03-07-2023 01:55 PM / Circuit Clerk Accepted on 03-07-2023 01:56 PM / Transaction #21759412 / Case #2017LA000377
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E-FILED
Transaction ID:  2-23-0072
File Date: 7/24/2023 4:27 PM


Jeffrey H. Kaplan, Clerk of the Court
APPELLATE COURT 2ND DISTRICT


SC


Purchased from re:SearchIL


No. 2-23-0072 


IN THE APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS 
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT 


PAUL R. DULBERG, 


Plaintiff-Appellant 


HANS MAST and the LAW OFFICES OF 
THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C. 


Defendants-Appellees 


) Appeal from the Circuit Court of the 
) 22nd Judicial Circuit, McHenry County, 
) Illinois 
) Relief Sought: Appellant's Brief Due Date Extended 
} to September 29, 2023 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)Honorable Joel D. Berg, Judge Presiding 
)Date of Notice of Appeal March 3, 2023 
)Date of Judgment February 1, 2023 
)Date of Post judgment Motion Order: None 


. SECOND MOTION FOR EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE APPELLANT"S BRIEF 
(Civil) 


Plaintiff-Appellant Paul R Dulberg (Appellant) moves this Honorable Court for an extension of 


Time to file Appellant's Brief to September 29, 2023 and in support of said motion states as 


follows: 


1. On July 24, 2023 and before filing this motion, Plaintiffs attorney telephoned both 


attorneys representing the Defendants and left a voice mail message for each indicating 


that I would be seeking an extension of time for filing the Appellant's Brief for 60 days 


based upon various problems based upon the stress of being a sole practitioner with a 


extremely heavy active case load complicated by an extremely stressful personal. 


problem. Neither attorney was available but in each case I left a detailed rendering of 


1 







Purchased from re:SearchIL


my extremely stressful personal problem that added to the normal high stress of 


practicing law. I asked to be notified if either had an objection and that I would wait a 


reasonable amount oftime to include any objection they might have. (Ill. S. Ct. 361(a) 


and Local Rule Article 1 General Rules 102(b ). 


2. On July 24, 2023 I received a telephone message from Defendants' attorneys 


stating Defendants have no objections .. 


3. The number of days previously requested is 60, the number of days previously granted is 


60, and the total number of days is 60.(Local rule 104 (a)(l)) 


4. The total number of days requested, and the total number of days granted to other parties 


are (0) none. (Local Rule 104(a)(2)) 


5. The number of days that will have elapsed from the date of filing of the Notice of Appeal 


to the date that the case will be ready for disposition is two hundred fifty-nine days. 


(Local Rule 104(a)(3), Local Rule 106(b) and Local Rule 108(a) & (b)) 


6. Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on March 3, 2023. 


7. The Record on Appeal was filed on April 24, 2023 and made available for download on 


April 25, 2023. 


8. Appellant's Brief due date was first extended sixty days by this Honorable Court to July 


31,2023. 


9. Sixty days is insufficient to prepare and file Appellant's Brief for the following reasons: 


9(a) The record on appeal consists of three volumes totaling 2,660 pages; 


9(b) Appellant requested the entire record be prepared, but Appellant's attorney 


has discovered missing report of proceedings, mismatched sections, 


documents with only one of the Defendants' names where it should be all, 


2 
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Memorandums of Law where the body of the motions should be, violations of the 


Supreme Court of Illinois Standards and Requirements for Electronic Filing the Record 


on Appeal (Revised- Effective March 1, 2022) regarding§ 1. Definitions (i) Hyperlink- ... 


and so on. (Investigation Continues.) 


10. Appellant's attorney has made extensive efforts to have Appellant's Briefready for 


filing by the July, 31, 2023 considering the above listed problems and his Court hearing/filing 


schedule on April 25, 2023 case# 2021P008775 Public Administrator's motion, May 4, 


2023 case# 2022L010905 where he argued a "Motion for a Special Order"' and 


additionally he had to brief two separate 735 ILCS 5/2-619.1 motions and a separate 


735 ILCS 5/2-615 motion for hearings on May 25, 2023 and July 31, 2023, resolve a 


dispute regarding an order to be entered on May 4, 2023 where the Honorable Judge 


declined to choose between proposed orders and there wasn't a Court Reporter, drafting 


and filing/serving case# 2023CH04351 on May 2, 2023 a Complaint for Declaratory 


Judgment with an expiring Statute of Limitations against a municipal corporation and 


twenty-one additional defendants and two emergency personal problems as previously 


stated in support of Appellant's first Motion for Extension of Time. 


Subsequent to the filing of Appellant's initial Motion for Extension of Time the 


following court schedule required Appellant's Attorney's preparation and appearances: 


May 31, 2023 The Estate of Hutchinson, Deceased 19PR000098 continuing after 


remand from the Illinois Appellate Court, 2nd District for further proceedings; Dulberg v. 


Baudins et al 2022L010905 drafting and filing Response to Defendants' 735 ILCS 2-


619.1 Motions to Dismiss; Dulberg v. Olsen Notice of Supreme Court rule 304(a) 


Appeal First District 1-23-1142 on June 26, 2023; (on June 28, 2023 a traumatic 
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personal event that was experienced by Appellant Paul R. Dulberg" attorney that 


continues to the filing of this Second Motion for Extension of Time and onward (Please see 


below); preparation for a sur-response in Dulberg v. Baudins et al; preparation for an 


Amended Complaint and Response for a Motion for Summary Judgment due with an 


appearance July 31, 2023 in 2022L010905, Court Appearance on July 20, 2023 two 


separate Defendants' 735 ILCS 5/2-615 Motions to Dismiss Case 2023CH 04351, First 


District, Kost v. Village of Mt. Prospect et al; 


Appellant's Attorney traumatic ongoing event began on June 28, 2023 and continues. 


On June 28, 2023 Appellant's Attorney's Fiancee entered the airport in Manila, Philippines to 


take a flight to the U.S. to meet with future family, current friends, and Appellant's Attorney. 


The schedule flight was to stop in Tokyo, Japan for a short lay over then on to O'Hare 


International Airport (ORD) Illinois. 


June 28, 2023 in the Manilla, Philippines was the last time anyone has seen or heard from her. 


She did not arrive at O'Hare and a cooperative customs agent told Appellants' Attorney that she 


was not being detained by customs and upon further investigation stated she was not on the 


passenger manifest of the connecting flight in Tokyo, Japan. Subsequently, the embassies in 


both countries were contacted, an international investigation firm was hired and local 


government personnel began an independent investigation. 


No trace of Appellant's Attorney's Fiancee has been found. 


The stress of an active practice coupled with the terrible stress of a missing loved one for over 27 


days has affected Appellant's Attorney in many negative ways. 
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11. Appellant is a sole practitioner and has no full-time staff to help in the preparation of 


Appellant's Brief. 


Wherefore, Plaintiff-Appellant prays that this Honorable Court recognize Plaintiff-


Appellant's Attorney good faith and extensive efforts to comply with the initial and 


extended briefing schedule, the problems caused by the Report on Appeal based on its 


page size and the errors by the Clerk of the Circuit Court in preparation of the Record 


on Appeal (and as additional relief consider ordering the Clerk to prepare an Amended 


Record on Appeal) and grant Appellant a minimum of 60 additional days up to and 


including September 29, 2023 to file his Appellant's Brief and any and all additional 


relief this Honorable Court deems equitable and just. 


Dated: July 24, 2023 Respectfully submitted, 


By: Isl Alphonse A Talarico 
ARDC 6184530 
707 Skokie Boulevard suite 600 
Northbrook, Illinois 60062 
(312) 808-1410 
contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com 
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VERIFICATION BY CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1-109 
Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure, the undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this instrument are 
true and correct, except as to matters therein stated to be on information and belief, and 
as to such matters the undersigned certifies as aforesaid that he verily believes the 
same to be true. 


Isl Alphonse A. Talarico 


PROOF OF DELIVERY 


I am sending this Motion for Extension of Time to File Appellant's Brief, Proposed Order and 


Notice of Filing to George K. Flynn and Michelle M. Blum, Karbal Cohen 


Economou Silk Dunne, LLC., 200 S Wacker Drive, Suite 2550, Chicago, Illinois 60606, Tel: 


(312) 431-3700, Fax: (312) 431-3670, gflyn@karballaw.com, mblum@karballaw.com by an 


approved electronic filing service provider (EFSP) on July 24, 2023 at 4:30 p.m. 


I certify that everything in the Proof of Delivery is true and correct. I understand that a false 


statement herein is perjury and has penalties provided by law under 735 ILCS 5/1-109. 


Dated: July 24, 2023 


Isl Alphonse A. Talarico 
ARDC 6184530 
707 Skokie Boulevard suite 600 
Northbrook, Illinois 60062 
(312) 808-1410 
contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com 
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File Date: 7/24/2023 4:27 PM


Jeffrey H. Kaplan, Clerk of the Court
APPELLATE COURT 2ND DISTRICT
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No. 2-23-0072 


IN THE APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS 
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT 


PAUL R. DULBERG, ) Appeal from the Circuit Court of the 
) 22nd Judicial Circuit, McHenry County, 
) Illinois 


Plaintiff-Appellant 


HANS MAST and the LAW OFFICES OF 
THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C. 


Defendants-Appellees 


) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)Honorable Joel D. Berg, Judge Presiding 
)Date of Notice of Appeal March 3, 2023 
)Date of Judgment February 1, 2023 
)Date of Post judgment Motion Order: None 


NOTICE OF FILING SECOND MOTION FOR EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE 
APPELLANT'S BRIEF 


TO: George K. Flynn and Michelle M. Blum 
Karbal Cohen Economou Silk Dunne, LLC 
200 S Wacker Drive, Suite 2550 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
Tel: (312) 431-3700, Fax: (312) 431-3670 
gflyn@karballaw.com 
mblum@karballaw.com 


PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on Jule 24, 2023, the undersigned filed the NOTICE OF FILING 
SECOND MOTION FOR EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE APPELLANT'S BRIEF of 
Plaintiff-Appellant Paul R. Dulberg with the Clerk of the Appellate Court Second District, 
Illinois, a copy is hereby served upon you. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY ELETRONIC DELIVERY 


I, Alphonse Talarico, an attorney, on oath state that I served the foregoing: 


NOTICE OF FILING MOTION FOR 
EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE 
APPELLANT'S BRIEF upon 
counsel listed above by an approved 
electronic filing service provider 
(EFSP) on July 24, 2023 at 4:30 p.m. 


Isl Alphonse A. Talarico 
ARDC 6184530 
707 Skokie Boulevard suite 600 
Northbrook, Illinois 60062 
(312) 808-1410 
contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com 


VERIFICATION BY CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1-109 
Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure, the undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this instrument are 
true and correct, except as to matters therein stated to be on information and belief, and 
as to such matters the undersigned certifies as aforesaid that he verily believes the 
same to be true. 


Isl Alphonse A. Talarico 


2 







IN THE CIRCU-OURT OF THE TWENTY-SECOND JlWCIAL CIRCUIT 
)\ / McHENRY COUNTY, ILLINOIS 1 {J v-1.. 6 Jl/1/ . __ U_se-O-nl-y---. 


::7 Plaintiff 


.. Case Number 


Defendant A-,"" _f. 


D 
D 
D 
D 
D 


/ , v ) veJ.CURDER 
McHenry Crounty, lli!flO!S .I 


Plaintiff(s) appear in person/by attorney 


Defendant(s) appear in person/by attorney _____________ 


Summons not served; alias summons to issue; return date 


Summons has been properly served on Defendant(s) __________ 


Defendant(s) appear and admit liability. Judgment for Plaintiff(s) against Defendant(s) for$ ______ _ 


plus interest of$ _____ plus attorney fees of$ _____ for a total of$ _____ plus court costs. 


0 Defendant(s), having failed to appear or otherwise respond to the summons, is found in default. Judgment for 


0 
0 


Plaintiff(s) against Defendant(s) for$ _____________ , plus interest of$. _____ _ 


plus attorney fees of$ _______ for a total of$. _______ Ius court costs. 


Case set for D trial 0 arbitration 20 __ at __ _ .m. in Courtroom 


Defendant(s) shall file an Appearance within days oftoday's date, or without further Notice to 


Defendant(s), the trial date will be stricken and a judgment by default will be entered against Defendant(s) and in 


favor ofPlaintiff(s). 


NOTICE TO DEFENDANT(S): THIS IS THE ONLY NOTICE YOU WILL RECEIVE OF THE TRIAL, 


OR ARBITRATION DATE AND YOUR OBLIGATION TO FILE AN APPEARANCE. 


D Defendant(s) shall file an answer or other pleading within ________ days oftoday's date. 


D . This case is continued on Motion of D Plaintiff; D Defendant; 0 By Agreement; D Court; 


0 


0 


0 
0 


to _____________ , 20 __ at ___ ,, _m. for'-----------------


Case called, Plaintiff(s) fail to appear. Case dismissed fo1l:itiff's failurf to prosecute. c/ 
C d. . . h . d' PI . . .12b c( o-:. -! ) ( 'b.. ase ISmisse . It It out preJu Ice on amtl v 
After trial of this c se, the Court enters a Judgment for Plaintiff(s) against Defendant(s) for$ ______ _ 


plus interest of$ plus attorney fees of$. for a total of$ _____ plus court costs. 


After trial of this 'case, the Court enters a Judgment for Defendant(s) against Plaintiff(s). 


COURT FURTHER ORDERS=----------------'----------







Date : 11/10/2022 12:56:36 PM
From : "Alphonse Talarico" 
To : "Paul Dulberg" 
Subject : Re: Document suppression smoking gun
 
Yes, thank you
From: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@icloud.com>
Sent: Thursday, November 10, 2022 12:40 PM
To: Alphonse Talarico <contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com>
Subject: Document suppression smoking gun 
 


Attachment available until Dec 10, 2022


Let me know if this works


Click to Download
document_suppression_smoking_gun.zip


87.9 MB







GAGNON AND MCGUIRES


On or about June 28, 2011, Dulberg assisted Caroline McGuire (“Caroline”), William McGuire 
(“William”) (Caroline and William collectively referred to herein as “the McGuires”), and David 
Gagnon (“Gagnon”) in trimming long branches of a pine tree on the McGuires” property.


Caroline McGuire and William McGuire are a married couple, who own real property in McHenry, 
McHenry County, Illinois (“the Property”).


David Gagon is Caroline’s son and William’s stepson.


Paul Dulberg ("Dulberg") lives in the next neighborhood over from the McGuire family.


Dulberg was invited to the McGuire’s property to see if he wanted any of the wood from the tree.


On June 28, 2011, at the Property, Gagnon was operating a chainsaw to remove branches from a 
tree and cut it down on the Property.


The McGuire’s purchased and owned the chainsaw that was being utilized to trim, remove 
branches and cut down the tree.


William physically assisted with removing the cut branches from the work area while supervising 
Gagnon’s actions.


Caroline physically assisted by retrieving and providing any and all tools requested by William 
McGuire and David Gagnon while supervising Gagnon’s and William’s actions.


Gagnon was acting on behalf of the McGuires’ under their supervision and at the McGuires’ 
direction.


Caroline, William, and Gagnon all knew, or show have known that a chainsaw was dangerous and 
to take appropriate precautions when utilizing the chain saw.


The safety information was readily available to Caroline and William as the safety instructions are 
included with the purchase of the chainsaw.


The safety information indicated that the failure to take appropriate caution and safety measures 
could result in serious injury.


The safety information indicated that the likelihood of injury when not properly utilizing the 
chainsaw or not following the safety precautions is very high.


The safety instructions outlined are easy to follow and do not place a large burden on the operator 
of the chainsaw or the owner of the property.


Caroline McGuire, William McGuire, and David Gagnon had notice of the potentially dangerous 
conditions by acquiring a chain saw that was provided with attached warnings and safety 







information implying that a reasonable person should exercise appropriate caution and follow the 
safety instructions for the chainsaw.


Caroline, William, and Gagnon failed to act as reasonable persons by either not exercising 
appropriate care, failing to follow the safety instructions, or failing to instruct Gagnon to exercise 
appropriate care and/or follow the safety instructions.


Caroline and William, owners of the property and the chainsaw, instructed Gagnon to use the chain 
saw despite Gagnon not being trained in operating the chainsaw.


Caroline and William failed to instruct and require that Gagnon utilize the chainsaw only in 
compliance with the safety measures outlined in the owner’s manual.


Gagnon failed to utilize the chainsaw in compliance with the safety measures outlined in the 
owner’s manual.


Caroline and Gagnon asked Dulberg to assist.


Caroline, William and Gagnon failed to provide Dulberg with any of the safety information outlined 
in the owner’s manual.


Caroline and William McGuire failed to provide Gagnon or Dulberg with any of the protective 
equipment necessary for the type of work to be performed as written within the safety measures 
outlined in the owner’s manual.


Gagnon operated the chainsaw in close proximity to Dulberg and it struck Dulberg in the right 
arm, Dulberg’s dominant arm, cutting him severely requiring medical attention to save Dulberg’s 
life.


Dulberg incurred substantial and catastrophic injuries, including, but not limited to, pain and 
suffering, loss of use of his right arm which resulted in a finding of permanent disability by Social 
Security Administration on April 20, 2017 (Please see Exhibit A attached); current and future 
medical expenses in amount in excess of $260,000.00; Dulberg’s lifelong career in photography, 
graphic design, and commercial printing; lost wages in excess of one million dollars; and other 
damages.


POPOVICH AND MAST


On or about December 1, 2011 Dulberg hired Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually 
to represent him in prosecuting his claims against Gagnon and the McGuires.


Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually entered into an attorney client relationship 
with Dulberg. exhibit (Use contract for legal services)


Based upon the attorney client relationship, Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually 
owed professional duties to Dulberg, including a duty of care.







On February 1, 2013, The McGuires filed a counterclaim against Gagnon. exhibit (CROSS-CLAIM 
FOR CONTRIBUTION AGAINTS CO-DEFENDANT DAVID GAGNON File stamped 2/1/2013)


The cross-claim accused Gagnon of the following negligent acts and/or omissions:
a. Caused or permitted a chainsaw to make contact with Plaintiffs right arm;
b. Failed to operate said chainsaw in a safe and reasonable manner so as to avoid injuring 
Plaintiff's right arm;
c. Failed to maintain a reasonable and safe distance between the chainsaw he was operating and 
Plaintiff's right arm;
d. Failed to properly instruct Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating chainsaw;
e. Failed to properly warn Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating
chainsaw;
f. Failed to maintain the chainsaw in the idle or off position when he knew or should have known 
that Plaintiff was close enough to sustain injury from direct contact with the subject chainsaw;
g. Failed to maintain a proper lookout for Plaintiff while operating the subject chainsaw;
h. Failed to maintain proper control over an operating chainsaw;
i. Was otherwise negligent in the operation and control of the subject
chainsaw.


David Gagnon has never filed an answer to this counterclaim by the McGuires.


Popovich hid and altered key documents that supported the version of events of the day of the 
chainsaw accident told by Dulberg and contradicted the version of events told by Gagnon, Carolyn 
McGuire, and Bill McGuire from Dulberg, the opposing counsel, and Dulberg's future attorneys, 
including the Baudins.


Popovich and Mast coerced Dulberg into settling with the McGuires for $5,000 in January, 2014.   
legal malpractice case Dulberg v Hans Mast, Thomas Popovich, and the Law Office of Thomas J. 
Popovich (12LA178) in McHenry County, .


Dulberg filed for bankruptcy in November, 2014.


Hans Mast and Thomas Popovich repeatedly tried to get Dulberg to settle with Gagnon for $50,000 
or less.


Dulberg eventually fired Popovich and Mast in March, 2015, just after canceling a preconference 
settlement hearing that Mast scheduled in which Mast was proposing on Dulberg's behalf to drop 
the case against Gagnon for $50,000, telling Dulberg in an email, "the insurance limit is $100,000 
and no insurance company will pay even close to that".


BULKE


On March 19, 2015 Dulberg retained Attorney Brad Bulke, who claimed he was willing to take the 
case against Gagnon to trial.


As Dulberg's attorney, Brad Bulke asked the judge for a settlement conference and urged Dulberg 
to settle with Gagnon for $50,000.  exhibit.







Bulke told Dulberg that if he does not agree with a settlement of $50,000, Bulke cannot continue 
to be his attorney.


Dulberg refused to participate in a pre-trial settlement conference and fired Bulke in June, 2015. 
exhibit.


On June 12, 2015 Dulberg sent an email to Bulke stating:  "Hi Brad,
Please expect a call from Randall Baudin's office.
Please share whatever it is they need concerning this case."


BAUDINS AND OLSEN


Dulberg called the office of Baudin & Baudin a few times, but nobody called back.


Dulberg's mother knew that Randall Baudin Sr had represented Scott Dulberg a few years back and 
she recommended Randall Baudin Sr to Dulberg.


Dulberg along with his mother (Barbara Dulberg) and brother Tom Kost went to meet with Randy 
Baudin Sr at Baudin & Baudin to discuss possible representation.


Upon entering the office of Baudin & Baudin, Dulberg met with a receptionist who called herself 
Myrna who introduced Dulberg to Randy Jr and Kelly Baudin attorneys of the firm.


When Barbara Dulberg inquired about Randy Baudin Sr, she was told that he was not available, not 
real active these days but doing okay.


A meeting took place.


Dulberg's fee agreement is with Baudin & Baudin (attached - Dulberg 002620) which at the time 
was located at:
2100 Huntington Dr., Suite C Algonquin IL. 60102


W. Randall Baudin II and Kelly Baudin belong to Baudin Law Group, Ltd. which at the time was 
located at:
304 McHenry Ave, Crystal Lake, IL 60014


Many Emails with Myrna Thompson aka Myrna Boyce their secretary are from myrna@blgltd.com 
and myrna@lawbaudin.com with the logo of Baudin Law Group Ltd.


Emails with Randy Baudin Jr are from randybaudin2@gmail.com


Emails with Kelly Baudin are addressed kelly@lawbaudin.com 


Other emails used copier@blgltd.com


Dulberg clearly informed W. Randall Baudin Jr and Kelly Baudin at their opening meeting that he 
intended to take the case to trial and after what happened with Popovich, Mast and Bulke, he did 
not want an attorney who was not willing to take the case against Gagnon to a jury trial.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin agreed to take the case to trial if necessary.







At their first meeting Dulberg gave W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin 2 different packets of case 
files, one in a box from Bulke and the other from the Popovich Law Firm in a brown jacket folder.  
W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin did not want the box of files from Bulke and took only the 
organized brown jacket folder.


On September, 22, 2015 Dulberg hired Baudin & Baudin, W. Randal (Randy) Baudin II and Kelly 
Baudin to represent him in prosecuting his claims against Gagnon. exhibit - fee agreement


W. Randal Baudin II, Kelly Baudin, and Baudin & Baudin entered into an attorney client relationship 
with Dulberg.


Based upon the attorney client relationship, W. Randal (Randy) Baudin II, and Kelly Baudin, and 
Baudin & Baudin owed professional duties to Dulberg, including a duty of care.


Popovich hid key documents that supported the version of events of the day of the chainsaw 
accident told by Dulberg and contradicted the version of events told by Gagnon, Carolyn McGuire, 
and Bill McGuire from Dulberg, the opposing counsel, and Dulberg's future attorneys, including the 
Baudins.


A $7,500 offer made by Popovich and Mast on October 22, 2013 in Dulberg's name to settle the 
case with the McGuires was not included in the brown jacket folder (or the box of files) because 
Popovich and Mast did not include it.  


A pharmacy receipt with the time of presciption pick up given to Mast by Dulberg at their first 
meeting on December 1, 2011, which was a key piece of evidence corroborating Dulbergs version 
of events on the day of the chainsaw accident and directly contradicting the version of events told 
by Gagnon, Carolyn McGuire and Bill McGuire, was also not included in the brown jacket folder (or 
the box of files) because Popovich and Mast did not include it.


Upon reviewing Dulberg's case against Gagnon, W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or 
should have known that on February 1, 2013 a counterclaim was filed against Gagnon by the 
McGuires on February 1, 2013.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that Gagnon has never filed an 
answer to the McGuires's counterclaim.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that because Gagnon did not 
answer the counterclaim filed on February 1, 2013, Gagnon was effectively admitting the facts 
stated in the counterclaim were true.  The Baudins never told this to Dulberg.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that documents such as "Gagnon 
deposition exhibit 1" were highly questionable and showed evidence of being manipulated.  The 
Baudins never told this to Dulberg.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that Gagnon never filed answers 
to the interrogatories sent by Popovich and Mast.  The Baudins never told this to Dulberg.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin never asked Gagnon's counsel for the answers to 
interrogatories.  The Baudins never informed the judge that they never received Gagnons answers 
to interrogatories.







On July 15, 2016 at 2:22 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Kelly and I would like speak with you and your mom Monday night at 630"


On July 15, 2016 at 2:27 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Okay, Monday the 18th at 6:30 pm. Do we need to bring anything?"


On July 15, 2016 at 2:29 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Maybe the social security report if you have it? We will Jameson's Charhouse 
crystal lake at 630 in meeting room there."


On July 18, 2016 at 4:26 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Still on for tonight?"


On July 18, 2016 at 4:26 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes sir."


On July 18, 2016 W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin invited Dulberg and his mother, Barbara 
Dulberg, to dinner at Jamison Charhouse


At the dinner... 


On July 18, 2016 at 8:54 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Would we be in a better position if the SSDI decision was already in and would that 
make a difference in the amount the arbitration judge would award?"


On July 18, 2016 at 8:56 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "No we have the dr reports. You can tell the judge about it in mediation as well. 
More informal and you can get more info in without being restricted by rules of evidence. And I 
can't promise in a trial they won't bring the felony drug charges up. Believe me the binding 
mediation is the best route.  We are in the best spot now with the momentum on our side and 
being able to present your case in mediation without any new testimony from defendant"


On July 18, 2016 at 9:00 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "We are in the best spot now with the momentum on our side and being able to 
present your case in mediation without any new testimony from defendant"


On July 18, 2016 at 10:09 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If we went to trial I'm not worried about those drug charges. I've had to explain myself 
about that for decades. It's pretty simple, I screwed up at a young age, was honest about it, 
admitted my wrong and took my punishment. Then I moved on with life, worked hard for 17 years 
for many employers in this county who all have nothing but good things to say about my time with 
them while at the same time I created a legitimate business that lasted 12 years till this incident. I 
believe my past felony will be a non issue because it actually shows a lot about my character, being 
honest when I'm in the wrong is something most people won't do even if being honest cost me a 
few years. If Allstate does bring it up, their own client did the same thing only worse, he and his 
whole family was caught dealing drugs only to underage kids and he was the ringleader. They were 
just lucky that when they got caught it was before mandatory sentences for those offenses were in 
place. but it doesn't change what they did, exploiting underage children with drugs for money is 
far worse than my simple possession charge. I have the actual police reports if we need them. If 
this does go to trial, Allstate lawyers had better read the depositions of their client and his family. 







if they do I don't believe their going to put their client or anyone from his family on the stand just 
to purger themselves over and over again in front of a jury unless the want to lose. All they have is 
possibly some dr who isn't impartial questioning the results of the dr's I was sent to see. In the end 
after the Dr's have it out on the stand all that remains is me who nearly died, had 40% of my arm 
severed and the edges turned to hamburger by a chainsaw then just stitched back together with a 
few threads with hope that I might get some use yet. Well I do have limited use but it's not enough 
to do the daily functions we all need to do in order to take care of ourselves and it doesn't take a 
Ph.D. to see or understand that a chainsaw does that. Ok, I realize I just ranted a lot but its all 
good. I'll let you know in the morning"


On July 18, 2016 at 10:12 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "So sorry came in garbled. Are you taking our recommendation as to the binding 
mediation?"


On July 18, 2016 10:13 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin II 
stating:  "You will have an answer tomorrow"


On July 19, 2016 at 12:23 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Sorry but I want to get this to you while its fresh Please answer this in the 
morning How are costs and attorney fees handled in binding arbitration? Do they come out of the 
award or are they in addition to the award like a trial?"


On July 19, 2016 at 3:57 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Both Handled the same as trail."


On July 19, 2016 at 7:02 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Does that mean your fees and costs are awarded separate from the award or do they 
still come out of the 300k cap?"


On July 19, 2016 at 7:06 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "If at trial and win 300 max Costs not above that. Same as mediation. We can ask 
for judge to award costs in both. Up to judge to award. Also costs mean filing fee service fee. Not 
the costs like experts bills On


On July 19, 2016 at 7:54 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "We are thinking that if we can get Allstate to agree in advance and in writing to cover 
your % (fee) and all the costs including deposition fees, expert witness fees and medical above and 
beyond any award the arbiter sees fit then we would be willing to go forward. Let's just see if they 
are open to it"


On July 19, 2016 at 7:56 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "They won't. The judge will decide what the award is and that is the award. We 
again urge you to do the binding mediation."


On July 19, 2016 at 8:10 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I just read the statute on arbitration and it seems to me that your fees and all the costs 
can be agreed to in advance with the exception of fees for the arbitration itself. I need to feel that 
there is something covered. Particularly the monies we already laid out otherwise just the 
momentum in our favor isn't enough because the momentum has always been in our favor. It 
doesn't hurt to ask Allstate if they would agree to pay these separate from the award"







On July 19, 2016 at 8:18 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "In essence Allstate is already setting terms on us not to go after their clients personal 
assets. Irregardless if their are any assets. So I think it's only fair that they cover fees and costs in 
advance"


On July 19, 2016 at 8:40 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "They are the ones pushing for arbitration correct? Why?"


On July 19, 2016 at 8:47 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I have to run to the dr's appointment. I'd tell Kelly to ask that Allstate wait till possibly 
Thursday for their answer. It's not like it cost them anything"


On July 19, 2016 at 10:07 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I told you they don't care if we arbitrate. We as your lawyers say that it is the 
best that you do the binding mediation. We are deciding this based on facts and odds as to give 
you the best outcome. It appears to me that you are still looking for some justification or 
rationalization to carry on as if it will make it better. It won't. This will give you the best possible 
outcome."


On July 19, 2016 at 1:46 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Randy, Yes arbitration is appealing because it saves a few thousand dollars and maybe 
a few years but I don't like the idea of being blindly boxed in on their terms alone without any 
assurances as to your fees, medical expenses or even what we spent out of pocket in costs to get 
here. I want some assurances/concessions on their part prior to walking in or it's no deal. Going in 
blind with no assurances, I can't help but to feel like a cow being herded thinking its dinner time 
but it's really slaughter time. They need to give somewhere prior to arbitration or it's a good 
indication as to how they will negotiate once we start. In other wards, if they won't concede 
anything prior to arbitration then they won't negotiate or concede anything once the arbitration 
starts and if that's the case, what's the point. We need something to show they are sincere in trying 
to resolve this. Up the lower limits from 50k to 150k, concede on the medical portion, out of 
pocket expenses, attorneys fees or how about just resolving their portion and leave their chainsaw
wielding idiot open to defend himself in this lawsuit. Perhaps they can give on something I haven't 
thought of yet, Anything will do but giving on nothing prior to walking in there spells out what I'm 
going to get and if that's the case then I'll spend money and roll the dice. Convince me I'm not 
going being lead to slaughter and I'll agree To do it"


On July 19, 2016 at 4:28 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "So sorry your texts come in out of order. Binding mediation or no."


On July 20, 2016 at 8:43 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Ok, I have to ask about rules of evidence in a trial vs. arbitration I know that you said it 
gives me the personal ability to talk with the arbiter about things that would not be allowed at a 
trial. My question is, is that a two way street, can the defense pull crap that would never be allowed 
at trial?"


On July 20, 2016 at 10:00 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "They have no ammo. We have dr opinion unscathed and tree expert unscathed 
bad guy won't be there you will. So we have advantage"


On July 20, 2016 at 10:21 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Will there be some sort of gag order on me? In other wards does this stop me 







from talking about it in the future?"


On July 20, 2016 at 10:56 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Yes, no?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:03 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I doubt there will be any type of confidentiality clause as a part of the 
settlement"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:05 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Can depositions be used?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:06 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:07 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Can phone, text, emails,videos or audio recordings be used?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:09 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "There aren't any restrictions on what we say or do with the judge when we are 
with him in private. He will give it as much weight or credibility as he sees fit, but we can do or say 
whatever we want to him when we meet. Unlike a trial"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:11 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Can video or phone calls be used by us or the defense to reach outside the 
proceeding to clarify or substantiate any claims made by us or them" 


On July 20, 2016 at 11:20 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Correction; can video or phone calls be made during the proceedings that can 
Clarify, substantiate or rebuke any claims made? You know what I mean Like you want to call 
somebody during the preceding"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:22 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "will be of greatest importance is the nature extent and permanence of your 
injury"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:23 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "And just so you understand, as far as the judges concerned I feel that he is 
going to attribute very little if any negligence to you the matter that he"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:25 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "From my understanding, they can have an army of professional witnesses ready 
at the touch of a button ready to tell the judge anything they wish? Is this a possibility?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:31 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "If we go to trial they sure will. They have no IME they have no rebut to tree 
expert. Again we are in the best position now to get the maximum recovery"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:34 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Yes but they can call anyone or produce in writing anything they wish with no 
restrictions at the arbitration correct"







On July 20, 2016 at 11:41 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "They could. But we will be there to refute anything. Again, the actual person, 
you. Not a document."


On July 20, 2016 at 11:44 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg  stating:  "All right, Kelly called and we have Cole show Sean in the next hour or so. Kelly 
had promised her we were calling yesterday, they have to know what's going on and make 
arrangements regarding additional counsel. Again, as your attorneys we are strongly urging you to 
participate in the binding mediation. It is your best opportunity for the greatest possible recovery 
and the guarantee that you would at least walk away with something if you got 0. Again, this gives 
us the most control of the situation."


On July 20, 2016 at 11:45 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "So they can bring the defendants in via phone, video, text etc... Even if they are 
not in the physical location nor listed as anyone attending?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:47 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Show Sean will be there in an adjuster will be there either by telephone or in 
person. She will present a submission to the judge laying out there view of the case. Then she will 
speak their behalf and argue from the depositions that have already been presented. There's not 
going to be any testimony given"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:47 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Also, if they're in a separate room and we are not privy to anyon their 
conversation how can we refute what's going on?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:47 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "during this proceeding. We can talk to him in private but there's no questioning 
no answers no cross-exam. You're really overthinking this. Just stop and listen to your lawyers' 
advice that's why you hire us."


On July 20, 2016 at 11:48 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "The judge will tell us what their arguments are and he will tell them what our 
arguments are. Did we tell the judge why we think that's not true, and conversely they do the 
same"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:51 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm going into a meeting. I will have about five minutes coming up in an hour, 
during that time I have to have an answer. I ask that you believe in us and what we've done for you 
so far, we haven't misled or put you down the wrong path, just have faith."


On July 20, 2016 at 1:04 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes binding mediation?"


On July 20, 2016 at 1:24 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Randy, I truly appreciate yours and Kelly's honest advice and I hope I continue to 
receive it in the future. Please don't take this personal because it's not. I value everything you have 
to offer more than you know. I will be moving forward with litigation at this time. However, should 
Allstate consider a full settlement with no strings attached in the future so they can save the cost 
of litigation or a humiliating defeat I'm not opposed to entertaining it and most likely will accept it. 







This is too important to me and my family. I just cannot give up the protections of a public trial 
with the possibility of review should something be handled wrongly in the hopes of saving a few 
thousand dollars and time. Thank you both for your honest advice now let's move forward together 
and enjoy winning this case together."


On July 20, 2016 at 1:49 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Was that response garbled broken up text or did it go through ok?"


On July 20, 2016 at 3:59 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "You available to talk with your mother as well on the phone in a half hour or so"


On July 20, 2016 at 3:59 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Tomorrow morning, 9am, judge Meyers?"


On July 20, 2016 at 4:00 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes but on the phone in a half hour"


On July 20, 2016 at 4:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Yes on the phone in a half hour is ok but mom is off with grandkids"


On July 21, 2016 at 12:41 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Think you two can get me that copy of the policy soon?"


On July 21, 2016 at 6:28 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Randy, please read page 1 coverage cushion of the gagnon policy. It extends coverage 
to 120% That's 60k more"


On July 21, 2016 at 6:37 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Page 2 guest medical may be an extra 1k"


On July 21, 2016 at 7:00 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Please let Kelly know that I want the high end of the Adr policy limit increased by 20% 
along with adding 20% to and judgement below the high end limit"


On July 21, 2016 at 7:09 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Oh yeah, your thoughts of him being dropped is a joke. His Gold coverage says he 
cannot be dropped no matter how many claims are made. Just thought you'd like to know that. You 
really should read the policy"


On July 27, 2016 at 11:14 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Just so you know, just received a letter from the Social Security Administration 
and its a Notice of Affirmation and order of Appeals Council Remanding Case back to the 
Administrative Law Judge"


On July 27, 2016 at 11:14 AM
Great


On July 27, 2016 at 11:21 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Thank goodness that I kept the right to review by an appeal"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:17 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 







II stating:  "Morning Randy, If there was some sort of business contract between Gagnon and his 
Parents why couldn't any of them even come close as to what the terms were? Secondly, where are 
the cashed checks or contract? I was there the day this happened. I didn't hear anything that 
sounded like it was more than a son doing work for his parents as a favor. Nothing more. This 
seems to me to be yet anything that sounded like it was more than a son doing work for his 
parents as a favor. Nothing more. This seems to me to be yet another ploy to negate their financial 
responsibility and was conceived of after the fact."


On July 28, 2016 at 6:24 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If I remember correctly, David said in his dep that he was elected to do the work. Why 
say elected if he was contracted?"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:47 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Sorry, I'm driving and it looks garbled again. But it says if there's an agreement 
or contract so I'm guessing, if he knows what is not going to give you coverage, he will testify that 
way. But he has already testified that he was receiving $15 an hour, and that you were going to get 
the same. What you get is a relevant or what you got, and I know you didn't get paid. It's also 
irrelevant whether or not he actually got paid, especially in light of how it turned out, I guess it's 
just whether or not there was an agreement and it didn't have to be in writing. If at trial, they all 
say that there was some agreement or in an action to exclude coverage before trial, i'm guessing 
they're all going to be on the same page. The issue as to whether or not there is coverage, is 
different from the trial. That's a trial before the trial and that is something that we would have to 
win."


On July 28, 2016 at 6:53 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Since they didn't think enough ahead of the dep to get their storylines straight as to the 
payment/terms for this supposed agreement I believe that is enough to show there was no 
agreement and this is just another fabrication. Not unlike the other fabrications created 
throughout their deps. It is an obvious pattern. Expose it and their done even in front of a 
conservative jury or a trained judge acting as an bait or or mediator"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:54 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Bait means arbiter"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:56 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "This issue will not come to fruition and biding mediation. The Allstate in-house lawyers 
have not put two and two together"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:57 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "They have to prove this claim and they can't."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:00 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Am I allowed to make erroneous claims without proof? If not, why would their 
erroneous claims without proof be allowed?"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:02 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "It would be something called dec action which would be brought by ALLSTATE. 
Yes evidence would be presented but there aren't any guarantees regarding what the judge would 
decide"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:06 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 







II stating:  "I'm sure any experienced judge would see this for what it is. A fraudulent attempt to 
negate any and all financial responsibility for the wreck less actions committed that day. They have 
no proof other than the words of those who already lied under oath"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:06 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Dozens of times"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:11 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm sure a rational experience judge would think so, but those are few and far 
between. That's why the law books are full of appeals. The legal system is not fair, and not 
rational. Otherwise things could just be input into a computer and the answer would spit out."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:13 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If someone hits you with their car does it matter if they were being paid to drive that 
car? If not how is this any different?"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:14 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Actually that does, a lot of car policies exclude paid for hire. Also, every type of 
policy affords different types of coverage and has different exclusions so homeowners policies are 
different than car policies"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:18 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I have a question that's related but different. Why were the defendants privy to my 
deposition prior to giving their own? Carol slipped in her dep and said things she couldn't have 
known unless someone coached her and gave her inside information about my deposition. If this 
happened, and clearly it is, what's to say they weren't coached to claim this was a contract just so 
he insurance company had an out?"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:20 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm not sure who would've coached them because if this was an issue that 
ALLSTATE realized it would've been dealt with a long time ago"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:21 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "When it smells foul, it's foul"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:23 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Defendants certainly are foul."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:23 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Look, they claim it's a contract but when asked the details non of the parties 
supposedly involved with the contract can get any of the details even remotely the same. Like I 
said this is a ploy and nothing more"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:25 AM Yeah I'm not sure I don't know. Could be dabbing if they have a 
canceled check or something from previous work to say hey look we've paid him for doing stuff 
around the house before. But even if not you would have testimony that they had an agreement. 
Whether or not it's true is another story


On July 28, 2016 at 7:26 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Ploy means rouse"







On July 28, 2016 at 7:28 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If they had a check it should have been entered into evidence by now. Since they don't 
too bad for them."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:29 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "That would be a separate action. Nobody has even raised the issue of payment 
whether he's liable or not is"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:29 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "One issue. Whether or not there is coverage is a separate completely separate 
action that would be between ALLSTATE and him"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:30 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Since when is it ok to entertain unsubstantiated claims this far along with no evidence 
any of it it remotely true"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:42 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I just had to go back to carols dep. she claimed she gave money to David so he had 
something to claim on his taxes, not for the work being performed. David claims an hourly wage 
and the father, Bill claimed Carol gave him a pair ago pants. Probably a gift as a thank you. None 
of these things are even close to being the same but all are suggestive and not proof of anything 
because their so vastly different"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:53 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I am more curious who Carol hired to remove the tree and would be more interested 
questioning that company they were hired prior to the day of the incident. This would go a long 
way to putting David's claim of a contract to rest"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:57 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "It's not even a contract it was just an agreement that doesn't have to be 
something formal written it's like hey I'll pay you some money to take the tree down. Headed into a 
meeting. I'll keep you up-to-date on any new information"


On July 28, 2016 at 8:25 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If Carol, as she claimed, had previously entered into a contract with a real professional 
tree removal company why would she also agree to pay her son to remove the same tree? Unless, 
this is some sort of afterthought in an attempt to find ways of not paying for the damage they 
caused. They cannot play both sides of the street at the same time. They lied about this just as 
they lied about other things that happened that day all attempts to lessen the amount of damage 
done to me and lessen their responsibilities and misdirect blame and responsibility"


On July 28, 2016 at 8:26 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "The patterns are obvious and easily proven to be lies"


On July 28, 2016 at 9:37 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "From Carol knowing what I said in my Deposition, claiming the hospital and doctors 
gave her my personal medical information to the claims that she entered into some sort of verbal 
agreement with her son for business purposes sounds more like insurance company lawyers 
entering into an verbal agreement with their clients to skew the truth so they have some sort of 
out in exchange for representation in court."







On July 28, 2016 at 9:40 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If that's the case almost any claim made against an insurance policy can be thrown out 
based on verbal agreements with no proof to back up the story or lies being told"


On July 28, 2016 at 9:42 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I see this a a malicious attempt to get away with little or or no consequences and just 
makes me want to expose all of this to a jury even more"


On July 29, 2016 at 9:17 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Any chance Myrna can send me that asset report today? Also, there may be another 
asset that won't show up on his report. Rumor has it that David Gagnon had an auto accident and 
had to undergo some sort of surgery on his back and is in the process of suing for his injury."


On August 2, 2016 at 3:47 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "What is a bad faith letter?"


On August 2, 2016 at 5:30 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Has one been sent to the Allstate adjusters?"


On August 8, 2016 at 8:29 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "What is happening this Wednesday in court now that Allstate is getting their 
independent medical exam in September or October?"


On August 12, 2016 at 9:22 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Morning Randy, Ok, it's driving me bananas over here, I'd like to know exactly 
what it is about the medical that's the issue in my case? Please call me with the details soon and 
let's discuss what's best. Thanks, Paul"


On August 16, 2016 at 7:42 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Randy, I have to ask again, why is it wise to agree to mediate before permanent 
disability is determined by social security since the permanent disability rating would be a large 
factor in determining what the insurance adjuster is willing to give? Both mom and myself need a 
real answer to this question"


On September 6, 2016, Megan G. Heeg filed a "MOTION TO APPROVE ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS 
AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIM"


"2.  Previously, Megan G. Heed, had been the Chapter 7 case Trustee of the above-referenced case, 
but this case was recently assigned to a new trustee."


"3.  The employment of the law firm Ehrmann Gehlbach Badger Lee & Considine, LLC was approved 
by the Court on May 27, 2015."


"8.  The time period covered by this application is from November 26, 2014 through September 
28, 2016."


On September 27, 2016, W. Randall Baudin II signed an affidavit "AFFIDAVIT OF W.RANDALL 
BAUDIN, II PURSUANT TO RULES 2014(a), 2016(b) and 5002 TO EMPLOYEE BAUDIN LAW GROUP, 
LTD. AS SPECIAL COUNSEL FOR THE TRUSTEE". exhibit


The affidavit is an agreement between the bankruptcy trustee and the Baudin Law Group, Ltd. 







signed by W. Randall Baudin on behalf of the Baudin Law Group.


Section 1 states:  "I am a member of the law firm of Boudin Law Group, Ltd. located at 304 South 
McHenry Avenue, Crystal Lake, IL 60014 and in that capacity I have personal knowledge of, and 
authority to speak on behalf of the firm of Baudin Law Group, Ltd. with respect to the matters set 
forth herein.  This Affidavit is offered in support of the Applicationb of the Trustee for 
Authorization to Employ Baudin Law Group, Ldt. as special counsel for the Trustee.  The matters 
set forth herein are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.


Section 5 of the affidavit states:  "To the best of my knowledge, information and belief, Baudin Law 
Group, Ltd. does not hold or represent a party that holds an nterest adverse to the Trustee nor 
does it have any connection with the Debtor's creditors, or any party in interest or their respective 
attorneys and accountants with respect to the matters for which Baudin Law Group, Ltd.  is to be 
employed, is disinterested as that term is used in 11 U.S.C. & 101(14), and has no connections 
with the United States Trustee or any person employed in the Trustee's office. except that said firm 
has represented the Debtor's pre-petition with respect to the subject personal injury claim."


Section 6, part A states:  "My firm and I are obligated to keep the Trustee fully informed as to all 
aspects of this matter, as the Bankruptcy estate is my client until such time as the claim in 
question is abandoned by the Trustee, as shown by a written notice of such abandonment."


Section 6, part D states:  "No settlements may be entered into or become binding without the 
approval of the Bankruptcy Court and the Trustee, after notice to the Trustee, creditors and parties 
of interest."


Setion 6, part E states:  "All issues as to attorneys fees, Debtor's exemptions, the distribution of 
any recovery between the Debtor and the Trustee or creditors, or any other issue which may come 
to be in dispute between the Debtor and the Trustee or creditors are subject to the jurisdiction of 
the Bankruptcy Court.  Neither I nor any other attorney or associate of the Firm will undertake to 
advise or represent the Debtor as to any such matters or issues.  Instead, the Firm will undertake 
to obtain the best possible result on the claim, and will leave to others any advice or 
representation as to such issues."


Section 6, part F states:  "The Firm is not authorized to grant any "physician's lien" upon, offer to 
protect payment of any claim for medical or other services out of, or otherwise pledge or 
encumber in any way any part of any recovery without separate Order of this Court, which may or 
may not be granted."


On October ##, 2016 W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin informed Dulberg that the binding 
mediation process will take place even though Dulberg does not approve of the process and 
refused to sign the arbitration agreement.  W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin informed Dulberg 
that the bankruptcy judge had the authority to order the process into a mediation agreement 
without Dulberg's consent, and the judge had already ordered the case into mediation.


On October 4, 2016 Dr Craig Phillips issues report.  He wrote:  "He states he is not sure of the 
exact date, but on the date in question he was holding a tree branch at his neighbor's house to 
help David, his neighbor's son, cut the tree branch with a chainsaw. He stated he was holding a 
pine tree
branch, which was a few inches thick, s!ill_attachedto the tree.and while David was cutting the 
branch", be inadvertently cut Mr. Dulberg's right forearm."







On page 6 Dr Craig Phillips writes: 


"Dr. Talerico:
According to the medical records from MidAmerica Hand to Shoulder, Mr. Dulberg was seen by Dr. 
Talerico on December 2, 2011. His history is a 41-year-old male, right hand dominant, referred by 
Dr. t11, Levin, MD, neurologist, for evaluation of an injury sustained to the right medial forearm in 
June 2011.
,;)~'-.1.- was u_sin9a chainsaw when he accidentally struck the volar medial aspect of his right 
forearm in roughly the mid forearm range with a chain saw. He had a large open wound down to 
muscle."


On October 18, 2016 at 10:50 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Hi Randy, since we haven't received the IME report in 10 days as the Dr stated 
we would, I'd like to move back the date of the mediation thingy I'm being forced into so we have 
more than only a few weeks to deal with whatever the report may show. At least 2-3 months 
should do it considering the defense has already had the treating Dr's reports and depositions for 
months and years already. Let me know"


On October 21, 2016 at 1:47 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Hi Randy, looks like that board certified dr is quite the fabricator. He Should 
have a degree in creative writing rather than Dr.ing. Wish we had videotaped that because I'd post 
the video on the web right along side his report and let his patients see what he really is"


On October 21, 2016 at 1:54 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Myrna said your forwarding the report to dr Kujawa. That's good but I don't 
think we need it to prove Phillips an outright liar who can't pay attention to details. Hmmm... 
Makes me wonder who the hell passed him in med school"


On October 21, 2016 at 1:58 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Where did he come up with that line that the branch was still attached to the 
tree?"


On October 21, 2016 2:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "That's not from anyone's deposition and you were there so you know I gave 
absolutely no details other than to say that basically a man walked over and used a chainsaw on 
me."


On October 21, 2016 at 2:03 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "He has quite the imagination claiming I said any of the crap in his report"


On October 21, 2016 at 2:05 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "I have to look up what board certified Phillips because they deserve to know 
what a liar this guy is."


On October 21, 2016 at 2:06 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Ok enough ranting for now. Let's get together and go over this report"


On October 21, 2016 at 2:08 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 







Baudin II stating:  "While the memories are still fresh"


On October 21, 2016 at 2:15 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Why write a history at all if it's all fabricated? Why say I told him stuff when I did 
not? Why Lie? This is about as unprofessional as it gets. Phillips should be made an example of. 
Sure you don't want the chance to cross examine this guy? I sure do"


On October ##, 2016 bankruptcy trustee Olsen filed 2 motions with the bankruptcy court.  exhibit


On October 31, 2016 Trustee Olsen appeared before bankruptcy judge ## and 


 MR. OLSEN: Good morning, Your Honor. Joseph Olsen, trustee. This comes before the Court on 
two motions. One is to authorize the engagement of special counsel to pursue a personal injury 
litigation, I think it's in Lake County, involving a chainsaw accident of some sort. And then, 
presumably, if the Court grants that, the second one is to authorize the estate to enter into -- I'm 
not sure what you call it, but binding mediation. But there's a floor of $50,000, and there's a 
ceiling of $300,000.


And I guess I've talked with his attorney. He seems very enthusiastic about it. There may be some 
issues about the debtor being a good witness or not, I guess. It had to do with a neighbor who 
asked him to help him out with a chainsaw, and then I guess the neighbor kind of cut off his arm, 
or almost cut
off his arm right after that. There's some bitterness involved, understandably, I guess.


But I don't do personal injury work at all, so I'm not sure how that all flows through to a jury, but 
he didn't seem to want to go through a jury process. He liked this process, so...


THE COURT: Very well. Mr. Olsen, first of all, with regard to the application to employ the Baudin 
law firm, it certainly appears to be in order and supported by affidavit. Their proposed fees are 
more consistent with at least what generally is the market than some of the fees you and I have 
seen in some
other matters. One question for you: Have you seen the actual engagement agreement?


MR. OLSEN: I thought it was attached to my motion.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. OLSEN: If it's not, it should have been. It's kind of an interesting -- actually, this is kind of a 
unique one. The debtor actually paid them money in advance, and then he's going to get a credit if 
they actually win, which I guess enures, now, to my benefit, but that's okay. And there's a proviso 
for one-third, except if we go to trial, then it's 40 percent. So these are getting more creative by 
the PI bar as we plod along here, I guess, but...


THE COURT: It's a bar that's generally pretty creative. And my apologies. I saw the affidavit, but you 
did have the agreement attached, and one was in front of the other. And the agreement is just as 
you describe it. It appears to be reasonable, and so I'll approve the application. Tell me about this 
binding mediation. It's almost an oxymoron, isn't it?


MR. OLSEN: Well, I guess the mediators don't know there's a floor and a ceiling. I'm not sure where 
that comes from, but that's -- yeah. And whatever number they come back at is the number we're 







able to settle at, except if it's a not guilty or a zero recovery, we get 50,000, but to come back at 3 
million, we're capped at 300,000. 


THE COURT: Interesting.


MR. OLSEN: A copy of the mediation agreement should also be attached to that motion.


THE COURT: And I do see that. That appears to be in order. It's one of those you wish them luck


MR. OLSEN: I don't want to micromanage his case.


THE COURT: But that, too, sounds reasonable. There's been no objection?


MR. OLSEN: Correct.


THE COURT: Very well. I will approve -- authorize, if you will, for you to enter into the binding 
mediation agreement, see where it takes you.


MR. OLSEN: Thanks, Your Honor.


On October 31, 2016 an order was issued by bankruptcy judge:


"ORDER


THIS CAUSE coming on to be heard on this 31st day of October, 2016 upon the Trustee's Motion 
for Authority to Enter into a “Binding Mediation Agreement”, the Court after considering the 
Motion, the statements of counsel, pleadings on file and being fully advised in the premises: IT IS 
HEREBY ORDERED that Joseph D. Olsen, Trustee herein, is authorized to enter into a “Binding 
Mediation Agreement” as described in the Trustee's Motion, and the Trustee may execute such 
documents as are necessary to accomplish the matters set forth herein."


On October 31, 2016 at 10:41AM trustee Olsen sent an email to Randall Baudin II stating:  "Randy- 
The Court authorized your appointment this morning, as well as entry into that "Binding Mediation 
Agreement"; Do you want the debtor to /s/ the form, or me as trustee?  Let me know, thanks."


On October 31, 2016 at 10:50AM Randall Baudin II sent an email to Trustee Olsen stating:  "You 
can good ahead sign it."


On ### W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin told Dulberg that even though he does not want the 
binding mediation to take place, he should attend the hearing anyway because the judge will look 
down on a person that doesn't attend as if they are uninterested in their own case.


On December 8, 2016, Dulberg attended the binding mediation with his mother, Barbara Dulberg,  
even though he did not agree to the process, did not want it to happen, and refused to sign any 
agreement or consent to the process.


Dulberg believed at the time that the bankruptcy judge was the person who ordered the case into 
binding mediation and Dulberg believed the bankruptcy judge had the legal authority to make that 
decision without anyone else's consent.  Dulberg beleived this because W. Randall Baudin II told 







him it was true.


When Paul Dulberg and Barbara Dulberg were sitting alone in a room waiting, Dulberg read a 
document left on the table.  The document was written by Lanford. (exhibit).


The document contained this comment:  "..."


The adr judge ordered an award of $560,000 (exhibit)


W. Randall Baudin II informed Dulberg and Barbara Dulberg that the opposing attorney was angry 
because she was told the case would be settled for $50,000.


Dulberg asked W. Randall Baudin II if the document by Lanford was true.  W. Randall Baudin II said, 
"That's what it says".


Dulberg mentions Malpractice against Popovich to Baudin (for the first time?)


W. Randall Baudin II responded, "...".


Dulberg was informed that the trustee would receive the $300,000 arbitration award, but the 
money would not be issued unless he signed a document, which he signed in order to have the 
money issued to the bankruptcy trustee to pay his creditors. (exhibit) 


(actual date probably December 21, 2016) at 11:14 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to 
Defendant W. Randall Baudin II stating:  "Myrna says I'm to meet you in McHenry, when and where?"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:16 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm just heading to Panera to meet with a client on the route 31. You're welcome 
to come in anytime and I can tell the gentleman I have to run out to the car and have you sign 
something I can meet you too at your car so come at your leisure I should be here for at least A 
half hour"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:20 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Will be there in approx 15 min"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:39 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "You here?"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:41 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Here"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Why would Allstate need a signed release when they agreed to let the arbitrator 
decide what is final and not this afterthought of an agreement?"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Or I mean release?"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:04 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "The arbitrator did not set these terms. Why are they modifying our original 
agreement"







On December 21, 2016 at 1:04 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg  stating:  "That's just typically what they do is have the release even though there's an 
award. I have a call into Gooch he's in depositions"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:06 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Ok, but don't send in that document till we get this worked out. As of now I'm 
withdrawing my signature till we have something that works."


On December 21, 2016 at 1:08 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "If I get the go ahead from Tom, we should be fine, is the one handling that case. 
I think it has no effect, but he's the one prosecuting the other case while wait to hear what he says"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:10 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Allstate has no business extending letting their client off to letting everyone off. 
What if I find out one of the surgeons left something inside me? This should just release the policy 
they represented at the ADR. Nothing more"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:12 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "It's boiler plate, fill in the blank language. They didn't write this specifically for 
you it's just what they use in all cases"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:14 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Anyone agreeing to their fill in the blank form after the ADR agreement is nuts. I 
expect them to fulfill their ADR agreement with or without this release"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:15 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "If they wanted this as part of the agreement it should have been done prior to 
the binding ADR mediation"


On December 22, 2016 at 7:17 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Morning Randy, I'll be at your office to sign the release sometime between 9-10 
am. Wish you could just add the changes Thomas gooch suggested and save the trip but I'll show 
up just to put my initials on it."


On December 22, 2016 at 8:57 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg  stating:  "I will be stuck in court MyrnA has a release"


According to the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, Section 726 – Distribution of property of the estate


(quote)


(a) Except as provided in section 510 of this title, property of the estate shall be distributed—


(1) first, in payment of claims of the kind specified in, and in the order specified in, section 507 of 
this title, proof of which is timely filed under section 501 of this title or tardily filed on or before 
the earlier of—


(A) the date that is 10 days after the mailing to creditors of the summary of the trustee’s final 
report; or







(B) the date on which the trustee commences final distribution under this section;


(2) second, in payment of any allowed unsecured claim, other than a claim of a kind specified in 
paragraph (1), (3), or (4) of this subsection, proof of which is—


(A) timely filed under section 501(a) of this title;


(B) timely filed under section 501(b) or 501(c) of this title; or


(C) tardily filed under section 501(a) of this title, if—


(i) the creditor that holds such claim did not have notice or actual knowledge of the case in time 
for timely filing of a proof of such claim under section 501(a) of this title; and


(ii) proof of such claim is filed in time to permit payment of such claim;


(3) third, in payment of any allowed unsecured claim proof of which is tardily filed under section 
501(a) of this title, other than a claim of the kind specified in paragraph (2)(C) of this subsection;


(4) fourth, in payment of any allowed claim, whether secured or unsecured, for any fine, penalty, or 
forfeiture, or for multiple, exemplary, or punitive damages, arising before the earlier of the order 
for relief or the appointment of a trustee, to the extent that such fine, penalty, forfeiture, or 
damages are not compensation for actual pecuniary loss suffered by the holder of such claim;


(5) fifth, in payment of interest at the legal rate from the date of the filing of the petition, on any 
claim paid under paragraph (1), (2), (3), or (4) of this subsection; and


(6) sixth, to the debtor.


(end quote)


Dulberg, as the debtor, was a stakeholder in the bankruptcy estate.  If the first 5 types of claimants 
listed in section 726 are paid in full, Dulberg becomes the sole claimant to any remaining money 
and therefore the sole stakeholder in what remains of the bankruptcy estate.


Randall Baudin II and Kelly Baudin and The Baudin Law Group were retained by the trustee to 
represent the bankruptcy estate and Dulberg was the sole stakeholder of all funds in the estate 
once the first 5 types of claimants listed in section 726 have been paid in full.  Therefore Randall 
Baudin II, Kelly Baudin and The Baudin Law Group acting as legal counsel for the estate owed a 
duty of due care to Dulberg when acting in this capacity. 


On December ##, 2016 Dulberg hired legal malpractice attorney Thomas Gooch .   exhibit


Dulberg told Gooch that he was forced into binding mediation and he refused to sign any binding 
mediation agreement.







On December ##, 2016 Gooch wrote a letter to Dulberg in which he wrote:  "..." 


On January 3, 2017, Trustee Joseph Olsen filed "NOTICE TO CREDITORS AND OTHER PARTIES OF 
INTEREST" which contains the of binding mediation award and notice of motion to disburse 
$117,000 to W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin and $15,000 to Dulberg and to pay certain 
attorneys and medical liens.


On November 7, 2017 at 5:25 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "hi Randy, its Paul Dulberg, just recieved a call from Randy Sr. Please call me. 
Thanks, Paul"


On November 7, 2017 at 5:48 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "What did he want?"


Dulberg later took notes of the conversation from memory.  He intended to send the notes to 
Gooch.  He wrote an email to himself to record the notes.


On November 9, 2017 at 6:04:03 PM CST Dulberg wrote an email from the address 
pdulberg@comcast.net to Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net which states:


To: "Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net" <paul_dulberg@comcast.net>
Reply-To: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net>


Hi Tom,


You wanted to know what Randy Baudin Sr was asking when he called and I said I would need a few 
hours to unpack what he covered in about a 45 minute call So This is my attempt to unpack it. I 
felt like i was interrogated.


Below are a few of the key points that stick out to me. they are in no particular order and the 
wording is not exact because his questions were fast and he was jumping from subject to subject, 
its just some of the things I remember him saying and asking as well as how I replied.


Randy Baudin SR. was all over the board with his questions and this is my best recollection of the 
call. He did wake me from a dead sleep with the call and caught me completely off guard. In 
retrospect, I was not prepared for this and some of the questions I probably shouldn't have 
answered. Particularly the ones about the Defendants Caroline and Bill McGuire and about Tom 
Popovich and Hans Mast.


RBS. Randy Baudin Sr. Introduced himself as the head of baudin and baudin law firm who handled 
my case and asked if i see its him on my caller id. He also said his assistant was there with him.


PD. I said if its on the caller id than i got it and would have to look later.


RBS. He than said that Thomas Gooch had contacted him and needed some documents and 
information and that in order to provide that information it is important for me to help fill in some 
of the blanks or he is in trouble.


I said ok because I trusted the baudin firm and Thomas Gooch.







RBS. asked how it was that I came to his firm?


PD. I told him my Mom suggested him because he represented my brother a few decades earlier 
and that she swears by him because hes willing to fight for his clients


RBS. he asked what case he represented my brother in


PD. I told him that my brother was a passenger in a car that rolled over and that he had taken it to 
the appellate level


RBS. he said he remembered the name and the case


RBS. He asked how it was that Randy Jr took the case and why I didnt Meet with him


PD. I said im not sure why we didnt meet with you, its been a long time since then, all I remember 
was going to your office and being introduced to Randy Jr.


RBS He asked if it was at the office down near algonquin and lake in the hills


PD I said yes


RBS. Pressed me a few times as to the details of why I didnt meet with him rather than His son.


PD. I figured you were either busy or not in but for whatever reason Randy Jr met with my Mom 
and I instead. I just figured your all part of the same firm and my mom trusted you.


RBS thanked me and my mom for the high praise.


RBS asked if i had dealt with Kelly and Myrna as well


PD I said yes


RBS said something about his son, Randy JR, Randy JR's wife and Myrna were stealing cases from 
him


PD I said what is all this about?


RBS replied, oh now your asking me the questions now


PD I said well yeah is everything ok, whats wrong?


RBS said something about being involved in a 7 digit case and that Randy JR was taking cases that 
he didnt know about.







PD I said Im sorry about all that, I had no idea, is that what this is all about?


RBS asked did you and your mother come to see me?


PD I said at first yes but we ended up Meeting with his son Randy JR


RBS asked if i had met with Randy in Crystal lake and he gave a location


PD I said well yes they said they wanted to meet me at that office at times, why?


RBS asked if Myrna was at that location


PD I said well yes


RBS asked if my mom was doing well


PD I said yes


RBS asked if i liked village squire


PD I said yes


RBS told me to go there on either monday or tuesday because they have half price burgers


RBS gave me his phone numbers, had me write them down, said he would be in touch with me in 
the future and said he might take me to the village squire sometime.


RBS asked about the case alot


RBS wanted to know what happened, he started asking questions too fast, he asked if it was my 
dominate arm


PD I told him a basic version of what I knew. I was asked by David if i could use some wood from a 
tree he was cutting down at his mothers house. I told Dave i would stop by in the morning and see 
what he had. the next day I went there. His Mother and I got to talking about the people we used 
to work with while Dave and Bill worked at the tree. Bill got tired after a while and needed to quit. 
Dave started saying he needed help because he couldn't do it by himself. His mother looked at me 
and asked if I could help, Dave said come on man help me your just sitting there and all i need you 
to do is hold branches so they dont move, its easy. besides I helped clean up at your dads when he 
redid his roof 20 years ago. I said ok, I guess. I got up and helped. everything was going fine for a 
while then Dave did something stupid and hit the gas while he swung the chainsaw at me, I 







couldn't get out of its way and he cut my arm in half. The Dr in the ER said I would Have died if I 
didnt get medical treatment. That is one emergency room trip you never want to take.


RBS oh, im so sorry.


Was it your dominate arm, is it ok?


PD yes its my dominate arm, they put it back togeter but it doesnt work well


RBS how many surguries


PD 3


RBS who were the doctors?


PD do you mean the emergency room dr's?


RBS uh whas it the... yes the er surgion


PD um i remember the name Dr. Ford


RBS ok Ill have a talk with him. who else?


PD um i remember Dr sagerman and Dr Kujawa, I still see her


RBS was it at northwestern?


PD um i dont remember that name but for some reason i remember northwest community but im...


RBS Dr. Kujawa where


PD oh she is at alexian brothers


RBS ok. Your ok or are you in pain?


PD I have pains


RBS are you on a drip?


PD no nothing like that


RBS You know i know some great Dr's I could send you to see, and he went on about some indian 
dr and someone he sent there


PD no, no thats ok, ive seen what feels like an army of Dr's already


RBS you sure, I can get you their names, hold on while i get...


PD no thats ok Im good with who im seeing


RBS well ok then but im just saying if you want it







PD Im good


RBS ok so i understand you had some sort of arbitration downtown (and he gave a description of 
the place in chicago)


PD yes it was um I think they called it a binding arbitration but im not sure


RBS it says here 600K no um 300K was it and it looks like its capped


PD um I dont remember any caps but...


RBS


RBS I'm part native american


pd huh


RBS im just joking about that, i made it up


RBS started talking about his relationship with Tom Popovich said he and Tom go way back. He 
asked why I was suing Tom.


PD Because he had Hans Mast lie to me


RBS oh Hans, I know him, Good Guy


PD Thats debatable


RBS what happened with Hans?


PD Hans lied to me about many things. To start he lied about the Mothers homeowners insurance 
Policy. Hans Said they would file a summary judgement the next morning at 9 AM and I would get 
absolutely nothing but if I signed this he could get me 5k on some part of the policy that pays that 
amount irregardless of who gets hurt on their property. We argued but He even showed me case 
law that he said was the law of the land and if I didnt take it I wouldnt get anything. something 
about 3rd party persons on the property. He also said if i didnt sign it his firm would drop me in 
the suit against the son David Gagnon. and later on he said you cant blame me i was just doing 
what the boss said to do and if I didnt like it i could take it up with big Tom the owner of the firm. 
well I'd hate to break it to Hans but just doing what the boss told me to do is not a valid excuse 
and never has been when its unethical.


RBS well now wait a minute Hans is a good guy I know Hans.


PD Im sure you do have a good relation with Hans but Good people do bad things all the time and 
Hans is no exception.


RBS This Gagnon Guy, um







His secretary said, he knew him


RBS you knew this Gagnon Guy


PD Yes


RBS Ok so your complaint is that Popovich had you sign a release against the Mothers Homeowners 
policy?


PD Thats one of my complaints yes


RBS what else


PD well I learned they never actually pulled either policy, lied to me about the limits which caused 
me to go over and file for bankruptcy which I would never would have done had they not lied. I lost 
everything.


RBS They cant let one party go


PD what is that true


RBS there is case law that says you cant let one party go in a lawsuit and keep suing the other party 
involved if both are named.


PD i didnt know that but thats what they did. then to further the harm popovich dropped my case 
after they tried to get me to mediate for only 50k and i wouldnt do it."


(end quote)


The original malpractice lawsuit, filed by Thomas Gooch on October, 2017, claimed damages of 
### against the Law Office of Thomas J. Popovich and against Hans Mast.


Gooch did not allow Dulberg to read the complaint before filing it with the Court. 


Gooch did not include Thomas J. Popovich, individually as a Defendant.


Thomas Gooch did not mention anything about the bankruptcy in the complaint


Thomas Gooch did not mention that Dulberg never agreed to enter into binding mediation and 
never signed any agreement in the complaint. 


Gooch never mentioned to Dulberg that W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin, the Baudin Law 
Group or Baudin & Baudin did anything inappropriate or that Dulberg has a malpractice claim 
against the Baudins.


Gooch did not include any information about W. Randall Baudin, Kelly Baudin, the Baudin Law 
Group, Baudin & Baudin or Trustee Olsen or name any of them as defendants.  None of their names 
appeared in the complaint at all.  In the original complaint and the first amended complaint, Gooch 
refers to W. Randall Baudin, Kelly Baudin, Baudin Law Group, and Baudin & Baudin as "other 
attorneys" but never uses the word "Baudin" in any context.







Item 16 of complaint at law states:  "Thereafter, DULBERG retained other attorneys and proceeded 
to a binding mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG received a binding mediation 
award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  Unfortunately, a "high-low 
agreement" had been executed by DULBERG, reducing the maximum amount he could recover to 
#300.000.00 based upon the insurance policy available.  The award was substantially more than 
the sum of the money, and could have been recovered from the McGuire's had they not been 
dismissed from the complaint."  In the original complaint Gooch writes that a "high-low 
agreement" had been "executed by Dulberg".


Item 24 of first amended complaint at law states:  "Thereafter, DULBERG retrained other attorneys 
and proceeded to a court ordered binding mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG 
received a binding mediation award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  
However, due to the settlement with the McGuires, DULBERG was only able to collect $300,000 
based upon the insurance policy available."  In the first amended complaint by Gooch there is no 
mention of a minimum or maximum award limit at all.


Item 52 of the second amended complaint at law states:  "In December of 2016, Dulberg 
participated in binding mediation related to his claims against Gagnon."


Item 53 of the second amended complaint at law states:  "In December of 2016,  Dulberg was 
awarded a gross amount of $660,000 and a net award of $561,000 after his contributory 
negligence was considered."


Item 54 of the second amended complaint at law states:  "Dulberg was only able to recovery 
approximately $300,000 of the award from Gagnon's insurance and was unable to collect from 
Gagnon personally."


On September 5, 2019 in the Record of Proceedings MR. FLYNN stated:  "The only other issue that 
was raised -- I just reviewed the written discovery yesterday and you had (indiscernible) 201(k) 
that there was a bankruptcy that was mentioned kind of vaguely in one of the answers. It sounds 
or appears that either the bankruptcy judge or the trustee had enforced or required a mediation 
and a high-low agreement. To the extent that those documents are responsive to any of the 
requests -- and I'll have to go through them to see if they are. Otherwise I'll just issue a 
supplemental, but I think the bankruptcy file and communications with the trustee are probably 
responsive to our discovery, so I would just request that those be included in our --"


MS. WILLIAMS answered:  "I think we produced a number of the bankruptcy issues, but we can talk 
about it today and definitely try to work out -- there's definitely -- there was a bankruptcy. We're 
not trying to hide that bankruptcy, so. And the trustee did resolve -- there was an arbitration 
based on the trustee's recommendation in the bankruptcy for the individual."


In the ongoing legal malpractice lawsuit Dulberg v Hans Mast, Thomas Popovich and the Law Office 
of Thomas J. Popovich (12LA377) under dispute in McHenry County, defense counsel Flynn 
representing Popovich and Mast argues that damages that Dulberg can claim should be capped 
because Dulberg voluntarily entered into an arbitration process with an upper cap of $300,000.


On October 29, 2022 Dulberg obtained a copy of the ADR contract that ADR Systems has on file.


When the binding mediation contract which the Bankruptcy judge agreed to on October 31, 2016 
is compared to the binding mediation contract which ADR systems has on file, a number of 







inconsistencies become noticeable (exhibit - images comparing the 2 contracts).


Dulberg's name appears written on the ADR systems contract but Dulberg refused to enter into the 
agreement verbally and in text messages and never signed the contract. 


WHAT THE BAUDINS AND TRUSTEE OLSEN DID:


Faked being attorneys of Baudin & Baudin and stole a case from Baudin Sr?


The Baudins knew or should have known that the counterclaim filed by the McGuires against 
Gagnon on February 1, 2013 was not answered by Gagnon.


The Baudins knew or should have known that because Gagnon did not answer the counterclaim 
filed on February 1, 2013, Gagnon was effectively admitting the facts stated in the counterclaim 
were true.


Baudins knew or should have known that by not answering the counterclaim filed by the mcGuires 
in February 1, 2013, Gagnon was contradicting the statements in what appeared to be Gagnon's 
deposition.


The Baudins knew or should have known that documents such as "Gagnon deposition exhibit 1" 
were highly questionable and showed evidence of being manipulated.


Baudins knew or should have known that Gagnon never filed answers to the interrogatories sent by 
Popovich and Mast.


The Baudins never asked Gagnon's counsel for the answers to interrogatories.  The Baudins never 
informed the judge that they never received Gagnons answers to interrogatories.


The Baudins knew or should have known that an audio recording of a telephone conversation that 
Mast claimed to have with Gagnon on April 11, 2012 was missing from the case file.


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen, together, coerced Dulberg against his will into a binding mediation 
agreement.


Trustee Olsen told the bankruptcy judge that the parties were in agreement and Dulberg did not 
want a jury trial because he wouldn't be a good witness.


Baudins then informed Dulberg the bankruptcy judge is the authority who forced the mediation 
agreement upon the interested parties.


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen, together, decided that any arbitration award was to be capped at 
$300,000 and forced the upper cap on Dulberg without his consent and while ignoring his strong 
objection.  It is the Baudins and Trustee Olsen that placed the $300,000 upper cap on any 
arbitration award, not Dulberg. 







The Baudins and Trustee Olsen, together, intentionally gave Dulberg deceptive and misleading 
legal opinions with respect to who has legal authority to make a decision concerning the direction 
of Dulberg's case against Gagnon.


Trustee Olsen and the Baudins intentionally misrepresented Dulbergs wishes to the bankruptcy 
judge.


Somebody forged Dulberg's name on the contract.  Who?


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen deprived Dulberg of a jury trial in his case against Gagnon for his 
injury that Dulberg has continuously sought since first requesting one in May, 2012.







GAGNON AND MCGUIRES


On or about June 28, 2011, Dulberg assisted Caroline McGuire (“Caroline”), William McGuire 
(“William”) (Caroline and William collectively referred to herein as “the McGuires”), and David 
Gagnon (“Gagnon”) in trimming long branches of a pine tree on the McGuires” property.


Caroline McGuire and William McGuire are a married couple, who own real property in McHenry, 
McHenry County, Illinois (“the Property”).


David Gagon is Caroline’s son and William’s stepson.


Paul Dulberg ("Dulberg") lives in the next neighborhood over from the McGuire family.


Dulberg was invited to the McGuire’s property to see if he wanted any of the wood from the tree.


On June 28, 2011, at the Property, Gagnon was operating a chainsaw to remove branches from a 
tree and cut it down on the Property.


The McGuire’s purchased and owned the chainsaw that was being utilized to trim, remove 
branches and cut down the tree.


William physically assisted with removing the cut branches from the work area while supervising 
Gagnon’s actions.


Caroline physically assisted by retrieving and providing any and all tools requested by William 
McGuire and David Gagnon while supervising Gagnon’s and William’s actions.


Gagnon was acting on behalf of the McGuires’ under their supervision and at the McGuires’ 
direction.


Caroline, William, and Gagnon all knew, or show have known that a chainsaw was dangerous and 
to take appropriate precautions when utilizing the chain saw.


The safety information was readily available to Caroline and William as the safety instructions are 
included with the purchase of the chainsaw.


The safety information indicated that the failure to take appropriate caution and safety measures 
could result in serious injury.


The safety information indicated that the likelihood of injury when not properly utilizing the 
chainsaw or not following the safety precautions is very high.


The safety instructions outlined are easy to follow and do not place a large burden on the operator 
of the chainsaw or the owner of the property.


Caroline McGuire, William McGuire, and David Gagnon had notice of the potentially dangerous 
conditions by acquiring a chain saw that was provided with attached warnings and safety 







information implying that a reasonable person should exercise appropriate caution and follow the 
safety instructions for the chainsaw.


Caroline, William, and Gagnon failed to act as reasonable persons by either not exercising 
appropriate care, failing to follow the safety instructions, or failing to instruct Gagnon to exercise 
appropriate care and/or follow the safety instructions.


Caroline and William, owners of the property and the chainsaw, instructed Gagnon to use the chain 
saw despite Gagnon not being trained in operating the chainsaw.


Caroline and William failed to instruct and require that Gagnon utilize the chainsaw only in 
compliance with the safety measures outlined in the owner’s manual.


Gagnon failed to utilize the chainsaw in compliance with the safety measures outlined in the 
owner’s manual.


Caroline and Gagnon asked Dulberg to assist.


Caroline, William and Gagnon failed to provide Dulberg with any of the safety information outlined 
in the owner’s manual.


Caroline and William McGuire failed to provide Gagnon or Dulberg with any of the protective 
equipment necessary for the type of work to be performed as written within the safety measures 
outlined in the owner’s manual.


Gagnon operated the chainsaw in close proximity to Dulberg and it struck Dulberg in the right 
arm, Dulberg’s dominant arm, cutting him severely requiring medical attention to save Dulberg’s 
life.


Dulberg incurred substantial and catastrophic injuries, including, but not limited to, pain and 
suffering, loss of use of his right arm which resulted in a finding of permanent disability by Social 
Security Administration on April 20, 2017 (Please see Exhibit A attached); current and future 
medical expenses in amount in excess of $260,000.00; Dulberg’s lifelong career in photography, 
graphic design, and commercial printing; lost wages in excess of one million dollars; and other 
damages.


POPOVICH AND MAST


On or about December 1, 2011 Dulberg hired Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually 
to represent him in prosecuting his claims against Gagnon and the McGuires.


Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually entered into an attorney client relationship 
with Dulberg. exhibit (Use contract for legal services)


Based upon the attorney client relationship, Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually 
owed professional duties to Dulberg, including a duty of care.







On February 1, 2013, The McGuires filed a counterclaim against Gagnon. exhibit (CROSS-CLAIM 
FOR CONTRIBUTION AGAINTS CO-DEFENDANT DAVID GAGNON File stamped 2/1/2013)


The cross-claim accused Gagnon of the following negligent acts and/or omissions:
a. Caused or permitted a chainsaw to make contact with Plaintiffs right arm;
b. Failed to operate said chainsaw in a safe and reasonable manner so as to avoid injuring 
Plaintiff's right arm;
c. Failed to maintain a reasonable and safe distance between the chainsaw he was operating and 
Plaintiff's right arm;
d. Failed to properly instruct Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating chainsaw;
e. Failed to properly warn Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating
chainsaw;
f. Failed to maintain the chainsaw in the idle or off position when he knew or should have known 
that Plaintiff was close enough to sustain injury from direct contact with the subject chainsaw;
g. Failed to maintain a proper lookout for Plaintiff while operating the subject chainsaw;
h. Failed to maintain proper control over an operating chainsaw;
i. Was otherwise negligent in the operation and control of the subject
chainsaw.


David Gagnon has never filed an answer to this counterclaim by the McGuires.


Popovich hid and altered key documents that supported the version of events of the day of the 
chainsaw accident told by Dulberg and contradicted the version of events told by Gagnon, Carolyn 
McGuire, and Bill McGuire from Dulberg, the opposing counsel, and Dulberg's future attorneys, 
including the Baudins.


Popovich and Mast coerced Dulberg into settling with the McGuires for $5,000 in January, 2014.   
legal malpractice case Dulberg v Hans Mast, Thomas Popovich, and the Law Office of Thomas J. 
Popovich (12LA178) in McHenry County, .


Dulberg filed for bankruptcy in November, 2014.


Hans Mast and Thomas Popovich repeatedly tried to get Dulberg to settle with Gagnon for $50,000 
or less.


Dulberg eventually fired Popovich and Mast in March, 2015, just after canceling a preconference 
settlement hearing that Mast scheduled in which Mast was proposing on Dulberg's behalf to drop 
the case against Gagnon for $50,000, telling Dulberg in an email, "the insurance limit is $100,000 
and no insurance company will pay even close to that".


BULKE


On March 19, 2015 Dulberg retained Attorney Brad Bulke, who claimed he was willing to take the 
case against Gagnon to trial.


As Dulberg's attorney, Brad Bulke asked the judge for a settlement conference and urged Dulberg 
to settle with Gagnon for $50,000.  exhibit.







Bulke told Dulberg that if he does not agree with a settlement of $50,000, Bulke cannot continue 
to be his attorney.


Dulberg refused to participate in a pre-trial settlement conference and fired Bulke in June, 2015. 
exhibit.


On June 12, 2015 Dulberg sent an email to Bulke stating:  "Hi Brad,
Please expect a call from Randall Baudin's office.
Please share whatever it is they need concerning this case."


BAUDINS AND OLSEN


Dulberg called the office of Baudin & Baudin a few times, but nobody called back.


Dulberg's mother knew that Randall Baudin Sr had represented Scott Dulberg a few years back and 
she recommended Randall Baudin Sr to Dulberg.


Dulberg along with his mother (Barbara Dulberg) and brother Tom Kost went to meet with Randy 
Baudin Sr at Baudin & Baudin to discuss possible representation.


Upon entering the office of Baudin & Baudin, Dulberg met with a receptionist who called herself 
Myrna who introduced Dulberg to Randy Jr and Kelly Baudin attorneys of the firm.


When Barbara Dulberg inquired about Randy Baudin Sr, she was told that he was not available, not 
real active these days but doing okay.


A meeting took place.


Dulberg's fee agreement is with Baudin & Baudin (attached - Dulberg 002620) which at the time 
was located at:
2100 Huntington Dr., Suite C Algonquin IL. 60102


W. Randall Baudin II and Kelly Baudin belong to Baudin Law Group, Ltd. which at the time was 
located at:
304 McHenry Ave, Crystal Lake, IL 60014


Many Emails with Myrna Thompson aka Myrna Boyce their secretary are from myrna@blgltd.com 
and myrna@lawbaudin.com with the logo of Baudin Law Group Ltd.


Emails with Randy Baudin Jr are from randybaudin2@gmail.com


Emails with Kelly Baudin are addressed kelly@lawbaudin.com 


Other emails used copier@blgltd.com


Dulberg clearly informed W. Randall Baudin Jr and Kelly Baudin at their opening meeting that he 
intended to take the case to trial and after what happened with Popovich, Mast and Bulke, he did 
not want an attorney who was not willing to take the case against Gagnon to a jury trial.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin agreed to take the case to trial if necessary.







At their first meeting Dulberg gave W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin 2 different packets of case 
files, one in a box from Bulke and the other from the Popovich Law Firm in a brown jacket folder.  
W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin did not want the box of files from Bulke and took only the 
organized brown jacket folder.


On September, 22, 2015 Dulberg hired Baudin & Baudin, W. Randal (Randy) Baudin II and Kelly 
Baudin to represent him in prosecuting his claims against Gagnon. exhibit - fee agreement


W. Randal Baudin II, Kelly Baudin, and Baudin & Baudin entered into an attorney client relationship 
with Dulberg.


Based upon the attorney client relationship, W. Randal (Randy) Baudin II, and Kelly Baudin, and 
Baudin & Baudin owed professional duties to Dulberg, including a duty of care.


Popovich hid key documents that supported the version of events of the day of the chainsaw 
accident told by Dulberg and contradicted the version of events told by Gagnon, Carolyn McGuire, 
and Bill McGuire from Dulberg, the opposing counsel, and Dulberg's future attorneys, including the 
Baudins.


A $7,500 offer made by Popovich and Mast on October 22, 2013 in Dulberg's name to settle the 
case with the McGuires was not included in the brown jacket folder (or the box of files) because 
Popovich and Mast did not include it.  


A pharmacy receipt with the time of presciption pick up given to Mast by Dulberg at their first 
meeting on December 1, 2011, which was a key piece of evidence corroborating Dulbergs version 
of events on the day of the chainsaw accident and directly contradicting the version of events told 
by Gagnon, Carolyn McGuire and Bill McGuire, was also not included in the brown jacket folder (or 
the box of files) because Popovich and Mast did not include it.


Upon reviewing Dulberg's case against Gagnon, W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or 
should have known that on February 1, 2013 a counterclaim was filed against Gagnon by the 
McGuires on February 1, 2013.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that Gagnon has never filed an 
answer to the McGuires's counterclaim.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that because Gagnon did not 
answer the counterclaim filed on February 1, 2013, Gagnon was effectively admitting the facts 
stated in the counterclaim were true.  The Baudins never told this to Dulberg.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that documents such as "Gagnon 
deposition exhibit 1" were highly questionable and showed evidence of being manipulated.  The 
Baudins never told this to Dulberg.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that Gagnon never filed answers 
to the interrogatories sent by Popovich and Mast.  The Baudins never told this to Dulberg.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin never asked Gagnon's counsel for the answers to 
interrogatories.  The Baudins never informed the judge that they never received Gagnons answers 
to interrogatories.







On July 15, 2016 at 2:22 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Kelly and I would like speak with you and your mom Monday night at 630"


On July 15, 2016 at 2:27 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Okay, Monday the 18th at 6:30 pm. Do we need to bring anything?"


On July 15, 2016 at 2:29 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Maybe the social security report if you have it? We will Jameson's Charhouse 
crystal lake at 630 in meeting room there."


On July 18, 2016 at 4:26 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Still on for tonight?"


On July 18, 2016 at 4:26 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes sir."


On July 18, 2016 W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin invited Dulberg and his mother, Barbara 
Dulberg, to dinner at Jamison Charhouse


At the dinner... 


On July 18, 2016 at 8:54 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Would we be in a better position if the SSDI decision was already in and would that 
make a difference in the amount the arbitration judge would award?"


On July 18, 2016 at 8:56 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "No we have the dr reports. You can tell the judge about it in mediation as well. 
More informal and you can get more info in without being restricted by rules of evidence. And I 
can't promise in a trial they won't bring the felony drug charges up. Believe me the binding 
mediation is the best route.  We are in the best spot now with the momentum on our side and 
being able to present your case in mediation without any new testimony from defendant"


On July 18, 2016 at 9:00 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "We are in the best spot now with the momentum on our side and being able to 
present your case in mediation without any new testimony from defendant"


On July 18, 2016 at 10:09 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If we went to trial I'm not worried about those drug charges. I've had to explain myself 
about that for decades. It's pretty simple, I screwed up at a young age, was honest about it, 
admitted my wrong and took my punishment. Then I moved on with life, worked hard for 17 years 
for many employers in this county who all have nothing but good things to say about my time with 
them while at the same time I created a legitimate business that lasted 12 years till this incident. I 
believe my past felony will be a non issue because it actually shows a lot about my character, being 
honest when I'm in the wrong is something most people won't do even if being honest cost me a 
few years. If Allstate does bring it up, their own client did the same thing only worse, he and his 
whole family was caught dealing drugs only to underage kids and he was the ringleader. They were 
just lucky that when they got caught it was before mandatory sentences for those offenses were in 
place. but it doesn't change what they did, exploiting underage children with drugs for money is 
far worse than my simple possession charge. I have the actual police reports if we need them. If 
this does go to trial, Allstate lawyers had better read the depositions of their client and his family. 







if they do I don't believe their going to put their client or anyone from his family on the stand just 
to purger themselves over and over again in front of a jury unless the want to lose. All they have is 
possibly some dr who isn't impartial questioning the results of the dr's I was sent to see. In the end 
after the Dr's have it out on the stand all that remains is me who nearly died, had 40% of my arm 
severed and the edges turned to hamburger by a chainsaw then just stitched back together with a 
few threads with hope that I might get some use yet. Well I do have limited use but it's not enough 
to do the daily functions we all need to do in order to take care of ourselves and it doesn't take a 
Ph.D. to see or understand that a chainsaw does that. Ok, I realize I just ranted a lot but its all 
good. I'll let you know in the morning"


On July 18, 2016 at 10:12 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "So sorry came in garbled. Are you taking our recommendation as to the binding 
mediation?"


On July 18, 2016 10:13 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin II 
stating:  "You will have an answer tomorrow"


On July 19, 2016 at 12:23 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Sorry but I want to get this to you while its fresh Please answer this in the 
morning How are costs and attorney fees handled in binding arbitration? Do they come out of the 
award or are they in addition to the award like a trial?"


On July 19, 2016 at 3:57 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Both Handled the same as trail."


On July 19, 2016 at 7:02 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Does that mean your fees and costs are awarded separate from the award or do they 
still come out of the 300k cap?"


On July 19, 2016 at 7:06 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "If at trial and win 300 max Costs not above that. Same as mediation. We can ask 
for judge to award costs in both. Up to judge to award. Also costs mean filing fee service fee. Not 
the costs like experts bills On


On July 19, 2016 at 7:54 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "We are thinking that if we can get Allstate to agree in advance and in writing to cover 
your % (fee) and all the costs including deposition fees, expert witness fees and medical above and 
beyond any award the arbiter sees fit then we would be willing to go forward. Let's just see if they 
are open to it"


On July 19, 2016 at 7:56 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "They won't. The judge will decide what the award is and that is the award. We 
again urge you to do the binding mediation."


On July 19, 2016 at 8:10 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I just read the statute on arbitration and it seems to me that your fees and all the costs 
can be agreed to in advance with the exception of fees for the arbitration itself. I need to feel that 
there is something covered. Particularly the monies we already laid out otherwise just the 
momentum in our favor isn't enough because the momentum has always been in our favor. It 
doesn't hurt to ask Allstate if they would agree to pay these separate from the award"







On July 19, 2016 at 8:18 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "In essence Allstate is already setting terms on us not to go after their clients personal 
assets. Irregardless if their are any assets. So I think it's only fair that they cover fees and costs in 
advance"


On July 19, 2016 at 8:40 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "They are the ones pushing for arbitration correct? Why?"


On July 19, 2016 at 8:47 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I have to run to the dr's appointment. I'd tell Kelly to ask that Allstate wait till possibly 
Thursday for their answer. It's not like it cost them anything"


On July 19, 2016 at 10:07 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I told you they don't care if we arbitrate. We as your lawyers say that it is the 
best that you do the binding mediation. We are deciding this based on facts and odds as to give 
you the best outcome. It appears to me that you are still looking for some justification or 
rationalization to carry on as if it will make it better. It won't. This will give you the best possible 
outcome."


On July 19, 2016 at 1:46 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Randy, Yes arbitration is appealing because it saves a few thousand dollars and maybe 
a few years but I don't like the idea of being blindly boxed in on their terms alone without any 
assurances as to your fees, medical expenses or even what we spent out of pocket in costs to get 
here. I want some assurances/concessions on their part prior to walking in or it's no deal. Going in 
blind with no assurances, I can't help but to feel like a cow being herded thinking its dinner time 
but it's really slaughter time. They need to give somewhere prior to arbitration or it's a good 
indication as to how they will negotiate once we start. In other wards, if they won't concede 
anything prior to arbitration then they won't negotiate or concede anything once the arbitration 
starts and if that's the case, what's the point. We need something to show they are sincere in trying 
to resolve this. Up the lower limits from 50k to 150k, concede on the medical portion, out of 
pocket expenses, attorneys fees or how about just resolving their portion and leave their chainsaw
wielding idiot open to defend himself in this lawsuit. Perhaps they can give on something I haven't 
thought of yet, Anything will do but giving on nothing prior to walking in there spells out what I'm 
going to get and if that's the case then I'll spend money and roll the dice. Convince me I'm not 
going being lead to slaughter and I'll agree To do it"


On July 19, 2016 at 4:28 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "So sorry your texts come in out of order. Binding mediation or no."


On July 20, 2016 at 8:43 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Ok, I have to ask about rules of evidence in a trial vs. arbitration I know that you said it 
gives me the personal ability to talk with the arbiter about things that would not be allowed at a 
trial. My question is, is that a two way street, can the defense pull crap that would never be allowed 
at trial?"


On July 20, 2016 at 10:00 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "They have no ammo. We have dr opinion unscathed and tree expert unscathed 
bad guy won't be there you will. So we have advantage"


On July 20, 2016 at 10:21 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Will there be some sort of gag order on me? In other wards does this stop me 







from talking about it in the future?"


On July 20, 2016 at 10:56 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Yes, no?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:03 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I doubt there will be any type of confidentiality clause as a part of the 
settlement"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:05 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Can depositions be used?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:06 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:07 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Can phone, text, emails,videos or audio recordings be used?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:09 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "There aren't any restrictions on what we say or do with the judge when we are 
with him in private. He will give it as much weight or credibility as he sees fit, but we can do or say 
whatever we want to him when we meet. Unlike a trial"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:11 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Can video or phone calls be used by us or the defense to reach outside the 
proceeding to clarify or substantiate any claims made by us or them" 


On July 20, 2016 at 11:20 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Correction; can video or phone calls be made during the proceedings that can 
Clarify, substantiate or rebuke any claims made? You know what I mean Like you want to call 
somebody during the preceding"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:22 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "will be of greatest importance is the nature extent and permanence of your 
injury"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:23 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "And just so you understand, as far as the judges concerned I feel that he is 
going to attribute very little if any negligence to you the matter that he"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:25 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "From my understanding, they can have an army of professional witnesses ready 
at the touch of a button ready to tell the judge anything they wish? Is this a possibility?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:31 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "If we go to trial they sure will. They have no IME they have no rebut to tree 
expert. Again we are in the best position now to get the maximum recovery"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:34 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Yes but they can call anyone or produce in writing anything they wish with no 
restrictions at the arbitration correct"







On July 20, 2016 at 11:41 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "They could. But we will be there to refute anything. Again, the actual person, 
you. Not a document."


On July 20, 2016 at 11:44 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg  stating:  "All right, Kelly called and we have Cole show Sean in the next hour or so. Kelly 
had promised her we were calling yesterday, they have to know what's going on and make 
arrangements regarding additional counsel. Again, as your attorneys we are strongly urging you to 
participate in the binding mediation. It is your best opportunity for the greatest possible recovery 
and the guarantee that you would at least walk away with something if you got 0. Again, this gives 
us the most control of the situation."


On July 20, 2016 at 11:45 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "So they can bring the defendants in via phone, video, text etc... Even if they are 
not in the physical location nor listed as anyone attending?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:47 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Show Sean will be there in an adjuster will be there either by telephone or in 
person. She will present a submission to the judge laying out there view of the case. Then she will 
speak their behalf and argue from the depositions that have already been presented. There's not 
going to be any testimony given"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:47 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Also, if they're in a separate room and we are not privy to anyon their 
conversation how can we refute what's going on?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:47 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "during this proceeding. We can talk to him in private but there's no questioning 
no answers no cross-exam. You're really overthinking this. Just stop and listen to your lawyers' 
advice that's why you hire us."


On July 20, 2016 at 11:48 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "The judge will tell us what their arguments are and he will tell them what our 
arguments are. Did we tell the judge why we think that's not true, and conversely they do the 
same"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:51 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm going into a meeting. I will have about five minutes coming up in an hour, 
during that time I have to have an answer. I ask that you believe in us and what we've done for you 
so far, we haven't misled or put you down the wrong path, just have faith."


On July 20, 2016 at 1:04 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes binding mediation?"


On July 20, 2016 at 1:24 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Randy, I truly appreciate yours and Kelly's honest advice and I hope I continue to 
receive it in the future. Please don't take this personal because it's not. I value everything you have 
to offer more than you know. I will be moving forward with litigation at this time. However, should 
Allstate consider a full settlement with no strings attached in the future so they can save the cost 
of litigation or a humiliating defeat I'm not opposed to entertaining it and most likely will accept it. 







This is too important to me and my family. I just cannot give up the protections of a public trial 
with the possibility of review should something be handled wrongly in the hopes of saving a few 
thousand dollars and time. Thank you both for your honest advice now let's move forward together 
and enjoy winning this case together."


On July 20, 2016 at 1:49 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Was that response garbled broken up text or did it go through ok?"


On July 20, 2016 at 3:59 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "You available to talk with your mother as well on the phone in a half hour or so"


On July 20, 2016 at 3:59 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Tomorrow morning, 9am, judge Meyers?"


On July 20, 2016 at 4:00 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes but on the phone in a half hour"


On July 20, 2016 at 4:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Yes on the phone in a half hour is ok but mom is off with grandkids"


On July 21, 2016 at 12:41 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Think you two can get me that copy of the policy soon?"


On July 21, 2016 at 6:28 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Randy, please read page 1 coverage cushion of the gagnon policy. It extends coverage 
to 120% That's 60k more"


On July 21, 2016 at 6:37 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Page 2 guest medical may be an extra 1k"


On July 21, 2016 at 7:00 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Please let Kelly know that I want the high end of the Adr policy limit increased by 20% 
along with adding 20% to and judgement below the high end limit"


On July 21, 2016 at 7:09 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Oh yeah, your thoughts of him being dropped is a joke. His Gold coverage says he 
cannot be dropped no matter how many claims are made. Just thought you'd like to know that. You 
really should read the policy"


On July 27, 2016 at 11:14 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Just so you know, just received a letter from the Social Security Administration 
and its a Notice of Affirmation and order of Appeals Council Remanding Case back to the 
Administrative Law Judge"


On July 27, 2016 at 11:14 AM
Great


On July 27, 2016 at 11:21 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Thank goodness that I kept the right to review by an appeal"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:17 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 







II stating:  "Morning Randy, If there was some sort of business contract between Gagnon and his 
Parents why couldn't any of them even come close as to what the terms were? Secondly, where are 
the cashed checks or contract? I was there the day this happened. I didn't hear anything that 
sounded like it was more than a son doing work for his parents as a favor. Nothing more. This 
seems to me to be yet anything that sounded like it was more than a son doing work for his 
parents as a favor. Nothing more. This seems to me to be yet another ploy to negate their financial 
responsibility and was conceived of after the fact."


On July 28, 2016 at 6:24 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If I remember correctly, David said in his dep that he was elected to do the work. Why 
say elected if he was contracted?"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:47 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Sorry, I'm driving and it looks garbled again. But it says if there's an agreement 
or contract so I'm guessing, if he knows what is not going to give you coverage, he will testify that 
way. But he has already testified that he was receiving $15 an hour, and that you were going to get 
the same. What you get is a relevant or what you got, and I know you didn't get paid. It's also 
irrelevant whether or not he actually got paid, especially in light of how it turned out, I guess it's 
just whether or not there was an agreement and it didn't have to be in writing. If at trial, they all 
say that there was some agreement or in an action to exclude coverage before trial, i'm guessing 
they're all going to be on the same page. The issue as to whether or not there is coverage, is 
different from the trial. That's a trial before the trial and that is something that we would have to 
win."


On July 28, 2016 at 6:53 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Since they didn't think enough ahead of the dep to get their storylines straight as to the 
payment/terms for this supposed agreement I believe that is enough to show there was no 
agreement and this is just another fabrication. Not unlike the other fabrications created 
throughout their deps. It is an obvious pattern. Expose it and their done even in front of a 
conservative jury or a trained judge acting as an bait or or mediator"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:54 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Bait means arbiter"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:56 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "This issue will not come to fruition and biding mediation. The Allstate in-house lawyers 
have not put two and two together"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:57 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "They have to prove this claim and they can't."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:00 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Am I allowed to make erroneous claims without proof? If not, why would their 
erroneous claims without proof be allowed?"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:02 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "It would be something called dec action which would be brought by ALLSTATE. 
Yes evidence would be presented but there aren't any guarantees regarding what the judge would 
decide"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:06 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 







II stating:  "I'm sure any experienced judge would see this for what it is. A fraudulent attempt to 
negate any and all financial responsibility for the wreck less actions committed that day. They have 
no proof other than the words of those who already lied under oath"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:06 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Dozens of times"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:11 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm sure a rational experience judge would think so, but those are few and far 
between. That's why the law books are full of appeals. The legal system is not fair, and not 
rational. Otherwise things could just be input into a computer and the answer would spit out."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:13 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If someone hits you with their car does it matter if they were being paid to drive that 
car? If not how is this any different?"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:14 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Actually that does, a lot of car policies exclude paid for hire. Also, every type of 
policy affords different types of coverage and has different exclusions so homeowners policies are 
different than car policies"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:18 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I have a question that's related but different. Why were the defendants privy to my 
deposition prior to giving their own? Carol slipped in her dep and said things she couldn't have 
known unless someone coached her and gave her inside information about my deposition. If this 
happened, and clearly it is, what's to say they weren't coached to claim this was a contract just so 
he insurance company had an out?"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:20 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm not sure who would've coached them because if this was an issue that 
ALLSTATE realized it would've been dealt with a long time ago"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:21 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "When it smells foul, it's foul"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:23 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Defendants certainly are foul."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:23 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Look, they claim it's a contract but when asked the details non of the parties 
supposedly involved with the contract can get any of the details even remotely the same. Like I 
said this is a ploy and nothing more"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:25 AM Yeah I'm not sure I don't know. Could be dabbing if they have a 
canceled check or something from previous work to say hey look we've paid him for doing stuff 
around the house before. But even if not you would have testimony that they had an agreement. 
Whether or not it's true is another story


On July 28, 2016 at 7:26 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Ploy means rouse"







On July 28, 2016 at 7:28 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If they had a check it should have been entered into evidence by now. Since they don't 
too bad for them."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:29 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "That would be a separate action. Nobody has even raised the issue of payment 
whether he's liable or not is"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:29 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "One issue. Whether or not there is coverage is a separate completely separate 
action that would be between ALLSTATE and him"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:30 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Since when is it ok to entertain unsubstantiated claims this far along with no evidence 
any of it it remotely true"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:42 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I just had to go back to carols dep. she claimed she gave money to David so he had 
something to claim on his taxes, not for the work being performed. David claims an hourly wage 
and the father, Bill claimed Carol gave him a pair ago pants. Probably a gift as a thank you. None 
of these things are even close to being the same but all are suggestive and not proof of anything 
because their so vastly different"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:53 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I am more curious who Carol hired to remove the tree and would be more interested 
questioning that company they were hired prior to the day of the incident. This would go a long 
way to putting David's claim of a contract to rest"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:57 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "It's not even a contract it was just an agreement that doesn't have to be 
something formal written it's like hey I'll pay you some money to take the tree down. Headed into a 
meeting. I'll keep you up-to-date on any new information"


On July 28, 2016 at 8:25 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If Carol, as she claimed, had previously entered into a contract with a real professional 
tree removal company why would she also agree to pay her son to remove the same tree? Unless, 
this is some sort of afterthought in an attempt to find ways of not paying for the damage they 
caused. They cannot play both sides of the street at the same time. They lied about this just as 
they lied about other things that happened that day all attempts to lessen the amount of damage 
done to me and lessen their responsibilities and misdirect blame and responsibility"


On July 28, 2016 at 8:26 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "The patterns are obvious and easily proven to be lies"


On July 28, 2016 at 9:37 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "From Carol knowing what I said in my Deposition, claiming the hospital and doctors 
gave her my personal medical information to the claims that she entered into some sort of verbal 
agreement with her son for business purposes sounds more like insurance company lawyers 
entering into an verbal agreement with their clients to skew the truth so they have some sort of 
out in exchange for representation in court."







On July 28, 2016 at 9:40 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If that's the case almost any claim made against an insurance policy can be thrown out 
based on verbal agreements with no proof to back up the story or lies being told"


On July 28, 2016 at 9:42 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I see this a a malicious attempt to get away with little or or no consequences and just 
makes me want to expose all of this to a jury even more"


On July 29, 2016 at 9:17 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Any chance Myrna can send me that asset report today? Also, there may be another 
asset that won't show up on his report. Rumor has it that David Gagnon had an auto accident and 
had to undergo some sort of surgery on his back and is in the process of suing for his injury."


On August 2, 2016 at 3:47 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "What is a bad faith letter?"


On August 2, 2016 at 5:30 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Has one been sent to the Allstate adjusters?"


On August 8, 2016 at 8:29 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "What is happening this Wednesday in court now that Allstate is getting their 
independent medical exam in September or October?"


On August 12, 2016 at 9:22 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Morning Randy, Ok, it's driving me bananas over here, I'd like to know exactly 
what it is about the medical that's the issue in my case? Please call me with the details soon and 
let's discuss what's best. Thanks, Paul"


On August 16, 2016 at 7:42 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Randy, I have to ask again, why is it wise to agree to mediate before permanent 
disability is determined by social security since the permanent disability rating would be a large 
factor in determining what the insurance adjuster is willing to give? Both mom and myself need a 
real answer to this question"


On September 6, 2016, Megan G. Heeg filed a "MOTION TO APPROVE ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS 
AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIM"


"2.  Previously, Megan G. Heed, had been the Chapter 7 case Trustee of the above-referenced case, 
but this case was recently assigned to a new trustee."


"3.  The employment of the law firm Ehrmann Gehlbach Badger Lee & Considine, LLC was approved 
by the Court on May 27, 2015."


"8.  The time period covered by this application is from November 26, 2014 through September 
28, 2016."


On September 27, 2016, W. Randall Baudin II signed an affidavit "AFFIDAVIT OF W.RANDALL 
BAUDIN, II PURSUANT TO RULES 2014(a), 2016(b) and 5002 TO EMPLOYEE BAUDIN LAW GROUP, 
LTD. AS SPECIAL COUNSEL FOR THE TRUSTEE". exhibit


The affidavit is an agreement between the bankruptcy trustee and the Baudin Law Group, Ltd. 







signed by W. Randall Baudin on behalf of the Baudin Law Group.


Section 1 states:  "I am a member of the law firm of Boudin Law Group, Ltd. located at 304 South 
McHenry Avenue, Crystal Lake, IL 60014 and in that capacity I have personal knowledge of, and 
authority to speak on behalf of the firm of Baudin Law Group, Ltd. with respect to the matters set 
forth herein.  This Affidavit is offered in support of the Applicationb of the Trustee for 
Authorization to Employ Baudin Law Group, Ldt. as special counsel for the Trustee.  The matters 
set forth herein are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information and belief.


Section 5 of the affidavit states:  "To the best of my knowledge, information and belief, Baudin Law 
Group, Ltd. does not hold or represent a party that holds an nterest adverse to the Trustee nor 
does it have any connection with the Debtor's creditors, or any party in interest or their respective 
attorneys and accountants with respect to the matters for which Baudin Law Group, Ltd.  is to be 
employed, is disinterested as that term is used in 11 U.S.C. & 101(14), and has no connections 
with the United States Trustee or any person employed in the Trustee's office. except that said firm 
has represented the Debtor's pre-petition with respect to the subject personal injury claim."


Section 6, part A states:  "My firm and I are obligated to keep the Trustee fully informed as to all 
aspects of this matter, as the Bankruptcy estate is my client until such time as the claim in 
question is abandoned by the Trustee, as shown by a written notice of such abandonment."


Section 6, part D states:  "No settlements may be entered into or become binding without the 
approval of the Bankruptcy Court and the Trustee, after notice to the Trustee, creditors and parties 
of interest."


Setion 6, part E states:  "All issues as to attorneys fees, Debtor's exemptions, the distribution of 
any recovery between the Debtor and the Trustee or creditors, or any other issue which may come 
to be in dispute between the Debtor and the Trustee or creditors are subject to the jurisdiction of 
the Bankruptcy Court.  Neither I nor any other attorney or associate of the Firm will undertake to 
advise or represent the Debtor as to any such matters or issues.  Instead, the Firm will undertake 
to obtain the best possible result on the claim, and will leave to others any advice or 
representation as to such issues."


Section 6, part F states:  "The Firm is not authorized to grant any "physician's lien" upon, offer to 
protect payment of any claim for medical or other services out of, or otherwise pledge or 
encumber in any way any part of any recovery without separate Order of this Court, which may or 
may not be granted."


On October ##, 2016 W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin informed Dulberg that the binding 
mediation process will take place even though Dulberg does not approve of the process and 
refused to sign the arbitration agreement.  W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin informed Dulberg 
that the bankruptcy judge had the authority to order the process into a mediation agreement 
without Dulberg's consent, and the judge had already ordered the case into mediation.


On October 4, 2016 Dr Craig Phillips issues report.  He wrote:  "He states he is not sure of the 
exact date, but on the date in question he was holding a tree branch at his neighbor's house to 
help David, his neighbor's son, cut the tree branch with a chainsaw. He stated he was holding a 
pine tree
branch, which was a few inches thick, s!ill_attachedto the tree.and while David was cutting the 
branch", be inadvertently cut Mr. Dulberg's right forearm."







On page 6 Dr Craig Phillips writes: 


"Dr. Talerico:
According to the medical records from MidAmerica Hand to Shoulder, Mr. Dulberg was seen by Dr. 
Talerico on December 2, 2011. His history is a 41-year-old male, right hand dominant, referred by 
Dr. t11, Levin, MD, neurologist, for evaluation of an injury sustained to the right medial forearm in 
June 2011.
,;)~'-.1.- was u_sin9a chainsaw when he accidentally struck the volar medial aspect of his right 
forearm in roughly the mid forearm range with a chain saw. He had a large open wound down to 
muscle."


On October 18, 2016 at 10:50 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Hi Randy, since we haven't received the IME report in 10 days as the Dr stated 
we would, I'd like to move back the date of the mediation thingy I'm being forced into so we have 
more than only a few weeks to deal with whatever the report may show. At least 2-3 months 
should do it considering the defense has already had the treating Dr's reports and depositions for 
months and years already. Let me know"


On October 21, 2016 at 1:47 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Hi Randy, looks like that board certified dr is quite the fabricator. He Should 
have a degree in creative writing rather than Dr.ing. Wish we had videotaped that because I'd post 
the video on the web right along side his report and let his patients see what he really is"


On October 21, 2016 at 1:54 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Myrna said your forwarding the report to dr Kujawa. That's good but I don't 
think we need it to prove Phillips an outright liar who can't pay attention to details. Hmmm... 
Makes me wonder who the hell passed him in med school"


On October 21, 2016 at 1:58 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Where did he come up with that line that the branch was still attached to the 
tree?"


On October 21, 2016 2:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "That's not from anyone's deposition and you were there so you know I gave 
absolutely no details other than to say that basically a man walked over and used a chainsaw on 
me."


On October 21, 2016 at 2:03 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "He has quite the imagination claiming I said any of the crap in his report"


On October 21, 2016 at 2:05 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "I have to look up what board certified Phillips because they deserve to know 
what a liar this guy is."


On October 21, 2016 at 2:06 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Ok enough ranting for now. Let's get together and go over this report"


On October 21, 2016 at 2:08 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 







Baudin II stating:  "While the memories are still fresh"


On October 21, 2016 at 2:15 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Why write a history at all if it's all fabricated? Why say I told him stuff when I did 
not? Why Lie? This is about as unprofessional as it gets. Phillips should be made an example of. 
Sure you don't want the chance to cross examine this guy? I sure do"


On October ##, 2016 bankruptcy trustee Olsen filed 2 motions with the bankruptcy court.  exhibit


On October 31, 2016 Trustee Olsen appeared before bankruptcy judge ## and 


 MR. OLSEN: Good morning, Your Honor. Joseph Olsen, trustee. This comes before the Court on 
two motions. One is to authorize the engagement of special counsel to pursue a personal injury 
litigation, I think it's in Lake County, involving a chainsaw accident of some sort. And then, 
presumably, if the Court grants that, the second one is to authorize the estate to enter into -- I'm 
not sure what you call it, but binding mediation. But there's a floor of $50,000, and there's a 
ceiling of $300,000.


And I guess I've talked with his attorney. He seems very enthusiastic about it. There may be some 
issues about the debtor being a good witness or not, I guess. It had to do with a neighbor who 
asked him to help him out with a chainsaw, and then I guess the neighbor kind of cut off his arm, 
or almost cut
off his arm right after that. There's some bitterness involved, understandably, I guess.


But I don't do personal injury work at all, so I'm not sure how that all flows through to a jury, but 
he didn't seem to want to go through a jury process. He liked this process, so...


THE COURT: Very well. Mr. Olsen, first of all, with regard to the application to employ the Baudin 
law firm, it certainly appears to be in order and supported by affidavit. Their proposed fees are 
more consistent with at least what generally is the market than some of the fees you and I have 
seen in some
other matters. One question for you: Have you seen the actual engagement agreement?


MR. OLSEN: I thought it was attached to my motion.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. OLSEN: If it's not, it should have been. It's kind of an interesting -- actually, this is kind of a 
unique one. The debtor actually paid them money in advance, and then he's going to get a credit if 
they actually win, which I guess enures, now, to my benefit, but that's okay. And there's a proviso 
for one-third, except if we go to trial, then it's 40 percent. So these are getting more creative by 
the PI bar as we plod along here, I guess, but...


THE COURT: It's a bar that's generally pretty creative. And my apologies. I saw the affidavit, but you 
did have the agreement attached, and one was in front of the other. And the agreement is just as 
you describe it. It appears to be reasonable, and so I'll approve the application. Tell me about this 
binding mediation. It's almost an oxymoron, isn't it?


MR. OLSEN: Well, I guess the mediators don't know there's a floor and a ceiling. I'm not sure where 
that comes from, but that's -- yeah. And whatever number they come back at is the number we're 







able to settle at, except if it's a not guilty or a zero recovery, we get 50,000, but to come back at 3 
million, we're capped at 300,000. 


THE COURT: Interesting.


MR. OLSEN: A copy of the mediation agreement should also be attached to that motion.


THE COURT: And I do see that. That appears to be in order. It's one of those you wish them luck


MR. OLSEN: I don't want to micromanage his case.


THE COURT: But that, too, sounds reasonable. There's been no objection?


MR. OLSEN: Correct.


THE COURT: Very well. I will approve -- authorize, if you will, for you to enter into the binding 
mediation agreement, see where it takes you.


MR. OLSEN: Thanks, Your Honor.


On October 31, 2016 an order was issued by bankruptcy judge:


"ORDER


THIS CAUSE coming on to be heard on this 31st day of October, 2016 upon the Trustee's Motion 
for Authority to Enter into a “Binding Mediation Agreement”, the Court after considering the 
Motion, the statements of counsel, pleadings on file and being fully advised in the premises: IT IS 
HEREBY ORDERED that Joseph D. Olsen, Trustee herein, is authorized to enter into a “Binding 
Mediation Agreement” as described in the Trustee's Motion, and the Trustee may execute such 
documents as are necessary to accomplish the matters set forth herein."


On October 31, 2016 at 10:41AM trustee Olsen sent an email to Randall Baudin II stating:  "Randy- 
The Court authorized your appointment this morning, as well as entry into that "Binding Mediation 
Agreement"; Do you want the debtor to /s/ the form, or me as trustee?  Let me know, thanks."


On October 31, 2016 at 10:50AM Randall Baudin II sent an email to Trustee Olsen stating:  "You 
can good ahead sign it."


On ### W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin told Dulberg that even though he does not want the 
binding mediation to take place, he should attend the hearing anyway because the judge will look 
down on a person that doesn't attend as if they are uninterested in their own case.


On December 8, 2016, Dulberg attended the binding mediation with his mother, Barbara Dulberg,  
even though he did not agree to the process, did not want it to happen, and refused to sign any 
agreement or consent to the process.


Dulberg believed at the time that the bankruptcy judge was the person who ordered the case into 
binding mediation and Dulberg believed the bankruptcy judge had the legal authority to make that 
decision without anyone else's consent.  Dulberg beleived this because W. Randall Baudin II told 







him it was true.


When Paul Dulberg and Barbara Dulberg were sitting alone in a room waiting, Dulberg read a 
document left on the table.  The document was written by Lanford. (exhibit).


The document contained this comment:  "..."


The adr judge ordered an award of $560,000 (exhibit)


W. Randall Baudin II informed Dulberg and Barbara Dulberg that the opposing attorney was angry 
because she was told the case would be settled for $50,000.


Dulberg asked W. Randall Baudin II if the document by Lanford was true.  W. Randall Baudin II said, 
"That's what it says".


Dulberg mentions Malpractice against Popovich to Baudin (for the first time?)


W. Randall Baudin II responded, "...".


Dulberg was informed that the trustee would receive the $300,000 arbitration award, but the 
money would not be issued unless he signed a document, which he signed in order to have the 
money issued to the bankruptcy trustee to pay his creditors. (exhibit) 


(actual date probably December 21, 2016) at 11:14 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to 
Defendant W. Randall Baudin II stating:  "Myrna says I'm to meet you in McHenry, when and where?"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:16 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm just heading to Panera to meet with a client on the route 31. You're welcome 
to come in anytime and I can tell the gentleman I have to run out to the car and have you sign 
something I can meet you too at your car so come at your leisure I should be here for at least A 
half hour"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:20 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Will be there in approx 15 min"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:39 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "You here?"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:41 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Here"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Why would Allstate need a signed release when they agreed to let the arbitrator 
decide what is final and not this afterthought of an agreement?"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Or I mean release?"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:04 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "The arbitrator did not set these terms. Why are they modifying our original 
agreement"







On December 21, 2016 at 1:04 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg  stating:  "That's just typically what they do is have the release even though there's an 
award. I have a call into Gooch he's in depositions"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:06 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Ok, but don't send in that document till we get this worked out. As of now I'm 
withdrawing my signature till we have something that works."


On December 21, 2016 at 1:08 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "If I get the go ahead from Tom, we should be fine, is the one handling that case. 
I think it has no effect, but he's the one prosecuting the other case while wait to hear what he says"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:10 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Allstate has no business extending letting their client off to letting everyone off. 
What if I find out one of the surgeons left something inside me? This should just release the policy 
they represented at the ADR. Nothing more"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:12 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "It's boiler plate, fill in the blank language. They didn't write this specifically for 
you it's just what they use in all cases"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:14 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Anyone agreeing to their fill in the blank form after the ADR agreement is nuts. I 
expect them to fulfill their ADR agreement with or without this release"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:15 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "If they wanted this as part of the agreement it should have been done prior to 
the binding ADR mediation"


On December 22, 2016 at 7:17 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Morning Randy, I'll be at your office to sign the release sometime between 9-10 
am. Wish you could just add the changes Thomas gooch suggested and save the trip but I'll show 
up just to put my initials on it."


On December 22, 2016 at 8:57 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg  stating:  "I will be stuck in court MyrnA has a release"


According to the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, Section 726 – Distribution of property of the estate


(quote)


(a) Except as provided in section 510 of this title, property of the estate shall be distributed—


(1) first, in payment of claims of the kind specified in, and in the order specified in, section 507 of 
this title, proof of which is timely filed under section 501 of this title or tardily filed on or before 
the earlier of—


(A) the date that is 10 days after the mailing to creditors of the summary of the trustee’s final 
report; or







(B) the date on which the trustee commences final distribution under this section;


(2) second, in payment of any allowed unsecured claim, other than a claim of a kind specified in 
paragraph (1), (3), or (4) of this subsection, proof of which is—


(A) timely filed under section 501(a) of this title;


(B) timely filed under section 501(b) or 501(c) of this title; or


(C) tardily filed under section 501(a) of this title, if—


(i) the creditor that holds such claim did not have notice or actual knowledge of the case in time 
for timely filing of a proof of such claim under section 501(a) of this title; and


(ii) proof of such claim is filed in time to permit payment of such claim;


(3) third, in payment of any allowed unsecured claim proof of which is tardily filed under section 
501(a) of this title, other than a claim of the kind specified in paragraph (2)(C) of this subsection;


(4) fourth, in payment of any allowed claim, whether secured or unsecured, for any fine, penalty, or 
forfeiture, or for multiple, exemplary, or punitive damages, arising before the earlier of the order 
for relief or the appointment of a trustee, to the extent that such fine, penalty, forfeiture, or 
damages are not compensation for actual pecuniary loss suffered by the holder of such claim;


(5) fifth, in payment of interest at the legal rate from the date of the filing of the petition, on any 
claim paid under paragraph (1), (2), (3), or (4) of this subsection; and


(6) sixth, to the debtor.


(end quote)


Dulberg, as the debtor, was a stakeholder in the bankruptcy estate.  If the first 5 types of claimants 
listed in section 726 are paid in full, Dulberg becomes the sole claimant to any remaining money 
and therefore the sole stakeholder in what remains of the bankruptcy estate.


Randall Baudin II and Kelly Baudin and The Baudin Law Group were retained by the trustee to 
represent the bankruptcy estate and Dulberg was the sole stakeholder of all funds in the estate 
once the first 5 types of claimants listed in section 726 have been paid in full.  Therefore Randall 
Baudin II, Kelly Baudin and The Baudin Law Group acting as legal counsel for the estate owed a 
duty of due care to Dulberg when acting in this capacity. 


On December ##, 2016 Dulberg hired legal malpractice attorney Thomas Gooch .   exhibit


Dulberg told Gooch that he was forced into binding mediation and he refused to sign any binding 
mediation agreement.







On December ##, 2016 Gooch wrote a letter to Dulberg in which he wrote:  "..." 


On January 3, 2017, Trustee Joseph Olsen filed "NOTICE TO CREDITORS AND OTHER PARTIES OF 
INTEREST" which contains the of binding mediation award and notice of motion to disburse 
$117,000 to W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin and $15,000 to Dulberg and to pay certain 
attorneys and medical liens.


On November 7, 2017 at 5:25 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "hi Randy, its Paul Dulberg, just recieved a call from Randy Sr. Please call me. 
Thanks, Paul"


On November 7, 2017 at 5:48 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "What did he want?"


Dulberg later took notes of the conversation from memory.  He intended to send the notes to 
Gooch.  He wrote an email to himself to record the notes.


On November 9, 2017 at 6:04:03 PM CST Dulberg wrote an email from the address 
pdulberg@comcast.net to Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net which states:


To: "Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net" <paul_dulberg@comcast.net>
Reply-To: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net>


Hi Tom,


You wanted to know what Randy Baudin Sr was asking when he called and I said I would need a few 
hours to unpack what he covered in about a 45 minute call So This is my attempt to unpack it. I 
felt like i was interrogated.


Below are a few of the key points that stick out to me. they are in no particular order and the 
wording is not exact because his questions were fast and he was jumping from subject to subject, 
its just some of the things I remember him saying and asking as well as how I replied.


Randy Baudin SR. was all over the board with his questions and this is my best recollection of the 
call. He did wake me from a dead sleep with the call and caught me completely off guard. In 
retrospect, I was not prepared for this and some of the questions I probably shouldn't have 
answered. Particularly the ones about the Defendants Caroline and Bill McGuire and about Tom 
Popovich and Hans Mast.


RBS. Randy Baudin Sr. Introduced himself as the head of baudin and baudin law firm who handled 
my case and asked if i see its him on my caller id. He also said his assistant was there with him.


PD. I said if its on the caller id than i got it and would have to look later.


RBS. He than said that Thomas Gooch had contacted him and needed some documents and 
information and that in order to provide that information it is important for me to help fill in some 
of the blanks or he is in trouble.


I said ok because I trusted the baudin firm and Thomas Gooch.







RBS. asked how it was that I came to his firm?


PD. I told him my Mom suggested him because he represented my brother a few decades earlier 
and that she swears by him because hes willing to fight for his clients


RBS. he asked what case he represented my brother in


PD. I told him that my brother was a passenger in a car that rolled over and that he had taken it to 
the appellate level


RBS. he said he remembered the name and the case


RBS. He asked how it was that Randy Jr took the case and why I didnt Meet with him


PD. I said im not sure why we didnt meet with you, its been a long time since then, all I remember 
was going to your office and being introduced to Randy Jr.


RBS He asked if it was at the office down near algonquin and lake in the hills


PD I said yes


RBS. Pressed me a few times as to the details of why I didnt meet with him rather than His son.


PD. I figured you were either busy or not in but for whatever reason Randy Jr met with my Mom 
and I instead. I just figured your all part of the same firm and my mom trusted you.


RBS thanked me and my mom for the high praise.


RBS asked if i had dealt with Kelly and Myrna as well


PD I said yes


RBS said something about his son, Randy JR, Randy JR's wife and Myrna were stealing cases from 
him


PD I said what is all this about?


RBS replied, oh now your asking me the questions now


PD I said well yeah is everything ok, whats wrong?


RBS said something about being involved in a 7 digit case and that Randy JR was taking cases that 
he didnt know about.







PD I said Im sorry about all that, I had no idea, is that what this is all about?


RBS asked did you and your mother come to see me?


PD I said at first yes but we ended up Meeting with his son Randy JR


RBS asked if i had met with Randy in Crystal lake and he gave a location


PD I said well yes they said they wanted to meet me at that office at times, why?


RBS asked if Myrna was at that location


PD I said well yes


RBS asked if my mom was doing well


PD I said yes


RBS asked if i liked village squire


PD I said yes


RBS told me to go there on either monday or tuesday because they have half price burgers


RBS gave me his phone numbers, had me write them down, said he would be in touch with me in 
the future and said he might take me to the village squire sometime.


RBS asked about the case alot


RBS wanted to know what happened, he started asking questions too fast, he asked if it was my 
dominate arm


PD I told him a basic version of what I knew. I was asked by David if i could use some wood from a 
tree he was cutting down at his mothers house. I told Dave i would stop by in the morning and see 
what he had. the next day I went there. His Mother and I got to talking about the people we used 
to work with while Dave and Bill worked at the tree. Bill got tired after a while and needed to quit. 
Dave started saying he needed help because he couldn't do it by himself. His mother looked at me 
and asked if I could help, Dave said come on man help me your just sitting there and all i need you 
to do is hold branches so they dont move, its easy. besides I helped clean up at your dads when he 
redid his roof 20 years ago. I said ok, I guess. I got up and helped. everything was going fine for a 
while then Dave did something stupid and hit the gas while he swung the chainsaw at me, I 







couldn't get out of its way and he cut my arm in half. The Dr in the ER said I would Have died if I 
didnt get medical treatment. That is one emergency room trip you never want to take.


RBS oh, im so sorry.


Was it your dominate arm, is it ok?


PD yes its my dominate arm, they put it back togeter but it doesnt work well


RBS how many surguries


PD 3


RBS who were the doctors?


PD do you mean the emergency room dr's?


RBS uh whas it the... yes the er surgion


PD um i remember the name Dr. Ford


RBS ok Ill have a talk with him. who else?


PD um i remember Dr sagerman and Dr Kujawa, I still see her


RBS was it at northwestern?


PD um i dont remember that name but for some reason i remember northwest community but im...


RBS Dr. Kujawa where


PD oh she is at alexian brothers


RBS ok. Your ok or are you in pain?


PD I have pains


RBS are you on a drip?


PD no nothing like that


RBS You know i know some great Dr's I could send you to see, and he went on about some indian 
dr and someone he sent there


PD no, no thats ok, ive seen what feels like an army of Dr's already


RBS you sure, I can get you their names, hold on while i get...


PD no thats ok Im good with who im seeing


RBS well ok then but im just saying if you want it







PD Im good


RBS ok so i understand you had some sort of arbitration downtown (and he gave a description of 
the place in chicago)


PD yes it was um I think they called it a binding arbitration but im not sure


RBS it says here 600K no um 300K was it and it looks like its capped


PD um I dont remember any caps but...


RBS


RBS I'm part native american


pd huh


RBS im just joking about that, i made it up


RBS started talking about his relationship with Tom Popovich said he and Tom go way back. He 
asked why I was suing Tom.


PD Because he had Hans Mast lie to me


RBS oh Hans, I know him, Good Guy


PD Thats debatable


RBS what happened with Hans?


PD Hans lied to me about many things. To start he lied about the Mothers homeowners insurance 
Policy. Hans Said they would file a summary judgement the next morning at 9 AM and I would get 
absolutely nothing but if I signed this he could get me 5k on some part of the policy that pays that 
amount irregardless of who gets hurt on their property. We argued but He even showed me case 
law that he said was the law of the land and if I didnt take it I wouldnt get anything. something 
about 3rd party persons on the property. He also said if i didnt sign it his firm would drop me in 
the suit against the son David Gagnon. and later on he said you cant blame me i was just doing 
what the boss said to do and if I didnt like it i could take it up with big Tom the owner of the firm. 
well I'd hate to break it to Hans but just doing what the boss told me to do is not a valid excuse 
and never has been when its unethical.


RBS well now wait a minute Hans is a good guy I know Hans.


PD Im sure you do have a good relation with Hans but Good people do bad things all the time and 
Hans is no exception.


RBS This Gagnon Guy, um







His secretary said, he knew him


RBS you knew this Gagnon Guy


PD Yes


RBS Ok so your complaint is that Popovich had you sign a release against the Mothers Homeowners 
policy?


PD Thats one of my complaints yes


RBS what else


PD well I learned they never actually pulled either policy, lied to me about the limits which caused 
me to go over and file for bankruptcy which I would never would have done had they not lied. I lost 
everything.


RBS They cant let one party go


PD what is that true


RBS there is case law that says you cant let one party go in a lawsuit and keep suing the other party 
involved if both are named.


PD i didnt know that but thats what they did. then to further the harm popovich dropped my case 
after they tried to get me to mediate for only 50k and i wouldnt do it."


(end quote)


The original malpractice lawsuit, filed by Thomas Gooch on October, 2017, claimed damages of 
### against the Law Office of Thomas J. Popovich and against Hans Mast.


Gooch did not allow Dulberg to read the complaint before filing it with the Court. 


Gooch did not include Thomas J. Popovich, individually as a Defendant.


Thomas Gooch did not mention anything about the bankruptcy in the complaint


Thomas Gooch did not mention that Dulberg never agreed to enter into binding mediation and 
never signed any agreement in the complaint. 


Gooch never mentioned to Dulberg that W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin, the Baudin Law 
Group or Baudin & Baudin did anything inappropriate or that Dulberg has a malpractice claim 
against the Baudins.


Gooch did not include any information about W. Randall Baudin, Kelly Baudin, the Baudin Law 
Group, Baudin & Baudin or Trustee Olsen or name any of them as defendants.  None of their names 
appeared in the complaint at all.  In the original complaint and the first amended complaint, Gooch 
refers to W. Randall Baudin, Kelly Baudin, Baudin Law Group, and Baudin & Baudin as "other 
attorneys" but never uses the word "Baudin" in any context.







Item 16 of complaint at law states:  "Thereafter, DULBERG retained other attorneys and proceeded 
to a binding mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG received a binding mediation 
award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  Unfortunately, a "high-low 
agreement" had been executed by DULBERG, reducing the maximum amount he could recover to 
#300.000.00 based upon the insurance policy available.  The award was substantially more than 
the sum of the money, and could have been recovered from the McGuire's had they not been 
dismissed from the complaint."  In the original complaint Gooch writes that a "high-low 
agreement" had been "executed by Dulberg".


Item 24 of first amended complaint at law states:  "Thereafter, DULBERG retrained other attorneys 
and proceeded to a court ordered binding mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG 
received a binding mediation award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  
However, due to the settlement with the McGuires, DULBERG was only able to collect $300,000 
based upon the insurance policy available."  In the first amended complaint by Gooch there is no 
mention of a minimum or maximum award limit at all.


Item 52 of the second amended complaint at law states:  "In December of 2016, Dulberg 
participated in binding mediation related to his claims against Gagnon."


Item 53 of the second amended complaint at law states:  "In December of 2016,  Dulberg was 
awarded a gross amount of $660,000 and a net award of $561,000 after his contributory 
negligence was considered."


Item 54 of the second amended complaint at law states:  "Dulberg was only able to recovery 
approximately $300,000 of the award from Gagnon's insurance and was unable to collect from 
Gagnon personally."


On September 5, 2019 in the Record of Proceedings MR. FLYNN stated:  "The only other issue that 
was raised -- I just reviewed the written discovery yesterday and you had (indiscernible) 201(k) 
that there was a bankruptcy that was mentioned kind of vaguely in one of the answers. It sounds 
or appears that either the bankruptcy judge or the trustee had enforced or required a mediation 
and a high-low agreement. To the extent that those documents are responsive to any of the 
requests -- and I'll have to go through them to see if they are. Otherwise I'll just issue a 
supplemental, but I think the bankruptcy file and communications with the trustee are probably 
responsive to our discovery, so I would just request that those be included in our --"


MS. WILLIAMS answered:  "I think we produced a number of the bankruptcy issues, but we can talk 
about it today and definitely try to work out -- there's definitely -- there was a bankruptcy. We're 
not trying to hide that bankruptcy, so. And the trustee did resolve -- there was an arbitration 
based on the trustee's recommendation in the bankruptcy for the individual."


In the ongoing legal malpractice lawsuit Dulberg v Hans Mast, Thomas Popovich and the Law Office 
of Thomas J. Popovich (12LA377) under dispute in McHenry County, defense counsel Flynn 
representing Popovich and Mast argues that damages that Dulberg can claim should be capped 
because Dulberg voluntarily entered into an arbitration process with an upper cap of $300,000.


On October 29, 2022 Dulberg obtained a copy of the ADR contract that ADR Systems has on file.


When the binding mediation contract which the Bankruptcy judge agreed to on October 31, 2016 
is compared to the binding mediation contract which ADR systems has on file, a number of 







inconsistencies become noticeable (exhibit - images comparing the 2 contracts).


Dulberg's name appears written on the ADR systems contract but Dulberg refused to enter into the 
agreement verbally and in text messages and never signed the contract. 


WHAT THE BAUDINS AND TRUSTEE OLSEN DID:


Faked being attorneys of Baudin & Baudin and stole a case from Baudin Sr?


The Baudins knew or should have known that the counterclaim filed by the McGuires against 
Gagnon on February 1, 2013 was not answered by Gagnon.


The Baudins knew or should have known that because Gagnon did not answer the counterclaim 
filed on February 1, 2013, Gagnon was effectively admitting the facts stated in the counterclaim 
were true.


Baudins knew or should have known that by not answering the counterclaim filed by the mcGuires 
in February 1, 2013, Gagnon was contradicting the statements in what appeared to be Gagnon's 
deposition.


The Baudins knew or should have known that documents such as "Gagnon deposition exhibit 1" 
were highly questionable and showed evidence of being manipulated.


Baudins knew or should have known that Gagnon never filed answers to the interrogatories sent by 
Popovich and Mast.


The Baudins never asked Gagnon's counsel for the answers to interrogatories.  The Baudins never 
informed the judge that they never received Gagnons answers to interrogatories.


The Baudins knew or should have known that an audio recording of a telephone conversation that 
Mast claimed to have with Gagnon on April 11, 2012 was missing from the case file.


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen, together, coerced Dulberg against his will into a binding mediation 
agreement.


Trustee Olsen told the bankruptcy judge that the parties were in agreement and Dulberg did not 
want a jury trial because he wouldn't be a good witness.


Baudins then informed Dulberg the bankruptcy judge is the authority who forced the mediation 
agreement upon the interested parties.


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen, together, decided that any arbitration award was to be capped at 
$300,000 and forced the upper cap on Dulberg without his consent and while ignoring his strong 
objection.  It is the Baudins and Trustee Olsen that placed the $300,000 upper cap on any 
arbitration award, not Dulberg. 







The Baudins and Trustee Olsen, together, intentionally gave Dulberg deceptive and misleading 
legal opinions with respect to who has legal authority to make a decision concerning the direction 
of Dulberg's case against Gagnon.


Trustee Olsen and the Baudins intentionally misrepresented Dulbergs wishes to the bankruptcy 
judge.


Somebody forged Dulberg's name on the contract.  Who?


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen deprived Dulberg of a jury trial in his case against Gagnon for his 
injury that Dulberg has continuously sought since first requesting one in May, 2012.







10. On or about October 2, 2014 PLAINTIFF Paul R Dulberg began calling the office of Randy Baudin Sr. multiple 
times, but nobody called back until December of 2014.


11. On or about September 22, 2015 Plaintiff Paul R Dulberg along with his mother Barbara Dulberg and brother Tom 
Kost went to meet with Randy Baudin Sr., and Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin at 
the office of Randal Baundin Sr. to discuss possible representation.


12. Upon entering the office of Randy Baudin Sr. Dulberg on September 22, 2015 Plaintiff met with a receptionist who 
called herself Myrna and she introduced Dulberg to Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. 
Baudin, attorneys of the firm.


13. When Barbara Dulberg inquired about Randy Baudin Sr, she was told that he was not available, not real active these 
days but doing okay.


14. A meeting took place on September 22, 2015 between Plaintiff Dulberg, Barbara Dulberg, Tom Kost and 
Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N.
Baudin.


15. On September 22, 2015 Plaintiff Dulberg entered into a fee agreement with Baudin & Baudin, an association of 
attorneys which at the time was located at 2100 Huntington Dr., Suite C Algonquin IL. 60102 (Please see Plaintiffsâ€™ 
exhibit 1 attached).


16. At the time Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin belonged to Defendant KELRAN, 
INC A/K/A THE BAUDIN LAW GROUP, Ltd., located
at 304 McHenry Ave., Crystal Lake, Illinois 60014.


17. Plaintiff Dulberg informed Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin at their opening 
meeting that he intended/required that they were willing to take the case to trial.


18. Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin agreed to take the case to trial if necessary.


19. Plaintiff Dulberg hired Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin to represent him in 
prosecuting his claims in the pending case designated as 12 LA 178 and that the case was an asset of the Bankruptcy 
Estate Bk No.:14-83578.


20. Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin did not review or did not use the relevant fact 
that within 12 LA 178 there was an unanswered (and never answered) cross-claim that would have determined liability 
for the remaining defendant.


21. Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin did not review or did not use the relevant fact 
that within 12 LA 178 there was an unanswered (and never answered) Interrogatories that may have determined liability 
for the remaining defendant.


22. Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin did not inform Circuit Court Judge handling 12 
LA 178 that Plaintiff Paul Dulberg had filed for
bankruptcy protection in Bk No.:14-83578.


23. On July 15, 2016 Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin invited Dulberg and his 
mother, Barbara Dulberg, to meet at Jamison Charhouse.


24. On July 15, 2016 at 2:22 PM from (815) 814-2193 Defendant WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II sent a text message 
to Plaintiff Dulberg stating "Kelly and I would like speak with you and your mom Monday night at 630"







25. On July 15, 2016 at 2:27 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II 
and Kelly N. Baudin stating "Okay, Monday the 18th at 6:30 pm. Do we need to bring anything?"


26. On July 15, 2016 at 2:29 PM Defendant WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II sent a text message to Plaintiff Dulberg 
stating "Maybe the social security report if you have it? We will Jameson's Charhouse crystal lake at 630 in meeting 
room there."


27. On July 18, 2016 at 4:26 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II 
stating "Still on for tonight?"


28. On July 18, 2016 at 4:26 PM Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II sent a text message to Plaintiff Dulberg 
stating "Yes sir."


29.On July 18, 2016 Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and Kelly N. Baudin met with Dulberg and his 
mother, Barbara Dulberg, at the Jamison Charhouse. During this meeting, Randal and Kelly Baudin informed Dulberg 
about ADR and tried to convince Dulberg to say Yes to the ADR. Dulberg did not agree with the ADR. Randy asked 
Dulberg to think it over and Dulberg agreed to think it over and get back to him.


30. On July 18, 2016 at 8:54 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II 
stating "Would we be in a better position if the SSDI decision was already in and would that make a difference in the 
amount the arbitration judge would award?"


31. On July 18, 2016 at 10:12 PM Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II and sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating "So sorry came in garbled. Are you taking our recommendation as to the binding mediation?"


32. On July 18, 2016 10:13 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II 
"You will have an answer tomorrow"


33. On July 19, 2016 at 12:23 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN 
III stating "Sorry but I want to get this to you while its fresh Please answer this in the morning How are costs and 
attorney fees handled in binding arbitration? Do they come out of the award or are they in addition to the award like a 
trial?"


34. On July 19, 2016 at 3:57 AM Defendants WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II sent a text message to Plaintiff Dulberg 
stating "Both Handled the same as trail."


35. On July 19, 2016 at 7:02 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II 
stating "Does that mean your fees and costs are
awarded separate from the award or do they still come out of the 300k cap?"


36. On July 19, 2016 at 7:06 AM Defendant WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II sent a text message to Plaintiff Dulberg 
stating If at trial and win 300 max Costs not above that. Same as mediation. We can ask for judge to award costs in both. 
Up to judge to award. Also costs mean filing fee service fee. Not the costs like experts bills.


37. On July 19, 2016 at 7:54 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin II stating "We 
are thinking that if we can get Allstate to agree in advance and in writing to cover your % (fee) and all the costs 
including deposition fees, expert witness fees and medical above and beyond any award the arbiter sees fit then we 
would be willing to go forward. Let's just see if they are open to it"


38. On July 19, 2016 at 7:56 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff Dulberg stating "They 
won't. The judge will decide what the award is and that is the award. We again urge you to do the binding mediation."


39. On July 19, 2016 at 8:40 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin II stating "They 
are the ones pushing for arbitration correct? Why?"







40. On July 19, 2016 at 8:47 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin II stating "I 
have to run to the dr's appointment. I'd tell Kelly to ask that Allstate wait till possibly Thursday for their answer. It's not 
like it cost them anything"


41. On July 19, 2016 at 10:07 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff Dulberg stating "I 
told you they don't care if we arbitrate. We as your lawyers say that it is the best that you do the binding mediation. We 
are deciding this based on facts and odds as to give you the best outcome. It appears to me that you are still looking for 
some justification or rationalization to carry on as if it will make it better. It won't. This will give you the best possible 
outcome."


42. On July 19, 2016 at 1:46 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin II stating 
"Randy, Yes arbitration is appealing because it saves a few thousand dollars and maybe a few years but I don't like the 
idea of being blindly boxed in on their terms alone without any assurances as to your fees, medical expenses or even 
what we spent out of pocket in costs to get here. I want some assurances/concessions on their part prior to walking in or 
it's no deal. Going in blind with no assurances, I can't help but to feel like a cow being herded thinking its dinner time 
but it's really slaughter time. They need to give somewhere prior to arbitration or it's a good indication as to how they 
will negotiate once we start. In other wards, if they
won't concede anything prior to arbitration then they won't negotiate or concede anything once the arbitration starts and 
if that's the case, what's the point. We need something to show they are sincere in trying to resolve this. Up the lower 
limits from 50k to 150k, concede on the medical portion, out of pocket expenses, attorneys fees or how about just 
resolving their portion and leave their chainsaw wielding idiot open to defend himself in this lawsuit. Perhaps they can 
give on something I haven't thought of yet, Anything will do but giving on nothing prior to walking in there spells out 
what I'm going to get and if that's the case then I'll spend money and roll the dice. Convince me I'm not going being lead 
to slaughter and I'll agree To do it"


43. On July 19, 2016 at 4:28 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff Dulberg stating "So 
sorry your texts come in out of order. Binding mediation or no."


44. On July 20, 2016 at 11:44 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff Dulberg stating "All 
right, Kelly called and we have Cole show Sean in the next hour or so. Kelly had promised her we were calling 
yesterday, they have to know what's going on and make arrangements regarding additional counsel. Again, as your 
attorneys we are strongly urging you to participate in the binding mediation. It is your best opportunity for the greatest 
possible recovery and the guarantee that you would at least walk away with something if you got 0. Again, this gives us 
the most control of the
situation."


45. On July 20, 2016 at 1:04 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff Dulberg stating "Yes 
binding mediation?"


46.On July 20, 2016 at 1:24 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant Randall Baudin II stating "Randy, I 
truly appreciate yours and Kelly's honest advice and I hope I continue to receive it in the future. Please don't take this 
personal because it's not. I value everything you have to offer more than you know. I will be moving forward with 
litigation at this time. However, should Allstate consider a full settlement with no strings attached in the future so they 
can save the cost of litigation or a humiliating defeat I'm not opposed to entertaining it and most likely will accept it. 
This is too
important to me and my family. I just cannot give up the protections of a public trial with the possibility of review 
should something be handled wrongly in the hopes of saving a few thousand dollars and time. Thank you both for your 
honest advice now let's move forward together and enjoy winning this case together."


47. On August 16, 2016 at 7:42 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin II stating 
"Randy, I have to ask again, why is it wise to agree to mediate before permanent disability is determined by social 
security since the permanent disability rating would be a large factor in determining what the insurance adjuster is 
willing to give? Both mom and myself need a real answer to this question"







48. On September 27, 2016, W. Randall Baudin II signed an affidavit "AFFIDAVIT OF W.RANDALL BAUDIN, II 
PURSUANT TO RULES 2014(a), 2016(b) and 5002 TO
EMPLOYEE BAUDIN LAW GROUP, LTD. AS SPECIAL COUNSEL FOR THE TRUSTEE".


Section 1 states:
"I am a member of the law firm of Boudin Law Group, Ltd. located at 304 South McHenry Avenue, Crystal Lake, IL 
60014 and in that capacity I have personal
knowledge of, and authority to speak on behalf of the firm of Baudin Law Group, Ltd. with respect to the matters set 
forth herein. This Affidavit is offered in support of the Application of the Trustee for Authorization to Employ Baudin 
Law Group, Ltd. as special counsel for the Trustee. The matters set forth herein are true and correct to the best of my 
knowledge, information and belief.


Section 5 of the affidavit states:
"To the best of my knowledge, information and belief, Baudin Law Group, Ltd. does not hold or represent a party that 
holds an interest adverse to the Trustee nor does it have any connection with the Debtor's creditors, or any party in 
interest or their respective attorneys and accountants with respect to the matters for which Baudin Law Group, Ltd. is to 
be employed, is disinterested as that term is used in 11 U.S.C. Â§ 101(14) and has no connections with the United States 
Trustee or any person employed in the Trustee's office, except that said firm has represented the Debtor's pre-petition 
with respect to the
subject personal injury claim."


Section 6, part A states:
"My firm and I are obligated to keep the Trustee fully informed as to all aspects of this matter, as the Bankruptcy estate 
is my client until such time as the claim in question is abandoned by the Trustee, as shown by a written notice of such 
abandonment."


Section 6, part D states:
"No settlements may be entered into or become binding without the approval of the Bankruptcy Court and the Trustee, 
after notice to the Trustee, creditors and parties of interest."


Section 6, part E states:
"All issues as to attorneys fees, Debtor's exemptions, the distribution of any recovery between the Debtor and the 
Trustee or creditors, or any other issue which may come to be in dispute between the Debtor and the Trustee or creditors 
are subject to the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court. Neither I nor any other attorney or associate of the Firm will 
undertake to advise or represent the Debtor as to any such matters or issues. Instead, the Firm will undertake to obtain 
the best possible result on the claim and will leave to others any advice or representation as to such issues."


Section 6, part F states:
"The Firm is not authorized to grant any "physician's lien" upon, offer to protect payment of any claim for medical or 
other services out of, or otherwise pledge or encumber in any way any part of any recovery without separate Order of 
this Court, which may or may not be granted."
(Please see Exhibit 2 and exhibit 3 attached).


49. On October 4, 2016 bankruptcy trustee Olsen filed 2 motions with the bankruptcy court. (Please see Exhibit 4 and 5 
attached)


50. On or about October 9, 2016 Plaintiff Paul R. Dulberg received a phone call from W. Randal Baudin II informing 
Dulberg that the binding mediation process will take place even though Dulberg does not approve of the process and 
refused to sign the arbitration agreement. W. Randal Baudin II informed Dulberg that the bankruptcy trustee and judge 
had the authority to order the process into a binding mediation agreement without Dulberg's consent.


51. On October 18, 2016 at 10:50 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin II stating 
"Hi Randy, since we haven't received the IME report in 10 days as the Dr stated we would, I'd like to move back the 







date of the mediation thingy I'm being forced into so we have more than only a few weeks to deal with whatever the 
report may show. At least 2-3 months should do it considering the defense has already had the treating Dr's reports and 
depositions for months and years already. Let me know"


52. On October 31, 2016 Trustee Olsen appeared before the Honorable Thomas M. Lynch in the Northern District of 
Illinois, Western Division, US Bankruptcy Court and the following occurred:


MR. OLSEN: Good morning, Your Honor. Joseph Olsen, trustee. This comes before the Court on two motions. One is 
to authorize the engagement of special counsel to pursue a personal injury litigation, I think it's in Lake County, 
involving a chainsaw accident of some sort. And then, presumably, if the Court grants that, the second one is to 
authorize the estate to enter into -- I'm not sure what you call it, but binding mediation. But there's a floor of $50,000, 
and there's a ceiling of $300,000 And I guess I've talked with his attorney. He seems very enthusiastic about it. There 
may be some issues about the debtor being a good witness or not, I guess. It had to do with a neighbor who asked him to 
help him out with a chainsaw, and then I guess the
neighbor kind of cut off his arm, or almost cut off his arm right after that. There's some bitterness involved, 
understandably, I guess. But I don't do personal injury work at all, so I'm not sure how that all flows through to a jury, 
but he didn't seem to want to go through a jury process. He liked this process, so...


THE COURT: Very well. Mr. Olsen, first of all, with regard to the application to employ the Baudin law firm, it 
certainly appears to be in order and supported by affidavit. Their proposed fees are more consistent with at least what 
generally is the market than some of the fees you and I have seen in some other matters. One question for you: Have 
you seen the actual engagement agreement?


MR. OLSEN: I thought it was attached to my motion.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. OLSEN: If it's not, it should have been. It's kind of an interesting -- actually, this is kind of a unique one. The 
debtor actually paid them money in advance, and then he's going to get a credit if they actually win, which I guess 
enures, now, to my benefit, but that's okay. And there's a proviso for one-third, except if we go to trial, then it's 40 
percent. So these are getting more creative by the PI bar as we plod along here, I guess, but...


THE COURT: It's a bar that's generally pretty creative. And my apologies. I saw the affidavit, but you did have the 
agreement attached, and one was in front of the other. And the agreement is just as you describe it. It appears to be 
reasonable, and so I'll approve the application. Tell me about this binding mediation. It's almost an oxymoron, isn't it?


MR. OLSEN: Well, I guess the mediators don't know there's a floor and a ceiling. I'm not sure where that comes from, 
but that's -- yeah. And whatever number they come back at is the number we're able to settle at, except if it's a not guilty 
or a zero recovery, we get 50,000, but to come back at 3 million, we're capped at 300,000.


THE COURT: Interesting.


MR. OLSEN: A copy of the mediation agreement should also be attached to that motion.


THE COURT: And I do see that. That appears to be in order. It's one of those you wish them luck


MR. OLSEN: I don't want to micromanage his case.


THE COURT: But that, too, sounds reasonable. There's been no objection?


MR. OLSEN: Correct.


THE COURT: Very well. I will approve -- authorize, if you will, for you to enter into the binding mediation agreement, 
see where it takes you.







MR. OLSEN: Thanks, Your Honor." (Please see Group Exhibit 6A and B attached)


53. On October 31, 2016 both orders were issued by bankruptcy judge. (Please see Exhibit 7 and Exhibit 8 attached)


54. On October 31, 2016 at 10:41AM trustee Olsen sent an email to Randall Baudin II stating: "Randy- The Court 
authorized your appointment this morning, as well as entry into that "Binding Mediation Agreement"; Do you want the 
debtor to /s/ the form, or me as trustee? Let me know, thanks." (Please see Exhibit 9 p2 attached)


55. On October 31, 2016 at 10:50AM Randall Baudin II sent an email to Trustee Olsen stating: "You can good ahead 
sign it." (Please see Exhibit 9 P3 attached)


56. On or about November15, 2016 W. Randal Baudin II told Dulberg that even though he does not want the binding 
mediation to take place, he should attend the hearing anyway because the judge will look down on a person that doesn't 
attend as if they are uninterested in their own case.


57. On December 8, 2016, Dulberg attended the binding mediation with his mother, Barbara Dulberg, even though he 
did not agree to the process, did not want it to happen, and refused to sign any agreement or consent to the process.


58. Dulberg believed at the time that the bankruptcy judge was the person who ordered the case into binding mediation 
at the request of the Trustee and Dulberg believed the bankruptcy judge had the legal authority to make that decision 
without anyone else's consent. Dulberg believed this because W. Randall Baudin II told him it was true.


59. Towards the end of the Binding Mediation, the Mediator was informing Dulberg that he was finding in Dulberg's 
favor but wasn't going to make the award so high that a neighborhood war would break out and Dulberg would have to 
wait to find out the award amount.


60. At that point some yelling started outside the room, to Dulberg and Barbara Dulberg it sounded like Kelly Baudin 
and Shoshan Reddington, Esq. (Allstate Defense Attorney).


61. Dulberg continued to talk with the Mediator and W. Randall Baudin II quickly excused himself to deal with the 
yelling.


62. Upon return, W. Randall Baudin II told Barbara Dulberg that Shoshan was angry because she was informed they 
had a deal with prior counsel and the case would be settled for $50,000.


63. When W. Randall Baudin II sat down, Dulberg moved Dr. Bobby L. Lanford's report in front of W. Randall Baudin 
II and pointed to the statement "... the McGuires â€“ were also somewhat responsible ...". Dulberg asked, Is that true? 
W. Randall Baudin II looked and replied, That's what it says. Dulberg replied, Mast ******** lied.


64. On December 12, 2016 The ADR Mediator The Honorable James P. Etchingham, (Ret) issued a Binding Mediation 
Gross Award of $660,000.00. (Please see Exhibit 10 attached)


65. On December 12, 2016 W. Randall Baudin II called Dulberg to inform Dulberg of the award.


66. W. Randall Baudin II spoke of the $561,000 net award informing Dulberg that both he and Kelly thought they did 
good and unfortunately the cap of $300,000 was in place but we think we did good.


67. Dulberg replied, Yeah you two did good, real good and I thank both of you sincerely. I just can't help it, what I see 
here is a gift of $261,000 given to those responsible for my injuries.


68. Dulberg was informed that the trustee would receive the $300,000 award, but the money would not be issued unless 
Dulberg signed a document, which Dulberg signed in order to have the money issued to the bankruptcy trustee to pay 
his creditors











GAGNON AND MCGUIRES


On or about June 28, 2011, Dulberg assisted Caroline McGuire (“Caroline”), William McGuire 
(“William”) (Caroline and William collectively referred to herein as “the McGuires”), and David 
Gagnon (“Gagnon”) in trimming long branches of a pine tree on the McGuires” property.


Caroline McGuire and William McGuire are a married couple, who own real property in McHenry, 
McHenry County, Illinois (“the Property”).


David Gagon is Caroline’s son and William’s stepson.


Paul Dulberg ("Dulberg") lives in the next neighborhood over from the McGuire family.


Dulberg was invited to the McGuire’s property to see if he wanted any of the wood from the tree.


On June 28, 2011, at the Property, Gagnon was operating a chainsaw to remove branches from a 
tree and cut it down on the Property.


The McGuire’s purchased and owned the chainsaw that was being utilized to trim, remove 
branches and cut down the tree.


William physically assisted with removing the cut branches from the work area while supervising 
Gagnon’s actions.


Caroline physically assisted by retrieving and providing any and all tools requested by William 
McGuire and David Gagnon while supervising Gagnon’s and William’s actions.


Gagnon was acting on behalf of the McGuires’ under their supervision and at the McGuires’ 
direction.


Caroline, William, and Gagnon all knew, or show have known that a chainsaw was dangerous and 
to take appropriate precautions when utilizing the chain saw.


The safety information was readily available to Caroline and William as the safety instructions are 
included with the purchase of the chainsaw.


The safety information indicated that the failure to take appropriate caution and safety measures 
could result in serious injury.


The safety information indicated that the likelihood of injury when not properly utilizing the 
chainsaw or not following the safety precautions is very high.


The safety instructions outlined are easy to follow and do not place a large burden on the operator 
of the chainsaw or the owner of the property.


Caroline McGuire, William McGuire, and David Gagnon had notice of the potentially dangerous 
conditions by acquiring a chain saw that was provided with attached warnings and safety 







information implying that a reasonable person should exercise appropriate caution and follow the 
safety instructions for the chainsaw.


Caroline, William, and Gagnon failed to act as reasonable persons by either not exercising 
appropriate care, failing to follow the safety instructions, or failing to instruct Gagnon to exercise 
appropriate care and/or follow the safety instructions.


Caroline and William, owners of the property and the chainsaw, instructed Gagnon to use the chain 
saw despite Gagnon not being trained in operating the chainsaw.


Caroline and William failed to instruct and require that Gagnon utilize the chainsaw only in 
compliance with the safety measures outlined in the owner’s manual.


Gagnon failed to utilize the chainsaw in compliance with the safety measures outlined in the 
owner’s manual.


Caroline and Gagnon asked Dulberg to assist.


Caroline, William and Gagnon failed to provide Dulberg with any of the safety information outlined 
in the owner’s manual.


Caroline and William McGuire failed to provide Gagnon or Dulberg with any of the protective 
equipment necessary for the type of work to be performed as written within the safety measures 
outlined in the owner’s manual.


Gagnon operated the chainsaw in close proximity to Dulberg and it struck Dulberg in the right 
arm, Dulberg’s dominant arm, cutting him severely requiring medical attention to save Dulberg’s 
life.


Dulberg incurred substantial and catastrophic injuries, including, but not limited to, pain and 
suffering, loss of use of his right arm which resulted in a finding of permanent disability by Social 
Security Administration on April 20, 2017 (Please see Exhibit A attached); current and future 
medical expenses in amount in excess of $260,000.00; Dulberg’s lifelong career in photography, 
graphic design, and commercial printing; lost wages in excess of one million dollars; and other 
damages.


POPOVICH AND MAST


On or about December 1, 2011 Dulberg hired Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually 
to represent him in prosecuting his claims against Gagnon and the McGuires.


Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually entered into an attorney client relationship 
with Dulberg. exhibit (Use contract for legal services)


Based upon the attorney client relationship, Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually 
owed professional duties to Dulberg, including a duty of care.







On February 1, 2013, The McGuires filed a counterclaim against Gagnon. exhibit (CROSS-CLAIM 
FOR CONTRIBUTION AGAINTS CO-DEFENDANT DAVID GAGNON File stamped 2/1/2013)


The cross-claim accused Gagnon of the following negligent acts and/or omissions:
a. Caused or permitted a chainsaw to make contact with Plaintiffs right arm;
b. Failed to operate said chainsaw in a safe and reasonable manner so as to avoid injuring 
Plaintiff's right arm;
c. Failed to maintain a reasonable and safe distance between the chainsaw he was operating and 
Plaintiff's right arm;
d. Failed to properly instruct Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating chainsaw;
e. Failed to properly warn Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating
chainsaw;
f. Failed to maintain the chainsaw in the idle or off position when he knew or should have known 
that Plaintiff was close enough to sustain injury from direct contact with the subject chainsaw;
g. Failed to maintain a proper lookout for Plaintiff while operating the subject chainsaw;
h. Failed to maintain proper control over an operating chainsaw;
i. Was otherwise negligent in the operation and control of the subject
chainsaw.


David Gagnon has never filed an answer to this counterclaim by the McGuires.


Popovich hid and altered key documents that supported the version of events of the day of the 
chainsaw accident told by Dulberg and contradicted the version of events told by Gagnon, Carolyn 
McGuire, and Bill McGuire from Dulberg, the opposing counsel, and Dulberg's future attorneys, 
including the Baudins.


Popovich and Mast coerced Dulberg into settling with the McGuires for $5,000 in January, 2014.   
legal malpractice case Dulberg v Hans Mast, Thomas Popovich, and the Law Office of Thomas J. 
Popovich (12LA178) in McHenry County, .


Dulberg filed for bankruptcy in November, 2014.


Hans Mast and Thomas Popovich repeatedly tried to get Dulberg to settle with Gagnon for $50,000 
or less.


Dulberg eventually fired Popovich and Mast in March, 2015, just after canceling a preconference 
settlement hearing that Mast scheduled in which Mast was proposing on Dulberg's behalf to drop 
the case against Gagnon for $50,000, telling Dulberg in an email, "the insurance limit is $100,000 
and no insurance company will pay even close to that".


BULKE


On March 19, 2015 Dulberg retained Attorney Brad Bulke, who claimed he was willing to take the 
case against Gagnon to trial.


As Dulberg's attorney, Brad Bulke asked the judge for a settlement conference and urged Dulberg 
to settle with Gagnon for $50,000.  exhibit.







Bulke told Dulberg that if he does not agree with a settlement of $50,000, Bulke cannot continue 
to be his attorney.


Dulberg refused to participate in a pre-trial settlement conference and fired Bulke in June, 2015. 
exhibit.


On June 12, 2015 Dulberg sent an email to Bulke stating:  "Hi Brad,
Please expect a call from Randall Baudin's office.
Please share whatever it is they need concerning this case."


Dulberg clearly informed W. Randall Baudin Jr and Kelly Baudin at their opening meeting that he 
intended to take the case to trial and after what happened with Popovich, Mast and Bulke, he did 
not want an attorney who was not willing to take the case against Gagnon to a jury trial.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin agreed to take the case to trial if necessary.


At their first meeting Dulberg gave W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin 2 different packets of case 
files, one in a box from Bulke and the other from the Popovich Law Firm in a brown jacket folder.  
W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin did not want the box of files from Bulke and took only the 
organized brown jacket folder.


On September, 22, 2015 Dulberg hired Baudin & Baudin, W. Randal (Randy) Baudin II and Kelly 
Baudin to represent him in prosecuting his claims against Gagnon. exhibit - fee agreement


W. Randal Baudin II, Kelly Baudin, and Baudin & Baudin entered into an attorney client relationship 
with Dulberg.


Based upon the attorney client relationship, W. Randal (Randy) Baudin II, and Kelly Baudin, and 
Baudin & Baudin owed professional duties to Dulberg, including a duty of care.


Popovich hid key documents that supported the version of events of the day of the chainsaw 
accident told by Dulberg and contradicted the version of events told by Gagnon, Carolyn McGuire, 
and Bill McGuire from Dulberg, the opposing counsel, and Dulberg's future attorneys, including the 
Baudins.


A $7,500 offer made by Popovich and Mast on October 22, 2013 in Dulberg's name to settle the 
case with the McGuires was not included in the brown jacket folder (or the box of files) because 
Popovich and Mast did not include it.  


A pharmacy receipt with the time of presciption pick up given to Mast by Dulberg at their first 
meeting on December 1, 2011, which was a key piece of evidence corroborating Dulbergs version 
of events on the day of the chainsaw accident and directly contradicting the version of events told 
by Gagnon, Carolyn McGuire and Bill McGuire, was also not included in the brown jacket folder (or 
the box of files) because Popovich and Mast did not include it.


Upon reviewing Dulberg's case against Gagnon, W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or 
should have known that on February 1, 2013 a counterclaim was filed against Gagnon by the 
McGuires on February 1, 2013.







W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that Gagnon has never filed an 
answer to the McGuires's counterclaim.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that because Gagnon did not 
answer the counterclaim filed on February 1, 2013, Gagnon was effectively admitting the facts 
stated in the counterclaim were true.  The Baudins never told this to Dulberg.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that documents such as "Gagnon 
deposition exhibit 1" were highly questionable and showed evidence of being manipulated.  The 
Baudins never told this to Dulberg.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin knew or should have known that Gagnon never filed answers 
to the interrogatories sent by Popovich and Mast.  The Baudins never told this to Dulberg.


W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin never asked Gagnon's counsel for the answers to 
interrogatories.  The Baudins never informed the judge that they never received Gagnons answers 
to interrogatories.


[EVERYTHING ABOVE WAS REMOVED. THE BODY OF THE FILED COMPLAINT STARTS FROM AROUND 
SEPTEMBER, 2015. ALL SECTIONS BELOW WERE ALSO REMOVED.]


On July 18, 2016 at 8:56 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "No we have the dr reports. You can tell the judge about it in mediation as well. 
More informal and you can get more info in without being restricted by rules of evidence. And I 
can't promise in a trial they won't bring the felony drug charges up. Believe me the binding 
mediation is the best route.  We are in the best spot now with the momentum on our side and 
being able to present your case in mediation without any new testimony from defendant"


On July 18, 2016 at 9:00 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "We are in the best spot now with the momentum on our side and being able to 
present your case in mediation without any new testimony from defendant"


On July 18, 2016 at 10:09 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If we went to trial I'm not worried about those drug charges. I've had to explain myself 
about that for decades. It's pretty simple, I screwed up at a young age, was honest about it, 
admitted my wrong and took my punishment. Then I moved on with life, worked hard for 17 years 
for many employers in this county who all have nothing but good things to say about my time with 
them while at the same time I created a legitimate business that lasted 12 years till this incident. I 
believe my past felony will be a non issue because it actually shows a lot about my character, being 
honest when I'm in the wrong is something most people won't do even if being honest cost me a 
few years. If Allstate does bring it up, their own client did the same thing only worse, he and his 
whole family was caught dealing drugs only to underage kids and he was the ringleader. They were 
just lucky that when they got caught it was before mandatory sentences for those offenses were in 
place. but it doesn't change what they did, exploiting underage children with drugs for money is 
far worse than my simple possession charge. I have the actual police reports if we need them. If 
this does go to trial, Allstate lawyers had better read the depositions of their client and his family. 







if they do I don't believe their going to put their client or anyone from his family on the stand just 
to purger themselves over and over again in front of a jury unless the want to lose. All they have is 
possibly some dr who isn't impartial questioning the results of the dr's I was sent to see. In the end 
after the Dr's have it out on the stand all that remains is me who nearly died, had 40% of my arm 
severed and the edges turned to hamburger by a chainsaw then just stitched back together with a 
few threads with hope that I might get some use yet. Well I do have limited use but it's not enough 
to do the daily functions we all need to do in order to take care of ourselves and it doesn't take a 
Ph.D. to see or understand that a chainsaw does that. Ok, I realize I just ranted a lot but its all 
good. I'll let you know in the morning"


On July 19, 2016 at 8:10 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I just read the statute on arbitration and it seems to me that your fees and all the costs 
can be agreed to in advance with the exception of fees for the arbitration itself. I need to feel that 
there is something covered. Particularly the monies we already laid out otherwise just the 
momentum in our favor isn't enough because the momentum has always been in our favor. It 
doesn't hurt to ask Allstate if they would agree to pay these separate from the award"


On July 19, 2016 at 8:18 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "In essence Allstate is already setting terms on us not to go after their clients personal 
assets. Irregardless if their are any assets. So I think it's only fair that they cover fees and costs in 
advance"


On July 20, 2016 at 8:43 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Ok, I have to ask about rules of evidence in a trial vs. arbitration I know that you said it 
gives me the personal ability to talk with the arbiter about things that would not be allowed at a 
trial. My question is, is that a two way street, can the defense pull crap that would never be allowed 
at trial?"


On July 20, 2016 at 10:00 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "They have no ammo. We have dr opinion unscathed and tree expert unscathed 
bad guy won't be there you will. So we have advantage"


On July 20, 2016 at 10:21 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Will there be some sort of gag order on me? In other wards does this stop me 
from talking about it in the future?"


On July 20, 2016 at 10:56 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Yes, no?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:03 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I doubt there will be any type of confidentiality clause as a part of the 
settlement"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:05 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Can depositions be used?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:06 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:07 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Can phone, text, emails,videos or audio recordings be used?"







On July 20, 2016 at 11:09 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "There aren't any restrictions on what we say or do with the judge when we are 
with him in private. He will give it as much weight or credibility as he sees fit, but we can do or say 
whatever we want to him when we meet. Unlike a trial"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:11 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Can video or phone calls be used by us or the defense to reach outside the 
proceeding to clarify or substantiate any claims made by us or them" 


On July 20, 2016 at 11:20 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Correction; can video or phone calls be made during the proceedings that can 
Clarify, substantiate or rebuke any claims made? You know what I mean Like you want to call 
somebody during the preceding"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:22 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "will be of greatest importance is the nature extent and permanence of your 
injury"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:23 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "And just so you understand, as far as the judges concerned I feel that he is 
going to attribute very little if any negligence to you the matter that he"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:25 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "From my understanding, they can have an army of professional witnesses ready 
at the touch of a button ready to tell the judge anything they wish? Is this a possibility?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:31 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "If we go to trial they sure will. They have no IME they have no rebut to tree 
expert. Again we are in the best position now to get the maximum recovery"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:34 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Yes but they can call anyone or produce in writing anything they wish with no 
restrictions at the arbitration correct"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:41 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "They could. But we will be there to refute anything. Again, the actual person, 
you. Not a document."


On July 20, 2016 at 11:45 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "So they can bring the defendants in via phone, video, text etc... Even if they are 
not in the physical location nor listed as anyone attending?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:47 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Show Sean will be there in an adjuster will be there either by telephone or in 
person. She will present a submission to the judge laying out there view of the case. Then she will 
speak their behalf and argue from the depositions that have already been presented. There's not 
going to be any testimony given"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:47 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Also, if they're in a separate room and we are not privy to anyon their 







conversation how can we refute what's going on?"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:47 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "during this proceeding. We can talk to him in private but there's no questioning 
no answers no cross-exam. You're really overthinking this. Just stop and listen to your lawyers' 
advice that's why you hire us."


On July 20, 2016 at 11:48 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "The judge will tell us what their arguments are and he will tell them what our 
arguments are. Did we tell the judge why we think that's not true, and conversely they do the 
same"


On July 20, 2016 at 11:51 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm going into a meeting. I will have about five minutes coming up in an hour, 
during that time I have to have an answer. I ask that you believe in us and what we've done for you 
so far, we haven't misled or put you down the wrong path, just have faith."


On July 20, 2016 at 1:49 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Was that response garbled broken up text or did it go through ok?"


On July 20, 2016 at 3:59 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "You available to talk with your mother as well on the phone in a half hour or so"


On July 20, 2016 at 3:59 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Tomorrow morning, 9am, judge Meyers?"


On July 20, 2016 at 4:00 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Yes but on the phone in a half hour"


On July 20, 2016 at 4:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Yes on the phone in a half hour is ok but mom is off with grandkids"


On July 21, 2016 at 12:41 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Think you two can get me that copy of the policy soon?"


On July 21, 2016 at 6:28 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Randy, please read page 1 coverage cushion of the gagnon policy. It extends coverage 
to 120% That's 60k more"


On July 21, 2016 at 6:37 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Page 2 guest medical may be an extra 1k"


On July 21, 2016 at 7:00 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Please let Kelly know that I want the high end of the Adr policy limit increased by 20% 
along with adding 20% to and judgement below the high end limit"


On July 21, 2016 at 7:09 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Oh yeah, your thoughts of him being dropped is a joke. His Gold coverage says he 
cannot be dropped no matter how many claims are made. Just thought you'd like to know that. You 







really should read the policy"


On July 27, 2016 at 11:14 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Just so you know, just received a letter from the Social Security Administration 
and its a Notice of Affirmation and order of Appeals Council Remanding Case back to the 
Administrative Law Judge"


On July 27, 2016 at 11:14 AM
Great


On July 27, 2016 at 11:21 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Thank goodness that I kept the right to review by an appeal"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:17 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Morning Randy, If there was some sort of business contract between Gagnon and his 
Parents why couldn't any of them even come close as to what the terms were? Secondly, where are 
the cashed checks or contract? I was there the day this happened. I didn't hear anything that 
sounded like it was more than a son doing work for his parents as a favor. Nothing more. This 
seems to me to be yet anything that sounded like it was more than a son doing work for his 
parents as a favor. Nothing more. This seems to me to be yet another ploy to negate their financial 
responsibility and was conceived of after the fact."


On July 28, 2016 at 6:24 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If I remember correctly, David said in his dep that he was elected to do the work. Why 
say elected if he was contracted?"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:47 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Sorry, I'm driving and it looks garbled again. But it says if there's an agreement 
or contract so I'm guessing, if he knows what is not going to give you coverage, he will testify that 
way. But he has already testified that he was receiving $15 an hour, and that you were going to get 
the same. What you get is a relevant or what you got, and I know you didn't get paid. It's also 
irrelevant whether or not he actually got paid, especially in light of how it turned out, I guess it's 
just whether or not there was an agreement and it didn't have to be in writing. If at trial, they all 
say that there was some agreement or in an action to exclude coverage before trial, i'm guessing 
they're all going to be on the same page. The issue as to whether or not there is coverage, is 
different from the trial. That's a trial before the trial and that is something that we would have to 
win."


On July 28, 2016 at 6:53 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Since they didn't think enough ahead of the dep to get their storylines straight as to the 
payment/terms for this supposed agreement I believe that is enough to show there was no 
agreement and this is just another fabrication. Not unlike the other fabrications created 
throughout their deps. It is an obvious pattern. Expose it and their done even in front of a 
conservative jury or a trained judge acting as an bait or or mediator"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:54 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Bait means arbiter"


On July 28, 2016 at 6:56 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "This issue will not come to fruition and biding mediation. The Allstate in-house lawyers 
have not put two and two together"







On July 28, 2016 at 6:57 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "They have to prove this claim and they can't."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:00 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Am I allowed to make erroneous claims without proof? If not, why would their 
erroneous claims without proof be allowed?"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:02 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "It would be something called dec action which would be brought by ALLSTATE. 
Yes evidence would be presented but there aren't any guarantees regarding what the judge would 
decide"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:06 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I'm sure any experienced judge would see this for what it is. A fraudulent attempt to 
negate any and all financial responsibility for the wreck less actions committed that day. They have 
no proof other than the words of those who already lied under oath"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:06 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Dozens of times"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:11 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm sure a rational experience judge would think so, but those are few and far 
between. That's why the law books are full of appeals. The legal system is not fair, and not 
rational. Otherwise things could just be input into a computer and the answer would spit out."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:13 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If someone hits you with their car does it matter if they were being paid to drive that 
car? If not how is this any different?"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:14 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Actually that does, a lot of car policies exclude paid for hire. Also, every type of 
policy affords different types of coverage and has different exclusions so homeowners policies are 
different than car policies"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:18 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I have a question that's related but different. Why were the defendants privy to my 
deposition prior to giving their own? Carol slipped in her dep and said things she couldn't have 
known unless someone coached her and gave her inside information about my deposition. If this 
happened, and clearly it is, what's to say they weren't coached to claim this was a contract just so 
he insurance company had an out?"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:20 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm not sure who would've coached them because if this was an issue that 
ALLSTATE realized it would've been dealt with a long time ago"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:21 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "When it smells foul, it's foul"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:23 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Defendants certainly are foul."







On July 28, 2016 at 7:23 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Look, they claim it's a contract but when asked the details non of the parties 
supposedly involved with the contract can get any of the details even remotely the same. Like I 
said this is a ploy and nothing more"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:25 AM Yeah I'm not sure I don't know. Could be dabbing if they have a 
canceled check or something from previous work to say hey look we've paid him for doing stuff 
around the house before. But even if not you would have testimony that they had an agreement. 
Whether or not it's true is another story


On July 28, 2016 at 7:26 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Ploy means rouse"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:28 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If they had a check it should have been entered into evidence by now. Since they don't 
too bad for them."


On July 28, 2016 at 7:29 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "That would be a separate action. Nobody has even raised the issue of payment 
whether he's liable or not is"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:29 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "One issue. Whether or not there is coverage is a separate completely separate 
action that would be between ALLSTATE and him"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:30 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Since when is it ok to entertain unsubstantiated claims this far along with no evidence 
any of it it remotely true"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:42 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I just had to go back to carols dep. she claimed she gave money to David so he had 
something to claim on his taxes, not for the work being performed. David claims an hourly wage 
and the father, Bill claimed Carol gave him a pair ago pants. Probably a gift as a thank you. None 
of these things are even close to being the same but all are suggestive and not proof of anything 
because their so vastly different"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:53 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I am more curious who Carol hired to remove the tree and would be more interested 
questioning that company they were hired prior to the day of the incident. This would go a long 
way to putting David's claim of a contract to rest"


On July 28, 2016 at 7:57 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "It's not even a contract it was just an agreement that doesn't have to be 
something formal written it's like hey I'll pay you some money to take the tree down. Headed into a 
meeting. I'll keep you up-to-date on any new information"


On July 28, 2016 at 8:25 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If Carol, as she claimed, had previously entered into a contract with a real professional 
tree removal company why would she also agree to pay her son to remove the same tree? Unless, 
this is some sort of afterthought in an attempt to find ways of not paying for the damage they 







caused. They cannot play both sides of the street at the same time. They lied about this just as 
they lied about other things that happened that day all attempts to lessen the amount of damage 
done to me and lessen their responsibilities and misdirect blame and responsibility"


On July 28, 2016 at 8:26 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "The patterns are obvious and easily proven to be lies"


On July 28, 2016 at 9:37 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "From Carol knowing what I said in my Deposition, claiming the hospital and doctors 
gave her my personal medical information to the claims that she entered into some sort of verbal 
agreement with her son for business purposes sounds more like insurance company lawyers 
entering into an verbal agreement with their clients to skew the truth so they have some sort of 
out in exchange for representation in court."


On July 28, 2016 at 9:40 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "If that's the case almost any claim made against an insurance policy can be thrown out 
based on verbal agreements with no proof to back up the story or lies being told"


On July 28, 2016 at 9:42 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "I see this a a malicious attempt to get away with little or or no consequences and just 
makes me want to expose all of this to a jury even more"


On July 29, 2016 at 9:17 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall Baudin 
II stating:  "Any chance Myrna can send me that asset report today? Also, there may be another 
asset that won't show up on his report. Rumor has it that David Gagnon had an auto accident and 
had to undergo some sort of surgery on his back and is in the process of suing for his injury."


On August 2, 2016 at 3:47 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "What is a bad faith letter?"


On August 2, 2016 at 5:30 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Has one been sent to the Allstate adjusters?"


On August 8, 2016 at 8:29 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "What is happening this Wednesday in court now that Allstate is getting their 
independent medical exam in September or October?"


On August 12, 2016 at 9:22 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Morning Randy, Ok, it's driving me bananas over here, I'd like to know exactly 
what it is about the medical that's the issue in my case? Please call me with the details soon and 
let's discuss what's best. Thanks, Paul"


On September 6, 2016, Megan G. Heeg filed a "MOTION TO APPROVE ATTORNEYS FEES AND COSTS 
AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIM"


"2.  Previously, Megan G. Heed, had been the Chapter 7 case Trustee of the above-referenced case, 
but this case was recently assigned to a new trustee."


"3.  The employment of the law firm Ehrmann Gehlbach Badger Lee & Considine, LLC was approved 
by the Court on May 27, 2015."







"8.  The time period covered by this application is from November 26, 2014 through September 
28, 2016."


On October ##, 2016 W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin informed Dulberg that the binding 
mediation process will take place even though Dulberg does not approve of the process and 
refused to sign the arbitration agreement.  W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin informed Dulberg 
that the bankruptcy judge had the authority to order the process into a mediation agreement 
without Dulberg's consent, and the judge had already ordered the case into mediation.


On October 4, 2016 Dr Craig Phillips issues report.  He wrote:  "He states he is not sure of the 
exact date, but on the date in question he was holding a tree branch at his neighbor's house to 
help David, his neighbor's son, cut the tree branch with a chainsaw. He stated he was holding a 
pine tree
branch, which was a few inches thick, s!ill_attachedto the tree.and while David was cutting the 
branch", be inadvertently cut Mr. Dulberg's right forearm."


On page 6 Dr Craig Phillips writes: 


"Dr. Talerico:
According to the medical records from MidAmerica Hand to Shoulder, Mr. Dulberg was seen by Dr. 
Talerico on December 2, 2011. His history is a 41-year-old male, right hand dominant, referred by 
Dr. t11, Levin, MD, neurologist, for evaluation of an injury sustained to the right medial forearm in 
June 2011.
,;)~'-.1.- was u_sin9a chainsaw when he accidentally struck the volar medial aspect of his right 
forearm in roughly the mid forearm range with a chain saw. He had a large open wound down to 
muscle."


On October 21, 2016 at 1:47 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Hi Randy, looks like that board certified dr is quite the fabricator. He Should 
have a degree in creative writing rather than Dr.ing. Wish we had videotaped that because I'd post 
the video on the web right along side his report and let his patients see what he really is"


On October 21, 2016 at 1:54 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Myrna said your forwarding the report to dr Kujawa. That's good but I don't 
think we need it to prove Phillips an outright liar who can't pay attention to details. Hmmm... 
Makes me wonder who the hell passed him in med school"


On October 21, 2016 at 1:58 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Where did he come up with that line that the branch was still attached to the 
tree?"


On October 21, 2016 2:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "That's not from anyone's deposition and you were there so you know I gave 
absolutely no details other than to say that basically a man walked over and used a chainsaw on 
me."


On October 21, 2016 at 2:03 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 







Baudin II stating:  "He has quite the imagination claiming I said any of the crap in his report"


On October 21, 2016 at 2:05 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "I have to look up what board certified Phillips because they deserve to know 
what a liar this guy is."


On October 21, 2016 at 2:06 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Ok enough ranting for now. Let's get together and go over this report"


On October 21, 2016 at 2:08 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "While the memories are still fresh"


On October 21, 2016 at 2:15 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to W. Defendant Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Why write a history at all if it's all fabricated? Why say I told him stuff when I did 
not? Why Lie? This is about as unprofessional as it gets. Phillips should be made an example of. 
Sure you don't want the chance to cross examine this guy? I sure do"


When Paul Dulberg and Barbara Dulberg were sitting alone in a room waiting, Dulberg read a 
document left on the table.  The document was written by Lanford. (exhibit).


The document contained this comment:  "..."


W. Randall Baudin II informed Dulberg and Barbara Dulberg that the opposing attorney was angry 
because she was told the case would be settled for $50,000.


Dulberg mentions Malpractice against Popovich to Baudin (for the first time?)


W. Randall Baudin II responded, "...".


Dulberg was informed that the trustee would receive the $300,000 arbitration award, but the 
money would not be issued unless he signed a document, which he signed in order to have the 
money issued to the bankruptcy trustee to pay his creditors. (exhibit) 


(actual date probably December 21, 2016) at 11:14 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to 
Defendant W. Randall Baudin II stating:  "Myrna says I'm to meet you in McHenry, when and where?"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:16 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "I'm just heading to Panera to meet with a client on the route 31. You're welcome 
to come in anytime and I can tell the gentleman I have to run out to the car and have you sign 
something I can meet you too at your car so come at your leisure I should be here for at least A 
half hour"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:20 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Will be there in approx 15 min"


On December 21, 2016 at 11:39 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "You here?"







On December 21, 2016 at 11:41 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "Here"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Why would Allstate need a signed release when they agreed to let the arbitrator 
decide what is final and not this afterthought of an agreement?"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:02 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Or I mean release?"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:04 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "The arbitrator did not set these terms. Why are they modifying our original 
agreement"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:04 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg  stating:  "That's just typically what they do is have the release even though there's an 
award. I have a call into Gooch he's in depositions"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:06 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Ok, but don't send in that document till we get this worked out. As of now I'm 
withdrawing my signature till we have something that works."


On December 21, 2016 at 1:08 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "If I get the go ahead from Tom, we should be fine, is the one handling that case. 
I think it has no effect, but he's the one prosecuting the other case while wait to hear what he says"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:10 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Allstate has no business extending letting their client off to letting everyone off. 
What if I find out one of the surgeons left something inside me? This should just release the policy 
they represented at the ADR. Nothing more"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:12 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "It's boiler plate, fill in the blank language. They didn't write this specifically for 
you it's just what they use in all cases"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:14 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Anyone agreeing to their fill in the blank form after the ADR agreement is nuts. I 
expect them to fulfill their ADR agreement with or without this release"


On December 21, 2016 at 1:15 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "If they wanted this as part of the agreement it should have been done prior to 
the binding ADR mediation"


On December 22, 2016 at 7:17 AM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "Morning Randy, I'll be at your office to sign the release sometime between 9-10 
am. Wish you could just add the changes Thomas gooch suggested and save the trip but I'll show 
up just to put my initials on it."


On December 22, 2016 at 8:57 AM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg  stating:  "I will be stuck in court MyrnA has a release"







According to the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, Section 726 – Distribution of property of the estate


(quote)


(a) Except as provided in section 510 of this title, property of the estate shall be distributed—


(1) first, in payment of claims of the kind specified in, and in the order specified in, section 507 of 
this title, proof of which is timely filed under section 501 of this title or tardily filed on or before 
the earlier of—


(A) the date that is 10 days after the mailing to creditors of the summary of the trustee’s final 
report; or


(B) the date on which the trustee commences final distribution under this section;


(2) second, in payment of any allowed unsecured claim, other than a claim of a kind specified in 
paragraph (1), (3), or (4) of this subsection, proof of which is—


(A) timely filed under section 501(a) of this title;


(B) timely filed under section 501(b) or 501(c) of this title; or


(C) tardily filed under section 501(a) of this title, if—


(i) the creditor that holds such claim did not have notice or actual knowledge of the case in time 
for timely filing of a proof of such claim under section 501(a) of this title; and


(ii) proof of such claim is filed in time to permit payment of such claim;


(3) third, in payment of any allowed unsecured claim proof of which is tardily filed under section 
501(a) of this title, other than a claim of the kind specified in paragraph (2)(C) of this subsection;


(4) fourth, in payment of any allowed claim, whether secured or unsecured, for any fine, penalty, or 
forfeiture, or for multiple, exemplary, or punitive damages, arising before the earlier of the order 
for relief or the appointment of a trustee, to the extent that such fine, penalty, forfeiture, or 
damages are not compensation for actual pecuniary loss suffered by the holder of such claim;


(5) fifth, in payment of interest at the legal rate from the date of the filing of the petition, on any 
claim paid under paragraph (1), (2), (3), or (4) of this subsection; and


(6) sixth, to the debtor.


(end quote)


Dulberg, as the debtor, was a stakeholder in the bankruptcy estate.  If the first 5 types of claimants 
listed in section 726 are paid in full, Dulberg becomes the sole claimant to any remaining money 
and therefore the sole stakeholder in what remains of the bankruptcy estate.


Randall Baudin II and Kelly Baudin and The Baudin Law Group were retained by the trustee to 







represent the bankruptcy estate and Dulberg was the sole stakeholder of all funds in the estate 
once the first 5 types of claimants listed in section 726 have been paid in full.  Therefore Randall 
Baudin II, Kelly Baudin and The Baudin Law Group acting as legal counsel for the estate owed a 
duty of due care to Dulberg when acting in this capacity. 


On December ##, 2016 Dulberg hired legal malpractice attorney Thomas Gooch .   exhibit


Dulberg told Gooch that he was forced into binding mediation and he refused to sign any binding 
mediation agreement.


On December ##, 2016 Gooch wrote a letter to Dulberg in which he wrote:  "..." 


On January 3, 2017, Trustee Joseph Olsen filed "NOTICE TO CREDITORS AND OTHER PARTIES OF 
INTEREST" which contains the of binding mediation award and notice of motion to disburse 
$117,000 to W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin and $15,000 to Dulberg and to pay certain 
attorneys and medical liens.


On November 7, 2017 at 5:25 PM Plaintiff Dulberg sent a text message to Defendant W. Randall 
Baudin II stating:  "hi Randy, its Paul Dulberg, just recieved a call from Randy Sr. Please call me. 
Thanks, Paul"


On November 7, 2017 at 5:48 PM Defendant W. Randall Baudin II sent a text message to Plaintiff 
Dulberg stating:  "What did he want?"


Dulberg later took notes of the conversation from memory.  He intended to send the notes to 
Gooch.  He wrote an email to himself to record the notes.


On November 9, 2017 at 6:04:03 PM CST Dulberg wrote an email from the address 
pdulberg@comcast.net to Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net which states:


To: "Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net" <paul_dulberg@comcast.net>
Reply-To: Paul Dulberg <pdulberg@comcast.net>


Hi Tom,


You wanted to know what Randy Baudin Sr was asking when he called and I said I would need a few 
hours to unpack what he covered in about a 45 minute call So This is my attempt to unpack it. I 
felt like i was interrogated.


Below are a few of the key points that stick out to me. they are in no particular order and the 
wording is not exact because his questions were fast and he was jumping from subject to subject, 
its just some of the things I remember him saying and asking as well as how I replied.


Randy Baudin SR. was all over the board with his questions and this is my best recollection of the 
call. He did wake me from a dead sleep with the call and caught me completely off guard. In 
retrospect, I was not prepared for this and some of the questions I probably shouldn't have 
answered. Particularly the ones about the Defendants Caroline and Bill McGuire and about Tom 







Popovich and Hans Mast.


RBS. Randy Baudin Sr. Introduced himself as the head of baudin and baudin law firm who handled 
my case and asked if i see its him on my caller id. He also said his assistant was there with him.


PD. I said if its on the caller id than i got it and would have to look later.


RBS. He than said that Thomas Gooch had contacted him and needed some documents and 
information and that in order to provide that information it is important for me to help fill in some 
of the blanks or he is in trouble.


I said ok because I trusted the baudin firm and Thomas Gooch.


RBS. asked how it was that I came to his firm?


PD. I told him my Mom suggested him because he represented my brother a few decades earlier 
and that she swears by him because hes willing to fight for his clients


RBS. he asked what case he represented my brother in


PD. I told him that my brother was a passenger in a car that rolled over and that he had taken it to 
the appellate level


RBS. he said he remembered the name and the case


RBS. He asked how it was that Randy Jr took the case and why I didnt Meet with him


PD. I said im not sure why we didnt meet with you, its been a long time since then, all I remember 
was going to your office and being introduced to Randy Jr.


RBS He asked if it was at the office down near algonquin and lake in the hills


PD I said yes


RBS. Pressed me a few times as to the details of why I didnt meet with him rather than His son.


PD. I figured you were either busy or not in but for whatever reason Randy Jr met with my Mom 
and I instead. I just figured your all part of the same firm and my mom trusted you.


RBS thanked me and my mom for the high praise.


RBS asked if i had dealt with Kelly and Myrna as well


PD I said yes







RBS said something about his son, Randy JR, Randy JR's wife and Myrna were stealing cases from 
him


PD I said what is all this about?


RBS replied, oh now your asking me the questions now


PD I said well yeah is everything ok, whats wrong?


RBS said something about being involved in a 7 digit case and that Randy JR was taking cases that 
he didnt know about.


PD I said Im sorry about all that, I had no idea, is that what this is all about?


RBS asked did you and your mother come to see me?


PD I said at first yes but we ended up Meeting with his son Randy JR


RBS asked if i had met with Randy in Crystal lake and he gave a location


PD I said well yes they said they wanted to meet me at that office at times, why?


RBS asked if Myrna was at that location


PD I said well yes


RBS asked if my mom was doing well


PD I said yes


RBS asked if i liked village squire


PD I said yes


RBS told me to go there on either monday or tuesday because they have half price burgers


RBS gave me his phone numbers, had me write them down, said he would be in touch with me in 
the future and said he might take me to the village squire sometime.


RBS asked about the case alot







RBS wanted to know what happened, he started asking questions too fast, he asked if it was my 
dominate arm


PD I told him a basic version of what I knew. I was asked by David if i could use some wood from a 
tree he was cutting down at his mothers house. I told Dave i would stop by in the morning and see 
what he had. the next day I went there. His Mother and I got to talking about the people we used 
to work with while Dave and Bill worked at the tree. Bill got tired after a while and needed to quit. 
Dave started saying he needed help because he couldn't do it by himself. His mother looked at me 
and asked if I could help, Dave said come on man help me your just sitting there and all i need you 
to do is hold branches so they dont move, its easy. besides I helped clean up at your dads when he 
redid his roof 20 years ago. I said ok, I guess. I got up and helped. everything was going fine for a 
while then Dave did something stupid and hit the gas while he swung the chainsaw at me, I 
couldn't get out of its way and he cut my arm in half. The Dr in the ER said I would Have died if I 
didnt get medical treatment. That is one emergency room trip you never want to take.


RBS oh, im so sorry.


Was it your dominate arm, is it ok?


PD yes its my dominate arm, they put it back togeter but it doesnt work well


RBS how many surguries


PD 3


RBS who were the doctors?


PD do you mean the emergency room dr's?


RBS uh whas it the... yes the er surgion


PD um i remember the name Dr. Ford


RBS ok Ill have a talk with him. who else?


PD um i remember Dr sagerman and Dr Kujawa, I still see her


RBS was it at northwestern?


PD um i dont remember that name but for some reason i remember northwest community but im...


RBS Dr. Kujawa where


PD oh she is at alexian brothers


RBS ok. Your ok or are you in pain?


PD I have pains


RBS are you on a drip?







PD no nothing like that


RBS You know i know some great Dr's I could send you to see, and he went on about some indian 
dr and someone he sent there


PD no, no thats ok, ive seen what feels like an army of Dr's already


RBS you sure, I can get you their names, hold on while i get...


PD no thats ok Im good with who im seeing


RBS well ok then but im just saying if you want it


PD Im good


RBS ok so i understand you had some sort of arbitration downtown (and he gave a description of 
the place in chicago)


PD yes it was um I think they called it a binding arbitration but im not sure


RBS it says here 600K no um 300K was it and it looks like its capped


PD um I dont remember any caps but...


RBS


RBS I'm part native american


pd huh


RBS im just joking about that, i made it up


RBS started talking about his relationship with Tom Popovich said he and Tom go way back. He 
asked why I was suing Tom.


PD Because he had Hans Mast lie to me


RBS oh Hans, I know him, Good Guy


PD Thats debatable


RBS what happened with Hans?


PD Hans lied to me about many things. To start he lied about the Mothers homeowners insurance 
Policy. Hans Said they would file a summary judgement the next morning at 9 AM and I would get 
absolutely nothing but if I signed this he could get me 5k on some part of the policy that pays that 
amount irregardless of who gets hurt on their property. We argued but He even showed me case 







law that he said was the law of the land and if I didnt take it I wouldnt get anything. something 
about 3rd party persons on the property. He also said if i didnt sign it his firm would drop me in 
the suit against the son David Gagnon. and later on he said you cant blame me i was just doing 
what the boss said to do and if I didnt like it i could take it up with big Tom the owner of the firm. 
well I'd hate to break it to Hans but just doing what the boss told me to do is not a valid excuse 
and never has been when its unethical.


RBS well now wait a minute Hans is a good guy I know Hans.


PD Im sure you do have a good relation with Hans but Good people do bad things all the time and 
Hans is no exception.


RBS This Gagnon Guy, um


His secretary said, he knew him


RBS you knew this Gagnon Guy


PD Yes


RBS Ok so your complaint is that Popovich had you sign a release against the Mothers Homeowners 
policy?


PD Thats one of my complaints yes


RBS what else


PD well I learned they never actually pulled either policy, lied to me about the limits which caused 
me to go over and file for bankruptcy which I would never would have done had they not lied. I lost 
everything.


RBS They cant let one party go


PD what is that true


RBS there is case law that says you cant let one party go in a lawsuit and keep suing the other party 
involved if both are named.


PD i didnt know that but thats what they did. then to further the harm popovich dropped my case 
after they tried to get me to mediate for only 50k and i wouldnt do it."


(end quote)


The original malpractice lawsuit, filed by Thomas Gooch on October, 2017, claimed damages of 
### against the Law Office of Thomas J. Popovich and against Hans Mast.


Gooch did not allow Dulberg to read the complaint before filing it with the Court. 


Gooch did not include Thomas J. Popovich, individually as a Defendant.


Thomas Gooch did not mention anything about the bankruptcy in the complaint







Thomas Gooch did not mention that Dulberg never agreed to enter into binding mediation and 
never signed any agreement in the complaint. 


Gooch never mentioned to Dulberg that W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin, the Baudin Law 
Group or Baudin & Baudin did anything inappropriate or that Dulberg has a malpractice claim 
against the Baudins.


Gooch did not include any information about W. Randall Baudin, Kelly Baudin, the Baudin Law 
Group, Baudin & Baudin or Trustee Olsen or name any of them as defendants.  None of their names 
appeared in the complaint at all.  In the original complaint and the first amended complaint, Gooch 
refers to W. Randall Baudin, Kelly Baudin, Baudin Law Group, and Baudin & Baudin as "other 
attorneys" but never uses the word "Baudin" in any context.


Item 16 of complaint at law states:  "Thereafter, DULBERG retained other attorneys and proceeded 
to a binding mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG received a binding mediation 
award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  Unfortunately, a "high-low 
agreement" had been executed by DULBERG, reducing the maximum amount he could recover to 
#300.000.00 based upon the insurance policy available.  The award was substantially more than 
the sum of the money, and could have been recovered from the McGuire's had they not been 
dismissed from the complaint."  In the original complaint Gooch writes that a "high-low 
agreement" had been "executed by Dulberg".


Item 24 of first amended complaint at law states:  "Thereafter, DULBERG retrained other attorneys 
and proceeded to a court ordered binding mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG 
received a binding mediation award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  
However, due to the settlement with the McGuires, DULBERG was only able to collect $300,000 
based upon the insurance policy available."  In the first amended complaint by Gooch there is no 
mention of a minimum or maximum award limit at all.


Item 52 of the second amended complaint at law states:  "In December of 2016, Dulberg 
participated in binding mediation related to his claims against Gagnon."


Item 53 of the second amended complaint at law states:  "In December of 2016,  Dulberg was 
awarded a gross amount of $660,000 and a net award of $561,000 after his contributory 
negligence was considered."


Item 54 of the second amended complaint at law states:  "Dulberg was only able to recovery 
approximately $300,000 of the award from Gagnon's insurance and was unable to collect from 
Gagnon personally."


On September 5, 2019 in the Record of Proceedings MR. FLYNN stated:  "The only other issue that 
was raised -- I just reviewed the written discovery yesterday and you had (indiscernible) 201(k) 
that there was a bankruptcy that was mentioned kind of vaguely in one of the answers. It sounds 
or appears that either the bankruptcy judge or the trustee had enforced or required a mediation 
and a high-low agreement. To the extent that those documents are responsive to any of the 
requests -- and I'll have to go through them to see if they are. Otherwise I'll just issue a 
supplemental, but I think the bankruptcy file and communications with the trustee are probably 
responsive to our discovery, so I would just request that those be included in our --"


MS. WILLIAMS answered:  "I think we produced a number of the bankruptcy issues, but we can talk 







about it today and definitely try to work out -- there's definitely -- there was a bankruptcy. We're 
not trying to hide that bankruptcy, so. And the trustee did resolve -- there was an arbitration 
based on the trustee's recommendation in the bankruptcy for the individual."


In the ongoing legal malpractice lawsuit Dulberg v Hans Mast, Thomas Popovich and the Law Office 
of Thomas J. Popovich (12LA377) under dispute in McHenry County, defense counsel Flynn 
representing Popovich and Mast argues that damages that Dulberg can claim should be capped 
because Dulberg voluntarily entered into an arbitration process with an upper cap of $300,000.


On October 29, 2022 Dulberg obtained a copy of the ADR contract that ADR Systems has on file.


When the binding mediation contract which the Bankruptcy judge agreed to on October 31, 2016 
is compared to the binding mediation contract which ADR systems has on file, a number of 
inconsistencies become noticeable (exhibit - images comparing the 2 contracts).


Dulberg's name appears written on the ADR systems contract but Dulberg refused to enter into the 
agreement verbally and in text messages and never signed the contract. 


WHAT THE BAUDINS AND TRUSTEE OLSEN DID:


Faked being attorneys of Baudin & Baudin and stole a case from Baudin Sr?


The Baudins knew or should have known that the counterclaim filed by the McGuires against 
Gagnon on February 1, 2013 was not answered by Gagnon.


The Baudins knew or should have known that because Gagnon did not answer the counterclaim 
filed on February 1, 2013, Gagnon was effectively admitting the facts stated in the counterclaim 
were true.


Baudins knew or should have known that by not answering the counterclaim filed by the mcGuires 
in February 1, 2013, Gagnon was contradicting the statements in what appeared to be Gagnon's 
deposition.


The Baudins knew or should have known that documents such as "Gagnon deposition exhibit 1" 
were highly questionable and showed evidence of being manipulated.


Baudins knew or should have known that Gagnon never filed answers to the interrogatories sent by 
Popovich and Mast.


The Baudins never asked Gagnon's counsel for the answers to interrogatories.  The Baudins never 
informed the judge that they never received Gagnons answers to interrogatories.


The Baudins knew or should have known that an audio recording of a telephone conversation that 
Mast claimed to have with Gagnon on April 11, 2012 was missing from the case file.


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen, together, coerced Dulberg against his will into a binding mediation 







agreement.


Trustee Olsen told the bankruptcy judge that the parties were in agreement and Dulberg did not 
want a jury trial because he wouldn't be a good witness.


Baudins then informed Dulberg the bankruptcy judge is the authority who forced the mediation 
agreement upon the interested parties.


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen, together, decided that any arbitration award was to be capped at 
$300,000 and forced the upper cap on Dulberg without his consent and while ignoring his strong 
objection.  It is the Baudins and Trustee Olsen that placed the $300,000 upper cap on any 
arbitration award, not Dulberg. 


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen, together, intentionally gave Dulberg deceptive and misleading 
legal opinions with respect to who has legal authority to make a decision concerning the direction 
of Dulberg's case against Gagnon.


Trustee Olsen and the Baudins intentionally misrepresented Dulbergs wishes to the bankruptcy 
judge.


Somebody forged Dulberg's name on the contract.  Who?


The Baudins and Trustee Olsen deprived Dulberg of a jury trial in his case against Gagnon for his 
injury that Dulberg has continuously sought since first requesting one in May, 2012.
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS 


COUNTY DEPARTMENT, LAW DIVISION 


PAUL R. DULBERG, INDIVIDUALLY AND 
THE PAUL R. DULBERG REVOCABLE 
TRUST 


Plaintiffs, 


vs. 


KELLY N. BAUDIN A/K/A BAUDIN & 
BAUDIN, BAUDIN & BAUDIN AN 
ASSOCIATION OF ATTORNEYS, LAW 
OFFICES OF BAUDIN & BAUDIN, 
BAUDIN & BAUDIN LAW OFFICES, 
WILLIAM RANDAL BAUDIN II A/K/A 
BAUDIN & BAUDIN, BAUDIN & BAUDIN 
AN ASSOCIATION OF ATTORNEYS, LAW 
OFFICES OF BAUDIN & BAUDIN, 
BAUDIN & BAUDIN LAW OFFICES, 
KELRAN, INC A/K/A THE BAUDIN LAW 
GROUP, Ltd., JOSEPH DAVID OLSEN, 
A/K/A YALDEN, OLSEN & WILLETTE 
LAW OFFICES, CRAIG A WILLETTE, 
A/K/A YALDEN, OLSEN & WILLETTE 
LAW OFFICES, RAPHAEL E YALDEN II, 
A/K/A YALDEN, OLSEN & WILLETTE 
LAW OFFICES, ADR SYSTEMS OF 
AMERICA, LLC., ASSUMED NAME ADR 
COMMERCIAL SERVICES, ALLSTATE 
PROPERTY AND CASULTY INSURANCE 
COMPANY 


Defendants. 
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ALPHONSE A. TALARICO'S RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF DULBER AND KOST'S 
MOTION TO RECONSIDER APRIL 22, 2025 FINAL ORDER BASED ON MISTAKES 
IN LAW 


NOW COMES the Respondent Alphonse A. Talarico attorney at law and 


licensed to practice in this Court, sanctioned under rule 137, jointly and severally 


with Movants herein Dulberg and Kost as Trustee of the Paul R. Dulberg Revocable 


Trust states as follows: 


PREAMBLE: I agree with Movants that the Honorable Judge Swanagan 


order of Apri122, 2025 should be modified, but with the different outcome that 


Movants remain jointly and severally liable for the amount of the rule 137 sanctions 


but, for the reasons that follow, attorney Alphonse A. Talarico be found not liable 


because he was specifically ordered to file Movants' Complaint at Law 2020 L 


010905 with the statute of limitation expiring within hours. 


Regarding Movants' mistaken interpretation of the facts and their repeated 


and continued claim of Alphonse A. Talarico lying to this Honorable Court and the 


Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission Talarico unequivocally denies 


the false allegation and demands Movants' strict proof thereof. 


Finally, after working with, representing and defending against allegations of 


the Movants herein, I have come to the conclusion, as an attorney, not as a medical 


diagnosis, that the Movants' are not lying but see the Law, Lawyers, Judges, Court 


Personnel through the filter of Persecutory Delusions. 
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Examplel. Dulberg is NOT a "Disabled Individual under Federal or Illinois 


law. 


Dulberg's repeated and continual claims of "Disability" are viewed by 


Respondent not as a lie or a subliminal request for special treatment but as a clear 


showing of Persecutory Delusion as Dulberg's Disability legal determination, after 


much litigation and appeal ended on Apri123, 2013. Respondent raises this issue 


and those that follow to spotlight Dulberg's credibility. (Please see Exhibit R1 which 


is redacted page 9 of an 814 page report, the full report can be submitted to the 


Honorable Court in camera if requested to do so.) 


Example2. Every lawyer, judge, court administrator, court employee, reporter 


etc. is conspiring to harm Dulberg and Kost. The following are ten (10) redacted 


examples of Complaints that Movants have filed against attorneys: 


No.2023JN02517 (submitted on July 27, 2023) 


No.2023IN02518 (submitted on July 27, 2023) 


. 2023IN03135 (submitted on September 15, 2023) 


0 20 3IN03136 (submitted on September 15, 2023) 


~~ 1N03894-R (submitted on November 8, 2023) 


No. 20231N0389&R (submitted on November 8, 2023) 


No. 2023IN03897-R (submitted on November 8, 2023) 


No.2023IN03895-R (submitted on November 8, 2023) 


No. 2023IN03896-R (submitted on November 8, 2023) 
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Alphonse A Talarico No.2024 IN 00264 (submitted on March 15, 2024 and concluded 


on January 14, 2025 please see Exhibit R2 and R3 attached) 


(Please see E~ibit R4 an email from Dulberg and Kost to the ARDC 


substantiating the above 10 Complaints filed by the movants herein) 


Appellate Court Judge Susan F. Hutchinson with the Judiciary Inquiry Board. (Please 


see E~ibit RS attached) 


Retired Judge Thomas A. Meyer, now an independent contractor for Alternative 


Dispute Resolution, a party herein (Please see Movants' Motion To Reconsider) 


Thomas Long, Respondent's former attorney herein based upon Long's employment 


with a Law Firm that represented a client who was married to an attorney Dulberg 


filed an ARDC Complaint against and based upon that alone the Movants' now alleged 


Tom Long to be in a conspiracy with all of the above to harm Dulberg and Kost. 


(Please see Movants' Motion To Reconsider and Exhibit R6 attached.) 


Note: Investigation Continues 


2a. Another example of the high regard the Movants' hold the legal profession and 


maybe with the thought that the ARDC and their investigators were also a part of the 


conspiracy against the Movants is their allegations that Alphonse A. Talarico continually 


lied to the ARDC investigators over the 6 month investigation and deceived them 


regarding the thousands of documents submitted by both sides in that the ARDC decided 


no further investigation was warranted. T'he natural conclusion is that the teams of 
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investigators were either fools or they also were part of the conspiracy against the 


Movants. 


3. Movants claim that Alphonse A. Talarico drafted the portion of the Complaint against 


Alternative Dispute Resolution without their input or knowledge, and therefore they 


should be exonerated from any blame and liability. 


The following earhibits will prove that these allegations are false: 


3a. Respondent's E~ibit R7 (attached) is an email from Movants to Alphonse A. 


Talarico titled A smoking gun that Dulber~ never si~r►ed the agreement and who may 


have stating that the signed ARI) agreement vas not signed by Dulberg. 


3b. Respondent's Exhabit R8 (attached) is an email from Movant Dulberg to respondent 


Talarico showing differences in the terms of the Bankruptcy Judge's approved 


agreement and the one that was used at the binding mediation that Movant Dulberg 


claims he did not sign. 


3c. Respondent's Exhibit R9 (attached) is an email from Movant Dulberg with the 


opening paragraph is an instruction to Respondent stating "It is time to get the ball 


rolling on the fraudulent ADR contract" and on the second page stating 3. ADR a. 


Acceptance of an obiviousiv flawed contract that is differenv than the contract ari i,~„nally 


authoted by ADR. B.Failure to follow and enforce the terms/rules written in the contract 


about modification to the contract. I Mowant Dulberg,,l believe all3 defendants could be 


charEed with ~onspiracv ~o commit fraud against the bankruptcy estate as veil. 'Thanks, 


Paul 


5 


FI
LE


D
 D


AT
E:


 8
/1


9/
20


25
 7


:0
0 


PM
   


20
22


L0
10


90
5







3d. Respondent's Exhibit R10 (attached) is the verification and Rule 222(b) affidavit 


signed by Movant Dulberg. Under Illinois Supreme Court Rule 137, it is not a valid 


defense to sanctions that a plaintiff signed a complaint without reading it. Rule 137 


explicitly requires that the signature of an attorney or party on a pleading, motion, or 


other document certifies that the signer has read the document, conducted a reasonable 


inquiry into its basis, and believes it is well-grounded in fact, warranted by existing law, 


or supported by a good-faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of 


existing law. The rule further mandates that the document must not be filed for any 


improper purpose, such as harassment or causing unnecessary delay or expense 


Medical Alliances, LLC v. Health Care Serv. Corp., 371 Ill. App. 3d 755, Ill. Sun. Ct., R 


137. 


Summary: Respondent attorney Alphonse was under a compulsion to file and thereafter 


litigate this matter regarding the constraints and instructions of Movants based upon the 


immediate (within 24-48 hours) expiration of a statute of limitation expiring, the implied 


treats of ARDC reporting by Movants of the violated statute of limitations and other personal 


reasons. 


Furthermore Respondent's failure to amend the Complaint regarding the section against 


the Alternative Dispute Resolution was caused by the former Judge Otto stating that he 


thought that he had released the Alternative Dispute Resolution and since there was no 


representative for Alternative Dispute Resolution in court nor did anyone correct the record 


when the order was circulated, Respondent approached this issue as one that had to be 


Appealed. 
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Further Responding, attorney Alphonse A. Talarico does not request or demand a hearing on 


this motion, but welcomes the opportunity to be heard in open Court if the Honorable Judge 


Swanagan so determines. 


WHEREFORE, Respondent attorney Alphonse A. Talarico prays the Honorable Judge 


Swanagan revise his order of rule 137 sanctions to apply to Movants herein jointly and 


severally, and to find Respondent Alphonse A. Talarico free from liability for sanctions. 


/s/ Alphose A. Talarico 


ALPHONSE A. TALARICO 
Law Office of Alphonse A. Talarico 
ARDC No. 6184530 
CC 53293 
707 Skokie Boulevard, Suite 600 
Northbrook, Illinois 60062 
(312) 808-1410 
Attorney Prose 
contact ~a lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com 
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From: Alphonse Talarico contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com
Subject: Draft Third Amended Complaint


Date: June 6, 2022 at 5:14 PM
To: Paul Dulberg Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net, Paul Dulberg pdulberg@icloud.com


Dear	Mr.	Dulberg,


Please	see	the	a1ached


Thank	you,
Alphonse	A.	Talarico


Third Amended 
Compl…22.doc


74 KB
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THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 


IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTY-SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 
McHENRY COUNTY, ILLINOIS 


 
 
 
PAUL DULBERG,                          ) 
                                                ) 
   Plaintiff,   ) 
       ) 
       ) 


v. ) Case No. 17LA 377 
) 


THE LAW OFFICE OF THOMAS J.  ) 
POPOVICH, P.C., HANS MAST   ) 
and Thomas J. Popovich, Individually  ) 
       ) 
   Defendants.   ) 
 
 
 
 


THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW 
 


Plaintiff, PAUL DULBERG (hereinafter also referred to as “DULBERG”), by and 
 


 through his attorney, THE LAW OFFICE OF ALPHONSE A. TALARICO, complaining 
 
 against THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C. (hereinafter also  
 
referred to as “POPOVICH”), HANS MAST (hereinafter also referred to as “MAST”), and 
 
Thomas J. Popovich, individually as follows: 
 
                                                        
                                           LEGAL MALPRACTICE 
 
A. Parties and Venue 
 
1. Paul Dulberg, is a resident of McHenry County, Illinois, and was such a resident at all 
 
 times complained of herein. 
 
2. The Law Offices of Thomas Popovich, P.C., is a law firm operating in McHenry 
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 County, Illinois, and transacting business on a regular and daily basis in McHenry 
 
 County, Illinois. 
 
 3. Hans Mast was an agent, employee, associate, or shareholder of The Law Offices of  
 
Thomas J. Popovich, P.C., and is a licensed attorney in the State of Illinois, and was so 
 
 licensed at all times relevant to this Third Amended Complaint. 
 
4. Hans Mast is individually liable for his own legal and settlement malpractice done 
 
 while acting as an agent, employee,  associate or shareholder of The Law Offices of 
 
 Thomas J. Popovich, P.C. 
 
5. As an agent, employee, associate, or shareholder in The Law Offices of Thomas J. 
 
 Popovich, P.C., The Law Offices of Thomas J. Popovich P.C. is liable for Mast’s 
 
 actions alleged herein. 
 
6. Thomas J. Popovich, at all times relevant herein, was a licensed attorney in the State  
 
of Illinois, engaged in the practice of law in McHenry County, Illinois, and a shareholder 
 
 in The Law Offices of Thomas J. Popovich, P.C. 
 
7. Thomas J. Popovich is individually liable for his own legal and settlement malpractice 
 
 done while acting as an agent, employee, or shareholder in The Law Offices of Thomas 
 
 J. Popovich, P.C. 
 
8. As an agent, employee, or shareholder in The Law Offices of Thomas J. 
 
 Popovich, P.C., The Law Offices of Thomas J. Popovich P.C. is liable for Thomas J. 
 
 Popovich’s actions alleged herein. 
 
9. Venue was therefore claimed proper in McHenry County, Illinois, as the Defendants 
 
 transact substantial and regular business in and about McHenry County in the practice 
 
 of law, where their offices are located.  
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B. Relevant Facts 
 
10. On or about June 28, 2011, Dulberg assisted Caroline McGuire (“Caroline”), William 
 
 McGuire (“William”) (Caroline and William collectively referred to herein as “the 
 
 McGuires”), and David Gagnon (“Gagnon”) in cutting down a tree on the McGuire’s 
 
 property. 
 
11. Dulberg lives in the next neighborhood over from the McGuire family. 
 
12. Caroline McGuire and William McGuire are a married couple, who own real 
 
property in McHenry, McHenry County, Illinois (“the Property”). 
 
13. David Gagon is Caroline’s son and William’s stepson. 
 
14. On June 28, 2011, at the Property, Gagnon was operating a chainsaw to remove 
 
branches from a tree and cut it down on the Property. 
 
15. The McGuire’s purchased and owned the chainsaw that was being utilized to trim, 
 
 remove branches and cut down the tree. 
 
16. Dulberg was invited to the McGuire’s property to see if he wanted any of the wood 
 
 from the tree. 
 
17. William physically assisted with cutting down the tree and then, later supervised 
 
 Gagnon’s actions. 
 
18. Caroline supervised Gagnon’s and William’s actions. 
 
19. Gagnon and the McGuires asked Dulberg to assist with trimming and removal of the 
 
 tree. 
 
20. Gagnon was acting on behalf of Caroline and William and at their direction. 
 
21. Caroline, William, and Gagnon all knew, or show have known that a chainsaw was 
 
dangerous and to take appropriate precautions when utilizing the chain saw. 
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22. The safety information was readily available to Caroline and William as the safety 
 
 instructions are included with the purchase of the chainsaw. 
 
23. The safety information indicated that the failure to take appropriate caution and  
 
safety measures could result in serious injury. 
 
24. The safety information indicated that the likelihood of injury when not properly 
 
 utilizing the chainsaw or not following the safety precautions is very high. 
 
25. The safety instructions outlined are easy to follow and do not place a large burden 
 
 on the operator of the chainsaw or the owner of the property. 
 
26. Caroline, William, and Gagnon had a duty to exercise appropriate caution and follow 
 
 the safety instructions for the chainsaw. 
 
27. Caroline, William, and Gagnon breached that duty by either not exercising 
 
 appropriate care, failing to follow the safety instructions, or failing to instruct Gagnon to 
 
 exercise appropriate care and/or follow the safety instructions. 
 
28. Caroline and William, owners of the property and the chainsaw, instructed Gagnon 
 
 to use the chain saw despite Gagnon not being trained in operating the chainsaw. 
 
29. Gagnon was operating the chain saw in close proximity to Dulberg. 
 
30. Neither Gagnon nor Dulberg were provided protective equipment when operating 
 
or assisting with operating the chainsaw. 
 
31. Gagnon failed to utilize the chainsaw in compliance with the safety measures 
 
 outlined in the owner’s manual. 
 
32. Caroline and William failed to instruct and require that Gagnon utilize the chainsaw 
 
 only in compliance with the safety measures outlined in the owner’s manual. 
 
33. Gagnon lost control of the chainsaw that he was using, and it struck Dulberg in the 
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 right arm, cutting him severely. 
 
34. Dulberg incurred substantial and catastrophic injuries, including, but not limited to, 
 
 pain and suffering, loss of use of his right arm, current and future medical expenses in 
 
 amount in excess of $260,000, lost wages in excess of $250,000, and other damages. 
 
35. In May 2012, Dulberg hired Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, 
 
 individually to represent him in prosecuting his claims against Gagnon and the 
 
 McGuires. Exhibit A. 
 
36. Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually on behalf of Dulberg filed a  
 
Complaint  against Gagnon and the McGuires. Exhibit B. 
 
37. Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually entered into an attorney client  
 
relationship with Dulberg. 
 
38. Based upon the attorney client relationship, Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. 
 
 Popovich, individually owed professional duties to Dulberg, including a duty of care. 
 
39. On behalf of Dulberg, Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich, individually 
 
 prosecuted claims against both Gagnon and the McGuires. 
 
40. The claims against Gagnon were resolved later through binding mediation with new 
 
 counsel. 
 
41. The claims against the McGuires included (a) common law premises liability, (b) 
 
 statutory premises liability, (c) common law negligence, and (d) vicarious liability for the 
 
 acts of their son and agent. 
 
42. In late 2013 or early 2014, Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich individually 
 
 urged Dulberg to settle the claims against the McGuires for $5,000. 
 
43. On November 18, 2013, Mast wrote two emails to Dulberg urging Dulberg to accept 
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 the $5,000.00, “the McGuire’s atty has offered us (you) $5,000 in full settlement of the 
 
 claim against the McGuires only. As we discussed, they have no liability in the case for 
 
 what Dave did as property owners. So they will likely get out of the case on a motion at 
 
 some point, so my suggestion is to take the $5,000 now. You probably won't see any of 
 
 it due to liens etc. but it will offset the costs deducted from any eventual recovery.... 
 
” * * * “So if we do not accept their $5,000 they will simply file a motion and get out of 
 
 the case for free. That's the only other option is letting them file motion getting out of 
 
 the case”. (See Emails attached as Group Exhibit C.) 
 
44. Similarly, on November 20, 2013, Mast emailed Dulberg urging him to accept the 
 
 $5,000.00 otherwise “the McGuires will get out for FREE on a motion.” (See Emails 
 
 attached as Group Exhibit C.) 
 
45. On or around December 2013 or January 2014, Mast met with Dulberg and again 
 
 advised them there was no cause of action against William McGuire and Caroline 
 
 McGuire, and verbally told Dulberg that he had no choice but to execute a release in 
 
 favor of the McGuires for the sum of $5,000.00 and if he did not, he would get nothing. 
 
46. During that same time frame, Mast advised Dulberg that the Restatement of Torts 
 
 318 was the only mechanism to recover from the McGuires and that Illinois did not 
 
 recognize the Restate of Torts 318, thus Dulberg did not have any viable claims against 
 
 the McGuires. 
 
47. Mast failed to advise or inform Dulberg of other basis for recovery against the 
 
 McGuires. 
 
48. Based upon Mast’s erroneous advice that Dulberg’s claims against the McGuires 
 
 were not viable and that Dulberg would not recover if he pursued the claims, Dulberg 
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 settled with the McGuire’s and their insurance company, Auto-Owners Insurance  
 
Company, for $5,000.00 which included a release of all claims against the McGuires 
 
 and claim for indemnification under the McGuires insurance policy. Exhibit D  
 
 (Settlement). 
 
49. Mast also told Dulberg that Gagnon’s insurance policy was limited to $100,000. 
 
50. From 2013 forward, Mast and Popovich represented repeatedly to Dulberg that 
 
there was no possibility of any liability against William and/or Caroline McGuire and/or 
 
 Auto- Owners Insurance Company and led Dulberg to believe that the matter was 
 
 being properly handled. 
 
51. Mast also reassured Dulberg that Dulberg would be able to receive the full amount 
 
 of any eventual recovery from Gagnon. 
 
52. After accepting the $5,000 settlement, Dulberg wrote Mast an email on January 29,  
 
2014 stating “I trust your judgment.” (See Email attached as Exhibit E.) 
 
53. Mast, Popovich and Thomas J. Popovich individually continued to represent Dulberg 
 
 into 2015 and continuously assured him that his case was being handled properly. 
 
54. The McGuires owned their home, had homeowner’s insurance, and had other 
 
 property that could have been utilized to pay a judgment against them and in favor of 
 
 Dulberg. 
 
55. Dulberg cooperated with and appropriately assisted Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J.  
 
Popovich individually in prosecuting the claims against Gagnon and the McGuires. 
 
56. In December of 2016, Dulberg participated in binding mediation related to his claims 
 
 against Gagnon. 
 
57. In December of 2016, Dulberg was awarded a gross amount of $660,000 and a net 
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 award of $561,000 after his contributory negligence was considered. 
 
58. Dulberg was only able to recovery approximately $300,000 of the award from 
 
 Gagnon’s insurance and was unable to collect from Gagnon personally. 
 
59. Only after Dulberg obtained an award against Gagnon did he discover that his 
 
 claims against the McGuires were viable and valuable. 
 
60. Following the execution of the mediation agreement and the final mediation award, 
 
 Dulberg realized for the first time in December of 2016 that the information Mast, 
 
 Popovich and Thomas J. Popovich individually had given Dulberg was false and 
 
 misleading, and that in fact, the settlement for $5000.00 and dismissal of the McGuires 
 
 was a serious and substantial mistake. 
 
61. It was not until the mediation in December 2016, based on the expert’s opinions that 
 
 Dulberg retained for the mediation, that Dulberg became reasonably aware that Mast, 
 
  Popovich and Thomas J. Popovich individually did not properly represent him by 
 
 pressuring and coercing him to accept a settlement for $5,000.00 on an “all or nothing” 
 
 basis. 
 
62. At all  times relevant herein there existed an authoritarian and administrative 
 
 hierarchy authority within Popovich such that Hans Mast reported the status and  
 
progress of the Dulberg case to Popovich and Thomas J. Popovich individually. 
 
63. At all times relevant herein Thomas J. Popovich individually was the sole 
 
 shareholder of  Popovich. 
 
64. At all times relevant herein Thomas J. Popovich individually was the director of 
 
 Popovich. 
 
65. At all times relevant herein Thomas J. Popovich individually was the president of 
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 Popovich. 
 
66 At all times relevant herein Thomas J. Popovich individually was the secretary of 
 
 Popovich. 
 
67. At all times relevant herein Thomas J. Popovich individually was the treasurer of 
 
 Popovich. 
 
68. At all times relevant herein Popovich and Thomas J. Popovich individually received  
 
status reports on the progress and the current relevant law of the Dulberg case from  
 
Hans Mast. 
 
69. On at least two of the court appearances scheduled for the Dulberg case Thomas J.  
 
Popovich individually appeared for Popovich and Dulberg and identified himself for the 
 
 record.  
 
70. The two court appearances that Thomas J. Popovich individually identified himself 
 
 for Popovich and Dulberg were on January 22, 2014 and February 4, 2015. 
 
71. On every occasion Thomas J. Popovich individually appeared on behalf of Popovich  
 
and Dulberg he was fully briefed and current on the relevant law, the status and  
 
progress of the case. 
 
72. The matter before the court on January 22, 2014 was McGuires’ motion for a good 
 
 faith finding that the settlement entered into between Dulberg and the McGuires for 
 
 $5,000.00 constituted a fair and reasonable and good faith settlement within the 
 
 meaning of the Illinois Joint Tortfeasor Contribution Act, 740 ILCS 0.01 et seq. 
 
73. On said date before entering an order granting the McGuires’ motion that   
 
$5,000.00 constituted a fair and reasonable and good faith settlement within the 
 
 meaning of the Illinois Joint Tortfeasor Contribution Act, 740 ILCS 0.01 et seq. the 
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 Honorable Thomas A. Meyer, Judge of said Court of McHenry County, Illinois inquired  
 
of Thomas J. Popovich individually whether Thomas J. Popovich individually had (any)  
 
No objections? 
 
74. On said date Thomas J. Popovich individually responded on behalf of Popovich and 
 
 Dulberg “Not From me.” 
 
75 On January 22, 2014 the Honorable Thomas A. Meyer, Judge of said Court of 
 
 McHenry County, Illinois granted said motion.  
 
76. Mast, Popovich, and Thomas J. Popovich individually, jointly, and severally,  
 
breached the duties owed Dulberg by violating the standard of care owed Dulberg in the 
 
 following ways and respects: 
 
a) failed to fully and properly investigate the claims and/or basis for liability against the 
 
 McGuires; 
 
b) failed to properly obtain information through discovery regarding McGuires assets, 
 
 insurance coverages, and/or ability to pay a judgement and/or settlement against them; 
 
c) failed to accurately advise Dulberg of the McGuires’ and Gagnon’s insurance 
 
 coverage related to the claims against them and/or Dulberg’s ability to recover through 
 
 McGuires’ and Gagnon’s insurance policies, including, but not limited to, incorrectly 
 
 informing Dulberg that Gagnon’s insurance policy was “only $100,000” and no 
 
 insurance company would pay close to that; 
 
d) failed to take such actions as were necessary during their respective representation  
 
of Dulberg to fix liability against the property owners of the subject property (the 
 
 McGuires) who employed and/or were principals of Gagnon, and who sought the 
 
 assistance of Dulberg by, for example, failing to obtain a  liability expert; 
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e) failed to accurately advise Dulberg regarding the McGuires’ liability, likelihood of  
 
success of claims against the McGuires, the McGuires’ ability  to pay any judgment or 
 
 settlement against them through insurance or other assets, and/or necessity of  
 
prosecuting all the claims against both the McGuires and Gagnon in order to obtain 
 
 a full recovery; 
 
f) failed to canvass the neighborhood to discover witnesses to the events of June 28, 
 
 2011; 
 
g) failed to obtain jury settlement and verdict reporters to determine the proper range of 
 
 settlement negotiations; 
 
h) coerced Dulberg, verbally and though emails, into accepting a settlement with the 
 
 McGuires for $5,000 by misleading Dulberg into believing that he had no other choice 
 
 but to accept the settlement or else “The McGuires will get out for FREE on a motion.” 
 
 
76. As a direct result of Mast and Popovich and Thomas J. Popovich individually’s 
 
 wrongful actions, Dulberg suffered serious and substantial damages, not only as a 
 
 result of the injury as set forth in the binding mediation award, but due to the direct 
 
 actions of Mast, and Popovich and Thomas J. Popovich individually in urging Dulberg 
 
 to release the McGuires, and Popovich and Thomas J. Popovich individually in not 
 
objecting to the motion for a good faith finding that the settlement entered into between 
 
 Dulberg and the McGuires for $5,000.00 constituted a fair and reasonable and good 
 
 faith settlement within the meaning of the Illinois Joint Tortfeasor Contribution Act, 740 
 
 ILCS 0.01 et seq., lost the sum of well over $300,000.00 which would not have 
 
 occurred but for the acts of Mast and The Law Offices of Thomas Popovich, P.C., and  
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Thomas J. Popovich individually. 
 
 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Paul Dulberg prays this Honorable Court enter  
judgment on such verdict as a jury of twelve (12) shall return, together with the 
costs of suit and such other and further relief as may be just, all-in excess of the 
jurisdictional minimums of this Honorable Court 
 
Respectfully submitted by 


 
 


/s/ Alphonse A. Talarico   
Alphonse A. Talarico 


 
 


 
By: Alphonse A. Talarico 
Plaintiff’s attorney 
707 Skokie Boulevard Suite 600  
Northbrook, Illinois 60022 
(312) 808-1410 
ARDC No. 6184530 
contact@lawofficeofalphonsetalarico.com 
alphonsetalarico@gmail.com  
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ARDC COMPLAINT AGAINST THOMAS W GOOCH AND 
SABINA WALCZYK


CHAPTER 1:   �THOMAS GOOCH CONTROL OF DULBERG’S  
LEGAL MALPRACTICE CASE 17LA377


“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 1:  Concealing key evidence (Tilschner v Spangler)


“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 2: �Concealing admission of negligence of Defendant 
Gagnon for Dulberg’s injury in underlying case 
12LA178


“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 3: �Concealing Bankruptcy and Violations of Federal 
Bankruptcy Laws (automatic stay, loss of standing to 
pursue claim, capping value of assets in BK estate, ect)


“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 4:  �Concealing true sources of $300,000 upper cap  
on the value of the PI claim


“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 5: �Intentionally confusing Statute of Limitations 
toll date, date of “injury”, and placing Dulberg’s 
privileged attorney-client communications at issue


CHAPTER 2:  �HOW OPPOSING COUNSEL’S STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS MSJ 
ARGUMENTS IN 2022 WERE SET UP BY DULBERG’S OWN 
ATTORNEYS SINCE 2016


List of Tables: 


TABLE 2: �Strategies and Methods of 5 Law Firms Retained by Dulberg


TABLE 3: �Five Incorrect Versions of the Origin of a $300,000 ‘Upper Cap’ Placed 
on the Value of 12LA178 Given by Dulberg’s Own Counsel


TABLE 4A: �Three Incorrect Versions of When Dulberg “First Knew” of an 
“Injury” Given by Dulberg’s Own Counsel


TABLE 4B: �Three Incorrect  Versions of When Dulberg “First Knew” of an 
“Injury” Simplified 


TABLE 5A: �Toll Dates Given by Opposing Counsel Flynn


TABLE 5B: �Toll Dates Given by Dulberg’s Own Attorneys Gooch, Clinton and 
Williams


TABLE 6: �How Opposing Counsel’s Statute of Limitations MSJ Arguments in 2022 
Were Set Up by Dulberg’s Own Attorneys Since 2016


TABLE 7: �17LA377 Officers of the Court Applying Current Illinois Law and 
Dulberg’s Case
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Chapter 1:  � THOMAS GOOCH CONTROL OF DULBERG’S LEGAL MALPRACTICE 
CASE 17LA377


Relevant Facts:


1.	 “Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178” details how Popovich and Mast:


a)   �Represented Dulberg in 22nd Judicial Circuit Court even though an automatic stay 
was in place. 


b)  �Did not sign any agreement with the Bankrupty trustee (who he knew has standing as 
plaintiff in the case once Dulberg declared bankruptcy)


c)  Knew that Gagnon already effectively admitted to negligence for Dulberg’s injury


d)  Never insisted  that Gagnon answer interrogatories


e)   �Tried to get Dulberg to agree to Allstate settlement for $50,000 or less (while an 
automatic stay was in place)


2.	 After Popovich and Mast resigned Dulberg hired Brad Balke. Balke also:


a)  �Contracted with Dulberg even though he knew Dulberg had no standing as plaintiff in 
the case.


b)  Agreed to take the case to trial when contracting.


c)  �Represented Dulberg in 22nd Judicial Circuit Court even though the automatic stay 
was in place.


d)  �Did not sign any agreement with Bankrupty trustee. (who he knew had standing as 
plaintiff in the case)


e)  �Knew or should have known that Gagnon already effectively admitted to negligence 
for Dulberg’s injury.


f)  �Tried to get Dulberg to agree to Allstate settlement for $50,000 or less. (while an 
automatic stay was in place)


3.	 After firing Balke, Dulberg hired the Baudins. The Baudins also: 


a)  �Contracted with Dulberg even though they knew Dulberg had no standing as plaintiff 
in the case. (the third consecutive law firm to do so)


b)  �Agreed to take the case to trial when contracting. (the third consecutive law firm to do 
so)


c)  �Represented Dulberg in 22nd Judicial Circuit Court even though the automatic stay 
was in place (the third consecutive law firm to do so)


d)  �Did not sign any agreement with Bankrupty trustee who they knew had standing 
as plaintiff in the case from September 22, 2015 to October 31, 2016. (the third 
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consecutive law firm to do so)


e)  �Knew or should have known that Gagnon already effectively admitted to negligence 
for Dulberg’s injury. (the third consecutive law firm to do so)


f)  �Worked with Allstate to successfully place an ‘upper cap’ on the value of PI 12LA178. 
(while an automatic stay was in place)


These actions are summarized in Table 2 below


TABLE 2:  � STRATEGIES AND METHODS OF 5 LAW FIRMS 
 RETAINED BY DULBERG


ATTORNEY STRATEGY METHODS


Popovich & Mast
Personal Injury Case 


12LA178


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally 


weakens or sabotages 
plaintiff’s case


Destruction and concealment of evidence 


Forged signatures


Staged depositions (depositions with no actual court reporter present)


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


Worked in violation of federal bankruptcy court automatic stay to force a settlement against 
client’s wishes


Represented a client when they knew client  had no standing as plaintiff in court


Tried to put a cap of $50,000 on the remaining case


(Described in detail in “Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178”)


Balke
Personal Injury Case 


12LA178


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally 


weakens or sabotages 
plaintiff’s case


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


Worked in violation of federal bankruptcy court automatic stay to force a settlement against 
client’s wishes


Represented client when they knew client had no standing as plaintiff in court


Tried to put a cap of $50,000 on the remaining case


The Baudins
Personal Injury Case 


12LA178


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally 


weakens or sabotages 
plaintiff’s case


Forgery


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


Worked in violation of federal bankruptcy court automatic stay to force a capped binding 
mediation agreememt against client’s wishes


Represented client when they knew client had no standing as plaintiff in court


Placed a cap of $300,000 on the remaining case


Gooch
Legal Malpractice Case 


17LA377


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally 


weakens or sabotages 
plaintiff’s case


Said he would file lawsuit in 7 days but actually filed more than 11 months later


Gooch law office did not even scan client’s files into digital form for 6 months


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


Suppression of information on bankruptcy, Baudin and Popovich negligence


Filed 2 complaints which intentionally included a ‘trap door’ to allow defendants to get out 
of the case on 2-619 and 2-615 summary judgment


(Described in detail in this document)


Clinton & 
Williams


Legal Malpractice Case 
17LA377


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally 


weakens or sabotages 
plaintiff’s case


Massive and sophisticated suppression of key evidence and information during pleadings and 
discovery document disclosure process


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


(Described in detailed in “Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-
Williams Representation”)


4.	 All successive attorneys to the same (fully disabled) client used the same overall strategy:  To 
intentionally weaken or sabotage their own client’s case. All three personal injury attorneys 
retained by Dulberg acted in violation of the automatic stay.  They continued to appear in 
the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court (which operated for approximately 25 months in violation of 
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the automatic stay) claiming to represent Dulberg (who had no standing as plaintiff). All 3 PI 
attorneys made efforts to place a cap on the remaining case without having any authority 
from the Bankruptcy Court to do so. Both legal malpractice attorneys suppressed all 
information of how all 3 PI law firms violated federal bankruptcy laws from Dulberg and from 
the complaints.


5.	 All five law firms (3 personal injury law firms and 2 legal malpractice law firms) knew or 
could easily discover that the personal injury defendant (who was operating the chainsaw that 
injured Dulberg) Gagnon effectively admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury as of early 
March, 2013. None of the 5 law firms ever informed Dulberg of this. The original defendant and 
operator of the chainsaw, Gagnon, admitted to being negligent:


About 10 months before Dulberg was coerced into settling with the owners of the 
property (the McGuires) on which the accident occurred and for whom Gagnon was 
working.


About 21 months before Dulberg declared bankruptcy.


About 39 months before any binding mediation agreement with Gagnon was mentioned. 


About 40 months before any cap was placed on any binding mediation award from 
Gagnon.


6.	 There was no reason for any of these activities to take place if the defendant who operated 
the chainsaw already admitted to being negligent.


7.	 On December 12, 2016 Randall Baudin recommended Dulberg contact his office and ask 
Myrna for the name of the legal malpractice attorney they use.


8.	 On or about December 13, 2016 Myrna Boyce provided Dulberg with the contact information 
for Thomas Gooch and Dulberg first contacted Thomas Gooch the same day.


9.	 Dulberg first met with Thomas Gooch on December 16, 2016.  Dulberg’s brother Thomas 
Kost also attended the meeting.


10.	Dulberg told Gooch about his bankruptcy.  Dulberg told Gooch that he was forced into a 
binding mediation process by the bankruptcy Trustee and Judge.


11.	At the first meeting Dulberg explained to Thomas Gooch that an arbitration judge awarded 
$560,000 but Dulberg could only collect $300,000.  Dulberg told Gooch that he never agreed to 
be entered into binding mediation and he refused to sign the agreement so his signature cannot be 
found on any agreement.


12.	Dulberg gave Gooch a copy of the unsigned mediation agreement.1


13.	Dulberg gave Gooch a certified slip ruling of the Tilschner v Spangler decision2 dated the 


1  Exhibit 106_33391BMAG - Dulberg v. Gagnon Rvsd. - 12-8-16 (00600056xB3A5A).pdf
2  Exhibit 107_2013-11-20_certified slip ruling of Tilschner v Spangler Mast gave Dulberg.pdf
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day the ruling was issued, May 6, 2011.  Gooch looked up Tilschner v Spangler on his computer, 
gave the certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler back to Dulberg, and told Dulberg he did not 
need the document because he already has access to the decision through the internet.


14.	At the first meeting Dulberg explained to Thomas Gooch that Mast’s legal theory of 
why property owners (the McGuires) were not liable for Dulberg’s injury was because the 
Restatement of Torts 318 is not applicable in Illinois as demonstrated in the case of Tilschner v 
Spangler.


15.	Dulberg explained to Thomas Gooch that Mast explained his legal theory to Dulberg at a 
meeting with a witness present and with the witness taking notes.


16.	Gooch gave Dulberg other documents1 at their first meeting.


17.	On the subject of statute of limitations, Gooch told Dulberg and his brother, Thomas Kost, 
that the 2 year statute of limitations begins to toll immediately as of Dulberg’s first meeting with 
Gooch.  Specializing in legal malpractice, Gooch can be considered an ‘expert’ on the subject 
of attorney liability, and therefore Dulberg’s first meeting with Gooch establishes the time when 
Dulberg first “knew” Popovich and Mast breached a duty of care and caused a pecuniary injury.  
Dulberg and his brother, Thomas Kost,  were informed by Gooch that the 2 year statute of 
limitations begins on December 16, 2016 because this is when Dulberg first learned (from Gooch 
himself) that he has a valid claim against Popovich and Mast.


18.	Gooch did not mention to Dulberg that W. Randal Baudin II and Kelly Baudin, the Baudin 
Law Group or Baudin & Baudin did anything inappropriate or that Dulberg has a malpractice 
claim against the Baudins.


19.	Gooch did not mention anything about an automatic stay.  In fact, Gooch has never 
mentioned anything about any automatic stay applying to the underlying personal injury case.


20.	On December 16, 2016 Gooch produced an ATTORNEY-CLIENT RETAINER 
AGREEMENT ADVANCED FEE WAIVER.2


21.	The agreement is signed by Paul R. Dulberg and THOMAS W. GOOCH for GAUTHIER and 
GOOCH.


22.	Thomas Gooch entered into an attorney client relationship with Dulberg.


23.	Based upon the attorney client relationship, Thomas Gooch and any other attorneys working 
for his firm owed professional duties to Dulberg, including a duty of care.


24.	The agreement stated:  


“This is an Agreement you, Paul R. Dulberg of 4606 Haydew Court, McHenry, Illinois, 


1  Exhibit 108_2016-12-16_Gooch 1st meeting Documents.pdf
2  Exhibit 109_2016-12-16_Gooch Retainer.pdf
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and I, THOMAS W. GOOCH, of THE LAW OFFICES OF GAUTHIER and GOOCH, 
have made this 16th day of December, 2016.”


25.	Section 1 of the agreement stated:  


“ENGAGEMENT AGREEMENT - You agree to retain and engage me to represent 
you in relation to a certain matter relating to an excessive fees case against Thomas J. 
Popovich, the Law Offices of Thomas J. popovich, P.., and his nominees, you authorize 
me to appear in any lawsuit which may be filed in this matter, to enter into discussions 
toward settlement or compromise of any such litigation, or to proceed as I deem advisable 
with your approval.”


26.	Section 7 of the letter stated:  


“SETTLEMENT - I will not make any settlement of your case without your consent, nor 
will any proceedings be filed in court without your prior knowledge and consent unless 
necessary to protect you interests on an emergency basis.”


27.	On December 16, 2016 Thomas Gooch caused a letter1 to sent to Thomas Popovich and the 
Law Offices of Thomas J. Popovich, P.C. at 3416 West Elm St, McHenry.  The letterhead stated: 


“Law Office Gauthier and Gooch 209 South Main St, Wauconda IL.” 


28.	The letter stated:  


“RE: Dulberg v Popovich, “Greetings,  I have been retained by Paul R. Dulberg to 
represent him in a cause of action of legal malpractice against you for the mishandling 
of his case and the settlement of a specific portion of that case for substantially less than 
could have been obtained.”


29.	The letter also stated:  


“You should aquaint the adjuster you speak with of my identity and if they so wish 
they may contact me.  However, I intend to file suit against you in the next 7 
days.”[Emphasis added]  


The letter is concluded: 


“Very truly yours, Gauthier & Gooch” 


and is signed by Thomas W. Gooch III.


30.	On December 21, 2016 Gooch was involved in the preparation of the Allstate Release 
Agreement signed by Dulberg. 


1  Exhibit 108_2016-12-16_Gooch 1st meeting Documents.pdf, (page 4)
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31.	On December 27, 2016 at 11:39 AM Dulberg sent an email to David Stretch stating:1


“Hi Dave,


   How do I get a copy of all communication between my bankruptcy Trustee’s and the 
law office of Thomas Popovich, Tom Popovich, Hans Mast, Brad Balke and Kelly & 
Randy Boudin or any of their assistants sent to the office of Thomas Gooch who currently 
represents me in another matter?


    Thomas Gooch’s contact information; 
    email: tgooch@gauthierandgooch.com 
    Phone: 847-526-0110 
Thanks again, Paul 


32.	From: David Stretch <stretchlaw@gmail.com>


33.	On December 27, 2016 at 4:11 PM Joe Olsen sent an email to David Stretch stating:2


“Dave- 
You were going to re-check your notes and advise/amend schedules re potential 
malpractice claim? Can you let me know where you are at w/ the review etc.?”


34.	On December 27, 2016 at 4:20 PM David Stretch sent an email to Joseph Olsen stating:3


“Joe, 
I did check my notes and found nothing. At the time of filing Paul’s attorney was the 
Popovitch firm, Hans Mast was the attorney. That information was disclosed on Schedule 
B, as you know. Because I couldn’t find anything I emailed Paul and asked him to send 
me a copy of the complaint from any malpractice action he may have filed.  
He responded today with a letter from Attorney Tom Gooch, Waukegan, to Mast, 
announcing that he, Gooch, intended to file a malpractice action within 7 days. The 
letter was dated December 16. I have received nothing further from Paul. I, minutes ago, 
forwarded that letter to you. I will let you know if I receive anything further. 
Thanks, 
Happy New Year 
David L. Stretch”


35.	The box of 12LA178 paper case files Dulberg left with Gooch just after their first meeting on 
December 16, 2016 were not scanned4 into digital files the until June 26, 2017 to June 28, 2017.5 
(more than 6 months after Gooch wrote the letter to Popovich stating he intended to file suit 
within 7 days).


1  Exhibit 238_2018-12-27_Re Bankruptcy Communication_Stretch.pdf
2  Group Exhibit 39-Olsen subpoena and response:  Fwd Re Dulberg.pdf
3  Group Exhibit 39-Olsen subpoena and response:  Fwd Re Dulberg.pdf
4  Group Exhibit 36_When Gooch scanned in files (note the creation dates and times on all the files)
5  Exhibit 110_2017-06-29_REMINDER Documents Ready For Pick Up.pdf
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36.	On November 8th or 9th, 2017 Randall Baudin Sr called Dulberg.  After they talked on the 
phone, sent an email to himself in order to record notes of the conversation.  He intended to send 
the notes to Gooch.  Appendix 1 is a record of the exchange.1


37.	On November 28, 2017 Thomas Gooch filed Dulberg’s COMPLAINT AT LAW2 (which was 
about 330 days from the time Gooch’s letter stating “I intend to file suit within 7 days”).  


38.	The defendants named in the complaint are “The Law Office of Thomas J. Popovich and 
Hans Mast”  Thomas Gooch did not name Thomas J. Popovich individually as a defendant.


39.	It is most likely common knowledge among legal malpractice attorneys that a legal 
malpractice complaint must include both:


1)  Claim of how the attorney being sued is legally liable


2)  Claim of how the opposing party in the underlying case is legally liable.


This is most likely true for the simple reason that an attorney cannot be held liable for losing a 
case that was not winnable anyway.


40.	COMPLAINT AT LAW consists of 22 paragraphs.  There is not a single point in any 
paragraph related to the duty of care the McGuires owed to Dulberg or any breach of that care 
(which is considered the”underlying case” or “case within a case” as all legal malpractice 
attorneys are undoubtably aware).


41.	There is no point or paragraph in the complaint which required information to which Gooch 
did not have access 11 months earlier.  There is no evidence that any research had been done 
from December 16, 2016 to November 28, 2017 that would have caused any delay in filing the 
COMPLAINT AT LAW.


42.	Thomas Gooch did not refer at all to the legal theory (Tilschner v Spangler and the 
Restatement of Torts 318) which Mast gave to Dulberg to explain why Mast believed the 
McGuires were not liable for Dulberg’s injury in the COMPLAINT AT LAW.


43.	Gooch did not include any information about Brad J. Balke, W. Randall Baudin, Kelly 
Baudin, the Baudin Law Group, Baudin & Baudin or Trustee Olsen or name any of them as 
defendants.  None of their names appeared in the complaint at all.


44.	Thomas Gooch did not mention anything about Dulberg’s bankruptcy in the complaint or 
about any attorney violating any automatic stay.


45.	Thomas Gooch did not include the fact that Dulberg never agreed to enter into binding 
mediation and never signed any agreement in the complaint.  In fact, in the complaint Gooch 
wrote that a “high-low agreement” had been “executed by Dulberg” in paragraph 16:


1  See Exhibit 3 Appendix A
2  Exhibit 111_2017-11-28_COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
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16.  Thereafter, DULBERG retained other attorneys and proceeded to a binding 
mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG received a binding mediation 
award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  Unfortunately, a “high-
low agreement” had been executed by DULBERG, reducing the maximum amount he 
could recover to $300,000.00 based upon the insurance policy available.  The award was 
substantially more than the sum of the money, and could have been recovered from the 
McGuire’s had they not been dismissed from the complaint.[Emphasis added]


46.	COMPLAINT AT LAW referred to Brad Balke, W. Randall Baudin, Kelly Baudin, Baudin 
Law Group, and Baudin & Baudin by the term “other attorneys” but never uses the word 
“Baudin” in any context.


47.	Gooch knew or should have known that the CROSS-CLAIM1 filed on February 1, 2013 by 
the McGuires against Gagnon was never answered by Gagnon since early March, 2013.


48.	Gooch knew or should have known that Popovich and Mast, and Balke, and the Baudins also 
knew or should have known the CROSS-CLAIM filed by the McGuires against Gagnon was 
never answered. 


49.	On February 7, 2018 Defendants Popovich and Mast filed DEFENDANTS’ COMBINED 
MOTION TO DISMISS2


50.	Item 4 states:  


“Dulberg fails to allege requisite facts in support of each and every element of the 
“underlying” case or “case within a case” against the McGuires”. 


The statement is true since Gooch completely ignored this issue in his 22 paragraph complaint.


51.	Item 8 states:  


“Dulberg has failed to file his legal malpractice complaint against Popovich and Mast 
within the two year statute of limitations period which shall begin to run at “the time the 
person bringing the action knew or reasonably should have known of the injury for which 
damages are sought.”


52.	Item 9 states:  


“Here, the Plaintiff did not file his Legal Malpractice Complaint against Defendents until 
November 28, 2017, at least seven (7) months too late.”


(By this statement the defendants imply that the statute of limitations begins to toll when Dulberg 
fired Popovich and Mast, in March, 2015.) 


1  Exhibit 112_�2013-02-01_CROSS CLAIM FOR CONTRIBUTION AGAINST CODEFENDANT DAVID 
GAGNON_CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE_Barch-McGuires copy-OCR.pdf


2  Exhibit 113_�2018-02-07_DEFENDANTS’ COMBINED MOTION TO DISMISS.pdf
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53.	MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ COMBINED MOTION TO 
DISMISS1  Flynn page 5 states:  


“Dulberg fails to allege requisite facts in support of each and every element of the 
“underlying” case or “case within the case” against the McGuires”.  Simply put, Dulberg 
fails to plead any facts n support of his conclusions that there was some liability against 
the McGuires.”


54.	On March 27, 2018 Gooch filed PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ 
COMBINED MOTION TO DISMISS.  Rather than simply explain how the McGuires (the 
‘underlying case’) were liable for Dulberg’s injury as required by law, Gooch answered 
arguments of the defense motion to dismiss in the following ways:


1.  A motion to Dismiss pursuant to section 2-615 attacks the legal sufficiency of the 
Complaint by alleging defects on its face.  Weisblatt v. Colky, 265 Ill.App.#d 622, 625, 
637 N.E.2d 1198, 1200 (1st Dist. 1994).  Section 2-615 motions “raise but a single issue:  
whether, when taken as true, the facts alleged in the Complaint set forth a good and 
sufficient cause of action.” Visvardis v. Ferleger 375 Ill.App.3d 719, 723, 873 N.E.2d 
436, 440 (Ill.App.I Dist. 2007), quoting Scott Wetzel Services v. Regard, 271 Ill.App.3d 
478, 480, 208 Ill. De. 98, 648 N.E.2d 1020 (1995).


2.  When the legal sufficiency of a Complaint is challenged by a section 2-615 Motion 
to Dismiss, all well-pleaded facts in the Complaint are taken as true and a reviewing 
court must determine whether the allegations of the Complaint, construed in a light most 
favorable to the plaintiff, are sufficient to establish a cause of action upon which relief 
may be granted.  Vitro v. Mihelcic, 209 Ill.2d 76, 81, 806 N.E.2d 1155, 1161 (2005).  A 
cause of action should not be dismissed on the pleadings unless it clearly appears that no 
set of facts can be proved that will entitiled the plaintiff to recover.  Zedella v. Gibson, 
165 Ill.2d 181, 185, 650 N.E.2d 1000 (1995).


55.	The only other section that is related to the 2-615 motion is section 7, which states:


  “Specifically, DULBERG properly established that “but for”the acts of the Defendants 
in urging DULBERG to release the McGuires, DULBERG suffered substantial 
damages.”


56.	Paragraph 10 states:  


“Defendants, in their Motion to Dismiss, are requiring of DULBERG to plead his entire 
case in a single Complaint.”


57.	Paragraph 11 states:  


 “Plaintiff is not required to prove his case at this stage of the pleadings and the damages 
as alleged are sufficient to show he was damaged by Defendants’ actions and cause of 


1  Exhibit 114_2018-02-07_MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’.pdf
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action for legal malpratice.  Fox v. Seiden, supra, at 294; Platson v. NSM America, Inc., 
322 Ill.App. 3d 138, 143 (2nd Dist., 2001)(‘Cases are not to be tried in the pleading stage, 
so a claimant need only show the possibility of recovery, not an absolute right to recover, 
to survive a 2-615 Motion.’).  Here, DULBERG has shown at least a possibility of 
recovery based on the malpractice of POPOVICH, thus should survive Defendants’ 2-615 
Motion.


58.	Paragraph 12 states:  


“The allegations set forth by DULBERG are not conclusions and are sufficient to 
sithstand a Section 2-615 dismissal. By looking at the Complaint, DULBERG has clearly 
set forth each of the elements of legal malpractice.”


59.	The above statements from PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ COMBINED 
MOTION TO DISMISS1 are the entire argument Gooch gives toward defeating the 2-615 
motion. 


60.	Rather than simply listing the ways in which McGuires were liable for Dulberg’s injury (as 
required by Illinois law) Gooch attempted to argue that such a simple list is not necessary. (It was 
a complaint with a “trap door” written into it.  It was a complaint set up to fail.)


61.	On April 12, 2018 Dulberg sent an email to Gooch and Margaret G. Buckley that stated:  


“I noticed part of the defense argument was centered around our response to “defendants 
combined motion to dismiss” #4. In there it states that; “DULBERG’s gross award of 
$660,000 was cut to only $300,000 due to a high-low agreement that was executed as 
part of the McGuire settlement.” 
“ was executed as part of the McGuire settlement.” must be a typo. “was accepted 
because of the McGuire settlement” is much closer to the truth. 
Im not exactly sure who or where the hi-low idea originated but I suspect it was Allstate 
Insurance for GAGNON. Randy Jr & Kelly Baudin would know the details. 
Should I contact them?”  


Gooch never replied.


62.	On May 10, 2018 defendents’ 2-615 motion to dismiss Dulberg’s complaint was granted.  
The reasons given were2...


 “Dulberg fails to allege requisite facts in support of each and every element of the 
“underlying” case or “case within a case” against the McGuires”3  


Dulberg was given leave to file a first amended complaint.


1  Exhibit 115_2018-03-27_PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE.pdf
2  Exhibit 116_2018-05-10_ROP.pdf
3 � Opposing counsel simply used the “trap door” written into the complaint by Gooch to be granted a Motion to 


Dismiss
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63.	Around May 20, 2018 Dulberg and Thomas Kost met with Sabina Walczyk just before the 
first amended complaint was to be filed by Gooch to discuss the complaint before filing it with 
the court.  


Walczyk claimed that legally the discovery of the injury mentioned in 735 ILCS 5/13-214.3(b) 
was when Dulberg’s previous attorneys (The Baudins) in the underlying case received the 
report from the chainsaw expert Dr Lanford created on Febuary 17, 2016 which stated in part 
“it is my opinion that Mr. Gagnon was fully responsible for this accident and his parents - the 
McGuires - were also somewhat responsible by letting their son, Mr. Gagnon, use their chainsaw 
- a potentially dangerous tool - without enforcing the warnings and instructions available in the 
owner’s manual.” 


Walczyk insisted that legally Dulberg knew of the injury from the chainsaw expert’s report and 
not the award amount because of the phrase “knew or reasonably should have known” found in 
735 ILCS 5/13-214.3(b), an argument later used by Flynn. 


Walczyk knew or should have known that:


a.  �A chansaw expert is not a legal expert when it comes to breaches in the standard of 
care, tolling a staute of limitation or when a 2 year statute of limitations begins for 
legal malpractice.


b.  �The injury had to be a quantifiable financial or pecuniary injury before Dulberg ‘knew 
or reasonably should have known’.


c.  �That the discovery of the injury is not the discovery of the attorneys ‘wrong doing’ 
but rather the discovery of the ‘pecuniary loss’ that resulted from the attorneys ‘wrong 
doing’.


d.  �That any cause of action filed for legal malpractice prior to the pecuniary injury on 
12/12/2012 would be thown out because the financial loss for the attorney ‘wrong 
doing’ could not be quantified and the underlying case had not come to rest.


e. �Dulberg and his bothers Thomas Kost were not attorneys and could not define the 
‘injury’ mentioned in 735 ILCS 5/13-214.3(b) on their own and were completely 
reliant on their legal counsel to do such.


64.	On June 7, 2018 FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW1 was filed with the Court.  The 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW consists of 32 paragraphs.  The first 13 paragraphs 
are identical to the original complaint.  There were (once again) no paragraphs related to the 
duty of care the McGuires owed to Dulberg or a breach of that care in the FIRST AMENDED 
COMPLAINT.


65.	In the FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW there is no mention of a minimum or 
maximum award limit at all.


1  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
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66.	In the FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW, Gooch refers to Brad Balke, W. Randall 
Baudin II, Kelly Baudin, Baudin Law Group, and Baudin & Baudin as “other attorneys” but 
never uses the name “Baudin” in any context.


67.	Paragraph 24 of FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW states:  


“Thereafter, DULBERG retained other attorneys and proceeded to a court ordered 
binding mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG received a binding 
mediation award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  However, due 
to the settlement with the McGuires, DULBERG was only able to collect $300,000 based 
upon the insurance policy available.”[Emphasis added]


68.	There is no mention of any automatic stay.  Thomas Popovich individually is not named as a 
defendant.


Rather than simply listing the ways in which McGuires were liable for Dulberg’s injury (as 
required by Illinois law), Gooch attempted to argue that such a simple list is not necessary. (The 
same “trap door” was written into the AMENDED COMPLAINT.  It was another complaint set 
up to fail.)


69.	On July 5, 2018 Popovich and Mast filed DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS1


70.	Item 5 states:  


“Dulberg fails to allege requisite facts in support of a legal malpractice claim, including 
each and every element of the “underlying” case or “case within a case” against the 
McGuires.”


This statement is identical to the statement in paragraph 49 on their first MTD.  Opposing 
counsel could give an identical reply because Gooch made an identical mistake.  (The 
AMENDED COMPLAINT was set up to fail a second time.)


71.	Item 6 states:  


“Dulberg’s complaint must be dismissed pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-615.”


72.	MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST 
AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW2  Page 6 states:  


“He also fails to plead any facts concerning the McGuires’ liablility in the unlerlying 
case.”  This is the same reason the original complaint was rejected.”


The statement is true.  (This is the “trap door” that was written into both complaints.)


73.	Page 3 states:  


1  Exhibit 118_2018-07-05_DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS.pdf
2  Exhibit 119_2018-07-05_MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’.pdf
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“Dulberg retained successor counsel and proceeded to a binding mediation and received a 
mediation award”.


74.	On August 17, 2018 Gooch filed PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION 
TO DISMISS FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW1.  Rather than simply explain how the 
McGuires (the ‘underlying case’) owed a duty of care to Dulberg (as an invitee on their property 
with hazardous work being performed) and were vicariously liable as Gagnon’s direct employers 
for Dulberg’s injury as required by law, Gooch answered arguments of the defense motion to 
dismiss in the following ways:


75.	Gooch produced “Argument (under 2-615)”2 titled “Dulberg sufficiently states a cause of 
action for legal malpractice against the Defendants” in which in paragraph 1 (line 1)  Gooch 
states: 


“In his First Amended Complaint, DULBERG sufficiently set forth the necessary 
elements of legal malpractice.”


76.	In “Argument (under 2-615)” Gooch gives a 34 paragraph argument for why the Defendants’ 
2-615 Motion for Dismissal should not be granted.  Not one of the 34 paragraphs addressed 
why the McGuires owed Dulberg a duty of care the day of the accident.  Not one of these items 
addressed how the McGuires breached that duty to Dulberg. 


77.	On September 7, 2018 at 10:06 AM Dulberg sent an email to Gooch stating:3 


“Please find the attached comments_on_Letter_to_Judge_Meyer.txt file


Will see you on Monday to discuss”


In the attached file it stated:


“Comments on “Letter to Judge Meyer” by MAST defendents....


Defendents wrote:  “What did they (the McGuires) do wrong?”


a)  MCGUIRES purchased and provided GAGNON a chainsaw without following 
the directions and heeding the warnings clearly printed in the operator’s manual’s that 
accompanied the chainsaw.  Chainsaw was purchased on 5-22-2011 and was first used on 
6-28-2011, the day DULBERG was injured.


b)  The operator’s manual clearly states in large, bold font:  “WARNING - To ensure safe 
and correct operation of the chainsaw, ths operator’s manual should always be kept with 
or near the machine.  Do not lend or rent your chainsaw without the operator’s instruction 
manual.”


1  Exhibit 120_2018-08-17_PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST.pdf
2  Exhibit 120_�2018-08-17_PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS FIRST.pdf, 


page 2
3 � Exhibit 225_�2018-09-07-a_Dulberg-Gooch 100481-100483_Sent_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich 


PC et a_Pages-3.pdf
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c)  Just under this warning on the same page the operator’s manual clearly states in large, 
bold font:  “WARNING - Allow only persons who understand this manual to operate your 
chainsaw.”


d)  The manual has a list clearly labeled as “SAFETY RULES”.  The first listed rule is:  
“Read this manual carefully until you completely understand and can follow all safety 
rules, precautions, and operatng instructions before attempting to use the unit.”


e)  The second listed safety rule is:  “Restrict the use of your saw to adult users who 
understand and can follow safety rules, precautions, and operating instructions found in 
this manual.”  


f)  The fourth listed safety rule is:  “Keep children, bystanders, and animals a minimum 
of 35 feet (10 meters) away from the work area.  Do not allow other people or animals to 
be near the chainsaw when starting or operating the chainsaw (Fig.2).”  There is a large 
picture next to this rule of people standing at least 35 feet away from a person operating a 
chainsaw.


g)  The MCGUIRES asked DULBERG to help GAGNON.  DULBERG did not go 
to the MCGUIRES property to help cut down a tree.  He went to see if he wanted the 
wood.  Only after he was on the property for more than two hour was he asked by the 
MCGUIRES if he could help GAGNON.


i)  Had the MCGUIRES read and followed the warnings and safety rules in the operators 
manual, the injury to DULBERG could not have occurred.


j)  The MCGUIRES were in possession of the owners manual and looked at it while 
DULBERG was present, however they asked DULBERG to help GAGNON anyway.  
They had the manual and DULBERG did not.  They had access to knowledge about the 
warnings clearly stated in the manual that DULBERG did not have.  “A duty to warn 
exists where there is unequal knowledge, actual or constructive, and the defendant, 
possessed of such knowledge, knows or should know that harm might or could occur if 
no warning is given.” (many citations available)


Defendents wrote:  “There is no factual allegation as to why such an expert mattered.”


The expert on chainsaw use later retained by DULBERG stated that the owners of 
the chainsaw are liable for not heeding the clear warnings written in bold font on the 
operator’s manual. 


Defendents wrote:  “DULBERG fails to specify how he was misled.  Even if MAST 
made a mistake about the MCGUIRES’ insurance coverage, it made no difference, and 
there was no damage.  DULBERG cannot explain why $300,000 versus $100,000 in 
coverage made any difference, when he settled for $5,000.  Had he settled for $99,999.99, 
his argument for damages may be colorable.  In any event, he alleges no facts in support 
of the allegation that facts were “concealed.””


MAST never claimed the McGuires insurance policy limit was $100,000.  He claimed 
the GAGNON insurance policy limit was $100,000 when it was actually $300,000.  
DULBERG never knew what GAGNONs actual coverage was until he retained new 
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counsel.


DULBERG still does not know what the MCGUIRES’ policy limit was because 
MAST never informed him despite repeated requests to MAST by DULBERG for that 
information.  In fact, there is no evidence at all within the case documents later given 
by MAST to DULBERG that MAST was ever in possession of the MCGUIRES’ policy 
terms or limits.


DULBERG explicitly asked for documents related to the MCGUIRES’ insurance policy 
and was refused by MAST.”


The information in the attached file was never included in any of the pleadings or the Gooch case 
file turned over after Gooch was fired by Dulberg suggesting that Gooch intentionally ignored 
the contents of this email.


78.	On September 7, 2018 Gooch sent an email with the Subject: “Automatic reply: Dulberg vs. 
Law Offices of Thomas J. Popovich, P.C., et a” stating:1


“I will be on a well deserved vaction thru the morning of September 12. I will however 
be taking cell phone calls as needed and will be checking email at least twice a day. I will 
have access to client files. My colleague, Sabina Walczk will be available and may be 
contacted at our office.”


79.	On September 10, 2018 Dulberg delivered copies of chainsaw manuals to the office of 
Gooch.  They were scanned and named:


Duhlberg Manual Received on 9.10.18 fr. Client- 3.pdf 
Duhlberg Manual Recieved on 9.10.18 fr. Client- 2.pdf


The files were placed in the Gooch digital case file in this folder:


Gooch Thumbdrive/UNDERLYING CASE DOCS2 


80.	As described in “Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton -Williams 
Representation” Clinton and Williams appear to mock their own fully disabled client by 
repeatedly mis-typing his name as “Duhlburg” (as can be seen in “Visual Aid 11 - Mocking 
client”)3.  Gooch mocked Dulberg the same way.4


81.	 On September 12, 2018 the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss took place.  Neither Gooch nor 
Sabina appeared in court.  They did not anounce they wouldn’t attend beforehand.  They simply 
didn’t show up.  Dulberg was alone in court.


82.	On September 12, 2018, over 500 days after Gooch wrote the letter to opposing counsel 


1  Exhibit 121_2018-09-07_Automatic reply Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
2  Key Clinton Folder 1: UNDERLYING CASE DOCS (contains the files)
3  Visual Aid 11 - Mocking client.png
4  See paragraph 93
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stating his intention to file a complaint within 7 days, the defense 2-615 motion to dismiss 
Dulberg’s first amended complaint was granted for the same reason the earlier 2-615 motion 
to dismiss Dulberg’s original complaint was granted on May 10, 2018.  It is because Gooch 
did not list a single item in the original COMPLAINT AT LAW1 or in the FIRST AMENDED 
COMPLAINT2 that addressed why the McGuires owed a duty of care to Dulberg or how they 
breached that duty.  Dulberg was given leave to submit a second amended complaint.


83.	On September 12, 2018 at 12:33 PM Dulberg sent an email to Gooch and Sabina stating:3  


“I missed either of you in court this morning.  I did not bring my phone into the 
courthouse so i couldn’t call you.  Hope nothing bad happened to delay you and that 
everything is okay.  From what i understood, Judge Meyer moved forward without you 
and struck down the vast majority of our amended pleading as conclusions or redundant.”


84.	Dulberg explained to Gooch that Judge Meyer gave a number of specific rulings in court 
which describe why he granted the Motion to Dismiss.  Dulberg suggested Gooch should order 
the Report of Proceedings.


85.	On September 19, 2018 Gooch sent an email to Dulberg stating:4  


“Court order is not as problem, get it to you today.  The transcript is expensive and needs 
to be ordered frpom the court whih we can do but I believe is a waste of money pls advise 
oif you wish me to order it.  We are preparing the amended complaint.”


86.	On September 19, 2018 Dulberg sent an email to Gooch stating:5  


“I’m willing to pay for the transcript.  It details which parts of the order were struck down 
for redundancy and which were considered conclusions.  it should help you in writing the 
amended complaint.”


87.	Dulberg then asked his brother, Thomas Kost, to try to figure out why the Gooch complaints 
were not being accepted by the court and what needed to be done to fix the problem.  


88.	On October 1, 2018 Thomas Kost wrote a plain text document for Paul Dulberg called 
“second_amended_complaint_comments.txt”6 and emailed the document to Dulberg. Dulberg 
then sent7 the text document as an email attachment to Thomas Gooch.


89.	The end of the text document includes the following statement:  


“Within these notes I tried to explain 3 points:


1  Exhibit 111_2017-11-28_COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
2  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
3  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
4  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
5  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
6  Exhibit 123_2018-10-02_second_amended_complaint_comments.txt
7  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf, (page 40)
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1)  That the first amended complaint failed to adequately address the underlying case 
that DULBERG had against the MCGUIRES.  In other words, we have to show that 
DULBERG would have prevailed against the MCGUIRES if it wasn’t for the actions of 
MAST.  The first amended complaint did not sufficiently address the “case within a case” 
or the “underlying case”, which is against the MCGUIRES.


2)  The case against the McGuires could be made by using the restatement of torts 343 
or by using general negligence or in any other way that a premises liability or negligence 
expert would recommend.


3)  Arguments which support the liability of MAST have already been made in the first 
amended complaint.  But there are a few additional arguments that that may prove helpful 
to include.  They are the reasons Mast gave to Dulberg why he will get $5,000 or nothing.  
The only case Mast cited to Dulberg was Tilscher v Spangler, and because the case 
confirmed that restatement of torts 318 is not applicable in Illinios, Mast told Dulberg 
he has no case against the McGuires.  Mast also told Dulberg the judge would grant a 
summary judgement if Dulberg refused the offer.” 


90.	The text document has a section titled “HOW TO PRESENT THE LIABILITY OF THE 
MCGUIRES:” which lists 10 specific items labelled “a” through “i’.  The contents are:


“Facts:


a)  MCGUIRES purchased and provided GAGNON with a chainsaw without following 
the directions and heeding the warnings clearly printed in the operator’s manual that 
accompanied the chainsaw.  Chainsaw was purchased on 5-22-2011 and was first used on 
6-28-2011, the day DULBERG was injured.


b)  The operator’s manual clearly states in large, bold font:  “WARNING - To ensure safe 
and correct operation of the chainsaw, ths operator’s manual should always be kept with 
or near the machine.  Do not lend or rent your chainsaw without the operator’s instruction 
manual.”


c)  Just under this warning on the same page the operator’s manual clearly states in large, 
bold font:  “WARNING - Allow only persons who understand this manual to operate your 
chainsaw.”


d)  The manual has a list clearly labeled as “SAFETY RULES”.  The first listed rule is:  
“Read this manual carefully until you completely understand and can follow all safety 
rules, precautions, and operating instructions before attempting to use the unit.”


e)  The second listed safety rule is:  “Restrict the use of your saw to adult users who 
understand and can follow safety rules, precautions, and operating instructions found in 
this manual.” 


f)  The fourth listed safety rule is:  “Keep children, bystanders, and animals a minimum 
of 35 feet (10 meters) away from the work area.  Do not allow other people or animals to 
be near the chainsaw when starting or operating the chainsaw (Fig.2).”  There is a large 
picture next to this rule of people standing at least 35 feet away from a person operating a 
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chainsaw.


g)  The MCGUIRES asked DULBERG to help GAGNON.  DULBERG did not go 
to the MCGUIRES property to help cut down a tree.  He went to see if he wanted the 
wood.  Only after he was on the property for more than two hours was he asked by the 
MCGUIRES if he could help GAGNON.


h)  The MCGUIRES were in possession of the owners manual and looked at it while 
DULBERG was present, however they asked DULBERG to help GAGNON anyway.  
They had the manual and DULBERG did not.  They had access to knowledge about the 
warnings clearly stated in the manual that DULBERG did not have.  “A duty to warn 
exists where there is unequal knowledge, actual or constructive, and the defendant, 
possessed of such knowledge, knows or should know that harm might or could occur if 
no warning is given.”  (Pitler, 92 Ill.App.3d at 745, 47 Ill.Dec. 942, 415 N.E.2d 1255, 
quoting Kirby v. General Paving Co. (1967), 86 Ill.App.2d 453, 457, 229 N.E.2d 777.)


i)  Had the MCGUIRES read and followed the warnings and safety rules in the operators 
manual, the injury to DULBERG could not have occurred.


As stated in part (g), DULBERG came to the property in order to see if he wanted the 
wood from the tree and not to help with cutting.  Only after being on the property for 
more than two hours in the MCGUIRES’ presence did the MCGUIRES ask DULBERG 
to help GAGNON.  Therefore DULBERG was clearly an invitee and was owed a duty of 
‘reasonable care’ by the MCGUIRES.


The MCGUIRE’S were in possession of the operator’s manual of the chainsaw.  They 
were also the owners of the chainsaw.   Multiple warnings were clearly printed in bold 
font in the operator’s manual, so the MCGUIRES should have realized that asking 
DULBERG to help GAGNON while not following any of the warnings described in parts 
(b), (c), (d), (e), and (f) involved an unreasonable risk of harm to DULBERG.


The MCGUIRES should have expected that since DULBERG did not have access to the 
operator’s manual he was not aware of the explicit warnings described in parts (b), (c), 
(d), (e), and (f).


Therefore the MCGUIRES failed to exercise reasonable care toward DULBERG.  They 
had access to knowledge about the warnings clearly stated in the manual that DULBERG 
did not have.  “A duty to warn exists where there is unequal knowledge, actual or 
constructive, and the defendant, possessed of such knowledge, knows or should know 
that harm might or could occur if no warning is given.” (Pitler, 92 Ill.App.3d at 745, 
47 Ill.Dec. 942, 415 N.E.2d 1255, quoting Kirby v. General Paving Co. (1967), 86 Ill.
App.2d 453, 457, 229 N.E.2d 777.)


The chainsaw accident was or should have been reasonably foreseeable to a person who 
read the warnings described in parts (b), (c), (d), (e), and (f) and failed to heed those 
warnings.  Had the MCGUIRES read and followed the warnings and safety rules in the 
operators manual, the injury to DULBERG could not have occurred.


91.	The text document includes a section titled “CONCERNING MAST’S LIABILITY” which 







20
ARDC COMPLAINT AGAINST THOMAS W GOOCH AND SABINA WALCZYK


states:


“  MAST told DULBERG at a meeting in which DULBERG was trying to decide 
whether to accept the MCGUIRE’s offer of $5,000 that because the restatement of torts 
318 is not applicable in Illinois, DULBERG had no case against the MCGUIRES and that 
the MCGUIRES did not have to offer any settlement at all.  DULBERG asked MAST 
to cite case law that shows why the MCGUIRES were not at least partially liable for 
DULBERG’S injury, and MAST cited Tilscher v Spangler, a case which confirms that 
restatement of torts 318 is not applicable in Illinois.  But note the claim of MCGUIRE’S 
liability given above relies on restatement of torts 343 or a general neglegence claim.  It 
is completely independent of restatement of torts 318. 


At the same meeting MAST also informed DULBERG that the MCGUIRES made an 
offer of $5,000 to be nice (they did not have to offer anything) and if DULBERG did 
not accept the offer it would be withdrawn and the MCGUIRES will ask for summary 
judgement.  MAST informed DULBERG that the presiding judge would grant the 
MCGUIRES a summary judgement dismissing the case against them, leaving DULBERG 
with no settlement at all from the MCGUIRES.”


92.	This text document sent from Dulberg to Gooch included instructions to list the liabilities of 
McGuires and the liabilities of Mast in a clear and explicit way in the complaint.


93.	On 10/2/2018 1:06 PM Thomas Gooch replied to Dulberg by email stating:1


“>


> Mr. Duhlberg;


>


> I have your attachment and am deeply offended by it.


>


> I more upset over being ordered to call you today.  I am preparing for trial and frankly 
don’t have time to read or comment on your attempts to educate me on what legal 
malpractice is all about, I particularly don’t have time top read outdated cases on the 
elements of a legal malpractice case, nor do I have any intention of quoting the law you 
sent to me.


>


> You understand full well I’m sure that I have been doing this for a very long time, if I 
need help on understanding the law I will get from someone who knows how to do legal 
research, you and your brother don’t.


>


> If I have anymore of this authoritative comments or instructions I will have to give 


1  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
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particular thought to withdrawing my appearance and letting you represent your self or 
find someone else, understand this is not an empty threat, I will tolerate any more of this.  
If I need a factual question answered and I’m sure I will in the course of this litigation 
then I will ask you but kindly stop with rudimentary research.  The Google searches of 
you and your brother are not replacements for my law license.


>


> I generally don’t have a proble3m with relatives helping out and being involved just so 
long as the client understands that the relatives involvement may waive the attorney client 
privilege.  However at this point your brother has become more the problem then helpful.  
While I can not prevent him from injecting himself into your case through you, I am no 
longer willing to have him present at conferences or communicate directly with me.


>


> At this point with everything I have going and the attitude you are displaying I have 
serious doubts as continuing to represent you.  Kindly do not communicate with my staff 
on the telephone in the manner you chose today


>


> Sincerely


>


> Thomas W Gooch”


94.	It is described in “Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton -Williams 
representation” Clinton and Williams appear to mock their own fully disabled client by 
repeatedly mis-typing his name as “Duhlburg” (as can be seen in “Visual Aid 11 - Mocking 
client”)1.  Note that Gooch begins the letter by writing “Mr. Duhlberg”.  This appears to be a 
shared inside joke between Popovich, Mast, Gooch and Clinton and Williams.  They all mis-
spelled his name the same way.


95.	Dulberg responded by email stating2, 


“Hello Tom and Sabina,  I didn’t understand the last email I received so I need some 
clarification.  I was never rude or not courteous to you staff and your staff was always 
courteous to me.  Yesterday I talked with Nikki breifly just to confirm that the office 
received the email.  She was friendly and courteous.  I said nothing rude or offensive.


I never ordered you or anyone to call me yesterday.  I honestly don’t know why you 
believe I did.  I was not aware there was anything offensive in the attachment I sent.  As I 
read it again I still can’t see anything offensive in it.


As you know I have a permanent disability.  You may not know I am on medication to 
control pain and spasms and this medication does not allow me to focus on complex 


1  Exhibit 124_Visual Aid 11 - Mocking client.png
2  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
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subjects to a prolonged time.  Since I do not understand your last email and I don’t have 
much time before appearing in court I need to know where I stand.


Are you thinking of not continuing to represent me in this case?


Are you going to submit a second amended complaint on October 10 and appear in court?


Will I be given enough time to review the complaint before it is submitted?


May I comment on it or request changes to it or ask questions about it?


I do not want to offend anyone, so I need to know what I can comment on or ask 
questions about.


I have no memory of any inappropriate behavior when talking to Nikki yesterday.  Please 
let me know how I can communicate with your staff or what I can include in an email in 
the future so you are not offended again.


Sorry if I did anything wrong.  Sincerely, Paul Dulberg ”


96.	On October 3, 2018 Gooch replied to Dulberg’s email point by point.  Gooch responses are in 
red font.  The email1 is reproduced: 


“From: Thomas W. Gooch III gooch@goochfirm.com


Subject: RE: from tom


Date: October 3, 2018 at 12:56 PM


To: Paul Dulberg pdulberg@comcast.net


As you know I have a permanent disability. You may not know I am on medica:on to 
control pain and spasms and this medica:on does not allow me to focus on complex 
subjects for a prolonged :me. Since I do not understand your last email and I don’t have 
much :me before appearing in court I need to know where I stand.


You seem to have been very focused when you delivered to me your research notes 
on the elements of legal malprac8ce, not that I need the wri;en lecture on what legal 
malprac8ce consists of


Are you thinking of not con:nuing to represent me in this case?


Yes I am considering withdrawing on your behalf. I need no research from you on 
legal malprac8ce answering my ques8ons on facts is helpful when I ask. I want no 
more involvement from your brother, Obviously he can talk to you all you want, I 
can’t prevent that but if I perceive further interference from him then I will have to 
re-evaluate my con8nued ability to competently represent you. I will not allow him 
to be here in my office for any purpose. “


Are you going to submit a second amended complaint on October 10 and appear in court?


We may seek an extension, we appear on court dates as a general rule always. You 


1  Exhibit 122_2018-08-31_Dulberg vs Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et a.pdf
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do not and have not had any court dates that require your appearance.


Will I be given enough :me to review the complaint before it is submiFed?


When I determine the complaint is in my opinion legally sufficient it gets filed, 
naturally you will get a copy of it for your records.


May I comment on it or request changes to it or ask ques:ons about it?


You, not your brother, can ask all the ques8ons you wish. I generally do not ask a 
client if a complaint is legally sufficient, nor do I want a client draFing a complaint 
that I have to sign. Most clients do not know the difference between pleading 
conclusions of law or fact, pleading evidence or the correct pleading of ul8mate 
material factual allega8ons. In as much as you have advised you are on pain 
medicine unable to “focus on complex subjects I ques8on how much you could help 
in any event. I can get a lot done when I don’t have to answer emails like this one.


I do not want to offend anyone, so I need to know what I can comment on or ask ques:ons 
about.


Making demands and lecturing me on the law are greats way to be offensive, 
likewise demanding to know when you will be called and comments about caring 
about anyone else we represent or other cases is not conducive to not offending us.


gooch”


97.	On October 3, 2018 Dulberg called the Clinton Law Firm.  At 10:43 AM on October 3, 2018 
Julia Williams of the Clinton Law Firm sent an email to Dulberg which stated1,  


“Dear Paul, It was nice to talk to you today. We would be able to meet next Friday, let me 
know if that works for you and a good time.”


98.	On October 9, 2018 Dulberg could not accept the conditions that Gooch was demanding and 
fired Gooch.2


99.	On October 8, 2018 the Gooch firm sent an email to Dulberg stating:3  


“Dear Mr.ulberg:  Attached please find the plaintiff’s discovery requests tio the 
Defendants in regards to the above-referenced matter.  Please note their responses are 
due by November 5, 2018.  Whenever I receive them, I will forward to you.  Melissa J. 
Podgorski   Paralegal  The Gooch Firm”


100.	 On October 8, 2018 Thomas Gooch sent out a discovery packet4 to opposing counsel.  Gooch 
sent out discovery documents “before 5:00PM on October 8, 2018”.


1  Exhibit 125_2018-10-03_1043 AM_RECV_Legal Malpractice Case  (2).pdf
2  Group Exhibit 33_Gooch Termination
3  Exhibit 126_2018-10-08_email.pdf
4  Group Exhibit 32 Gooch Discovery package
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101.	 On October 9, 2018 Gooch filed a motion to withdraw1.  The order was granted on October 
15, 2018.


102.	 On October 10, 2018 Dulberg sent a zipped folder2 as an email attachment to Williams of 
the Clinton Law Firm which contained the letter which angered Gooch, and on October 12, 
2018 Dulberg and his brother, Thomas Kost, met Ed Clinton and Julia Williams. (zipped folder 
“Duberg Complaint.zip” as exhibit)


103.	 Dulberg gave Gooch an Advance payment retainer of $10,000.003 plus an additional 
advance of $5000.004 for costs. $480.00 went to copy costs and filing fees. The remaining 
$4520.00 was for hiring an expert witness. Gooch never hired the expert witness and never 
returned the advance. Gooch profited $14,520.00 from Dulberg, $4520.00 of which should have 
been returned to Dulberg upon Gooch’s withdrawl but never was.


104.	 On August 20, 2020 at 5:10 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:5 


“... I emailed Mary about the case files but I have one other concern. At our first meeting 
Ed made copies of the checks I wrote to Gooch. I would like a copy of these included 
in the case file. The retainer check was $10,000 and another $5,000 check was written 
to cover the initial costs for filing fee’s and an expert witness. Ed said he would get the 
$5,000 back from Gooch. Was anything done with this or does Gooch still have the extra 
$5,000 for the expert witness that was never hired? ...”


105.	 Dulberg’s experiences with Clinton and Williams are described in “Evidence of Fraud on 
the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”.


106.	 The Gooch case file was received by the Clinton Law firm on or about November 21, 2018.


107.	 Thumbdrive with the Gooch case file6 contains switched file names for Saul Ferris letter 
and Kupets and DeCaro letter


108.	 There are no “Tilschner v Spangler” references anywhere on the Thumbdrive.


“TEAM-WORK” BETWEEN GOOCH, CLINTON AND WILLIAMS (AND OPPOSING 
COUNSEL) AND THE KEY INFORMATION THEY TARGET


‘TEAM-WORK’ EXAMPLE 1:  �Concealing key evidence (Tilschner v Spangler):


109.	 The chronology of the suppression of Tilschner v Spangler given below demonstrates 
intricate “team-work” between Gooch and Clinton and Williams:


1  Exhibit 127_2018-10-09_MOTION TO WITHDRAW.pdf
2  Key Clinton Folder 2_Duberg Complaint
3  Exhibit 109_2016-12-16_Gooch Retainer.pdf
4  Exhibit 246_�2017-11-22_Scan of bank statement shown 5000.00 check Dulberg paid to Gooch for 480.00 costs 


and 4520.00 advance for expert witness.pdf
5 � Exhibit 203_2020-08-20_0510 AM_SENT_Dulberg v Mast Motion to Withdraw.pdf
6  Key Clinton Folder 1: Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client\Misc (contains switched file names)
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1)  �Gooch was told that Tilschner v Spangler and the Restatement of Torts 318 were the 
reasons Mast gave Dulberg for why the McGuires are not responsible for Dulberg’s 
injury at his first meeting with Dulberg (on 2016-12-16).


2)  �Gooch was handed a certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler1 that Mast provided to 
him and looked at it.


3)  Gooch refused it and told Dulberg he can download the information from the internet.


4)  �Tilschner v Spangler was explicitly cited in the emailed letter2 that led to the firing of 
Gooch (in detailed descriptions in 2 different paragraphs on 2018-10-02).


5)  �There is no mention of Tilschner v Spangler in the Gooch Thumbdrive3, which is the 
entire case file from Gooch’s office. 


6)  �The same letter (with detailed descriptions of Tilschner v Spangler’s importance in 2 
different paragraphs) was given to Clinton and Williams during their first meeting.4


7)  �Dulberg and his brother, Thomas Kost, discussed Tilschner v Spangler with Clinton 
and Williams at the first meeting.


8)  �Clinton and Williams were informed of the importance of Tilschner v Spangler in 
detail and in writing at least 6 different times 5


9)  �Williams removed Dulberg’s references to Tilschner from the second amended 
complaint.6


10)  �Dulberg sent emails with the certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler which 
Dulberg received from Mast on 2013-10-20.7


11)  �Williams separated it.8


12) �Williams never Bates-stamped the certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler and 
never handed it over to opposing counsel.9


13) �There was an inexplicable technical problem with exhibit 12 during the Mast 
deposition.10


1  Exhibit 107_2013-11-20_certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler Mast gave Dulberg.pdf
2  Exhibit 123_2018-10-02_second_amended_complaint_comments.txt
3  Key Clinton Folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive
4  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 1, 


paragraph 3
5 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 


Section 2C
6 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 


Section 2C
7 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 


Section 2C, paragraph 2C5
8 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 


Section 2C, paragraph 2C6
9 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 


Section 2C, starting paragraph 2C6.
10 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 
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14) �In October, 2022 Williams could not recall any details about the contents of exhibit 
12 when asked only weeks after preparing answers and documents on exhibit 12 in 
answer to a subpoena.1


15) �The 6 year suppression was so thorough that when Dulberg mentioned Tilschner v 
Spangler in a court document in November, 2022 opposing counsel Flynn replied:2


“12) Of concern is a statement on page 19 of Dulberg’s motion in which he argues that 
Mast had insisted that the decision in the Tilschner v. Spangler case was the reason 
Dulberg would not prevail in the underlying case against the McGuire’s. The statement is 
inexplicably made “on information and belief.” This is unacceptable. Dulberg has made 
no such disclosure in fact discovery (now closed) about this very specific discussion 
between Mast and himself regarding the Tilschner case. If Dulberg believes he has 
disclosed it, he should be required to identify where in his answers and amended 
answers to discovery or his deposition he has identified such discussion with this 
amount of specificity. Defendants submit that no such disclosure exists.”


The suppression of Tilschner v Spangler demonstrates an intricate team-work between Gooch, 
Clinton, Williams and opposing counsel Flynn.  It involves an interconnected chain of events 
from December, 2016 to December, 2022.  


“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 2:  �Concealing Admission of Negligence of Defendant 
Gagnon in Underlying Case 12LA178


110.	 On February 1, 2013 Ron Barch filed CROSS-CLAIM FOR CONTRIBUTION 
AGAINTS CO-DEFENDANT DAVID GAGNON3. In the cross-claim the McGuires state as 
follows:


7.  At the time and place alleged, notwithstanding his aforementioned duty, Defendant 
David Gagnon was then and there guilty of one or more of the following negligent acts 
and/or omissions:


a. Caused or permitted a chainsaw to make contact with Plaintiffs right arm;


b. Failed to operate said chainsaw in a safe and reasonable manner so as to avoid 
injuring Plaintiff’s right arm;


c. Failed to maintain a reasonable and safe distance between the chainsaw he was 
operating and Plaintiff’s right arm;


d. Failed to properly instruct Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating 
chainsaw;


Section  2K
1 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 


Section 2K, paragraph 2K-66
2  �Exhibit 128_2022-11-30_Flynn Answer to Motion to Strike Mast Deposition.pdf , (¶ 12 on page 4)
3 � Exhibit 112_�2013-02-01_CROSS CLAIM FOR CONTRIBUTION AGAINST CODEFENDANT DAVID 


GAGNON_CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE_Barch-McGuires copy-OCR.pdf
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c. Failed to properly warn Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating 
chainsaw;


f. Failed to maintain the chainsaw in the idle or off position when he knew or should 
have known that Plaintiff was close enough to sustain injury from direct contact with 
the subject chainsaw;


g. Failed to maintain a proper lookout for Plaintiff while operating the subject 
chainsaw;


h. Failed to maintain proper control over an operating chainsaw;


1. Was otherwise negligent in the operation and control of the subject chainsaw.


8. That the injuries alleged by Plaintiff PAUL DULBERG, if any, were the direct and


proximate result of negligence on the part of Defendant David Gagnon. 


111.	 David Gagnon or his attorney has never filed an answer to these allegations in the 
CROSS-CLAIM for contribution. By not filing an answer to CROSS-CLAIM for contribution 
Gagnon effectively admitted to each of charges (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h) and (I) of….


112.	 As Dulberg’s attorneys at that time Popovich and Mast knew Gagnon never filed an 
answer to the CROSS-CLAIM. As Dulberg’s subsequent attorneys in his personal injury case, 
both Brad Balke and the Baudins also knew Gagnon never filed an answer to the CROSS-
CLAIM. Dulberg’s first legal malpractice attorney, Gooch, also knew Gagnon never filed an 
answer to the CROSS-CLAIM. Clinton and Williams also knew Gagnon never filed an answer to 
the CROSS-CLAIM.


113.	 Gooch and Clinton and Williams all knew (or should have known that) Mast and 
Popovich must have known about the CROSS-CLAIM filed by the McGuires against Gagnon 
and unanswered by Gagnon since early March, 2013. This was not mentioned in COMPLAINT1 
AT LAW or AMENDED COMPLAINT2 or SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT3.


114.	 The original defendant and operator of the chainsaw, Gagnon, admitted to being 
negligent:


About 10 months before Dulberg was coerced into settling with the owners of the 
property (the McGuires) on which the accident occurred and for whom Gagnon was 
working.


About 21 months before Dulberg declared bankruptcy.


About 39 months before any binding mediation agreement with Gagnon was mentioned. 


About 40 months before any cap was placed on any binding mediation award from 
Gagnon.


1  Exhibit 111_2017-11-28_COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
2  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
3  Exhibit 132_2018-12-06_Second Amended Complaint.pdf
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115.	 There was no reason for any of these activities to take place if the defendant who 
operated the chainsaw already admitted to being negligent.


“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 3: �Concealing Bankruptcy and Violations of Federal 
Bankruptcy Laws (automatic stay, loss of standing to 
pursue claim, capping value of assets in BK estate, ect)


116.	 The following sequence of events demonstrates “team-work” related to bankruptcy:


1)  �Gooch was told Dulberg declared bankruptcy on November 26, 2014.


2)  �Gooch did not include any information about Dulberg declaring bankruptcy in the 
COMPLAINT AT LAW1.


4)  �Gooch did not include any information about Dulberg declaring bankruptcy in the 
AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW2.


5)  �Clinton and Williams were told that Dulberg declared bankruptcy on November 26,  
2014.


6)  �Clinton and Williams were told3 by Dulberg to include paragraphs on bankruptcy in 
the SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT.  CLINTON AND WILLIAMS removed all 
mention of bankruptcy from the SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT


7) �Concerning Dulberg’s comments about bankruptcy he wanted included in the 
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT Williams told Dulberg:4


“Attached please find the revised version of the second amended complaint. We will plan 
to file it tomorrow by morning. If you can, I request that you send further thoughts and 
edits by 5pm today. I have a deposition in the afternoon and cannot file it later in the day. 
I reviewed your comments and edits. Overall, many were accepted. There were some, 
particularly the language about the bankruptcy, that I thought were unnecessary 
and would simply muddy the waters for the judge.


In this case, we need to show that Mast/Popovich had a duty to advise you properly and 
protect your interest, they failed to do that by urging you to settle with the McGuires 
when you could have continued with the case against them and obtained a much 
better result, instead you settled and were not able to recover at least $300,000. The 
bankruptcy proceedings are necessary to this case. They will add color to the case 
and the information will definitely come out in the discovery process. That being 
said, I don’t want to confuse the issues and the recovery by making allegations about 
the bankruptcy in the complaint. Further, I don’t want to increase any burden of 
proof we may have by making allegations that are necessary to prove our case. ...”


1  Exhibit 111_2017-11-28_COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
2  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
3  Exhibit 134_2018-12-04_1420 PM_SENT_2nd amended complaint draft_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
4 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 


Section 2A
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8)  Williams played “hoaxes”1 with bankruptcy documents


9) �Williams told the judge “I think we produced a number of the bankruptcy issues, 
but we can talk about it today and definitely try to work out -- there’s definitely -- 
there was a bankruptcy. We’re not trying to hide that bankruptcy, so. And the trustee 
did resolve -- there was an arbitration based on the trustee’s recommendation in the 
bankruptcy for the individual.”2


10)  �On February 19, 2020 at 6:09 AM (which was the morning of Dulberg’s deposition) 
Dulberg sent an email with the subject “Capped ADR agreement issue” to Julia C. 
Williams and Ed Clinton which stated:3


“Hi Julia and Ed, 


Yesterday we talked about the bankruptcy court ordering the case into ADR with a cap on 
the amount that could be recovered.


This was an agreement between Allstate, the Baudins and the trustee that put the motion 
before the bankruptcy court.


I did some talking with at least 12 bankruptcy attorneys on those free legal advise forums 
last night


All said basically the same thing. This should not have been allowed without the owner 
of the case/asset, me, agreeing to it.


I was given this example which I believe best explains it.


In chapter 7 bankruptcy 
You go into Bankruptcy and the court orders your assets (like your home) to be auctioned 
off to pay your creditors which is legal 
But they took it one step too far when they capped the amount 
Since it’s already going to auction its not fair to you, the actual owner of the asset or even 
the creditors, to cap the amount that can be recovered at auction 
They are supposed to let the auction play out to recover what the highest bidder pays, not 
cap it. 
Capping the highest bid at an auction makes no sense 
The same goes for any recovery from any asset including a personal injury suit 
I’m sorry this happen to you


Now that I know this, I’m not 100% here, but I think I understand why the trustee Joe 
Olsen hired the Baudins to represent him Any advise on this would be helpful ...”


Clinton and Williams did not answer the email.


117.	 Gooch, Clinton and Williams together have kept all issues related to ‘bankruptcy’ out 


1  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 1, 
Chapter 2, Section 2A


2  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 
Section 2A, paragraph 2A15


3  Exhibit 135_A10-Capped ADR agreement issue.pdf
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of the 17LA377 Common Law Record and Reports of Proceedings for 6 years (except for one 
minor mention in the 2018-09-05 RoP which was pointed out in EXAMPLE 2).


“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 4:  �Concealing true sources of $300,000 upper cap on the 
value of the PI claim.


118.	 Records of Proceedings of 12LA178 from June 13, 2016 to August 10, 2016 provide 
clear evidence of:


a)  Who placed a $300,000 upper cap on the value of the personal injury case


b)  When the agreement was made


c)  Where the agreement was made


The evidence was easily available to both Gooch and Clinton and Williams the entire time (in the 
Reports of Proceedings of the ‘underlying’ case 12LA178).  


a)  Who placed a $300,000 upper cap on the value of the personal injury case (The 
Baudins and Allstate alone)


b)  When the agreement was made (On or before August 10, 2016 in violation of the 
automatic stay)


c)  Where the agreement was made (In the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court)


119.	 On July 11, 2016 the following exchange took place in the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court:1


THE COURT: Dulberg. Do we have -- When do you want to come back?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We’re entering continuing the motions, is that what we’re 
doing?


THE COURT: Yes.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Okay. When’s your next available date, Judge?


THE COURT: For a hearing?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yes.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Or a brief.


THE COURT: Are we briefed? Has it been briefed?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No. They’re just motions that I presented as emergencies 
and then we continued them pending discussions.


THE COURT: Well, when -- if it goes into mediation, the motions become moot. Or 
do we have to address them regardless? I don’t know what they are.


1  Exhibit 129_2016-07-11_CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 3_2_2022 -  - - REOP -  - (1).pdf
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UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I think the type of mediation we would do, it would be 
moot because --


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yeah, other than, possibly, an IME. But, you know, we can 
certainly work -- we’ve worked well together so far, so we could certainly see if we can 
work things out.


THE COURT: Speaking generally, I’d probably grant an IME. I haven’t seen your 
motion, though,so I don’t know. I mean, I could put this over to July 21st, and that should 
give you enough time to decide what you want to do with mediation.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I can be here.


THE COURT: Okay. All right. And that will be just at 9:00 o’clock for presentation of the 
motion, and then we’ll figure out what we’re going to do.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you for your time.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you. Appreciate it.


120.	 On July 21, 2016 the following exchange took place in 22nd Judicial Circuit Court:1


APPEARANCES: THE BAUDIN LAW GROUP LTD., by: MS. KELLY N. BAUDIN, 
on behalf of the Plaintiff;


LAW OFFICE OF STEVEN A. LIHOSIT, by: MS. SHOSHAN E. REDDINGTON, on 
behalf of the Defendant David Gagnon.


MS. BAUDIN: Kelly Baudin on behalf of the plaintiff. Mr. Dulberg is present and 
approaching.


MS. REDDINGTON: Good morning, Judge. Shoshan Reddington for the defendant.


THE COURT: Good morning.


MS. REDDINGTON: We talked last night. We’ve got some things agreed to, so I would 
like to just give us a moment to discuss that and step back up.


THE COURT: Okay. I will pass.


MS. BAUDIN: Thank you.


MS. REDDINGTON: Thank you.


THE COURT: All right. Thank you.


(Whereupon, the above-entitled cause was passed and subsequently recalled.)


MS. BAUDIN: Okay, Judge. As you know, we had previously been discussing binding 
mediation. We came to a semi-agreement, --


THE COURT: Okay.


1  Exhibit 130_2016-07-21_CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 3_2_2022 -  - - REOP -  - (2).pdf
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MS. BAUDIN: -- but we would like probably two weeks to just see if we can figure out 
the details and see if we can reach an agreement on how that is going to proceed. So I 
think we’re looking at an August 4th date for that.


THE COURT: Can’t do August 4th --


MS. BAUDIN: Oh, okay. I just was looking at two weeks, Your Honor.


THE COURT: -- because that’s when I’m not here.


MS. BAUDIN: Oh, I see on the calendar. I apologize.


THE COURT: Any day after that.


MS. REDDINGTON: The following week, anything?


MS. BAUDIN: Grab my -- Let’s say either the 8th or the 10th are probably the best.


THE COURT: Either’s fine?


MS. REDDINGTON: My calendar’s currently crashed on my -- so I can’t answer that, 
but --


MS. BAUDIN: Why don’t we do the 10th, just so it’s --


THE COURT: Is there a date you know you’re going to be here?


MS. REDDINGTON: No.


THE COURT: Okay.


MS. REDDINGTON: Judge, and I have several motions, and what I’d like to do is get the 
trial stricken which is on 9/- --


MS. BAUDIN: 27th I believe or 22nd?


MS. REDDINGTON: -- the 26th, and then to set it for the status instead on the 8/10, and 
then I also had a motion on an IME. I’m a little stymied right now because my claim rep 
is out this week and there’s a couple of issues that I can’t answer for counsel, but if we do 
get the agreement in place, what we’d like to do is do the mediation and then come 
back for a status to dismiss it once the mediation is done, if that’s agreeable.


THE COURT: First off, with respect to the motion to strike the trial date, any objection?


MS. BAUDIN: No.


THE COURT: All right. I will -- I will strike the trial date for September 26, as well as 
the pretrial


date of the 23rd.


MS. REDDINGTON: Okay.


THE COURT: I will enter and continue your other motions until we’re certain what’s 
going to happen.
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MS. REDDINGTON: Okay.


THE COURT: The removal of the trial date pretty much means we can do anything.


MS. REDDINGTON: Takes care of that. Okay.  And hopefully we’ll come back with 
everything in place and then we’ll just even set a date and then get a status for after 
that date to be able to come back and say it’s done; we’re willing to dismiss with 
prejudice because mediation’s binding and it’s done.


THE COURT: All right. However you want to do it, it is fine.


MS. REDDINGTON: Thank you.


THE COURT: All right. Take care.


MS. BAUDIN: Thank you


121.	 On August 10, 2016, in violation of the automatic stay, the Baudins and Reddington 
moved to enter into binding mediation on August 10, 2016, The date of the Binding Mediation 
hearing was already set for December 8, 2016 by the time the following exchange took place on 
August 10, 2016 in the Circuit Court:1


MS. REDDINGTON: Number one, Dulberg vs. Gagnon. Shoshan Reddington for the 
defendant. We have (indiscernible) scheduled for 12-8.


THE COURT: Okay.


MS. REDDINGTON: We’d like to have a status date after that date.


THE COURT: What date works for you? You said December 8?


MS. REDDINGTON: December 8.


THE COURT: Okay. How about the following Monday, the 12th? Or do you want to go 
out further? The 16th, Friday?


Even though the information is available in court records of Dulberg’s underlying case against 
Gagnon, neither Gooch’s firm nor Clinton’s firm ever pointed it out to Dulberg or mentioned it in 
any court record.  Instead, the following comments were made in court records.


On November 28, 2017 the following statement appeared in COMPLAINT AT LAW:2


16.  Thereafter, DULBERG retained other attorneys and proceeded to a binding 
mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG received a binding mediation 
award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  Unfortunately, a “high-
low agreement” had been executed by DULBERG, reducing the maximum amount he 
could recover to #300.000.00 based upon the insurance policy available.  The award was 
substantially more than the sum of the money, and could have been recovered from the 


1  Exhibit 131_�12LA000178--2016-08-10--ORD_0097.pdf, CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 3_3_2022 -  - - REOP -  - (4).
pdf,  (Lines 2-10)


2  Exhibit 111_2017-11-28_COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
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McGuire’s had they not been dismissed from the complaint.


In this first version (of 2017-11-28) by Gooch an upper cap was “executed by Dulberg”.


122.	 On May 10, 2018 the following exchange took place between Gooch counsel Sabina 
Walczyk and opposing counsel Flynn:1 


page 5, line 19”


Mr Flynn:  “The high-low agreement, which is very confusing to me and to my client, 
frankly, because he’s never seen it, and as I understand it, that’s outside of the four 
corners --


THE COURT: It is outside, but it did lead to an area where I was also a little bit confused. 
And I -- and I think you touched on -- I’ll ask you: Is the complaint having to do with the 
settlement with the McGuires, or does it somehow relate to the suit that continued with 
respect to Gagnon and the high-low agreement?


MS. WALCZYK: Well, I think it’s a little bit of both, because it started with the suit 
against McGuires, which settled. And then it looks like there was a high-low agreement 
signed.


THE COURT: Okay.


MS. WALCZYK: And --


THE COURT: Was it signed by Mr. Mast?


MS. WALCZYK: Oh, I believe it was signed by Mr. Dulberg. I haven’t seen it.


THE COURT: Okay.


MS. WALCZYK: However, we can attach it if -- if you want --


THE COURT: If -- if you are going to allege malpractice as a result of entering into the 
high-low agreement, yes, I would require you, then, to attach it and to make that a little 
more explicit.


MS. WALCZYK: Yes.


THE COURT: Because I -- I came away thinking that was not part of your complaint, but 
I wasn’t a 100 percent sure.”


In this second version (of 2018-05-10) his own attorney states they have never seen the 
agreement and they think “Dulberg signed it”.


123.	 In the FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT Gooch stated:2


“24.  Thereafter, DULBERG retained other attorneys and proceeded to a Court ordered 


1  Exhibit 226_2018-05-10_ROP 17LA377.pdf
2  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf 
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binding mediation before a retired Circuit Judge, where DULBERG received a binding 
mediation award of $660,000.00 in gross, and a net award of $561,000.00.  However, due 
to the settlement with the McGuires, DULBERG was only able to collect $300,000.00 
based upon the insurance policy available.  A copy of the aforsaid Mediation Award is 
attached hereto as Exhibit G.”


In this third version (of 2018-06-13) by Gooch the $300,000 cap just seemed to show up.  
The Judge ordered Gagnon to pay much more but Gagnon apparently didn’t because of the 
“insurance policy available” (and apparently Dulberg pursued the matter no further).’


124.	 In the SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT Williams stated:1


“52.  In December of 2016, Dulberg participated in binding mediation related to his 
claims against Gagnon.


53.  In December of 2016,  Dulberg was awarded a gross amount of $660,000 and a net 
award of $561,000 after his contributory negligence was considered.


54.  Dulberg was only able to recovery approximately $300,000 of the award from 
Gagnon’s insurance and was unable to collect from Gagnon personally.”


In this fourth version (of 2018-12-06) by Clinton and Williams also the $300,000 cap just 
seemed to show up.  The Judge awarded an amount that Gagnon just decided not to pay (and 
Dulberg apparently pursued the matter no further).’


125.	 On September 5, 2019 Williams stated in court:2


MS. WILLIAMS: I think we produced a number of the bankruptcy issues, but we can talk 
about it today and definitely try to work out -- there’s definitely -- there was a bankruptcy. 
We’re not trying to hide that bankruptcy, so. And the trustee did resolve -- there was 
an arbitration based on the trustee’s recommendation in the bankruptcy for the 
individual.”


In this fifth version (of 2019-09-05) by Williams it is stated for the first time that a bankruptcy 
trustee was involved in placing an upper cap of $300,000 on the value of the PI case 12LA178.  
Note that Dulberg retained Gooch on 2016-12-12 and this is the first time either the term 
“bankruptcy’ or “trustee” were ever mentioned in relation to the ‘upper cap’ (and the last time, 
too).


126.	 A summary of 5 different versions of how the $300,000 ‘upper cap’ was placed on the 
value of PI case 12LA178 which Gooch, Williams and Clinton stated in 17LA377 Common Law 
Records and Reports of Proceedings are given in Table 3 below.


TABLE 3:  � FIVE INCORRECT VERSIONS OF THE ORIGIN OF A $300,000 ‘UPPER 
CAP’ PLACED ON THE VALUE OF 12LA178 GIVEN BY DULBERG’S 


1  Exhibit 132_Second Amended Complaint
2  Exhibit 133_2018-09-12_Record of Proceedings.pdf
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COUNSEL
TABLE 3:  �SOURCE OF THE $300,000 ‘UPPER CAP’ PLACED ON 12LA178 


ACCORDING TO DULBERG’S ATTORNEYS


Version 1 
2017-11-28 


Gooch


“Unfortunately, a “high-low agreement” had been executed by DULBERG, 
reducing the maximum amount he could recover to $300.000.00 based upon the 


insurance policy available.”


Version 2 
2018-05-10  


Gooch


WALCZYK: ...And then it looks like there was a high-low agreement 
signed.


THE COURT: Was it signed by Mr. Mast?


MS. WALCZYK: Oh, I believe it was signed by Mr. Dulberg. I haven’t 
seen it.


Version 3 
2018-06-07 


Gooch


“DULBERG was only able to collect $300,000.00 based upon the insurance 
policy available.”


Version 4 
2018-12-06 
Williams-
Clinton


“Dulberg was only able to recovery approximately $300,000 of the 
award from Gagnon’s insurance and was unable to collect from Gagnon 


personally.”


Version 5 
2019-09-04 
Williams-
Clinton


“And the trustee did resolve -- there was an arbitration based on the 
trustee’s recommendation in the bankruptcy for the individual”


127.	 Gooch crafted the first 3 versions.  The first 3 versions are incompatible with each other.


128.	 Clinton and Williams crafted Versions 4 and 5.  Version 5 contradicts Version 4.  They are 
incompatible.


129.	 ‘Bankruptcy’ is never mentioned in any of the 5 versions as having anything to do with 
an ‘upper cap’.  


130.	 Version 1 and Version 2 blame Dulberg for executing an ‘upper cap’.  Version 3 blames 
the existence of an insurance limit as the source of an ‘upper cap’. Version 4 blames ‘insurance 
available’ as the source of an ‘upper cap’. Only in Version 5 ’bankruptcy’ is mentioned (for the 
first time on 2019-09-04, almost 3 years after Dulberg first met Gooch) and only in passing in a 
single Report of Proceedings.


131.	 All 5 Versions in Table 3 are inventions created by Dulberg’s own attorneys to conceal 
the true origin of the ‘upper cap’.  Even though all 5 different versions are created by Dulberg’s 
attorneys,  Dulberg was described as the source of all 5 untrue and incompatible versions.
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“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 5: �Intentionally confusing Statute of Limitations toll 
date and placing Dulberg’s privileged attorney-client 
communications at issue


Legal malpractice attorney Thomas Gooch: (1) set an artificial Statute of Limitations toll 
date1 to confuse Dulberg and (2) placed Dulberg’s privileged attorney client communications 
at issue2 at his first meeting with Dulberg.  Gooch told Dulberg that their first meeting together 
is the time when the 2 year statute of limitations to file a complaint against Popovich and Mast 
begins to accrue.  


In doing this Gooch gave Dulberg a false impression of how to determine a statute of limitations 
accural date.  Gooch also created a situation where privileged attorney-client communications 
may now need to be produced to opposing counsel to “prove” the claim that some event occurred 
at the first attorney client meeting which “accrues” the statute of limitations.


132.	 About 18 months after Gooch told Dulberg that the statute of Limitations accrues from 
their first meeting together and about 6 months after stating the same in COMPLAINT AT LAW, 
Gooch changed his opinion of when Dulberg’s statute of limitations began to accrue.


133.	 On December 16, 2016 Thomas Gooch caused a letter3 to sent to Thomas Popovich and 
the Law Offices of Thomas J. Popovich, P.C. at 3416 West Elm St, McHenry.  The letterhead 
stated:  “Law Office Gauthier and Gooch 209 South Main St, Wauconda IL..  


134.	 The letter stated:  “RE: Dulberg v Popovich, “Greetings,  I have been retained by 
Paul R. Dulberg to represent him in a cause of action of legal malpractice against you for the 
mishandling of his case and the settlement of a specific portion of that case for substantially less 
than could have been obtained.”


135.	 The letter also stated:  “You should aquaint the adjuster you speak with of my identity 
and if they so wish they may contact me.  However, I intend to file suit against you in the next 
7 days.”  The letter is concluded “Very truly yours, Gauthier & Gooch” and signed by Thomas 
W. Gooch III.


136.	 On December 27, 2016 at 11:39 AM Dulberg sent an email to David Stretch stating:4


“Hi Dave,


   How do I get a copy of all communication between my bankruptcy Trustee’s and the 
law office of Thomas Popovich, Tom Popovich, Hans Mast, Brad Balke and Kelly & 
Randy Boudin or any of their assistants sent to the office of Thomas Gooch who currently 
represents me in another matter?


1 � In “TEAM-WORK” Example 5 red font is used to highlight quotes and statements that are related to ‘setting an 
artificial Statute of Limitations toll date’.


2 � In “TEAM-WORK” Example 5 blue font is used to highlight quotes and statements that are related to ‘placing 
Dulberg’s privileged attorney-client communications at issue’.


3  Exhibit 108_2016-12-16_Gooch 1st meeting Documents.pdf, (page 4)
4  Exhibit 238_2018-12-27_Re Bankruptcy Communication_Stretch.pdf
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    Thomas Gooch’s contact information; 
    email: tgooch@gauthierandgooch.com 
    Phone: 847-526-0110 
Thanks again, Paul


137.	 On December 27, 2016 at 4:11 PM Joe Olsen sent an email to David Stretch stating:1


“Dave- 
You were going to re-check your notes and advise/amend schedules re potential 
malpractice claim? Can you let me know where you are at w/ the review etc.?”


138.	 On December 27, 2016 at 4:20 PM David Stretch sent an email to Joseph Olsen stating:2


“Joe, 
I did check my notes and found nothing. At the time of filing Paul’s attorney was the 
Popovitch firm, Hans Mast was the attorney. That information was disclosed on Schedule 
B, as you know. Because I couldn’t find anything I emailed Paul and asked him to send 
me a copy of the complaint from any malpractice action he may have filed.  
He responded today with a letter from Attorney Tom Gooch, Waukegan, to Mast, 
announcing that he, Gooch, intended to file a malpractice action within 7 days. The 
letter was dated December 16. I have received nothing further from Paul. I, minutes ago, 
forwarded that letter to you. I will let you know if I receive anything further. 
Thanks, 
Happy New Year 
David L. Stretch” 


139.	 The box of paper files Dulberg left with Gooch just after their first meeting on December 
16, 2016 were not scanned into digital files the until June 26, 20173 4 (more than 6 months after 
Gooch wrote the letter to Popovich stating he intended to file suit within 7 days).


140.	 On November 28, 2017 Thomas Gooch filed Dulberg’s COMPLAINT AT LAW5 (which 
was about 330 days from the time Gooch’s letter stating “I intend to file suit within 7 days”). 


141.	 The Defendants Popovich and Mast will later claim that the Statute of Limitations should 
be tolled from any of the following dates:


1)  March 15, 2015 (when Dulberg fired Popovich and Mast)


2)  February 26, 2015 (when Dulberg met Saul Ferris)


3)  June, 2015 (after Dulberg retained and fired Balke)


4)  �December 31, 2014 (when Popovich and Mast will try to claim that Dulberg met 


1  Group Exhibit 39-Olsen subpoena and response:  Fwd Re Dulberg.pdf
2  Group Exhibit 39-Olsen subpoena and response:  Fwd Re Dulberg.pdf
3  Exhibit 110_2017-06-29_REMINDER Documents Ready For Pick Up.pdf
4  Group Exhibit 36_When Gooch scanned in files/Gooch files created June 26, 27, 28, 2017/
5  Exhibit 111_2017-11-28_COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
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with Ferris to discuss an “accident” that occurred on January 24, 2013 (the day of 
Dulberg’s deposition, this claim is based on a partially forged letter))


5) September 22, 2015 (when Dulberg’s retained the Baudins)


Every one of these claims (1) through (5) would place the toll date more than 2 years earlier 
than November 28, 2017 when Gooch filed the COMPLAINT AT LAW.


142.	 But if Gooch filed in 7 days (like he claimed in the letter to the Defendant) the filing date 
would have been around December 23, 2016, avoiding any problem with any of the toll dates (1) 
through (5).  Instead, Gooch waited about an additional 323 days to file COMPLAINT AT LAW, 
placing the filing date more than 2 years after dates (1) through (5).


143.	 During the approximately 323 days it took Gooch to file the complaint Dulberg 
periodally called or stopped in at Gooch’s office and was told the following: 


a. �Gooch has been away from work for a few months due to his wife’s dire health issues.


b. Gooch can’t file the complaint because Gooch is still scanning documents.


c. Gooch has a trial in another case this month and can’t be disturbed.


d. Gooch is away on vacation for a month.


e. �Gooch hasn’t been into work for a couple months because he is disabled and has 
debilitating health issues.


f. Gooch has to wait until he finds the right expert witness to file the complaint.


144.	 In November of 2017 Dulberg went to Gooch’s office and voiced his concerns about 
the delays and was assured by Gooch the delays are not a problem because we have 2 years to 
file suit and if we have an issue he knows the Judge. Dulberg told Gooch to get the complaint 
filed ASAP. After the Judge dismissed the AMENDED COMPLAINT Gooch told Dulberg  that 
Dulberg pressured Gooch to get the complaint filed ASAP caused the mistakes made in the 
complaint because he was rushed and wasn’t finished with his investigation.


145.	 On November 28, 2017 COMPLAINT AT LAW paragraph 20 stated:


“20.  Following the execution of the mediation agreement with the “high-low agreement” 
contained therein, and the final mediation award, DULBURG realized for the first 
time that the information MAST and POPOVICH had given DULBERG was false and 
misleading, and that in fact, the dismissal of the McGuire’s was a serious and substantial 
mistake. Following the mediation, DULBERG was advised to seek an independent 
opinion from an attorney handling Legal Malpractice matters, and received that 
opinion on or about December 16, 2016.”


146.	 On June 7, 2018 AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW paragraphs 28 to 30 stated a 
different version of the same event:1


1  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
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“28.  Following the execution of the mediation agreement and the final mediation award, 
DULBERG realized for the first time in December of 2016 that the information MAST 
and POPOVICH had given DULBERG was false and misleading, and that in fact, the 
dismissal of the McGuires was a serious and substantial mistake.


29. It was not until the mediation in December 2016, based on the expert’s opinions 
that DULBERG retained for the mediation, that DULBERG became reasonably aware 
that MAST and POPOVICH did not properly represent him by pressuring and coercing 
him to accept a settlement for $5,000.00 on an “all or nothing” basis.


30. DULBERG was advised to seek an independent opinion from a legal malpractice 
attorney and received that opinion on or about December 16, 2016.”


147.	 On December 6, 2018 SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW (prepared by 
Clinton and Williams) paragraphs 54 to 57 stated a third version of the same event:1


“54. Dulberg was only able to recovery approximately $300,000 of the award 
fromGagnon’s insurance and was unable to collect from Gagnon personally.


55. Only after Dulberg obtained an award against Gagnon did he discover that his claims 
against the McGuires were viable and valuable.


56. Following the execution of the mediation agreement and the final mediation award, 
Dulberg realized for the first time in December of 2016 that the information Mast and 
Popovich had given Dulberg was false and misleading, and that in fact, the dismissal of 
the McGuires was a serious and substantial mistake.


57. It was not until the mediation in December 2016, based on the expert’s opinions 
that Dulberg retained for the mediation, that Dulberg became reasonably aware 
that Mast and Popovich did not properly represent him by pressuring and coercing him to 
accept a settlement for $5,000.00 on an “all or nothing” basis.”


These 3 versions of the same event are summarized in TABLE 4A and TABLE 4B below.


1  Exhibit 123_2018-12-06_Second Amended Complaint.pdf
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TABLE 4A:  �THREE INCORRECT VERSIONS OF WHEN DULBERG “FIRST KNEW” 
OF AN “INJURY” GIVEN BY DULBERG’S COUNSEL


TABLE 4A:  � 3 INCORRECT VERSIONS OFWHEN AND HOW DULBERG 
“FIRST KNEW” OF AN  “INJURY” ACCORDING TO DULBERG’S 


ATTORNEYS


VERSION 1 
 Gooch


COMPLAINT 
2017-11-28


“20.  Following the execution of the mediation agreement with the 
“high-low agreement” contained therein, and the final mediation 
award, DULBURG realized for the first time that the information 
MAST and POPOVICH had given DULBERG was false and 
misleading, and that in fact, the dismissal of the McGuire’s was 
a serious and substantial mistake. Following the mediation, 
DULBERG was advised to seek an independent opinion from an 
attorney handling Legal Malpractice matters, and received that 
opinion on or about December 16, 2016.”


VERSION 2 
Gooch


AMENDED 
COMPLAINT 


2018-06-07  


“28.  Following the execution of the mediation agreement and the 
final mediation award, DULBERG realized for the first time in 
December of 2016 that the information MAST and POPOVICH 
had given DULBERG was false and misleading, and that in fact, the 
dismissal of the McGuires was a serious and substantial mistake.


29. It was not until the mediation in December 2016, based on the 
expert’s opinions that DULBERG retained for the mediation, that 
DULBERG became reasonably aware that MAST and POPOVICH 
did not properly represent him by pressuring and coercing him to 
accept a settlement for $5,000.00 on an “all or nothing” basis.


30. DULBERG was advised to seek an independent opinion from a 
legal malpractice attorney and received that opinion on or about 
December 16, 2016.”


VERSION 3 
Clinton and 


Williams


SECOND 
AMENDED 


COMPLAINT 
2018-12-06


“55. Only after Dulberg obtained an award against Gagnon did 
he discover that his claims against the McGuires were viable and 
valuable. 


56. Following the execution of the mediation agreement and the final 
mediation award, Dulberg realized for the first time in December of 
2016 that the information Mast and Popovich had given Dulberg was 
false and misleading, and that in fact, the dismissal of the McGuires 
was a serious and substantial mistake.


57. It was not until the mediation in December 2016, based on the 
expert’s opinions that Dulberg retained for the mediation, that 
Dulberg became reasonably aware that Mast and Popovich did not 
properly represent him by pressuring and coercing him to accept a 
settlement for $5,000.00 on an “all or nothing” basis.”
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TABLE 4B:  � THREE INCORRECT VERSIONS OF WHEN DULBERG “FIRST KNEW 
OF AN “INJURY” SIMPLIFIED


TABLE 4B:  3 INCORRECT VERSIONS  
OF HOW DULBERG “FIRST KNEW” OF AN “INJURY” 


SIMPLIFIED


WHEN IT HAPPENED


VERSION 1 
Gooch


COMPLAINT 
2017-11-28


DULBURG realized for the first time that the 
information MAST and POPOVICH had given 
DULBERG was false and misleading, and that in 
fact, the dismissal of the McGuire’s was a serious 
and substantial mistake


Following the execution 
of the mediation 


agreement with the“high-
low agreement” 


contained therein, and 
the final mediation award


independent opinion 
from an attorney 
handling Legal 


Malpractice matters, and 
received that opinion on 
or about December 16, 


2016


VERSION 2 
Gooch


AMENDED 
COMPLAINT 


2018-06-07


, realized for the first time in December of 2016 
that the information MAST and POPOVICH had 
given DULBERG was false and misleading, and 
that in fact, the dismissal of the McGuires was a 
serious and substantial mistake.


”became reasonably aware pressuring and 
coercing him to accept a settlement for $5,000.00 
on an “all or nothing” basis


Following the execution of 
the mediation agreement 
and the final mediation 
award... in December of 


2016 


based on the expert’s 
opinions that DULBERG 
retained for the mediation


independent opinion 
from a legal malpractice 


attorney and received 
that opinion on or about 


December 16, 2016.
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TABLE 4B:  3 INCORRECT VERSIONS  
OF HOW DULBERG “FIRST KNEW” OF AN “INJURY” 


SIMPLIFIED


WHEN IT HAPPENED


VERSION 3 
Clinton- 
Williams


SECOND 
AMENDED 


COMPLAINT 
2018-12-06


Only after Dulberg obtained an award against 
Gagnon did he discover that his claims against the 
McGuires were viable and valuable. 


realized for the first time in December of 2016 
that the information Mast and Popovich had given 
Dulberg was false and misleading, and that in fact, 
the dismissal of the McGuires was a serious and 
substantial mistake.


became reasonably aware that Mast and Popovich 
did not properly represent him by pressuring and 
coercing him to accept a settlement for $5,000.00 
on an “all or nothing” basis.


Only after Dulberg 
obtained an award against 


Gagnon...


Following the execution of 
the mediation agreement 
and the final mediation 
award...in December of 


2016


based on the expert’s 
opinions that Dulberg 


retained for the mediation.


148.	 In Version 1, Version 2 and Version 3 Dulberg’s attorneys Gooch, Clinton and Williams 
all identify Dulberg’s “injury” as the settlement with the McGuires for $5,000. Dulberg’s 
attorneys Gooch, Clinton and Williams all identify Dulberg’s  “injury” as taking place in January, 
2014. 


149.	 Illinois law on this issue toll cannot begin until pecuniary injury is received as explained 
in:  Suburban Real Estate Servs. v. Carlson, 2020 Ill. App. 191953 (Ill. App. Ct. 2020)


The logic that versions 1, 2 and 3 take is very simple:  Gooch, Clinton and Williams:


a) �Form a basic concept of Dulberg’s “injury” (as the settlement with the McGuires in 
January, 2014).


b) �Describe when Dulberg “first discovered” or “knew or should have known” of 
Dulberg’s “injury” 


c) �Ignore when a pecuniary injury is received (ignore (1) Suburban Real Estate v 
Carlson and cited cases1)


d) Omit and ignore that a principal is required to answer for an agent’s negligent or 
wrongful actions. 


150.	 Omission of the vicarious liability aspect of the McGuire liability for their agents neglent 


1  For a list of key cases cited in Suburban see parapraph 207
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actions later leads to Judge Berg’s confusion and disconnect about when a pecuniary injury can 
be realized and when a statute of limitations begins in 735 ILCS 5/13-214.3 (b).


151.	  The column “WHEN IT HAPPENED” in Table 4B contains at least 2 entries for each 
Version 1, 2 and 3.1 Opposing counsel Flynn later used the multiple claims to accuse Dulberg of 
“fiddling” with when he “first knew” of his “injury”.


152.	 On July 2, 2020 Flynn filed a Supplemental Request for Production of Documents.2


153.	 On July 2, 2020, at 12:10 PM Williams sent a forwarded email to Dulberg stating:3


“Opposing Counsel has tendered a supplemental request for production. Please review. A 
response is due by July 30, 2020. You can begin gathering responsive documents. Some 
of the document may be subject to attorney-client privilege. Best Regards,”


154.	 Most of the documents Dulberg would need to gather to answer the supplemental 
production request were still being suppressed by Williams and were released by Williams for 
the first time one week later on July 9, 2020 (hidden behind thousands of pages of previously 
released documents). The more than 6000 pages of documents contained all the previously 
suppressed emails of Balke, Saul Ferris, the letter from Saul Ferris to Dulberg among other 
suppressed documents.4


155.	 On July 27, 2020 at 2:24 PM Ed Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating: 


“... Please see the attached letter. Best Regards ...”5


In the attached letter Clinton and Williams resigned as Dulberg’s attorneys. 


156.	 From July, 2020 (just after Clinton and Williams resigned) until November, 2021 Flynn 
maintained the following 3 forms of pressure on Dulberg and his new attorney:


1) Demand for detailed supplimental production responses (from the 2020-07-09 flood of 
over 6000 documents)


2) Demand to be given Dulberg’s privileged attorney-client communications with Gooch


3) �Pressure Dulberg to admit receiving in the mail a partially forged declination letter 
from attorney Saul Ferris. (The letter was actually addressed to Flynn’s own client 
Popovich.


1  This results in multiple incorrect claims of when Dulberg ‘first knew” of an “injury” as listed in Table 5B.
2 � Exhibit 136_�2020-07-02_1211 PM_RECV_Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J 


POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377_ATTACHMENTS.
pdf, (page 6-8)


3 � Exhibit 136, (page 1)
4 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 1, 


starting paragraph 35 and Chapter 2, Section 2B
5  Exhibit 137_2020-07-27_1424 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Popovich 2017 L 377_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
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How opposing counsel maintained pressure is described in “Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 
17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 1 and Chapter 2, Section 2B  THE 
EXAMPLE OF SAUL FERRIS. The following paragraphs 155 to 171 further supplement the 
record of how the opposing counsel maintained pressure on Dulberg.


157.	 The following graphic shows over how many months these 3 forms of pressure were 
applied to Dulberg by Flynn.


2020 2021
7 8 9 10 11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11


The demand for detailed supplemental discovery answers (shown in red above) lasted 
until July 19, 2021 (about 12 months).  The demand for access to Dulberg’s attorney-client 
privileged communication (shown in blue above) lasted until July, 2021 also (about 12 months).  
This is when pressure for Dulberg to admit untrue statements about an alleged letter from 
Saul Ferris (which was actually addressed to Popovich, shown in orange above) began and 
lasted for 4 more months.


158.	 Pressure was applied to Dulberg as pro-se and to Dulberg’s new attorney (since Clinton 
and Williams had already made secret plans to withdraw as Dulberg’s counsel by late June, 
2020).1


159.	 On July 29, 2020 at 1:56 PM Dulberg sent an email to Ed Clinton and Julia Williams with 
the subject “Need clarification on outstanding issues before your departure” stating:2 


“... Outstanding questions on open issues for Clinton firm before departure: 
... 
2. What happened with the objections raised during Dulberg’s deposition when Dulberg 
was questioned about conversations with Dulberg’s former counsel Gooch? Did you get a 
ruling or does that still need to be argued before judge Meyer? ...”


Williams answered: 


“... There has been no motion practice on the issue and thus, there is no ruling. Your 
future counsel will need to bring that before the Judge at some point. ...”3


Dulberg also asked: 


“... 3. Similar to the last question, Have the objections in the Mast deposition been 
worked out or ruled on by judge Meyer? ...”


1  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 1, 
starting paragraph 31 and Chapter 2, Section 2E


2  Exhibit 138_Need clarification on outstanding issues before your departure.pdf (page 1)
3  Exhibit 138_Need clarification on outstanding issues before your departure.pdf (page 2)
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Williams answered: 


“... There has been no motion practice on the issue and thus, there is no ruling. Your 
future counsel will need to bring that before the Judge at some point. ...”


160.	 On July 30, 2020 at 10:21 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:1


“These document requests are due today. We have obtained a 28 day extension so the 
responses are now due August 27, 2020. We anticipate filing our motion to withdraw. 
Thus, you will need your new counsel to respond or prepare your own response. Best 
Regards”


161.	 On July 30, 2020 at 1:50 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:2


“Thank you for getting this extended.   I’m pulling from memory here because I had a 
Dr’s  appointment today and am away from my desk  I just took your July 2 email and 
reviewed it. I didn’t collect the documents because I thought I had already turned over 
all the gooch files and emails to you and I thought we waived privilege for Boudin and 
you have all of that as well.  I suppose other than the last request asking for “documents” 
relating to a conversation between Baudin and myself when we were  leaving the ADR 
the rest of this would be contingent on Judge Meyers decision of the objections over 
Gooch questioning that were raised during my deposition. I’m still not sure how I’m 
supposed to have documents from a verbal conversation with Baudin. I will look at all 
this again when I get home.”


162.	 Clinton and Williams filed a Motion to Withdraw3 on August 18, 2020.  This left Dulberg 
without an attorney and with the series of incorrect and contradictory statements listed in TABLE 
4A and TABLE 4B which is assumed to represent Dulberg’s own statements on when he “first 
discovered” his “injury”.


163.	 On August 18, 2020 at 2:13 PM Flynn sent an email to Williams stating:4


“This correspondence is being forwarded pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 201(k). 
I just received your firm’s motion to withdraw. If you could please pass along to Mr. 
Dulberg or his new counsel, that we must insist on the outstanding written discovery 
being answered by August 27, 2020 per our agreement below, it would be appreciated. I 
think we have been very patient with Mr. Dulberg in responding to discovery which has 
been directed at his assertion of the discovery rule in this case, where he is attempting to 
overcome a statute of limitations defense (issues which are evident from the face of the 
pleadings and the applicable statutes involved).  The supplemental discovery we served 


1  �Exhibit 139_�Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court 
of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf, Page 11


2  �Exhibit 139_�Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court 
of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf, (page 13)


3  Exhibit 140_2020-08-18_Motion to Withdraw.pdf
4  Exhibit 139_�Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court 


of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf, (page 31)
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merely clarified and more specifically identified communications and documents which 
were the subject of prior discovery requests, and some of which were identified at Mr. 
Dulberg’s discovery deposition taken on February 19, 2020.  Please feel free to contact 
me if you would like to discuss this matter.”


164.	 On August 18, 2020 at 2:42 PM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:1


“We previously obtained an extension info time to respond to document discovery in 
your case—see below—to August 27. Opposing counsel is insisting on the August 27 
response date. As we are withdrawing, it is likely more appropriate for your new counsel 
to respond to the discovery.  lternatively, you could seek more time when the matter is 
before the Judge on Sept 10. Best Regards,”


165.	 On August 18, 2020 at 2:49 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:2


“Please remind me,


Was this the emails and communications with Gooch that they are after or something 
else?”


166.	 On August 18, 2020 at 2:56 PM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:3


“The requests are attached again here so you can see what they are seeking.  Again, they 
were issued on July 2, 2020. We sent them to you that same day. They were originally 
due on July 30, 2020. We  obtained an extension to August 27, 2020. Best regards,”


167.	 On August 18, 2020 at 3:11 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:4


“Thanks again for resending those requests from George Flynn.  At this point I will not be 
meeting their deadline of August 27th until I have new council and/or the Judge rules that 
I must divulge communications with my attorney Gooch from the current case.  I’m not 
an attorney but I believe its common knowledge that what George Flynn is asking for is 
wrong and strikes at the heart of  attorney/client privilege.  Kindly let Mr Flynn know he 
will not be receiving those answers or files until I have new counsel or the Judge rules on 
our objection at my deposition and orders me to turn over privileged communications.”


168.	 On September 10, 2020 Clinton and Williams withdrew as Dulberg’s counsel.5 6


1  �Exhibit 139_�Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court 
of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf, (page 34)


2 � Exhibit 139_�Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court 
of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf, (page 37)


3 � Exhibit 139_�Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court 
of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf, (page 41)


4 � Exhibit 139_�Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court 
of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf, (page 45)


5  Exhibit 223_2020-09-10_Order Clinton withdrawl.pdf
6  Exhibit 224_2020-09-10 ROP 17LA377.pdf
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169.	 On Oct 16, 2020, at 10:38 AM, Paul Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:1


“... It looks like everything in the “Dulberg Documents to Be Produced 2020 June 25” is 
in the “Dulberg Docs Produced by Dulberg to OC” with the exception of “Dulberg JCW 
Notes re Discovery 2020 June 26.docx”, which is your notes, and the “Dulberg Paul’s 
Notes on Deposition and handwritten notes 2020 July 1” which is nothing more than a 
color duplicate of the black and white PDFs produced in the “Dulberg 7893-8551 .pdf” 


Is it safe for me to assume that opposing counsel has been given all documents with 
the exception of the privileged gooch emails? [Emphasis Added]


Also, I see in the “Dulberg JCW Notes re Discovery 2020 June 26.docx” that you were 
worried about the waiver issue for Gooch. I don’t agree, I answered those questions in the 
deposition under an objection and certainly didn’t waive privilege.


It appears the defense counsel is confused over when I should have known of an injury 
vs when I learned from an attorney that I had a case in an attempt to pry into privileged 
communications that cannot change the outcome for their stated goal of reopening the 
statute of limitations and deposing Gooch and myself for a second time. 


It seems to me to be simple math when calculating the statute of limitations


1. �The malpractice happened between October 2013 and February 2014 in the underlying 
case


2. �The earliest I could or should have known of the injury was December 12th, 2016 from 
the award in the underlying case


3. This case was filed on November 28, 2017


4. �There is no conversation that could take place between myself and Gooch that could 
change the first two dates even in the slightest and the third date, the date we filed suit 
was the culmination of our work product in the current case, not the underlying case. 


One more question, Where do I find all the final answers we sent to opposing counsel for 
the interrogatories and supplemental interrogatories? ...”


170.	 On February 10, 2021 in court the following exchange took place.  Note that opposing 
counsel Flynn uses the logic of focusing entirely on (a) while ignoring (b) throughout.  Mr 
Talerico (Dulberg’s new attorney) and and Dulberg tell both Flynn and Judge Meyer that they are 
ignoring (b), yet Judge Meyer doesn’t recognize (b) as relevant:2


MR. FLYNN: Sure. Thank you, Your Honor. Mr. Dulberg has placed his 
communications with his prior lawyer, Thomas Gooch, at issue in this case. Plaintiff 
has admitted that it filed its complaint -- I’m sorry, plaintiff has filed its complaint more 
than two years after my clients, his former lawyers, the Popovich firm, withdrew or were 
terminated from his representation. That’s not at issue. 


1  Exhibit 141_2020-10-16_1038 AM_SENT_PLEASE HELP WITH CASE FILE.pdf, (page 1)
2  Exhibit 142_2021-02-10 ROP.pdf
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He has placed the discovery rule at issue in his complaint and his amended complaints. 
However, he has failed to answer initial discovery, he has failed to respond -- or answer 
properly questions at his deposition regarding discovery of his malpractice and his 
understanding of damages related to the Popovich’s alleged malpractice. We served 
supplemental discovery, which is somewhat duplicative of what was previously served, 
and that was on July 2nd after his deposition. He hasn’t even answered it.


The response does nothing to address those issues or object to the discovery that’s been 
propounded, so I would request that he be forced at a minimum to answer this discovery, 
that any objection be overruled, and essentially that the communications between 
Dulberg and Mr. Gooch be produced in whatever form. And to the extent that a 
subpoena to The Gooch Firm would be necessary at a later date, I would rather take it one 
step at a time and analyze whatever it is that Mr. Dulberg produce. So, in a nutshell, that’s 
the motion.


I didn’t know that we’d have to have a hearing. I thought that these would be responded 
to or at least objected to, but here we are.


THE COURT: Okay. Plaintiff’s counsel?


MR. TALARICO: Let’s see, Your Honor, (indiscernible) to start with, I think this is a 
two-step analysis. I hope the court sees it the same way. I think it should be looked 
upon as a 2-619 motion  and at the same time a -- the question of whether there was 
a waiver of the attorney-client privilege under Rule of Evidence 502. I believe that 
if the 2-619 is decided -- I’m sorry. Yeah, the 2-619 motion is dismissed and decided 
against the defendants, then the matter -- the second step would be the waiver of 
attorney-client privilege which I think my client did not do under either 502(a) or 
502(b).


THE COURT: When you -- are you saying that their statute of limitations motion, if I 
deny that, only in that instance do we get to the issue of the -- of the letter?


MR. TALARICO: No. I think what we’re -- what I’m saying is that that clarifies part of 
the 502(a) section of the argument, what I perceive as 502(a).


THE COURT: Okay. Defense counsel?


MR. TALARICO: If I might --


THE COURT: Go ahead, plaintiff.


MR. TALARICO: -- expound a little bit. I wasn’t aware that a 2-619 motion had been up. 
It was denied by this court, but denied with the ability to get -- to bring it again. All I’ve 
seen when I came into the case was a decision saying, you know, denied, so at that point 
in time I did not, let’s say, approach the issues of the statute of limitations or the statute of 
repose. I think those two issues help clarify the 502 argument. The 502 argument is what 
-- what information can be gathered, and I think my responses to that would simply be 
502(b) and 502(a) have been complied with.


THE COURT: Defense counsel?







50
ARDC COMPLAINT AGAINST THOMAS W GOOCH AND SABINA WALCZYK


MR. FLYNN: I’m a little confused, Judge. There is no pending 619 motion. That was 
ruled upon years ago. This is simply a motion to compel and, you know, again, looking 
back, I didn’t attach every discovery answer that Mr. Dulberg provided because there 
were many and there were issues with signature pages throughout written discovery. But 
here, the overarching supplemental request, Exhibit E, I believe it is, that was served on 
July 2 has not been answered. It’s not been objected to. It’s untimely at this point, and, 
again, it’s clear that the discovery of the malpractice and damages has been placed at 
issue. So we’re entitled to explore that discovery. The testimony of Mr. Dulberg at his 
deposition makes it clear that the only basis to toll any statute of limitations was the 
December 2016 communications with Tom Gooch and if he’s not going to produce 
those, he has no other basis to toll the statute and, as such, the case should be 
dismissed. We’ll bring the appropriate motion. But you can’t have it both ways using the 
privilege as a sword and a shield.


THE COURT: Plaintiff’s counsel, with respect to the latter, your comment?


MR. TALARICO: I guess I’m not clear on what counsel was saying. I respectfully say 
that we have complied with the -- the 502(b) was inadvertent within the deposition and 
the attorney at the time, who was -- I think her name was Williams, Julia Williams, 
objected and objected on a continuing basis for any of the questions regarding that 
information. Counsel has not brought a motion to have this court decide whether or 
not that was appropriate, but he had answered under the continuing objection by Miss 
Williams that this was a protected attorney-client discussion. As to the 502(a), the 
intentional disclosure, that was, in my estimation -- and I hope the court agrees -- that 
was done in the pleadings, in the complaint, but it was done in the -- I wouldn’t say in the 
alternative. I would say it’s additional information.


THE COURT: What specifically are you referring to when you say it’s additional  
nformation? What was additional information?


MR. TALARICO: The continued comments about when -- when he was aware of -- and 
when the statute would begin to run, the two-year statute of limitations, as to the filing 
of a complaint for malpractice. Within that section, I have each one numbered, but at 
first the comments -- the situation was when the arbitration, the binding arbitration, 
matter was decided, and it was decided in such a way that my client lost close to 
over $200,000 because the only other person that was in the lawsuit had a maximum 
insurance policy of $300,000. At that point in time -- And he alleged that in the 
complaint, in the first amended complaint, and the second amended complaint, all 
of which I wasn’t party to, but the words are in there, the allegations are in there. I 
believe that’s when the statute of limitations begins to run. Further --


THE COURT: He references -- he references in his complaint -- I assume we’re talking 
about the allegations in the complaint.


MR. TALARICO: Yes.


THE COURT: And he references in the complaint learning information from the 
expert, if I’ve read this correctly. Is that a fair statement?
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MR. TALARICO: That is one of the allegations, yes.


THE COURT: So why can’t -- why isn’t that report or communication going to be turned 
over?


MR. DULBERG: It is. It already is.


MR. TALARICO: Judge, it’s my position that that is not relevant to the question. 
The question is, when did -- when did he become aware, when does the statute start 
running. And the answer I believe under Illinois law is it begins running when he 
knows of his injury, and the injury took place with the binding arbitration award; 
not before, not after. So I’m saying --


THE COURT: And I guess I -- you’re losing me because I -- I don’t understand 
how a binding arbitration award is going to disclose to anybody whether or not 
malpractice had been -- had taken place. The -- your client -- I don’t know if you can 
see him. He keeps raising his hand. I’m ignoring him because he has an attorney. I’m 
going to -- I’m going to focus on you.


But whether or not there was an award for X dollars or no dollars, that doesn’t tell 
me anything about whether -- whether he knew or should have known at that point. 
That just told him what those people --


MR. DULBERG: May I clarify on the record.


THE COURT: Mr. Dulberg, you have an attorney. You’ve elected to have your attorney 
speak for you.


MR. DULBERG: He’s not not lead attorney (indiscernible).


THE COURT: I’m going to limit it to it. I recommend that you limit your conversation or 
comments to him out of fear that you may say something that could be harmful to your 
case.


MR. DULBERG: I understand.


THE COURT: In any event, the complaint identified something the expert said as 
establishing knowledge on behalf of Mr. Dulberg for the first time of the alleged 
malpractice. So the complaint by its very language tells me that that communication 
is relevant to the issue of the discovery rule. I don’t have a problem with doing an in 
camera inspection of that particular communication, but I don’t see how we avoid it being 
relevant.


MR. TALARICO: Judge, I think in all three -- the original complaint, the first 
amended complaint and the second amended complaint, all three plead the injury 
happening with the -- I can’t think of the word -- but with the binding arbitration 
statement. It thereafter talks about other matters and each time the drafter of 
that complaint, the first -- I’m sorry, the original, the first and the second, adds in 
different aspects which I believe are really irrelevant. I think the focus is on when 
the injury occurred. The injury I believe occurred when the binding arbitration 
award was granted and I think that’s when the statute of limitations should run.
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THE COURT: But he’s entitled to discovery on that. If you’re claiming a particular 
communication established knowledge for the first time, he gets to -- defense gets to 
see that, because you’ve linked it to a unique event and he gets to challenge whether 
that’s plausible, so you don’t get -- you don’t get to make that decision for him.


MR. DULBERG: If I may, I’m going -- I’m going to clarify here.


THE COURT: Mr. Dulberg, you have an attorney.


MR. DULBERG: Yes, I do. And I’m going to clarify.


THE COURT: I’m not asking you to clarify.


MR. DULBERG: The event -- the event, okay, was a series of events --


THE COURT: Counsel, --


MR. FLYNN: Judge, I’m going to object to this as well.


MR. DULBERG: -- (continuing) prior to meeting Mr. Gooch.


THE COURT: I’m ignoring what’s being said. Mr. Talarico, do you have a comment?


MR. TALARICO: Yes, we -- Mr. Dulberg, I believe, and our position is, the statute of 
limitations begins to run on the date of the arbitration -- the binding arbitration, 
award.


THE COURT: And you could be right, but the discovery rule involves facts and the 
issue becomes whether you knew or should have known. You, by the complaint you’ve 
inherited, established that knowledge came as a result of a particular event and I think it 
-- by virtue of that allegation, you’ve made the facts surrounding that event relevant to 
the investigation of your claim of the discovery rule, its application, that I can’t separate 
that out. If you say that communication gave you knowledge for the first time, then 
the defendant gets to explore that.


MR. DULBERG: That’s not what it said.


THE COURT: Your subjective interpretations aren’t going to be controlling.


MR. TALARICO: Judge, I’m not relying on that. All I’m saying is that, with all due 
respect, that is when he had the knowledge, that is when the statute of limitations 
begins to run, and that information has been part of the court file long before it 
became part of this matter.


THE COURT: My reading of the complaint referenced something regarding an expert 
report and perhaps a letter from former counsel.


MR. FLYNN: Judge, may I clarify that.


THE COURT: Go ahead. Yeah.


MR. FLYNN: Thank you. You know, the plaintiff has attempted I think to use both, 
a report that he received from a chainsaw -- so-called chainsaw expert, so a liability 
expert, relative to the underlying case. There’s been some confusion with respect to 
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his pleading and reliance on that report. However, what I clarified at his deposition 
is that he relied on a legal opinion to toll the statute of limitations in this case. It’s 
that legal opinion in December of 2016 which informed him of the malpractice. 
Again, he wasn’t very specific. I tried to question him about each and every violation of 
the standard of care, breach of the standard of care, and when he found out about it; and 
you can read the whole deposition, but his answers are evasive. They’ve been evasive 
in his original interrogatory answers. We’ve covered the waterfront with every possible 
question and interrogatory and production request we could, but it’s clear that he is 
relying on a legal opinion. Now, he’s not very specific about what that legal opinion is, 
and maybe there isn’t anything in Gooch’s records or in the emails and whatnot to and 
from Gooch and Dulberg, but, in any event, that’s what he testified to, and so it’s our 
position we should be entitled to those legal opinions, whatever they are.


THE COURT: I thought -- and obviously I didn’t read the entire deposition. I thought 
there was one letter that really covered it, based on what I read. Is that a fair statement?


MR. FLYNN: I’m not sure if that’s accurate, Judge. I think that -- I think he’s 
pinpointed the time period to December of 2016, but I think he also testified that there 
was regular email communication between Dulberg and Gooch, you know, --


THE COURT: In any event, I am going to direct production of all those 
communications on which the plaintiff is basing his claim of the applicability of the 
discovery rule; and that’s a little broader than I first intended, but given the nature of this 
discussion, it sounds like it’s more than just a couple of documents. It might be several 
of them. I will also have those items produced to me for an in camera inspection 
so that I can determine to what extent that they are disclosing information relevant to 
our investigation into the discovery rule, because while I agree the defendant should be 
allowed to investigate that issue, that doesn’t mean he gets the benefit of prior counsel’s 
work product outside of the discovery rule issue. Does that make sense?


MR. FLYNN: So I do understand your ruling. I would just ask that it be specified also, 
though, to the communications with Mr. Gooch because in anticipation of how this may 
be produced to Your Honor, if all they produce is this chainsaw expert report, then we 
haven’t made any progress.


THE COURT: There is definitely something from Mr. Gooch, and if I’m not given 
something from Mr. Gooch, that will be a red flag.


MR. TALARICO: Judge, if I might.


THE COURT: I’m sorry?


MR. TALARICO: If I might speak.


THE COURT: Yeah.


MR. TALARICO: Judge, my position is that the binding arbitration award document 
which has been part of the court file, we believe long before I was in this case, is the 
day that my client knew that he had an action and, before that, it was premature by 
Illinois law. At the time when the award was given, and the --
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THE COURT: I’m not buying that. The arbitrator’s award gave you insight as to the 
value. Where you lose me is -- Well, let me rephrase that. It gave you their insight as to 
what they perceived the value of the case to be. It did not tell you whether or not you 
could have known that there was a viable cause of action against another defendant --


MR. DULBERG: (Indiscernible) that.


THE COURT: -- because, again, it’s you knew or should have known whether --


MR. TALARICO: Of the injury, --


THE COURT: -- there was another cause of action against that --


MR. TALARICO: -- a financial injury.


THE COURT: And I fail to understand how an arbitrator’s award would explain 
that because I can’t imagine -- I certainly don’t -- I’m not an arbitrator, I don’t 
know what they put in their decisions, but I would be surprised if they spend a lot of 
time telling you about people you could have sued but for malpractice, so the issue 
for me is knew or should have known, and I am going to direct production of those 
documents.


MR. TALARICO: Judge, my one comment?


THE COURT: Yeah.


MR. TALARICO: So it’s Illinois law on that matter and a very recent case talked 
about specifically when the statute begins to run, but I will -- It’s called Suburban 
Real Estate Services, Inc., versus Barus -- I’m sorry, and Barus versus William 
Carlson. The cite --


THE COURT: But that’s a different argument. That’s a rule -- that’s an argument 
related to the applicability of -- or, in my analysis, of how the rule applies to the 
circumstances that we have. It doesn’t address the issue of whether you should have 
known of the existence of the cause of action, and the information I have is that you 
did not and could not have known about the cause of action until the disclosure from 
the expert or from Mr. Gooch, and if we’re going to explore that issue, you’ve got to 
produce that. You’ve put those items into evidence or at issue, so defense has a right to 
see them.


MR. DULBERG: May I.


THE COURT: Anything else?


MR. DULBERG: Yeah, yeah. I’d like to comment. You’re not going to let me comment?


THE COURT: Mr. Dulberg is attempting to speak. I’m not -- I’m neither listening nor 
inviting him to speak


MR. DULBERG: I will speak on the record.


THE COURT: So I will --
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MR. DULBERG: It’s not about when we knew or should have known of the cause of 
action.


THE COURT: Sir, --


MR. DULBERG: We certainly knew or should have known --


THE COURT: Sir, --


MR. DULBERG: -- of the injury.


THE COURT: Mr. Dulberg, do not presume to tell me what the law is. All right? You 
understand your place.


MR. DULBERG: Yes.


THE COURT: Do not tell me what the law is. I will make that decision. I’ve instructed 
you numerous times not to talk, and yet you feel the need to express yourself. You 
have an attorney. Your attorney has ably represented you, but I get to make a decision 
regardless of what your personal thoughts are. So we will go back to my discussion. 
Forgive the outburst, but I have invited him not to speak and that wasn’t acceptable to 
him. So, in any event, how long, Mr. Talarico, do you need to produce this information?


MR. TALARICO: Judge, I’m not absolutely sure. Whatever the court says I produce I’ll 
produce within 28 days.


THE COURT: Okay. Twenty-eight days is fine with me. Mr. Flynn?


MR. FLYNN: Twenty-eight days is fine, Your Honor. I would also request that, in 
addition to the documents being produced, that the actual discovery request be responded 
to and any interrogatories be amended --


THE COURT: You need a privilege log certainly as to the documents, and so I’m going 
to direct that you be given a privilege log because they are claiming privilege as to these 
items. I assume there hasn’t previously been one. Is that true?


MR. FLYNN: That is true.


THE COURT: All right. So you’re entitled to the privilege log. As far as the other 
interrogatories are concerned, Mr. Talarico -- How many interrogatories do we have 
outstanding?


MR. FLYNN: The -- I think what we have is some interrogatories that weren’t completely 
answered in the first place. It’s probably a handful, Judge, but then there are seven or 
eight requests for production that simply weren’t responded to. Those are the subject of 
this motion.


THE COURT: And are they covered by the privilege log, do you think?


MR. FLYNN: Well, I think that first we need to know whether there are responsive 
documents. They haven’t even answered that, and then if they are withholding any and 
submitting them to the court, then the privilege log comes next, I guess, would be my 
request.
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THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Talarico, can you provide a response in 28 days?


MR. TALARICO: Yes, Your Honor. I will respond.


THE COURT: All right. And if you don’t have documents, you don’t have documents. 
Just tell him. If you’re claiming a privilege, identify -- provide some sort of an 
identification of the document and the privilege you’re claiming. With respect to the 
interrogatories, which ones?


MR. FLYNN: These were the interrogatories propounded by Hans Mast, my other client, 
and that was Exhibit D, I believe, to the motion. I did not attach his answers, but Hans 
Mast’s interrogatories which were propounded back on March 22 of 2019 -- one, two, 
three -- just four interrogatories. I do believe that we have a response, but it’s incomplete. 
It doesn’t -- it doesn’t identify these communications with Mr. Gooch or the legal opinion 
that has been alleged in the complaint and placed at issue.


THE COURT: Yeah, and I -- my concern is -- and the answer, direct answer, to those is 
going to require my review of the documents, so I’m going to enter and continue that part 
of the motion until I make a decision with respect to the documents. Is there anything 
else?


MR. FLYNN: I think that covers it, Your Honor.


THE COURT: Okay. All right. So, Mr. Flynn, I’m


going to direct you to send me an order -- Do you have


our email address? You can take a picture if you like.


MR. FLYNN: I believe so. Okay.


THE COURT: Okay? And the order -- we’ll pick a new date in a moment. The order will 
provide that the plaintiff will provide you with a privilege log for those -- provide you 
answers to the production request as well as a privilege log with respect to any documents 
that are withheld, and I’m entering and continuing your motion with respect to the 
interrogatories. Plaintiff will provide me with the documents withheld and identified in 
the privilege log within 28 days and then we’ll come back perhaps two weeks after that. 
Twenty-eight days is March 10th; two weeks after that would be around March 24th, and 
I can provide you with my ruling then. So how’s March 24th at 1:30?


MR. FLYNN: Judge, I actually have a deposition at 1:00 o’clock that day.


THE COURT: How about the 25th? Thursday.


MR. FLYNN: 25th works. 25th at 1:00 o’clock?


THE COURT: Yeah. Mr. Talarico?


MR. TALARICO: One second, Your Honor.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. TALARICO: Fine.
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THE COURT: Do we have agreement on the date or are we waiting?


MR. TALARICO: I said it was fine, Your Honor.


THE COURT: Oh, okay. I’m sorry, I missed that. So 1:30. Is there anything else we need 
covered in the order?


MR. FLYNN: Just may I be clear that the motion is granted in part as stated on the 
record.


THE COURT: Yes.


MR. FLYNN: And I would like to just include Mr. Gooch’s name in the written order, 
that those be included in the production if they exist.


THE COURT: Yeah, I don’t -- I don’t want -- What I want to -- I guess -- And thank you 
for bringing that up.


My impression from reading the motion was it boiled down to -- I got the idea that it was 
a single document or a single communication that conveyed the information at issue. 
And you’re indicating that it was more, it was a number of emails. Are you able to put a 
timeframe on it?


MR. FLYNN: Well, I think, again, the allegations in the various complaints, complaint 
and amended complaints, and the testimony, (indiscernible) to December of 2016, so --


THE COURT: Yeah. Say the communications of December of 2016, because I don’t want 
it read as requiring that all communications from Mr. Gooch be produced.


MR. FLYNN: Okay.


THE COURT: Mr. Talarico, any questions or comments about that?


MR. TALARICO: No, Your Honor. I’ll follow the court’s order.


THE COURT: All right. Anything else then?


MR. FLYNN: No, Your Honor. I will send a draft of that order to Mr. Talarico for his 
review and then we will send it to your email address, Your Honor.


THE COURT: Okay. I’ll wait to see that. I’ll sign it as soon as it’s in. Thank you.


MR. FLYNN: Thank you.


THE COURT: See you in March.


MR. FLYNN: Thank you, counsel.


THE COURT: All right. Bye.


171.	 On April 1st, 2021 the following exchange took place in court.1


MR. FLYNN: I guess the only thing going forward, we’ve got the objections in the 


1  Exhibit 143_2021-04-01 ROP.pdf
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deposition transcript. Does the court typically just rule on those when ruling on a 
summary judgment motion?


THE COURT: No, I -- let me -- I have not had to deal with ruling on objections in a 
discovery deposition related to a motion for summary judgment.


MR. FLYNN: Okay.


THE COURT: So I haven’t done that before, but I do think that we have to address that 
and the only way to address it is to just walk through them, so perhaps if we set -- and 
I know this is putting it out, but I’m wondering -- and you know better -- whether any 
of the objections are going to become moot once you have responses to the written 
discovery. Is that going to fix anything?


MR. FLYNN: I think that a lot of them are already moot. I think that some of the rulings 
over the last month or so on these objections have probably covered those that are 
contained in the dep transcripts; however, I just want to make the summary judgment 
process as clean as possible. Maybe I can talk to Mr. Talarico and we can come up with 
an agreement on whether some of these objections in the dep are withdrawn, but, again, 
I just -- I don’t want the summary judgment motion to bog down on objections in a dep 
transcript, so --


THE COURT: Okay. And I don’t know.


MR. FLYNN: So -- Okay. I wanted to raise that issue in advance so the court’s aware that 
that might be an issue.


THE COURT: Why don’t we put the hearing at 1:30 on Monday, June 14th, and if you 
are unable to work out the issues on the discovery deposition, then we’ll walk through 
the transcript. You’ll need to give me a copy. And -- unless there is one in the court file 
already. You’ll need -- and we’ll walk through each one and I’ll take argument at that 
time and --


MR. FLYNN: Okay.


THE COURT: -- I’ll rule then. And that may get you where you want to go, and if there 
are none, great. Then we don’t have to deal with it. Does that --


MR. FLYNN: Okay.


THE COURT: Does that resolve your concern for today at least?


MR. FLYNN: I think so.


THE COURT: All right. So, Mr. Flynn, if you could draft the order. Mr. Talarico, is there 
anything you want to add?


MR. TALARICO: Well, I’ve read -- I wasn’t present at the deposition, so I’m just trying 
to get my brain wrapped around it. The objections were attorney-client privilege, sir, was 
that --


MR. FLYNN: Many of them, yes.
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MR. TALARICO: Okay. That’s all.


MR. FLYNN: And, again, it goes to the discovery of the malpractice. I think that it’s 
been placed at issue by virtue of the pleadings, so -- and, again, I think that there’s 
been a ruling, at least in part, on some of these issues, but, --


THE COURT: In the alternative --


MR. FLYNN: -- you know, why don’t we --


THE COURT: -- if you agree that some of the questions could have been answered, can 
you do this by way of interrogatory rather than a supplemental deposition?


MR. FLYNN: I think that for the most part Mr. Dulberg answered over the objections.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. FLYNN: And so the record was set there. The objections were made on the record. I 
think that it could probably be dealt with fairly swiftly.


172.	 On July 19, 2021 the following exchange took place in court.1


THE COURT: All right. Tell me -- we’re moving on to the interrogatory.


MR. FLYNN: And again, this goes to the statute of limitations on a legal malpractice 
case. The plaintiff is claiming that he didn’t discover it until after the 2 years --


THE COURT: Could you keep your voice up a little?


MR. FLYNN: Sure. Plaintiff is arguing for a tolling of the statute of limitations on a 
legal malpractice case. He was asked in Interrogatory No. 1, Identify and describe each 
and every way that Popovich or Mast breached any duty of care to you, the date of the 
breach, and when and how you became aware of the breach. His response -- his amended 
additional response discusses his pecuniary injury, that only addresses damages. With 
respect to the breach of the standard of care and how he discovered it, he simply says 
he knew that the defendants breached the standard of care due him based upon a verbal 
discussion with Attorney Tom Gooch on December 16, 2016.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. FLYNN: That describes the date. It doesn’t describe how he became aware of 
it, what Gooch told him. Now, again, I know your Honor is aware of the deposition 
testimony in this case regarding that December 16 time period. If the answer is that 
Dulberg doesn’t remember what Mr. Gooch told him, if Gooch said simply, You have a 
case, that’s fine. That’s what they should say. But I’ve already taken his deposition. There 
are no specifics that explain to me why Mr. Gooch crystallized this breach of the standard 
of care on December 16. But if this is all they have, then that’s what he should say, is that 
I don’t remember what Mr. Gooch told me.


THE COURT: I mean, he’s -- I think he’s complied. I’m not sure --


1  Exhibit 143_2021-07-19_ROP.pdf
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MR. FLYNN: What is the breach of the standard of care?


THE COURT: I’m sorry?


MR. FLYNN: And what is the breach of the standard of care? That’s what I’ve asked in 
the interrogatory. They don’t say.


THE COURT: Well, I think that -- all right. I guess that is -- my reading on it, it’s implied 
it’s a statute of limitations. But --


MR. FLYNN: No, the statute of limitations is the issue in this case.


THE COURT: All right. What is the --


MR. FLYNN: The underlying personal injury case --


THE COURT: What is the breach? Did Mr. Gooch advise him what the breach was?


MR. TALARICO: Judge, all that Mr. Dulberg recalls was relayed in the responses. There 
were no recordings that were going on. Nothing was done in writing. I’m not sure how I 
can possibly respond anymore, to give anymore.


THE COURT: I have a representation that this is all there is.


MR. FLYNN: That’s satisfactory to me. As long as when I file my summary judgment 
motion there’s not some new discovery discussion as to --


MR. TALARICO: Judge --


MR. FLYNN: -- what the breach was and what --


MR. TALARICO: I’m sorry. I hate to interrupt. Judge?


THE COURT: Yeah.


MR. TALARICO: We -- again, we were -- our response, I believe is in total compliance 
with the Court order of June 6th and your instructions on that day from the court record. 
And I’d like to respond in writing to establish that we did that.


THE COURT: No. No. I mean, you’re -- you only need to respond in writing if we’re 
going to have a hearing. If you want to file a brief that -- just in the file, that’s fine, but 
I think we have a resolution today and I don’t want to spend more time reading briefs 
resolving an issue that’s moot. So I think this is resolved. What else is outstanding?


MR. FLYNN: I think that does resolve -- the representation resolves both issues, so -- 


THE COURT: I have -- you have advised -- well, you’ve advised that’s all there is, so I’m 
finding you in compliance.


MR. TALARICO: Thank you, your Honor.


THE COURT: Okay. Is there anything else we need to do?


173.	 Also on July 19, 2021, just after the above exchange, opposing counsel Flynn began to 
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pressure Dulberg about a meeting Dulberg had with Saul Ferris.1   Issues around Saul Ferris were 
an invention designed to further confuse the toll date of the Statute of Limitations.


Chapter 2:  � HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL HELPED FLYNN ACCUSE 
DULBERG: FLYNN’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT


174.	 On September 16, 2022 opposing counsel Flynn filed a Motion for Summary Judgement2 
based on a combination of all the messed up arguments Gooch and Clinton and Williams and 
opposing counsel Flynn have been placing in the Common Law Record and the Reports of 
Proceedings for the previous 5+ years about how to toll the Statute of Limitations.  


175.	   The core of Flynns argument is reproduced below. In Table 6 (which follows) individual 
components of Flynn’s arguments are analyzed.


p 3:


In his First Amended Complaint, Dulberg modified his “discovery” allegations and 
alleged “it was not until the mediation in December 2016, based on the expert’s opinion 
that Dulberg became reasonably aware that Mast and Popovich did not properly represent 
him by pressuring and coercing him to accept a settlement for $5,000 on an “all or 
nothing” basis. Exhibit B, ¶29. In ¶30 he reiterates that “Dulberg was advised to seek an 
independent opinion from a legal malpractice attorney and received that opinion on or 
about December 16, 2016.” Exhibit B, ¶30. 


Dulberg’s first substitute counsel in this case filed a Second Amended Complaint, further 
modifying the allegations. It is alleged that “after accepting a $5,000 settlement, Dulberg 
wrote Mast an email on January 29, 2014 stating that”I trust your judgment.” Exhibit 
C, ¶48. He further alleges in ¶55 of Ex. C that “only after Dulberg obtained an award 
against Gagnon did he discover that his claims against the McGuires were viable and 
valuable.” Exhibit C, ¶55. He also alleges that following the execution of the mediation 
agreement and the final mediation award, Dulberg realized for the first time in December 
of 2016 that the information that Mast and  opovich had given Dulberg was false and 
misleading and that the dismissal of the McGuires was a serious and substantial mistake. 
Exhibit C, ¶56. He alleged that it was not until the mediation in December 2016 based 
on the expert’s opinions that Dulberg retained for the mediation that Dulberg became 
reasonably aware that Mast and Popovich did not properly represent him by pressuring 
and coercing him to accept a settlement for $5,000 on an “all or nothing” basis. Exhibit 
C, ¶57. Dulberg’s allegations of Popovich’ breaches of the standard of care are contained 
in Exhibit C, ¶58 as follows:


58. Mast and Popovich, jointly and severally, breached the duties owed Dulberg by 
violating the standard of care owed Dulberg in the following ways and respects:  


a)  failed to fully and properly investigate the claims and/or basis for liability against 


1 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 
Section 2B


2  Exhibit 144_2022-09-16_MTD.pdf
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the McGuires;


b) failed to properly obtain information through discovery regarding McGuires assets, 
insurance coverages, and/or ability to pay a judgement and/or settlement against them; 


c) failed to accurately advise Dulberg of the McGuires’ and Gagnon’s insurance 
coverage related to the claims against them and/or Dulberg’s ability to recover through 
McGuires’ and Gagnon’s insurance policies, including, but not limited to, incorrectly 
informing Dulberg that Gagnon’s insurance policy was “only $100,000” and no 
insurance company would pay close to that; 


d) failed to take such actions as were necessary during their respective representation 
of Dulberg to fix liability against the property owners of the subject property (the 
McGuires) who employed and/or were principals of Gagnon, and who sought the 
assistance Dulberg by for example failing to obtain an expert; 


e) failed to accurately advise Dulberg regarding the McGuires’ liability, likelihood 
of success of claims against the McGuires, the McGuires’ ability pay any judgment 
or settlement against them through insurance or other assets, and/or necessity of 
prosecuting the[ sic] all the claims against both the McGuires and Gagnon in order to 
obtain a full recovery; 


f) Coerced Dulberg, verbally and though emails, into accepting a settlement with 
the McGuires for $5,000 by misleading Dulberg into believing that he had no other 
choice but to accept the settlement or else “The McGuires will get out for FREE 
on a motion.” Dulberg has hired a personal injury attorney in 2002 and has hired a 
corporate lawyer in the past. (Dulberg Deposition, Exhibit E, pp.8, 9). 


p 5:


Dulberg has hired a personal injury attorney in 2002 and has hired a corporate lawyer 
in the past. (Dulberg Deposition, Exhibit E, pp.8, 9). He was injured on June 28, 2011 
while assisting David Gagnon with a chainsaw cutting up some branches after they were 
removed from a tree. (Exhibit E, pp.12, 13). He hired Popovich to sue Gagnon and Bill 
and Carolyn McGuire in connection with his June 28, 2011 injury. (Exhibit E, pp. 9, 30). 
Hans Mast was the primary handling attorney. (Exhibit E, p. 30). Brad Balke substituted 
for Dulberg on March 19, 2015 when Popovich withdrew. (Exhibit E, p. 35). Dulberg 
asked hundreds of lawyers to take over his case when Popovich withdrew, but none 
accepted. (Exhibit, E, p. 36). Dulberg fired Balke prior to the binding arbitration, and 
he was then represented by the Baudin Law Firm. While Brad Balke handled the case, 
Balke never gave him an opinion as to the liability of the McGuires and whether the prior 
settlement was appropriate. (Exhibit E, p. 42). At some point, Dulberg hired The Daley 
Disability Law Firm to assist him with a Social Security disability claim. A criminal 
lawyer represented him in a guilty plea for drug possession in 1990. (Exhibit E, pp.34-
35) (Exhibit E, p. 43). At some point during the case, it was Hans Mast’s opinion that the 
McGuires did not have liability because they did not control the work David Gagnon was 
doing. (Exhibit E, pp. 50, 51 ). Mr. McGuire was inside the house for 45 minutes before 
the accident happened. (Exhibit E, pp. 51, 52).
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p 6:  


The case continued against Gagnon through discovery and some of Dulberg’s doctors 
were deposed. (Exhibit E, pp. 78, 79). Dulberg told Mast “First, I’m sorry that I’m not a 
better witness to prove David cut me with a chainsaw.” Dulberg already started looking 
for new lawyers in the summer of 2014. Mast thought the case against David Gagnon 
was difficult. (Exhibit E, p.81 ). Mast told Dulberg that he did not make a good witness 
at his deposition. (Exhibit E, p.82). Dulberg and Gagnon were the only people who 
witnessed the accident. (Exhibit E, p.83 ). TI1ere were differences between the factual 
testimony provided by Gagnon and Dulberg in the underlying case. (Exhibit E, p.83). 
His relationship with Mast was deteriorating over the fall and winter of 2015, even long 
before that. (Exhibit E, p.86). On February 22, 2015, Dulberg wrote in an email to Mast 
“Now I’m left wondering ... how hard it is to sue an attorney?” (Exhibit F). When asked 
what the reference to suing an attorney meant he replied:


A. That was me being angry.


Q. With Hans?


A. Yes. I was seeing red.


Q. You’re suggesting that you may sue him?


A. Yeah. I didn’t know that I could. I’m wondering about it.


Q. You, basically, made a threat, whether it be a veiled threat or an overt threat


to sue him, correct?


A. Yes.


Q. You, ultimately, sued him for legal malpractice, right?


A. Yes


On February 22, 2015, Mast wrote in an email to Dulberg “Paul, I can no longer 
represent you in the case. We obviously have differences of opinion as to the value of 
the case.” (Exhibit E, p.91). Mast speculated that seven out of ten times he would lose 
the case outright. (Exhibit E, p.92). Dulberg filed for bankruptcy. He was ordered by the 
bankruptcy trustee to participate in binding mediation on December 8, 2016. (Exhibit E, 
p.96). Dulberg admitted that the allegation in his complaint regarding Popovich being 
involved with the high/low agreement in the mediation was a mistake. (Exhibit E, p.103 
). Dulberg testified that it was Baudin that advised him to seek an independent opinion 
from an attorney handling legal malpractice matters. (Exhibit E, p.108). The lawyer he 
received the legal opinion on December 16, 2016 was Thomas Gooch, the drafter of the 
Complaint in this case. (Exhibit E, p.108). It was confirmed by Gooch on December 16 
2016 that Dulberg had a valid case against Popovich. (Exhibit E, p.113). He did not file 
a lawsuit until nearly a year later because “Thomas Gooch had some health issues and 
that his wife had some health issues. It took a while.” (Exhibit E, p.114 ). Dulberg agreed 
that the legal opinion he received on December 16, 2016 was responsive to Interrogatory 
No. I from Dulberg’s answers to Mast’s lnterrogatories. (Exhibit E, pp.125, 126). The 
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legal opinion Dulberg received from Gooch was verbal. (Exhibit E, p.130). Gooch simply 
stated, “You have a case here. You have a valid case.” (Exhibit E, p.130). When asked 
did he tell you exactly what they did wrong in connection with your - their representation 
of you, Dulberg replied “He probably did. l ‘m not recalling it right now. l ‘m pulling a 
blank.” (Exhibit E, p.131).


Dulberg was questioned further: “Other than you have a case, what did Gooch say to 
you?” Dulberg responded, “He said they definitely committed malpractice.” When asked 
whether Gooch ever put this in writing, Dulberg replied, “I think he backed it up by filing 
a suit. That’s documented.” (Exhibit E, p.136). Dulberg was asked, “As you sit here 
today, other than you have a case against Popovich and Mast, what did Gooch tell you 
specifically that was any different than what Mast and Popovich told you with respect to 
the McGuires’ liability? Answer: They were definitely liable. He tried to say that - like 
Popovich and Mast were first - or second year lawyers and that they may have made a 
mistake here.” (Ex. E, pp.139-140).


p10:


While Popovich denies breaching any standard of care or proximately causing Dulberg 
any damages, assuming arguendo there was malpractice, Dulberg knew or should have 
known of his injury and that it was wrongfully caused when Popovich withdrew. In the 
alternative, Dulberg should have investigated any potential claims when he questioned 
the appropriateness of settling with the McGuires. 


In his various pleadings, Dulberg alleged that Popovich concealed his malpractice and 
coerced him to settle with the McGuires, but his own testimony does not bear out any 
such concealment. He also attempts to plead that he did not discover the malpractice and 
his injury until December 12, 2016, but his anticipatory pleading is not supported by his 
own testimony. Under any analysis, Dulberg knew or should have known of the alleged 
malpractice and his injury by the time Popovich withdrew. Dulberg fails to meet his 
burden of proving a discovery date that would toll the limitations period.


p 13:


Dulberg has fiddled with his “discovery” allegations, going back and forth as to when 
and how he became aware of his malpractice claim and damages. First, he plead that 
he sought a legal opinion. and received that opinion on December 16, 2016. The legal 
opinion was supplied by the same attorney who filed his first two pleadings in this 
case. Then he changed his pleading and theory and attempted to rely on discovery by 
virtue of the report of a “chainsaw expert” he read in connection with the December 
2016 mediation. However, he actually received the opinion (Exhibit I) in July 2016 but 
“you don’t catch everything the first time you read it.” (Exhibit D, p.141 ). Notably the 
report from Dr. Lanford is dated much earlier, February 27, 2016 and was addressed to 
Dulberg’s then attorney, Randy Baudin.


p 14:







65
ARDC COMPLAINT AGAINST THOMAS W GOOCH AND SABINA WALCZYK


Here defendants painstakingly attempted to seek discovery as to how Popovich allegedly 
breached the standard of care, and when and how Dulberg became aware of any damages. 
Dulberg’s discovery responses and deposition testimony were repeatedly evasive. See 
Dulberg testimony, Exhibit D, pages 106 to 141. This behavior continued and caused 
the need for a motion to compel (See Group Exhibit J, Motion to Compel, Motion to 
Supplement Motion to Compel, and July 19, 202 l transcript from hearing). 


Moreover, Dulberg’s dissatisfaction with Popovich’s representation surfaced much 
earlier, and he even threatened in writing to sue Mast as early as February 22, 2015. 
Dulberg, no “babe in the woods” when it comes to experience with litigation retention, 
met with “hundreds” of attorneys and had opportunity after opportunity to investigate 
and inquire as to whether Popovich breached the standard of care and caused him any 
damage in connection with the case (including prosecution of the case against Gagnon 
and the McGuires). The many cases cited above establish the Plaintiffs duty to inquire, 
and here Dulberg had the tools, the information, and opportunity to inquire. His contrived 
late discovery of his claims and damages should not be countenanced by this court. He 
was clearly questioning whether he should agree to accept the McGuires’ offer, and he 
deliberated on it extensively. Nothing prevented him from seeking a second opinion. 
Likewise, nothing prevented him from inquiring of Mr. Balke or the Baudin finn whether 
his injury was wrongfully caused. Summary Judgment must be entered as his claims are 
barred by the two-year statute of limitations.


According to the quotes in paragraph 167 Flynn implied that all dates listed in Table 5A below 
could be used to toll Dulberg’s statute of limitations.


TABLE 5A:1  � TOLL DATES GIVEN BY OPPOSING COUNSEL FLYNN
TABLE 5A:  �FLYNN CLAIMED THESE ARE VALID TOLL DATES:
1 when settling with the McGuires in January, 2014 2014-1-22
2 when he questioned the appropriateness of settling with the McGuires
3 (During Daley Disability Law Firm representation) 2012-09 to


2016-05
4 (when the statement about “suing attorney” was made) 2015-02-22
5 by the time Popovich withdrew 2015-03-15
6 (During Balke’s representation) 2015-03 to 


2015-06
7 (while communicating with “hundreds” of attorneys) 2015-6 to 


2015-09
8 when being represented by the Baudins 2015-03 to 


2016-12
9 February 27, 2016 after Lanford sent his opinion to the Baudins 2016-02-27
10 July 2016 (after reading Dr Lanford’s findings) 2016-07


According to Table 4A and 4B Dulberg’s own attorneys implied that the dates listed in Table 5B 
below should be used to toll Dulberg’s statute of limitations.


1   Statements in parethesis are Flynn’s implications
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TABLE 5B:  � TOLL DATES GIVEN BY DULBERG’S OWN ATTORNEYS GOOCH, 
CLINTON AND WILLIAMS


TABLE 5B:  � DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL CLAIMED THESE TOLL 
DATES:


1 December 12, 2016 (after binding medation award) 2016-12-12
2 December 16, 2016 (after speaking with Gooch) 2016-12-16
3 December 8, 2016 (after reading Lanford’s findings) 2016-12-08


176.	 Every one of Flynn’s dates (Table 5A) and reasons ignores the McGuire’s Vicarious 
Liability for the agent’s negligent actions.  Flynn claims the “injury” is the McGuire settlement.


177.	 Dulberg’s attorneys Gooch, Clinton and Williams (Table 5B) also ignores the McGuire’s 
Vicarious Liability for it’s agent’s negligent actions.  Gooch, Clinton and Williams claim the 
“injury” is also the McGuire settlement.


178.	 Both (Table 5A and Table 5B) omit and ignore that the Vicarious Liability aspect makes 
it impossible to quantify a pecuniary injury attributable to the principal before the amount is 
awarded for its agent’s negligent actions.


179.	 In simple terms: 


a. If the agent paid the whole award for its negligent actions then the principal wouldn’t 
owe the plaintiff anything because the amount owed is zero and there is nothing left to 
quantify or realize as a pecuniary loss or injury.


b. If the agent cannot pay the whole award for its negligent actions then the principal 
would owe the plaintiff greater than zero and the amount can be quantified and realized 
as a pecuniary loss or injury.


c. If the plaintiff was found to be greater than 50% at fault then neither the agent nor 
its principal would owe the plaintiff and there is nothing left to quantify or realize as a 
pecuniary loss or injury.


In any scenario above the plaintiff’s pecuniary injury attributable to a principal vicariously liable 
for its agent’s negligent actions cannot be calculated, quantified or realized until an award is 
issued for the agent’s negligent actions.


180.	 Illinois law on this issue states that toll cannot begin until pecuniary injury is received as 
explained in Suburban Real Estate Servs. v. Carlson, 2020 Ill. App. 191953 (Ill. App. Ct. 2020).


181.	 Vicarious Liability and exactly when the statute of limitations begins in 735 ILCS 5/13-
214.3(b) is well founded in Illinois law. 


182.	 In a recent opinion handed down on April 21, 2022, the Illinois Supreme Court now 
allows direct and vicarious liability actions against employers. If the decision (McQueen v. 
Green, 2022 IL 126666) was available in the years 2012-2014 then and only then could the 
McGuires be held directly liable separate from their agent. That may have changed when a 
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pecuniary injury could have been realized for a principal independent of its agent and perhaps 
have changed when the statute of limitations begins in 735 ILCS 5/13-214.3 (b) when it pertains 
to Principals sued directly for their agent’s negligence. 


183.	 Dulberg could not use McQueen v. Green, 2022 IL 126666 to bring suite ‘direct’ against 
McGuire in the years 2012-2014 for the negligent actions of McGuire’s agent Gagnon. 


184.	 All entries in Table 5A and Table 5B were inventions of Flynn and Dulberg’s attorneys to 
give false impressions of Dulberg claiming late discovery of an “injury” that occurred in January, 
2014. Dulberg never used the discovery rule since according to Suburban Dulberg filed within 
1 year of the final judgment in 12LA178.  None of the reasons given in Table 5A and 5B  are 
founded in Illinois law (Suburban Real Estate v Carlson and cited cases).


185.	 All entries in Tables 4A and 4B were inventions of Dulberg’s attorneys to give the false 
impression of a late discovery of an “injury’ while ignoring Suburban Real Estate v Carlson 
and McGuire’s Vicarious Liability for its agent’s negligent actions as the first time Dulberg could 
realize a pecuniary injury.


186.	 Dulberg’s own attorneys set him up with the toll dates and reasons listed in Tables 4A, 
4B and 5B which are not founded in Illinois law.  Flynn gave his own toll dates and reasons (in 
Table 5A) which are also not founded in Illinois law. 


187.	 The reasons given in Tables 4A, 4B, 5A and 5B ignore Suburban Real Estate v Carlson 
and its cited cases.  Dulberg never used the discovery rule since according to Suburban. Dulberg 
filed within 1 year of the final judgment in 12LA178 and McGuire’s Vicarious Liability for its 
agent’s negligent actions could be quantified and realized for the first time.


188.	 All 5 Versions in Table 3 are inventions created by Dulberg’s attorneys to conceal the true 
origin of the ‘upper cap’.  None of them are accurate.  Dulberg was described as the source of all 
5 versions. 


189.	 In Table 6 below Flynn’s key accusations against Dulberg in his 2022 Summary 
Judgment are listed in Column 1.  Column 2 shows how most every Flynn’s accusation made by 
Flynn against Dulberg in 2022 were set up and reinforced years earlier by Dulberg’s own counsel 
(acting in collaboration with opposing counsel) to sabotage Dulberg’s claims.
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TABLE 6:  �HOW OPPOSING COUNSEL’S SUMMARY JUDGMENT ARGUMENTS IN 
2022 WERE SET UP BY DULBERG’S OWN ATTORNEYS SINCE 2016


TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


1 In his First Amended 
Complaint, Dulberg modified 


his “discovery” allegations 
and alleged “it was not until 
the mediation in December 
2016, based on the expert’s 


opinion that Dulberg became 
reasonably aware that 


Mast and Popovich did not 
properly represent him by 


pressuring and coercing him 
to accept a settlement for 


$5,000 on an “all or nothing” 
basis.


Accusation 1 was set up by Gooch. Gooch filed Version 
1 (COMPLAINT1) of when Dulberg “first knew” of his 
“injury”. About 7 months later Gooch filed Version 2 
which is different than Version 1. Accusation 1 quotes 


Version 2 (AMENDED COMPLAINT2) 


Gooch identified his first meeting with Dulberg as the 
date from which the toll runs. Gooch expressed this 


opinion clearly at his first meeting with Dulberg and never 
expressed any doubt about this to Dulberg.  18 months later 


Gooch changed his opinion on when to toll the statute of 
limitations when Gooch filed Version 2. (See Table 4A and 


Table 4B for summary of Gooch statements)


2 Dulberg’s first substitute 
counsel in this case filed a 


Second Amended Complaint, 
further modifying the 


allegations. It is alleged that 
“after accepting a $5,000 
settlement, Dulberg wrote 


Mast an email on January 29, 
2014 stating that “I trust your 


judgment.”


Accusation 2 was set up by Williams and Clinton. They 
filed a third version (Version 3, Table 4A and Table 4B) in 


SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT3.  


3 Dulberg has hired a personal 
injury attorney in 2002 and 
has hired a corporate lawyer 


in the past. 
4 He further alleges in ¶55 


of Ex. C that “only after 
Dulberg obtained an award 


against Gagnon did he 
discover that his claims 


against the McGuires were 
viable and valuable.”


Accusation 4 was set up by Gooch and reinforced by 
Clinton and Williams.


1  Exhibit 111_2017-11-28_COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
2  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
3  Exhibit 132_2018-12-06_Second Amended Complaint.pdf
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


5 He also alleges that 
following the execution of 


the mediation agreement and 
the final mediation award, 
Dulberg realized for the 


first time in December of 
2016 that the information 


that Mast and Popovich had 
given Dulberg was false 


and misleading and that the 
dismissal of the McGuires 


was a serious and substantial 
mistake. 


Accusation 5 was set up by Gooch and reinforced by 
Clinton and Williams by making an identical statement in 


Version 3.


6 He alleged that it was 
not until the mediation in 
December 2016 based on 
the expert’s opinions that 
Dulberg retained for the 
mediation that Dulberg 


became reasonably aware 
that Mast and Popovich did 
not properly represent him 
by pressuring and coercing 


him to accept a settlement for 
$5,000 on an “all or nothing” 


basis.


Accusation 6 was set up by Gooch in AMENDED 
COMPLAINT1 (Version 2 in Tables 4A and Table 4B)


Accusation 6 was reinforced by Clinton and Williams in 
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT2 where they repeated 


the statement. (Version 3 in Table 4A and Table 4B)


Flynns accusations 1 to 6 all claim that Dulberg made 
each statement.  Neither Version 1, 2 or 3 (in Table 4A and 
Table 4B) are what Dulberg told his attorneys. None of the 


3 versions are accurate.  It was Gooch that told Dulberg 
Version 1 on December 16, 2016. Gooch wrote Version 1 
on November 28, 2017.  It was also Gooch that chose to 
change from Version 1 to Version 2 on June 6, 2018. In 
each case it was the attorney that told their client how to 


toll the statute.  


Dulberg is then accused of changing his statement. Dulberg 
is being made to appear “evasive”. Version 1 changes to 
Version 2 (by Gooch) and then changes to Version 3 (by 
Clinton and Williams) as Dulberg is accused of “fiddling 
with” a “contrived” toll date and “changing his theory”.


1  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
2  Exhibit 132_2018-12-06_Second Amended Complaint.pdf
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


7 Dulberg asked hundreds of 
lawyers to take over his case 
when Popovich withdrew, but 


none accepted.


Accusation 7 was set up by Popovich and Mast. “Evidence 
of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During Popovich-Mast 
Representation” (Exhibit 1) gives detailed descriptions and 
evidence of Popovich and Mast forging and manipulating 
many documents, destroying evidence, leading witnesses 
to commit perjury, suppressing admissions of negligence 


and fault from ones own client. 
8 Brad Balke substituted for 


Dulberg on March 19, 2015 
when Popovich withdrew.


While Brad Balke handled 
the case, Balke never gave 
him an opinion as to the 


liability of the McGuires and 
whether the prior settlement 


was appropriate.


Accusation 8 was set up by Williams and Clinton. They 
suppressed around 40 email documents between Balke and 
Dulberg.1 The emails included Balke waiting for a package 
of documents seemingly in the possession of attorney Saul 


Ferris for about 2 months.2 3


Flynn also attempted to accuse Dulberg of receiving a 
letter by mail at Dulberg’s home.4  The letter was actually 


in the possession of his client Popovich for about 2 months 
and had the address of Popovich at the top of the letter. 


9 Dulberg wrote in an email 
to Mast “Now I’m left 


wondering ... how hard it is 
to sue an attorney?”


Accusation 9 was set up by Popovich and Mast. was set up 
by Popovich and Mast. “Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 
12LA178 During Popovich-Mast Representation” (Exhibit 


1) gives detailed descriptions and evidence of Popovich 
and Mast forging and manipulating many documents, 


destroying evidence, leading witnesses to commit perjury, 
suppressing admissions of negligence and fault from ones 


own client.


With this concealed from Dulberg, Flynn claimed the 2 
year toll begins to run when Dulberg states dissatisfaction 


with how he was treated or makes negative comments 
about Popovich or Mast.


 Accusation 9 was reinforced by Clinton and Williams 
who suppressed email documents around the quote and the 


event.5 


1  �Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 1 and 
Chapter 2, Section 2D


2  Exhibit 1_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA178 During Popovich-Mast Representation”, paragraph 1-252 
to 1-264


3  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 
Section 2B


4  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 
Section 2B


5 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 1
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


10 Dulberg told Mast “First, I’m 
sorry that I’m not a better 
witness to prove David cut 


me with a chainsaw.”


Accusation 10 was set up by Popovich and Mast. See 
answer to accusation #7 and #9 (column 2).  


Accusation 10 was reinforced by Clinton and Williams 
when they suppressed email documents around the quote 


and the event.1 
11 Dulberg admitted that the 


allegation in his complaint 
regarding Popovich being 
involved with the high/low 
agreement in the mediation 


was a mistake.


Accusation 11 was set up by Gooch. He created 3 different 
versions of how the ‘upper cap’ of $300,000 was placed on 
the value of PI case 12LA178 (Table 3, Versions 1, 2 and 
3). None of the versions were true. Gooch also suppressed 


all information about Dulberg’s bankruptcy from court 
records as explained in “TEAM-WORK” Example 3


Accusation 11 was reinforced by Clinton and Williams 
when they created 2 more (untrue) versions of how the 


‘upper cap’ was placed on the value of PI case 12LA178 
(Table 3, versions 4 and 5).  Clinton and Williams also 


suppressed information which would connect a “high/low” 
agreement with bankruptcy.2


Dulberg’s counsel is on record stating (at least) 5 different 
versions of the source of the ‘upper cap placed on the value 
of PI case 12LA178 (see Table 3). Dulberg is assumed to 
be the source of all 5 versions. None of the 5 versions are 


accurate. Dulberg never told his attorneys any of the 5 
versions.


The true source of the ‘upper cap’ was available in 
17LA377 Reports of Proceedings 2016-06-13 to 2016-08-
10. All 5 versions in Table 3 were intentionally invented 
by Dulberg’s own counsel to leave Dulberg vulnerable to 


accusation 11. The true origin of the “high-low agreement” 
is shown in “TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 4.


12 Dulberg testified that it was 
Baudin that advised him to 


seek an independent opinion 
from an attorney handling 
legal malpractice matters. 


Dulberg asked Baudin if he wanted to pursue Popovich 
and Mast.  Baudin answered, “I can’t I have to work here 


and we do business with Popovich.”[paraphrasing]  Baudin 
recommended Gooch as a legal malpratice attorney on 


2016-12-12.


1  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”. Chapter 1
2 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 


Section 2A
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


13 The lawyer he received the 
legal opinion on December 


16, 20l6 was Thomas Gooch, 
the drafter of the Complaint 
in this case. (Exhibit E, p. 
108). It was confirmed by 


Gooch on December 16 2016 
that Dulberg had a valid case 


against Popovich. 


Accusation 13 was set up by Gooch.  On December 16, 
2016 Gooch told Dulberg that Gooch is considered an 


“expert” in legal malpractice and since Gooch as “expert” 
informed Dulberg he has a valid case on December 16, 
2016 (at their first meeting),  Gooch told Dulberg the 
Statute of Limitations starts from the day of Dulberg’s 


first meeting with Gooch.  Gooch wrote the same in the 
COMPLAINT1.


Gooch must have known that this is not how the statute of 
limitations starts in Dulberg’s case. Gooch then changed 
his opinion about 18 months later and filed Version 2 in 
AMENDED COMPLAINT2.  Defendant’s Popovich and 
Mast then claim Dulberg is responsible for making all the 


statements.


14 He did not file a lawsuit until 
nearly a year later because 
“Thomas Gooch had some 


health issues and that his wife 
had some health issues. It 


took a while.”


Accusation 14 was set up by Gooch.  Gooch sent a letter 
to Popovich in December 16, 2016 claiming he intended to 
file suit within 7 days.3  Gooch did not even scan Dulberg’s 
documents at his office for about 6 months4 and did not file 
a complaint for about 11 months. Gooch used excuses such 
as health issues and needing to contact an expert witness. 
Gooch filed about 330 days from the time he claimed he 


would file within 7 days. Dulberg was set up by Gooch to 
be left vulnerable to accusation 14.


1  Exhibit 111_2017-11-28_COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
2  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
3  See paragraph 29
4  See paragraph 31
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


15 Dulberg alleged that 
Popovich concealed his 


malpractice and coerced him 
to settle with the McGuires, 


but his own testimony 
does not bear out any such 


concealment


Accusation 15 was set up by Popovich and Mast. 
“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During 


Popovich-Mast Representation” (Exhibit 1) gives detailed 
descriptions and evidence of Popovich and Mast forging 
and manipulating many documents, destroying evidence, 


leading witnesses to commit perjury, suppressing 
Defendant’s admissions of negligence and fault from ones 


own client.


Accusation 15 was reinforced by Gooch, Clinton and 
Williams when they successfully suppressed the certified 


slip ruling of Tilschner v Spangler that Mast gave to 
Dulberg for over 6 years.1  2 


16 He also attempts to plead 
that he did not discover the 
malpractice and his injury 
until December 12, 2016, 


but his anticipatory pleading 
is not supported by his own 


testimony. 


Accusation 16 was set up by Gooch, Clinton and Williams. 
They created 3 incorrect versions of how Dulberg “first 


knew” of the “injury” (in Tables 4A and 4B).  Each of the 
3 versions inexplicably gives multiple times when Dulberg 


“first knew” of his “injury”. Table 5B lists 3 different 
toll dates which Dulberg’s own attorneys claimed and 


attributed to Dulberg.
17 Dulberg agreed that 


the legal opinion he 
received on December 16, 


2016 was responsive to 
Interrogatory No. 1 from 


Dulberg’s answers to Mast’s 
lnterrogatories.


Accusation 17 was set up by Gooch. Gooch told Dulberg 
this with conviction at their first meeting and Dulberg 
simply repeated what Gooch told Dulberg at their first 


meeting.


Gooch changed his own claim 18 months later and wrote it 
in AMENDED COMPLAINT3.


18 Dulberg has fiddled with 
his “discovery” allegations, 
going back and forth as to 
when and how he became 
aware of his malpractice 


claim and damages.


Accusation 18 was set up by Gooch, Clinton and Williams. 
3 different versions (each with multiple toll dates listed) 


were designed to produce the appearance of  Dulberg 
“fiddling with” and “contriving” a “late toll date”. (Table 


4A and Table 4B)


1  See “TEAM-WORK” Example 1: Concealing key evidence (Tilschner v Spangler)
2  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 2, 


Sections 2C and 2K
3  Exhibit 117_2018-06-07_FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


19 First, he plead that he sought 
a legal opinion. and received 


that opinion on December 
16, 2016. The legal opinion 
was supplied by the same 
attorney who filed his first 
two pleadings in this case.


Accusation 19 was set up by Gooch. This is what Gooch 
told Dulberg during their first meeting.  This is what 


Gooch claimed to Dulberg and what Gooch wrote in the 
COMPLAINT1. 


20 Then he changed his pleading 
and theory and attempted to 
rely on discovery by virtue 
of the report of a “chainsaw 


expert” he read in connection 
with the December 2016 


mediation. 


Accusation 20 was set up by Gooch on June 13, 2018 
(Version 2, Tables 4A and 4B). Gooch created Version 1 on 
November 28, 2017.  Gooch created Version 2 on June 7, 


2018. 


Flynn accuses: “Then he changed his pleading and 
theory..”.  Gooch, an experienced legal malpractice 


attorney, first claimed with confidence the toll of the 
statute of limitations begins when Dulberg first met Gooch. 
Gooch created Version 1 without telling Dulberg.  Gooch 
then created Version 2 without telling Dulberg.    Gooch 
waited 11 months to file a complaint and 18 months after 


Gooch first met Dulberg Gooch changed his mind on when 
the toll begins.


Accusation 20 can then claim Dulberg “changed his 
pleading and theory”.


21 he actually received the 
opinion (Exhibit I) in July 
2016 but “you don’t catch 


everything the first time you 
read it.”


Notably the report from Dr. 
Lanford is dated much earlier, 


February 27, 2016 and was 
addressed to Dulberg’s then 


attorney, Randy Baudin.


Accusation 21 was set up by Gooch. Gooch told Dulberg 
at their first meeting that the statute tolls from when 


Dulberg first talked to Gooch since Gooch is considered an 
‘expert’. In Version 1 (Table 4A and 4B) Gooch claimed 
the “independent opinion” came from Gooch.  In Version 


2 Gooch claimed that the “Expert opinion” came from 
Lanford. (Table 4A and 4B). Once Gooch changed Version 


1 into Version 2, the further confusion allowed  Flynn to 
make accusation 21 and 22 in an attempt to move the toll 
date yet again. Each of these “changes of pleadings” is 


then blamed on Dulberg.


1  Exhibit 111_2017-11-28_COMPLAINT AT LAW.pdf
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


22 Here defendants 
painstakingly attempted 
to seek discovery as to 


how Popovich allegedly 
breached the standard of 
care, and when and how 


Dulberg became aware of 
any damages. Dulberg’s 
discovery responses and 


deposition testimony were 
repeatedly evasive. See 


Dulberg testimony, Exhibit 
D, pages 106 to 141. This 
behavior continued and 


caused the need for a motion 
to compel (See Group Exhibit 
J, Motion to Compel, Motion 


to Supplement Motion to 
Compel, and July 19, 202l 
transcript from hearing).


Acccusation 22 was set up by Gooch when Gooch changed 
from Version 1 to Version 2 (in Tables 4A and 4B) and 
reinforced by Clinton and Williams when they wrote 


Version 3.


Clinton and Williams intentionally ‘flooded’ their 
permanently disabled client (Dulberg) with over 6000 


documents1 (concealing many documents they suppressed 
up to that time just before they withdrew as counsel). 


Dulberg was left with no attorney.


Defendants Popovich and Mast then claim Dulberg was 
“evasive” of supplimental interrogatories issued one week 
before Dulberg’s counsel released over 6000 documents 


and withdrew as counsel.


23 Moreover, Dulberg’s 
dissatisfaction with 


Popovich’s representation 
surfaced much earlier, and he 
even threatened in writing to 
sue Mast as early as February 


22, 2015.


Accusation 23 was set up by Popovich and Mast. 
“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During 


Popovich-Mast Representation” (Exhibit 1) gives detailed 
descriptions and evidence of Popovich and Mast forging 
and manipulating many documents, destroying evidence, 


leading witnesses to commit perjury, suppressing 
Defendant’s admissions of negligence and fault from ones 


own client.


1 � See “TEAM-WORK” Example 5 and Exhibit 5_“Evidence of Fraud on the Court During Clinton-Williams Rep-
resentation”, Chapter 1 starting paragraph 35 and Chapter 2, Section 2E
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


24 Dulberg, no “babe in the 
woods” when it comes to 
experience with litigation 
retention, had opportunity 


after opportunity to 
investigate and inquire as to 
whether Popovich breached 


the standard of care and 
caused him any damage in 
connection with the case 


(including prosecution of the 
case against Gagnon and the 


McGuires). 


Accusation 24 was set up through the “team-work” of 
Popovich, Mast, Gooch, Clinton and Williams. All 3 Law 


Firms targeted their permanently disabled client from  
basically the first time they met and stripped Dulberg of 


key evidence he needed to defend himself.1 2 3 


Popovich and Mast then claimed Dulberg had experience 
and knowledge in litigation and access to attorneys. 


25 The many cases cited above 
establish the Plaintiffs duty to 
inquire, and here Dulberg had 


the tools, the information, 
and opportunity to inquire.


Accusation 25 was set up through the ‘team-work’ of 
Popovich, Mast, Gooch, Clinton and Williams. This 


document, in addition to “Evidence of Fraud on the Court 
in 12LA178 During Popovich-Mast Representation” 
(Exhibit 1) and “Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 
17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation” 


(Exhibit 5) demonstrates that Dulberg’s own attorneys 
systematically stripped Dulberg of the tools, the 


information and opportunity to inquire into their fraudulant 
actions.


Defendants Popovich and Mast then claim Dulberg had 
“duty to inquire, and here Dulberg had the tools, the 


information, and opportunity to inquire. “ 


1  Exhibit 1_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During Popovich-Mast Representation” (the entire docu-
ment)


2  The contents of this document
3 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17A377 During Clinton-Williams Representation” (the entire 


document)
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


26 His contrived late discovery 
of his claims and damages 


should not be countenanced 
by this court.


Accusation 26 of Dulberg “contriving” a “late discovery” 
was set up by Gooch at his first meeting with Dulberg on 


December 16, 2016. 


Accusation 26 was reinforced by Gooch on November 28, 
2017 (Version 1, Tables 4A and 4B). 


Accusation 26 was reinforced again by Gooch on June 7, 
2018 (Version 2, Tables 4A and 4B).


Accusation 26 was further reinforced by Williams and 
Clinton on December 6, 2018 (Version 3, Tables 4A and 


4B).  
27 He was clearly questioning 


whether he should agree to 
accept the McGuires’ offer, 


and he deliberated on it 
extensively.


Accusation 27 was set up by suppressing 2 key documents: 
(1) Walgreens RX receipts with timestamps1 and (2) 


certified slip ruling of Tilschner v Spangler2. 


Accusation 27 was set up by Popovich and Mast. 
“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During 


Popovich-Mast Representation” (Exhibit 1) gives detailed 
descriptions and evidence of Popovich and Mast forging 
and manipulating many documents, destroying evidence, 


leading witnesses to commit perjury, suppressing 
Defendant’s admissions of negligence and fault from ones 


own client.


Accusation 27 was then reinforced by Gooch and Clinton 
and Williams by suppressing key evidence3 of a certified 
slip ruling of Tilschner v Spangler which Mast gave to 
Dulberg as justification for why the McGuires were not 


liable for Dulberg’s injury.4


1  Exhibit 1_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During Popovich-Mast Representation”, starting para-
graph 1-96


2  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17A377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”and see TEAM-
WORK Example 1: Concealing key evidence (Tilschner v Spangler)


3 � Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17A377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 
2, Sections 2C and 2K and see TEAM-WORK Example 1: Concealing key evidence (Tilschner v 
Spangler)


4  Exhibit 1_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During popovich-Mast Representation”, starting para-
graph 1-166
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TABLE 6 
FLYNN’S ACCUSATIONS:


HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL SET UP 
DULBERG TO BE ACCUSED:


28 Nothing prevented him from 
seeking a second opinion.


Accusation 28 was set up by Popovich and Mast. 
“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During 


popovich-Mast Representation” (Exhibit 1) gives detailed 
descriptions and evidence of Popovich and Mast forging 
and manipulating many documents, destroying evidence, 


leading witnesses to commit perjury, suppressing 
Defendant’s admissions of negligence and fault from ones 


own client.  
a) Dulberg’s key evidence1 (Walgreens RX receipts with 
timestamps) was being actively suppressed by Popovich 


and Mast. 
b) Mast released an extremely disorganized version of the 


case file on March 23 or 24, 2015.2 
c) Mast and Popovich kept a packet of depositions in their 


office that Dulberg needed for about 2 months without 
Dulberg being aware of it.3 All these acts are concealed 


from Dulberg so Defendants Popovich and Mast can later 
claim “Nothing prevented him from seeking a second 


opinion.”
29 nothing prevented him from 


inquiring of Mr. Balke or 
the Baudin firm whether 


his injury was wrongfully 
caused. 


Accusation 29 was set up by Clinton and Williams. They 
suppressed around 40 email documents between Dulberg 


and Balke.4 The suppression of Dulberg’s actual exchanges 
with Balke is concealed so Defendants Popovich and Mast 
can later claim “nothing prevented him from inquiring of 


Mr. Balke”. 


190.	 Table 6 shows there is a direct one-on-one relation between Flynn’s accusations in the 
2022 MSJ and how Dulberg’s own attorneys intentionally left Dulberg vulnerable to Flynn’s 
accusations. In fact, most every accusation Flynn made against Dulberg in his Summary 
Judgment (on left) can be shown to have been originally set up by Dulberg’s own attorneys (on 
right):


*Gooch was setting Dulberg up to be accused by Flynn of items in Column 1, Table 6 
from the first time they met.


1  Exhibit 1_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During Popovich-Mast Representation”, starting 
paragraph 1-95


2  Exhibit 1_ �“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During Popovich-Mast Representation”, starting 
paragraph 1-254


3  Exhibit 1_� “Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During Popovich-Mast Representation”, starting 
paragraph 1-240


4  Exhibit 5_ �“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 1, 
Chapter 2, Section 2D
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*Dulberg was set up by Clinton and Williams within days of their first meeting1.


*Dulberg was set up by Popovich and Mast within days of their first meeting.2


All 3 Law Firms targeted their own permanently disabled client basically from the moment 
Dulberg first met them.  The Baudins and Balke also targeted Dulberg from about their first 
meeting.


191.	 On February 1, 2023, Judge Berg, in his first day as Judge in the case, granted3 the 
opposing counsel’s arguments in support of an Motion for Summary Judgment based on statute 
of limitation arguments Flynn gave.  Judge Berg tolled the statute of limitations this way:


Dulberg’s ‘injury” was the settlement with the McGuires (receiving $5,000)


The settlement with the McGuires took place in January, 2014


Dulberg “knew or should have known” of his “injury” since January, 2014 (because it 
was public information).


Dulberg may have experienced another “injury” on December 12, 2016 due to an ‘upper 
cap’ limit that was placed on the value of PI case12LA178 but that injury happened way 
after Popovich and Mast were “out of Dodge”.


192.	 On February 1, 2023 Flynn made the following claims against Dulberg in court.


So Mr. Gooch met with him. Allegedly provided an opinion that there was a case without 
any reason and then almost a year later filed a lawsuit. Again, first Mr. Dulberg raised 
privilege when I asked him how -- how and what -- how you became aware of this legal 
malpractice case, the injury and the wrongful causation, he claimed privilege. Finally, 
that was waived or otherwise disposed of, and then, he admitted he couldn’t -- I said the 
legal opinion Dulberg received from Gooch was verbal. Gooch simply stated you have a 
case here. You have a valid case. When asked did he tell you exactly what they did wrong 
in connection with the representation, Dulberg said he probably did. I’m not recalling it 
right now. I’m pulling a blank. There are no specifics.


193.	  Gooch misled Dulberg into believing a false claim that the toll starts on December 16, 
2016 because Dulberg met with Gooch and Gooch is an expert in such matters.:The quote in 
paragraph 184 by opposing counsel Flynn shows how a permanently disabled client was set up 
through collaboration between opposing attorneys and was intentionally misinformed by his 
own attorney from the first meeting.  Gooch was playing with his permanently disabled client by 
setting Dulberg up in December, 2016 so that Flynn could make the above accusations against 
Dulberg on February, 2023.


194.	 As Flynn implied in the quote (long after Gooch resigned, was fired or changed his 
claim) Dulberg is left hanging as if it was Dulberg’s idea that the toll starts when he met Gooch 


1  Exhibit 5_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 17LA377 During Clinton-Williams Representation”, Chapter 1
2  Exhibit 1_�“Evidence of Fraud on the Court in 12LA178 During Popovich-Mast Representation”, Chapter 1
3  Exhibit 145_2023-02-01_ROP dismissal of case.pdf
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for the first time. Then Dulberg is pressed, “why does the toll start when you first met Gooch?” 
“What happened during the first meeting to toll the statute?  Gooch must have known from his 
first meeting with Dulberg that Gooch was setting Dulberg up to later be accused like Flynn does 
in paragraph 184.


195.	 Flynn again used the way Gooch set up Dulberg to make the following claim:1


Mr. Dulberg had every opportunity in discovery through interrogatories, production 
requests, I took his deposition. I asked him over and over again in several different 
ways how he first became aware of his injury and that it was wrongfully caused. 
The only response he could give was that a lawyer told him that he had a case. He 
couldn’t provide any specifics. He has a burden of proving the -- a late discovery. He 
cannot meet it. He will never be able to meet it.


196.	  The only notions of an “injury” Dulberg received from Gooch, Clinton and Williams 
is included in Tables 4A and 4B. The only notions by Gooch, Clinton and Williams of how 
Dulberg “first discovered” his “injury” and when are in Tables 4A, 4B and Table 5B.    The only 
reason both Gooch and Clinton and Williams gave for tolling from December 8, 2016 is because 
Dulberg “read Lanford’s letter”. At no time over 6 years did Gooch, Clinton or Williams claim, 
write or inform Dulberg that December 12, 2016 tolls Dulberg’s financial injury. Gooch, Clinton 
and Williams all omit or ignore that McGuire’s Vicarious Liability for its agent’s negligent 
actions could be quantified and realized for the first time on December 12, 2016 as a financial or 
pecuniary injury for when the statute of limitations begins in 735 ILCS 5/13-214.3 (b).


197.	 Over a period of 6 years Gooch, Clinton and Williams never referred to pecuniary injury 
as cited in Suburban Real Estate v Carlson or the related cases2 cited within and they all omited 
or ignored that McGuire’s Vicarious Liability for its agent’s negligent actions could be quantified 
and realized for the first time on December 12, 2016 as a  pecuniary injury.  Neither Judge Meyer 
nor Judge Berg could see any relevance in Suburban Real Estate v Carlson or the notion of 
receiving a ‘financial injury’ on December 12, 2016.  Judge Meyer “didn’t buy” the claim.  Judge 
Berg found no relevance in the claim of a ‘financial injury’ that was received on December 12, 
2016.


198.	 On Suburban Real Estate v Carlson opposing counsel Flynn also found no relevance 
and stated:


The only case cited by the plaintiff in its response with respect to the accrual of the 
injury was a Suburban Real Estate case which is a transactional legal malpractice 
case, not a litigated matter. I think the -- all of the cases we have cited and including the 
dicta in that Suburban Real Estate case indicates that the accrual date in a litigated matter 
is the date of settlement, judgment or dismissal.


The above quote is the only comment opposing counsel Flynn made concerning a claim of 
‘financial injury’ on December 12, 2016 over a period of about 6 years. 


1  Exhibit 145_2023-02-01_ROP dismissal of case.pdf
2  See paragraph 209
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199.	 About the ‘upper cap’ Judge Berg stated:


So how is his change in strategy somehow extend -- so in other words, what you’re 
saying -- well, I’m trying to wrap my head around this. You are saying that that 
agreement your  client never wished to enter into, he didn’t sign, Popovich didn’t sign, 
Mr. Mast didn’t sign. His actual third attorney signed it, Mr. Baudin, not even Mr. Balke. 
But because that was somehow signed and in effect, then the cause of action against 
Mast and Popovich for legal malpractice is extended out to the date of the final mediation 
hearing because of an agreement and limitation on damages at the mediation hearing over 
which they had zero control? 


Judge Berg referred to “a change of strategy” as if Dulberg changed his story to try to make 
Popovich and Mast responsible for the effect of an ‘upper cap’ that took place on August 10, 
2016 in 12LA178 in violation of the bankruptcy courts automatic stay and was executed on 
December 8, 2016.  


Mr. Talarico, and please correct me if I’m wrong because this is where I’m getting the 
disconnect, the but-for portion of this analysis but for the high-low agreement limiting 
damages to the policy amount of $300,000, he would have had a judgment for the entire 
$660,000 if Tom Popovich and Hans Mast had never even existed What I’m asking is 
isn’t the failure to recover the $660,000 as opposed to 300,000 attributable to the high-
low agreement that was entered into well over a year or if not two or more years after 
Popovich and Mast were out of the case? But again, counsel -- but again, my point being 
I don’t really care if he signed it or didn’t sign it. My point being that it is that agreement 
that limited his damages, and that agreement was entered into way after Popovich and 
Mast withdrew from this case, right?


Judge Berg claimed that the ‘upper cap’ is Dulberg’s “injury”. Judge Berg doesn’t know how the 
‘upper cap’ came into being, doesn’t care and doesn’t care if Dulberg signed the agreement.  The 
simple point according to Judge Berg is that it has nothing to do with Popovich and Mast so none 
of it matters in this case.


200.	 According to Judge Berg, a financial transaction that took place in December 12, 2018 
cannot be connected to Popovich and Mast, who ended their contract with Dulberg in March 
2015 and are accused of “injuring” Dulberg during a settlement in January. 2014.  Judge Berg 
cannot “wrap his mind around” Mr Talerico citing Suburban Real Estate v Carlson since 
(to Judge Berg) the claim seems so outrageous and quite a stretch.  This is also what Judge 
Meyer “won’t buy”. Judge Berg also perceived this claim as Dulberg making a “change in 
strategy” implying Dulberg earlier had a “different strategy” (“injury” being settlement with the 
McGuires in January, 2014) and then made a “change in strategy” (“injury being capped award 
on December 12, 2016).  This is the impression that Versions 1, 2 and 3 in Table 4A and 4B and 
Versions 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 in Table 3 crafted by Gooch, Clinton and Williams were intended to 
create: That Dulberg somehow changed his claim and legal strategy since first filing his suit. 
Judge Berg, just like Defendants Popovich and Mast, are accusing Dulberg of changing his legal 
theory well after he filed his complaint.
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201.	 According to Judge Berg, Dulberg was “injured” by an ‘upper cap’ on a settlement 
judgment on December 12, 2016.  Popovich and Mast never signed an ‘upper cap’ so they have 
no relation to the ‘upper cap’ as Dulberg’s “injury”.  Dulberg’s only other “injury” was during 
the McGuire settlement in January, 2014 which is now subject to the statute of limitations. 


202.	 On how and when Dulberg “knew or should have known” about his “injury” Judge Berg 
stated:


He was clearly alerted. Let’s cut to the chase. He was hesitant -- he was hesitant to ever 
even sign the settlement agreement to the point where it took him over two months to do 
it. He clearly had his doubts. He clearly had his lack of faith. He signed the settlement 
agreement anyway. A year later, the attorneys withdrew. He went to another attorney, still 
raised the issue. Went to another attorney, still raised the issue.


Met with hundreds of attorneys. He was clearly alerted. When did the pecuniary loss 
occur? Here is the amazing part, and this is what -- where the disconnect comes on 
this case and it’s why I’m having so much trouble with it, I’m being urged that the 
pecuniary loss occurred when the decision was given on the binding mediation. 
But the reason I believe that’s a disconnect is because -- for two reasons. The loss that 
occurred on the binding mediation that is being urged upon the Court is a loss of what 
appears to be $360,000. The difference between the $660,000 that the mediator indicated 
the -- were the appropriate measure of damages against Mr. Gagnon and the $300,000 
insurance policy limit, that $360,000 difference and the amount that was awarded and the 
amount that the mediator claimed should have been awarded is based on an agreement 
that somebody entered into. We don’t know who that  somebody was, but we know for a 
fact that that somebody was not Hans Mast or the Law Offices of Tom Popovich because 
the agreement occurred well after they were out of Dodge 


But didn’t the pecuniary loss itself, in fact, occur if there was a cause of action to which 
you were alerted? The pecuniary loss occurred when he only got $5,000. I agree with 
defense counsel. Statute of limitations lapsed. Merely denying the statute of limitation 
without more in the depositions and the sworn testimony does not itself create an issue of 
material fact.


203.	 Judge Berg identified Dulberg’s “injury” with a “pecuniary loss” that occurred when 
Dulberg received $5,000 from the McGuires.  Judge Berg identified a different “injury” to 
Dulberg on December 12, 2016 which Judge Berg identifed as the ‘upper cap’ placed on the 
award.  


204.	 Judge Berg knew nothing about where the cap came from or why. Judge Berg didn’t 
know if the ‘upper cap’ was legal or illegal or whether it was fraudulent.  Judge Berg didn’t care 
because the “injury” of the ‘upper cap’ “occurred well after they [Popovich and Mast] were out 
of Dodge”.


205.	 About the true origin of the ‘upper cap’ Judge Berg stated: “that $360,000 difference 
and the amount that was awarded and the amount that the mediator claimed should have been 
awarded is based on an agreement that somebody entered into. We don’t know who that  
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somebody was, but we know for a fact that that somebody was not Hans Mast or the 
Law Offices of Tom Popovich because the agreement occurred well after they were out of 
Dodge”


206.	 By this statement Judge Berg implied that Popovich and Mast were so distant from the 
‘upper cap’ that they couldn’t have anything to do with an “injury” that happened on December 
12, 2016 through an ‘upper cap’. Nobody seems to know where the ‘upper cap’ came from and 
Dulberg claimed he refused to agree and refused to sign any agreement.  But in this case none of 
it matters because any limit from an ‘upper cap’ cannot be connected to Popovich and Mast since 
the “agreement occurred well after they were out of Dodge”.


207.	 Dulberg’s current attorney Mr Talerico is on the record since February 10, 2021 (Mr 
Talerico was retained on October 23, 2020) explaining the application of Suburban Real Estate 
v Carlson to Dulberg’s case in order to claim that the statute is counted from December 12, 
2016.  Mr Talerico explained that Suburban Real Estate v Carlson makes clear that if Dulberg 
filed a legal malpractice suit against Popovich and Mast at any time before December 12, 2016 
his filing would have been ruled premature.  Mr Talerico explained Illinois law is clear that the 
first day that Dulberg had standing to file a legal malpractice suit against Popovich and Mast was 
December 12, 2016 and not one day sooner.


208.	 This notion of a “financial injury” on December 12, 2016 consistent with Illinois law 
in Suburban Real Estate v Carlson was never explained to Dulberg by Gooch, Clinton, or 
Williams, not even as a suggestion or possibility.  Opposing counsel Flynn found no relevance 
in Suburban Real Estate v Carlson. It was not used or referenced in any of the 14 items in 
Table 5A and 5B. There is no notion of financial injury or application of Illinois law Suburban 
Real Estate v Carlson in any of the versions in Table 4A nd 4B.  Neither Judge Meyer or Judge 
Berg saw any relevance in Suburban Real Estate v Carlson and did not recognize any notion 
of a ‘financial injury’ occurring on December 12, 2016 consistent with Suburban Real Estate 
v Carlson in Dulberg’s case. The views of each of these officers of the court are summarized in 
Table 7 below:


TABLE 7: � 12LA178 OFFICERS OF THE COURT APPLYING CURRENT ILLINOIS 
LAW AND DULBERG’S CASE


TABLE 7: �Judge Meyer Describing the Relation between Suburban Real Estate v Carlson 
and Dulberg’s case:


I’m not buying that. The arbitrator’s award gave you insight as to the value. Where 
you lose me is -- Well, let me rephrase that. It gave you their insight as to what they 


perceived the value of the case to be. It did not tell you whether or not you could have 
known that there was a viable cause of action against another defendant --


I fail to understand how an arbitrator’s award would explain that because I can’t 
imagine -- I certainly don’t -- I’m not an arbitrator, I don’t know what they put 
in their decisions, but I would be surprised if they spend a lot of time telling you 


about people you could have sued but for malpractice, so the issue for me is knew 
or should have known, and I am going to direct production of those documents.
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TABLE 7: �Judge Meyer Describing the Relation between Suburban Real Estate v Carlson 
and Dulberg’s case:


But that’s a different argument. That’s a rule -- that’s an argument related to the 
applicability of -- or, in my analysis, of how the rule applies to the circumstances 
that we have. It doesn’t address the issue of whether you should have known of 


the existence of the cause of action, and the information I have is that you did not 
and could not have known about the cause of action until the disclosure from the 


expert or from Mr. Gooch, and if we’re going to explore that issue, you’ve got to 
produce that. You’ve put those items into evidence or at issue, so defense has a right to 


see them.


TABLE 7: � Judge Berg describing the relation of Suburban Real Estate v Carlson to 
Dulberg’s case:


 He was clearly alerted. Let’s cut to the chase. He was hesitant -- he was hesitant to 
ever even sign the settlement agreement to the point where it took him over two months 


to do it. He clearly had his doubts. He clearly had his lack of faith. He signed the 
settlement agreement anyway. A year later, the attorneys withdrew. He went to another 


attorney, still raised the issue. Went to another attorney, still raised the issue.
Met with hundreds of attorneys. He was clearly alerted. When did the pecuniary loss 


occur? Here is the amazing part, and this is what -- where the disconnect comes on 
this case and it’s why I’m having so much trouble with it, I’m being urged that the 
pecuniary loss occurred when the decision was given on the binding mediation. 
But the reason I believe that’s a disconnect is because -- for two reasons. The loss 


that occurred on the binding mediation that is being urged upon the Court is a loss of 
what appears to be $360,000. The difference between the $660,000 that the mediator 
indicated the -- were the appropriate measure of damages against Mr. Gagnon and the 


$300,000 insurance policy limit, that $360,000 difference and the amount that was 
awarded and the amount that the mediator claimed should have been awarded is based 
on an agreement that somebody entered into. We don’t know who that  somebody was, 


but we know for a fact that that somebody was not Hans Mast or the Law Offices of 
Tom Popovich because the agreement occurred well after they were out of Dodge


But didn’t the pecuniary loss itself, in fact, occur if there was a cause of action to which 
you were alerted? The pecuniary loss occurred when he only got $5,000. I agree with 


defense counsel.


TABLE 7: � Defendants Popovich and Mast (Flynn) describing relation of Suburban Real 
Estate v Carlson to Dulberg’s case:


The only case cited by the plaintiff in its response with respect to the accrual of the 
injury was a Suburban Real Estate case which is a transactional legal malpractice 
case, not a litigated matter. I think the -- all of the cases we have cited and including 
the dicta in that Suburban Real Estate case indicates that the accrual date in a litigated 
matter is the date of settlement, judgment or dismissal.
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TABLE 7: � Legal Malpractice Attorney Gooch applying Illinois law to Dulberg’s case:
Following the execution of the mediation agreement with the“high-low agreement” contained 


therein, and the final mediation award
based on the expert’s opinions that DULBERG retained for the mediation


received independent opinion from a legal malpractice attorney on or about December 16, 
2016.


TABLE 7: � Legal Malpractice Attorneys Clinton and Williams applying Illinois law to 
Dulberg’s case:


Only after Dulberg obtained an award against Gagnon...
Following the execution of the mediation agreement and the final mediation award...in 


December of 2016
based on the expert’s opinions that DULBERG retained for the mediation


209.	 The arguments in Suburban Real Estate Servs. v. Carlson, 2020 Ill. App. 191953 (Ill. 
App. Ct. 2020) reference 5 other key cases:


Successful Appellant Suburban Real Estate relied on Lucey1 and Warnock2 (and 
Northern Illinois Emergency Physicians3)


Unsuccessful Appellee Carlson relied on FagelHaber4 and Nelson5 (and Goran6)


210.	 None of the statements in Table 7 made by Judge Meyer, Judge Berg, Defendants 
Popovich and Mast, Dulberg’s former attorneys Gooch, Clinton and Williams reference or are 
based on any of the case law cited in paragraph 201 (which is current Illinois law applicable to 
Dulberg’s case).


211.	 None of the statements made in Table 3 are accurate though Dulberg’s attorneys entered 
them into the record on behalf of Dulberg.  None of the entries in Table 4A and Table 4B are in 
accordance with Illinois law cited in paragraph 201.  None of the entries of Table 5A or Table 5B 
are in accordance with Illinois law cited in paragraph 201.


212.	 Even if taking Flynn’s dates of discovering the pecuniary injury as true, Popovich and 
Mast’s fraudlent concealment of the initial offer to Barch/McGuire on October 22, 2013 (which 
remained concealed until May 30, 2018) is a legitimate legal justification for Dulberg to toll the 
statute of limitations.


1  Lucey v. Law Offices of Pretzel & Stouffer, Chartered, 301 Ill. App. 3d 349 (1998)
2  Warnock v. Karm Winand & Patterson, 376 Ill. App. 3d 364 (2007)
3  Northern Illinois Emergency Physicians v. Landau, Omahana & Kopka, Ltd., 216 Ill. 2d 294, 306 (2005)
4  Construction Systems, Inc. v. FagelHaber, LLC, 2019 IL App (1st) 172430
5  Nelson v. Padgitt, 2016 IL App (1st) 160571
6  Goran v. Glieberman, 276 Ill. App. 3d 590, 595-96 (1995)
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		CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE OF FRAUD ON THE COURT IN 17LA377 DURING GOOCH-WALCZYK REPRESENTATION 

		Chapter 1: THOMAS GOOCH CONTROL OF DULBERG’S LEGAL MALPRACTICE CASE 17LA377 

		TABLE 2: STRATEGIES AND METHODS OF LAW FIRMS RETAINED BY DULBERG

		“TEAM-WORK” BETWEEN GOOCH, CLINTON AND WILLIAMS (AND OPPOSING COUNSEL) AND THE KEY INFORMATION THEY 

		‘TEAM-WORK’ EXAMPLE 1: Concealing key evidence (Tilschner v Spangler): 

		“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 2: Concealing Admission of Negligence of Defendant Gagnon in Underlying Case 

		“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 3: �Concealing Bankruptcy and Violations of Federal Bankruptcy Laws (automatic s

		“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 4: Concealing true sources of $300,000 upper cap on the value of the PI claim

		TABLE 3: FIVE INCORRECT VERSIONS OF THE ORIGIN OF A $300,000 ‘UPPER CAP’ PLACED ON THE VALUE OF 12



		“TEAM-WORK” EXAMPLE 5: Intentionally confusing Statute of Limitations toll date and placing Dulber

		TABLE 4A: THREE INCORRECT VERSIONS OF WHEN DULBERG “FIRST KNEW” OF AN “INJURY” GIVEN BY DULBERG’S 

		TABLE 4B: THREE INCORRECT VERSIONS OF WHEN DULBERG “FIRST KNEW OF AN “INJURY” SIMPLIFIED







		Chapter 2: HOW DULBERG’S OWN COUNSEL HELPED FLYNN ACCUSE DULBERG: FLYNN’S MOTION TO DISMISS 

		TABLE 5A: TOLL DATES GIVEN BY OPPOSING COUNSEL FLYNN

		TABLE 5B: TOLL DATES GIVEN BY DULBERG’S OWN ATTORNEYS GOOCH, CLINTON AND WILLIAMS

		TABLE 6: HOW OPPOSING COUNSEL’S SUMMARY JUDGMENT ARGUMENTS IN 2022 WERE SET UP BY DULBERG’S OWN A

		TABLE 7: 12LA178 OFFICERS OF THE COURT APPLYING CURRENT ILLINOIS LAW AND DULBERG’S CASE

		Judge Meyer Describing the Relation between Suburban Real Estate v Carlson and Dulberg’s case

		Judge Berg describing the relation of Suburban Real Estate v Carlson to Dulberg’s case

		Defendants Popovich and Mast (Flynn) describing relation of Suburban Real Estate v Carlson to Dulber

		Legal Malpractice Attorney Gooch applying Illinois law to Dulberg’s case

		Legal Malpractice Attorneys Clinton and Williams applying Illinois law to Dulberg’s case
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Paul Dulberg 
By email: paul_dulberg@comcast.net 


Chicago 
June 25, 2024 


Re: Thomas William Gooch, III 
in relation to 
Paul Dulberg 
No. 2023IN03895 


Dear Mr. Dulberg: 


Attached is a copy of the response of Thomas Gooch, III to the matters about which you 
have complained. 


If you believe the response is inaccurate or if you wish to comment or provide additional 
information, please write to me within fourteen days. You may submit comments or additional 
information to me by email to vandrzejewski@iardc.org.  If you send more information by regular 
mail, please do not staple or bind your correspondence and do not use exhibit tabs. 


We will evaluate the matter and advise you of our decision. Again, thank you for your 
cooperation. 


Very truly yours, 


/s/ Scott Renfroe 


Scott Renfroe 
Deputy Administrator, Appeals 


SR:vja 
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BEFORE THE HEARING BOARD 
OF THE 


ILLINOIS ATTORNEY REGISTRATION 
AND 


DISCIPLINARY COMMISSION 


In the Matter of: 


THOMAS WILLIAM GOOCH, III, 
Commission No. 


Attorney No. 3123355, 


Respondent. 


COMPLAINT 


Lea S. Gutierrez, Administrator of the Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission 


(“ARDC”), by her attorney, Scott Renfroe and Kate E. Levine, pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 


753(b), complains of Respondent, Thomas William Gooch, III, who was licensed to practice law 


in the State of Illinois on April 26, 1979, and alleges that Respondent has engaged in the following 


conduct that subjects him to discipline pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 770: 


BACKGROUND COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 


1. Since at least 2017, Respondent has been the sole owner and principal attorney of


“The Gooch Firm,” a Wauconda law firm that has held itself out on its website as “Legal 


Malpractice Trial Attorneys” with “Assertive and Exceptional Representation in Legal 


Malpractice, Excessive Fee Defense and General Litigation.”  On the website, Respondent 


described himself as having “more than 37 years of experience in courtrooms throughout northern 


Illinois.”  


2. At all times alleged in this complaint, The Gooch Firm’s policies and procedures,


including client intake, fee and cost agreements, client billing, and other procedures concerning 


the handling of client matters, were established, implemented, and overseen by Respondent. 
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3. In his initial meeting with several of the prospective clients discussed below, and 


in certain fee agreements, Respondent described his purported experience in handling legal 


malpractice matters and other civil litigation, and trial experience as a factor in keeping fees and 


costs low for his clients. 


COUNT I 
(Lack of Diligence and False Statements in the Legal Malpractice Matter 


 of Kathryn and Matthew Dalman) 
 


A. Background 
 


4. On November 9, 2022, Respondent and Kathryn and Matthew Dalman agreed that 


Respondent would file a legal malpractice and excessive fee complaint on behalf of the Dalmans 


relating to their prior attorney’s handling of multiple ordinance violation claims made against the 


Dalmans’ business by McHenry County.  The Dalmans informed Respondent that they were 


currently representing themselves in the appeal of certain decisions in those ordinance violation 


matters, and Respondent told them that he would represent them at no cost in the ordinance matters 


because it would help him familiarize himself with their claims relating to their previous attorney’s 


alleged mishandling of their cases.  On that same date, Respondent prepared a fee agreement which 


stated that Respondent would represent the Dalmans in matters related to claims against that 


attorney.  Respondent requested an advance payment retainer of $10,000, and on November 9, 


2022, the Dalmans made an initial payment in the amount of $3,000, and in April 2023, they made 


a second payment of $7,000.   


B. McHenry County Ordinance Violation Case Number 2023 OV 72 


5. On or about November 22, 2022, McHenry County Assistant State’s Attorney Fara 


Momen sent an email to Respondent informing him that the Dalmans had notified her office that 


Respondent would be representing the Dalmans in the ordinance violation matters. 
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6. On December 27, 2022, McHenry County initiated a third ordinance violation 


complaint against the Dalmans.  On January 11, 2023, the complaint was filed with the Circuit 


Court in McHenry County as case number 23 OV 72, which was entitled County of McHenry v. 


Matthew Dalman and Kathryn Dalman, and was served on the Dalmans shortly thereafter.  The 


violation notice contained information about a hearing that had been scheduled on the alleged 


violation for February 9, 2023.  After receiving notice of the new filing, Kathryn Dalman notified 


Respondent of the filing by telephone, and she sent copies of the violation notice to Respondent 


by email on January 25, 2023, and on February 8, 2023.  Respondent did not reply to Kathryn 


Dalman’s emails. 


7. On February 9, 2023, the Dalmans appeared in court when ordinance violation case 


number 23 OV 72 was called.  Respondent was not present, and the Dalmans were informed by 


the Hon. Michael E. Coppedge that since Respondent had not filed an appearance as their attorney 


they would have to proceed on their own, which they did. 


8. On April 28, 2023, the McHenry County State’s Attorney’s Office filed a motion 


for summary judgment in ordinance violation case number 23 OV 72, which was served by the 


Assistant State’s Attorney upon the Dalmans by regular mail and by email on or about that date.  


That motion, which alleged that the Dalmans had continued the course of conduct that was the 


basis of the earlier ordinance violations, was scheduled to be heard on May 25, 2023.  After 


receiving notice of the motion for summary judgment, Kathryn Dalman spoke to Respondent, who 


told her that he intended to file a response to the motion on the Dalmans’ behalf. 


9. In late April or early May 2023, Respondent, or someone from Respondent’s staff 


acting at Respondent’s direction, contacted an assistant state’s attorney at the McHenry County 
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State’s Attorney’s Office to inform them that Respondent would be filing a response to the motion 


for summary judgment in ordinance violation case number 23 OV 72.   


10. Respondent did not file his appearance as counsel for the Dalmans in ordinance 


violation case number 2023 OV 72, file a response to the motion for summary judgment, or 


communicate further with the McHenry County State’s Attorney’s office, nor did Respondent 


inform the Dalmans that he had not responded to the motion for summary judgment or that he no 


longer intended to do so. 


11. Prior to May 25, 2023, Respondent, or someone at his direction, contacted the 


Circuit Court of McHenry County or the McHenry County State’s Attorney’s Office to request a 


continuance of the court date in case number 2023 OV 72 at which the motion for summary 


judgment filed on behalf of McHenry County was to be heard, and the case was continued to July 


6, 2023.   


12. On May 26, 2023, Respondent sent an email message to Matthew Dalman stating, 


“Hi all new court date if [sic] July 6, 2023 at 1:30 before coppedge [sic].” 


13. As of July 6, 2023, Respondent still had not filed his appearance as counsel for the 


Dalmans in case number 2023 OV 72, nor had he filed a response to the motion for summary 


judgment or any other pleading in the case.  On July 6, 2023, Respondent did not appear in court 


on behalf of the Dalmans when the case was called.  The Dalmans were present, and Judge 


Coppedge entered an order allowing the Dalmans 21 days to respond to the motion for summary 


judgment and scheduling the next court date to August 24, 2023.  


14. As of August 24, 2023, Respondent still had not filed his appearance as counsel for 


the Dalmans in case number 2023 OV 72, nor had he filed a response to the motion for summary 


judgment or any other pleading in the case.  On August 24, 2023, Respondent did not appear in 







5 
 


court on behalf of the Dalmans when case number 2023 CV 72 was called, and Judge Coppedge 


entered an order allowing the Dalmans additional time to file a response to the motion for summary 


judgment and rescheduling the case to September 28, 2023. 


15. As of September 28, 2023, Respondent still had not filed his appearance as counsel 


for the Dalmans in case number 2023 OV 72, nor had he filed a response to the motion for summary 


judgment or any other pleading in the case.  On September 28, 2023, Respondent did not appear 


in court on behalf of the Dalmans when case number 2023 OV 72 was called, and the Dalmans 


entered a plea of guilty to the charge that they had committed the ordinance violation.  On October 


5, 2023, Judge Coppedge entered a judgment of conviction against the Dalmans and ordered them 


to pay fines in the amount of $204.   


C. Malpractice Matter 


16. Between October 5, 2023, and July 9, 2024, Respondent and Kathryn Dalman 


communicated by text message, with Respondent regularly advising his clients that he planned to 


proceed with filing a malpractice complaint against their former attorney. 


17. As of July 9, 2024, Respondent had not filed a malpractice complaint against the 


Dalmans’ prior attorney.  On July 9, 2024, Kathryn Dalman sent Respondent a text asking if they 


should “discuss a refund” relating to Respondent’s delay in filing the malpractice action.  


Respondent replied, “Well we can but honestly I am moving forward, getting an expert lined up 


before filing saves huge amounts of time and I believe we have one now.” 


18. Respondent’s July 9, 2024, statement to the Dalmans that he believed he had an 


expert “lined up” was false and was intended to mislead the Dalmans.  At the time he made that 


statement, Respondent had not obtained an expert witness to support the Dalmans’ malpractice 


claims against their previous attorney. 
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19. Respondent knew that his July 9, 2024, statement to Kathryn Dalman concerning 


lining up an expert was false, because he knew that he had not taken any action to obtain an expert 


and that no expert witness had agreed to review the Dalmans’ previous attorney’s conduct in 


support of their malpractice claim. 


20. As of August 19, 2024, Respondent still had not filed a malpractice complaint 


against the Dalmans’ previous attorney.  On August 19, 2024, Kathryn Dalman expressed her 


frustration to Respondent by text message and requested a status report, and Respondent replied 


by text, “We are going to get your complaint out before Friday I have one ahead of you who’s 


even madder.”  


21. As of September 17, 2024, Respondent still had not filed a malpractice complaint 


on the Dalmans’ behalf.  On September 17, 2024, Kathryn Dalman sent a text message to 


Respondent stating that the Dalmans were unwilling to wait any longer for Respondent to file the 


lawsuit against their former lawyer and requesting that Respondent refund their entire retainer 


payment of $10,000 so that they could hire another lawyer.  Although Respondent received Ms. 


Dalman’s text message, he did not reply to it. 


22. On October 17, 2024, Kathryn Dalman telephoned Respondent, who told her that a 


deadline to file the malpractice complaint was coming in about a month and that a new lawyer 


would not be able to meet that deadline.  Respondent told Ms. Dalman that he would file a 


complaint and then withdraw and refund their retainer in installment payments.  Ms. Dalman 


agreed to Respondent’s proposal. 


23. Between October 17, 2024, and December 22, 2024, Kathryn Dalman texted 


Respondent to request documentation regarding Respondent’s filing of the malpractice complaint.  


Respondent was aware of his clients’ efforts to contact him, but he did not reply. 
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24. As of December 22, 2024, Respondent still had not filed a malpractice complaint 


against the Dalmans’ prior attorney.  On December 22, 2024, Kathryn Dalman sent Respondent a 


text message expressing concerns about the possible expiration of a statute of limitations relating 


to any potential malpractice claim against the Dalmans’ former lawyer.  Respondent replied, “I 


don’t have time to calculate it but it has not run yet if it did i [sic] would tell you. I expect to have 


a draft to you tommorow [sic].” 


25. On December 23, 2024, Kathryn Dalman sent a text message to Respondent 


expressing concerns that several weeks earlier he had told her that a new lawyer would only have 


a month to file a complaint.  Kathryn Dalman stated, “Now we are well past that month and you’re 


telling me we’ve got more time…I can’t believe a word you say.”  Respondent replied, in part, 


“I’ll have your complaint in file this week them [sic] I’m going to quit and you can find someone 


else to handle it.” 


26. After December 23, 2024, Kathryn Dalman learned from a member of 


Respondent’s staff that Respondent was scheduled to be out of the office beginning on December 


27, 2024.  When Respondent had not filed the complaint by the end of December 26, 2024, Kathryn 


Dalman sent him email and text messages formally terminating his services and requesting a full 


refund of the $10,000 retainer fee the Dalmans had paid Respondent.  On December 28, 2024, a 


member of Respondent’s staff sent Kathryn Dalman an email stating that an itemized statement 


would be prepared and sent to the Dalmans shortly. 


D.  Dalmans’ Request for Investigation with the ARDC 


27. As of January 16, 2025, the Dalmans had not received an itemized statement of the 


time Respondent claimed to have spent on their potential malpractice case, and on that date, the 


Dalmans filed a request for investigation of Respondent with the ARDC. 
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28. By letter dated January 22, 2025, to Respondent, counsel for the Administrator 


asked Respondent to provide a written response to the Dalmans’ allegations, along with a copy of 


his complete file relating to his representation of the Dalmans or their business, and an itemized 


statement of legal services that he claimed to have performed on their behalf. 


29. On March 25, 2025, Respondent produced an invoice to the ARDC claiming that 


he had provided 31.95 hours of legal services to the Dalmans having a total value of $11,695, none 


of which related to researching or preparing a complaint to pursue a legal malpractice action.  On 


August 4, 2025, Respondent provided to the ARDC a copy of his file relating to the Dalmans.  


30. The invoice produced by Respondent in March 2025 stated that in October 2023, 


Respondent had prepared a response to the then-pending motion for summary judgment in 


McHenry County ordinance violation case number 2023 OV 72 and filed it on October 3, 2023. 


The invoice stated, “correspondence with opposing counsel with documents sent we e-filed.”   


31. Respondent’s statements on his invoice about his purported actions in connection 


with a response to the motion for summary judgment in case number 2023 OV 72 were false and 


intended to mislead the ARDC.  In fact, Respondent had not filed a response to that motion, and 


no communication had been made with the McHenry County State’s Attorney’s Office about 


having filed a response. 


32. Respondent knew or should have known that the statements on his invoice relating 


the actions he purportedly took in response to the motion for summary judgment were false 


because he knew that he had not taken the actions he described.  


33. All purported services as set forth on Respondent’s invoice totaling $11,695 to 


justify his retention of the $10,000 fee paid to him by the Dalmans related to Respondent’s 


purported review, research, and certain actions in connection with the ordinance violation matters, 
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and not to the legal malpractice matter, in contravention of Respondent’s agreement with the 


Dalmans that he would not charge them for those services, as well as Respondent’s November 9, 


2022, initial retainer agreement providing that the fee the Dalmans paid was intended only for a 


legal malpractice claim against their former attorney.   


34. At no time did Respondent seek or obtain the Dalmans’ authority to alter the terms 


of their November 9, 2022, retainer agreement to allow him to charge them for his purported work 


on the ordinance violation cases. 


35. At no time did Respondent file a legal malpractice lawsuit or take any other action 


on behalf of the Dalmans relating to their claims against their former attorney. 


36. By the time the Dalmans learned of Respondent’s failure to take action in their 


matter following the dismissal of their claims, any legal malpractice claim had become time-


barred. 


37. Respondent did not provide legal services sufficient to justify the legal fee of 


$10,000 paid to him by the Dalmans.   


38. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Board voted to 


file a complaint against Respondent relating to his representation of the Dalmans, Respondent had 


not provided any written response relating to the Dalmans’ request for investigation to the ARDC.   


39. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to file an 
appearance or a response to the motion for summary 
judgment that had been filed in case number 23 OV 72, or to 
appear in court in that matter, or to draft or timely file a legal 
malpractice lawsuit for the Dalmans against their former 
attorney before the expiration of the statute of limitations, in 
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violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010);  


 
b. failing to promptly inform the client of any decision or 


circumstance with respect to which the client’s informed 
consent is required, by conduct including failing to inform 
the Dalmans that Respondent had not timely filed a 
malpractice lawsuit on their behalf against their former 
attorney or filed a response to the motion for summary 
judgment that had been filed against them in case number 
2023 OV 72, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(1) of the Illinois 
Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including 


failing to return any portion of the $10,000 fee that 
Respondent received from the Dalmans, in violation of Rule 
1.16(d) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
d. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to 
provide to the ARDC a written response to the Dalmans’ 
request for investigation of his conduct, in violation of Rule 
8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct; and,  


  
e. conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 


misrepresentation, by conduct including making false and 
misleading statements to the ARDC by submitting an 
invoice that contained false information about the scope of 
his employment for the Dalmans and by falsely telling the 
Dalmans he had taken action on their behalf in case number 
2023 OV 72, in violation of Rule 8.4(c) of the Illinois Rules 
of Professional Conduct (2010). 


 
COUNT II 


(Lack of Diligence and False Statements in the Legal Malpractice Matter of Robert Wojcik) 
 


 40. On August 8, 2023, Respondent and Robert Wojcik agreed that Respondent would 


file a legal malpractice complaint against the attorney who handled Wojcik’s personal injury 


claims following a September 2020 fall in a nursing home.  Wojcik and Respondent agreed that 


Respondent would accept a contingency fee of one-third of any recovery he obtained on behalf of 


Wojcik, and Wojcik agreed to pay a $10,000 retainer that was “to be subtracted from the final fees 
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due.”  The fee agreement also provided that “actual legal services performed for the client shall 


include all time spent by counsel…excluding the initial interview” and that Wojcik would be 


responsible for paying any costs associated with the pursuit of his claim, but that “the Gooch firm 


will advance costs from the retainer with the exception of Expert Witness fees.”  On that same 


date, Wojcik gave Respondent a check in the amount of $10,000 as Respondent’s requested 


retainer. 


 41. In early December 2023, Wojcik telephoned Respondent, and Respondent told 


Wojcik that he expected to file a malpractice complaint against Wojcik’s former attorney by mid-


December, and would provide Wojcik with a copy of that complaint after it was filed.  When 


Wojcik did not receive anything from Respondent by mid-December, he attempted to call 


Respondent on several occasions continuing through January 30, 2024. 


42. Having received no response from Respondent to his inquiries, January 30, 2024, 


Wojcik sent a letter informing Respondent that Wojcik was terminating his services and requesting 


a full refund of his retainer. 


 43. On February 2, 2024, Respondent telephoned Wojcik and told Wojcik that firing 


Respondent would be “a big mistake.”  Respondent then requested an additional $5,000 in fees “in 


order to be ready for trial by March 1, 2024.”  When Wojcik declined to pay Respondent any 


additional fees and insisted on terminating Respondent’s representation, Respondent told Wojcik 


that he would not refund any portion of Wojcik’s $10,000 retainer because he believed he had 


earned it in reviewing documents Wojcik had given him.  Respondent also told Wojcik that he had 


obtained an expert who would be reviewing Wojcik’s previous attorney’s handling of his personal 


injury case.  Wojcik agreed to allow Respondent to continue working on his case if Respondent 
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drew up a revised fee agreement.  Respondent agreed to prepare a new fee agreement by February 


5, 2024, and said that he would call Wojcik to arrange for it to be picked up. 


44. Respondent’s February 2, 2024, statements to Wojcik that he could be “ready for 


trial by March 2024” and “had obtained an expert” to review Wojcik’s file were false and intended 


to mislead Wojcik, because Respondent had not filed a legal malpractice complaint, and he had 


neither sought nor obtained a legal expert to review Wojcik’s previous attorney’s handling of 


Wojcik’s personal injury case. 


45. Respondent knew his statements to Wojcik were false when he made them because 


Respondent knew that as of February 2, 2024, Respondent had not prepared, filed, or served a 


legal malpractice lawsuit on Wojcik’s behalf, so there would be no trial the following month, nor 


had Respondent sought or obtained the services of an expert on Wojcik’s behalf. 


46. As of February 23, 2024, Respondent had not communicated further with Wojcik 


or presented him with a revised fee agreement.  On February 23, 2024, Wojcik filed a request for 


investigation of Respondent with the ARDC, and counsel for the Administrator then asked 


Respondent to provide a written response and to produce his file relating to his representation of 


Wojcik. 


 47. By letter dated July 3, 2024, Respondent responded to the ARDC, acknowledging 


that he had agreed to represent Wojcik and claiming that he spent approximately 12 hours 


reviewing Wojcik’s medical records, and another 10 to 15 hours doing unspecified research and 


attempting to establish the existence of an attorney-client relationship between Wojcik and the 


lawyer who would be the subject of Wojcik’s malpractice complaint. 


48. On August 12, 2024, Respondent produced a 1352-page file, which contained 


medical records for Wojcik, some handwritten notes from Respondent’s initial meeting with 
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Wojcik (which had been specifically excluded from billing per Respondent’s fee agreement with 


Wojcik), and a copy of Respondent’s fee agreement with Wojcik.  The file did not contain any 


documents created by Respondent, any communications from Respondent to Wojcik’s former 


counsel seeking information about that attorney’s past representation of Wojcik, or any 


communications to Wojcik, including any communication setting forth any conclusions regarding 


the results of Respondent’s review of Wojcik’s documents or his purported inability to establish 


an attorney-client relationship between Wojcik and Wojcik’s former lawyer.  


 49. By letters dated December 12, 2024, March 10, 2025, and April 23, 2025, counsel 


for the Administrator asked Respondent to provide an itemization of services Respondent claimed 


to have provided to Wojcik, and any and all documentation, including any work product such as 


his notes, copies of any research documents, memoranda of his conclusions, summaries of client 


meetings or discussions, any correspondence, or other records to substantiate Respondent’s 


purported efforts to examine documents or to conduct research relating to Wojcik’s possible 


malpractice claim and to relay his conclusions to Wojcik.  


 50. On March 24, 2025, Respondent provided a “reconstructed time record” generated 


by Respondent “after reviewing the files in question, applicable notes, calendars, court records, 


disbursements and memory,” in which he purported to have provided $4,880 in services to Wojcik.  


Respondent did not itemize his purported services and, despite his prior assertions that Wojcik’s 


$10,000 retainer had been depleted by file review, research, and investigation, Respondent did not 


produce any evidence of the hours he had claimed to have expended on behalf of Wojcik.  Further, 


Respondent did not explain why he did not refund any unearned fees, since Wojcik paid him a 


$10,000 retainer and Respondent’s recreated account statement described an unused balance of 


fees owed to Wojcik.  
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 51. Respondent did not provide legal services to Wojcik sufficient to have earned the 


$10,000 retainer fee paid to him by Wojcik. 


52. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Board voted to 


file a complaint in this matter, Respondent had not refunded any portion of Wojcik’s $10,000 


retainer fee. 


 53. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to take any 
action to pursue a malpractice claim on behalf of Wojcik, in 
violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010); 
 


b. failing to keep the client reasonably informed about the status of 
the matter, by conduct including failing to respond to Wojcik’s 
requests for information regarding the status of his claim, in 
violation of Rule 1.4(a)(3) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing 


to return any portion of the $10,000 fee that Respondent 
received from Wojcik, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois 
Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); and  


 
d. conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 


misrepresentation, by his false statements to Wojcik that he had 
obtained an expert witness and that he could be ready for trial in 
March 2024 if Wojcik paid him additional fees of $5,000, in 
violation of Rule 8.4(c) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010). 


 
COUNT III 


(Lack of Diligence and False Statements in the Legal Malpractice Matter of Dylan Reeves) 
 
54. On November 15, 2021, Respondent and Dylan Reeves agreed that Respondent 


would file a legal malpractice complaint against Reeves’s former lawyers relating to their 


representation of Reeves, individually and derivatively on behalf of Reeves’ two commercial 
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properties, 5431-33 S. Wabash LLC and 5437 S. Wabash LLC, in a bankruptcy matter.  Reeves 


and Respondent agreed that Respondent’s receipt of a fee would be contingent on the recovery of 


an award or settlement and that the fee would be one-third of any recovery Respondent obtained 


on Reeves’s behalf.  Reeves also agreed to pay a $7,500 retainer that was “to be subtracted from 


the final fees due.”  The fee agreement that Respondent drafted also provided that Reeves would 


be responsible for any costs associated with his claim.  On that same date, Reeves gave Respondent 


$7,500 in cash as Respondent’s requested retainer fee. 


55. The fee agreement prepared by Respondent did not include Reeves’s commercial 


property LLCs as parties to the agreement.  Shortly after November 15, 2021, Reeves asked 


Respondent to redraft the fee agreement to remedy the omission, but Respondent never complied 


with that request.  


56. On February 22, 2022, Respondent filed a legal malpractice claim in the Circuit 


Court of Cook County to initiate the matter, entitled Dylan Reeves, Individually and Derivatively 


on Behalf of 5437 South Wabash LLC and 5431-33 South Wabash LLC v. Legal Remedies 


Chartered, James Hardemon, William E. Jameson Jr., William E. Jameson Jr. & Associates, 


Benjamin Brand LLP, Kevin Benjamin and Theresa Benjamin.  The clerk of the court assigned the 


matter docket number 2022 L 1747. 


57. As of April 22, 2022, Respondent had served all defendants except William E. 


Jameson, Jr., and William E. Jameson, Jr. & Associates. On April 22, 2022, Reeves emailed 


Respondent asking if he had served a certain defendant with the complaint in case number 2022 L 


1747, and on April 25, 2022, Respondent replied by email, “Yes everyone has been served.” 


58. Respondent’s April 22, 2022, statement to Reeves that all defendants had been 


served was false and intended to mislead Reeves, because at the time he made the statement, 
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Respondent had not obtained service on defendants William E. Jameson, Jr., or William E. 


Jameson Jr. & Associates.   


59. Respondent knew that his April 22, 2022, statement to Reeves about having having 


obtained service on all defendants was false because he knew that he had not yet obtained service 


on two of the defendants. 


60. On August 4, 2022, defendant Legal Remedies Chartered filed a motion to dismiss 


Reeves’s complaint in case number 2022 L 1747, arguing that Reeves lacked standing and had not 


stated a cause of action against the law firm.  By order entered on that same date, the Hon. Thomas 


More Donnelly set a deadline of August 25, 2022, for Respondent to respond to the motion to 


dismiss, and scheduled a status call for October 4, 2022. 


61. After being granted two extensions by Judge Donnelly, on October 6, 2022, 


Respondent filed a response to the motion to dismiss the complaint filed by defendant Legal 


Remedies Chartered, and on October 17, 2022, defendant Legal Remedies Chartered filed a reply 


to Respondent’s response. 


62. On October 26, 2022, Judge Donnelly entered an order in case number 2022 L 1747 


granting defendant Legal Remedies Chartered’s motion to dismiss after concluding that the 


complaint did not allege facts sufficient to establish that Reeves had standing to bring the case and 


granting Respondent leave to file an amended complaint on or before November 23, 2022.  Judge 


Donnelly also scheduled a case management hearing for February 1, 2023. 


63. On December 12, 2022, without notice to or authority from Reeves, Respondent 


filed a motion to voluntarily dismiss case number 2022 L 1747 pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-1009, 


seeking the case’s dismissal, without prejudice, for defendant Legal Remedies Chartered only.  In 


his motion, Respondent stated that upon leave of court he intended to file an amended complaint 
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against the firm.  By order dated December 16, 2022, Judge Donnelly granted Respondent’s 


motion and dismissed Legal Remedies Chartered as a party to case number 2022 L 1747. 


64. After December 12, 2022, Respondent did not file an amended complaint in case 


number 2022 L 1747, nor did he inform Reeves that he had caused the voluntary dismissal of one 


of the defendants, that he intended to file an amended complaint, that he had not filed any amended 


complaint, or what the consequences of not filing an amended complaint could be on Reeves’ 


claims against that defendant.  


65. On February 1, 2023, Judge Donnelly held a status/case management hearing for 


the remaining parties to case number 2022 L 1747.  Judge Donnelly continued the matter for status 


and presentment of a motion to amend the complaint to March 16, 2023.  On March 16, 2023, 


Judge Donnelly continued the matter to April 25, 2023, then again from April 25, 2023, to May 


23, 2023.   


66. On May 12, 2023, defendants Benjamin Brand LLP, Kevin Benjamin, and Theresa 


Benjamin filed an answer to the complaint and a motion for summary judgment in case number 


2022 L 1747, on the bases that Reeves had not established that “but for” the negligent acts of the 


defendants, the plaintiffs would have prevailed in the claims made in the underlying case, had 


failed to establish that Reeves suffered actual damages as a proximate result of the attorneys’ 


alleged negligence, and had failed to present any expert opinion to address the standard of care.   


67. On May 23, 2023, Judge Donnelly entered an order in case number 2022 L 1747 


setting a briefing schedule for the motion for summary judgment and a June 28, 2023, deadline for 


Respondent to file his response to the motion for summary judgment.  Judge Donnelly also 


scheduled oral argument on the motion for July 25, 2023.   
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68. As of July 18, 2023, Respondent had not filed any pleading responsive to the 


motion for summary judgment in case number 2022 L 1747, and on that date, Judge Donnelly 


granted the motion for summary judgment filed on behalf of defendants Benjamin Brand LLP, 


Kevin Benjamin, and Theresa Benjamin.  Judge Donnelly struck the oral argument date of July 


25, 2023, and scheduled a status date for the remaining defendants for August 22, 2023.  


Respondent was notified of that court date by email from the clerk to his business email address, 


gooch@goochfirm.com.   


69. On July 20, 2023, Reeves checked the docket for case number 2022 L 1747 and 


saw that Respondent had not filed a response to the motion for summary judgment.  On that date, 


Reeves sent a text message to Respondent asking, “Did the judge grant Benjamin [sic] Motion for 


summary judgment? I didn’t see our response filed.  Which defendant was allowed to be released 


from the proceedings?” to which Respondent replied, “Not yet but he is going on the theory that 


Jamison [sic] could have fixed everything that Benjamin did based on the subsequent counsel 


rule…It was the corporate defendant in count three the corporation didn’t exist at the time of wrong 


doing [sic].” 


70. Respondent’s July 20, 2023, text message to Reeves that the court had “not yet” 


ruled on the motion for summary judgment for the Benjamin defendants was false and intended to 


mislead Reeves, because Respondent knew that he had not filed a response to the motion for 


summary judgment and that Judge Donnelly had already granted the motion for summary 


judgment on July 18, 2023.   


71. Respondent’s July 20, 2023, text message to Reeves stating that in his purported 


ongoing review of the motion for summary judgment, Judge Donnelly “is going on the theory that 


Jamison [sic] could have fixed everything that Benjamin did based on the subsequent counsel rule” 
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was false, because the motion for summary judgment had already been granted based on the factors 


set forth in the motion for summary judgment, as described in paragraph 66, above, to which 


Respondent had not responded. 


72. On August 22, 2023, Reeves checked the court docket for case number 2022 L 1747 


and noticed that the case was scheduled for a videoconference hearing on that date.  Reeves logged 


into the videoconference hearing and saw that Respondent was not participating in the call.  Judge 


Donnelly placed the matter at the end of his status call for the day and eventually continued the 


matter for a new status call on September 5, 2023.   


73. On August 22, 2023, Reeves attempted to telephone Respondent on several 


occasions and was able to reach Respondent at 9:30 a.m., at which time he asked Respondent why 


he was not participating in the videoconference hearing.  Respondent told Reeves that he was not 


feeling well, so he would not be participating. Respondent also told Reeves for the first time that 


defendants Benjamin Brand LLP, Kevin Benjamin, and Theresa Benjamin were no longer 


defendants in case number 2022 L 1747.  Respondent also told Reeves during the August 22, 2023, 


call that those defendants had been granted summary judgment because a “new case” fatal to 


Reeves’s claim against these defendants had evolved from the “subsequent counsel rule.” Finally, 


Respondent told Reeves that it was now his plan to get the case voluntarily dismissed and that he 


would refile the case before the end of the calendar year. 


74. Respondent’s August 22, 2023, statement to Reeves about the basis for the court’s 


dismissal of certain defendants from the case was false because a “new case” fatal to Reeves’s 


claim against these defendants had not evolved from the “subsequent counsel rule” because the 


defendants’ motion never raised that issue as a basis for their request for summary judgment. 
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75. Respondent knew that his August 22, 2023, statement to Reeves that a “new case” 


fatal to Reeves’s claim against those defendants had evolved from the “subsequent counsel rule” 


was false when he made it.  In fact, the motion for summary judgment had been granted, at least 


in part, because Respondent had not filed a response.   


76. On September 5, 2023, Respondent filed a motion to voluntarily dismiss case 


number 2022 L 1747 pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-1009, seeking the case’s dismissal, without 


prejudice, with leave to refile, which was granted by the court by an agreed order on that same 


date.   


77. After September 5, 2023, Respondent did not take any action to reinstate or refile 


Reeves’s legal malpractice claim.  


78. After September 5, 2023, Respondent did not inform Reeves that he had not taken 


any action to reinstate Reeves’s claim nor did Respondent inform Reeves of the civil remedies that 


could be available to Reeves, and, as a result, Reeves’s claims became time-barred. 


79. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to respond to the 
motion to dismiss defendant Legal Remedies Chartered or the 
motion for summary judgment filed by defendants Benjamin Brand 
LLP, Kevin Benjamin, or Theresa Benjamin, or take any action on 
behalf of Reeves to refile his claims, in violation of Rule 1.3 of the 
Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
b. failing to promptly inform the client of any decision or circumstance 


with respect to which the client’s informed consent, as defined in 
Rule 1.0(e), is required, by conduct including failing to inform 
Reeves of the dismissal of defendant Legal Remedies Chartered or 
the motion for summary judgment filed by defendants Benjamin 
Brand LLP, Kevin Benjamin, or Theresa Benjamin, or take any 
action on behalf of Reeves to refile his claims, in violation of Rule 
1.4(a)(1) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); and,  
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c. conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, 


by conduct including making false and misleading statements to 
Reeves about the status of his claims and his lawsuit, in violation of 
Rule 8.4(c) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010). 


 
COUNT IV 


(Lack of Diligence and False Statements in the Tax Acquisition Matter of Dylan Reeves) 
 


80. On February 9, 2023, Respondent and Dylan Reeves agreed that Respondent would 


file a complaint against Newline Holdings LLC and affiliated companies relating to that entity’s 


acquisition of Reeves’s commercial properties at a tax scavenger sale.  Reeves and Respondent 


agreed that Respondent would accept a contingency fee providing him one-third of any recovery 


he obtained on behalf of Reeves, and Reeves agreed to pay an additional $5,000 as a retainer, “to 


be subtracted from the final fees due.”  The fee agreement provided that “any unused or unbilled 


portion of the advance payment retainer will be returned to the client.”  On that same date, Reeves 


gave Respondent $5,000 via a cashier’s check payable to “Thomas Gooch” as Respondent’s 


requested retainer.  


81. The February 9, 2023, retainer agreement prepared by Respondent did not include 


Reeves’s commercial property LLCs as parties to the agreement.  Shortly after February 9, 2023, 


Reeves asked Respondent to redraft the fee agreement to remedy the omission, but Respondent 


never complied with that request.  


82. After February 9, 2023, Respondent took no further action relating to Reeves’s 


claims against Newline Holdings nor did he inform Reeves that he had not taken, and did not 


intend to take, any action on Reeves’s behalf relating to that matter. 


83. After February 9, 2023, Respondent never sent Reeves a billing statement setting 


forth the legal services, if any, that Respondent provided on behalf of Reeves relating to his dispute 
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with Newline Holdings, nor did Respondent refund any portion of the $5,000 retainer fee Reeves 


had paid him. 


84. On August 22, 2023, Reeves asked Respondent to refund the $5,000 retainer he had 


paid to Respondent to file suit against Newline Holdings.  By email to Reeves dated August 23, 


2023, Respondent stated, in part: “I have reviewed each and every document you brought me on 


Newline and even reviewed the court file.  I did the necessary research (briefly) to determine the 


cause of action…I will run a bill to show you how the time on Newline was spent. I can assure 


you that I have spent far more then [sic] 12.5 hours on Newline which at 400 dollars per hour well 


exceeds the $5,000.00 you gave me.” 


85. On May 5, 2025, Reeves sent a request for investigation of Respondent to the 


ARDC in connection with Respondent’s representation of Reeves in both matters as described in 


Counts III and IV of this complaint. 


86. By letter dated May 30, 2025, to Respondent’s counsel, counsel for the   


Administrator asked Respondent to provide a response to Reeves’s request for investigation, to 


provide reconstructed time records showing the services he claimed to have provided to Reeves 


and when he provided them, and to produce a copy his file relating to his representation of Reeves 


in connection with both of his legal matters, including any research, notes, memoranda, and any 


other work product to support his contention that Respondent had earned the $5,000 fee paid by 


Reeves. 


87. By letter dated June 11, 2025, counsel for Respondent produced to the ARDC his 


file materials relating to his representation of Reeves.  Those file materials did not include any 


work product showing that Respondent had reviewed files or conducted legal research for Reeves’s 


claims against Newline Holdings. 
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88. As of August 26, 2025, the date Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Panel voted to file a 


complaint in this matter, Respondent had not submitted any written response to the allegations set 


forth in Reeves’s request for investigation of him, nor had Respondent produced an itemized 


statement of any legal services he claimed to have provided on behalf of Reeves, or any document, 


including work product, to support his claim to Reeves that he had conducted a file review and 


research, or to show that he had earned the $5,000 retainer fee paid to him by Reeves to pursue a 


claim against Newline Holdings. 


89. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to take any action 
on behalf of Reeves to pursue his claim against Newline Holdings, 
in violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct 
(2010);  


 
b. failing to promptly inform the client of any decision or circumstance 


with respect to which the client’s informed consent, as defined in 
Rule 1.0(e), is required, by conduct including failing to inform 
Reeves that he had not taken any action to pursue his claim against 
Newline Holdings, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(1) of the Illinois Rules 
of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing to 


return any portion of the $5,000 fee that Respondent received from 
Reeves to take action concerning Reeves’s claim against Newline 
Holdings, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct (2010); and  


 
d. failing to respond to a lawful demand for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide a 
written response to Reeves’s request for investigation to the ARDC 
or to produce an itemized statement of his services to Reeves 
relating to the Newline Holdings matter, in violation of Rule 8.1(b) 
of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct. 
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COUNT XVI 
(Lack of Diligence and False Statements in the Legal Malpractice Matter of Michael McNulty) 


 
90. On or about August 29, 2022, Respondent and Michael McNulty agreed that 


Respondent would file a legal malpractice complaint against McNulty’s former lawyer relating to 


that lawyer’s representation of McNulty in a family dispute.  McNulty and Respondent agreed that 


Respondent would accept a contingency fee providing Respondent one-third of any recovery he 


obtained on behalf of McNulty, in addition to a $10,000 retainer, which McNulty agreed to pay in 


two payments of $5,000 on August 29, 2022, and September 29, 2022.  The fee agreement also 


provided that McNulty would be responsible for the payment of any costs associated with his 


claim.  On August 29, 2022, McNulty made a payment to Respondent via PayPal in the amount of 


$4,950 towards his requested retainer, and he paid the remainder of his retainer in September 2022.   


91. On September 7, 2022, Respondent filed a legal malpractice claim on behalf of 


McNulty in the Circuit Court of Cook County to initiate the matter entitled Michael McNulty v. C. 


Shawn Jones and the Law Offices of C. Shawn Jones.  The clerk of the court assigned the matter 


case number 2022 L 8057. 


92. At all times alleged in this complaint, Illinois Supreme Court Rule 102(a) provided 


that: “Promptly upon issuance, summons (together with copies of the complaint as required by 


Rule 104) shall be placed for service with the sheriff or other officer or person authorized to serve 


process.”  


93. At all times alleged in this complaint, Illinois Supreme Court Rule 103(b) provided 


that: “If the plaintiff fails to exercise reasonable diligence to obtain service on a defendant prior to 


the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the action as to that defendant may be 


dismissed without prejudice. If the failure to exercise reasonable diligence to obtain service on a 


defendant occurs after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the dismissal shall be 
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with prejudice as to that defendant only and shall not bar any claim against any other party based 


on vicarious liability for that dismissed defendant’s conduct. The dismissal may be made on the 


application of any party or on the court’s own motion. In considering the exercise of reasonable 


diligence, the court shall review the totality of the circumstances, including both lack of reasonable 


diligence in any previous case voluntarily dismissed or dismissed for want of prosecution, and the 


exercise of reasonable diligence in obtaining service in any case refiled under section 13-217 of 


the Code of Civil Procedure.” 


94. After filing the complaint in case number 2022 L 8057, Respondent did not take 


appropriate action to promptly serve defendant C. Shawn Jones with the complaint at Jones’s law 


firm, including requesting or obtaining leave to appoint a special process server. 


95. Prior to March 27, 2023, McNulty called the Office of the Clerk of the Cook County 


Circuit Court and was informed that neither Jones nor his firm had been served with the complaint 


in case number 2022 L 8057.  McNulty telephoned Respondent to ask about the reason for the 


delay in obtaining service, and Respondent told McNulty that the Cook County Sheriff’s Office 


had delayed serving the defendant, but also that Jones had been served by special process server 


four weeks earlier and Respondent was awaiting the proof of service.   


96. Respondent’s statements to McNulty that the sheriff had delayed in serving Jones 


or his firm, and that Jones and his firm had been served by a special process server, were false 


because Respondent had not placed the complaint with the Cook County Sheriff’s Office for 


service, nor had he sought leave or obtained leave of the court to obtain a special process server in 


case number 2022 L 8057. 


97. Respondent knew that his statements to McNulty that the sheriff had delayed in 


serving Jones or his firm, and that Jones and his firm had been served by a special process server, 
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were false because Respondent knew that he had not placed the complaint with the sheriff’s office 


or obtained leave of the court to obtain a special process server. 


98. On March 27, 2023, McNulty sent an email to the Cook County Sheriff’s Office 


asking for an explanation of that Office’s failure to obtain service on the defendant.  By email on 


March 28, 2023, Cook County Sheriff’s Office supervisor Jennifer O’Neal responded to 


McNulty’s email stating that their office had no record of a sheriff service assignment under case 


number 2022 L 8057. 


99. On March 28, 2023, McNulty sent an email to O’Neal in the Cook County Sheriff’s 


Office stating that Respondent had filed a motion for an alias summons citing the failure of the 


sheriff’s office to obtain service, to which O’Neal replied: “I’ve searched by the following: case 


number, plaintiff name, defendant name and address.  My search resulted in no returns. I am to 


conclude service was never submitted to the Sheriff for service of process.” 


100. On March 28, 2023, April 17, 2023, and April 19, 2023, McNulty sent emails 


asking Respondent for the status of Respondent’s purported efforts to obtain service on Jones and 


his law firm in case number 2022 L 8057.  On April 19, 2023, Respondent delivered an alias 


summons to McNulty, who sent the following email to Respondent: 


Hi Tom, I just filed your alias summons. I am at a loss for words as to why I have 
to be doing this, when I provided you a retainer for $10,000 in early September, of 
which you told me I need to do nothing, as you had it handled.  Since, nothing has 
happened according to the electronic docket search since October 2022.  The 
Sheriff’s Department confirmed they never received a check from you nor any court 
documents. You mentioned the Special Process Server was successful in February, 
yet nothing indicating such, to date.  


 
101. As of April 27, 2023, neither Jones nor his law firm had been served with the 


complaint related to case number 2022 L 8057.  On April 27, 2023, McNulty sent an email to 


Respondent asking Respondent to “please advise on where we stand and why there is still no 
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progress since filing, other than your unproven claim that [the defendant] was served in February 


via a Special Process Server.”  On that same date, Respondent replied, “I’ve staffed up again at 


the office with good people…As to your case I’m going to get it on the right path next week and 


keep it there…the alias summons you said you filed was that thru the e-file system? Did you get it 


back?”  On the same date, McNulty replied by email: “I was advised by the clerk of the court, that 


the original summons needed to be updated with an Alias Summons by you.  Upon submission, 


service needs to be made within 30 days.  Alternately, a motion for appointment of a Special 


Process Server can be made directly to the Judge.”   


102. Between May 4, 2023, and June 1, 2023, McNulty sent five emails to Respondent 


requesting information about the status of case number 2022 L 8057, and specifically about service 


of the complaint on the defendants.  On June 1, 2023, Respondent asked McNulty for Jones’s home 


address, then followed up with an email stating, “Never mind I found the address…”  McNulty 


replied, “He still maintains the same office space as well, in Evanston.” 


103. As of June 15, 2023, neither Jones nor his law firm had been served with the 


complaint or summons related to case number 2022 L 8057.  On June 15, 2023, McNulty sent an 


email to Respondent requesting information about the status of the matter, and Respondent replied 


that he was fishing, had poor internet service at his location, and would get back to McNulty on 


June 20, 2023.  On June 22, 2023, McNulty sent an email to Respondent stating, “just checking 


on the status of service against [defendant].”  Respondent replied that “they tried 4 times I can get 


you thee [sic] dates when I’m in the office. I ordered another 4 attempts.” 


104. By email on June 23, 2023, McNulty expressed his dissatisfaction with 


Respondent’s legal representation and asked for a refund of his retainer.  On that same date, 


Respondent replied: “I’m sorry but I h Ave [sic] time involved In reviewing an diligence in 
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preparing to return a retainer as you request at 400 hundred a n [sic] hour it’s pretty easy to earn 


10,000.00. It is not my fault he hides, I eventually will find him.” 


105. On October 19, 2023, a licensed investigator hired by Respondent, but not 


appointed by the court to serve process on the defendant, delivered a copy of the complaint in case 


number 2022 L 8057 to Jones at his office. 


106. On November 13, 2023, counsel for defendants Jones and The Law Offices of C. 


Shawn Jones (collectively “Jones”) filed a motion to quash service in case number 2022 L 8057 


on the basis that Respondent never requested or obtained leave to appoint a special process server 


and scheduled the motion to be heard on November 22, 2023.  A copy of the motion was served 


by mail on Respondent. 


107. On November 20, 2023, Respondent filed a motion for leave to issue alias summons 


in case number 2022 L 8057 on the basis that “plaintiff drafted and never filed the motion for 


process server like he thought.”  On November 22, 2023, Respondent filed a motion for special 


process in case number 2022 L 8057.  Respondent set both motions to be heard in person in court 


on November 22, 2023. 


108. On November 22, 2023, both Respondent and counsel for Jones appeared in court 


in case number 2022 L 8057.  The Hon. Maureen O. Hannon entered an order granting defendant’s 


motion to quash the purported October 19, 2023, service of Jones in case number 2022 L 8057, 


and granting Respondent’s motion to appoint a special process server.  On November 27, 2023, 


Respondent obtained service of process on Jones. 


109. On December 15, 2023, counsel for Jones filed a motion to dismiss the complaint 


in case number 2022 L 8057 pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 103(b), on the basis that Respondent 


had not exercised reasonable diligence in his pursuit of McNulty’s claim by filing a complaint 
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three days before the statute of limitations expired, by failing to obtain service on Jones for 13 


months despite Jones’s ready availability to be located and served while working as a practicing 


attorney, and finally by serving Jones 14 months after filing the complaint.  Counsel for Jones 


requested that the complaint be dismissed with prejudice. 


110. On January 8, 2024, Judge Hannon scheduled the motion by counsel for Jones to 


dismiss the complaint in case number 2022 L 8057 to be heard on March 11, 2024, via 


videoconference, and allowed Respondent until February 5, 2024, to file a response to the motion 


and granting Jones until February 19, 2024, to file a reply. 


111. As of March 11, 2023, Respondent had not filed a response to the motion to dismiss 


in case number 2022 L 8057.  On March 11, 2024, Judge Hannon entered an order allowing 


Respondent until April 8, 2024, to file a response and granting Jones until April 15, 2024, to file a 


reply. 


112. As of April 12, 2024, Respondent had not filed a response to the motion to dismiss 


in case number 2022 L 8057.  On April 12, 2024, Respondent filed a motion for additional time to 


file a response to the motion to dismiss, and on April 17, 2024, Respondent filed a response to the 


motion to dismiss. 


113. On April 18, 2024, over the objections of counsel for Jones, Judge Hannon allowed 


Respondent’s motion for an extension of time and accepted his response to the motion to dismiss 


in case number 2022 L 8057.  Judge Hannon gave the defendant seven days to file a reply in 


support of their motion to dismiss. 


114. On April 25, 2024, counsel for Jones filed a reply in support of their motion to 


dismiss in case number 2022 L 8057.  By order dated May 1, 2024, Judge Hannon scheduled the 


matter to be heard on May 9, 2024, via videoconference. 
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115. On May 9, 2024, with all parties present, Judge Hannon granted the defendant’s 


motion to dismiss in case number 2022 L 8057 and dismissed the complaint with prejudice.  Judge 


Hannon stated that the order was final and appealable pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 304(c) and 


that there was no just reason to delay enforcement of the order. 


116. By email dated May 9, 2024, Respondent informed McNulty that case number 2022 


L 8057 had been dismissed and recommended that McNulty appeal the court’s decision.  


Respondent then stated, “I would be willing to continue on and do the appeal without charge even 


though it is beyond what I am required to do.”  McNulty agreed to allow Respondent to handle the 


appeal, and Respondent told McNulty that he would first file a motion for reconsideration of the 


dismissal order. 


117. On June 10, 2024, Respondent filed a motion in case number 2022 L 8057 to 


reconsider the court’s May 9, 2024, order dismissing the complaint, arguing that Judge Hannon 


had erred in her application of existing law.  The motion was scheduled to be heard on July 10, 


2024. 


118. On July 10, 2024, Judge Hannon allowed counsel for Jones until July 19, 2024, to 


file a response to Respondent’s motion for reconsideration, and gave Respondent until July 26, 


2024, to reply.  Judge Hannon scheduled an in-person hearing for August 1, 2024, but agreed to 


allow Respondent to appear via videoconference. 


119. On July 22, 2024, counsel for Jones filed a response to Respondent’s motion to 


reconsider Judge Hannon’s order dismissing case number 2022 L 8057. 


120. As of August 1, 2024, Respondent had not filed a reply to the counsel for Jones’s 


response.  On August 1, 2024, Respondent requested that the hearing on his motion for 
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reconsideration be continued to August 8, 2024, via videoconference.  By order on August 1, 2024, 


Judge Hannon agreed to the continuance and scheduled the hearing for August 8, 2024. 


121. As of August 8, 2024, Respondent had not filed a reply to counsel for Jones’s 


response to his motion to reconsider.  On August 8, 2024, Judge Hannon denied Respondent’s 


motion for reconsideration of the May 9, 2024, order dismissing the complaint.  Respondent took 


no further action on behalf of McNulty after that date, including filing a notice of appeal of the 


denial of the motion to reconsider the dismissal of the complaint or taking any action to pursue 


such an appeal.  


122. After August 8, 2024, Respondent did not inform McNulty that he had not replied 


to the defendant’s response to his motion for reconsideration or that Judge Hannon had denied his 


motion, nor did he provide McNulty with an explanation of what further action, if any, was 


available to McNulty. 


123. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to obtain 
proper service on the defendant in case number 2022 L 8057, 
resulting in McNulty’s claim being dismissed, in violation of 
Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); 


 
b. failing to promptly inform the client of any decision or 


circumstance with respect to which the client’s informed consent 
is required, by conduct including failing to inform McNulty that 
the service Respondent obtained on the defendant was improper, 
that a motion to dismiss the complaint had been filed on that 
basis, that the court had entered an order dismissing the case, or 
what civil remedies McNulty may have available to him, in 
violation of Rule 1.4(a)(1) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010); and  


 
c. conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 


misrepresentation, by conduct including making false and 
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misleading statements to McNulty about the status of 
Respondent’s attempts to obtain service of the defendant in 
violation of Rule 8.4(c) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010). 


 
COUNT VI 


(Lack of Diligence and Misrepresentation in the Legal Fee Dispute Matter of Marny Abbott) 
 


124. On or about December 27, 2022, Marny Abbott and Respondent agreed that 


Respondent would represent Abbott in the efforts to resolve an attorney’s lien filed against Abbott 


by her former personal injury lawyer, Marc Shuman, including possibly filing a malpractice 


complaint against Shuman.   


125. Abbott agreed to pay Respondent what Respondent described as an “advance 


payment retainer” in the amount of $5,000, which was “to be applied against legal services 


performed for the client.”  Respondent and Abbott entered into a written fee agreement, which 


provided, in part, that:   


a. “…any unused or unbilled portion of this advance payment retainer will be 
returned to the client”; 
 


b. “a billing statement shall be issued monthly during the time counsel is 
rendering legal services. All interim billings shall be due within thirty (30) 
days after the billing date noted on the billing statement and client agrees to 
make payment by that time…all costs advanced will be immediately paid 
upon receipt of invoice;” and 


 
c. “there will be no billings for telephone conferences with the client, no 


billings by multiple attorneys for inter-office conferences; no billings for 
travel time; and no billings for interoffice memorandums and for routine 
research involving malpractice or excessive fee matters.”  


 
126. After December 27, 2022, Respondent did not send Abbott any billing statements 


relating to any work he may have performed relating to her dispute with Shuman. 
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127. On January 24, 2023, Respondent met with Abbott, who provided Respondent with 


a check for his requested retainer of $5,000 and copies of all of the documents she had relating to 


the personal injury matter in which Shuman had represented her. 


128. By email to Respondent on January 31, 2023, Abbott informed Respondent that she 


had hired a new lawyer to replace Shuman in her personal injury matter.  Abbott also requested 


that Respondent provide her with information on the status of the issue of Shuman’s claimed lien.  


Respondent replied by email on February 1, 2023, stating, “I am drafting a petition to adjudicate 


the lien.  I have attempted to contact Shuman on 4 different occasions, I’m not doing more attempts 


I will just sue him.” 


129. By email dated February 1, 2023, from Respondent to Shuman, Respondent 


informed Shuman that Abbott had terminated Shuman and had hired a new lawyer in her personal 


injury matter.  Respondent continued, “I have been retained to resolve your attorney lien and 


investigate a potential legal malpractice case” and advised Shuman to request an adjuster for his 


malpractice insurance carrier to contact Respondent.   


130. As of May 2, 2023, Respondent had not filed a petition to adjudicate Shuman’s lien 


on Abbott’s behalf.  On May 2, 2023, Respondent contacted Abbott by telephone, told her that he 


had filed a petition on her behalf, and said that he would have his assistant send a copy of the 


petition to her that week.  Abbott sent an email to Respondent following the call stating, in part, 


“I’ll look for a copy of the pleadings tomorrow…” 


131. Respondent’s May 2, 2023, statement to Abbott that he had filed a petition was 


false and intended to mislead Abbott.  In fact, Respondent had not filed any pleading or other 


document on behalf of Abbott against Shuman at the time he made the statement. 
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132. Respondent knew that his statements to Abbott that he had filed a petition and 


would send her a copy were false because Respondent knew that he had not filed any document 


on her behalf and thus there was nothing to send her. 


133. On May 12, 2023, Abbott telephoned the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Lake County 


and learned that no petition to adjudicate Shuman’s lien or malpractice complaint had been filed 


on her behalf against Shuman. 


134. Between May 12, 2023, and July 14, 2023, Abbott left five telephone messages and 


sent five emails to Respondent requesting that Respondent inform her of the status of her claim 


and provide her with an accounting of how her retainer fee was being used.  Respondent did not 


reply to Abbott. 


135. On August 18, 2023, Abbott sent an email to Respondent informing him that her 


new attorney in the personal injury matter had succeeded in resolving the issue of Shuman’s lien, 


terminating Respondent’s services, and requesting a statement of any legal services he performed 


for her and a refund of any unearned fees. 


136. On August 24, 2023, Respondent sent an email to Abbott stating that “I feel I have 


already earned the money paid to me.” 


137. By email on August 30, 2023, Abbott requested that her file, an accounting of the 


$5,000 fee she paid to Respondent, and a refund of her unearned retainer be made available for her 


to pick up at Respondent’s office, to which Respondent replied, in part, “I’m sorry I will endeavor 


to get it by end of week.”  


138. On September 11, 2023, having not received any itemized statement of claimed 


services, any refund, or any further communication from Respondent, Abbott filed a request that 


the ARDC investigate Respondent’s handling of the adjudication of Shuman’s lien. 
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139. By letter dated September 15, 2023, to Respondent’s counsel, counsel for the 


Administrator requested that Respondent provide a written response to Abbott’s request for 


investigation.  By letter dated July 1, 2024, Respondent submitted a response to Abbott’s 


communication in which he stated that he determined that the underlying uninsured motorist case 


in which Shuman had represented her had to be resolved before Respondent could resolve the 


matter of Shuman’s lien, and that he had provided sufficient services to Abbott to have earned his 


fee in full.   


140. On August 12, 2024, Respondent produced a copy of his client file relating to his 


representation of Abbott, which contained only documents that Abbott had provided to Respondent 


and Respondent’s fee agreement with Abbott. 


141. By letters dated December 12, 2024, and March 10, 2025, counsel for the 


Administrator asked Respondent to provide a recreated itemized statement of any services he 


claimed to have provided relating to his representation of Abbott. 


142. On March 25, 2025, Respondent produced to the ARDC a recreated invoice setting 


forth 16 hours for his claimed services, including 8.5 hours for “research” with a value of $3,400, 


despite his fee agreement specifically providing that he would not bill Abbott for routine research, 


as set forth in paragraph 125(c), above. 


143. On August 4, 2025, Respondent produced to the ARDC a copy of his file relating 


to his representation of Abbott, which included Respondent’s February 1, 2023, email to Shuman 


but did not include a draft petition to adjudicate Shuman’s lien or any document, including work 


product, to support Respondent’s claim that Respondent had earned the $5,000 retainer fee paid to 


him by Abbott. 
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144. Respondent did not provide sufficient services in accordance with his fee 


agreement, which specifically excluded routine research and communications with the client, to 


account for the $5,000 retainer Abbott paid to Respondent. 


145. As of August 26, 2025, the date Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Panel voted to file a 


complaint in this matter, Respondent had not refunded the unearned portion of the $5,000 retainer 


Abbott had paid to him.  


146. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to timely file 
a petition to adjudicate Shuman’s lien on behalf of Abbott, in 
violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010);  


 
b. failing to promptly inform the client of any decision or 


circumstance with respect to which the client’s informed consent 
is required, by conduct including failing to inform Abbott that 
Respondent had not filed a petition to adjudicate Shuman’s lien 
on her behalf, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(1) of the Illinois Rules 
of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing 


to return any portion of the $5,000 fee that Respondent received 
from Abbott, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct (2010); and  


 
d. conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 


misrepresentation, by conduct including making false and 
misleading statements to Abbott about the status of her matter 
and the purported filing of a petition on her behalf, in violation 
of Rule 8.4(c) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct 
(2010).  
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COUNT VII 
(Lack of Diligence and Misrepresentation in the Legal Malpractice Matter of Jonathan Singer) 


 
147. On March 12, 2024, Respondent and Jonathan Singer agreed that Respondent 


would file a legal malpractice complaint against the attorneys who had represented Singer in 


matters relating to the dissolution of his marriage and an alleged child support arrearage.  Singer 


and Respondent agreed that Respondent would accept a contingency fee providing him one-third 


of any recovery he obtained on behalf of Singer, and Singer agreed to pay Respondent a retainer 


that was “to be subtracted from the final fees due.”  The fee agreement also provided that Singer 


would be responsible for any costs associated with his claim.  On that same date, Singer paid 


Respondent entire requested fee of $7,500 by credit card. 


148. On May 20, 2024, in response to a request from Singer for the status of his matter, 


Respondent sent an email to Singer stating, “File it tomorrow and place with sheriff for service, 


sheriff is to [sic] lazy so it doesnt gert [sic] served ask for a special process server which is required 


in cook [sic] and then it gets served, 70 dollars to the sheriff for nothing then another 80 to a server 


who gets it done. Welcome to Cook County.”  


149. As of June 26, 2024, Respondent had not filed a legal malpractice case on Singer’s 


behalf.  On June 26, 2024, Singer sent an email to Respondent asking, “Do we have an update on 


this?”  On that same date, Respondent replied, “I have not seen anything comeback. I will have [a 


member of Respondent’s staff] check and see we may need to now move for an appointment of a 


special process server. We never have these problems except on [sic] Cook County” 


150. Respondent’s May 20, 2024, and June 26, 2024, emails referring to Respondent 


awaiting service of a purported legal malpractice complaint were false and intended to mislead 


Singer, because as of June 26, 2024, Respondent had not filed a complaint on behalf of Singer and 


there was no complaint to be served, either by the sheriff or a special process server. 
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151. Respondent knew that his emails to Singer referring to awaiting service of a legal 


malpractice complaint were false, because Respondent knew that he had not filed a complaint on 


behalf of Singer and thus that there was no complaint to be served. 


152. On July 9, 2024, Respondent filed a legal malpractice claim in the Circuit Court of 


Cook County to initiate the matter entitled Jonathan Singer v. Boosell & Domanskis, LLC, Max A. 


Stein and Lauren Dreyfus.  The clerk of the court assigned the matter case number 2024 L 7539. 


153. On August 29, 2024, in response to a request by Singer for information about the 


status of his claims, Respondent forwarded to Singer an email from defense counsel requesting an 


extension of time to file a response to the complaint in case number 2024 L 7539. 


154. On October 21, 2024, counsel for all defendants in case number 2024 L 7359 filed 


a motion to dismiss the complaint on the basis that there was no set of facts that would allow Singer 


to succeed in his malpractice claims against them as a matter of law, because the defendants 


performed the services Singer asked them to provide, and any problems relating to Singer’s alleged 


child support arrearage were due to his own conduct and beyond the scope of the work the 


attorneys agreed to perform for him.  By order on October 28, 2024, the Hon. Eileen O’Connor 


allowed Respondent to file a response on Singer’s behalf by November 25, 2024, with the 


defendants’ reply to be filed by December 16, 2024. Judge O’Connor also scheduled a hearing on 


the motion to dismiss for January 27, 2025. 


155. Respondent did not file any response to the motion to dismiss or any request for 


additional time within which to do so. 


156. By emails dated December 11, 2024, and December 12, 2024, Singer asked 


Respondent to inform him of the status of his matter, and in a telephone conversation around that 


time, Respondent stated that he would contact Singer by the end of January 2025.   
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157. On January 27, 2025, Judge O’Connor held the hearing on the motion to dismiss in 


case number 2024 L 7539.  Neither Respondent nor Singer appeared.  On that date, Judge 


O’Connor entered an order noting that Respondent had not filed a response to the motion to dismiss 


and had not appeared in court on that date and dismissing Singer’s malpractice complaint with 


prejudice.  Court staff and counsel for the defendants provided Respondent with copies of the order 


by email at his registered business email address, which Respondent received shortly thereafter.   


158. As of February 6, 2025, Respondent had not communicated further with Singer, 


including by telling him that the complaint Respondent filed had been dismissed with prejudice.  


On that date, Singer sent Respondent an email requesting information about the case’s status.  On 


that same day, Respondent replied by email stating, “Truthfully the present delay is my fault Ill 


[sic] have it fixed by next week and will provide further update at some point next week.” 


159. As of February 25, 2025, Respondent had not updated Singer or taken action in his 


case.  On February 25, 2025, Singer sent an email requesting “a detailed explanation of where 


things stand.”  By email on that same date, Respondent stated, in part, “I am working on a proposed 


amended complaint and hope to file it this week.” 


160. On February 26, 2025, Respondent filed a motion to vacate or amend the January 


27, 2025, dismissal order in case number 2024 L 7539, arguing that on December 27, 2024, he had 


undergone a surgical procedure and that he intended to file an amended complaint should the court 


allow his motion.  


161. On March 6, 2025, Singer sent an email to Respondent stating, “I expect a call back 


today Tom. We’re on the very last chance here. You took my money a year and a half ago and 


there is nothing to show for it.”  On the same date, Respondent replied by email, “Case is up in 


court on the 13th to file amended complaint.”  
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162. On March 10, 2025, counsel for the defendants filed a response to Respondent’s 


February 26, 2025, motion to vacate the order of dismissal in case number 2024 L 7539, which 


pointed out that Respondent’s December 27, 2025, surgical procedure took place a month after 


Judge O’Connor’s original deadline for Respondent to file a response to the motion to dismiss, 


and that Respondent had not provided any reason why he had not met the original deadline. 


163. On March 13, 2025, Respondent appeared in court for the hearing on his motion to 


vacate the dismissal order in case number 2024 L 7539.  Judge O’Connor entered an order on that 


date allowing Respondent until April 28, 2025, to file a reply to the defendants’ response and 


scheduling a further hearing date for May 14, 2025. 


164. On May 3, 2025, Singer filed a request for investigation of Respondent with the 


ARDC, a copy of which was provided to Respondent’s counsel on May 5, 2025.  


165. By letter dated May 5, 2025, to counsel for Respondent, counsel for the 


Administrator asked Respondent to provide a written response to Singer’s allegations, along with 


a copy of Respondent’s complete file relating to his representation of Singer and an itemized 


statement of legal services that Respondent claimed to have performed on Singer’s behalf. 


166. On May 8, 2025, Singer sent Respondent an email discharging Respondent as his 


attorney and requesting that Respondent refund to him the $7,500 retainer he had paid Respondent 


on March 12, 2024.  Respondent replied by email to Singer on that same date stating, in part, 


“After seeing your ARDC letter on Monday I had already drafted a motion to withdraw.  I have 


earned the retainer I am not refunding any of it.”  


167. Respondent never filed a motion to withdraw as Singer’s attorney in case number 


2024 L 7539. 
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168. As of May 14, 2025, Respondent had not filed anything further in case number 


2024 L 7539.  On that date, Respondent did not appear for the previously scheduled hearing on his 


motion to vacate or amend the January 27, 2025, dismissal order, and Judge O’Connor denied 


Respondent’s motion.  Court staff emailed a copy of the May 14, 2025, order to Respondent on 


May 15, 2025. 


169. By email to Singer dated May 15, 2025, Respondent provided a copy of the court’s 


May 14, 2025, order, stating, in part, “Enclosed is an order of the court from this morning [sic].  


Following your instructions to do nothing further, I didn’t.  You should have your new attorney 


address this order immediately…” 


170. On August 14, 2025, Respondent provided to the ARDC a copy of his file relating 


to his representation of Singer. 


171. As of August 26, 2025, the date Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Panel voted to file a 


complaint in this matter, Respondent had not submitted any written response to the allegations set 


forth in Singer’s request for investigation or an itemized statement of any legal services he claimed 


to have provided on behalf of Singer to support his claim that he had earned the $7,500 retainer 


fee paid to him by Singer. 


172. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to take any 
substantive action on behalf of Singer in response to the motion 
to dismiss filed by the defendants, in violation of Rule 1.3 of the 
Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
b. failing to promptly inform the client of any decision or 


circumstance with respect to which the client’s informed consent 
is required, by conduct including failing to inform Singer that a 
motion to dismiss his claim had been filed or that his case had 
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been dismissed with prejudice, or that Respondent did not intend 
to appear in court on May 14, 2025, on his motion to vacate the 
dismissal order, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(1) of the Illinois 
Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to avoid foreseeable prejudice to the client after 


termination, by conduct including not appearing in court on May 
14, 2025, on the motion to vacate the dismissal order or filing a 
motion seeking leave to withdraw in case number in case 
number 2024 L 7539, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois 
Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
d. failure to respond to lawful demands for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide to 
the ARDC a written response to Singer’s request for 
investigation or to produce an itemized fee statement setting 
forth the services he provided to Singer, in violation of Rule 
8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct; and  


 
e. conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 


misrepresentation, by conduct including making false and 
misleading statements to Singer about the status of his claim, in 
violation of Rule 8.4(c) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010). 


 
COUNT VIII 


(Lack of Diligence and False Statements in the Legal Malpractice Matter  
of James and Christiana Sustr) 


 
173. On March 4, 2024, Respondent and James and Christiana Sustr agreed that 


Respondent would file a legal malpractice complaint against the law firm that previously 


represented the Sustrs in a dispute with an automobile dealer.  The Sustrs and Respondent agreed 


that Respondent would accept a contingency fee providing him one-third of any recovery he 


obtained on behalf of the Sustrs, and the Sustrs agreed to pay a $7,500 retainer that was “to be 


subtracted from the final fees due.”  The fee agreement also provided that the Sustrs would be 


responsible for any costs associated with their claim, but that “the Gooch firm will advance costs 


from the retainer with the exception of Expert Witness fees.”  On that same date, James Sustr paid 


Respondent $7,500 by credit card payment as Respondent’s requested retainer.   
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174. Several weeks after their initial meeting, the Sustrs telephoned Respondent, who 


told them that he expected to draft a complaint “in the following two weeks.” 


175. By email dated May 28, 2024, Christiana Sustr asked Respondent for a status 


update in their matter, to which Respondent replied that his schedule was “pretty open” and that 


he would get to their case “soon.” 


176. On June 4, 2024, and June 18, 2024, Christiana Sustr sent emails to Respondent 


requesting that Respondent inform the Sustrs of the status of their matter.  On June 19, 2024, 


Respondent replied to the Sustrs that they “were at the top of his list for complaints” and that he 


expected to have a draft completed over the weekend or early the following week. 


177. Between June 19, 2024, and August 14, 2024, Christiana Sustr left several 


telephone messages for Respondent with his staff and sent several emails requesting information 


about the status of the Sustrs’ case, but she did not receive any reply from Respondent. 


178. On August 14, 2024, James Sustr sent an email to Respondent describing the history 


of the Sustrs’ efforts to communicate with him and informing Respondent that due to what they 


considered to be Respondent’s failure to take any action on their behalf or to communicate with 


them, they intended to find a new lawyer.  James Sustr also requested that Respondent refund their 


$7,500 retainer fee.  By email on that same date, Respondent told James Sustr, “I’ll get it done.  I 


am back in the office on Monday full time.” 


179. On August 26, 2024, Respondent’s paralegal, Melissa Podgorski, sent a draft 


malpractice complaint to the Sustrs at their respective email addresses for their review. 


180. On August 27, 2024, Christiana Sustr sent an email to Respondent stating they had 


reviewed the draft complaint and suggesting multiple revisions to address errors that they believed 


were contained in that document. 
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181. As of October 18, 2024, Respondent had not filed a malpractice complaint against 


the Sustrs’ previous attorneys.  On or just before October 18, 2024, Christiana Sustr spoke to 


Respondent by telephone, and Respondent told her that he had filed a complaint on their behalf.   


182. Respondent’s statement to Christiana Sustr that he had filed a complaint on the 


Sustrs’ behalf was false and intended to mislead the Sustrs, because Respondent had not filed a 


malpractice complaint on their behalf. 


183. Respondent knew that his statement to Christiana Sustr was false at the time he 


made it because he knew that he had not filed a complaint on the Sustrs’ behalf.  


184. On October 18, 2024, Christiana Sustr called and spoke to Respondent and then 


followed up with an email to Respondent stating: “Thanks so much for taking my call today. Know 


you were driving, so wanted to send you an email to remind you to send Jim and I a copy of the 


final complaint you filed.  If you can let us know when the complaint was filed as well, we’d 


appreciate it.” 


185. On October 22, 2024, Christiana Sustr sent an email to Respondent stating: “As we 


discussed last Friday, can you please send me a copy of the final version of the complaint you filed 


on our behalf?  Also, if you can let us know the status of serving [a defendant], we would greatly 


appreciate it.”  Respondent did not reply. 


186. Between October 22, 2024, and January 22, 2025, the Sustrs periodically attempted 


to communicate with Respondent by telephone calls or text messages to his cell phone requesting 


information about the status of their matter, but they did not receive a response from Respondent. 


187. As of January 22, 2025, Respondent had not filed a malpractice complaint against 


the Sustrs’ prior attorneys.  On January 22, 2025, James Sustr repeatedly called Respondent’s 


office to communicate with Respondent, but he was not successful in reaching Respondent.  On 







45 
 


that same date, James Sustr sent an email to Respondent’s office stating, “It seems Tom Gooch 


has died or become incapacitated.  This must have been sudden because no one from the firm is 


aware that he had accepted my case and obtained $7500.00 from my wife. Accept [sic] for a few 


times he contacted my wife and continuously lied to her, she has not heard from him in close to a 


year.”  James Sustr then requested a refund of their $7,500 retainer. 


188. On January 23, 2025, James Sustr called Respondent’s office three times, and on 


the third time, Respondent answered the phone.  Following a verbal exchange, Respondent told 


James Sustr that he would create a bill for his services and refund any unearned portion of the 


Sustrs’ retainer to them, and he wished them “good luck getting any representation in this case.” 


189. As of January 29, 2025, Respondent had not sent the Sustrs an itemized statement 


of his legal services or a refund of any portion of their unearned retainer fee, and on that date, the 


Sustrs submitted a request for investigation of Respondent to the ARDC. 


190. By letter dated January 30, 2025, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent 


to respond to the request for investigation filed by the Sustrs and to include an itemized statement 


of services that he claimed to have provided to the Sustrs. 


191. On March 24, 2025, counsel for Respondent provided an invoice purporting to 


reflect that Respondent had spent 28.75 hours reviewing and researching the Sustr matter, with 


those services purportedly totaling $11,200.  Respondent did not provide a written response to the 


Sustrs’ request for investigation of his handling of their matter. 


192. By letter dated May 30, 2025, to counsel for Respondent, counsel for the 


Administrator reminded counsel for Respondent that Respondent had not responded to the Sustrs’ 


complaint and further requested that Respondent produce “a copy of [Respondent’s] complete file 


relating to his representation of Mr. Sustr, including any notes, copies of relevant caselaw or 
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statutes, other research materials, or memoranda of any research or his legal conclusions and other 


work product.” 


193. On August 4, 2025, Respondent produced a copy of his client file relating to his 


representation of the Sustrs.   


194. The legal services Respondent provided to the Sustrs do not justify his continued 


retention of the entire $7,500 fee payment. 


195. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Board voted to 


file a complaint be filed in this matter, Respondent has not submitted a written response to the 


Sustrs’ request for investigation or any work product that supports his contention that he provided 


28.5 hours of services to the Sustrs in their matter.   


196. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to file a 
malpractice complaint on behalf of the Sustrs, in violation of Rule 
1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); 


 
b. failing to keep the client reasonably informed about the status of the 


matter, by conduct including failing to respond to the Sustrs’ 
repeated requests for information regarding the status of their claim, 
in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(3) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to promptly comply with reasonable requests for 


information, by conduct including failing to respond to the Sustrs’ 
requests for information regarding the status of their claim and 
failing to return the Sustrs’ telephone calls, in violation of Rule 
1.4(a)(4) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
d. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing to 


return any portion of the $7,500 fee that Respondent received from 
the Sustrs, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct (2010);  
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e. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 
disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide to the 
ARDC a written response to the Sustrs’ request for investigation or 
proof of any research or other work he claimed to have done on their 
behalf, in violation of Rule 8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct; and 


 
f. conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, 


by falsely telling the Sustrs that he had filed a complaint on their 
behalf and would send them a copy of that complaint, in violation 
of Rule 8.4(c) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010).   


 
COUNT IX 


(Failing to Refund Unearned Fee in the Matter of Gregary Kulbartz) 
 


197. On or about February 25, 2024, Gregory Kulbartz met with Respondent to discuss 


a potential legal malpractice claim.  Respondent and Kulbartz agreed that Respondent would 


review the potential case and that Kulbartz would make three payments to Respondent totaling 


$10,000, at which time Respondent would initiate an action on behalf of Kulbartz.  The fee 


agreement Respondent prepared and gave Kulbartz stated, in part: “CLIENT understands that no 


work will be performed on CLIENT’S behalf until the retainer is paid in full and received by 


COUNSEL.” (Underlining and capitalization in original.)  


198. As of July 29, 2024, Kulbartz had paid only Respondent two-thirds, or $6,666, of 


Respondent’s requested $10,000 retainer. 


199. On July 31, 2024, Kulbartz sent an email to Respondent informing Respondent that 


he had determined not to proceed with the potential malpractice claim he had discussed with 


Respondent, asking Respondent not to take any action on his behalf, and requesting that his $6,666 


in fee payments be returned to him. 


200. By email dated August 2, 2024, at Respondent’s direction, Respondent’s paralegal, 


Melissa Podgorski, responded to Kulbartz’s request that his fee be returned to him, stating that 


“due to the amount of time in preparing for this matter at Tom’s hourly rate, your portion of the 
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retainer has been exhausted” and promising that an itemized bill of Respondent’s time would be 


sent to Kulbartz. 


201. Respondent never filed a complaint on Kulbartz’s behalf, never contacted the 


individuals Kulbartz discussed as potential defendants, and never made a demand on Kulbartz’s 


behalf or negotiated or obtained an offer to settle Kulbartz’s potential claims. 


202. After August 2, 2024, Respondent did not send any itemized bill to Kulbartz 


explaining the services he claimed to have performed or on what basis he believed he was entitled 


to charge any fee, contrary to the plain language of the fee agreement Respondent had prepared 


and given to Kulbartz, which stated no work would be performed until the retainer was paid in 


full. 


203. On April 7, 2025, Kulbartz sent a request for investigation of Respondent to the 


ARDC in connection with Respondent’s failure to refund the fees Kulbartz had paid Respondent.  


204. By letter dated April 8, 2025, to Respondent’s counsel, counsel for the 


Administrator asked Respondent to provide a response to Kulbartz’s request for investigation, to 


provide reconstructed time records showing the services he claimed to have provided and when, 


and to produce a copy his file relating to his representation of Kulbartz in connection with his legal 


matter, including any research, notes, memoranda of conclusions, and any other work product to 


support his contention that Respondent had earned the $6,666 fee paid by Kulbartz. 


205. By email dated April 10, 2025, counsel for the Administrator directed the attention 


of counsel for Respondent to the language of Respondent’s fee agreement that stated that 


Respondent would not provide any service to Kulbartz until his $10,000 retainer had been paid in 


full, and requested that Respondent “provide not only an itemization of the work he claims to have 


performed but also an explanation for how his claimed entitlement to any portion of the fees paid 
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by Mr. Kulbartz is consistent with the written agreement he prepared.”  Counsel for the 


Administrator reiterated that request in an April 23, 2025, letter to counsel for Respondent. 


206. By letter dated June 11, 2025, Respondent produced 1,426 pages of file materials 


relating to Kulbartz’s matter, all of which were documents and communications sent to 


Respondent by Kulbartz, with the exception of Respondent’s fee agreement with Kulbartz and the 


August 2, 2024, email from Respondent’s paralegal, Melissa Podgorski, to Kulbartz claiming that 


Kulbartz’s fee payments had been exhausted.  The file materials did not include any work product 


evidencing that Respondent had reviewed Kulbartz’s documents or conducted legal research 


related to Kulbartz’s possible claims. 


207. As of August 26, 2025, the date Panel C of the Inquiry Board voted to file a 


complaint in this matter, Respondent had not submitted any written response to the allegations set 


forth in Kulbartz’s request for investigation, or a response to ARDC counsel’s request that he 


address the inconsistency between his fee agreement and his claim that he had earned Kulbartz’s 


fee, an itemized statement of any legal services he claimed to have provided on behalf of Kulbartz, 


or any document, including work product, to support his paralegal’s contention to Kulbartz that 


Respondent had earned the $6,666 partial retainer fee paid to him by Kulbartz. 


208. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. charging or collecting an unreasonable fee, by conduct including 
collecting $6,666 in legal fees from Kulbartz and claiming he 
had earned those fees when his fee agreement provided that no 
work would be done until Kulbartz had paid him $10,000, in 
violation of Rule 1.5(a) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010); 
 


b. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing 
to return any portion of the $6,666 in legal fees that Respondent 
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received from Kulbartz, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the 
Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); and  


 
c. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide a 
written response to Kulbartz’s request for investigation to the 
ARDC or to counsel for the Administrator’s April 10, 2025, 
email, or to produce an itemized statement of his services to 
Kulbartz, in violation of Rule 8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct. 


 
COUNT X 


(Lack of Diligence and Failing to Refund Unearned Fee in the Matter of Dr. Todd Lendvay) 
 


209. On or about July 23, 2023, Respondent and Dr. Todd Lendvay agreed that 


Respondent would file a legal malpractice complaint against the attorneys who had previously 


represented Dr. Lendvay in a collection matter.  Dr. Lendvay and Respondent agreed that 


Respondent would accept a contingency fee providing him one-third of any recovery he obtained 


on behalf of Dr. Lendvay, and Dr. Lendvay agreed to pay an additional $5,000 retainer, which was 


to be subtracted from the final fees due to Respondent.  The fee agreement also provided that Dr. 


Lendvay would be responsible for the payment of any costs associated with his claim.  On that 


same date, Dr. Lendvay gave Respondent a $5,000 check, the proceeds of which represented 


payment in full of Respondent’s requested retainer. 


210. At the time of their initial meeting on July 21, 2023, Respondent told Dr. Lendvay 


that he would reduce his fee agreement with Dr. Lendvay to writing and send it to him.  Respondent 


never sent Dr. Lendvay a copy of a written fee agreement. 


211. On the following dates, Dr. Lendvay sent emails to Respondent asking him to 


provide information about the status of his matter: August 30, 2023; September 5, 2023; September 


15, 2023, September 19, 2023; October 10, 2023; October 12, 2023; October 26, 2023; October 


27, 2023; and October 31, 2023.  Respondent responded to only one of those emails, on October 







51 
 


31, 2023, when Respondent wrote: “Hi Todd I’ll call in the morning was on triasl [sic] last week 


till today we are moving along though.” 


212. On November 9, 2023, having received no phone call from Respondent, Dr. 


Lendvay sent Respondent an email asking, “What is going on with [the] malpractice case? It’s 


been 5 months.”  Respondent did not respond to Dr. Lendvay, although he was aware of his client’s 


request for information. 


213. On April 19, 2024, Dr. Lendvay sent an email to Respondent terminating 


Respondent’s services and requesting a refund of the $5,000 retainer payment he had made.  


Respondent received Dr. Lendvay’s email but, as of April 23, 2024, had not responded to it. 


214. On April 23, 2024, having received no response from Respondent, Dr. Lendvay 


sent an email to Respondent informing him that he had obtained new counsel and again asking for 


his $5,000 retainer payment to be refunded.  Respondent received Dr. Lendvay’s email but, as of 


May 9, 2024, had not responded to it. 


215. On May 9, 2024, Respondent and Dr. Lendvay spoke by telephone, and Respondent 


told Dr. Lendvay that he would call him on May 13, 2024, to discuss a refund.  As of May 16, 


2024, Respondent had not called Dr. Lendvay. 


216. On May 16, 2024, Dr. Lendvay sent an email to Respondent asking Respondent to 


contact him.  As of May 29, 2024, Respondent had not responded to the email from Dr. Lendvay, 


although he was aware of Dr. Lendvay’s request. 


217. On May 29, 2024, Dr. Lendvay sent a request for investigation of Respondent to 


the ARDC. Counsel for the Administrator requested that Respondent submit a response to Dr. 


Lendvay’s allegations that Dr. Lendvay had not received any legal services for the $5,000 retainer 


that he had paid to Respondent. 
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218. On October 13, 2024, Respondent responded to Dr. Lendvay’s request for 


investigation stating that he believed he had expended at least four hours of time on Dr. Lendvay’s 


matter and earned at least $1,600 and further stating that Respondent “would agree to pay the 


difference together with interest at the rate of 9% from the date [Dr. Lendvay] paid me.”  


219. By email dated October 31, 2024, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent 


to provide him with a copy of Respondent’s fee agreement relating to his representation of Dr. 


Lendvay, if any agreement had been prepared by Respondent.  At no time did Respondent provide 


a copy of any fee agreement to the ARDC or to Dr. Lendvay. 


220. By letter dated December 12, 2024, counsel for the Administrator asked 


Respondent to provide evidence that he had refunded any unearned fees to Dr. Lendvay, per 


Respondent’s October 13, 2024, letter offering to make that refund.  


221. By letter dated March 4, 2025, counsel for Respondent stated: “The parties agreed 


that Mr. Gooch would refund $3,500 of the retainer in $1,000 monthly payments. Due to medical 


issues requiring hospitalization, he was unable to do this, but he will commence this refund in 


March 2025.” 


222. On March 24, 2025, Respondent provided a recreated record of the services he 


claimed to have provided on behalf of Dr. Lendvay, in which Respondent claimed that he had 


earned $3,100 by expending 7.75 hours reviewing documents provided to him by Dr. Lendvay, 


rather than the $1,600 he had previously claimed on October 13, 2024.  Respondent did not provide 


any additional services to Dr. Lendvay between the date he agreed to refund $3,400 and the date 


he submitted the recreated time records to the ARDC.   


223. On March 28, 2025, the ARDC sent a copy of Respondent’s recreated invoice to 


Dr. Lendvay, who replied by disputing Respondent’s claim to additional fees and asking the 
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ARDC to inform Respondent that Dr. Lendvay was no longer willing to accept a partial refund 


and wanted his $5,000 retainer payment refunded in full. 


224. On May 30, 2025, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent to provide 


documentation that he had made a refund to Dr. Lendvay, pursuant to his previous agreement to 


refund $3,400.  By letter dated June 25, 2025, Respondent responded, “NEED PROOF WE HAVE 


WRITTEN AGREEMENT.” (Emphasis in original.) 


225. On August 4, 2025, Respondent produced 255 pages of file materials relating to 


Dr. Lendvay’s case.  The file materials did not include any work product evidencing that 


Respondent had reviewed Dr. Lendvay’s documents or conducted legal research related to Dr. 


Lendvay’s claims. 


226. The services Respondent provided Dr. Lendvay, if any, do not justify his continued 


retention of the $5,000 retainer fee that Dr. Lendvay paid him.  


227. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Board voted to 


file a complaint in this matter, Respondent had not refunded any portion of Dr. Lendvay’s $5,000 


retainer fee. 


228. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to reduce his contingency fee agreement with Dr. 
Lendvay to writing, in violation of Rule 1.5(2) of the Illinois 
Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); and 
 


b. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing 
to return any portion of the $5,000 fee that Respondent received 
from Dr. Lendvay and had agreed to refund in part, in violation 
of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct 
(2010). 
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COUNT XI 
(Failing to Provide an Accounting or to Refund Unused Costs  


Paid in Advance in the Matter of Paul Dulberg) 
 


229. On or about December 16, 2016, Respondent and Paul Dulberg agreed that 


Respondent would pursue various claims against Dulberg’s previous attorneys for the work those 


attorneys had done relating to their representation of Dulberg in a personal injury matter.  Dulberg 


and Respondent agreed that Respondent would accept a contingency fee providing him 25% of 


any recovery he obtained on behalf of Dulberg, and Dulberg also agreed to pay a $10,000 retainer, 


to be subtracted from the final recovery.  The fee agreement also provided that Dulberg would be 


responsible for any costs associated with his claim.  On that same date, Dulberg paid Respondent 


$10,000 by check as his retainer. 


230. On November 22, 2017, Dulberg paid Respondent $5,000 towards the anticipated 


costs to be incurred in the case.  The payment was memorialized in Respondent’s file by his then- 


paralegal, Margaret Buckley, who sent an email to Respondent that the funds had been provided 


by Dulberg at Respondent’s request for “filing and service fees, and expert fees.  He said to just 


take it and deduct his costs from it until it’s gone and let him know what we are doing with it. He 


said he has had to pay for doctors to testify before and will do so again if need be, he is serious 


about this.” 


231. On December 6, 2017, a member of Respondent’s staff emailed an invoice to 


Dulberg for $480 for filing fees in connection with a pleading filed by The Gooch Firm in the 


Circuit Court of McHenry County. 


232. On January 5, 2018, a member of Respondent’s staff emailed an invoice to Dulberg 


for $135.30 for costs associated with service of process. 
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233. At no time did Respondent obtain the services of an expert in Dulberg’s matter, and 


Respondent did not incur any additional costs in his representation of Dulberg beyond the $615.30 


in total costs as described above.  


234. On October 8, 2018, Dulberg discharged Respondent, and requested that 


Respondent provide him with “an itemized receipt for all services rendered” and account for the 


funds he paid to Respondent’s office for fees and costs. 


235. As of November 8, 2023, Respondent had not refunded to Dulberg or accounted 


for the unaccounted portion of the cost payment tendered to Respondent by Dulberg on November 


22, 2017, which was $4,384.70.  


236. At no time did Respondent request or receive Dulberg’s authority to apply the funds 


that Dulberg had advanced Respondent for the purpose of paying costs to any outstanding fee 


balance. 


237. On November 8, 2023, Dulberg filed a request for investigation of Respondent with 


the ARDC, alleging, in part, that the $5,000 in costs were intended to be used, at least in part, to 


pay for the services of an expert witness, and since Respondent had not obtained an expert, Dulberg 


expected a refund of the unearned portion of the $5,000 in costs that Dulberg had advanced him. 


238. By letters dated March 10, 2025, and May 30, 2025, counsel for the Administrator 


asked Respondent to specifically address the matter of the unused costs paid in advance by Dulberg 


by either producing additional invoices to establish that funds had been expended on Dulberg’s 


behalf or by producing monthly statements from Respondent’s IOLTA account to establish that he 


had been holding Dulberg’s funds separate from his own property.   


239. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Board voted a 


complaint in this matter, Respondent had not refunded any portion of the $5,000 in costs paid to 
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him by Dulberg, nor had he produced any document responsive to the ARDC’s requests to justify 


his continued retention of those funds or to establish that the funds had been held separate from 


Respondent’s own property.   


240. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to refund the unused portion of costs advanced to him by a 
client, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct (2010); and 
 


b. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 
disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to produce an 
accounting of Dulberg’s cost payments or the requested financial 
records relating to his IOLTA account establishing that the funds 
had been held separately from Respondent’s own property, in 
violation of Rule 8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct. 


 
COUNT XII 


(Lack of Diligence and False Statements in the Legal Malpractice Matter  
of Loch Lomond Property Owners Association) 


 
241. On January 4, 2024, Respondent and a representative of Loch Lomond Property 


Owners Association (“LLPOA”) agreed that Respondent would represent LLPOA in a legal 


malpractice claim against LLPOA’s former lawyers.  LLPOA and Respondent agreed that 


Respondent would accept a contingency fee providing him one-third of any recovery he obtained 


on behalf of LLPOA, and LLPOA agreed to pay a $10,000 retainer that was “to be subtracted from 


initial billings until exhausted.”  The fee agreement also provided that LLPOA would be 


responsible for any costs associated with the claim.  On that same date, LLPOA’s representative 


paid Respondent $10,000 by a cashier’s check purchased with funds drawn on LLPOA’s account. 


242. On January 5, 2024, Respondent filed a complaint on behalf of LLPOA in the 


Circuit Court of Cook County to initiate the matter entitled Loch Lomond Property Owners 
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Association v. Kovitz, Shifrin and Nesbit.  The clerk of the court assigned the matter case number 


2024 L 218.  Respondent issued a summons that same day. 


243. At all times alleged in this complaint, Illinois Supreme Court Rule 102(a) provided 


that: “Promptly upon issuance, summons (together with copies of the complaint as required by 


Rule 104) shall be placed for service with the sheriff or other officer or person authorized to serve 


process.” 


244. At all times alleged in this complaint, Illinois Supreme Court Rule 103(b) provided 


that: “If the plaintiff fails to exercise reasonable diligence to obtain service on a defendant prior to 


the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the action as to that defendant may be 


dismissed without prejudice. If the failure to exercise reasonable diligence to obtain service on a 


defendant occurs after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the dismissal shall be 


with prejudice as to that defendant only and shall not bar any claim against any other party based 


on vicarious liability for that dismissed defendant’s conduct. The dismissal may be made on the 


application of any party or on the court’s own motion. In considering the exercise of reasonable 


diligence, the court shall review the totality of the circumstances, including both lack of reasonable 


diligence in any previous case voluntarily dismissed or dismissed for want of prosecution, and the 


exercise of reasonable diligence in obtaining service in any case refiled under section 13-217 of 


the Code of Civil Procedure.” 


245. As of March 6, 2024, the defendant had not been served with the complaint in case 


number 2024 L 218, and on that date, the Hon. Thomas More Donnelly ordered that Respondent 


serve the complaint on the defendant law firm by May 6, 2024.   


246.  As of April 15, 2024, the defendant law firm had not been served with the 


complaint in case number 2024 L 218, and on that date Judge Donnelly ordered that Respondent 
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serve the complaint on the defendant by May 6, 2024 “or this matter may be dismissed pursuant 


to [Rule 103(b)].”  Judge Donnelly scheduled a videoconference hearing for May 17, 2024, “[i]f 


service is effectuated.” 


247. Respondent did not serve the defendant in case number 2024 L 218 by May 6, 2024.  


On May 10, 2024, Respondent caused an alias summons to be issued in the case. 


248. On May 15, 2024, the defendant law firm was served with the complaint, and on 


May 16, 2024, the day before the hearing set by Judge Donnelly, Respondent filed a motion for 


substitution of judge as a matter of right.  Judge Donnelly canceled the status hearing scheduled 


for May 17, 2024, and on May 20, 2024, entered an order granting Respondent’s motion for 


substitution of judge in case number 2024 L 218.  By order on May 16, 2024, the Hon. Kathy 


Flanagan, supervising judge of the Law Division, reassigned case number 2024 L 218 to the Hon. 


Patrick Sherlock and scheduled a status hearing for June 12, 2024. 


249. On June 11, 2024, counsel for the defendant law firm filed a motion in case number 


2024 L 218 requesting additional time to answer or otherwise plead to the complaint. 


250. By order on June 12, 2024, Judge Sherlock allowed the defendant law firm 


additional time to plead until July 10, 2024, and scheduled a status hearing in case number 2024 L 


218 for July 15, 2024. 


251. On July 10, 2024, counsel for the defendant law firm filed a motion to dismiss the 


complaint in case number 2024 L 218 with prejudice pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 


103(b), arguing that Respondent had not exercised reasonable diligence in obtaining service, in 


that: the 131-day delay in effectuating service between the date of filing the case and the date of 


service constituted a failure to exercise reasonable diligence; Respondent never placed the original 


summons with the Cook County Sheriff for service; the original summons and the alias summons 
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filed by Respondent listed the same address for the defendant law firm; the law firm was an easy 


defendant to locate; the complaint arose from litigation that LLPOA had been considering since at 


least November 1, 2019; Judge Donnelly had expressly ordered Respondent twice to serve the 


defendant by May 6, 2024; and Respondent moved for a substitution of judge one day before the 


next court appearance before Judge Donnelly.  Counsel for the defendant law firm scheduled their 


motion to dismiss to be heard on July 15, 2024, and served Respondent by mail and by email at 


gooch@goochfirm.com and office@goochfirm.com. 


252. On July 15, 2024, Respondent did not appear for the status hearing in case number 


2024 L 218.  Counsel for the defendant law firm appeared.  Judge Sherlock ordered Respondent 


to file a response to the motion to dismiss by August 5, 2024, and directed the defendant law firm 


to file any reply by August 12, 2024.  Judge Sherlock scheduled a hearing on the motion to dismiss 


via videoconference for September 9, 2024. 


253. Respondent did not file a response to the motion to dismiss by August 5, 2024.   


254. On August 9, 2024, counsel for the defendant law firm filed and served Respondent 


with a reply in support of its motion to dismiss. 


255. On August 14, 2024, Respondent filed a motion for additional time to file a 


response to the motion to dismiss, citing having been “largely bedridden during the month of July 


and beginning of August awaiting a scheduled invasive surgical procedure.”  Judge Sherlock 


scheduled Respondent’s motion for additional time to be heard on August 26, 2024. 


256. On August 26, 2024, Respondent did not appear when case 2024 L 218 was called.  


Over the objection of defense counsel, who was present, Judge Sherlock granted Respondent’s 


request for additional time and allowed Respondent until September 5, 2024, to file a response to 
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the motion to dismiss, gave the defendant law firm until September 12, 2024, to reply, and 


scheduled a date for ruling on the motion to dismiss for October 2, 2024, via videoconference. 


257. Respondent did not file a response to the motion to dismiss by September 5, 2024, 


and on September 12, 2024, counsel for the defendant law firm filed a renewed reply in support of 


their motion to dismiss the complaint. 


258. As of October 2, 2024, Respondent still had not filed a response to the defendant 


law firm’s motion to dismiss the complaint.  On that date, all parties were present for the video 


hearing on the motion to dismiss before Judge Sherlock in case 2024 L 218.  Respondent made an 


oral motion seeking additional time to respond to the defendant law firm’s motion to dismiss, 


which Judge Sherlock granted over defense counsel’s objection.  Judge Sherlock also entered an 


order allowing Respondent until October 16, 2024, to file his response to the motion to dismiss, 


giving defense counsel to October 23, 2024, to reply, and rescheduling his ruling on the motion 


for November 8, 2024. 


259. As of October 16, 2024, Respondent had not filed a response to the motion to 


dismiss the complaint in case number 2024 L 218.  On October 23, 2024, counsel for the defendant 


law firm filed their second renewed reply in support of the motion to dismiss. 


260. On November 8, 2024, all parties were present for the video hearing on the motion 


to dismiss the complaint before Judge Sherlock in case number 2024 L 218.  At that time, 


Respondent made another oral motion seeking additional time to respond to the defendant law 


firm’s motion to dismiss, which Judge Sherlock granted over defense counsel’s objection.  Judge 


Sherlock entered an order allowing Respondent a final extension, until December 6, 2024, to file 


his response to the motion to dismiss, and allowing defense counsel to December 20, 2024, to file 


a reply.  Finally, Judge Sherlock rescheduled his ruling on the motion for January 8, 2025. 
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261. As of December 20, 2024, Respondent had not filed a response to the motion to 


dismiss in case number 2024 L 218.  On December 20, 2024, counsel for the law firm filed another 


renewed reply in support of their motion to dismiss, scheduled the matter to be heard at the January 


8, 2024, court date, and provided notice of the hearing to Respondent by email. 


262. Between July 10, 2024, and January 2, 2025, Respondent did not inform any 


representative at LLPOA that the defendant law firm had filed a motion to dismiss the complaint 


in case number 2024 L 218, that he had sought and received multiple extensions to respond to that 


motion but never filed a response, or that a hearing on the motion to dismiss had been continued 


several times, with a final date of January 8, 2025. 


263. On January 2, 2025, LLPOA’s secretary sent an email to Respondent informing 


him that Marty Szostak had recently been elected to LLPOA’s board and would serve as 


Respondent’s point of contact with LLPOA going forward. 


264. As of January 8, 2025, Respondent had not filed a response to the motion to dismiss 


the complaint in case number 2024 L 218.  On that date, Respondent did not appear when case 


number 2024 L 218 was called for hearing, and Judge Sherlock granted the defendant law firm’s 


motion and dismissed the complaint. 


265. After January 8, 2025, Respondent took no further action on behalf of LLPOA to 


request reconsideration or review of the order dismissing case number 2024 L 218. 


266. In January 2025, after case number 2024 L 218 had been dismissed, Szostak called 


Respondent to request information about the status of LLPOA’s legal malpractice claim.  During 


that telephone conversation, Respondent acknowledged that the complaint he had filed had been 


dismissed but attributed the dismissal to an inability to serve the defendant law firm rather than 


Respondent’s own failure to respond to the motion to dismiss the complaint.    
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267. After learning that the complaint in case number 2024 L 218 had been dismissed 


following Respondent’s failure to respond to a motion to dismiss, Szostak discharged Respondent 


as counsel for LLPOA, and by email dated February 14, 2025, March 4, 2025, March 21, 2025, 


and April 30, 2025, requested an itemized statement of services Respondent claimed to have 


performed, and a refund of the unearned portion of the $10,000 retainer LLPOA had paid to 


Respondent.  By email dated April 30, 2025, Respondent replied to Szostak, in part, that “you will 


have your invoice prior to May 9, 2025.” 


268. As of May 23, 2025, Respondent had not provided any itemized statement 


describing the legal services he claimed to have provided to LLPOA, made any refund, or provided 


any further communication to LLPOA, and on that date, Szostak filed a request that the ARDC 


investigate Respondent’s handling of LLPOA’s claims against its previous counsel. 


269. By letter dated May 29, 2025, to Respondent’s counsel, counsel for the 


Administrator requested that Respondent provide a written response to Szostak’s request for 


investigation.  By letter dated May 30, 2025, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent to 


provide an itemized statement of his claimed services relating to his representation of Szostak and 


LLPOA. 


270. On August 6, 2025, Respondent produced to the ARDC a copy of his file relating 


to his representation of LLPOA. 


271. The services Respondent provided to LLPOA do not justify his retention of the 


entire $10,000 payment he was paid. 


272. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the Inquiry Board voted to file a 


complaint in this matter, Respondent had not submitted a response to the ARDC to the request for 
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investigation filed by Szostak, an itemized billing statement to the ARDC or to Szostak or LLPOA, 


or a refund of any portion of the $10,000 retainer delivered to him by Szostak in January 2024. 


273. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to timely 
respond to the motion to dismiss filed by the defendant law firm 
in case 2024 L 248, in violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules 
of Professional Conduct (2010); 


 
b. failing to keep the client reasonably informed about the status of 


the matter, by conduct including failing to respond to Szostak’s 
repeated requests for information regarding the status of 
LLPOA’s claim or to respond to Szostak’s request for an 
itemized statement of services or his request for a refund, in 
violation of Rule 1.4(a)(3) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing 


to return any portion of the $10,000 fee that Respondent 
received from LLPOA, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the 
Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
d. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide to 
the ARDC a written response to Szostak’s request for 
investigation or to produce an itemized fee statement setting 
forth the services he provided to LLPOA, in violation of Rule 
8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct; and  


 
e. conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or 


misrepresentation, by statements to Szostak falsely attributing 
the dismissal of the complaint to service of the complaint instead 
of his failure to respond to a motion to dismiss, in violation of 
Rule 8.4(c) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010). 


 
COUNT XIII 


(Lack of Diligence in the Legal Malpractice Matter of Jeremy Porter) 
 
274. On April 5, 2021, Respondent and Jeremy Porter agreed that Respondent would file 


a legal malpractice complaint against Porter’s former attorney relating to that attorney’s 
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representation of Porter in a personal injury matter.  Porter and Respondent agreed that 


Respondent’s receipt of a fee would be contingent on the recovery of an award or settlement and 


would be one-third of any recovery he obtained on behalf of Porter.  The written fee agreement 


Respondent prepared also provided that Porter would pay a $7,500 retainer, to “be applied against 


actual legal services…and any unused portion shall be refunded to client.”  The fee agreement also 


provided that Porter would be responsible for any costs associated with his claim.  On or about 


April 26, 2021, Porter paid Respondent $7,500 by credit card.   


275. On October 8, 2021, Respondent filed a legal malpractice claim in the Circuit Court 


of Cook County to initiate the matter entitled Jeremy Porter v. Edmund J. Scanlon and Scanlon 


Law Group.  The clerk of the court assigned the matter case number 2021 L 9944.  Counsel for 


the defendants filed an answer and affirmative defenses to the complaint on January 12, 2022, and 


subsequently requested a change of venue from Cook County to Kane County or Kendall County. 


276. On February 25, 2022, Respondent, or his then-associate, Sabina Walczyk, filed a 


response to the defendants’ request for a venue change, and on June 6, 2022, after defense counsel 


filed a reply to that response, the Hon. Karen L. O’Malley entered an order in case number 2021 


L 9944 that denied the defendants’ motion. 


277. In July 2022, the defendants served Rule 213 written interrogatories and Rule 214 


requests for production on Respondent in case number 2021 L 9944.  As of January 5, 2023, those 


requests remained outstanding, and the defendants filed a motion to compel Porter to answer 


discovery and a request to reschedule mandatory arbitration.  In their motion, the defendants cited 


Respondent’s failure to provide defense counsel with a signed HIPAA order or list of treating 


physicians for Porter, or to comply with their discovery requests, and cited several alleged 


promises by Respondent to comply, although he had not followed through with those promises.    
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278. On January 18, 2023, in response to Respondent’s request, Porter sent Respondent 


his draft responses to the defendants’ interrogatories, a signed declaration of completeness, and a 


list of potential witnesses.  By emails dated January 25, 2023, and February 21, 2023, Porter asked 


Respondent to contact him to review the draft interrogatory responses.  Respondent did not reply 


to Porter’s emailed requests. 


279. As of February 10, 2023, Respondent had not responded to the defendants’ motion 


to compel or complied with their discovery requests, and by order on that date, Judge O’Malley 


granted the motion to compel and ordered that Respondent answer all discovery requests and 


provide a treating physician’s list and a HIPAA proposed order.  


280. On March 10, 2023, the defendants’ counsel filed another motion to compel in case 


number 2021 L 9944, citing Respondent’s continued failure to follow through on his promises to 


comply with discovery, and by order dated March 20, 2023, Judge O’Malley granted that motion 


to compel and allowed Respondent until April 10, 2023, to answer the outstanding discovery 


requests or be subjected to sanctions. 


281. As of April 10, 2023, Respondent had not complied with discovery, and on April 


13, 2023, counsel for the defendants filed a third motion to compel Porter’s answers to discovery 


in case number 2021 L 9944.  Judge O’Malley scheduled the motion to be heard via 


videoconference on May 2, 2023. 


282. As of May 2, 2023, Respondent had not responded to the third motion to compel or 


complied with the defendant’s discovery requests, and by order on that date, Judge O’Malley 


granted the defendants’ third motion to compel, gave Respondent a final deadline of May 23, 2023, 


to comply with discovery, barred Respondent from issuing written discovery to the defendants, 


and ordered Porter to present himself for deposition by June 16, 2023.  
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283. On May 23, 2023, Respondent sent Porter an email asking him to sign an affidavit 


of completeness regarding discovery and a list of witnesses.  The affidavit of completeness 


purported to assert that Porter had personally reviewed all documents in response to the 


defendants’ first set of requests for production and could verify that it was complete, and that 


Porter certified that the answers he provided in his interrogatories were true and correct.  By email 


on May 24, 2023, Porter submitted a list of personal and medical witnesses and the signed affidavit 


of completeness to Respondent.   


284. Between June 16, 2023, and September 21, 2023, Respondent sought and received 


extensions from the defendants’ counsel to complete discovery, including rescheduling Porter’s 


deposition.  


285. On September 21, 2023, counsel for the defendants filed a motion for an extension 


of time to complete discovery in case number 2021 L 9944, based in part on the cancellation of 


Porter’s deposition, which had been rescheduled for August 23, 2023, as well as the parties’ 


inability to agree on a new date for the deposition due in part to Respondent’s unavailability.   


286. By order dated October 4, 2023, the Hon. John J. Curry, Jr., granted the defendant’s 


motion for an extension of time to complete discovery, ordered the parties to complete witness 


discovery by January 12, 2024, and ordered Porter to file his witness disclosures by February 2, 


2024, with all dates being final.  Judge Curry scheduled a status hearing for February 22, 2024. 


287. On October 26, 2023, Porter sent an email to Respondent asking for an update on 


the status of the malpractice case, in which he stated, “I am concerned we are not moving things 


forward.  It has been 5 months since I was supposed to have my deposition.”  Respondent replied, 


in part, “We are moving it along.  We have to finished [sic] your written discovery with complete 


info,” to which Porter responded with dates he had submitted completed interrogatories to 
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Respondent and provided Respondent with information about the medical providers that 


Respondent needed to subpoena to obtain additional information about Porter’s injuries.  Porter 


continued by stating, in part, “It is now October 26, 2023, and I am just finding out you need more 


information.”  At Respondent’s direction, Respondent’s paralegal then sent an email to Porter on 


that same date stating, “Nothing was missed. The other side filed an extension. Judge approved it 


for more time. Nothing can be done until we get dates from them to coincide with ours.”  At no 


time did Respondent inform Porter that the basis for the defendant’s request for an extension had 


been Respondent’s inability to reschedule Porter’s deposition due to Respondent’s unavailability. 


288. By emails dated November 3, 2023, and November 14, 2023, Porter asked 


Respondent to contact him to provide him with status information or to schedule a meeting to 


discuss the case. 


289. By email on November 14, 2023, at Respondent’s direction, Respondent’s 


paralegal informed Porter that Judge Curry had granted the motion for an extension of time that 


had been filed by the defendants in case number 2021 L 9944, that new discovery dates had been 


scheduled, and that a status hearing had been set for February 22, 2024.  Respondent’s paralegal 


then told Porter, “We’ll be in touch regarding discovery.” 


290. On December 15, 2023, Respondent filed a motion to voluntarily dismiss case 


number 2021 L 9944 pursuant to 735 ILCS 5/2-1009, seeking the case’s dismissal, without 


prejudice, with leave to refile.  On December 18, 2023, Respondent’s motion was granted by the 


court.  Prior to filing the motion to voluntarily dismiss the case, Respondent had not informed 


Porter that he intended to file the motion, nor did he receive Porter’s authority to take that action.  


Respondent also did not tell Porter that the motion had been allowed or that the case had been 


dismissed. 
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291. On February 12, 2024, Porter sent an email to Respondent stating, “Just following 


up on this.  Dates are now passed and we have not discussed. Was another extension granted?”  


Respondent received his client’s request for information but did not respond to Porter’s email.  


292. On July 9, 2024, Respondent refiled a complaint on behalf of Porter in the Circuit 


Court of Cook County under the same title.  The clerk of the court assigned the refiled matter case 


number 2024 L 7547.  Respondent did not inform Porter that he had refiled the case or provide 


Porter with the new case number.  Case number 2024 L 7547 was scheduled for an initial case 


management court date on September 11, 2024, via videoconference.  Respondent was notified of 


the online court date by email to his business email address, gooch@goochfirm.com.   


293. On July 30, 2024, Porter sent Respondent a text message asking Respondent to 


provide him with status information about his case.  Respondent replied that he had undergone a 


medical procedure the prior day and that he intended to provide information to Porter “by end of 


week.”  As of September 11, 2024, Respondent had not contacted Porter to provide him with any 


further information about the case.  


294. On September 11, 2024, Respondent did not appear for the initial case management 


hearing in the refiled malpractice case.  By order dated September 11, 2024, a copy of which was 


emailed to Respondent at gooch@goochfirm.com, the Hon. Kathy Flanagan rescheduled case 


number 2024 L 7547 for a case management call via videoconference on October 3, 2024. 


295. By text messages to Respondent on September 13, 2024, and September 28, 2024, 


Porter requested information about the status of his matter.  Respondent was aware of Porter’s 


requests for information but did not reply to the messages. 


296. On October 3, 2024, neither Respondent nor Porter appeared at the videoconference 


meeting for the case management hearing in case number 2024 L 7547, and the Hon. Anthony 
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Swanagan dismissed the matter for want of prosecution.  Porter was still unaware that his claim 


had been refiled under a new case number, and after October 3, 2024, Respondent did not inform 


Porter that his matter had been dismissed for want of prosecution. 


297. By text message on October 23, 2024, Porter requested information from 


Respondent about the status of the case he mistakenly believed was still pending.  Respondent 


replied, “Yes I’m sorry I will call you tomorrow.”  As of November 12, 2024, Respondent had not 


called Porter, and on that date, Porter sent a text message to Respondent stating, “Hi Tom, still 


trying to connect about my case.  Is everything OK?” to which Respondent replied, “Sorry 


mornings are always in court today is all day.” 


298. On November 14, 2024, Porter sent Respondent a text message requesting 


information about the status of his matter, to which Respondent did not reply. 


299. On November 14, 2024, Porter telephoned Respondent on Respondent’s cell phone, 


at which time Respondent told Porter that he could not really hear Porter and that Porter should 


call Respondent at his office the following day.  Porter called Respondent’s office on November 


15, 2024, and left him a message but did not receive a return call.  Around November 18, 2024, 


Porter again called Respondent’s cell phone, at which time Respondent answered Porter’s call and 


said he needed to check on the status of Porter’s case when he got back to his office.  Respondent 


did not call Porter after November 18, 2024. 


300. Between December 13, 2024, and April 23, 2025, Porter sent five additional text 


messages requesting information about the status of his case, to which Respondent did not reply. 


301. As of May 30, 2025, Porter had not received any further communication from 


Respondent, and on that date, Porter filed a request for investigation of Respondent with the 


ARDC. 
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302. By letter dated June 2, 2025, to counsel for Respondent, counsel for the 


Administrator asked Respondent to provide a written response to Porter’s allegations, along with 


a copy of his complete file relating to his representation of Porter and an itemized statement of any 


legal services that Respondent claimed to have performed on Porter’s behalf. 


303. On August 14, 2025, Respondent provided to the ARDC a copy of his file relating 


to his representation of Porter.   


304. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the Inquiry Board voted to file a 


complaint against Respondent in this matter, Respondent had not provided any written response 


relating to Porter’s request for investigation to the ARDC or an itemization of any legal services 


he claimed to have provided on Porter’s behalf.   


305. At no time did Respondent ever inform Porter that case number 2021 L 9944 had 


been dismissed, that Respondent had refiled the matter as case number 2024 L 7547, or that the 


refiled case had been dismissed for want of prosecution on October 3, 2024. 


306. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to diligently 
complete or pursue discovery in case number 2021 L 9944, 
resulting in Respondent’s decision to seek the voluntary 
dismissal of that case, then failing to participate in the refiled 
case number 2024 L 7547, resulting in its dismissal and failing 
to take any action on behalf of Porter to reinstate his claims, in 
violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010);  


 
b. failing to promptly inform the client of any decision or 


circumstance with respect to which the client’s informed consent 
was required, by conduct including failing to inform Porter that 
he had filed a motion to voluntarily dismiss case number 2021 L 
9944 or refiled Porter’s claim under case number 2024 L 7547, 
or that case number 2024 L 7547 had been dismissed for want 
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of prosecution, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(1) of the Illinois Rules 
of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to respond to Porter’s repeated requests for information 


regarding the status of his claim, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(3) 
of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); and 


 
d. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide to 
the ARDC a written response to Porter’s request for 
investigation or to produce an itemized fee statement setting 
forth the services he provided to Porter, in violation of Rule 
8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct. 


 
COUNT XIV 


(Lack of Diligence and Failure to Refund Unearned Fees in the  
Civil Matter of Victoria O’Donnell) 


 
307. On August 21, 2018, the Patterson Law Firm LLC filed a complaint on behalf of 


Victoria O’Donnell, as owner of Passion Transportation, Inc., in the Circuit Court of Kane County, 


which was docketed as case number 2018 L 466, and entitled Passion Transportation, Inc. v. 


McAllen Enterprises et al.  On October 3, 2018, the Patterson Law Firm withdrew as counsel for 


O’Donnell’s company in case number 2018 L 466. 


308. On January 10, 2019, O’Donnell appeared pro se in case number 2018 L 466 before 


the Hon. Susan Clancy-Bowles and stated that she intended to find a new attorney.  Judge Clancy-


Bowles scheduled the matter for January 24, 2019, asking O’Donnell to appear on that date with 


her new attorney or appear pro se.  On January 24, 2019, O’Donnell appeared pro se in case 


number 2018 L 466 and requested that her case be dismissed without prejudice, with the intention 


of refiling her claim.   


309. On August 29, 2022, Respondent and O’Donnell met to discuss the dismissed case, 


and Respondent told O’Donnell that the case had originally been filed in the wrong jurisdiction 


and should be refiled in another county.  Respondent told O’Donnell that although the one-year 
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statutory period to refile a complaint following a dismissal had passed, he believed that he could 


still refile her company’s claims against the defendants in another jurisdiction.  Respondent 


provided a fee agreement to O’Donnell that incorrectly stated that Respondent had agreed to 


represent O’Donnell in a legal malpractice complaint against the Patterson Law Firm relating to 


that firm’s representation of O’Donnell in the original case.  O’Donnell and Respondent agreed 


that Respondent would accept a contingency fee providing Respondent one-third of any recovery 


he obtained on behalf of O’Donnell, and O’Donnell also agreed to pay a $10,000 retainer, with 


$5,000 to be paid by August 29, 2022, and the remaining $5,000 to be paid by November 29, 2022.  


The agreement provided that the retainer payment “secure[d]…representation through the 


conclusion of the matter” and that “any unused or unbilled portion of the advance payment retainer 


will be returned to the client.”  The fee agreement also provided that O’Donnell would be 


responsible for any costs associated with her claim.   


310. On September 6, 2022, O’Donnell made her initial payment to Respondent by 


check in the amount of $5,000.  On November 20, 2022, O’Donnell gave Respondent a second 


check in the amount of $5,000, as the remainder of the $10,000 retainer fee Respondent had 


requested. 


311. Prior to January 4, 2023, Respondent asked O’Donnell to provide him with a copy 


of the file materials the Patterson Law Firm had provided to her on a thumb drive, which she did 


shortly thereafter.  By email to Respondent on January 4, 2023, O’Donnell stated, “You mentioned 


reviewing what was on [the thumb drive] and said you’d get back with me to discuss.”  Respondent 


asked O’Donnell to locate a contractor employee of one of the defendants, whom he stated that he 


intended to serve.  
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312. By email dated January 20, 2023, to Respondent, O’Donnell provided Respondent 


with information about the contractor employee that Respondent had requested and told 


Respondent that she had a medical procedure scheduled for January 27, 2023.  O’Donnell was not 


released from hospital care until March 9, 2023.   


313. On March 4, 2023, March 24, 2023, April 2, 2023, April 17, 2023, April 19, 2023, 


and April 26, 2023, O’Donnell contacted Respondent by email requesting the status of her case 


and asking that he communicate with her.  On April 26, 2023, Respondent replied, “Sorry I had a 


week long trial followed by a sinus infection, I’m terribly sorry, are you feeling better now?”  On 


April 27, 2023, O’Donnell telephoned Respondent at his office and left a message requesting a 


return call. 


314. As of May 4, 2023, Respondent had not responded to O’Donnell’s request for 


information.  On May 4, 2023, O’Donnell sent an email to Respondent asking Respondent to call 


her to schedule a meeting with her. 


315. As of June 15, 2023, Respondent had not responded to O’Donnell’s request for 


information.  On June 15, 2023, O’Donnell sent an email to Respondent informing him that while 


she was still recovering from the medical procedure and the resulting complications, she was 


“puzzled by [his] lack of communication…I’m not sure why I have not gotten a response to the 


emails I’ve sent to you. There have been several.”  O’Donnell detailed her efforts to connect with 


Respondent and his lack of action on her behalf and requested an in-person meeting with 


Respondent. 


316. By email dated June 16, 2023, Respondent responded to O’Donnell’s email, as 


follows: 


I’m terribly sorry. I got this email from you just fine. I’m not sure what happened 
to the others. I’m ready, have been ready to file your suit for some time. I rather 
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thought you were seriously ill so I put this on the back burner waiting to hear from 
you. I believe we spoke at some point and you expressed how you had these medical 
issues. I can’t explain to you how I missed your emails but I will find them. I took 
a long weekend as Monday is a court holiday so I took today off and went fishing 
thru Monday night. I will be back in the office Tuesday morning and can have you 
in this coming week. Weds. or Friday would be best and we can get the suit filed… 
I have been prepared to do this…I will demonstrate my commitment to you in the 
coming days. 
 
317. By email dated Monday, June 19, 2023, O’Donnell provided her availability to 


Respondent and asked him to schedule an afternoon appointment for her at his office, and to send 


her “an email or text with dates you are available.”  Respondent responded that he was “still in 


Florida fishing I’m coming home tomorrow.” 


318. After June 19, 2023, Respondent did not schedule a meeting or communicate 


further with O’Donnell.  


319. At no time did Respondent refile the civil lawsuit against McAllen Enterprises or 


the other defendants in a jurisdiction other than Kane County or take any other action on behalf of 


O’Donnell relating to her claims. 


320. By the time O’Donnell learned of Respondent’s failure to take action in her matter, 


any refiling of her claim had become time-barred. 


321. Respondent did not provide sufficient services to O’Donnell or her business to earn 


the $10,000 in fees that she had paid to him. 


322. On July 31, 2023, O’Donnell filed a request for investigation of Respondent with 


the ARDC.  By letters dated August 28, 2023, and February 23, 2024, counsel for the 


Administrator asked Respondent to provide a written response to O’Donnell’s communication.   


323. By letter dated April 25, 2024, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent to 


provide a complete copy of his file relating to his representation of O’Donnell and her business.  


On July 1, 2024, Respondent produced his file of 4,969 pages, which consisted solely of file 
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materials produced to him by O’Donnell with the exception of his fee agreement, a new client 


intake form, and emails to and from O’Donnell. 


324. By letter dated December 12, 2024, counsel for the Administrator asked 


Respondent for a recreated billing statement regarding how he claimed to have earned the $10,000 


retainer that O’Donnell had paid him.  Respondent produced an itemized statement purporting to 


have provided 34.5 hours of services, having a value of $10,350, all of which related to his 


purported review of O’Donnell’s file, the scanning of her file materials (although O’Donnell had 


produced an electronic copy of her file materials), purported research, two September 2022, 


meetings between O’Donnell and Respondent’s paralegal billed at the paralegal’s billing rate, and 


meetings on September 29, 2022, and October 2, 2022, between O’Donnell and Respondent.   


325. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to timely 
refile a lawsuit for O’Donnell, in violation of Rule 1.3 of the 
Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
b. failing to promptly inform the client of any decision or 


circumstance with respect to which the client’s informed consent 
was required, by conduct including failing to inform O’Donnell 
that Respondent had not a timely filed a lawsuit on her behalf, 
in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(1) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010); and 


 
c. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing 


to return any portion of the $10,000 fee that Respondent 
received from O’Donnell, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the 
Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010). 
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COUNT XV 
(Lack of Diligence and Failure to Refund Unearned Fees in the  


Fee Dispute Matter of Paul Berezowski) 
 


326. On February 15, 2022, attorney Norman Lerum filed a petition to enforce his 


attorney’s lien in Circuit Court of McHenry County case number 15 LA 268, in which Lerum 


sought an award of $242,352.05 in outstanding fees and costs from Paul Berezowski relating to 


Lerum’s representation of Berezowski in a lawsuit for damages to Berezowski’s condominium.    


327. On February 24, 2022, the Hon. Michael J. Chmiel entered an order in case number 


15 LA 268 ordering Berezowski to file a response to Lerum’s petition to enforce his attorney’s 


lien within 28 days and granting Lerum another 14 days to reply to Berezowski’s response.  On or 


about March 24, 2022, attorney Jefferey Katz filed a response on Berezowski’s behalf in case 


number 15 LA 268 to Lerum’s petition to enforce his attorney’s lien, and on April 5, 2022, Lerum 


filed a reply brief in support of his petition.   


328. On May 20, 2022, Judge Chmiel granted Lerum’s motion to adjudicate his lien in 


case number 15 LA 268 and ruled against Berezowski and for Lerum in relation to Lerum’s 


claimed attorney’s fees. Berezowski then discharged Katz as his attorney. 


329. On or about June 8, 2022, Respondent and Berezowski agreed that Respondent 


would file a motion to reconsider Judge Chmiel’s May 20, 2022, decision awarding Lerum his 


claimed attorney’s fees in case number 15 LA 268, and, if that motion was unsuccessful, that 


Respondent would pursue an appeal of that order to the Second District Appellate Court.  


Berezowski and Respondent agreed that Berezowski would pay Respondent a retainer in the 


amount of $10,000.  Respondent requested that the full amount of $10,000 be paid immediately so 


that he could quickly prepare and file a motion for reconsideration, and Berezowski paid it on that 


same day, half by check and half by credit card.  The agreement also provided that Respondent 
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would not charge Berezowski for their initial consultation and that Berezowski would pay any 


costs associated with the pursuit of his claim.   


330. By the end of June 2022, Berezowski had left six telephone messages for 


Respondent asking for a return call.  Respondent did not return any of Berezowski’s calls, and, in 


late June, Berezowski went to Respondent’s office to speak to Respondent.  At that time, 


Respondent instructed Berezowski never to call or visit Respondent’s office again and told him 


that Respondent or a staff member would call Berezowski if something was needed from him.  


331. Respondent did not file a motion for reconsideration in case number 15 LA 268 or 


inform Berezowski that he had not filed a motion for reconsideration. 


332. On June 17, 2022, Respondent filed a notice of appeal of Judge Chmiel’s May 20, 


2022, order in case number 2015 LA 268 to the Second District Appellate Court, which assigned 


the resulting appeal docket number 2-22-0222.  According to a briefing schedule later set by the 


appellate court, Respondent’s brief on Berezowski’s behalf was due on or before September 14, 


2022.  


333. On June 27, 2022, at Respondent’s direction, a member of Respondent’s staff 


telephoned Berezowski and informed him that Respondent needed $1,650 in cash to file the appeal 


with the Second District Appellate Court.  Berezowski asked whether his retainer fee payment 


could be used for that purpose, and the staff member told Berezowski that the filing cost was 


separate from the retainer.  That same day, Berezowski personally delivered $1,650 in cash to 


Respondent’s office and received a receipt for that amount by a member of Respondent’s staff, 


with the notation “appeal.” 


334. As of September 14, 2022, Respondent had not filed a brief on behalf of 


Berezowski with the appellate court in appeal number 2-22-0222.   On September 21, 2022, the 
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clerk of the Second District Appellate Court sent notice to Respondent that his brief was overdue 


and that if it was not filed within seven days of the notice, the appeal would be dismissed.  


Respondent received the notice shortly thereafter. 


335. On September 27, 2022, Respondent filed a motion for an extension of time within 


which to file the appellant’s brief in appeal number 2-22-0222, citing his claimed illness. 


336. On October 5, 2022, the court entered an order in appeal number 2-22-0222 


granting Respondent’s motion for an extension to file his brief and setting October 24, 2022, as 


the new deadline for filing the brief.   


337. On October 19, 2024, Respondent filed a second motion for an extension of time 


within which to file the appellant’s brief in appeal number 2-22-0222, citing his involvement in 


the trial of another client matter that was scheduled to begin on October 19, 2022, his participation 


in a mediation on October 25, 2022, for a separate client, and the loss of two days in his office 


from October 16, 2022, to October 18, 2022, for an out-of-state healthcare appointment.  


Respondent did not provide notice of his motion to counsel for Lerum. 


338. On October 25, 2022, the court entered an order in appeal number 2-22-0222 


granting Respondent’s second motion for an extension to file his brief and setting November 9, 


2022, as the new deadline for filing the brief.   


339. As of November 9, 2022, Respondent had not filed a brief on behalf of Berezowski 


in appeal number 2-22-0222, nor had he filed a third motion requesting more time to do so.   On 


November 17, 2022, the clerk of the Second District Appellate Court sent notice to Respondent 


that his brief was overdue and if it was not filed within seven days of the notice, the appeal would 


be dismissed. 
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340. On October 19, 2022, Respondent filed a third motion for extension of time within 


which to file the appellant’s brief in appeal number 2-22-0222, citing the unavailability of his 


office support staff, two other appellate briefs that he was due to file in November 2022, and a 


Supreme Court brief due on November 30, 2022.  


341. On November 22, 2022, counsel for Lerum filed a response in appeal number 2-


22-0222 objecting to Respondent’s motion for extension of time and asking the court to dismiss 


the appeal. 


342. On December 5, 2022, the court denied Respondent’s third request for an extension 


of time to file his brief in appeal number 2-22-0222 and dismissed the appeal.  The court provided 


that the order was final and would stand as the mandate of the court in appeal number 2-22-0222.  


Respondent received the December 5, 2022, order dismissing appeal number 2-22-022 shortly 


thereafter. 


343. As of December 2023, approximately one year after the dismissal of appeal number 


2-22-0222, Respondent had not informed Berezowski that the appeal had been dismissed by the 


appellate court on December 5, 2022, the basis for that dismissal, or an explanation of what further 


action, if any, was available to Berezowski. 


344. Because Respondent told Berezowski that he should not contact his office, 


Berezowski did not request any information from Respondent after June 27, 2022.  In December 


2023, since he had not heard from Respondent for more than a year, Berezowski called the Office 


of the Clerk of the Circuit Court of McHenry County.  At that time, Berezowski learned that 


Respondent had not filed a motion for reconsideration in case number 15 LA 268, and that 


Respondent had filed multiple extensions of time to pursue Berezowski’s appeal in appeal number 


2-22-0222, the last of which was denied, resulting in the dismissal of his appeal. 
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345. At no time did Respondent refund to Berezowski any portion of the $10,000 


retainer fee that Berezowski paid to him. 


346. Respondent did not provide sufficient services to Berezowski to justify the $10,000 


retainer paid to him. 


347. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to file a 
motion for reconsideration in case number 15 LA 268 or the 
appellant’s brief in appeal number 2-22-0222 despite receiving 
three extensions of the filing deadline, in violation of Rule 1.3 
of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); 


 
b. failing to keep the client reasonably informed about the status of 


the matter, by conduct including failing to inform Berezowski 
that he had not filed a request for reconsideration in case number 
15 LA 268 and that appeal number 2-22-022 had been 
dismissed, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(3) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to 


permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the 
representation, by conduct including failing to inform 
Berezowski of the dismissal of his appeal and what further 
action, if any, was available to him, in violation of Rule 1.4(b) 
of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); and 


 
d. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing 


to return any portion of the $10,000 fee that Respondent 
received from Berezowski, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the 
Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010). 


 
COUNT XVI 


(Lack of Diligence in the Legal Malpractice Matter of Alfreda Bugaj) 
 
348. On August 16, 2019, Respondent and Alfreda Bugaj agreed that Respondent would 


file a legal malpractice complaint against Bugaj’s former personal injury attorney, Rajesh Kanuru, 


who had been disbarred on January 12, 2018, for neglecting client matters and conversion of client 
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funds. (In re Kanuru, M.R. 29088, 2017PR00017.)  Bugaj made a fee payment of $10,000 to 


Respondent.  Bugaj and Respondent agreed that Respondent would accept a contingency fee 


providing Respondent one-third of any recovery he obtained on behalf of Bugaj and that her 


$10,000 retainer would “be subtracted from the final fees due.”  The fee agreement also provided 


that Bugaj would be responsible for any costs associated with her claim.  On that same date, Bugaj 


made two payments to Respondent via PayPal in the amounts of $5,000 each towards 


Respondent’s requested retainer.  On August 16, 2019, Bugaj made a third payment of $670 to 


Respondent for anticipated filing fees. 


349. On December 18, 2019, Respondent’s then-associate Sabina Walczyk filed a legal 


malpractice complaint on Bugaj’s behalf in the Circuit Court of Cook County against Kanuru and 


his former law firm, to initiate the matter entitled Alfreda Bugaj v. Rajesh Kanuru and KP Law, 


LLC.  The clerk of the court assigned the matter case number 2019 L 13922. 


350. On June 15, 2020, counsel for Kanuru filed his appearance. 


351. Between June 15, 2020, and February 7, 2022, Walzyk provided the following legal 


services on behalf of Bugaj in case number 2019 L 13922: responded to a motion to dismiss the 


complaint; delivered discovery requests to the defendant’s counsel; reviewed the answer filed by 


the defendant’s counsel; filed an answer to the defendant’s affirmative defense; filed a motion to 


compel the production of documents; filed a motion for additional time to set a schedule for 


discovery related to various expert witnesses; filed a motion to bar the defendant from testifying, 


calling witnesses, or producing documents at trial due to his alleged ongoing failure to comply 


with discovery requests, which was granted; participated in multiple status hearings; and presented 


an agreed motion for additional time to complete party depositions and set a settlement conference.  







82 
 


352. On February 7, 2022, Walczyk and counsel for the defendant appeared in court and 


presented a second agreed motion for additional time to complete party depositions and set a 


settlement conference.  The Hon. Thomas Mulroy continued the motion to extend party deposition 


dates and set the matter for a settlement videoconference on March 23, 2022.   


353. Judge Mulroy continued case number 2019 L 13922 on the same basis to March 


30, 2022, March 23, 2022, April 14, 2022, May 10, 2022, and July 26, 2022. 


354. As of July 26, 2022, Walczyk had ended her employment as an associate at 


Respondent’s firm, and Respondent asked a paralegal from his office to appear on his behalf at the 


status hearing in case number 2019 L 13922.  Counsel for the defendant was present, and the Hon. 


John Curry entered an order setting the matter for status of depositions for September 7, 2022. 


355. On September 7, 2022, Respondent’s paralegal again appeared in court for Bugaj 


in case number 2019 L 13922, along with counsel for the defendant.  Judge Curry ordered that 


certain discovery be completed by November 18, 2022, and scheduled a status date for November 


30, 2022.  Judge Curry also ordered Respondent to be present on November 30, 2022. 


356.  On November 30, 2022, Respondent appeared a half-hour late for the status 


hearing in case number 2019 L 13922, by which time counsel for the defendant, who was unable 


to wait, had departed.  Respondent presented an oral motion to file an amended complaint.   Judge 


Curry entered an order closing discovery, denying Respondent’s oral motion to file an amended 


complaint, and allowing Respondent until December 13, 2022, to prepare and serve a written 


motion for leave to file an amended complaint with the proposed amended complaint to be attached 


to that motion.  Judge Curry also scheduled a hearing on that motion for December 21, 2022. 
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357. As of December 21, 2022, Respondent had not filed a motion requesting leave to 


file an amended complaint in case number 2019 L 13922.  The court scheduled the matter for status 


on a related criminal case against defendant for March 9, 2023, and then July 6, 2023.   


358. On April 7, 2023, the defendant began a 33-month prison term following his 


conviction. 


359. On July 6, 2023, Respondent made a motion to voluntarily dismiss the complaint 


in case number 2019 L 13922, without prejudice and with leave to refile, which was allowed by 


Judge Curry. Prior to filing the motion to voluntarily dismiss the case, Respondent had not 


informed Bugaj that he intended to file the motion, nor did he receive Bugaj’s authority to take 


that action.   


360. After July 6, 2023, Respondent did not inform Bugaj that he had caused her 


malpractice case against Kanuru and his law firm to be dismissed.  


361. On March 13, 2024, Bugaj filed a request for investigation of Respondent with the 


ARDC, stating that she had asked Respondent to provide her with the status of case number 2019 


L 13922, but that Respondent had not responded to her communications. 


362. On June 26, 2024, Respondent sent a written response to Bugaj’s request for 


investigation in which he stated that he had voluntarily dismissed case number 2019 L 13922 due 


to Kanuru’s incarceration and the purported “impatience” of Judge Curry.  Respondent’s response 


did not address his delay in filing an amended complaint following Judge Curry’s November 30, 


2022, order or his failure to communicate with Bugaj.  In his letter to the ARDC, Respondent 


stated that he “was prepared to refile the matter prior to the expiration of the one-year period next 


week and I will serve Mr. Kanuaru [sic] in prison.” 
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363. On July 8, 2024, Respondent refiled the legal malpractice complaint on behalf of 


Bugaj in the Circuit Court of Cook County to initiate the matter entitled Alfreda Bugaj v. Rajesh 


Kanuru.  The complaint was identical to the complaint filed by Walczyk to initiate case number 


2019 L 13922, except that Respondent removed the codefendant KP Law LLC and the second 


count of that complaint, which alleged a basis for recovery against the law firm. The clerk of the 


court assigned the matter case number 2024 L 7469.  The Hon. Michael Barrett set the matter for 


an initial case management hearing on September 11, 2024.   


364. On or about July 9, 2024, Respondent’s paralegal, Melissa Podgorski, contacted 


Bugaj’s daughter and informed her that Respondent had refiled the case and requested a filing fee 


of $508.25. 


365. After Respondent refiled Bugaj’s claim, the ARDC closed its investigation of 


Bugaj’s complaint against Respondent.  Bugaj expressed concerns to the ARDC about the 


possibility of a continuing lack of diligence or lack of communication from Respondent and was 


informed that she could communicate further concerns with the ARDC should they arise. 


366. On September 11, 2024, Respondent did not appear when case number 2024 L 7469 


was called, and Judge Barrett dismissed the refiled case for want of prosecution. 


367. After September 11, 2024, Respondent did not inform Bugaj that case number 2024 


L 7469 had been dismissed for want of prosecution. 


368. On October 3, 2024, Bugaj sent a letter to Respondent asking Respondent to inform 


her of the status of refiled case number 2024 L 7469 against Kanuru and providing Respondent 


with a check payable to Respondent in the amount of $508.25, in reimbursement of the filing fee 


Respondent had paid on her behalf when he refiled her claim. 
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369. On January 15, 2025, Bugaj’s daughter, Arletta Kubik, sent an email to Respondent 


stating that on October 10, 2024, Respondent had negotiated Bugaj’s check for $508.25 but that 


Respondent had not replied to Bugaj’s October 3, 2024, request for information, or communicated 


with Bugaj about her matter for more than three months. 


370. Respondent did not reply to Kubik’s email, and on January 27, 2025, Bugaj sent a 


written request to the ARDC asking that it reopen the investigation related to her previous 


complaint concerning Respondent.  Counsel for the Administrator reviewed the court record 


relating to Bugaj’s refiled matter and learned that case number 2024 L 7469 had been dismissed 


for want of prosecution on September 11, 2024.  Counsel for the Administrator reopened the 


investigation and informed Bugaj that her refiled case had been dismissed. By letter dated March 


10, 2025, to counsel for Respondent, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent to address 


the September 11, 2024, dismissal of case number 2024 L 7469 for want of prosecution and 


Bugaj’s complaint that Respondent had not communicated with her.  Respondent did not provide 


a written response to counsel for the Administrator’s March 10, 2025, letter asking that he address 


Bugaj’s new charges.   


371. On April 11, 2025, Respondent filed a motion to vacate Judge Barrett’s September 


11, 2024, order in case number 2024 L 7469, citing health issues he had in the fall of 2024 and 


stating that he “did not return to work full-time until mid-end January 2025.”  The motion was 


scheduled to be heard on April 21, 2025.  Respondent did not inform Bugaj that he had filed the 


motion. 


372. On April 21, 2025, Respondent did not appear at the case management hearing in 


case number 2024 L 7469, and on that date, the Judge Barrett struck the matter from the motion 


call and reset the matter for July 14, 2025.  
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373. By letter dated May 30, 2025, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent to 


produce his file relating to his representation of Bugaj. 


374. As of June 30, 2025, Bugaj had not received any communication from Respondent 


or his staff since Respondent’s paralegal had requested the filing fee to refile her case.  On June 


30, 2025, Bugaj filed a pro se motion to reopen case number 2024 L 7469, citing the apparent 


abandonment of her matter by Respondent.  Bugaj’s motion was scheduled to be heard on August 


14, 2025.   


375. On July 14, 2025, Respondent did not appear at Judge Barrett’s motion call when 


case number 2024 L 7469 was called relating to his motion to vacate Judge Barrett’s order, 


referenced above, and in Respondent’s absence Judge Barrett again struck the matter from his call. 


376. On August 4, 2025, Respondent produced a copy of his file to the ARDC.  As of 


August 26, 2025, the date Panel C of the Inquiry Panel voted to file a complaint against Respondent 


in this matter, Respondent had not submitted any written response to Bugaj’s January 27, 2025, 


communication to the ARDC, communicated further with Bugaj, taken any further action on her 


behalf to pursue her claims against Kanuru, or filed a motion to withdraw his representation of her 


in case number 2024 L 7469. 


377. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to take any 
action in Bugaj’s refiled case number 2024 L 7469 against 
Kanuru prior to the case’s  dismissal for want of prosecution, or 
relating to Respondent’s motion to vacate that dismissal order, 
in violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010); 


 
b. failing to keep the client reasonably informed about the status of 


the matter, by conduct including failing to inform Bugaj that he 
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had voluntarily dismissed case number 2019 L 13922 and that 
the refiled matter, case number 2024 L 7469, had been dismissed 
for want of prosecution on September 11, 2024, in violation of 
Rule 1.4(a)(3) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct 
(2010);  


 
c. failing to promptly comply with reasonable requests for 


information, by conduct including failing to respond to Bugaj’s 
October 3, 2024, letter requesting information regarding the 
status of her refiled claim, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(4) of the 
Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); and 


 
d. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide to 
the ARDC a written response to Bugaj’s January 27, 2025, 
communication, in violation of Rule 8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules 
of Professional Conduct. 


 
COUNT XVII 


(Lack of Diligence and Failure to Refund Unearned Fees in the  
Family Dispute Matter of David Brzica) 


 
378. On August 10, 2024, Respondent and David Brzica agreed that Respondent would 


represent Brzica in a civil dispute with two family members relating to a family business.  Brzica 


and Respondent agreed that Brzica would pay Respondent an advance payment retainer in the 


amount of $10,000.  On that same date, Brzica made two payments to Respondent via PayPal, the 


first in the amount of $4,500, and the second in the amount of $5,500. 


379. On August 5, 2024, one of Brzica’s family members obtained an emergency order 


of protection against him, which was served on Brzica on August 11, 2024.  Brzica informed 


Respondent of the order of protection, and Respondent requested an additional fee of $5,500, 


telling Brzica that the order of protection case would complicate the case involving the family 


business dispute.  Respondent also told Brzica that he did not handle the defense of requests for 


orders of protection, and he referred Brzica to attorney Albert Wysocki to defend Brzica in the 
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order of protection case.  On September 5, 2024, Brzica paid Respondent an additional $5,500 in 


cash and received a written receipt from a member of Respondent’s staff. 


380. Between August 12, 2024, and November 7, 2024, Brzica attempted to reach 


Respondent by telephone on multiple occasions to ask what action Respondent had taken on 


Brzica’s behalf relating to the dispute over the family business.  Respondent variously told Brzica: 


that Respondent was suffering from a back injury; that Respondent was out of town; that 


Respondent’s assistant had been out of town; that Respondent’s assistant had “quit” or “been 


fired”; and on four occasions, that Respondent was planning to file a complaint on Brzica’s behalf 


the following week.  Beginning in October 2024, Brzica had increasing difficulty in reaching 


Respondent. 


381. On November 7, 2024, Brzica called Respondent from a telephone number that 


would be unknown to Respondent, and Respondent answered the call.  At that time, Respondent 


told Brzica that he would be on videoconference court calls from 9:00 to 11:00 that morning, but 


that he would call Brzica that afternoon.  Respondent never called Brzica following that 


conversation. 


382. On November 17, 2024, Brzica filed a request for investigation of Respondent with 


the ARDC.  On March 6, 2025, counsel for Respondent responded to Brzica’s complaint by 


asserting that Brzica had been represented in the order of protection matter by another lawyer.  


Counsel for Respondent stated, “We understand that the case was tried, and the Complainant lost.  


After losing the Order of Protection case, the underlying claim of undue influence of [Brzica’s 


relatives] was destroyed.” 


383. By letter dated May 30, 2025, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent to 


provide an itemized fee statement to account for the services Respondent claimed to have provided 
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to Brzica, as well as a copy of his file relating to his representation of Brzica, “including any notes, 


copies of relevant caselaw or statutes, other research materials, or memoranda of any research or 


his legal conclusions and other work product.”    


384. On June 25, 2025, counsel for Respondent provided an itemized statement of the 


purported legal services Respondent claimed to have provided to Brzica in the approximately four 


weeks between August 10, 2024, and September 12, 2024. Respondent’s purported legal services, 


which were primarily related to Respondent’s review of the file materials Brzica had provided to 


him, totaled 7.75 hours and had a purported value of $3,100.  Respondent did not explain why he 


did not refund any unearned fees to Brzica, despite Brzica having paid him a $15,500 retainer and 


Respondent’s recreated account statement having described purported services totaling only 


$3,100. 


385. On August 4, 2025, Respondent produced a file consisting of 620 pages, which 


were solely documents produced to Respondent from Brzica, from attorney Wysocki, or from other 


third parties at Brzica’s request, with the exception of the fee agreement Respondent had prepared.  


Respondent’s file did not contain any documents prepared by Respondent or correspondence from 


Respondent to Brzica or to anyone else, nor did the file contain any work product such as research 


memoranda or notes of Respondent’s review of Brzica’s file materials.  During Respondent’s 


representation of Brzica, he did not file a complaint relating to the business dispute,  conduct any 


investigation apart from concluding that the resolution of the criminal case made recovery 


impossible in a possible case regarding the business dispute, or contact anyone on the other side 


of the dispute, make a settlement demand, or negotiate or consider an offer to settle the matter. 


386. The services Respondent provided Brzica, if any, do not justify his retention of the 


entire $15,500 fee payment.  
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387. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Panel voted to 


file a complaint in this matter, Respondent had not refunded any portion of the $15,500 in fees that 


Brzica had paid to him. 


388. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to initiate a civil 
action on behalf of Brzica or otherwise investigate or attempt to 
resolve his claims, in violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct (2010); 


 
b. failing to keep the client reasonably informed about the status of the 


matter, by conduct including failing to respond to Brzica’s repeated 
requests for information regarding the status of his claim, in 
violation of Rule 1.4(a)(3) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010); and 


 
c. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing to 


return any portion of the $15,500 fee that Respondent received from 
Brzica, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct (2010). 


 
COUNT XVIII 


(Lack of Diligence and Failure to Refund Unearned Fees in the  
Legal Malpractice Matter of John O’Hara) 


 
389. On December 11, 2023, the Hon. Jeffrey Altman entered a judgment for dissolution 


of marriage and a marital settlement agreement in the matter then pending in the Circuit Court of 


McHenry County as case number 2020 D 898, entitled Anne O’Hara v. John A. O’Hara. 


390. On January 11, 2024, attorney Michael Doyen, who had represented John O’Hara 


in case number 2020 D 898, filed a petition for attorney’s fees for legal services that he had 


provided to John O’Hara between November 4, 2020, and February 28, 2022, which described his 


total fees in the amount of $18,761.42 and an unpaid balance of fees due from O’Hara to Doyen 
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in the amount of $8,860.  Doyen’s petition did not include an itemization of the legal services he 


provided on behalf of O’Hara. 


391. On February 15, 2024, attorney Jeannie Ridings, who was then representing O’Hara 


in case number 2020 D 898, filed an answer to Doyen’s petition for fees and costs, acknowledging 


that O’Hara had paid $9,901.42 in fees, but asserting that O’Hara did not have knowledge 


regarding any claimed outstanding balance or have in his possession specific fee statements in 


support of Doyen’s claims for additional fees, and arguing that Doyen had not provided those 


statements in support of his petition.  Ridings included with her response an affirmative defense 


alleging that Doyen’s handling of O’Hara’s dissolution of marriage case had been detrimental to 


O’Hara’s legal position and led to an increase in the time and costs necessary to resolve the case.  


The issue of Doyen’s fee petition in case 2020 D 898 was set to be heard on April 17, 2024. 


392. On February 20, 2024, Respondent and O’Hara met to discuss Doyen’s petition for 


fees based on his representation of O’Hara  in the dissolution of marriage case, and Respondent 


advised O’Hara to consider a malpractice action against Doyen, because such a claim would serve 


as a counterclaim to the fee petition.  Respondent and O’Hara agreed that Respondent would file 


a legal malpractice complaint against Doyen and that Respondent would accept a contingency fee 


providing him one-third of any recovery he obtained on behalf of O’Hara.  O’Hara also agreed to 


pay a $10,000 retainer that was “to be subtracted from the final fees due.”  The fee agreement also 


provided that O’Hara would be responsible for the payment of any costs associated with his claim.  


On that same date, O’Hara paid Respondent $10,000 via credit card as Respondent’s requested 


retainer.  


393. On April 17, 2024, Doyen appeared in person and Respondent appeared by 


videoconference for the hearing on Doyen’s fee petition in case number 2020 DV 898 before the 
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Hon. Robert J. Zalud.  Respondent filed his appearance on behalf of O’Hara and a motion to 


continue the hearing date to May 31, 2024, to allow Respondent time “to learn and research file.”  


Judge Zalud allowed Respondent’s motion for a continuance over Doyen’s objection, on the 


condition that Respondent or O’Hara compensate Doyen for the time he spent at the April 17, 


2024, hearing. 


394. On May 31, 2024, Respondent appeared for the status hearing in case number 2020 


DV 898, at which time Judge Zalud scheduled a hearing on Doyen’s fee petition for July 25, 2024. 


395. On July 25, 2024, Respondent filed a motion for substitution of judge as a matter 


of right in case number 2020 DV 898.  By order on that same date, Chief Judge Michael J. Chmiel 


granted Respondent’s motion and reset case number 2020 DV 898 to August 16, 2024, before the 


Hon. Jennifer L. Johnson. 


396. On August 19, 2024, Judge Johnson entered an order prepared by Respondent 


allowing Respondent 21 days, or until September 6, 2024, to file a pleading responsive to Doyen’s 


fee petition and rescheduling the hearing in case number 2020 DV 898 to September 9, 2024. 


397. On September 9, 2024, Respondent did not appear when case number 2020 DV 898 


was called for hearing, but he notified the court that he had “experienced a health emergency on 


September 8, 2024.”  In her order on that date, Judge Johnson noted that Respondent had not filed 


a pleading responsive to Doyen’s fee petition by her deadline of September 6, 2024, and 


rescheduled the hearing to October 22, 2024, stating that “both attorneys must be present at the 


status conference.”  A copy of the court’s order was sent by mail to Respondent at his office 


address by the clerk of the court and was received by Respondent shortly thereafter.  
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398. By email on October 18, 2024, O’Hara told Respondent, “On the last court date the 


new court date for the fee petition was set for 10/22/24 at 10:00 a.m. I’ll defer to you but I seem 


to recall you saying we needed to have our malpractice action filed before the fee petition hearing.” 


399. On October 22, 2024, Respondent, O’Hara, and Doyen appeared before Judge 


Johnson for the hearing on Doyen’s petition for attorney’s fees in case number 2020 DV 898.  


During the hearing, Respondent was not prepared and was unable to identify defects in Doyen’s 


fee petition, and Judge Johnson rescheduled the matter to November 8, 2024, via videoconference.  


400. On October 22, 2024, following the hearing, O’Hara called Respondent to discuss 


the status of Doyen’s fee petition against him and the contemplated legal malpractice case against 


Doyen.  Respondent told O’Hara that he could not talk then but would call him later.    


401. As of November 8, 2024, Respondent had not called O’Hara.  On November 8, 


2024, a hearing was held via videoconference in case number 2020 DV 898 before Judge Johnson.  


O’Hara and Doyen appeared, but Respondent did not appear.  O’Hara objected to Doyen’s failure 


to attach the exhibit referenced in his fee petition.  In her order on that date, Judge Johnson noted 


Doyen’s failure to include his fee agreement with O’Hara as an exhibit to the fee petition and 


stated that, as a result, she was unable to move forward with the petition.  Judge Johnson 


rescheduled the matter for December 9, 2024, and ordered “all counsel to appear.”   


402. On November 8, 2024, following the hearing, O’Hara sent an email to Respondent 


stating, “When I last called (10/22/24), you said you would call me back and never did.  I had 


another court date today, which you missed.  This is the second court date which you did not show 


up for and I was called on by the judge to explain your absence.  This time I offered no 


explanation…When you were retained, our plan was for the malpractice counter complaint to be 


filed in short order however, it still has not happened.”  
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403. As of November 18, 2024, Respondent had not responded to O’Hara’s November 


8, 2024, email.  On November 18, 2024, O’Hara filed a pro se appearance, a motion to discharge 


Respondent as his counsel, and a motion for leave to file a counterclaim against Doyen in case 


number 2020 DV 898.  O’Hara provided notice of these filings to Respondent.  In his motion for 


discharge, O’Hara alleged that Respondent had been unresponsive to his attempts to communicate 


with him, had twice failed to appear in court, and had failed to file a counterclaim or other pleading 


on O’Hara’s behalf.  O’Hara also sought an order from the court directing Respondent to refund 


his retainer fee to O’Hara.  O’Hara scheduled his motion to be heard on December 9, 2024, by 


videoconference. 


404. On December 9, 2024, Respondent did not appear when the hearing was called.  


Doyen appeared and suggested to Judge Johnson that she could still grant his fee petition even 


though he had not attached his fee agreement with O’Hara to the petition.  Judge Johnson declined 


to grant the fee petition and rescheduled all pending petitions and motions in case 2020 DV 898 to 


be heard on December 30, 2024.  Judge Johnson further ordered that “both attorneys must be 


present at the Status Conference” and “all counsel must appear in person or by [videoconference].”  


The clerk of the court sent a copy of the December 9, 2024, order to Respondent by mail and by 


email, and Respondent received those copies shortly after they were sent. 


405. On December 24, 2024, O’Hara filed pro se a motion to dismiss or strike Doyen’s 


petition for attorney’s fees on the basis that Doyen had not filed the fee agreement necessary to 


support his fee petition.  O’Hara scheduled that motion to be heard on December 30, 2024, and 


provided notice of his motion to both Doyen and Respondent. 
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406. On December 30, 2024, Respondent did not appear when case number 2020 DV 


898 was called.   In her order on that same date, Judge Johnson denied Doyen’s petition for 


attorney’s fees.  


407. By letter dated December 31, 2024, sent by mail and by email to Respondent, 


O’Hara discussed Respondent’s failure to appear in court on four occasions, twice after being 


specifically ordered by Judge Johnson to be present, his failure to file or draft a malpractice 


complaint or any other pleading on O’Hara’s behalf, and his failure to return O’Hara’s calls or 


reply to his emails, and asked for a refund of his $10,000 retainer fee. 


408. By email on December 31, 2024, Respondent responded to O’Hara that he was in 


the hospital but would “fix this as soon as I get my health under control just give me some time.” 


409. By email to Respondent dated January 10, 2025, O’Hara stated: 


It has been over a week since you received my letter (dated 31 December 2024) 
directing your withdrawal and return of retainer. At the time you received my letter 
you responded that you intended to “fix it”. I am not sure what you mean by that 
but you have done nothing since then. In being forced to represent myself on the 
Doyen fee petition, the result was for Judge Johnson to deny Doyen’s fee petition 
so, that matter is closed. In filing a malpractice complaint against Doyen, which is 
what you were retained to do, it has been almost a year since you were retained and 
no complaint (or any other pleading) has been filed so there is no reason to believe 
that one will be. For all of the aforementioned reasons as well as your own 
professional ethical requirements: withdraw from the case and return my retainer 
immediately.   


 
410. As of February 10, 2025, Respondent had not replied to O’Hara, and on that date, 


O’Hara submitted a request for investigation of Respondent to the ARDC. 


411. By letter dated February 11, 2025, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent 


to respond to the request for investigation filed by O’Hara and to include an itemized statement of 


services that Respondent claimed to have provided to O’Hara. 
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412. On May 6, 2025, counsel for Respondent provided a response to O’Hara’s request 


for investigation in which he argued that the dismissal of Doyen’s fee petition was based on 


Respondent’s appearance and argument before the court, and that Respondent “remains willing to 


continue representing Mr. O’Hara in connection with a legal malpractice claim.”  Neither counsel 


for Respondent nor Respondent provided an itemized fee statement with the response.   


413. Respondent did not provide sufficient services to O’Hara to justify his continued 


retention of the $10,000 retainer paid to him. 


414. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Board voted to 


file a complaint against Respondent in this matter, Respondent has not submitted an itemization 


of his services to O’Hara or refunded of any portion of the $10,000 retainer paid to him by O’Hara. 


415. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to timely file a 
malpractice complaint on behalf of O’Hara, and repeatedly failing 
to appear in court despite court orders directing that he do so, in 
violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct 
(2010); 


 
b. failing to keep the client reasonably informed about the status of the 


matter, by conduct including failing to respond to O’Hara’s repeated 
requests for information regarding the status of his claim, in 
violation of Rule 1.4(a)(3) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to promptly comply with reasonable requests for 


information, by conduct including failing to respond to O’Hara’s 
requests for information regarding the status of his claim and failing 
to return O’Hara’s telephone calls, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(4) of 
the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
d. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing to 


return any portion of the $10,000 fee that Respondent received from 
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O’Hara, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct (2010); and  


 
e. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide to the 
ARDC an itemized fee statement setting forth his services to 
O’Hara, in violation of Rule 8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct. 


 
COUNT XIX 


(Lack of Diligence in the Domestic Matter of Zachary Loth) 
 


416. On December 17, 2023, Zachary Loth and Respondent agreed that Respondent 


would represent Loth in seeking the modification of a temporary order of financial support that 


had been entered by the Circuit Court of Lake County on August 14, 2023, after a hearing based 


on statutory guidelines, in a parentage matter.  Loth also asked Respondent to initiate a partition 


action against his children’s mother in connection with the sale of the townhome he and the woman 


owned.  Respondent and Loth agreed that Respondent would be paid for his services on an hourly 


basis and that Loth would pay Respondent a $5,000 retainer towards his anticipated legal fees.  On 


that same date, Loth paid Respondent $2,575 by credit card to begin working on the parentage and 


partition matters.  Respondent did not reduce his fee agreement with Loth to writing. 


417. After December 17, 2023, Zachary Loth made additional fee payments to 


Respondent totaling $3,675. 


418. On January 8, 2024, Respondent filed his appearance on behalf of Loth in the 


parentage case. 


419. Between January 8, 2024, and June 28, 2024, Respondent filed parenting class 


certificates on behalf of Loth in the parentage matter and appeared in court via videoconference 


for monthly status reports by the court-appointed guardian ad litem, but he did not file anything 


seeking to reduce Loth’s child support obligation or conduct any discovery relating to that issue. 
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420. On June 15, 2024, Loth’s employment was involuntarily terminated.  Loth asked 


Respondent to petition the court for a reduction in his child support payments, the amount of which 


had been determined by the court in an August 14, 2023, order that Loth pay temporary support. 


421. On June 28, 2024, with Respondent’s agreement, the Hon. Stephen M. DeRue 


entered an allocation judgment and agreed order in the parentage matter designating parental 


responsibilities and a parenting plan, eliminating the “temporary” designation of the child support 


payments in the court’s August 14, 2023, order, and providing that those child support payments 


were to continue, with a catchup payment from Loth to the children’s mother in the amount of 


$1,528.68.  Respondent did not explain to Loth that he intended to agree or had agreed to make 


permanent the temporary child support payments originally ordered by the court on August 14, 


2023. 


422. Prior to October 3, 2024, Respondent had taken no action to file a pleading to seek 


a reduction in child support on behalf of Loth or to initiate a partition action on behalf of Loth in 


connection with the sale of the townhome.   


423. On October 3, 2024, Scott Loth, Zachary Loth’s father, met with Respondent to 


express his concerns about the pace of Respondent’s efforts on behalf of Zachary Loth in the 


parentage case, including that Respondent had not yet filed a pleading seeking to reduce Loth’s 


child support payments based on  the changes in his circumstances, as well as Respondent’s failure 


to take any action on behalf of Loth to pursue a partition matter.  Respondent asked for additional 


fees in the amount of $5,000 to initiate the partition matter.  On that same date, Loth’s father paid 


Respondent $5,000 in cash and received a handwritten receipt signed by Respondent that said, 


“partition suit, $5,000-10/3/24 received in cash.” 
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424. After October 3, 2024, Respondent took no action to initiate or advance a partition 


action on behalf of Loth. 


425. In December 2024, Loth sent an email to Respondent stating:  


I am writing to address the ongoing situation concerning the reduction of child 
support and related matters. As of now, I have not received any updates regarding 
a court date nor does it seem that any progress has been made with the house…I 
am finding it increasingly difficult to get even the most basic questions answered 
or to see progress on the petition. Despite having submitted my financials on three 
separate occasions, it has been nearly a year without resolution….Given your 
current circumstances I believe that providing the level of representation required 
for these matters may no longer be feasible. Furthermore. I understand that you and 
my father had previously agreed on the house matter after he provided $5,000.00 
to move forward. Respectfully. I am requesting that the retainer be returned so I 
may seek alternative representation to address these issues. 
 
426. As of January 27, 2025, Respondent had not communicated with either Loth or his 


father, nor had Respondent refunded to Loth’s father the $5,000 retainer he had paid to Respondent 


to initiate the partition action.  On January 27, 2025, Loth’s father personally appeared in 


Respondent’s office to ask that the $5,000 he had paid to Respondent in October be refunded.  


Respondent refused to return any money. 


427. Because Respondent took no action concerning the partition matter, he did not earn 


the $5,000 paid to him by Loth’s father for the partition action. 


428. On February 18, 2025, having received no refund or further communication from 


Respondent, Loth and his father submitted a request for investigation of Respondent to the ARDC. 


429. By letter dated February 19, 2025, counsel for the Administrator asked Respondent 


to respond to the request for investigation submitted by Loth and his father, and to include an 


itemized statement of services that he claimed to have provided on behalf of Loth. 


430. Prior to February 20, 2025, Loth hired new counsel to represent him in the 


parentage case.  On February 20, 2025, Loth’s counsel filed a motion to modify the temporary 
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child support obligation based on Loth’s change of employment in June 2024.  On May 12, 2025, 


Loth’s subsequent counsel also filed a petition to partition the ownership of the townhome. 


431. By letter dated May 30, 2025, to counsel for Respondent, counsel for the 


Administrator reminded counsel for Respondent that Respondent had not responded to the request 


for investigation submitted by Loth and his father or provided an itemization of Respondent’s 


claimed services.  Counsel for the Administrator requested that Respondent produce a copy of 


Respondent’s complete file relating to his representation of Loth, including any notes, copies of 


relevant caselaw or statutes, other research materials or memoranda of any research or his legal 


conclusions, and other work product.  On August 6, 2025, Respondent produced his client file for 


Loth.  That file did not contain the requested work product of Respondent, if any, related to his 


representation of Loth. 


432. Respondent never returned the $5,000 paid by Loth’s father to handle the partition 


matter, and Respondent did not provide sufficient services in pursuit of the partition action to 


justify the $5,000 retainer paid to him by Loth’s father specifically for that purpose. 


433. As of August 26, 2025, the date that a complaint was voted by Panel C of the ARDC 


Inquiry Board in this matter, Respondent had not submitted a response to counsel for the 


Administrator’s request that he respond to the request for investigation submitted by Loth and his 


father or provide an itemized statement of services that he claimed to have provided on behalf of 


Loth. 


434. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to initiate a 
partition action or to seek a reduction of child support for Loth, 
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in violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010); 


 
b. failing to keep the client reasonably informed about the status of 


the matter, by conduct including failing to respond to Loth’s 
requests for information regarding the status of his parentage or 
partition matters, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(3) of the Illinois 
Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
c. failing to promptly comply with reasonable requests for 


information, by conduct including failing to respond to Loth’s 
requests for information regarding the status of his partition 
claim and failing to return the telephone calls of Loth and his 
father, in violation of Rule 1.4(a)(4) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
d. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing 


to return any portion of the $5,000 fee that Respondent received 
from Loth’s father to handle Loth’s partition matter, in violation 
of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct 
(2010); and, 


 
e. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide to 
the ARDC a written response to the requests for investigation 
submitted by Loth and his father or an itemized statement of his 
services to account for the fees paid to him by Loth and his 
father, in violation of Rule 8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct. 
 


COUNT XX 
(Lack of Diligence and Failure to Refund Unearned Fees in the Legal Malpractice Matter  


of Andrej Lobrow and Slavonic Craft LLC) 
 


435. On March 8, 2024, Respondent and Andrzej Lobrow, the owner of a company 


known as Slavonic Craft LLC, agreed that Respondent would file a legal malpractice complaint 


against Slavonic Craft LLC’s former attorneys relating to their handling of certain business 


matters.  Lobrow and Respondent agreed that Respondent would accept a contingency fee 


providing him one-third of any recovery he obtained on behalf of Lobrow and that Lobrow would 


pay a $10,000 retainer “to be applied against actual legal services performed for CLIENT and any 
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unused portion shall be refunded to CLIENT.” (Emphasis in original.) The fee agreement also 


provided that Lobrow would be responsible for the payment of any costs associated with his claim, 


but that “the Gooch firm will advance costs from the retainer with the exception of Expert Witness 


fees.”     


436. On March 25, 2024, Lobrow gave Respondent a check in the amount of $10,000 as 


Respondent’s requested retainer. 


437. On July 9, 2024, Lobrow telephoned Respondent’s office and spoke to Respondent, 


who told Lobrow that he was “working hard at” drafting a complaint and that the draft was “almost 


ready.”   


438. On July 10, 2024, Lobrow telephoned Respondent’s office and spoke to 


Respondent, who told Lobrow that the complaint draft “will be [ready] this week for sure.” 


439. Prior to July 26, 2024, Lobrow telephoned Respondent’s office and was informed 


that Respondent was ill and could not respond to Lobrow.  Lobrow asked a member of 


Respondent’s staff to send him whatever complaint or other documents Respondent had drafted 


on behalf of his company. 


440. By email on July 26, 2026, Lobrow sent Respondent a message requesting 


information about the status of his company’s claims and expressing doubts about the assertion 


from Respondent’s staff that Respondent was ill. 


441. On July 31, 2024, Respondent replied to Lobrow that he expected to be back in the 


office the following week. Lobrow responded that five months had elapsed without Respondent 


providing any service on behalf of Slavonic Craft LLC. 


442. On August 1, 2024, Lobrow sent an email to Respondent asking him to demonstrate 


that he had filed a complaint on Slavonic Craft’s behalf by August 9, 2024. 
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443. On August 5, 2024, at Respondent’s direction, Respondent’s paralegal sent an 


email purporting to be from Respondent to Lobrow stating: “I will follow your orders as I am 


feeling great again and back to work. It will be completed by your demand of August 9 not a 


problem.”  Respondent also stated that Lobrow would have to pay filing fees and possibly pay for 


a special process server, to which Lobrow replied: “It is my understanding that filing fees were 


acknowledged upon receipt of the $10,000 advance payment retainer, and I do not foresee the need 


of a special process server at this time.” 


444. On August 6, 2024, Respondent’s paralegal sent Lobrow an email that referred to 


the fee agreement and stated: “See No. 2 as it explains the fees. First paragraph specifically states, 


‘plus payment of fees and cost as incurred.’” The paralegal then acknowledged that a process 


server was not likely to be required for the anticipated case, but that a process server was often a 


faster and less expensive option than having service handled by the local sheriff.   


445. As of September 3, 2024, Respondent had not filed a complaint on behalf of 


Lobrow or Slavonic Craft LLC, and had not provided Lobrow with any proof that he had filed a 


complaint.  On September 3, 2024, Lobrow sent Respondent an email stating, “Please prepare for 


return in full file-Slavonic Craft LLC. I will come to pick up on September 3, 2024, Tuesday before 


noon.”  After September 3, 2024, Lobrow called Respondent’s office on multiple occasions and 


was not able to speak to Respondent or a member of Respondent’s staff.  Lobrow left messages 


requesting that his file and retainer fee payment be returned to him. 


446. On September 11, 2024, by text message from Respondent to Lobrow, Respondent 


stated, “Give it a rest Andrzej stop acting like a jersey [sic] I’ve earned that 10 grand twice over 


reading all your stuff this is a very complicated case, and I had a lot of trouble reading in the 
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beginning. I should have required a $25000 retainer call me a liar or accuse me of fraud again and 


I’ll quit.” 


447. On September 13, 2024, Lobrow made a report to the Wauconda Police Department 


alleging that Respondent had defrauded him and engaged in deceptive business practices. 


448. On November 26, 2024, Officer Thomas Caravia from the Wauconda Police 


Department communicated with Respondent about Lobrow’s complaint, and Respondent told 


Officer Caravia that he would reach out to Lobrow.   


449. On December 20, 2024, Respondent sent an email to Lobrow stating, “Hello Andre 


I heard from the police again. I had previously stated I am still willing to file a legal malpractice 


case against the attorney who has responsibility for this matter …If you wish to proceed please 


schedule an appointment in my office after the first week In January. I am having [a medical 


procedure] on December 27, 2024 and believe I will be back to work by Jan 7, 2025. I would 


expect you to conduct yourself as the businessman and Gentleman I know you can be while in my 


office.”   


450. On December 21, 2024, in response to Respondent’s email, Lobrow replied, “You 


expect me to be polite and get more $ because you concluded after receiving the File in the case 


that it was too little, what you took in this having problems understanding the merits of the case. 


You were in financial trouble that’s why you wrote the agreement that is unfair to you. Now you 


falsely claim that I should behave like a gentleman? No Thomas, if you want me to come to your 


office to talk to you, it will only be in the presence of a Detective from the Wauconda IL Police 


Department.” Lobrow included a document describing the facts that he believed supported his 


legal malpractice claim against his previous attorney. 
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451. On December 21, 2024, Respondent then communicated with Lobow by email, 


stating, in part, “Please stop. I am prepared to file I want to review the proposed complaint with 


you fir as t [sic] nothing more then I will file it.”  Lobrow replied: “Please prepare and send me 


for review. I will put my signature and next day you will receive it. This way we must 


communicate,” to which Respondent replied, “That will work after I’m back from hospital after 


holiday.” 


452. As of January 11, 2025, Respondent had not sent a draft complaint to Lobrow for 


his review.  On January 12, 2025, Lobrow referenced their December 21, 2024, email 


communication and said, in part, “Below is our last exchange of correspondence and to this day I 


have not received anything from you.” 


453. On January 30, 2025, Lobrow filed a request for investigation of Respondent with 


the ARDC. 


454. By letters dated April 11, 2025, and May 30, 2025, counsel for the Administrator 


asked Respondent to respond to Lobrow’s request for investigation and to include a copy of his 


complete file materials, including any notes or other work product reflecting his efforts to review 


the file materials or research issues related to the claims of Lobrow and Slavonic Craft LLC, as 


well an itemized statement of services he had purportedly provided to account for the $10,000 


retainer, and evidence that Respondent had returned to Lobrow his original documents as requested 


by Lobrow. 


455. On August 6, 2025, Respondent delivered a billing statement and a copy of his 


client file in Lobrow’s matter to the ARDC.  The billing statement reflected purported services 


totaling 31.3 hours, which Respondent valued at $12,385, primarily citing Respondent’s review of 


the file materials and his preparation of a draft complaint The billing statement did not reflect a 
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credit for Lobrow’s $10,000 retainer.  The client file contained two identical draft complaints 


alleging no facts, dated June 15, 2024, and August 5, 2024, but did not contain any other documents 


created by Respondent, including any notes relating to his review of Lobrow’s file materials or 


any work product other than the draft complaints, any communications from Respondent to anyone 


other than Lobrow, or any communication with Lobrow setting forth any conclusions based on 


Respondent’s review of Lobrow’s documents.  Respondent did not provide a written response to 


Lobrow’s request for investigation. 


456. The services Respondent provided to Lobrow or Slavonic Craft LLC do not justify 


Respondent’s continued retention of the entire $10,000 fee. 


457. As of August 26, 2025, the date that Panel C of the ARDC Inquiry Board voted to 


file a complaint against Respondent, Respondent had not submitted any written response to the 


allegations set forth in Lobrow’s request for investigation, had not taken any action to file a 


complaint for Lobrow or Slavonic Craft LLC, and had not refunded any portion of the $10,000 


retainer fee given to him by Lobrow.  


458. By reason of the conduct outlined above, Respondent has engaged in the following 


misconduct: 


a. failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 
representing a client, by conduct including failing to timely file 
a malpractice complaint on behalf of Lobrow or Slavonic Craft 
LLC, in violation of Rule 1.3 of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010); 


 
b. failing to keep the client reasonably informed about the status of 


the matter, by conduct including failing to respond to Lobrow’s 
requests for information regarding the status of his matter or any 
conclusions regarding the viability of Lobrow’s claims, in 
violation of Rule 1.4(a)(3) of the Illinois Rules of Professional 
Conduct (2010);  
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c. failing to explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to 
permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the 
representation, by conduct including failing to provide Lobrow 
with his conclusions, if any, regarding his professional analysis 
of Lobrow’s potential legal malpractice claim, in violation of 
Rule 1.4(b) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct (2010);  


 
d. failing to refund an unearned fee, by conduct including failing 


to return any portion of the $10,000 fee that Respondent 
received from Lobrow, in violation of Rule 1.16(d) of the Illinois 
Rules of Professional Conduct (2010); and  


 
e. failing to respond to lawful demands for information from a 


disciplinary authority, by conduct including failing to provide to 
the ARDC a written response to Lobrow’s request for 
investigation, in violation of Rule 8.1(b) of the Illinois Rules of 
Professional Conduct. 
 


WHEREFORE, the Administrator requests that this matter be assigned to a panel of the 


Hearing Board, that a hearing be held, and that the panel make findings of fact, conclusions of fact 


and law, and a recommendation for such discipline as is warranted. 


Respectfully submitted, 
 
Lea S. Gutierrez, Administrator 
 Attorney Registration and 


 Disciplinary Commission  
 


By:             /s/ Scott Renfroe 
                  Scott Renfroe 


 
Scott Renfroe 
Kate E. Levine 
Counsel for Administrator 
130 East Randolph Drive, Suite 1500 
Chicago, Illinois 60601 
Telephone: (312) 540-5211 
Email: srenfroe@iardc.org  
Email: klevine@iardc.org  
Email: ARDCeService@iardc.org 
 
4923-2646-8449, v. 1 
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CHAPTER 1: SUPPRESSION OF DOCUMENTS


Relevant facts:


1.	 Dulberg retained Ed Clinton and Julia Williams of the Clinton Law Firm to represent him in a 
legal malpractice claim against Thomas J. Popovich, Hans Mast and the Law Offices of Thomas 
J. Popovich around November 1, 2018.1 


2.	 Dulberg’s previous attorney was Thomas Gooch who was fired by Dulberg on October 8, 
2018. Gooch received the termination letter on October 9, 2018.2 


3.	 On October 10, 2018 at 5:25 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:3


“... Per our discussion, here are the files.  
 
Please find the attached zip file.  
 
Download and extract the file to see what has been pleaded, the rulings etc...  
 
Among the files is a file named second_amended_complaint_comments.txt. Pay special 
attention to this file as it lays out what was going into the second amended complaint and 
lays out the case moving forward. There are large gaps of empty lines in this file. Please 
keep scrolling down to read all of it.  
 
I hope this helps prepare you for our consultation this Friday. ...”


Dulberg then wrote at 5:34 PM:


“Oops forgot to attach the file... 
Here it is”


4.	 On November 1, 2018 at 7:18 AM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:4


“... do I need to get the case file from The Gooch Firm or is that something you will work 
out with them?


For your information,  
The Gooch Firm also has all the supporting documents including but not limited to the 
following;


Scanned in Case files from both the Popovich Firm and the Baudin Firm, all emails 
between myself and Hans Mast from the Popovich firm with my emails to the Gooch 
firm identifying which of hundreds are the critical emails showing the false choices Hans 


1 � Exhibit 1a-Dulberg Draft Retainer 2018 Oct 31.pdf
2 � Exhibit 2A-2018-11-17_1247 PM_SENT_Supporting Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Pages 10-11)
3 � Exhibit 2-2018-10-10_1734 PM_Legal Malpractice Case_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
4 � Exhibit 4A-2018-11-01_0718 AM_SENT_Legal Malpractice Case.pdf
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Mast pushed along with the emails assuring me that the Popovich firm handled the matter 
correctly long after the McGuire’s were dismissed, Disability determination, Solvent 
Bankruptcy Documents that prove every creditor including medical was paid in full, ADR 
award, all emails from myself to the Gooch firm answering all their questions, etc...


I would like to get a digital copy of everything the Gooch firm turns over because I 
should be able to provide anything they missed. ...”


5.	 On or just prior to November 27, 2018 Williams and Clinton received a thumb drive from 
Thomas Gooch (called “Gooch Thumbdrive”)1 that contains 6 main folders:


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg DISCOVERY 
Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg ORDERS 
Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client 
Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg PLEADINGS 
Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg SUMMONS 
Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS


Four of the main folders contain public documents from 17LA377 (Dulberg’s legal malpractice 
case against Mast and Popovich). Only the 2 folders called “Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE 
DOCS” and “Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client” contain documents that needed to be 
disclosed to opposing counsel to comply with opposing counsel’s document production requests.


6.	 When preparing documents to turn over to opposing counsel on May 30, 2019 Williams used 
only the contents of one of the folders called:


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS


Williams did not include any of the contents of the other main Gooch Thumbdrive folder:


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client


‘Visual Aid 1 - Sources of bates order’2 shows (in a simple way) how only one of the two main 
folders of Gooch Thumbdrive was given to opposing counsel on May 30, 2019 and how the other 
main folder only appeared as bates stamped documents over 13 months later as Williams was 
resigning as counsel.


7.	 ‘Dulberg Master File’3 is the electronic case file that Clinton and Williams gave to Dulberg 
after they resigned as counsel, so this is all we can see of the work product and folder systems 
which Clinton and Williams used to do day to day work on Dulberg’s case.


8.	 Williams combined the contents of the folder ‘Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS’ with 
18 pdf files she received directly from Dulberg (as email attachments) and placed them in a 
folder called:


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive
2 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 1 - Sources of bates order.png
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File
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Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Production JCW Working Folder/Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be 
Produced1


9.	 Williams inexplicably included 15 public documents related to 17LA377 in the same folder. 
The names of each of the 17LA377 public documents were changed before being included 
among the bates-numbered documents. ‘Visual Aid 3 - 377 Document Insertion hoax’2 shows 
from where each 17LA377 public document was taken, what name each file was changed into, 
and into which folder the files were placed so they would appear in alphabetical order among 
bates-numbered documents given to opposing counsel.


From there the 17LA377 public documents were placed in the folder ‘Dulberg JCW DRAFT To 
Be Produced’3 to be bates-stamped as ‘Visual Aid 3’ shows in detail.


It is not possible that the renaming and movement of so many 17LA377 public documents and 
the insertion of them among bates numbered documents was accidental. Someone must have 
intentionally done this.


10.	Williams merged the contents of the folder ‘Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be Produced’ in 
alphabetical order into a single pdf in the same folder called:


1 Dulberg Documents to BE Produced NON TAX Complete JCW 2019 May 28.pdf4


11.	Williams inexplicably removed an additional 121 pages from this pdf and duplicated one 
page to make another pdf in the same folder called:


1 Dulberg Documents to BE Produced NON TAX redacted Complete JCW 2019 May 28 
copy.pdf5


The pdf is 2460 pages. The pages in this last pdf became the first 2460 bates-stamped documents 
in the pdf that Williams gave to opposing counsel on May 30, 2019 called:


“Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf”6


12.	Williams did not inform Dulberg that “Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 
29.pdf” did not contain any of the files from the main Gooch Thumbdrive folder:


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client


13.	Williams had 3 sets of Dulberg’s emails before May 30, 2019 from these 3 sources:


1)	� Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS/Paul Dulberg’s Emails7


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 3-Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be Produced
2 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 3 - 377 document insertion hoax.png
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Group Exhibit folder 3-Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be Produced
4 � Exhibit 3-1-Dulberg Documents to BE Produced NON TAX Complete JCW 2019 May 28.pdf
5 � Exhibit 4-1-Dulberg Documents to BE Produced NON TAX redacted Complete JCW 2019 May 28 copy.pdf
6 � Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf
7 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 6-Paul Dulberg Emails, 422 pages total
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2)	� ‘Paul Dulberg’s Emails’ sent to Williams as email attachments1


3)	� Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Emails2


The first 2 sets have 422 unique email pages and the third set has 844 pages because it consists 
of 2 identical sets of emails which are 422 pages each.


14.	On May 30, 2019 Williams handed over only the contents of “Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg 
UNDERLYING CASE DOCS/Paul Dulberg’s Emails” to opposing counsel but with many email 
documents inexplicably missing. The email documents Williams removed from the contents 
of ‘Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf’3 that are included in ‘Gooch 
Thumbdrive/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS/Paul Dulberg’s Emails’4 and the subject 
each document covers are as follows:


Hans Mast2-14 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-15 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-16 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-17 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-18 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-19 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-21 ..... with Balke on lean buyout and picking up case file 
Hans Mast2-24 ..... with Balke on lean buyout 
Hans Mast2-29 ..... with Balke on lean buyout 
Hans Mast2-32 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-33 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-34 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-35 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-36 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-37 ..... with Balke about anticipated Randall Baudin phone call 
Hans Mast2-38 ..... with Balke about anticipated Randall Baudin phone call 
Hans Mast2-39 ..... with Balke about case being not winnable and signing release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-40 ..... with Balke about case being not winnable and signing release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-41 ..... with Balke about case being not winnable and signing release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-42 ..... email empty of content message 
Hans Mast2-43 ..... with Balke long message about why Dulberg rejects Balke’s advice 
Hans Mast2-44 ..... with Balke, Balke is trying to get him to sign a release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-45 ..... with Balke, Balke is trying to get him to sign a release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-46 ..... with Balke, Balke is trying to get him to sign a release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-47 ..... with Balke, Balke is trying to get him to sign a release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-48 ..... with Balke long message about why Dulberg rejects Balke’s advice 
Hans Mast2-49 ..... with Balke long message about why Dulberg rejects Balke’s advice 


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 7-folders of emails sent to Williams as email attachments, 
422 pages total


2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 8-Emails, 844 pages total
3 � Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf
4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 6-Paul Dulberg Emails, 422 pages total
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Hans Mast2-50 ..... with Balke on bankruptcy questions 
Hans Mast2-51 ..... with Balke on bankruptcy questions 
Hans Mast2-52 ..... with Balke on bankruptcy and Gagnon’s insurance 
Hans Mast2-53 ..... email from Dulberg to Dulberg with message for Balke on bankruptcy 
Hans Mast2-54 ..... with Balke on bankruptcy and pre-trial conference 
Hans Mast2-55 ..... �with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and Saul Ferris with a 


box of Dulberg’s documents
Hans Mast2-56 ..... �with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and Saul Ferris with a 


box of Dulberg’s documents
Hans Mast2-57 ..... �with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and Saul Ferris with a 


box of Dulberg’s documents
Hans Mast2-58 ..... with Balke on signing settlement check and deposit 
Hans Mast2-59 ..... with Balke on settlement conference canceled 
Hans Mast2-60 ..... with Balke about April 9 pre-trial conference 
Hans Mast2-61 ..... with Balke about April 9 pre-trial conference 
Hans Mast2-62 ..... with Balke about April 9 pre-trial conference 
Hans Mast2-63 ..... all communication with Balke on lean buyout and picking up the case file 
Hans Mast2-651 .... with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and a box from Ferris  
Hans Mast2-69 ..... with Stretch on bankruptcy 
Hans Mast2-73 ..... with Ferris on declining case 
Hans Mast2-78 ..... with Ferris on declining case 
Hans Mast2-149 ... with Stretch on medical lean expiring 
Hans Mast2-152 ... with Stretch on bankruptcy 
Hans Mast2-153 ... with Mast, angry 
Hans Mast2-169 ... SSDI and rosencrance 
Hans Mast2-170 ... SSDI and rosencrance 
Hans Mast2-252 ... SSDI 
Hans Mast2-254 ... SSDI 
Hans Mast2-255 ... SSDI 
Hans Mast2-257 ... SSDI 
Hans Mast2-259 ... SSDI 
Hans Mast2-260 ... SSDI 
Hans Mast2-262 ... SSDI 
Hans Mast2-282 ... Missing emails 
Missing Emails.pdf .. Missing emails 
Baudin 
Baudin1 
Baudin2 
Baudin3 
Baudin4 
Baudin5 
Baudin6 
Baudin7 


1 � Exhibit B12-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
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SSDI 
SSDI1 
SSDI2 
SSDI3
SSDI4


The subject matters of other documents that Williams suppressed on May 30, 2019 are as 
follows:


BANKRUPTCY


SSDI


MENTAL HEALTH EVALUATIONS, SCHEDULING


BALKE BUSINESS CARDS, FAX AND CHECK


LETTER AND REPLY TO WALGREEN’S CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS


DULBERG NOTES ON NEEDING TIMESTAMP FROM WALGREEN’S CUSTODIAN


CENTEGRA MEDICAL RECORDS CUSTODIAN ABOUT SECURITY CAMERAS


FERRIS AND OTHER LETTERS OF DECLINATION (3 documents suppressed from 2 
different sources)


HAND WRITTEN NOTES ON UNDERLYING CASE


DEPOSITIONS WITH HAND WRITTEN NOTES


BAUDIN FEE AGREEMENT


CRIMINAL COMPLAINT AGAINST GAGNON AND MCGUIRE’S


DEB FISCHER BILL TO POPOVICH


DEB FISCHER LETTER


CERTIFIED SLIP COPY OF TILSCHNER V SPANGLER SENT AS EMAIL 
ATTACHMENT TO WILLIAMS ON APRIL 18, 2019


15.	Williams repeatedly misled Dulberg into believing that all relevant documents that she 
received from both the Gooch Thumbdrive and from Dulberg were contained in the file “Dulberg 
Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf”1 and were given to opposing counsel on May 
30, 2019 with the only exception being documents protected by attorney-client privilege.


16.	On Jul 8, 2019 at 11:06 AM Dulberg sent an email (which contained a different forwarded 
email) to Williams stating:2


“... You Have my permission to talk with Tom Kost (My Brother) about this. ...”


1 � Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf
2 � Exhibit 6-2019-07-08_1106 AM_SENT_Fwd Forward to Julia_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
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Begin forwarded message: From: T Kost, Subject: Forward to Julia, Date: July 7, 2019 at 
7:48:33 PM CDT To: Paul_Dulberg@comcast.net 


“Paul, please forward this email to Julia.  
 
Julia, please look at the information in the attached folder.  
 
After examining all the documents in the Dulberg disclosure file and the Popovich 
disclosure file very carefully, Paul and I have discovered a number of things that are very 
useful for us to know.  
 
Please read the “READ_ME” file in the folder first. That will guide you through the rest 
of the information.  
 
After you feel that you are familiar with the contents of the folder, I think that you and I 
should talk about it by phone.  
 
You can contact Paul through email to set up a time for a phone conversation between us 
when you are ready.  
 
Thanks,  
 
Tom Kost (Paul’s brother)”


The attached zipped folder was called ‘To_Julia.zip”1


17.	On July 22, 2019 at 6:58 AM Dulberg sent another email to Williams stating:2 


“... I’m sending this email to confirm that you received the email below I sent on July 
8th. ...”


Williams never responded to the request to meet or discuss these issues by phone.


18.	On Jul 23, 2019 at 4:42 PM Williams wrote an email to Dulberg stating:3


“... First, we have not completed our discovery disclosure to the other side. We need 
to do so. Mast and the Popovich firm sent discovery requests to you (through us) some 
time ago. You sent responses and then we have modified them. We need to finalize these 
responses and send them. I received additional time, but we are well over our time and 
we need to get this completed.  
 
Attached are the responses that I sent for your review on July 2, 2019 based upon your 
prior changes.  


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 14-To_Julia (unzipped version)
2 � Exhibit 7-2019-07-22_0658 AM_SENT_Forward to Julia.pdf
3 � Exhibit 8-2019-07-23_1642 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Mast et al Discovery.pdf
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Please review and respond by the end of the week. ...”


19.	On July 26, 2019 at 5:09 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams with an attached zip folder 
containing 4 files. One of the 4 files is called:1


‘2019-07-25_Notes on DULBERG’S RESPONSES TO DEFENDANTS REQUESTS FOR 
PRODUCTION TO PLAINTIFF.pdf’


Under each of the 11 requests for production of documents Williams responded:


“All relevant documents in Plaintiff’s possession will be produced.”


Under each of the 11 responses written by Williams Dulberg wrote:


“Notes to Julia: A. This should read; All relevant documents in Plaintiff’s possession have 
been produced and will be updated if more become available.”


20.	On July 31, 2019 at 2:44 PM Williams sent an email to Dulberg with 4 attached files:2 3


Dulberg’s Answers to Popovich Interrogatories to Plaintiff 2019 July 29.docx 
Dulberg Answers to Thomas Popovich Expert Interrogatories Draft 2019 July 31.docx 
Dulberg’s Answers to Popovich Interrogatories to Plaintiff 2019 July 31.docx 
Dulberg RTP Resposes 2019 July 31.docx


The file called:4


‘Dulberg RTP Resposes 2019 July 31.docx’


contained all of Dulberg’s answers as: 


“All relevant documents in Plaintiff’s possession were produced”


as Dulberg instructed her to do.


21.	On October 4, 2019 at 10:50 AM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:5


“... Please let me know what day and time you would prefer a call from my Bother Tom 
and me. ...”


Williams again never responded to the July 8, 2019 request for a telephone meeting or to the 


1 � Exhibit 9-2019-07-26_1709 PM_SENT_Dulberg v Mast et al Discovery_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Pages 10-12)
2 � Exhibit 10A-2019-07-31_1444 PM_RECV_Discovery Responses_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 4-2019-07-26_1709 PM_SENT_Dulberg v Mast et al 


Discovery
4 � Exhibit 10-Dulberg RTP Resposes 2019 July 31.docx
5 � Exhibit 11-2019-10-04_1050 AM_SENT_FW Dulberg v The Law Offices of Thomas J Popovich PC et al 


McHenry County IL No 17 LA 377.pdf
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October 4, 2019 request for a phone meeting.


22.	On October 21, 2019 at 1:40 PM Williams sent an email to Dulberg with 15 pdf attachments 
totaling over 4100 pages of documents.1 
In a pdf called:2


‘Dulberg RTP Responses FINAL 2019 September 4.pdf’


all of Dulberg’s written answers stating:


“All relevant documents in Plaintiff’s possession were produced” [emphasis added]


were changed by Williams to: 


“All relevant documents in Plaintiff’s possession will be produced” [emphasis added]


without Dulberg’s permission or knowledge.


The meta-data3 in the pdf code shows that the document ‘Dulberg RTP Responses FINAL 2019 
September 4.pdf’ was created and modified on September 4, 2019.


A certification page signed by Dulberg called:4


‘Dulberg Paul Signed Verification for Discovery.pdf’


was also attached to the email.


23.	On November 4, 2019 Williams informed the Judge and opposing counsel that she produced 
“pretty much everything” in her possession in the following exchange:5


“MR. FLYNN: So I think they are amending the discovery answers and possibly 
producing more documents. I’m not sure. 
THE COURT: Is that correct, counsel, not putting you on the spot, but is that an accurate 
representation? 
MS. WILLIAMS: Right. So I think we have produced pretty much everything we 
have, but I can talk to counsel about the documents.” [emphasis added]


24.	On November 26, 2019 at 3:33 PM Williams sent an email to opposing counsel Flynn 
stating:6


“... Attached is the supplement interrogatory disclosure. As for documents, we have 
produced everything in our possession. ...” [emphasis added]


1 � Exhibit 12A-2019-10-21_1340 PM_RECV_Discovery and status update_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
2 � Exhibit 12-Dulberg RTP Responses FINAL 2019 September 4.pdf
3 � Exhibit 13-creation date metadata of exhibit 12.png
4 � Exhibit 14-Dulberg Paul Signed Verification for Discovery.pdf
5 � Exhibit 15-Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1-3.pdf (Page 3 Lines 10-18)
6 � Exhibit 16-2019-11-26_1533 PM_RECV_Re Dulberg _ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 1)
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25.	On December 17, 2019 at 11:00 AM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:1


“... In preparation for our call today, I am resending the all discovery as I don’t think you 
received some of them the first time. ...”


with 9 files attached.


The email had the following bates numbered documents attached and a verification statement 
signed by Dulberg:


Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599.pdf 
Bates 2620.pdf 
Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf


26.	The file:2


“Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599”


is 21 pages and consists of the contents of this file in alphabetical order:3


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS/Files From Baudin’s Office/Paul 
Dulberg - BK Docs


But Williams already turned over all contents of the folder ‘Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE 
DOCS’ on May 30, 2019 including the sub folder:


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS/Files From Baudin’s Office/Paul 
Dulberg - BK Docs


so there were no files in “Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599” turned over in December 17, 2019 that 
were not already included in ‘Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf’4 which 
was turned over on May 30, 2019.


Williams must have known this because she created the original pdf and the files with the same 
names are in her working folder of the May 30, 2019 document production:5


Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Production JCW Working Folder/Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be 
Produced


27.	The pdf “Bates 2620”6 contains the following files merged together appearing in alphabetical 
order:


1 � Exhibit 17-Dulberg case.pdf (Pages 3-4)
2 � Exhibit 18-Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599 .pdf
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive
4 � Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf
5 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 3-Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be Produced
6 � Exhibit 19-Dulberg Bates 2620.pdf
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Baudin 
Baudin1 
Baudin2 
Baudin3 
Baudin4 
Baudin5 
Baudin6 
Baudin7 
Proof of Service of Documents 2018 October 8.pdf 
SSDI 
SSDI1 
SSDI2 
SSDI3 
SSDI4


These are the emails from SSDI and the Baudins that Williams suppressed earlier and one public 
document from the current case Dulberg v Popovich and Mast (17LA377) was inexplicably 
renamed and added to the group.


28.	On Jan 31, 2020, at 12:45 PM, Julia Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:1


“... I am writing regarding the outstanding discovery issues. I am producing further 
documents bates stamped 2639- 2645. 
... 
“2. Brad Balke. Brad Balke’s appearance is attached as 2645. This should resolve all of 
the current discovery issues that you presented to us. We will continue to supplement our 
discovery responses if more documents are discovered. ...”


Williams was suppressing about 40 email documents between Balke and Dulberg while Williams 
wrote this and Flynn will later claim in a motion for summary judgment that Dulberg had the 
opportunity to inquire from Balke about Popovich and Mast.


29.	The document:2


“Dulberg Bates 2639 to 2645 2020 Jan 31.pdf”


consists of 4 documents of 7 total pages including a single email document ‘HansMast 2-65’3 of 
an exchange between Balke and Dulberg about a packet of documents which was mishandled 
and mailed to the Law Office of Thomas J. Popovich P.C. when in the possession of Saul Ferris 
and remained at the Law office of Thomas J. Popovich P.C. `for two months without Dulberg’s 
knowledge or consent.


30.	Dulberg was deposed by opposing counsel on February 19, 2020 and Defendant Mast was 


1 � Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Pages 78, 87)
2 � Exhibit 21-Dulberg Bates 2639 to 2645 2020 Jan 31.pdf
3 � Exhibit B12-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
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deposed on June 25, 2020.


31.	On June 19 2020 at 2:35 PM, six days before the deposition of Mast, Flynn sent an email to 
Williams stating:1


“Julia: I just received your notice of attorney lien. Will you still be taking the dep next 
week? 
 
My experience with receiving liens at this stage of litigation(in a high percentage of 
cases) is that a withdrawal shortly follows. Hopefully not the case here, but just making 
sure we are still on for Mast’s dep. ...”


32.	On June 25, 2020 at 12:31 PM, about 20 minutes after the deposition of Mast, Flynn sent an 
email to Williams stating:2


“... Just wanted to write while it is fresh in my mind, but I’d like to close the dangling 
issues from your client’s deposition, including the production of communications with 
Mr. Gooch in view of the “discovery rule” issues. Please advise ...”


33.	On June 26, 2020 12:13 PM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:3


“... Thank you for the follow up. I am working on the production today. Are you around 
on Monday—can we chat then? ...”


Williams never worked on any production of communications with Mr Gooch and she did not 
address the issue in court. Instead, she produced over 6000 pages of documents that were not 
related to Gooch in any noticeable way and then resigned as Dulberg’s attorney.


34.	On June 26, 2020 at 9:40 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:4


“... I am working to produce more documents to the other side as we indicated in your 
deposition and pursuant to our duty to continually update discovery. There appear to be 
some documents from the Gooch file that were not produced in discovery in the legal 
malpractice case and I want to make sure we have produced everything required to the 
other side. We are going to produce those now. Many appear to be duplicates. ...”


35.	On July 9, 2020 at 11:42 AM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:5


“... Attached are more documents. As I stated on the phone, many are duplicative of what 
has already been produced but some are not. Because they came from a difference source, 
I could not determine what had been produced previously and what had not, thus, to be 
safe, I am producing everything. The documents should be searchable.” The documents 


1 � Exhibit 22-Dulberg -2.pdf (Page 1)
2 � Exhibit 23-Dulberg -3.pdf (Page 1)
3 � Exhibit 23-Dulberg -3.pdf (Page 2)
4 � Exhibit 24--2.pdf (Page 1)
5 � Exhibit 25a-Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents.pdf Page 1
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are in four files as follows:


1. 2646-2649 
2. 2650-7892 
3. 7893-8551 
4. 8552-8708


I may need to send them in separate emails due to the size. ...”


Attached Files:


‘Dulberg Stamped 2646-2649.pdf’1 
‘Dulberg 7893-8551.pdf’2 
‘Dulberg 8552-8708.pdf’3


36.	On July 9, 2020 at 11:43 AM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:4


“Here is the final file.”


Attached file:


‘Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf’5


37.	Williams claimed to Flynn that these documents “came from a different source”. Williams 
was in possession of all of these documents before May 30, 2019 when she produced “Dulberg 
Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf”6 to opposing counsel.


38.	On July 9, 2020 at 11:44 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:7


“... More documents were sent to George Flynn today to ensure that Gooch’s entire file 
on the underlying case was sent as well as communications from your subsequent counsel 
in the underlying case. 
 
There are two emails. This is the first with three files attached. ...”


Attached files:


‘Dulberg Stamped 2646-2649.pdf’8 
‘Dulberg 7893-8551.pdf’9 


1 � Exhibit 26-Dulberg  Stamped 2646-2649.pdf
2 � Exhibit 28-Dulberg 7893-8551 .pdf
3 � Exhibit 29-Dulberg 8552-8708.pdf
4 � Exhibit 25b-Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents-2.pdf
5 � Exhibit 27-Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf
6 � Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf
7 � Exhibit C0i-2020-07-09_1144 AM_RECV_Fwd Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
8 � Exhibit 26-Dulberg  Stamped 2646-2649.pdf
9  Exhibit 28-Dulberg 7893-8551 .pdf
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‘Dulberg 8552-8708.pdf’1


39.	On July 9, 2020 at 11:47 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:2


“... This is the second email I sent to George with the fourth and final file. ...”


Attached files:


‘Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf’3


40.	On Jul 10, 2020, at 10:46 AM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:4


“... I believe there may have been three, but simply because the first email took forever 
to send as the documents attached were so large. The first contained all four of the files. 
The second contained three files and the third contained one file. There are only four files 
total—so the emails are duplicative as originally I did not believe the first email would 
send. Thus, you should have these four files:


1. Dulberg Stamped 2646-2649 
2. Dulberg 2650-7892 
3. Dulberg 7893-8551 
4. Dulberg 8552-8708.


Please let me know if you did not receive all of the documents. ...”


Williams is ‘flooding’ Dulberg with an overwhelming number of documents and sneaking all but 
one of the documents that were previously suppressed into the flood, behind thousands of pages 
of useless material. Williams continues to suppress one document: the Appellate Court slip ruling 
Tilschner v Spangler.


41.	The document disclosure on July 9, 2020 contained more than 6000 pages of documents 
which is more than double the amount of all document pages Williams disclosed to the opposing 
counsel before that date. In the region from DUL 005246 to DUL 008708 documents were 
produced for the first time from the folder:5


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client


The July 9, 2020 document production consisted of the following regions as listed (and as shown 
in ‘Visual Aid 1 - Sources of bates order’6):


1  Exhibit 29-Dulberg 8552-8708.pdf
2 � Exhibit C0j-2020-07-09_1147 AM_RECV_Fwd Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
3 � Exhibit 27-Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf
4 � Exhibit 25b-Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents-2.pdf (Page 7)
5 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client
6 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 1 - Sources of bates order.png
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DUL 008552 to DUL 0087081 are the contents of the following folder in alphabetical order:2


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Client Handwritten Misc. Notes


DUL 007853 to DUL 0085513 are the contents of the following folder in alphabetical order:4


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Depositions


DUL 007561 to DUL 0078525 are the contents of the following folder in alphabetical order:6


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Client’s Brown Jacket File


DUL 007532 to DUL 0075607 are the contents of the following folder in alphabetical order:8


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Documents Still In Envelopes


DUL 006688 to DUL 0075319 are the contents of the following folder in alphabetical order:10


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Emails


DUL 006354 to DUL 00668711 are the contents of the following folder in alphabetical order:12


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Misc


DUL 005246 to DUL 00635413 are the contents of the following folder in alphabetical order:14


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/TJP & Attorney Documents


1 � Exhibit 30-DUL 008552-DUL 008708.pdf
2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/Client Handwritten Misc. Notes
3 � Exhibit 31-DUL 007893-DUL 008551.pdf
4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/Depositions
5 � Exhibit 32-DUL 007561-DUL 007892.pdf
6 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/Client’s Brown Jacket File
7 � Exhibit 33-DUL 007532_DUL 007560.pdf
8 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/Documents Still In Envelopes
9 � Exhibit 34-DUL 006688-DUL 007531.pdf
10 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/Emails
11 � Exhibit 35-DUL 006354-DUL 006687.pdf
12 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/Misc
13 � Exhibit 36-DUL 005246-DUL 006353.pdf
14 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/TJP & Attorney Documents
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42.	There are 3 large blocks of email documents in ‘Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf’1 as shown in ‘Visual 
Aid 5 - Email hoax’2.


DUL 002682 to DUL 0029423 is 261 pages of the contents of the folder: 


‘Lawyer Emails by date’4 


in alphabetical order. The folder contains 422 pages of unique email documents so 161 pages are 
missing.


‘Visual Aid 6: Lawyer Emails by date hoax’5 charts how the folder: 


‘Lawyer Emails by date’6 


appears in the Williams-Clinton electronic case file. Williams first received the folder ‘Lawyer 
Emails by date’ on July 8, 2019 from Dulberg7 as an attachment with 4 text files. One of 
the text files was named “_READ_ME.txt”8 which has a section called “REFERENCE 
INFORMATION” in which Williams was informed:


“... Folder: Lawyers Emails by date


The emails in (pop) and (ddd) can be a real headache to look through. This folder helps 
Paul and me see the streams of email exchanges as they happen month by month. We find 
it useful. It is yours if you want it. If not, please ignore.


Within these files I reference emails by using this folder and using the form (email: 
folder_name, file_name).


For example, the reference (email: 2013 10, Mast2-219) should be easy to find in folder 
2013 10. This folder contains emails from October, 2013 and each email stream is given a 
separate name. ...”


43.	On February 20, 2020, one day after Dulberg’s deposition, Williams and Clinton ignored the 
‘_READ_ME.txt’9 file and treated the contents of ‘Lawyer Email by date’10 as if they were new 
email files that needed to be disclosed to opposing counsel.  This is shown in detail in‘Visual 
Aid 6’-Lawyer Emails by Date hoax’11. During the 6th step as described in ‘Visual Aid 6’, 161 
pages of the emails inexplicably disappeared. The truncated 261 page version of the contents of 
‘Lawyer Emails by date’ was merged with 32 pages of documents to make a pdf of 297 pages 


1 � Exhibit 27-Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf
2 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 5 - Email hoax.png
3 � Exhibit 37-DUL 002682-DUL 002942.pdf
4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 9-Lawyers Emails by date, 422 pages total
5 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 6 - Lawyer Emails by date hoax.png
6 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 9-Lawyers Emails by date, 422 pages total
7 � Exhibit 38A-2019-07-08_1106 AM_SENT_Fwd Forward to Julia_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
8 � Exhibit 38-_READ_ME.txt
9 � Exhibit 38-_READ_ME.txt
10 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 9-Lawyers Emails by date, 422 pages total
11 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 6 - Lawyer Emails by date hoax.png
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which can be found in Williams’ work product at:


Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Documents to Be Produced 2020 June 25/Dulberg Files to be 
produced legal mal 2020 june misc. (done)/Dulberg 1 Gooch Retainer Contract.pdf1


44.	‘Visual Aid 7 - Repeating document hoax’2 shows how this pdf was constructed by adding 
repeating patterns of previously released documents with bankruptcy documents that have 
nothing to do with Dulberg’s’ case and merging these with 261 pages of the contents of ‘Lawyer 
Emails by date’.


45.	DUL 004853 to DUL 0052453 are 393 pages of the folder: 


‘Paul Dulberg Emails’4 


in alphabetical order. The folder contains 422 pages of unique email documents so 29 pages are 
missing.


46.	DUL 006688 to DUL 0075315 are 844 pages of the contents of the folder:


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Emails6


This is the only bates numbered group of emails in which no emails were removed.


47.	Of the 4 large blocks of email documents Williams turned over to opposing counsel in total, 
only one block had no documents missing. All missing email documents from each email block 
are listed in ‘Visual Aid 7 - Email hoax’7. The pattern of missing email documents creates a 
type of hidden obstacle course for anyone who has to locate bates-stamped email documents. 
It could take a person hours or days just to locate a specific bates-stamped email document. It 
is impossible to know which email pages are missing from each email block section without 
carefully analyzing each document individually.


The collections of emails that Williams received from Dulberg and from the Gooch Thumbdrive 
were very organized as can be seen in:


Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 6-Paul Dulberg Emails, 422 pages total8


Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 7-folders of emails sent to Williams as 
email attachments, 422 pages total9


1 � Exhibit 39-Dulberg 1 Gooch Retainer Contract .pdf
2 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 7 - Repeating document hoax.png
3 � Exhibit 40-DUL 004852-DUL 005245.pdf
4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 6-Paul Dulberg Emails, 422 pages total
5 � Exhibit 34-DUL 006688-DUL 007531.pdf
6 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/Emails
7 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 7 - Repeating document hoax.png
8 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 6-Paul Dulberg Emails, 422 pages total
9 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 7-folders of emails sent to Williams as email attachments, 
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Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 8-Emails, 844 pages total1


Those same collections of emails were turned into a hacked-up, confusing mess by Williams and 
Clinton just before being bates stamped and sent to opposing counsel as ‘Visual Aid 5’2 shows.


48.	DUL 002943 to DUL 0048523 is an exact duplicate of DUl 000001 to DUL 0024604 with 
some files removed so it contains no new documents that were not already produced. It is not 
plausible that Williams did not know DUL 002943 to DUL 004852 did not contain the same files 
as DUL 000001 to DUL 002460 because she could easily compare the 2 folders containing the 
contents of each section:


Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Production JCW Working Folder/Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be 
Produced5


Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Documents to Be Produced 2020 June 25/Gooch Files to Be 
Produced in Legal Mal 2020 June/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS (done)6


The contents of both folders are compared side by side in ‘Visual Aid 10 - Duplicating long 
alphabetical list hoax’7 and their source folders are shown. With the exception of the documents 
added to the May 30, 2019 document disclosure (the sources of which are mapped in ‘Visual Aid 
10’), the contents of the two folders can be seen to be basically identical.


49.	DUL 002650 to DUL 0026818 are the same 4 files totaling 7 pages from “Dulberg Bates 2639 
to 2645 2020 Jan 31.pdf”9 already turned over to opposing counsel on January 31, 2020 repeated 
3 times with a 10 page bankruptcy document of ‘Patricia Gallagher’ and another bankruptcy 
document. The repeating pattern of 4 files is shown in ‘Visual Aid 7 - Repeating document 
hoax’10 and the source folders for the documents are shown.


50.	This means that in the massive file ‘Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf’11 (which is over 5200 pages) the 
first 2596 pages does not contain a single relevant document that had not already been produced. 
The last 2646 pages had information being produced for the first time from the folder:


Gooch Thumbdrive\Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client12


422 pages total
1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 8-Emails, 844 pages total
2 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 5 - Email hoax.png
3 � Exhibit 41-DUL 002943-DUL 004851.pdf
4 � Exhibit 42-DUL 000001-DUL 002460.pdf
5 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 3-Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be Produced
6 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 10-Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS (done)
7 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 10 - Duplicating long alphabetical list hoax.png
8 � Exhibit 43-DUL 002650-DUL 002681.pdf
9 � Exhibit 21-Dulberg Bates 2639 to 2645 2020 Jan 31.pdf
10 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 7 - Repeating document hoax.png
11 � Exhibit 27-Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf
12 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client
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The documents being produced for the first time were hidden behind 2596 pages that did not 
contain a single document that was not already produced. The final bates numbered documents 
were then given to their fully disabled client just before Clinton and Williams resigned as 
counsel and just after opposing counsel filed a supplemental document production request for 
some of these documents being bates stamped and released by Williams for the first time. They 
are gas-lighting a handicapped person to the extreme to greatly weaken his valid claims.


51.	On July 27, 2020 at 2:24 PM Ed Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating: 


“... Please see the attached letter. Best Regards ...”1


In the attached letter2 Clinton and Williams resigned as Dulberg’s attorneys.


52.	On July 29, 2020 at 1:56 PM Dulberg sent an email to Ed Clinton and Julia Williams with the 
subject “Need clarification on outstanding issues before your departure” stating:3 


“... Outstanding questions on open issues for Clinton firm before departure: 
... 
2. What happened with the objections raised during Dulberg’s deposition when Dulberg 
was questioned about conversations with Dulberg’s former counsel Gooch? Did you get a 
ruling or does that still need to be argued before judge Meyer? ...”


Williams answered: 


“... There has been no motion practice on the issue and thus, there is no ruling. Your 
future counsel will need to bring that before the Judge at some point. ...”4


Dulberg also asked: 


“... 3. Similar to the last question, Have the objections in the Mast deposition been 
worked out or ruled on by judge Meyer? ...”


Williams answered: 


“... There has been no motion practice on the issue and thus, there is no ruling. Your 
future counsel will need to bring that before the Judge at some point. ...”


53.	The Clinton law firm filed5 their Motion to Withdraw as Dulberg’s counsel on August 18, 
2020 and were granted6 the Motion to Withdraw on September 10, 2020.


54.	On August 19, 2020 at 8:11 AM Paul Dulberg sent an email with Williams and Clinton 


1 � Exhibit 44-Dulberg v Popovich 2017 L 377.pdf (Page 1)
2 � Exhibit 45-Dulberg Client Letter 2020 July 27.pdf
3 � Exhibit 46-Need clarification on outstanding issues before your departure.pdf (Page 1)
4 � Exhibit 46-Need clarification on outstanding issues before your departure.pdf (Page 2)
5 � Exhibit 47-Dulberg Motion to Withdraw Stamped 2020 August 18.pdf
6 � Exhibit 47a-Pages from CLR_Vol_1_of_2_230421_1627_D4CDE198-3.pdf
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stating:1


“Hi Julia & Ed, 


Now that you have filed for withdrawal I need to ask for a few things before you depart.


1.) The case file. 
2.) PDF’s of all communications/correspondence with opposing counsel. 
3.) �The paper copies of the Baudin case file I provided you with at our first meeting in your 


office.


The first 2 items I can download from a link you provide but the 3rd Item I will need 
to pick up or you can ship it to me at my expense. Also, I still have your thumb drive. I 
can mail it back to you or drop it off when I pick up the paper Baudin file. Let me know 
which you prefer. Thank you both again for your professionalism and help with my case 
...”


55.	On August 19, 2020 at 1:26 PM Julia Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:2 


“... We are happy to provide whatever documents you need. Mary will be preparing an 
electronic copy of the file for you. Because your file is large, we will likely send you a 
drive with the full file. We will mail it to your home. For the paper copies of the Baudin 
file, please work directly with Mary on picking those up or having them shipped. ...”


56.	On August 20, 2020 at 5:10 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:3 


“... I emailed Mary about the case files but I have one other concern. At our first meeting 
Ed made copies of the checks I wrote to Gooch. I would like a copy of these included 
in the case file. The retainer check was $10,000 and another $5,000 check was written 
to cover the initial costs for filing fee’s and an expert witness. Ed said he would get the 
$5,000 back from Gooch. Was anything done with this or does Gooch still have the extra 
$5,000 for the expert witness that was never hired? ...”


57.	On August 25, 2020 at 10:37 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:4 


“... This is just a reminder. The following 3 items are to be shipped via UPS or Fedex, 
2nd day delivery option, to my home at my expense.


1. The current case file - on a thumb drive 
2. �All communications with opposing counsel and any other party regarding my case - on a 


thumb drive
3. The paper Baudin case file from the underlying case - in a box


See my shipping address below:  


1 � Exhibit 48-2020-08-20_0510 AM_SENT_Dulberg v Mast Motion to Withdraw.pdf (Page 1)
2 � Exhibit 48-2020-08-20_0510 AM_SENT_Dulberg v Mast Motion to Withdraw.pdf  (Page 1)
3 � Exhibit 48-2020-08-20_0510 AM_SENT_Dulberg v Mast Motion to Withdraw.pdf (Page 1)
4 � Exhibit 49-2020-08-25_1037 AM_SENT_Document Request.pdf
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Paul Dulberg 
4606 Hayden Ct. 
McHenry IL. 60051


Please let me know how you need me to pay your firm for the shipping and the thumb 
drive. Please feel free to call me with any questions or concerns. ...”


58.	On September 2, 2020 at 10:40 AM Ed Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:1


“Bauldin case file was sent to in several parts because the box was falling apart and it 
seemed more logical to spread it out. The tracking numbers are: 
7714 1307 6317  
7714 1295 8029  
7714 1312 3496  
7714 1242 1808  
7714 1208 8509  
Mary”


59.	On September 8, 2020 at 9:24 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton stating:2 


“... I received the packages from the tracking numbers you listed below. 


They appear to be the paper Baudin case file from the underlying case. 


I am still waiting on the tracking number Mary sent that should have the thumb drive 
with the current case file. ...”


60.	On September 9, 2020 at 12:34 PM Dulberg sent an email to Mary Winch, Clinton and 
Williams stating:3


“... I received the thumb drive yesterday. ...”


61.	On October 15, 2020, at 4:01 PM, Paul Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:4


“... I know your off this case but I am overwhelmed and could use your help. 


I need all of the final discovery documents we sent to opposing counsel through the case. 


This includes all our final answers to interrogatories and document production sent as 
well as all supplementals requests etc.... 


Why? 
I messed up a few weeks ago when you sent the thumb drive. It filled my hard drive and I 
couldn’t get it all in the Mac and I had a computer crash. My machine froze up and I had 
to move or delete a lot of data. I tried to then to use my old 32 bit windows PC and move 


1 � Exhibit 49a-2020-09-02_1041 AM_RECV_Document Request.pdf (Page 1)
2 � Exhibit 49c-2020-09-08_0924 AM_SENT_Document Request.pdf (Page 1)
3 � Exhibit 49d-2020-09-09_1234 PM_SENT_Thumb Drive.pdf
4 � Exhibit 50-2020-10-15_1601 PM_SENT_PLEASE HELP WITH CASE FILE.pdf
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the files to windows and that created more issues than I can count. I have spent weeks 
trying to sort things out. Bottom line, I think I’m suffering from information overload and 
moved so many things around to make room that I can’t find anything anymore or if I do 
find it I’m not sure that it is the final version of what I am looking for. 


I will never know your file system as well as you. 


Please help me out with this 


You can resend me the emails with the final discovery documents and interrogatories  
Or  
Send new emails with all the final discovery documents  
Or  
Send me the exact file names so I can do a search and find them. 


I know I am asking a lot of you to help even though you withdrew and I am sorry I 
wasn’t better prepared for that much data to come my way. ...”


62.	On October 15, 2020, at 11:23 PM, Paul Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:1


“... Have all the items in a folder named “Dulberg Documents to Be Produced 2020 June 
25” been sent to opposing counsel already? ...”


63.	On October 16, 2020 at 8:40 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:2


“Everything that was produced is in the file Dulberg Discovery Produced by Dulberg to 
OC. All the files in the 2020 June folde should have been produced over the summer. ...”


64.	On Oct 16, 2020, at 10:38 AM, Paul Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:3


“... It looks like everything in the “Dulberg Documents to Be Produced 2020 June 25” is 
in the “Dulberg Docs Produced by Dulberg to OC” with the exception of “Dulberg JCW 
Notes re Discovery 2020 June 26.docx”, which is your notes, and the “Dulberg Paul’s 
Notes on Deposition and handwritten notes 2020 July 1” which is nothing more than a 
color duplicate of the black and white PDFs produced in the “Dulberg 7893-8551 .pdf” 


Is it safe for me to assume that opposing counsel has been given all documents with 
the exception of the privileged gooch emails? [Emphasis Added]


Also, I see in the “Dulberg JCW Notes re Discovery 2020 June 26.docx” that you were 
worried about the waiver issue for Gooch. I don’t agree, I answered those questions in the 
deposition under an objection and certainly didn’t waive privilege.


It appears the defense counsel is confused over when I should have known of an injury 
vs when I learned from an attorney that I had a case in an attempt to pry into privileged 
communications that cannot change the outcome for their stated goal of reopening the 


1 � Exhibit 50a-2020-10-16_0840 AM_RECV_PLEASE HELP WITH CASE FILE.pdf (Page 1)
2 � Exhibit 50a-2020-10-16_0840 AM_RECV_PLEASE HELP WITH CASE FILE.pdf (Page 1)
3 � Exhibit 50b-2020-10-16_1038 AM_SENT_PLEASE HELP WITH CASE FILE.pdf (Page 1)
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statute of limitations and deposing Gooch and myself for a second time. 


It seems to me to be simple math when calculating the statute of limitations


1. �The malpractice happened between October 2013 and February 2014 in the underlying 
case


2. �The earliest I could or should have known of the injury was December 12th, 2016 from 
the award in the underlying case


3. This case was filed on November 28, 2017
4. �There is no conversation that could take place between myself and Gooch that could 


change the first two dates even in the slightest and the third date, the date we filed suit 
was the culmination of our work product in the current case, not the underlying case. 


One more question, Where do I find all the final answers we sent to opposing counsel for 
the interrogatories and supplemental interrogatories? ...”


65.	On October 16, 2020 at 10:44 AM Dulberg wrote an email with the subject “PLEASE HELP 
WITH CASE FILE” to Williams stating:1


“Oh, and just so you are aware, I may have to argue this on my own without counsel and 
I am going to do everything I can to see this case through to the end.  
Continue to help me navigate your case file, perhaps correct me when I am wrong and I 
will make sure your lean gets satisfied out of the award.  
Thank you all for what you have done thus far ...”


66.	On October 16, 2020 at 12:45 PM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:2


“Paul: 


You are safe in assuming that everything we possessed was produced with the 
exception of the privilege Gooch documents/emails. [Emphasis Added]


The file titled “Dulberg Discovery Produced to Def” contains all of the written discovery 
turned over to the opposing party, including, interrogatory answers, responses to request 
to produce, documents that were produced in response to the request to produce. ...”


One document was completely suppressed by Williams and never turned over to opposing 
counsel by the Clinton Firm: The Appellate Court slip ruling Tilschner v Spangler


67.	On October 19, 2020 at 8:25 AM Paul Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams 
stating:3 


“Hi Julia and Ed, 


I’m sure you noticed the amount of emails I have sent. I’m in a frantic state to find new 
counsel and simultaneously try to learn what I call “legalese” so I can reply to and argue 


1 � Exhibit 50c-2020-10-16_1044 AM_SENT_PLEASE HELP WITH CASE FILE.pdf
2 � Exhibit 50d-2020-10-16_1245 PM_RECV_PLEASE HELP WITH CASE FILE.pdf
3 � Exhibit 51-2020-10-19_0825 AM_SENT_Contingency.pdf
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Flynns Motion on my own if need be and learn your file system. 


Before I go give $10,000 on yet another attorney, whom I don’t know, I wanted to give 
you an option since your already familiar with the case, know the case file and I do 
trust you and don’t think it fair that you did all that work and may not get paid what you 
should if I end up hiring the wrong attorney. 


In less than 3 months I will have enough cash in hand to fund this case and finish it 3x 
over. It will probably take less time but that is my worst case scenario as my family and I 
move to liquidate some assets and free up our capital rather than borrow from loan sharks 


I am hoping that you would be interested in taking back representation of this case. 


Rather than hire a new attorney, I can use the $10,000 to pay for you legal services over 
the next 3 months 


This gives me 3 months to make the arrangements needed to have enough funding to go 
at this paying in full the whole way through. 


If after 3 months I don’t have the funds to finish this case, you can withdraw again. 


I believe this would give both of us the best chances at recouping the money and time 
invested thus far. 


Time is limited so please think about this and let me know in the next day or two.”


68.	On October 19, 2020 Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:1


“... We will cannot accept your matter again. 


As for the remainder of the emails that you sent, we provided you with the entire 
file. The documents are labeled. Anything in the folder that stated it was produced to 
OC—I provided the specific name in my email last week—those documents/written 
discovery answers were produced to OC. If it’s not in that folder, it wasn’t produced. 
There are several duplicates of documents—you should cross check it with that folder. 
We did produce everything we could to OC with the exception of confidential 
communication between you and Gooch. I believe all the other relevant and 
requested documents were produced. [Emphasis Added]


We did not respond to the July 2020 supplemental discovery that George Flynn issued to 
you. I sent the requests in an email to you, but they are also on the flash drive. 


Again, everything is on the flash drive, so we recommend that you look there. We wish 
you the best of luck. ...”


69.	From the time Flynn mentioned taking care of “dangling loose ends” to Williams (about 20 
minutes after the end of the Mast deposition on June 25, 2020) to the time that Williams either 
resigned as Dulberg’s counsel on July 27, 2020 or received a court order granting the Motion to 
Withdraw on September 10, 2020, Williams did no noticeable work other than the production of 


1 � Exhibit 51a-2020-10-19_0952 AM_RECV_Contingency.pdf
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the more than 6000 documents she had been actively suppressing since May 30, 2019. Yet she 
continued to suppress one document: The Appellate Court slip ruling Tilschner v Spangler. She 
did no noticeable work to address either the Gooch communications nor did she object to turning 
them over in court.


70.	Williams was in possession of the Gooch Thumbdrive1 since around November 28, 2018 
which is about 6 months before she first turned over 2598 pages of documents to opposing 
counsel on May 30, 2019. The excuse Williams gave Dulberg for sneaking the suppressed 
documents back into the documents turned over to opposing counsel was that she needed to 
“ensure that Gooch’s entire file on the underlying case was sent” and she needed to ensure that 
“communications from your subsequent counsel in the underlying case” were also sent to Flynn.


71.	Williams does not explain why Gooch’s entire file (which she had in her possession since 
November, 2018) was finally being turned over on July 9, 2020 just 18 days before she resigned 
as Dulberg’s attorney. Williams does not explain why “communications from your subsequent 
counsel in the underlying case” were being turned over on July 9, 2020 just 18 days before she 
resigned as Dulberg’s attorney. If Williams did not intentionally suppress the email documents 
on May 30, 2019, Williams would not have had to disclose the same documents on July 9, 2020 
(that she intentionally kept suppressed for almost 14 months).


72.	Communication between Flynn and Williams shows that Williams performed actions on 
June 19, 2020 which led Flynn to believe there was a high probability Williams would resign as 
Dulberg’s attorney (and Williams actually did resign as Dulberg’s attorney on July 27, 2020). 
She released over 6000 pages of documents to Flynn on July 9, 2020, which is about 20 days 
after Flynn was led to believe there was a strong possibility she would be resigning shortly, and 
18 days before she actually did resign. Williams released over 6000 pages of documents to the 
opposing party over 9 months after Williams stated in the November 4, 2019 court transcript: 
“So I think we have produced pretty much everything we have, but I can talk to counsel about 
the documents” and almost 14 months after Williams released 2598 pages of documents to the 
opposing counsel on May 30, 2019.


73.	Williams and Clinton also created misleading work product in the electronic case file they 
gave to Dulberg and subsequent counsel in order to hide what were doing and to deceive Dulberg 
and any future attorney Dulberg may have concerning how and when documents were produced 
to Opposing Counsel. For example, the folder ‘Dulberg Master File\Gooch Files’2 contains other 
folders that were renamed to show how Williams should have produced Dulberg’s documents to 
opposing counsel but did not. The proof given in this complaint and accompanying Visual Aids 
shows Williams did not produce Dulberg’s documents in the way that is suggested in the folder 
‘Gooch Files’ (but pretended to Dulberg that she did). The folder is not true work product.  It is 
made to create an ‘alibi’ or ‘decoy’. Another example of a ‘decoy’ folder is ‘Dulberg Master File\
Dulberg Research’3 which was created on May 28, 2019 just (before the May 30, 2019 document 
disclosure) as a way to hide the certified Appellate Court slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler.


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive
2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 11-Dulberg Gooch File
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 12-Dulberg Research
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74.	Each of the Visual Aids appear to show a series of intentional hoaxes that Williams and 
Clinton knowingly played on Dulberg. Williams and Clinton also appear to mock their own fully 
disabled client by repeatedly mis-typing his name as “Duhlburg” as can be seen in “Visual Aid 
11 - Mocking client”1. This appears to be an inside joke at the Clinton Law office where their 
client appears as stupid. “Duh” Dulberg seems not to know how the more intelligent Williams 
and Clinton are secretly sabotaging his case.


CHAPTER 2: COLLABORATION WITH OPPOSING ATTORNEY TO BENEFIT THE 
DEFENDANTS AND SABOTAGE PLAINTIFF’S CASE


2A	� THE EXAMPLE OF BANKRUPTCY


2A1.	 Dulberg declared bankruptcy on November 26, 20142 while he was the plaintiff in PI case 
12LA178.


2A2.	 The defendants, Thomas Popovich and Hans Mast (Dulberg’s attorneys at the time 
Dulberg filed for bankruptcy) continued to represent Dulberg in the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court 
even though they knew:


(a) The case was under the automatic stay in The 7th Circuit United States Bankruptcy Court 
for the Northern District of Illinois, Western Division. 


(b) Dulberg had no standing to pursue the case while the case was under an automatic stay in 
The 7th Circuit United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Western 
Division.


(c) All acts in violation of the automatic stay are void.


2A3.	 As stated in Re Enyeti:


“It is well established in case law that acts taken in violation of the automatic stay 
imposed under section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code are deemed void ab initio and lack 
effect. See Middle Tenn. News Co., Inc. v. Charnel of Cincinnati, Inc., 250 F.3d 1077, 
1082 (7th Cir. 2001) (“Actions taken in violation of an automatic stay ordinarily are 
void.”); York Ctr. Park Dist. v. Krilich, 40 F.3d 205, 207 (7th Cir. 1994) (judgment issued 
against debtors without a modification of the automatic stay must be vacated); Matthews 
v. Rosene, 739 F.2d 249, 251 (7th Cir. 1984) (orders issued in violation of automatic 
stay provisions of Bankruptcy Code ordinarily are void); In re Benalcazar, 283 B.R. 
514, (Bankr.N.D.Ill. 2002) (same); Garcia v. Phoenix Bond Indem. Co. (In re Garcia), 
109 B.R. 335, 340 (N.D.Ill. 1989) (“[T]he fundamental importance of the automatic 
stay to the purposes sought to be accomplished by the Bankruptcy Code requires that 
acts in violation of the automatic stay be void, rather than voidable. Concluding that 
acts in violation of the automatic stay were merely voidable would have the effect of 
encouraging disrespect for the stay by increasing the possibility that violators of the 
automatic stay may profit from their disregard of the law, provided it goes undiscovered 


1 � Visual Aids/Visual Aid 11 - Mocking client.png
2 � Exhibit A1-0_Docket Report_OCR.pdf
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for a sufficient period of time.”). See also Hood v. Hall, 321 Ill.App.3d 452, 254 Ill.
Dec. 470, 747 N.E.2d 510, 512 (2001) (“There is no question that judgments entered 
in violation of the automatic stay in bankruptcy are void ab initio . . . and that void 
judgments may be attacked at any time.”); Concrete Prod, Inc. v. Centex Homes, 308 Ill.
App.3d 957, 242 Ill.Dec. 523, 721 N.E.2d 802, 804 (1999) (“[A]cts in violation of the 
section 362(a) automatic stay are void ab initio.”)”


2A4.	 Williams and Clinton, as Dulberg’s retained legal malpractice attorneys, must have known 
about the automatic stay and Dulberg’s lack of standing but they never informed Dulberg of 
this.  They must have known that the acts of Popovich and Mast can be viewed as an attempt to 
change the value of an asset in a Federal Bankruptcy Estate.


2A5.	 Williams and Clinton must have also known that all of Dulberg’s attorneys (after Dulberg 
filed for bankruptcy on November 26, 2014, Popovich, Brad Balke and the Baudins) violated the 
automatic stay and represented Dulberg in the Illinois 22nd Judicial Circuit Court even though 
each must have known the court had no jurisdiction and that Dulberg had no standing as plaintiff 
in the PI case. Williams and Clinton must have known all 3 law firms pushed Dulberg to settle 
his case against Gagnon in violation of Federal Bankruptcy laws, and that these attempts can be 
viewed as efforts to change the value of an asset in a Federal Bankruptcy Estate.


2A6.	 Dulberg informed Williams to include information about Dulberg’s November 26, 2014 
bankruptcy in the SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT. Dulberg informed Williams that the 
bankruptcy trustee forced him into a binding mediation agreement against his will.


2A7.	 On December 4, 2018 at 2:20 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:1


“Please find the two file attachments named working.pdf and comment on complaint.txt 
Comment on complaint.txt contains a color code explanation for what is in working.pdf. 
Also, I have attached the order in which the judge decided what was stricken along with 
the transcripts that will be needed to decipher the courts order. Please feel free to contact 
me with any and all questions you may have.”


2A8.	 In the document “working.pdf” Dulberg edited paragraph 43 in red font to include:2 3


“Dulberg, who was injured, disabled and unable to work with household bills stacking 
up, realized the medical bills and attorney fees would leave him with very little if 
anything and decided to file for bankruptcy protection. Mast then tried to get Dulberg to 
enter into a mediation with Gagnon with a $50,000 cap. At this point Dulberg severed the 
relationship with Mast.”


Dulberg edited paragraph 44 to state:4 5


1 � Exhibit A2-2018-12-04_1420 PM_SENT_2nd amended complaint draft_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 1)
2 � Exhibit C3-Working.pdf (Page 7)
3 � Exhibit A2-2018-12-04_1420 PM_SENT_2nd amended complaint draft_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 10)
4 � Exhibit C3-Working.pdf (Page 7)
5 � Exhibit A2-2018-12-04_1420 PM_SENT_2nd amended complaint draft_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 10)
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“In December of 2016, Dulberg was ordered by the Bankruptcy Trustee into a binding 
mediation related to his claims against Gagnon.”


Dulberg edited paragraph 46 in red font to include:1 2


“Due to the Binding Mediation Agreement into which the Bankruptcy Trustee ordered 
Dulberg, Dulberg could not collect more from Gagnon. The bankruptcy trustee took the 
money and paid Dulberg’s debt in full (it was a 100% solvent bankruptcy).”


2A9.	 On Dec 5, 2018, at 10:33 AM, Julia Williams wrote:3


“... Attached please find the revised version of the second amended complaint. We will 
plan to file it tomorrow by morning. If you can, I request that you send further thoughts 
and edits by 5pm today. I have a deposition in the afternoon and cannot file it later in 
the day. I reviewed your comments and edits. Overall, many were accepted. There were 
some, particularly the language about the bankruptcy, that I thought were unnecessary 
and would simply muddy the waters for the judge.


In this case, we need to show that Mast/Popovich had a duty to advise you properly and 
protect your interest, they failed to do that by urging you to settle with the McGuires 
when you could have continued with the case against them and obtained a much 
better result, instead you settled and were not able to recover at least $300,000. The 
bankruptcy proceedings are necessary to this case. They will add color to the case and 
the information will definitely come out in the discovery process. That being said, I don’t 
want to confuse the issues and the recovery by making allegations about the bankruptcy 
in the complaint. Further, I don’t want to increase any burden of proof we may have by 
making allegations that are necessary to prove our case. ...”


Williams removed any mention of Dulberg’s 2014 bankruptcy from the second amended 
complaint.4 5


2A10.	On May 30, 2019 Williams turned over “Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 
29.pdf”6 in which the contents from the folder ‘Gooch thembdrive\Dulberg UNDERLYING 
CASE DOCS\Files From Baudin’s Office\Paul Dulberg - BK Docs’7 appear in alphabetical order 
in the following bates number locations:


DUL 001079 ........ Discharge of debtor letter
DUL 001267-9 ..... February 16, 2015 letter from Heeg to Mast (with no fax cover page) 
DUL 001270 ........ Fax cover page from Heeg to Mast dated January 6, 2015


1 � Exhibit C3-Working.pdf (Page 7)
2 � Exhibit A2-2018-12-04_1420 PM_SENT_2nd amended complaint draft_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 10)
3 � Exhibit A3-2018-12-05_1035 AM_RECV_Second Amended Complaint _ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 1)
4 � Exhibit A4-Dulberg Second Amended Complaint REDLINED 2018 Dec 5.docx
5 � Exhibit A5-Dulberg Second Amended Complaint 2018 Dec 6 2pm FINAL W EXH.pdf
6 � Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf
7 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE 


DOCS/Files From Baudin’s Office/Paul Dulberg - BK Docs
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DUL 001671-2 ..... 2 pages of a January 6, 2015 faxed message from Heeg to Mast
DUL 001844 ........ Meeting of creditors notice
DUL 001913 ........ �Order dated October 31, 2016 issued by bankruptcy judge for bankruptcy 


trustee to enter into binding mediation


2A11.	Dulberg informed Williams that Dulberg never agreed to enter into any Binding Mediation 
and he refused to sign any Binding Mediation Agreement. Williams was in possession of 
a proposed Binding Mediation Agreement which was unsigned by any party and failed to 
investigate and obtain the executed Binding Mediation Agreement.


2A12.	Williams and Clinton, who had full access to the clerks file in 12LA178 and are 
professional Legal Malpractice Attorneys, could see all the activity that took place moving the 
PI case forward to a resolution in violation of the automatic stay.  Williams and Clinton failed to 
investigate or obtain any of the underlying case 12LA178 Reports of Proceedings.  In particular 
they failed to investigate the time from June 13, 2016 to August 10, 2016 in which the Baudins 
and Allstate attorney Reddington first proposed and then came to a full agreement and set a date 
for Binding Mediation in the Illinois 22nd Judicial Circuit Court.  The Baudins and Reddington 
did this in violation of the automatic stay, while knowing that the Illinois 22nd Judicial Circuit 
Court had no jurisdiction over the PI case and while knowing Dulberg had no standing as 
plaintiff in the PI case.


Trustee Joseph Olsen was first appointed Trustee over Dulberg’s bankruptcy estate on August 
31, 2016 (weeks after Allstate attorney Reddington and the Baudins already came to a final 
agreement on binding mediation). 


2A13.	On October 31, 2016, almost 3 months after Allstate attorney Reddington and the Baudins 
finalized a Binding Mediation Agreement and set a hearing date, the following exchange took 
place in bankruptcy court:1


“MR. OLSEN: Good morning, Your Honor. Joseph Olsen, trustee. This comes before the 
Court on two motions. One is to authorize the engagement of special counsel to pursue 
a personal injury litigation, I think it’s in Lake County, involving a chainsaw accident of 
some sort. And then, presumably, if the Court grants that, the second one is to authorize 
the estate to enter into -- I’m not sure what you call it, but binding mediation. But there’s 
a floor of $50,000, and there’s a ceiling of $300,000.


And I guess I’ve talked with his attorney. He seems very enthusiastic about it. There may 
be some issues about the debtor being a good witness or not, I guess. It had to do with a 
neighbor who asked him to help him out with a chainsaw, and then I guess the neighbor 
kind of cut off his arm, or almost cut off his arm right after that. There’s some bitterness 
involved, understandably, I guess.


But I don’t do personal injury work at all, so I’m not sure how that all flows through to a 
jury, but he didn’t seem to want to go through a jury process. He liked this process, so...


THE COURT: Very well. Mr. Olsen, first of all, with regard to the application to employ 


1 � Exhibit A6-DULBERG 10-31-16-1.pdf
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the Baudin law firm, it certainly appears to be in order and supported by affidavit. Their 
proposed fees are more consistent with at least what generally is the market than some of 
the fees you and I have seen in some other matters. One question for you: Have you seen 
the actual engagement agreement? 


MR. OLSEN: I thought it was attached to my motion.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. OLSEN: If it’s not, it should have been. It’s kind of an interesting -- actually, this 
is kind of a unique one. The debtor actually paid them money in advance, and then he’s 
going to get a credit if they actually win, which I guess enures, now, to my benefit, but 
that’s okay. And there’s a proviso for one-third, except if we go to trial, then it’s 40 
percent. So these are getting more creative by the PI bar as we plod along here, I guess, 
but...


THE COURT: It’s a bar that’s generally pretty creative. And my apologies. I saw the 
affidavit, but you did have the agreement attached, and one was in front of the other. And 
the agreement is just as you describe it. It appears to be reasonable, and so I’ll approve 
the application. Tell me about this binding mediation. It’s almost an oxymoron, isn’t it?


MR. OLSEN: Well, I guess the mediators don’t know there’s a floor and a ceiling. I’m 
not sure where that comes from, but that’s -- yeah. And whatever number they come back 
at is the number we’re able to settle at, except if it’s a not guilty or a zero recovery, we 
get 50,000, but to come back at 3 million, we’re capped at 300,000.


THE COURT: Interesting.


MR. OLSEN: A copy of the mediation agreement should also be attached to that motion.


THE COURT: And I do see that. That appears to be in order. It’s one of those you wish 
them luck


MR. OLSEN: I don’t want to micromanage his case.


THE COURT: But that, too, sounds reasonable. There’s been no objection?


MR. OLSEN: Correct.


THE COURT: Very well. I will approve -- authorize, if you will, for you to enter into the 
binding mediation agreement, see where it takes you.


MR. OLSEN: Thanks, Your Honor.”


2A14.	In July, 2019 Dulberg asked Williams to subpoena bankruptcy documents and 
communications from bankruptcy trustees Heeg and Olsen. Williams told Dulberg that she 
could not subpoena Heeg’s records because Heeg had retired1 and the documents are no longer 
available to us. Dulberg was told by Williams that bankruptcy Trustee Olsen has responded to 
the subpoena “informally”. Trustee Olsen did not include a certificate of compliance with his 
response to the subpoena and Williams never asked for one.


1 � Exhibit A6a-2020-02-10_1518 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Mast et al Discovery and Court Order.pdf
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2A15.	On September 5, 2019 the following exchange took place in court:1


“MR. FLYNN: Any date in November is fine with me, your Honor. I would like to have a 
resolution of the privilege issue, though. It sounds like the decision hasn’t been made, so 
--


MS. WILLIAMS: I think we’re waiving privilege. I’ll say it on the record, we’re going to 
waive privilege.


MR. FLYNN: Okay. THE COURT: Okay.


MR. FLYNN: The only other issue that was raised -- I just reviewed the written discovery 
yesterday and you had (indiscernible) 201(k) that there was a bankruptcy that was 
mentioned kind of vaguely in one of the answers. It sounds or appears that either the 
bankruptcy judge or the trustee had enforced or required a mediation and a high-low 
agreement. To the extent that those documents are responsive to any of the requests -- and 
I’ll have to go through them to see if they are. Otherwise I’ll just issue a supplemental, 
but I think the bankruptcy file and communications with the trustee are probably 
responsive to our discovery, so I would just request that those be included in our --


MS. WILLIAMS: I think we produced a number of the bankruptcy issues, but we can talk 
about it today and definitely try to work out -- there’s definitely -- there was a bankruptcy. 
We’re not trying to hide that bankruptcy, so. And the trustee did resolve -- there was an 
arbitration based on the trustee’s recommendation in the bankruptcy for the individual.”


2A16.	On November 4, 2019 the following exchange took place in court:2


“MR. FLYNN: So I think they are amending the discovery answers and possibly 
producing more documents. I’m not sure.


THE COURT: Is that correct, counsel, not putting you on the spot, but is that an accurate 
representation?


MS. WILLIAMS: Right. So I think we have produced pretty much everything we 
have, but I can talk to counsel about the documents.” [Emphasis Added]


2A17.	On December 17, 2019 at 11:00 AM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:3


“... In preparation for our call today, I am resending the all discovery as I don’t think 
you received some of them the first time. ...” [Emphasis Added]


The file “Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599”4 consists of the contents of this file in alphabetical 
order:


1 � Exhibit A7a-2019-09-05_R 53-R 58_ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1.pdf (Page 3 Line 21 through 
Page 5 Line 3)


2 � Exhibit A8a-2019-11-04_R 59-R 63_ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1.pdf (Page 3 Lines 10-24)
3 � Exhibit 17-Dulberg case.pdf (Pages 3-4)
4 � Exhibit 18-Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599 .pdf
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Gooch Thumbdrive\Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS\Files From Baudin’s Office\Paul 
Dulberg BK Docs1


On May 30, 2019 Williams already turned over all contents of the folder:


Gooch Thumbdrive\Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCS\Files From Baudin’s Office\Paul 
Dulberg BK Docs2


so there were no files in “Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599”3 turned over on December 17, 2019 that 
were not already included in ‘Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf’4 (which 
was turned over on May 30, 2019). Williams must have known this because she created the 
original pdf and the files are in her working folder at:


Dulberg Master File\Dulberg Production JCW Working Folder\Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be 
Produced5 6


2A18.	On January 29, 2020 at 3:50 PM Williams first notified Dulberg the documents that 
Williams provided to Flynn on December 17, 2019 were given to opposing counsel.7


2A19.	On February 19, 2020 at 6:09 AM (which was the morning of Dulberg’s deposition) 
Dulberg sent an email with the subject “Capped ADR agreement issue” to Julia C. Williams and 
Ed Clinton which stated:8


“Hi Julia and Ed, 


Yesterday we talked about the bankruptcy court ordering the case into ADR with a cap on 
the amount that could be recovered.


This was an agreement between Allstate, the Baudins and the trustee that put the motion 
before the bankruptcy court.


I did some talking with at least 12 bankruptcy attorneys on those free legal advise forums 
last night


All said basically the same thing. This should not have been allowed without the owner 
of the case/asset, me, agreeing to it.


I was given this example which I believe best explains it.


1  �Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE 
DOCS/Files From Baudin’s Office/Paul Dulberg - BK Docs


2  �Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE 
DOCS/Files From Baudin’s Office/Paul Dulberg - BK Docs


3 � Exhibit 18-Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599 .pdf
4 � Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf
5 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Production JCW Working 


Folder/Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be Produced
6 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 3-Dulberg JCW DRAFT To Be Produced
7 � Exhibit A9-2020-01-29_1550 PM_RECV-2_Discovery Documents _ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 1)
8 � Exhibit A10-Capped ADR agreement issue.pdf
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In chapter 7 bankruptcy 
You go into Bankruptcy and the court orders your assets (like your home) to be auctioned 
off to pay your creditors which is legal 
But they took it one step too far when they capped the amount 
Since it’s already going to auction its not fair to you, the actual owner of the asset or even 
the creditors, to cap the amount that can be recovered at auction 
They are supposed to let the auction play out to recover what the highest bidder pays, not 
cap it. 
Capping the highest bid at an auction makes no sense 
The same goes for any recovery from any asset including a personal injury suit 
I’m sorry this happen to you


Now that I know this, I’m not 100% here, but I think I understand why the trustee Joe 
Olsen hired the Baudins to represent him Any advise on this would be helpful ...”


2A20.	Dulberg later filed complaint 2022L0109051 naming bankruptcy Trustee Olsen as a 
defendant for breach of duty and contract fraud.  The complaint also names the Baudins for 
legal malpractice and contract fraud.  The filing was based on the later research and initiative of 
Dulberg’s subsequent counsel, who obtained the October 31, 2016 bankruptcy court Report of 
Proceedings transcribed for the first time.


2A21.	A reasonable person can conclude that when Williams informed Dulberg that she could 
not obtain any documents from bankruptcy Trustee Heeg since Heeg is retired2, the claim was 
factually untrue. A reasonable person can also conclude that when Williams allowed Trustee 
Olsen to respond to the subpoena “informally”, valuable information was hidden from Dulberg 
that he needed to know in his case against Mast and Popovich (and that Dulberg’s later counsel 
had to discover through his own efforts and which is written into civil complaint 2022L0109053 
naming Bankruptcy Trustee Olsen and the Baudins as defendants).


A reasonable person can conclude that Williams intentionally suppressed the large majority of 
bankruptcy documents on May 30, 2019 and suppressed any mention of bankruptcy in the 2nd 
Amended Complaint to sabotage Dulberg’s case against Popovich and Mast. By suppressing 
the subject of Dulberg’s 11/26/2014 bankruptcy from the 2nd Amended Complaint and from 
“Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf”4 given to opposing counsel on 
May 30, 2019, opposing counsel Flynn was able to avoid all the complex issues raised in civil 
complaint 2022L0109055 such as:


(a) That Dulberg’s signature was fraudulently placed on the Executed Binding Mediation 
Agreement executed on 12/8/2016.


(b) That Trustee Olsen misrepresented Dulberg’s consent to the Bankruptcy Judge on 
10/31/2016.


1 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf
2 � Exhibit A6a-2020-02-10_1518 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Mast et al Discovery and Court Order.pdf (Page 1)
3 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf
4 � Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf
5 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf







35


(c) That Popovich, Balke, Allstate, the Baudins and Trustee Olsen all knew Dulberg had no 
standing to pursue the case 12LA178 while the case was under an automatic stay.


(d) That Popovich1, Allstate, Balke2, the Baudins3 and Trustee Olsen4 all knew the case 
12LA178 proceeded in the Circuit Court in violation of the automatic stay.


(e) That the Baudins by agreement with Allstate, in violation of the automatic stay, before the 
Baudins were approved to be hired as special counsel under Trustee Olsen on 10/31/2016, 
misrepresented Dulberg as agreeing to Binding Mediation in Circuit Court on 8/10/2016 and 
asked Associate Judge Meyer to delay the next status hearing to 12/12/2016 after the Binding 
Mediation was to take place on 12/8/2016.5 6 7


(f) That the Baudins and Allstate’s acts in violation of the automatic stay, started laying 
the groundwork as early as 6/13/20168 and finally set the Binding Mediation date for 
12/8/2016 on 8/10/2016 in the Circuit Court.9 10 This happened before Trustee Olsen was 
even appointed to the position on 8/31/201611 and before Trustee Olsen received permission 
from the Honorable Judge Thomas M. Lynch, to hire the Baudins as special counsel and give 
Trustee Olsen permission to enter into the proposed capped Binding Mediation Agreement on 
10/31/2016.12


(g) That the Baudins filed their APPEARANCE as REGULAR COUNSEL in 12LA178 on 
11/6/2015 in violation of the automatic stay.13


(h) That there is no APPEARANCE filed by the Baudin Defendants that is not VOID in case 
12LA178.


(i) That the Baudin Defendants’ failed to file an APPEARANCE to represent the bankruptcy 
estate in case 12LA178 after being hired as special counsel by Trustee Olsen.


(j) That Trustee Olsen received permission from the Bankruptcy court to enter into the 
proposed Binding Mediation Agreement and later made a choice and Trustee Olsen did not 
act and sign on the advice of his special counsel the Baudins.14


(k) That Trustee Olsen did not “pursue” and “exercise control” over the claim/asset and in 


1 � Exhibit 18-Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599 .pdf (Pages 2-7, 15-18)
2 � Exhibit 18-Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599 .pdf (Pages 8-9)
3 � Exhibit A6b-Pages from Filed Bauding Motion to Dismiss April 25 2023 2022L010905.pdf
4 � Exhibit A6b-Pages from Filed Bauding Motion to Dismiss April 25 2023 2022L010905.pdf
5 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf Page 14-15 ¶46, (Page 70)
6 � Exhibit F3-2016-08-10_CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 3_3_2022 -  - - REOP -  - (4).pdf
7 � Exhibit F2-2016-08-10_12LA178_ORDER-Continued to 12-12-2016 for Status of Binding Mediation-Motion for 


IME GRANTED-Other Motions Continued to 12-12-2016_Meyer.pdf
8 � Exhibit F1-2016-06-13_CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 2_24_2022 -  - - REOP -  -.pdf (Page 2 Lines 8-9, Page 3 Lines 


12-16)
9 � Exhibit F3-2016-08-10_CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 3_3_2022 -  - - REOP -  - (4).pdf
10 � Exhibit F2-2016-08-10_12LA178_ORDER-Continued to 12-12-2016 for Status of Binding Mediation-Motion for 


IME GRANTED-Other Motions Continued to 12-12-2016_Meyer.pdf
11 � Exhibit A6c-25-0.pdf
12 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf (Page 70-71)
13 � Exhibit A6d-12LA000178--2015-11-06--APE_0083.pdf
14 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf (Pages 71, 73, 75-80)
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doing so Abandoned the asset and it reverted back to the DEBTOR.1


(l) The Baudin Defendants were approved and hired as Special Counsel for the Estate 
and in such a capacity had no standing to execute a Binding Mediation Agreement for the 
DEBTOR.2


(m) The only party with standing over abandoned assets is the DEBTOR.


(n) That there can be no agreement between Allstate and the Baudin Defendants acting as 
counsel for the bankruptcy estate to have the case dismissed with prejudice in the Circuit 
Court on 12/12/2016 since the Baudins failed to file any appearance anywhere that is not 
VOID and had no standing since they did not represent the DEBTOR.3


(o) Trustee Olsen and the Baudins collected the monies paid out by Allstate after 
ABANDONING the ASSET that then reverted back to the DEBTOR.4


The avoidance of every one of these issues raised in complaint 2022L010905 clearly benefits 
the defendants in that it limits Dulberg’s possible recovery in the underlying case (12LA178) 
current case (17LA377) against Popovich and Mast to a $300,000 cap previously imposed 
by the bankruptcy trustee, Allstate and the Baudins. Once the issues raised in civil complaint 
2022L010905 are taken into consideration, serious doubts involving genuine issues of material 
fact are raised concerning whether any such ‘cap’ can be considered binding or legal or was 
obtained fraudulently.5


The available evidence demonstrates that the ‘cap’ was created by the Baudins and by Allstate 
alone, in violation of the automatic stay, in a court which had no jurisdiction, while knowing that 
all actions under such conditions are legally void, and without Dulberg’s knowledge or consent, 
close to 3 months before Olsen was appointed Trustee of the bankruptcy estate.


Williams and Clinton could have obtained all necessary court transcripts and common law 
records to know how and when the cap was actually created.  Williams and Clinton failed to: 
Investigate, obtain certified responses to any subpoena, obtain an executed Binding Mediation 
Agreement, or hold any of those who violated the automatic stay accountable.


2B	� THE EXAMPLE OF SAUL FERRIS


2B1.	 On May 30, 2019 Williams suppressed 2 documents of email communication between 
Saul Ferris and Dulberg and 7 other documents of email communication mentioning Saul Ferris, 
packages of Dulberg’s documents Saul Ferris had in his possession, and a missing pretrial 
settlement conference letter. The documents are:


Hans Mast2-546 –– with Balke on bankruptcy and pre-trial conference 


1 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf (Pages 75-80)
2 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf (Page 70)
3 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf (Page 70)
4 � Exhibit A6e-49-0.pdf
5 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf
6 � Exhibit B7-Hans Mast2-54.pdf
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Hans Mast2-551 –– �with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and Saul Ferris with a 
box of Dulberg’s documents


Hans Mast2-562 –– �with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and Saul Ferris with a 
box of Dulberg’s documents


Hans Mast2-573 –– �with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and Saul Ferris with a 
box of Dulberg’s documents


Hans Mast2-624 –– with Balke about April 9 pre-trial conference 
Hans Mast2-635 –– all communication with Balke on lean buyout and picking up the case file 
Hans Mast2-656 –– with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and a box from Ferris  
Hans Mast2-737 –– with Ferris on declining case 
Hans Mast2-788 –– with Ferris on declining case


2B2.	 Williams had to suppress documents from 3 different sources in her possession since 
she was provided with at least 3 different complete versions of Dulberg’s emails before May 
29, 2019 (One on the Gooch Thumbdrive in the main folder “Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE 
DOCUMENTS”9, one on the Gooch Thumbdrive in the main folder called “Dulberg Paul 
Dulberg Files From Client”10, and one sent to Williams as email attachments11. Only one 
document of email communications mentioning Saul Ferris and a package of documents Ferris 
sent to Dulberg was included in the May 30, 2019 document disclosure: “Dulberg Document 
Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf”12. It is DUL 001334 which is the file “Hans Mast2-64”13.


2B3.	 Williams also suppressed a document sent to her from Dulberg as an email attachment 
called “rejection letters.pdf”14. Additionally, Williams suppressed two documents of declination 
letters from the Gooch thumbdrive15 16. To do this Williams had to suppress declination letters 
from two different sources (one from the folder “Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files from Client”17 
on the Gooch Thumbdrive and one sent by Dulberg to Williams as an email attachment called 
“rejection letters.pdf”18)


1 � Exhibit B7a-Hans Mast2-55.pdf
2 � Exhibit B7b-Hans Mast2-56.pdf
3 � Exhibit B7c-Hans Mast2-57.pdf
4 � Exhibit 7c-Hans Mast2-62.pdf (Page 2)
5 � Exhibit 7b-Hans Mast2-63.pdf
6 � Exhibit B12-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
7 � Exhibit B6-Hans Mast2-73.pdf
8 � Exhibit B7d-Hans Mast2-78.pdf
9 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 6-Paul Dulberg Emails, 422 pages total
10 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 8-Emails, 844 pages total
11 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 7-folders of emails sent to Williams as email attachments, 


422 pages total
12 � Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf (Page 1334)
13 � Exhibit B7e-Hans Mast2-64.pdf
14 � Exhibit B1-Rejection-Letters.pdf
15 � Exhibit B2-Kupets & DeCaro Letter RE Case 3.5.15.pdf
16 � Exhibit B3-Ferris, Thompson & Zweig Letter RE Case 3.4.15.pdf
17 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client
18 � Exhibit B1-Rejection-Letters.pdf
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2B4.	 On January 29, 2020 st 3:50 PM Williams asked Dulberg about Balke:1


“...  
2. I see that there are some emails with Brad Balke. See Bates Stamp Dulberg 1322-1323, 
1334, 1319, 1321. It appears that Brad Balke obtained your legal file from Hans Mast, 
reviewed it, but did not represent you, and turned the file over to you. Is that correct? ...” 


On January 29, 2020 at 8:21 PM Dulberg responded from memory stating:2


“... I pulled this from memory but believe I have documented most or all of this within 
the emails but I would need a few days to dig through and cite the documentation. 
You are partly correct and partly incorrect. 
Balke did get the legal file and did represent Dulberg for a very short while. 
Balke was outright fired by Dulberg. 
Balke did make the file available to Dulberg much quicker than Mast. Balke left the file 
for Dulberg to pick up at an attorney office who was named Donahue in McHenry. ...”


On January 30, 2020 at 10:26 AM, after searching through the records he had on Balke, 
Dulberg  responded further by sending a few emails to Williams noting he had found email 
communications about Saul Ferris with Balke that were not in the bates numbered documents, 
stating:3


“... This Morning I looked up when Brad Balke filed his appearance and I found the 
attached document I named Balke Appearance.pdf It was March 19, 2015. 
This is what was filed in the public record. 
This should have been in the Gooch files. 
Looking back, I never received the digital Gooch files that were turned over to your 
office. Confirmed in email dated April 18,2019. The Gooch files should have included the 
entire case file that Mast turned over to me and the addition of the Balke and Baudin files 
as well as all communication records, bankruptcy documents, disability records, etc... 
Gooch took 6+ months to get all those records scanned in and I never was able to confirm 
he actually scanned in all of them.


On another note,


I found this: 05-08-15_Hans Mast2-56.pdf which is also attached. 
You may have this as, Hans Mast2-56.pdf 
This was provided to you on or around 11/17/2018 when I sent you all the 
communications I had. 
I did not find this in any of the bates numbered documents. 
It shows that the file was sent back to Saul Ferris and that I picked it up and delivered it 
to the firm named Danahu and Walsh at the direction of Balke. ...”


Williams never addressed how Dulberg found communications which were not in the Bates 


1 � Exhibit B4a-2020-01-29_1550 PM_RECV-1_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates _ATTACHMENTS.pdf
2 � Exhibit B4b-2020-01-29_2021 PM_SENT_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates _ATTACHMENTS.pdf
3 � Exhibit B4c-2020-01-30_1026 AM_SENT_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates _ATTACHMENTS.pdf
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stamped documents (but should have been included).


On January 31, 2020 at 7:44 AM Dulberg sent another email to Williams about the documents he 
found (that were not bates stamped) stating:1


“... Last night I was able to read the Emails around Saul Ferris and Brad Balke in context. 
It appears the email I sent yesterday which contained (Hans Mast2-56.pdf) showed me 
piking up the documents (defendants depositions and mailed correspondence) I had been 
given to read from Mast earlier. 
It was not the case file. 
The case was was obtained at later date. 
Thought it was important to clarify this. ...”


On January 31, 2020 at 1:30 PM Williams replied to only part of Dulberg’s earlier emails (and 
avoided the part about documents missing bates stamps) by stating:2


“... Thank you for the clarification. 
 
We have a duty to produce everything that is in your possession and control, thus if there 
are email attachments that were not produced, we should produce them if you have them. 
 
Also, it is likely an appropriate time to make a demand in this case. 
 
Given that the total award Gross Award of $660,000 with 15% comparative fault in the 
Gagnon matter for an award of $561,000,I believe that it would be hard to prove that 
if Gagnon and the McGuires were tried or arbitrated together, you would somehow get 
a larger award. I think there is a good argument to say that Gagnon and the McGuires 
would have been jointly liable for the award of $561,000. You recovered $300,000 from 
Gagnon, the remainder would have been paid by the McGuire’s through their insurance. 
Thus, your damages for dismissing the McGuires is about $261,000 less the $5,000 you 
obtain from them for total damages of $256,000. 
Do you want me to make a demand of $256,000 from Defendants in this case? ...”


 


2B5.	 On Jan 31, 2020, at 12:45 PM, Julia Williams sent an email to opposing counsel Flynn 
stating:3


“... I am writing regarding the outstanding discovery issues. I am producing further 
documents bates stamped 2639-2645.


...


1 � Exhibit B4d-2020-01-31_0744 AM_SENT_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates .pdf
2 � Exhibit B4e-2020-01-31_1330 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates .pdf
3 � Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Page 78)
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2. Brad Balke.


Brad Balke’s appearance is attached as 2645. This should resolve all of the current 
discovery issues that you presented to us. We will continue to supplement our 
discovery responses if more documents are discovered. ...” [Emphasis Added]


The document “Dulberg Bates 2639 to 2645 2020 Jan 31.pdf”1 consists of 6 pages and was 
attached to the email. “Dulberg Bates 2639 to 2645 2020 Jan 31.pdf”2 contains one email 
document which is ‘Hans Mast 2-56’3.


2B6.	 On February 11, 2020 at 12:10 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams and Clinton  
stating:4 5 


“... 
Saul Ferris did not perform any legal services other than the free initial consultation to 
talk, read through the documents and review the case Dulberg had and decide if he would 
represent Dulberg.  
 
Saul Ferris advised that Dulberg “attending the pretrial to at least see what kind of 
settlement offer is made.” 03-06_12- 15_Hans Mast2-73.pdf  
 
I know this would be a fishing expedition. Dulberg would like to see if Popovich and 
Mast asked Saul Ferris to send them Dulberg’s only copies of the depositions and written 
letters Mast had sent to Dulberg through the Mail back to Popovich/Mast’s office then 
Mail them back to Saul Ferris to give to Dulberg.  
 
During the Saul Ferris-Popovich/Mast mailing debacle Dulberg was limited in the 
amount of time to he had to hire a new attorney by the court.  
 
The delay in getting the Depositions and written correspondence delayed Dulberg 2 
months from having anything to show any possible new attorney anything from the case.  
 
Thus, Dulberg hired Brad Balke, the only Attorney willing to represent Dulberg without 
seeing any documentation from the case beforehand and meeting the courts order to find 
new counsel.  
 
The following emails show the 2 month period that Dulberg did not have access to his 
own copies.


Attached as:


1 � Exhibit 21-Dulberg Bates 2639 to 2645 2020 Jan 31.pdf
2 � Exhibit 21-Dulberg Bates 2639 to 2645 2020 Jan 31.pdf
3 � Exhibit B7b-Hans Mast2-56.pdf
4 � Exhibit B4-Dulberg v Mast et al Discovery and Court Order.pdf (Pages 23-34)
5 � Exhibit B4f_2020-02-11_1210 PM_SENT_Dulberg v Mast et al Discovery and Court Order_ATTACHMENTS.


pdf
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03-06_12-15_Hans Mast2-73.pdf 
03-06-15_Hans Mast2-78.pdf 
03-06-15_Hans Mast2-79.pdf 
03-20_24-15_Hans Mast2-64.pdf 
03-20_25-15_Hans Mast2-63.pdf 
03-20_30-15_Hans Mast2-62.pdf 
03-20-15_Hans Mast2-65.pdf1 
05-08_09-15_Hans Mast2-55.pdf 
05-08_12-15_Hans Mast2-54.pdf 
05-08-15_Hans Mast2-56.pdf 
05-08-15_Hans Mast2-56.pdf 
05-08-15_Hans Mast2-57.pdf
One of these emails is listed as: Dulberg 001334 
...”


Dulberg gave Williams a list of 12 PDF documents and pointed out that only 1 is Bates stamped. 
Dulberg again produced the documents by attaching the 12 documents to the email even though 
these same documents were previously given to Williams long before the first document 
disclosure on May 30, 2019.  
Williams avoids the obvious issue Dulberg pointed out: The fact that 11 PDF documents are not 
Bates stamped.


2B7.	 On March 6, 2020 Flynn sent an email to Williams stating:2


“... I write pursuant to 201(k).  
 
At Mr. Dulberg’s deposition, he testified at p. 38 that he met with attorney Saul Ferris, 
who would not take his case over from Popovich because “your decision to settle with 
the McGuire’s was a mistake and we don’t [sic] take it because of that.” From lines 15-19 
on the same page, Dulberg testified that Ferris said it in a letter, on the phone, and sent 
him an email. Dulberg’s testimony at p. 95 also establishes that the communications with 
Ferris were prior to Popovich’s withdrawal in March 2015.  
 
These ommunications go directly to the issue of the discovery date of the alleged 
malpractice. I do not recall seeing an email or letter similar to what has been described. 
Please produce these communications, and perhaps we can avoid the necessity of 
combing through Mr. Dulberg’s or Mr. Ferris’ records to pinpoint the date of the phone 
call between the two. 
...”


2B8.	 Williams acted as if she was not in possession of Saul Ferris emails, letters or other 
documents mentioning Saul Ferris when she communicated with Dulberg in late January and 


1 � Exhibit B12-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
2 � Exhibit B5-Dulberg v Popovich-2.pdf
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early February of 2020.1 2 3 4 5


2B9.	 On February 10, 2020 Williams acted as if she had never seen any documents concerning 
Saul Ferris and questioned Dulberg’s purpose in subpoenaing documents from Saul Ferris.6


“... What would be the purpose of the subpoena? What do you mean by “he sent copies of 
depositions and correspondence with Mast back to Mast?” Did he perform legal services? 
Did he provide advise to you? ...”


2B10.	On February 11, 2020 Dulberg replied again referencing one of the suppressed 
documents:7


“... Saul Ferris did not perform any legal services other than the free initial consultation to 
talk, read through the documents and review the case Dulberg had and decide if he would 
represent Dulberg. 
 
Saul Ferris advised that Dulberg “attending the pretrial to at least see what kind of 
settlement offer is made.” 03- 06_12-15_Hans Mast2-73.pdf ...”


The suppressed emails describe how the package of documents and the missing letters were 
moved from the office of Saul Ferris and when and how Dulberg first received the package 
of documents back from the office of Saul Ferris 2 months later. It is simply not credible for 
Williams to claim she was not aware of who Saul Ferris was and to claim she was not aware 
of the fact that Ferris was in possession of a box with documents and at least one letter which 
opposing counsel Flynn was actively seeking and Williams was actively suppressing.


2B11.	When the contents of the suppressed email documents are examined it becomes clear that 
the suppressed emails already contained the information that Flynn later pressured Dulberg to 
contradict. For example HansMast2-738 contains an email document sent on Mar 6, 2015 from 
Saul Ferris to Dulberg in which Ferris stated: 


“Hi Paul I decided not to accept your case primarily based upon you settling with 
the homeowners for 5 thousand. I have mailed your file back to you. I would suggest 
attending the pretrial to at least see what kind of settlement offer is made. Thanks for 
letting me review your case. Sorry I can’t help you. Best, Saul”


And Dulberg answered on March 12, 2015 stating:9


1 � Exhibit B4a-2020-01-29_1550 PM_RECV-1_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates _ATTACHMENTS.pdf
2 � Exhibit B4b-2020-01-29_2021 PM_SENT_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates _ATTACHMENTS.pdf
3 � Exhibit B4c-2020-01-30_1026 AM_SENT_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates _ATTACHMENTS.pdf
4 � Exhibit B4d-2020-01-31_0744 AM_SENT_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates .pdf
5 � Exhibit B4e-2020-01-31_1330 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates .pdf
6 � Exhibit B4-Dulberg v Mast et al Discovery and Court Order.pdf (Page 18)
7 � Exhibit B4-Dulberg v Mast et al Discovery and Court Order.pdf (Page 24)
8 � Exhibit B6-Hans Mast2-73.pdf
9 � Exhibit B6-Hans Mast2-73.pdf
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“Hi Saul, Have you already mailed the documents or can they be picked up?”


In another suppressed email document HansMast2-54 Dulberg emails Balke on May 8, 2015 
stating:1


“Hi Brad,  
Yesterday Saul Ferris office called and said they just received back the packet they 
mistakenly sent to Hans Mast at Popovich law firm. In it is the pretrial settlement memo 
you wanted to see. 
There is also the printed depositions of both the homeowners, the defendant and myself.  
I picked these up this morning.  
Let me know how to get these to you.”


In suppressed email documents HansMast2-652, HansMast2-633, HansMast2-624 on March 20, 
2015 Dulberg informed Balke: 


“Hi Brad,  
As we discussed, I was to receive via certified US Mail depositions and communications 
between Hans Mast and myself from Saul Ferris an attorney in Gurnee, IL. Saul Ferris 
number is (847) 263-7770  
I called Saul Ferris office last week and was assured they were sent. I was told to give it 
another week.  
I called Saul Ferris office again today to find out they were mailed to and signed for at 
3416 W. Elm St. McHenry, IL. by someone named Anne Oupl on March 7th. This is Hans 
Mast office.  
I called Hans office and apparently no one by that name works there and no one knows 
anything about receiving the certified mail.  
I’m at a loss as to how these documents were sent to the wrong place and am a bit furious 
because it has the memo about the pre- trial settlement you wanted to see.”


From these emails one can learn that Ferris and Dulberg probably met in or just before the first 
week of March, 2015 since Ferris declined to take the case on March 6, 20155 (they actually met 
on February 26, 20156). One can learn that someone in the office of Saul Ferris sent Dulberg’s 
box of documents to the law offices of Thomas J. Popovich where on March 7, 20157 someone at 
the law offices of Thomas J. Popovich signed for the box. The person that sent the box claimed 
that sending the box to the law offices of Thomas J. Popovich was an accident. We can learn 
that the office of Saul Ferris got the box back from the Law offices of Thomas J. Popovich on or 
around May 8, 20158 so Dulberg’s box of documents inexplicably remained in the law offices of 


1 � Exhibit B7-Hans Mast2-54.pdf
2 � Exhibit B12-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
3 � Exhibit 7b-Hans Mast2-63.pdf
4 � Exhibit 7c-Hans Mast2-62.pdf
5 � Exhibit B6-Hans Mast2-73.pdf
6 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf (Page 11 Lines 3-5)
7 � Exhibit B12-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
8 � Exhibit B7c-Hans Mast2-57.pdf
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Thomas J. Popovich for 2 months. We can learn that a pretrial settlement memo was with the box 
of documents.


If the email documents mentioning or involving Ferris were not suppressed by Williams, 
opposing counsel Flynn couldn’t have made the following arguments in court. Flynn was 
pushing a partially forged letter which his own client Popovich was holding for 2 months as an 
authentic document which was sent directly from Ferris to Dulberg by mail.


2B12.	Williams sent 2 emails containing the suppressed documents concerning Saul Ferris to 
opposing counsel and to Dulberg for the first time on July 9, 2020. The 2 emails contained over 
6000 pages of documents1 2.  This was also 2 days after the Clinton firm drafted “Dulberg Draft 
Letter re case 2020 July 7 .docx”3. This document is a draft of an intent to withdraw letter that 
was finished and emailed to Dulberg on July 27, 2020 at 2:24 PM. that states:4


“... Due to the coronavirus crisis and its impact on our firm, we are reevaluating al of 
our contingent fee cases. Your case is not moving toward resolution. Rather, there is 
significant litigation that will need to occur prior to any resolution of the case. We cannot 
continue to be involved in the prolonged litigation and thus believe you should seek out 
alternative counsel. ...”


An interesting fact about the draft “Dulberg Draft Letter re case 2020 July 7 .docx”5 and the final 
letter emailed to Dulberg “Dulberg Client Letter 2020 July 27.pdf”6 is where they are located 
within the Clinton Firms case file:


Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Matter Ed Clinton/Dulberg Cicero France Barch Production 
Complete/Dulberg Draft Letter re case 2020 July 7 .docx7


Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Matter Ed Clinton/Dulberg Cicero France Barch Production 
Complete/Dulberg Client Letter 2020 July 27.pdf8


The location of the Clinton Firm’s intent to withdraw draft and final letter are found amongst 
documents that came from the McGuire’s Attorney Ronald Barch’s responsive documents to a 
subpoena.  This suggests that these files were intentionally placed there to make them difficult to 
find and perhaps, with luck, hide them.


2B13.	On September 7, 2022 Flynn claimed that Dulberg met with Ferris on December 31, 2014 


1 � Exhibit 7f-2020-07-09_1144 AM_RECV_Fwd Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
2 � Exhibit 7g-2020-07-09_1147 AM_RECV_Fwd Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
3 � Exhibit 7d-Dulberg Draft Letter re case 2020 July 7 .docx
4 � Exhibit 7e-2020-07-27_1424 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Popovich 2017 L 377_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
5 � Exhibit 7d-Dulberg Draft Letter re case 2020 July 7 .docx
6 � Exhibit 7e-2020-07-27_1424 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Popovich 2017 L 377_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
7 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Matter Ed Clinton/Dulberg 


Cicero France Barch Production Complete/Dulberg Draft Letter re case 2020 July 7 .docx
8  �Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Matter Ed Clinton/Dulberg 


Cicero France Barch Production Complete/Dulberg Client Letter 2020 July 27.pdf
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and the Ferris declination letter proves it.1 2


Flynn essentially claimed that Dulberg was withholding documents and that Dulberg is dishonest 
when saying statements such as:


“MR. FLYNN: That’s correct. This is produced -- again, late produced in discovery after 
the plaintiff’s deposition. He should have produced this document years ago when he’s 
placed the discovery of his malpractice at issue. So then he produces this letter. I don’t 
want to have to take Saul Ferris’s deposition, so I’m just asking, this is the letter that Mr. 
Dulberg produced and that it’s a genuine copy of what he received in the mail?”3


MR. FLYNN: And he’s denying -- he denied the date. He then says it’s a later time period 
between February 23rd and March 6th of 2015, which also coincided with the drafting 
of that letter, by the way. So he’s changed the premise of No. 4, but sort of provided an 
answer --4


“MR. FLYNN: No, Judge. I -- as you said, I think he’s going to make the same denials 
and in my opinion play the same games he’s been playing. So I’ll take Mr. Ferris’s 
deposition. I’ll seek -- I’m requesting fees and costs in connection with the deposition 
because it shouldn’t be necessary.”5


Dulberg refused to admit that he met with Ferris on December 31, 20146. Yet the suppressed 
emails such as Hans Mast2-737 HansMast2-658, HansMast2-639, HansMast2-6210 contain 
information that strongly suggests the meeting between Ferris and Dulberg took place in the first 
week of March or the last week of February 2015.  This is just as Dulberg had stated, and the 
meeting was confirmed to be on February 26, 201511 in the deposition of Saul Ferris.


2B14.	Flynn claimed in the REQUEST FOR ADMISSIONS OF FACT AND GENUINENESS 
OF DOCUMENT12 and a MOTION TO DEEM FACTS ADMITTED13 that Dulberg received 
the Ferris declination letter by U.S. mail at his home within 7 or 30 days and that the letter 
was sent directly from Ferris to Dulberg’s home14. Flynn essentially claimed that Dulberg was 
being dishonest when he refused to admit receiving the letter at his home. Flynn then used the 
confusion created by Williams suppression of these documents to force a deposition of Saul 


1 � Exhibit 7i-ferris letter forgery.png
2 � Exhibit 35-DUL 006354-DUL 006687.pdf (Page 149)
3 � Exhibit 7j-2021-09-07_Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1-4.pdf (Page 7 Lines 7-15)
4 � Exhibit 7j-2021-09-07_Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1-4.pdf (Page 10 Lines 3-8)
5 � Exhibit 7j-2021-09-07_Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1-4.pdf (Page 11 Lines 12-17)
6 � Exhibit 7i-ferris letter forgery.png
7 � Exhibit B6-Hans Mast2-73.pdf
8 � Exhibit B12-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
9 � Exhibit 7b-Hans Mast2-63.pdf
10 � Exhibit 7c-Hans Mast2-62.pdf
11 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf (Page 11 Lines 3-5)
12 � Exhibit B9-2021-07-20_Pages from CLR_Vol_1_of_2_230421_1627_D4CDE198.pdf
13 � Exhibit B9a-Pages from CLR_Vol_1_of_2_230421_1627_D4CDE198.pdf
14 � Exhibit B9a-Pages from CLR_Vol_1_of_2_230421_1627_D4CDE198.pdf (Page 2)







46


Ferris.1 Flynn accuses Dulberg essentially of hiding the document and abusing the discovery 
process  Flynn did this while knowing all along that the letter was actually addressed to his own 
client’s place of business2. Below are a few quotes from Flynn’s erroneous arguments:3


“... Dulberg’s pattern and practice of abusing the discovery process with improper and 
incomplete responses is repeated in his latest filing ...”


“... Defendants’ Requests for Admissions simply intended to authenticate a March 4, 2015 
letter purportedly drafted by attorney Saul Ferris, and establish when it was received 
by Dulberg. Dulberg finally produced said letter in discovery on June 7, 2021 with no 
explanation why it was not previously produced in this litigation ...”


“... The attached Request for Admissions was an attempt at simply authenticating the 
copy of Ferris’s letter, which again should have been produced years ago in this litigation 
but was not. Instead of acknowledging the authenticity of the copy of the letter, Dulberg’s 
response is a muddled and evasive attempt at muddying the water, and should not be 
countenanced by this court. Dulberg’s specious objections and attempt at explaining away 
the content of Ferris’s letter is deserving of a sanction. ...”


“... Perhaps the most egregious of Dulberg’s violations, aside from his attempt at 
redefining common legal terms and their variations such as “genuine” and “authentic”, 
is his denial of the genuineness of Exhibit A because he does not agree with the accuracy 
of the content, and because he is not in control of the author (see Response #1). A close 
second, is his failure to admit in No. 2 and No. 3 that he received the document from 
Ferris within 7 or within 30 days respectively, of the date affixed to the face of the letter. 
...”


“... Not only should those facts contained in the Request to Admit be admitted, but 
Defendants should not have to engage in “teeth pulling” discovery in order to simply 
authenticate a copy of a document which was inexplicably withheld in the first place. ...”


2B15.	Flynn made a significant issue of Ferris in the July 19, 2021 and the September 7, 2021 
court proceedings. 


2B16.	On July 19, 2021 the following exchange took place in court:4


“MR. FLYNN: I suppose with respect to the summary judgment motion that I anticipate, 
Judge, there was one document that was produced in order to avoid a second deposition 
of Mr. Dulberg to authenticate this document, which is a letter from Attorney Thompson 
-- I’m sorry -- Attorney Ferris -- 
that goes to the issue of the statute of limitations. If Mr. Talarico would stipulate to the 
authenticity of this March 4, 2015 letter on the record, I don’t need to send a request to 
admit for --


1 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf
2 � Exhibit 7i-ferris letter forgery.png
3 � Exhibit B9a-Pages from CLR_Vol_1_of_2_230421_1627_D4CDE198.pdf
4 � Exhibit B8-2021-07-19_Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1-5.pdf (Page 10 Lines 1-15)
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THE COURT: Can you hear all that?


MR. TALARICO: I heard it, Judge, but I’m not familiar with that document. A request to 
admit would be welcome.” 


2B17.	On July 20, 2021 Flynn filed a REQUEST FOR ADMISSIONS OF FACT AND 
GENUINENESS OF DOCUMENT1 with the following 4 requests:


1. �Admit that Exhibit A attached hereto is a true, accurate, and genuine copy of a March 
4, 2015 letter drafted by attorney Saul Ferris.


2. Admit that you received Exhibit A on or within 7 days of March 4, 2015.


3. Admit that you received Exhibit A on or within 30 days of March 4, 2015.


4. �Admit that you met with Saul Ferris on or about December 31, 2014 with regard to 
your personal injury case.


2B18.	The Saul Ferris declination letter2 contains at least 2 factually incorrect statements. The 
letter describes the date of the Dulberg-Ferris meeting as December 31, 2014 when the meeting 
actually took place on February 26, 20153. The letter also describes the date of Dulberg’s 
“accident” as being January 24, 2013 when the chainsaw accident actually took place on June 
28, 2011. (Dulberg’s deposition in the underlying case against the McGuires and Gagnon took 
place on January 24, 2013.) Flynn tried to pressure Dulberg to admit to the authenticity of the 
Ferris declination letter that contained inaccurate information (and was either in the possession 
of the Law Offices of Thomas J. Popovich for two months or it was created/altered or forged by 
the Law Offices of Thomas J. Popovich). Flynn also tried to pressure Dulberg to admit Dulberg 
received the letter by U.S. mail (even though the address at the top of the letter is not Dulberg’s 
residence). The address is that of Flynn’s own client, the law office of Thomas J. Popovich. 
Dulberg refused to admit the assertions as true and pointed out the inaccurate information.4


2B19.	On September 7, 2021 the following exchange took place in Court:5


“MR. FLYNN: Good morning, your Honor. George Flynn on behalf of defendant/
movant. The basis is it’s a motion to deem facts admitted. We were trying to authentic a 
document that was the subject of some discussion the last couple of times we appeared 
before your Honor. I filed the request to admit. We received objections that we believe 
are inappropriate and just moving for ruling on those objections and some other relief. 
The -- the response that they filed, essentially is a motion to strike based on the failure to 
conduct a 201(k) conference, which I don’t think is required with respect to objections 
and a request to admit, which is a hybrid discovery and evidentiary tool. So with respect 
to the motion itself, I really have nothing to say more than what’s in the motion. I’d 
be happy if the Court wanted to take it under advisement after it has an opportunity to 


1 � Exhibit B9-2021-07-20_Pages from CLR_Vol_1_of_2_230421_1627_D4CDE198.pdf
2 � Exhibit 7i-ferris letter forgery.png
3 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf (Page 11 Lines 3-5)
4 � Exhibit 7i-ferris letter forgery.png
5 � Exhibit B10-2021-09-07_Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1-2.pdf
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review the attachments and the motion.


THE COURT: No, I won’t take it under advisement. We’ll go back to that in a minute. 
Mr. Talarico, do you have any case law that says a 201(k) conference is required before 
216 -- or in a 216 situation?


MR. TALARICO: Yes, your Honor. Supreme Court Rule 201(a) typically says the request 
to admit --


THE COURT: Do you have any case law?


MR. TALARICO: No, I have no case law, your Honor.


THE COURT: Okay. Because I don’t think it does. I think by its own -- by the language 
of the rule, it’s 28 days. And in fact, I believe the rule requires that the request to admit 
facts explicitly disclosed if you’re not -- if you don’t respond in 28 days, the answers are 
deemed admitted. So there is no requirement to engage in a 201(k) conference to resolve 
differences because by its own language, it resolves itself. So let’s get into the answers. 
Okay. Anything you want -- I see No. 1, they seem to be asking you to admit or deny the 
genuineness of the document that was attached?


MR. TALARICO: Correct, your Honor


THE COURT: And do you have any -- anything to say beyond what you’ve written in 
response?


MR. TALARICO: Your Honor, use of the words defendant put into his motion, request 
to admit, are subject to various interpretations. And he did not include the definition of 
the specific words that he was using, so I relied upon the Black’s Law Dictionary for 
definition. And within that, we were -- we reviewed the fact of the document.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. TALARICO: The document -- the document is not accurate. It’s not true. It’s none 
of the above. It has a wrong date of accident, the wrong date of meeting. It has a lot of 
inaccuracies on it, Judge.


THE COURT: Okay. I’m going to strike the implicit objection regarding what is genuine. 
That being said, I do have what appears to be an admission. Mr. Flynn?


MR. FLYNN: Yeah, Judge. I mean, it’s -- I guess if it was an admission buried in these 
objections. But the entire document is muddled up with these various objections. I’m just 
asking if this is a true copy of the letter that his client received. I’m not asking if it’s -- if 
information contained is true and accurate. If you read it, it’s admit Exhibit A attached 
hereto is a true, accurate, and genuine copy of a March 4, 2015, letter drafted by Attorney 
Saul Ferris. He concluded with the content of the letter. That’s not what I’m asking about.


MR. TALARICO: Your Honor, that is not in true -- truth is not within that document. 
That’s what we’re saying. Those are false statements.


THE COURT: And that’s fine. But it is -- he doesn’t need to lay a foundation for the 
document am I correct?
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MR. TALARICO: No. But the question -- I’m sorry.


THE COURT: Are you -- are you admitting -- I’m assuming, Mr. Flynn, this is for 
purposes of a foundation? You’re not asking him to admit the contents?


MR. FLYNN: That’s correct. This is produced -- again, late produced in discovery after 
the plaintiff’s deposition. He should have produced this document years ago when he’s 
placed the discovery of his malpractice at issue. So then he produces this letter. I don’t 
want to have to take Saul Ferris’s deposition, so I’m just asking, this is the letter that Mr. 
Dulberg produced and that it’s a genuine copy of what he received in the mail? 


THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Talarico, yes or no?


MR. TALARICO: Judge, that is a genuine copy. We don’t know -- when examined, Mr. 
Dulberg does not recall. And in the deposition, he said he did not recall when he received 
it or how he received it. That is left open.


THE COURT: Mr. Talarico, I asked you a yes or no question, not asking for an 
explanation, which is consistent with what request to admit facts require. So are you 
admitting to the foundation of this document or denying --


MR. TALARICO: Yes, your Honor.


THE COURT: Okay. Then we will proceed. That’s deemed admitted for purposes of 
foundation. Next one -- Mr. Flynn, the next one at issue?


MR. FLYNN: Judge, there was 2 and 3, and I attempted to pin them down on when he 
received it. So I asked No. 2, if Mr. Dulberg received a copy of this letter within 7 days of 
the date dated. And then, the next one, I asked if he received it within 30 days of the date 
it was dated. He doesn’t answer either of those.


THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Talarico?


MR. TALARICO: Judge, with all due respect, Mr. Dulberg answered as best he could. 
This was alleged to be sent by U.S. Mail. He has no idea. It was many years ago. So 
he answered as truthfully, as cooperatively as possible, that he has no independent 
recollection of when this letter was received. He did a search of his own records, as 
presumed, at my request. He has no envelope.


THE COURT: If -- what it boils down to from my perspective is I’m reading it as 
a denial. And actually, that subjects you to 219(c) fees if they have -- for those fees 
associated with the cost of proving it up. But I’m reading it as a denial. Can I -- do you 
have any problem with my reading it as a denial? Am I incorrect?


MR. TALARICO: No, your Honor, you’re not.


THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Flynn, anything you want to add? My interpretation of all of 
that is a denial.


MR. FLYNN: If that’s what the answer is, then he’s denied that he received this letter 
within 30 days of the date that the lawyer put the -- stamped it. So yeah, if I need to 
prove it up by taking Mr. Dulberg’s -- retaking Dulberg’s deposition and then taking Saul 
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Ferris’s deposition, and as I’ve indicated in the motion, I’m seeking fees and costs.


THE COURT: Yeah. I’m going to interpret 30 -- or I’m sorry -- 3 the same way. I 
interpret that as a denial and you just have to prove it up. Next one?


MR. FLYNN: The next one is just regarding the meeting that is referenced in the letter. 
Admit that you met with Saul Ferris upon or about December 31, 2014, with regard to 
your personal injury case.


THE COURT: Okay. I –


MR. FLYNN: And he’s denying -- he denied the date. He then says it’s a later time period 
between February 23rd and March 6th of 2015, which also coincided with the drafting 
of that letter, by the way. So he’s changed the premise of No. 4, but sort of provided an 
answer -- 


THE COURT: I think that’s a denial because of the way you phrase your question. 
Anything after denies that he met Saul Ferris on or about December 31, 2014, with regard 
to -- with regard to the personal injury case, everything after that is surplusage. So you 
have a denial. All right. Is there anything else?


MR. FLYNN: No. The relief will be requested now that these denials and improper 
objections were raised. I’m going to have to retake Mr. Dulberg’s deposition at least on 
the subject matter of this letter and I’ll probably have to take Mr. Ferris’s deposition to 
prove-up the foundation for the letter as well.


THE COURT: Certainly --


MR. FLYNN: So I would ask for fees and costs


THE COURT: You have leave to depose Mr. Ferris. I’m not sure you need Mr. Dulberg’s 
deposition -- I’m willing to listen -- because your deposition of Mr. Dulberg would 
merely result in him repeating --


MR. FLYNN: Raising the same denial, so --


THE COURT: I mean, he’s on the record denied any recollection. So I don’t think you 
need the deposition to get him to say that in the transcript because you’ve got it in the 
request to admit. And I’ll hold him to that unless there’s something else you think you 
need from the deposition.


MR. FLYNN: No, Judge. I -- as you said, I think he’s going to make the same denials and 
in my opinion play the same games he’s been playing. So I’ll take Mr. Ferris’s deposition. 
I’ll seek -- I’m requesting fees and costs in connection with the deposition because it 
shouldn’t be necessary.


THE COURT: Well, I think -- and unless there’s a different issue with respect to the cost 
associated with that deposition, I think that’s an issue that I would have to address after 
trial because my reference to 219(c) is when you have to expend money to prove-up a 
fact that they deny, then you are entitled to those fees, but -- so I couldn’t award them yet 
because you haven’t -- 
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MR. FLYNN: Fair enough.


THE COURT: -- you haven’t done it. And I can only do that after the fact because if you 
fail to prove it up, you’re not entitled to those fees, obviously.


MR. FLYNN: Understood.


THE COURT: So is there anything else we need to do today?


MR. FLYNN: I don’t think so, Judge. If I could just clarify the order that will read that 
No. 1 is admitted, 2, 3, and 4 are denied


THE COURT: Yes.


MR. FLYNN: That I have leave to depose Mr. Ferris.”


2B20.	On October 14, 2021 Saul Ferris was deposed by Flynn and the following exchanges took 
place:1


page 6:2


Flynn:  “Okay. Have you reviewed some documents today to -- in preparation for the 
deposition today to refresh your recollection of the matter?”


Ferris:  “You provided me with a letter, which I will authenticate as being my letter dated 
March 4, 2015, and then you asked me to -- if there was any documentation, such as my 
file, which I do not have. I purged a file after four years, and it has been six years. But I 
keep my calendar -- I’ve kept my calendar since I started vexing as a civilian, meaning 
I was in the military, initially, and got out in 1989, and I have a calendar for every client 
I’ve seen since.”


page 8:3


Flynn:  “And do you know when you met with Mr. Dulberg?”


Ferris:  “Yes. It was on March 26th at 2:00 o’clock.”


Flynn:  Okay. And we’ll talk about the entry in your diary in a few moments. The letter 
indicates that he consulted with your firm on December 31, 2014, in regards to his 
personal injury case.     Do you know why the letter references a December 31, 2014, 
date?


Ferris:  “I- I can’t explain the discrepancy between my calendar and the date indicated. I 
-- I -- it was too long ago. I don’t know why.


Flynn:  Okay. Is it possible that Mr. Dulberg initially contacted your office on December 
31, 2014, but you didn’t actually meet with him until February or March?


1 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf
2 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf (Page 6)
3 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf (Page 8)
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Ferris:  “No. I -- I didn’t know this was an issue. Can you -- if you want, my -- my 2014 
calendar is in my drawer. I can pull it out and look at December 31st.


Flynn:  “If you have it handy.”


Ferris:  “This March date was another meeting. I do, if you give me about one minute.”


Flynn:  “Absolutely. Thank you.”


Ferris:  “So I have my 2014 calendar, and I’m looking at December -- well, all right. 
December 31st. Even though I’m -- well, that’s -- that’s New Year’s Eve. Let me see.  I 
normally would not meet with clients New Year’s Eve, but let me see. And, in fact, there 
is no entry on December 31st, 2014. Oh, that’s -- it’s a typo.”


page 9:1


Flynn:  “Is Exhibit 2 a photocopy of the cover page of your 2015 calendar, along with a 
date from February of 2015?


Ferris:  Correct.


Flynn:  “Okay. There is some handwriting on the second page, and I don’t want to get 
into the clients and confidential information. But is there an entry on Thursday, February 
26th, relative to Paul Dulberg?


Ferris:  “Yes.”


Flynn:  “And is this your handwriting?”


Ferris:  “It indicates a meeting, yes.”


Flynn:  “Okay. It indicates a meeting, and I see a few numbers, 2:00 o’clock and 4:00 
o’clock. Can you tell me what those mean?


Ferris:  That signifies that the meeting was originally scheduled for 4:00 o’clock. And 
either myself or the potential client asked that it be moved up to 2:00 o’clock, so I drew 
in there it’s 2:00 o’clock.”


page 10:2


Flynn:  “Okay. And next to the 4:00 o’clock entry, it says, Paul Dulberg.  There’s a dash, 
and then it says chain saw PI 6-28-11, dash. What does that mean?”


Ferris:  “I oftentimes to distinguish cases try andsummarize them by the nature of the 
case. And chainsaw -- I put chain saw because the client had called me and said that 
he was injured by a chain saw, which is horrifying and very memorable. And the other 
reason why I remember it so well is because I -- I own a chain saw; and I have a two-and-
a-half acre wooded lot, and I use my chain saw probably three, four times a month. So 
I’m intimately familiar with chain saws, and I was very interested in -- when this client 


1 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf (Page 9)
2 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf (Page 10)
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described my worst nightmare, which was getting injured by a chain saw. So I put chain 
saw to remind me what kind of case it was. And the 6-28-11 would be the date that the 
client indicated the incident happened. And, normally, I wouldn’t put down the date of the 
incident in the client appointment number, but in 2015, that was past the -- the statute of 
limitations, which would be two years minimum in Illinois, generally speaking. And so 
that -- I -- I knew that the statute had run. The first question I asked the client was, Was 
suit filed? He said suit had been filed, and so -- but wanted to discharge his attorney. So I 
agreed to meet with him and discuss his case.”


page 11:1


Flynn:  “Okay. And you actually did meet with him on Thursday, February 26, 2015, 
correct?”


Ferris:  “Yes.”


page 14:2


Flynn:  “Okay. Do you know when you drafted the letter and how you drafted it?”


page 15:3


Ferris:  “So the -- because this is more or less a form letter, in -- in my opinion, the 
December 31st date was -- was a date relating to another client, and I just didn’t change 
the date. But the reason why the date of letter March 4th makes sense in terms of when 
the potential client came in was on – on February 26th, so March 4th would have been 
about five days later. And when you have a potential statute of limitations issue, it’s 
advisable to get your declination letter -- see, I stole your word already -- get your 
declination letter out sooner than later.”


Flynn:  “Okay. And there was a weekend in between the date of your meeting and the 
date that the letter was finalized, correct?


Ferris:  “Correct.”


Flynn:  “Okay. And did this letter get mailed to Mr. Dulberg at the address listed on the 
top of the letter?”


Ferris:  “To the best of my knowledge, yes.”


Flynn:  “Okay. And would that have just been sent by regular U.S. postal mail?


Ferris:  “Correct. If it was certified mail, the letter would so indicate.”


Flynn:  “Okay. So this would -- this letter was sent, to the best of your knowledge, by 
U.S. Mail, First Class?”


1 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf (Page 11)
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page 16:1


Ferris:  “Yes.”


Flynn:  “Okay. Do you have any reason to believe that Mr. Dulberg wouldn’t have 
received this letter from you within seven days of March 4, 2015?”


Ferris:  “That’s a better question for the United States Postal Service than it is for me.”


Flynn:  “I don’t have --”


Ferris:  “I put it in the mail. And it was out of my hands.”


Flynn:  “Okay. And you’re -- do you believe he would have received this, barring any 
mistakes with the post office, he would have received it, at least, within 30 days of March 
4, 2015?”


Ferris:  “I -- I can’t speak to the processing time of the postal service. It’s really not for 
me to say.”


page 17:2


Flynn:  “Have you ever had any issues with the U.S. Postal Service not delivering letters, 
as far as you know?”


Ferris:  “Other than a letter being returned for the incorrect address, no.”


Flynn:  “And this letter was not returned for any reason, correct?”


Ferris:  “To the best of my knowledge, no.”


Flynn:  “Okay.”


Ferris:  “I -- I would have put that in the file and had been concerned that my declination 
was not communicated with the potential client. I would have acted on that. So I -- I don’t 
recall any of that happening.”


page 18:3


Flynn:  “What is your expectation as far as delivery time when you send any letter by 
U.S. Mail?”


Ferris:  “Locally, two days. Could be as fast as one day.”


Flynn:  “Okay. What about within the State of Illinois?”


Ferris:  “Two days, you know, statewide. ...”


page 19:4
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Talarico:  “My name is Alphonse Talarico, and I represent the Plaintiff. And I want to go 
over some of the statements you’ve made in this deposition -- discovery deposition, just 
for clarifying. I’m looking at what has been submitted and marked as Exhibit 2, which 
appears to be your 2015 DayMinder. And I think you testified as to that; is that correct?”


Ferris:  “Yes.”


Talarico:  “Okay. I only see the excerpts from one page, that’s the February 26th, which 
was a Thursday.  I believe it’s marked as a Thursday. My independent calendar says it 
was a Thursday. So I’m not asking you if it was or not. I’m just going to assume based on 
your daily reminder and the -- and my bar association daily reminder. You noted that he -- 
you were contacted for a chain saw personal injury matter. And I believe you testified that 
the date he told you the accident took place was June 28th, 2011; is that correct?”


page 20:1


Ferris:  “Yes.”


page 21:2


Talarico:  “Now, do you still retain the entire 2015 daily minder, if you would?”


Ferris:  “Yes. I have it. I have it right here.”


Talarico:  “Do you -- are there other occasions in that 2015 daily minder where you had 
contact, where you wrote down a contact with Mr. Dulberg?”


Ferris:  “I -- I did search the file to -- excuse me -- the calendar. And I see no other entries 
for Mr. Dulberg other than the entry which was provided. And I wasn’t trying to -- I 
was trying to be somewhat cautious with regard to client confidentiality, which is why I 
cut off the page. And I did put another client’s name on the same page, but that’s public 
record. He was charged criminally, so I’m not worried about any ARDC on that. But, you 
know, I can -- I can just -- I can hold up, if you could see the -- the page behind it, and 
there’s no entries for Mr. Dulberg.”


page 22:3


 Q. “... Let’s move on to Exhibit 1. ... There is a date on that that says March 4, 2015. 
You believe -- you testified you believe that’s the day that you drafted this letter? Did you 
actually -- I’m sorry. Let me -- what I’m trying to get to is, did you type the letter up? Or 
did you give it to -- maybe just do some type of dictation and have someone type it up for 
you?”


page 23:4
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Ferris:  “I do have a secretary that types letters for me. I either dictated it or took the 
form, disengagement letter, and made hand changes to it, which the secretary would have 
changed, and then I signed it. But March 4th would have been the date that it went out in 
the mail.”


Talarico:  “Okay. Thank you. And you testified that you sent it by regular mail to Mr. 
Dulberg?”


Ferris:  “Yes.”


Talarico:  “Okay. So if it was regular mail, which we can eliminate who signed for it -- 
and it was -- again, I just want to make sure I have the facts right, because I believe you 
testified that it never was returned to you. So your assumption was that it was properly 
delivered?”


Ferris:  “I can only assume that.”


Talarico:  “Right. I understand that. Sure. But I guess the one question you can answer is 
it never was returned to you?”


Ferris:  “Which it was not; that’s correct.”


Talarico:  “Thank you. On Exhibit 1, sir, the accident referred to, it does not correspond 
with your daily reminder and with your recollection of the date he told you the accident 
took place. And you have no explanation as to what January 24th, 2013, had to do with 
Paul Dulberg?”


page 24:1


Ferris:  “Oh, I don’t think I was asked about that – that date but –”


Talarico:  “I get to now ask you.”


Ferris:  “Yeah.”


Talarico:  “It says -- Exhibit 1 says, your accident of January 24, 2013. Is that correct? Is 
that what it says?”


Ferris:  “That’s what my letter says, yes.”


Talarico:  “And isn’t it correct, sir, that Exhibit 1, your daily reminder, it has the date of 
accident – well, refer -- refers to 6-28 of 2011?”


Ferris:  “Correct. So in my opinion, what happened was – this is a form letter. The 
disengagement or declination letter is a form letter to which I use over and over.  And 
apparently, I made a mistake by indicating – well, I don’t know what the accident date is. 
You gentlemen know when it was. So if the date’s wrong, it’s wrong, because it wasn’t 
change on the form letter.”


Talarico:  “Isn’t it true that the date of accident reported to you by Dulberg on your daily 
reminder, 6 – June 24 28th, 2011, that’s what he told you?”


1 � Exhibit B11-SAUL FERRIS 101421 FULL indx PDFA.pdf (Page 24)
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Ferris:  “To the best of my recollection, correct.”


page 25:1


Talarico:  “And you testified that you believe the December 31st, 2014, date, as far as 
consulting, is a typo, and you have no entry in your 2014 daily reminder for December 
13th -- 31st, I’m sorry -- New Year’s Eve, which by the way, I checked it, the late bar 
association was even closed on that day, that you did not have a meeting with him on that 
day, on New Year’s Eve?”


Ferris:  “Correct.”


Talarico:  “Okay. In your letter, sir, which is Exhibit 1, I draw your attention to that. I 
believe the first sentence you speak to -- you speak to Mr. Dulberg capsulizing what his 
conversation was with you -- was about -- was about, it -- and that stated -- it states, your 
personal injury case. Is that correct?”


Ferris:  “Yes.”


Talarico:  “But in your conversation with Mr. Flynn responding to his questions, you 
were talking about a statute of limitations. What statute of limitations were you talking 
about?”


Ferris:  “My understanding of the statute of limitations is for personal injury, it’s two 
years in the State of Illinois. I -- I don’t even remember where this happened, if it was 
in McHenry or -- then it would have been Illinois, and a two-year statute would have 
applied.”


page 26:2


Talarico:  “Okay. So what I’m getting at is Mr. Dulberg talked to you about a personal 
injury matter; is that correct?”


Ferris:  “Yes.”


Talarico:  “And the statute you’re referring to is a personal injury statute in the State of 
Illinois, correct?”


Ferris:  “Yes.”


Talarico:  “Your letter of Exhibit 1, the letter of March 4th, it says in the second to last 
sentence, I believe you should not have settled with the property owners for $5,000; is 
that correct?”


Ferris:  “Yes.”


“...”


Ferris:  “... 
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page 27:1


... you know what, most disengagement letters are very generic. This is very unusual for 
me to comment on any specifics of the case. But I -- I was very sympathetic to this injury 
for reasons stated. And the gentleman was referred by a guy who did great work for me. 
And so I was trying to be as helpful as I possibly could by saying that.”


Talarico:  “Okay. That brings us back to Exhibit 2. With all due respect, sir, the name 
David -- let me get back to Exhibit 2. On the sticky note you had -- you testified earlier 
today that you believe that it was someone who referred Mr. Dulberg to you. Do you 
recall the name of the defendant in the case that Mr. Dulberg brought to you and asked 
you to take over? Do you recall the name of the defendant?”


Ferris:  “No.”


Talarico:  “Would you be surprised to know that his name was David?”


Ferris:  “That -- that could be the reason I wrote down David. You could be absolutely 
correct on that.”


page 28:2


Talarico:  “Okay.”


Ferris:  “Versus the referral source. I was -- I was guessing, basically.”


“...”


Talarico:  “Exhibit 1, your letter of March 4th, the last paragraph, the last sentence 
you state, We recommend that you attempt to settle the case at the upcoming pretrial 
conference with your current attorney; is that correct?”


Ferris:  “Yes.”


page 29:3


Talarico:  “Okay. Could you -- could you enlighten us what -- what did you know about 
the pretrial conference, and then what did you know about his current attorney?”


Ferris:  “So the only way that I would have known that is by Mr. Dulberg telling me he 
had an upcoming pretrial conference. And so I do remember him telling me a pretrial 
conference was scheduled. But for whatever reason, he did not have confidence or faith 
in the job his current attorney was doing. But I -- I was encouraging him to get the case 
settled because there was questionable liability in my opinion.”


Talarico:  “And at the time you wrote this letter, did you know what the pretrial offer 
from Mr. Gagoan was?”
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Ferris:  “No.”


page 30:1


Talarico:  “Okay. You testified today that you, personally-- no. Wait. I’ll ask, did you 
testify today that you, personally, mailed this letter to Mr. Dulberg?”


Ferris:  “Yes.”


Talarico:  “Okay. Calling your attention to Exhibit 1, you have Mr. Dulberg’s address 
listed as 3416 West Elm Street in McHenry, Illinois 60050; is that correct?


Ferris:  “Yes.”


Talarico:  “Do you know who lives at -- who -- who owns the property at 3416 West Elm 
Street in McHenry, Illinois 60050?”


Ferris:  “I have no idea.”


Talarico:  “Would it surprise you if this was the address of the law firm that was currently 
representing Mr. Dulberg in the matter that he brought to you?”


Ferris:  “It would surprise me.”


Talarico:  “Would it surprised you if this is the address of Tom Popovich’s law firm at the 
time?”


Ferris:  “It would, yeah.”


Talarico:  “So according to your testimony, you sent this letter to Mr. Popovich and not to 
Mr. Dulberg?”


Ferris:  “I sent the letter to the address the potential client provided me. I don’t make up 
addresses. So he provided me the address. I had no correspondence or anything from his 
attorney. I had no idea who his attorney was.”


2B21.	According to Saul Ferris deposition testimony2, Ferris’ personal notes on the Dulberg 
case listed the date of Dulberg’s injury as June 28, 2011 (which is the correct date Dulberg was 
injured by Gagnon) but the declination letter3 listed the date of the “accident” as January 24, 
2013 (which is the date Dulberg was deposed in the underlying case against Gagnon and the 
McGuires4).


2B22.	According to Saul Ferris deposition testimony5, the date of the meeting between Dulberg 
and Ferris was February 26, 2015 but the declination letter6 listed the date of the meeting as 
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December 31, 2014. Ferris stated that “So the -- because this is more or less a form letter, in -- in 
my opinion, the December 31st date was -- was a date relating to another client, and I just didn’t 
change the date.” When Ferris showed his notebook during the deposition, the notes indicated 
that Ferris had no clients on December 31, 2014. Ferris also stated that he would not schedule a 
perspective client meeting on New Years Eve.


2B23.	When Ferris was asked “So according to your testimony, you sent this letter to Mr. 
Popovich and not to Mr. Dulberg?”, Ferris answered, “I sent the letter to the address the 
potential client provided me. I don’t make up addresses. So he provided me the address. I had no 
correspondence or anything from his attorney. I had no idea who his attorney was.”


2B24.	It is not credible that Dulberg provided his own home address to Ferris incorrectly, 
accidentally mistaking his own home address (a place he has lived his whole life) with the 
address of the Law offices of his previous attorney. It is not credible for Flynn to have persisted 
in claiming that Dulberg received the letter from Saul Ferris by U.S. mail at Dulberg’s home 
considering how the letter in question was with a package of documents which was inexplicably 
sent from the law office of Saul Ferris to the law offices of Thomas J. Popovich (and remained 
there for two months without Dulberg’s knowledge or permission). It is not credible for Popovich 
or Mast to act as if they were not aware that a package of documents belonging to Dulberg was 
in their offices for 2 months and that the package of documents was apparently sent back to the 
Ferris law office without their knowledge.  The email document HansMast2-651 (which was 
suppressed by Williams) was sent from Dulberg to Balke on March 20, 2015 and states:2


“I called Saul Ferris office again today to find out they were mailed to and signed for at 
3416 W. Elm St. McHenry, IL. by someone named Anne Oupl on March 7th. This is Hans 
Mast office. I called Hans office and apparently no one by that name works there and 
no one knows anything about receiving the certified mail. I’m at a loss as to how these 
documents were sent to the wrong place and am a bit furious because it has the memo 
about the pre- trial settlement you wanted to see.”


2B25.	The example of Saul Ferris shows how Flynn could not have accused Dulberg of being 
deceitful or evasive about his communication with Ferris unless the email documents involving 
or mentioning Ferris were suppressed by Williams.


2B26.	It strains credulity to be asked to accept that the coordination between Flynn’s accusations 
against Dulberg and the suppression of the email documents by Williams related to the same 
issues and proving Dulberg’s claims to be true is just a coincidence.   A reasonable person can 
conclude that Williams intentionally suppressed emails between Ferris and Dulberg and emails 
mentioning Saul Ferris, the movement of the box of Dulberg’s documents in the possession 
of Ferris, and emails mentioning a missing settlement memo. A reasonable person can also 
conclude Williams did this to benefit the defendants. A reasonable person can conclude that if the 
documents mentioning Ferris were not suppressed by Williams, then the issues that Flynn later 
raised would have made no logical sense as they would have already been answered.


1 � Exhibit B12-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
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2B27.	The intentional suppression of documents mentioning Saul Ferris by Williams created 
an unnecessary mystery around when Ferris met with Dulberg, what they discussed, the packet 
of Dulberg’s documents that was inexplicably sent to the law offices of Thomas J. Popovich 
by Ferris, and the Ferris declination letter. Flynn then used this unnecessary mystery to attempt 
to coerce Dulberg to admit (as verified fact) receiving a letter in the U.S. mail at his home that 
contained factually incorrect information and that was actually addressed to the Law Offices of 
Thomas J. Popovich (and in the possession of Popovich for about 2 months without Dulberg 
knowing where the package was).


2C	� THE EXAMPLE OF TILSCHNER V SPANGLER


2C1.	 Detailed written instructions were given by Dulberg to Williams on at least six 
different occasions concerning Tilschner v Spangler and a meeting which took place on 
November 20, 2013 between Dulberg and Mast. Dulberg sent Williams a certified slip copy 
of Tilschner v Spangler as part 1 of a set of 3 emails with  attachments that were named 
“IndependantContractor-CaseLaw1_Mast.pdf” and “IndependantContractor-CaseLaw2_Mast.
pdf” and “IndependantContractor-CaseLaw3_Mast.pdf” which Mast gave Dulberg at a meeting 
on November 20, 2013. Williams separated the certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler from 
the other two attachments, stored them in 2 separate places, and renamed all three downloaded 
files. Williams never turned over the slip certified copy of Tilschner v Spangler to opposing 
counsel and never informed Dulberg of that fact. The process is shown in detail in ‘Visual Aid 
4 – Tilschner v Spangler hoax’1.


2C2.	 On October 10, 2018 at 5:34 PM, two days before their first meeting, the file “second_
amended_complaint_comments.txt”2 was emailed3 by Dulberg to Williams in a folder called 
“Duberg_complaint”4. The document “second_amended_complaint_comments.txt” states:


“MAST told DULBERG at a meeting in which DULBERG was trying to decide whether 
to accept the MCGUIRE’s offer of $5,000 that because the restatement of torts 318 is 
not applicable in Illinois, DULBERG had no case against the MCGUIRES and that 
the MCGUIRES did not have to offer any settlement at all.  DULBERG asked MAST 
to cite case law that shows why the MCGUIRES were not at least partially liable for 
DULBERG’S injury, and MAST cited Tilscher v Spangler, a case which confirms that 
restatement of torts 318 is not applicable in Illinois.  But note the claim of MCGUIRE’S 
liability given above relies on restatement of torts 343 or a general neglegence claim.  
It is completely independent of restatement of torts 318.   At the same meeting MAST 
also informed DULBERG that the MCGUIRES made an offer of $5,000 to be nice (they 
did not have to offer anything) and if DULBERG did not accept the offer it would be 
withdrawn and the MCGUIRES will ask for summary judgement.  MAST informed 
DULBERG that the presiding judge would grant the MCGUIRES a summary judgement 
dismissing the case against them, leaving DULBERG with no settlement at all from the 
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MCGUIRES.”


2C3.	 On October 19, 2018 a PDF file was created by Clinton or Williams in “Dulberg Master 
File” concerning the Tilschner case.1


2C4.	 On December 4, 2018 at 2:20 PM, two days before the Second Amended Complaint at 
Law was filed, a file called “working.pdf”2 was sent attached to an email3 to Williams. Dulberg’s 
comments are in colored font. In the document “working.pdf”4 Dulberg states in item 50-k on 
page 9 in red font:


“The necessary facts are: MAST told DULBERG and another family member at a 
meeting in which DULBERG was trying to decide whether to accept the MCGUIRE’s 
offer of $5,000 that because the restatement of torts 318 is not applicable in Illinois, 
DULBERG had no case against the MCGUIRES and that the MCGUIRES did not have 
to offer any settlement at all. DULBERG asked MAST to cite case law that shows why 
the MCGUIRES were not at least partially liable for DULBERG’S injury, and MAST 
cited Tilscher v Spangler, a case which confirms that restatement of torts 318 is not 
applicable in Illinois. At the same meeting MAST also informed DULBERG that the 
MCGUIRES made an offer of $5,000 to be nice (they did not have to offer anything) and 
if DULBERG did not accept the offer it would be withdrawn and the MCGUIRES will 
ask for summary judgement. MAST informed DULBERG that the presiding judge would 
grant the MCGUIRES a summary judgement dismissing the case against them, leaving 
DULBERG with no settlement at all from the MCGUIRES. Mast, “The legality of it all 
is that a property owner does not have legal liability for a worker (whether friend, son or 
otherwise) who does the work on his time, using his own independent skills.”


2C5.	 On April 18, 2019 at 10:38 AM, Dulberg sent 3 emails in series with attachments to 
Williams, subject:  “318 Cases from December meeting 1 of 3”5, “318 Cases from December 
meeting 2 of 3”6 and “318 Cases from December meeting 3 of 3”7. The first email attachment 
was named “IndependantContractor-CaseLaw1_Mast.pdf”8 and contained the certified slip copy 
of the case Tilschner v Spangler. The second attachment was named “IndependantContractor-
CaseLaw2_Mast.pdf”9 and contained the case Choi. The third attachment was named 
“IndependantContractor-CaseLaw3_Mast.pdf”10 and contained the case Lajato.


2C6.	 Williams received the 3 emails, downloaded the attachments, renamed them, and stored 
the first attachment in one folder, and stored the second and third attachments in a different 
folder. What Williams did with the files after she received them is shown in ‘Visual Aid 4 - 
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Tilschner v Spangler hoax’1. The certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler was never turned 
over to opposing counsel and was never given a bates stamp. Williams never informed Dulberg 
of this.


2C7.	 On July 8, 2019 at 11:06 AM, one week after Dulberg received the Popovich Document 
Disclosure from Williams, Dulberg sent an email2 to Williams with an attached folder called 
“To_Julia”3.  The folder contained a document called “timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt”4. 
The document ‘timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt’ under the November 20, 2013 timeline entry 
states:


“Dulberg agrees to have another meeting with Mast in his office. (memo of meeting: pop 
3)


Dulberg brings his brother Thomas Kost with him.  Before the meeting Dulberg asks 
Mast to show examples of case laws which demonstrate that McGuires are not partially 
responsible for the chainsaw accident.  (email: folder 2013 11, file Mast2-201)


In the meeting Mast uses the example of Tilschner vs Spangler.  He claims that the 
McGuires are not responsible because Restatement of Torts 318 is not applicable in 
Illinois.


He also claims that the accident was not forseeable by the McGuires and they had no 
control over Gagnon’s actions.


Mast also gave Dulberg a packet of other examples of case law.  (ddd 204) (ddd 301)?


Thomas Kost kept a rough set of notes during the meeting. (ddd 1217)


Mast claims that if Dulberg doesn’t accept the $5,000 the McGuires will simply file a 
motion to get out of the case for free.


Mast said the McGuires do not have to offer anything and are offering $5,000 to be nice.”


2C8.	 On June 18, 2020 at 9:24 AM, one week before the Mast deposition, Dulberg sent 
an email5 to Williams a file called “questions_for_mast.txt”6. The June 18, 2020 version of 
‘questions_for_mast.txt’ contain questions presented by Dulberg and his brother, Thomas Kost, 
in 9 different categories which are clearly listed at the beginning of the document. These sets of 
questions were a more developed version of a file by the same name sent to Williams on July 8, 
2019. Questions in each category are carefully written in the order that Dulberg wanted Williams 
to ask Mast during the deposition.


One of the 9 categories is named “ABOUT THE NOVEMBER 20th, 2013 MEETING IN 
MAST’S OFFICE”. It contained 23 carefully chosen questions that Dulberg wanted Williams to 
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ask Mast concerning the November 20, 2013 meeting during Mast’s deposition.


The document ‘questions_for_mast.txt’ states:


“ABOUT THE NOVEMBER 20th, 2013 MEETING IN MAST’S OFFICE


who was at the November 20th meeting?      (Answer:  Paul Dulberg, Hans Mast, Thomas 
Kost)


who called for the meeting?


what was the purpose of the November 4 meeting?


What were the main topics discussed?


Was the $7,500 offer made on october 22 discussed at the November 20th meeting?


Were any decisions made at this meeting?


Did Dulberg agree to accept the $5,000 counter-offer made by Barch on November 18 at 
the meeting?


What were his grounds for disagreeing with the $5,000 counter-offer if it was Dulberg 
himself that initiated an offer of $7,500 on October 22nd?


Did you point out to him that there is only a $2,500 difference in between the offer and 
the counter-offer?


Did you suggest that he reply by offering to accept less than $7,500 but more than 
$5,000, like, for example, $6000?


Was there any attempt to make another counter-offer for any amount higher than $5,000 
but lower than $7,500?  Why not?


Did you hand Dulberg documents of case laws at the meeting of November 20, 2013?


What was the purpose of providing him with documents of case laws?


What case laws were in those documents?


Did you discuss cases at the meeting?


Which cases were discussed?


What were you trying to explain to Dulberg by discussing those cases?


Why did you choose those cases to use as examples?


In what way were those cases applicable to the situation with the McGuires?


At the meeting did you say something about how the restatement of torts 318 doesn’t 
apply in illinois and that fact affects the case against the McGuires?


Can you explain how the restatement of torts 318 affected Dulberg’s case against the 
McGuires?
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Did you cite the case of Tilschner vs Spangler to DUlberg during the November 20th 
meeting?


Why?  How was the Tilschner vs Spangler case similar to what happened to Dulberg at 
the McGuires?”


2C9.	 On June 18, 2020 at 9:32 AM opposing counsel Flynn sent an email to Williams stating:1


“... Please let me know when you can about your plan for exhibits. I will assume that I do 
not need to print or bring anything with me unless you advise otherwise.”


2C10.	On June 19 2020 at 2:35 PM, six days before the deposition of Mast, Flynn sent an email 
to Williams stating:2


“Julia: I just received your notice of attorney lien. Will you still be taking the dep next 
week?


My experience with receiving liens at this stage of litigation(in a high percentage of 
cases) is that a withdrawal shortly follows. Hopefully not the case here, but just making 
sure we are still on for Mast’s dep. ...”


Williams never replied to the attorney lien portion of this email and there is no such 
communication of Williams sending the attorney lien to Flynn in “Dulberg Master File”3. 
However, a draft letter of resignation was created on July 7, 2020 and Ed Clinton sent the letter 
to Dulberg on July 27, 2020.


2C11.	On June 23, 2020 at 10:22 AM Brittney Brown bbrown@uslegalsupport.com sent an 
email to Williams, Subject U.S. Legal Support - Confirmation of Scheduling - Job No. 923267 
with this file attached:


CFM923267.PDF4


The attached file CFM923267.PDF is not in the Clinton case file.


2C12.	On June 23, 2020 at 11:32 AM (juliawilliams@clintonlaw.net) sent an email to Brittney 
Brown (bbrown@uslegalsupport.com) and provided a personal email address for contact that is 
not associated with the Clinton Law Firm stating:5


“This deposition is moving forward as scheduled. My cell is 312-508-3376. If you have 
issues, you can also reach me on my personal email address at Julia.c.floyd@gmail.com”


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Emails 2020 August 19/US 
Legal Support  Confirmation of Scheduling  Job No 923267.pdf


2 � Exhibit 22-Dulberg -2.pdf (Page 1)
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File
4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Emails 2020 August 19/US 


Legal Support  Confirmation of Scheduling  Job No 923267-2.pdf (Page 1)
5 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Emails 2020 August 19/US 


Legal Support  Confirmation of Scheduling  Job No 923267-2.pdf (Page 2)
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2C13.	On June 24, 2020 at 12:50 PM Flynn emailed Williams stating:1


“Thanks Julia. I also received the additional exhibit you may use. See you tomorrow.”


2C14.	On June 24, 2020 at 1:56 AM, one day before the Mast deposition, Dulberg emailed2 
Williams a file called “2020-06-23_updated_timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt”3 since 
Williams explicitly asked Dulberg to prepare it for her using a different way to refer to 
documents using Bates numbers.


2C15.	On June 25, 2020 Hans Mast was deposed. For the deposition of Hans Mast, Williams 
inexplicably placed 2 exact copies of the Lajato case and a copy of Choi in PDF file named:


“Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf”4.


Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf is corrupt and only found in the following 2 
locations in the Clinton case file:


Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Matter 
Ed Clinton/Dulberg Mast Dep Exhibits FINAL 2020 June 25/Dulberg Mast Exh/Dulberg 
Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf


Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Matter 
Ed Clinton/Dulberg Mast Dep Exhibits/Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf


2C16.	At the deposition, Williams did not ask Mast any of the questions that Dulberg had 
instructed her to ask.


2C17.	During the Mast deposition Williams uploaded “exhibit 12” and neither Mast nor Flynn 
could see “exhibit 12” as the following exchange demonstrates:5


Williams:  “Okay, I’m uploading Dulberg Mast Dep Exhibit 12.· This is titled, “Legal 
Research.”· And this is hard because there’s -- it’s 27 pages.· Some ·of them have 
Bates numbers, but some of them are black on the bottom, so I think the Bates numbers 
didn’t -- didn’t take, but it’s roughly -- looks like roughly 204, maybe 205, Dulberg204, 
205 through roughly Dulberg00304 -- Actually, I’m sorry, these aren’t going to be 
continuous.· But do you have that packet of legal research in front of you? It appears to 
be copies out of a -- copies of case law out of the Northeastern Digest.


Mast:  “I just have the one case here.”


Williams;  “Just one case?· Which -- What’s the case title?


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Emails 2020 August 19/
Scheduled Paul Dulberg v Law Offices of Thomas Popovich et al Job 923268  Hans Mast  20200625 1000 AM 
CDT.pdf (Page 13)


2 � Exhibit C9a-2020-06-24_0156 AM_SENT_Bates numbers added to timeline of McGuire settlement_
ATTACHMENTS.pdf


3 � Exhibit C9-2020-06-23_updated_timeline_of_mcguire_settlement.txt
4 � Exhibit C10-Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf
5 � Exhibit C15-Hans Mast 062520 FULL.pdf (Page 49 Lines 20-24 and Page 50 Lines 1-13)
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Mast:  “The first one, it’s L A J A T O.”


Williams:  “Okay.· Do you -- Did you copy this case law?”


Mast:  “I don’t know.”


2C18.	Williams never provided the court reporter Barbara G. Smith with a usable, viewable, 
uncorrupted, error free “Exhibit 12” during the deposition or at any time afterward that matches 
what Mast described it as in his deposition. Nor did Flynn make available to the court reporter 
the partial printouts of the exhibits he had in his possession and gave to Mast to use during the 
deposition.


2C19.	Later the court reporter Barbara G Smith was subpoenaed for her records of the Mast 
deposition.  In her response she provided the audio file of the deposition.1


2C20.	The Court Reporter, Barbara G Smith’s handwritten notes on Exhibit 12 state:


“#122 1-22 blank 23-27 only”3 4


“Choi -is- Commonwealth Edison is only case I have in #12 download 
Witness said he only has Lajato case in his #12”5


2C21.	Dulberg and his subsequent counsel, Alphonse Talarico, grew suspicious of how Williams 
could have forgotten all about Tilschner v Spangler when preparing exhibit 12 for Mast’s 
deposition considering the number of times she was told about it in writing.


2C22.	On August 2, 2022 Dulberg subpoenaed Clinton6 and Williams7 for documents and 
communication connected to the preparation and treatment of exhibit 12 before, during and after 
Mast’s deposition.


2C23.	On September 29, 2022 Williams responded for both Clinton and herself.8


2C24.	On October 28, Clinton responded for himself.9


2C25.	On October 28, Julia Williams responded for herself.10


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 17-Barbara G Smith Subpoena Responsive Thumbdrive/
mast.wav


2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 17-Barbara G Smith Subpoena Responsive Thumbdrive/
Mast 6-25-20/Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf


3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 17-Barbara G Smith Subpoena Responsive Thumbdrive/
HPSCANS/job papers 0002.pdf (Page 1)


4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 17-Barbara G Smith Subpoena Responsive Thumbdrive/
Mast 6-25-20/Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf


5 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 17-Barbara G Smith Subpoena Responsive Thumbdrive/
HPSCANS/job papers0001.pdf (Page 6)


6 � Exhibit K22-July 17 2023 Requested Subpoena served on Clinton .pdf
7 � Exhibit K21-July 17 2023 Requested Subpoena served on Julia C. Williams.pdf
8 � Exhibit K23-9-29-22_July 17 2023 Response for both by Williams only.pdf
9 � Exhibit K24-10-28-2022_July 17 2023 Response to Subpoena served on Clinton .pdf
10 � Exhibit K25-10-28-2022_July 17 2023 Amended Response by Williams only.pdf
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2C26.	On November 04, 2022 Williams was asked about “exhibit 12” in court. After 4 different 
subpoena responses related to exhibit 12 over the previous 3 months, and after being informed 
by Dulberg at least 6 different times in writing about the importance of Tilschner v Spangler, 
Williams claimed to not know the contents of exhibit 12. The following exchange took place in 
court:1


“MS. WILLIAMS:  ... So sometime after the deposition, we -- we did provide the exhibit 
that was utilized in the deposition to the court reporter, and at that time they marked it 
and sent it back to everyone.  


THE COURT: Okay. What was Exhibit 12 again?


MS. WILLIAMS: It was a series of cases. I don’t know that -- I just can’t recall what all 
was asked about it, but I know there were -- it was -- it was --


THE COURT: All right. These would have --


MS. WILLIAMS: -- copies of case law.


THE COURT: All right.


MR. FLYNN: They were photocopies of the old books, Judge, cases that were contained 
in Mast’s file.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. FLYNN: And he was -- you know, they have -- they’re, obviously, not complete 
because they -- placed on a printer, appeared like we used to do in the old days.


MR. TALARICO: Yes. Was the Tilsner case included in -- in the blank Exhibit 12 you 
sent to U.S. Legal, Barbara Schmidt? And was -- when you discussed with Mr. Flynn 
the failure of his -- or Mr. Mast’s internet, didn’t he say, I can’t see these, I can only see 
their first one (indiscernible), which was the Lagano (phonetic) case? And wasn’t there 
continued discussion by Mr. Flynn that he didn’t -- he didn’t produce all of the documents 
you sent on -- in hardcopy because he wanted to save paper?


MS. WILLIAMS: So that’s -- I guess that’s a lot of questions. So what --


MR. TALARICO: It is.


MS. WILLIAMS: What -- what -- I cannot recall what cases were included and weren’t 
included at this point. There -- there was an e-mail to Mr. Flynn with the exhibit that is 
attached that I believe was produced in the subpoena.  So whatever that exhibit was is 
-- is what I would have used. So I know there was, like, a Laravo case or -- I remember 
the first case was like Laravo or Lavajo, L-A-V-A-J-O, or something like that.  But right 
now, off the top of my head, I don’t remember what other cases were included.


MR. TALARICO: I’m talking about -- Judge, if I might, please? Excuse me. I’m sorry, 
Ms. Williams.  There was -- what the reporter had was blank. What Mr. Flynn’s client 
said was, I see the Lagano (phonetic) one. So the Exhibit 12 that was sent, like, a week 


1 � Exhibit C11-2022-11-04 17LA377 Report of Proceedings.pdf (Page 17 Line 4 through Page 20 Line 1)
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or two after the deposition had Lagano, Troy, and the same exact Lagano case, and it did 
not have the Tilsner case involved, and the Tilsner case was very important. So it was an 
exact duplication of one case and a second case.    But this is -- Judge, it’s not just the 
Exhibit 12. The entire deposition --


THE COURT: Well, are you asking a question about Exhibit 12? Because if we’re done 
asking questions, I’m gonna let her go.


MR. TALARICO: Okay. Yep. I’m done.”


2C27.	It is not credible that Williams made the claim to the court that she cannot recall the 
contents of “exhibit 12” when she stated, “It was a series of cases. I don’t know that -- I just 
can’t recall what all was asked about it, but I know there were -- it was -- it was --” “ -- copies of 
case law.” and when asked by Dulberg’s current attorney she claimed, “What -- what -- I cannot 
recall what cases were included and weren’t included at this point.” When Williams states “...
at this point” she was implying that her dealings with exhibit 12 were so long ago that “at this 
point” she can no longer recall what they were. But Williams prepared 4 different responses 
to a subpoena which centered on exhibit 12 within the previous 3 months and Williams was 
then appearing in court to address outstanding issues with the subpoena and around exhibit 12, 
including a motion to compel. 


2C28.	Of interest is that more than 2 years after the Hans Mast Deposition, opposing counsel 
Flynn was the only person in the November 4, 2022 court record attempting to give a detailed 
description to the contents of “exhibit 12” while Williams, the only person who prepared “exhibit 
12”, and fresh from producing 4 responses to a subpoena centering on the subject of “exhibit 
12”, could not recall the contents of “exhibit 12” when asked “at this point” because her dealings 
with exhibit 12 were assumably ‘so long ago’.


The example of the hiding of the certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler shows the extreme 
degree to which Williams and Clinton will go to suppress key evidence which was in the 
possession of their permanently disabled client.


2C29.	On November 30, 2022 Flynn filed DEFENDANTS THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS 
J. POPOVICH, P.C. AND HANS MAST’S RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S 2nd AMENDED 
MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE DEPOSITION OF HANS MAST which contains the following 
point ¶12:1


“12) Of concern is a statement on page 19 of Dulberg’s motion in which he argues that 
Mast had insisted that the decision in the Tilschner v. Spangler case was the reason 
Dulberg would not prevail in the underlying case against the McGuire’s. The statement is 
inexplicably made “on information and belief.” This is unacceptable. Dulberg has made 
no such disclosure in fact discovery (now closed) about this very specific discussion 
between Mast and himself regarding the Tilschner case. If Dulberg believes he has 
disclosed it, he should be required to identify where in his answers and amended answers 
to discovery or his deposition he has identified such discussion with this amount of 


1 � Exhibit C16-2022-11-30_Flynn Answer to Motion to Strike Mast Deposition.pdf (¶12 on Page 4)
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specificity. Defendants submit that no such disclosure exists.”


2C30.	A reasonable person can conclude that Williams intentionally suppressed Tilschner v 
Spangler.  A reasonable person can also conclude that Williams suppressed Tilschner v Spangler 
to benefit to the defendants over Dulberg and to sabotage Dulberg’s case against Popovich 
and Mast. The suppression of Tilschner v Spangler helps the defense deny that Mast ever 
discussed the Tilschner case with Dulberg and helps Mast deny that Tilschner v Spangler and the 
Restatement of Torts 318 was the legal theory Mast gave Dulberg as to why the McGuires were 
not responsible in any way for his injury on their property.


2D	� THE EXAMPLE OF BRAD BALKE


2D1.	 On March 19, 2015 Dulberg retained Brad Balke as attorney. Balke, in violation of the 
automatic stay, represented Dulberg in the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court which had no jurisdiction 
even though Balke must have known Dulberg had no standing as plaintiff in PI case 12LA178.


2D2.	 On May 13, 2015 Balke attempted to get Dulberg to accept a $50,000 offer from Allstate 
in the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court in violation of the automatic stay.1 Dulberg refused and fired 
Balke on June 12, 2015.2


2D3.	 Williams suppressed about 40 documents of email communication which were in 
her possession from 3 different sources between Balke and Dulberg from the May 30, 2019 
document disclosure. The suppressed email documents and the subjects of the documents are:


Hans Mast2-14 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-15 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-16 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-17 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-18 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-19 ..... with Balke on picking up electronic file and paper file 
Hans Mast2-21 ..... with Balke on lean buyout and picking up case file 
Hans Mast2-24 ..... with Balke on lean buyout 
Hans Mast2-29 ..... with Balke on lean buyout 
Hans Mast2-32 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-33 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-34 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-35 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-36 ..... with Balke about Balke and Mast leans buyout in exchange for case file 
Hans Mast2-37 ..... with Balke about anticipated Randall Baudin phone call 
Hans Mast2-38 ..... with Balke about anticipated Randall Baudin phone call 
Hans Mast2-39 ..... with Balke about case being not winnable and signing release for $50,000 


1 � Exhibit D0a-2015-04-10_12LA178_CASE MANAGEMENT ORDER-Settlement Conference is set for 5-13-
2015_Meyer.pdf


2 � Exhibit 20b-2015-06-12_12LA178_ORDER-Balke Withdrawl Granted for Breakdown in Attorney Client 
Relationship - Balke shall disburse settlement to Dulberg who will hold funds - Dulberg has till 7-10-2015 to File 
Appearance - Continued to 7-10-2015_Meyer.pdf
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Hans Mast2-40 ..... with Balke about case being not winnable and signing release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-41 ..... with Balke about case being not winnable and signing release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-42 ..... email empty of content message 
Hans Mast2-43 ..... with Balke long message about why Dulberg rejects Balke’s advice 
Hans Mast2-44 ..... With Balke, Balke is trying to get him to sign a release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-45 ..... With Balke, Balke is trying to get him to sign a release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-46 ..... With Balke, Balke is trying to get him to sign a release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-47 ..... With Balke, Balke is trying to get him to sign a release for $50,000 
Hans Mast2-48 ..... with Balke long message about why Dulberg rejects Balke’s advice 
Hans Mast2-49 ..... with Balke long message about why Dulberg rejects Balke’s advice 
Hans Mast2-50 ..... with Balke on bankruptcy questions 
Hans Mast2-51 ..... with Balke on bankruptcy questions 
Hans Mast2-52 ..... with Balke on bankruptcy and Gagnon’s insurance 
Hans Mast2-53 ..... email from DUlberg to Dulberg with message for Balke on bankruptcy 
Hans Mast2-54 ..... with Balke on bankruptcy and pre-trial conference 
Hans Mast2-55 ..... �with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and Saul Ferris with a 


box of Dulberg’s documents
Hans Mast2-56 ..... �with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and Saul Ferris with a 


box of Dulberg’s documents
Hans Mast2-57 ..... �with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and Saul Ferris with a 


box of Dulberg’s documents
Hans Mast2-58 	  with Balke on signing settlement check and deposit 
Hans Mast2-59 	  with Balke on settlement conference canceled 
Hans Mast2-60 	  with Balke about April 9 pre-trial conference 
Hans Mast2-61 	  with Balke about April 9 pre-trial conference 
Hans Mast2-62 	  with Balke about April 9 pre-trial conference 
Hans Mast2-63 	  with Balke on lean buyout and picking up the case file 
Hans Mast2-651 	  with Balke on missing pre-trial settlement memo and a box from Ferris


Only one document of email communications between Balke and Dulberg appears in “Dulberg 
Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf”. It is DUL 001334 which is the file “Hans 
Mast2-64”.


Williams also suppressed about 6 other documents mentioning Balke from the May 30, 2019 
document disclosure.


2D4.	 On December 17, 2019 at 11:00 AM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:


“In preparation for our call today, I am resending the all discovery as I don’t think you 
received some of them the first time.”


The email had 9 files attached.


The email had the following bates numbered documents attached and a verification statement 


1  �Exhibit B12-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
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signed by Dulberg:1


“Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599”2 
“Bates 2620”3 
“Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf”4


2D5.	 On December 17, 2019 at 6:30 PM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:


“... Brad Balky. His name appears in some of the documents. You requested that we 
identify when he represented Mr. Dulberg and in what capacity. If he did represent 
Mr. Dulberg for any period, we will produce any records related to that that are in Mr. 
Dulberg’s possession and control.”5


2D6.	 On Jan 29, 2020, at 2:16 PM, Julia WIlliams wrote an email to Flynn stating:


“...Brad Blake is an attorney and there are some emails from him in the discovery. I do 
not see that he represented Dulberg but I will verify with my client.”6


2D7.	 On January 29, 2020 at 3:50 PM Williams asked Dulberg about Balke stating:


“... I see that there are some emails with Brad Balke. See Bates Stamp Dulberg 1322-
1323, 1334, 1319, 1321. It appears that Brad Balke obtained your legal file from Hans 
Mast, reviewed it, but did not represent you, and turned the file over to you. Is that 
correct? ...”7


2D8.	 On January 30, 2020 at 10:26 AM Dulberg responded by sending an email to Williams 
stating:


“Morning Julia,  This Morning I looked up when Brad Balke filed his appearance and I 
found the attached document I named Balke Appearance.pdf  It was March 19, 2015. 
This is what was filed in the public record. 
This should have been in the Gooch files. 
Looking back, I never received the digital Gooch files that were turned over to your 
office. Confirmed in email dated April 18,2019. 
The Gooch files should have included the entire case file that Mast turned over to me 
and the addition of the Balke and Baudin files as well as all communication records, 
bankruptcy documents, disability records, etc... 
Gooch took 6+ months to get all those records scanned in and I never was able to confirm 
he actually scanned in all of them.


1  �Exhibit 17-Dulberg case.pdf (Pages 3-4)
2  �Exhibit 18-Dulberg BK Files Bates 2599 .pdf
3  �Exhibit 19-Dulberg Bates 2620.pdf
4  �Exhibit 5-Dulberg Document Disclosure FINAL 2019 May 29.pdf
5  �Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Page 1)
6  �Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Page 26)
7 � Exhibit D0b-2020-01-29_1550 PM_RECV-1_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates _ATTACHMENTS.pdf
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On another note, I found this: 05-08-15_Hans Mast2-56.pdf which is also attached. 
You may have this as, Hans Mast2-56.pdf 
This was provided to you on or around 11/17/2018 when I sent you all the 
communications I had. 
I did not find this in any of the bates numbered documents. 
It shows that the file was sent back to Saul Ferris and that I picked it up and delivered it 
to the firm named Danahu and Walsh at the direction of Balke.”1


2D9.	 On Jan 31, 2020, at 12:45 PM, Julia WIlliams <juliawilliams@clintonlaw.net> wrote:


“I am writing regarding the outstanding discovery issues. I am producing further 
documents bates stamped 2639-2645. 
... 
2. Brad Balke.


Brad Balke’s appearance is attached as 2645.  This should resolve all of the current 
discovery issues that you presented to us. We will continue to supplement our discovery  
responses if more documents are discovered.”


The document “Dulberg Bates 2639 to 2645 2020 Jan 31.pdf” consists of 6 pages and was 
attached to the email.2


While Williams is hiding around 40 email documents with Balke, she acts as if turning over 
Balke’s appearance (a document which was available to both Williams and Flynn as part of the 
Common Law Record of the underlying case) “resolves all issues” with Balke. This is classic 
gas-lighting in action.


2D10.	Williams was in possession of complete and well-ordered copies of Dulberg’s emails 
from three different sources before May 29, 2019 (One on the Gooch thumbdrive in the main 
folder “Dulberg UNDERLYING CASE DOCUMENTS”, one on the Gooch thumb drive in the 
main folder “Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client” and one sent to Williams as an email 
attachment). Williams received a fourth complete copy of emails in a format which was different 
from the first three sources in a folder called “Lawyers Emails by Date”, sent to Williams as an 
email attachment in a folder called “To_Julia” on July 8, 2019.


2D11.	Williams acted as if she was not in possession of the Balke emails and was not aware 
of who Brad Balke was when she communicated with Opposing Counsel and with Dulberg. 
Considering the large number of documents involving Balke that were intentionally suppressed 
by Williams from the May 30, 2019 document disclosure, it is simply not credible for Williams 
to claim that she was not aware of who Brad Balke was.


2D12.	Inexplicably, Flynn and Popovich also claimed to not know who Balke was on December 
17, 2019, even though the suppressed email communication demonstrates that Mast and Balke 
have done business together in the past on friendly terms. Considering that the suppressed 


1  �Exhibit D0c-2020-01-30_1026 AM_SENT_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates _ATTACHMENTS.pdf
2  �Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Page 68)
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documents involving Balke contained clear evidence that Mast knew who Balke was and had 
dealt with Balke in the past, it is simply not credible for Flynn, Mast or Popovich to claim they 
do not know who Brad Balke is.


2D13.	By suppressing about 40 documents of email communication between Balke and Dulberg 
and at least 6 other documents mentioning Balke, Williams created an artificial mystery around 
Balke that was entirely unnecessary.


2D14.	On July 2, 2020 DEFENDANTS, THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, 
P.C.’S SUPPLEMENTAL REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION TO PLAINTIFF


“2. Any and all documents relating to any consultation or advice you received from 
any attorney or “legal expert” or legal malpractice expert which formed the basis for 
your alleged discovery of Mast’s and Popovich’s breach or breaches of the standard of 
care while they represented you in your claim or lawsuit against William and Caroline 
McGuire and David Gagnon.


3. Any and all documents regarding or reflecting advice from any attorney or legal 
expert, including but not limited to Tom Gooch, including but not limited to your 
communications with Tom Gooch in December 2016 (up to and including the date of 
the filing of your original complaint against Popovich and Mast), which relate to your 
discovery of any breach of the standard of care by Popovich or Mast and proximately 
caused damages or injury resulting therefrom.”1


2D15.	On July 9, 2020 Williams turned over more than 6000 pages of documents to opposing 
counsel. This included around 40 email communications between Balke and Dulberg which were 
being turned over for the first time.


2D16.	On February 10, 2021 Flynn states in court:


MR. FLYNN: I’m a little confused, Judge. There is no pending 619 motion. That was 
ruled upon years ago.  This is simply a motion to compel and, you know, again, looking 
back, I didn’t attach every discovery answer that Mr. Dulberg provided because there 
were many and there were issues with signature pages throughout written discovery. But 
here, the overarching supplemental request, Exhibit E, I believe it is, that was served on 
July 2 has not been answered. It’s not been objected to. It’s untimely at this point, and, 
again, it’s clear that the discovery of the malpractice and damages has been placed at 
issue. So we’re entitled to explore that discovery.2


In summary judgment motion Popovich and Mast stated:


“Brad Balke substituted for Dulberg on March 19, 2015 when Popovich withdrew.  
(Exhibit E, p.35).  Dulberg asked hundreds of lawyers to take over his case when 
Popovich withdrew, but none accepted. (Exhibit, E, P.36).  Dulberg fired Bulke prior to 


1 � Exhibit D1-2020-07-02_1211 PM_RECV_Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J 
POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 6-7)


2 � Exhibit D0d-Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1-3.pdf (Page 5 Lines 13-24, Page 6 Line 1)
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the binding arbitration, and he was then represented by the Baudin Law Firm.  While 
Brad Bulke handled the case, Balke never gave him an opinion as to the liability of the 
McGuires and whether the prior settlement was appropriate. (Exhibit E, p.42).”1


“Here defendants painstakingly attempted to seek discovery as to how Popovich allegedly 
breached the standard of care, and when and how Dulberg became aware of any damages.  
Dulberg’s discovery responses and deposition testimony were repeatedly evasive.  See 
Dulberg testimony, Exhibit D, pages 106 to 141.  This behavior continued and caused 
the need for a motion to compel (See Group Exhibit J, Motion to Compel, Motion to 
Suppliment Motion to Compel, and July 19, 2021 transcript from hearing).   Moreover, 
Dulberg’s dissatisfaction with Popovich’s representation surfaced much earlier and he 
even threatened in writing to sue Mast as early as February 22, 2015.  Dulberg, no “babe 
in the woods” when it comes to experience with litigation retention, met with “hundreds” 
of attrorneys and had opportunity after opportunity to investigate and inquire as to 
whither Popovich breached the standard of care and caused him any dmage in connection 
with the case (incuding procesution of the case against Gagnon and McGuires).  The 
many cases cited above establish the Plaintiff’s duty to inquire, and here Dulberg had 
the tools, the information, and opportunity to inquire.  His contrived late discovery 
of his claims and damages should not be countenanced by this court.  He was clearly 
questioning whether he should agree to accept the McGuires’ offer, and he deliberated on 
it extensively.  Nothing prevented him from seeking a second opinion.  Likewise, nothing 
prevented him from inquiring from Mr Bulke or the Baudin firm whether his injury was 
wrongfully caused.  Summary Judgement must be entered as his claims are barred by the 
two-year statute of limitations.”2


2D17.	A reasonable person can conclude that Williams suppressed the documents and emails 
mentioning Balke to benefit the defendants. Williams intentionally created a mystery around 
Dulberg’s relationship to Balke that was entirely unnecessary. Both Flynn and Williams 
pretended to not know who Balke was. The suppression of documents on the communications 
between Balke and Dulberg and other documents mentioning Balke (from 4 different sources 
presented in different formats) creates the appearance that Dulberg was hiding documents from 
the defense about Balke, and therefore creates the appearance that Dulberg has something to hide 
about his relationship to Balke and what they discussed together. 


2D18.	A reasonable person can also conclude that Clinton and Williams, while retained as 
Dulberg’s legal malpractice attorneys, intentionally avoided informing Dulberg that Balke was 
acting in violation of federal bankruptcy laws by appearing in the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court 
(which has no jurisdiction over the PI case), representing Dulberg (who has no standing as 
plaintiff), and in attempting to get Dulberg to accept $50,000 to settle the PI case with Gagnon 
without the knowledge or consent of the bankruptcy trustee or the bankruptcy judge.


2E 	� THE EXAMPLE OF SUPPLEMENTAL DISCOVERY REQUEST FOR 
DOCUMENT PRODUCTION FILED ON JULY 2, 2020


1 � Exhibit D0e-Pages from CLR_Vol_2_of_2_230421_1627_22D90D40.pdf (Page 5)
2 � Exhibit D0e-Pages from CLR_Vol_2_of_2_230421_1627_22D90D40.pdf (Page 14)
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2E1.	 On July 2, 2020 Flynn filed a Supplemental Request for Production of Documents.1


2E2.	 On July 2, 2020, at 12:10 PM Williams sent a forwarded email to Dulberg stating:


“Opposing Counsel has tendered a supplemental request for production. Please review. A 
response is due by July 30, 2020. You can begin gathering responsive documents. Some 
of the document may be subject to attorney-client privilege. Best Regards,”2


2E3.	 Most of the documents Dulberg would need to gather to answer the supplemental 
production request were still being suppressed by Williams and were released by Williams for 
the first time one week later on July 9, 2020 hidden behind thousands of pages of previously 
released documents. The more than 6000 pages of documents contained all the previously 
suppressed emails of Balke, Saul Ferris, the letter from Saul Ferris to Dulberg among other 
suppressed documents.


Williams is ‘flooding’ Dulberg with an overwhelming number of documents and sneaking all but 
one of the documents that were previously suppressed into the flood, behind thousands of pages 
of useless material. Williams intentionally kept suppressing the certified slip ruling on Tilschner 
v Spangler.


2E4.	 On July 27, 2020 at 2:24 PM Ed Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:3


“Dear Paul, Please see the attached letter.  Best Regards”


In the attached letter Clinton and Williams resigned as Dulberg’s counsel.4


2E5.	 On July 30, 2020 at 10:21 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:


“These document requests are due today. We have obtained a 28 day extension so the 
responses are now due August 27, 2020. We anticipate filing our motion to withdraw. 
Thus, you will need your new counsel to respond or prepare your own response. Best 
Regards”5


2E6.	 On July 30, 2020 at 1:50 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:


“Thank you for getting this extended.   I’m pulling from memory here because I had a a 
Dr’s  appointment today and am away from my desk  I just took your July 2 email and 
reviewed it. I didn’t collect the documents because I thought I had already turned over 
all the gooch files and emails to you and I thought we waived privilege for Boudin and 


1 � Exhibit E1-2020-07-02_1211 PM_RECV_Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J 
POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 6-8)


2 � Exhibit E1-2020-07-02_1211 PM_RECV_Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J 
POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 1)


3 � Exhibit 44-Dulberg v Popovich 2017 L 377.pdf (Page 1)
4 � Exhibit 7h-Dulberg Client Letter 2020 July 27.pdf
5 � Exhibit E2-Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of 


McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf (Page 11)
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you have all of that as well.  I suppose other than the last request asking for “documents” 
relating to a conversation between Baudin and myself when we were  leaving the ADR 
the rest of this would be contingent on Judge Meyers decision of the objections over 
Gooch questioning that were raised during my deposition. I’m still not sure how I’m 
supposed to have documents from a verbal conversation with Baudin. I will look at all 
this again when I get home.”1


2E7.	 On August 18, 2020 at 2:13 PM Flynn sent an email to Williams stating:


“This correspondence is being forwarded pursuant to Illinois Supreme Court Rule 201(k). 
I just received your firm’s motion to withdraw. If you could please pass along to Mr. 
Dulberg or his new counsel, that we must insist on the outstanding written discovery 
being answered by August 27, 2020 per our agreement below, it would be appreciated. I 
think we have been very patient with Mr. Dulberg in responding to discovery which has 
been directed at his assertion of the discovery rule in this case, where he is attempting to 
overcome a statute of limitations defense (issues which are evident from the face of the 
pleadings and the applicable statutes involved).  The supplemental discovery we served 
merely clarified and more specifically identified communications and documents which 
were the subject of prior discovery requests, and some of which were identified at Mr. 
Dulberg’s discovery deposition taken on February 19, 2020.  Please feel free to contact 
me if you would like to discuss this matter.”2


2E8.	 On August 18, 2020 at 2:42 PM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:


“We previously obtained an extension info time to respond to document discovery in 
your case—see below—to August 27. Opposing counsel is insisting on the August 27 
response date. As we are withdrawing, it is likely more appropriate for your new counsel 
to respond to the discovery.  lternatively, you could seek more time when the matter is 
before the Judge on Sept 10. Best Regards,”3


2E9.	 On August 18, 2020 at 2:49 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:


“Please remind me,


Was this the emails and communications with Gooch that they are after or something 
else?”4


2E10.	On August 18, 2020 at 2:56 PM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:


1 � Exhibit E2-Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of 
McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf (Page 13)


2 � Exhibit E2-Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of 
McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf (Page 31)


3 � Exhibit E2-Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of 
McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf (Page 34)


4 � Exhibit E2-Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of 
McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf (Page 37)
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“The requests are attached again here so you can see what they are seeking.  Again, they 
were issued on July 2, 2020. We sent them to you that same day. They were originally 
due on July 30, 2020. We  obtained an extension to August 27, 2020. Best regards,”1


2E11.	On August 18, 2020 at 3:11 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:


“Thanks again for resending those requests from George Flynn.  At this point I will not be 
meeting their deadline of August 27th until I have new council and/or the Judge rules that 
I must divulge communications with my attorney Gooch from the current case.  I’m not 
an attorney but I believe its common knowledge that what George Flynn is asking for is 
wrong and strikes at the heart of  attorney/client privilege.  Kindly let Mr Flynn know he 
will not be receiving those answers or files until I have new counsel or the Judge rules on 
our objection at my deposition and orders me to turn over privileged communications.”2


2E12.	On October 16, 2020 Dulberg sent an email to Williams with the subject “PLEASE HELP 
WITH CASE FILE” stating:


“Oh, and just so you are aware, I may have to argue this on my own without counsel and 
I am going to do everything I can to see this case through to the end.  Continue to help me 
navigate your case file, perhaps correct me when I am wrong and I will make sure your 
lean gets satisfied out of the award. Thank you all for what you have done thus far”3


2E13.	On Oct 19, 2020 Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:


Hi Julia and Ed,  I’m sure you noticed the amount of emails I have sent.  I’m in a frantic 
state to find new counsel and simultaneously try to learn what I call “legalese” so I can 
reply to and argue Flynns Motion on my own if need be and learn your file system.  
Before I go give $10,000 on yet another attorney, whom I don’t know, I wanted to give 
you an option since your already familiar with the case, know the case file and I do 
trust you and don’t think it fair that you did all that work and may not get paid what you 
should  if I end up hiring the wrong attorney.  In less than 3 months I will have enough 
cash in hand to fund this case and finish it 3x over. It will probably take less time but that 
is my worst case scenario as my family and I move to liquidate some assets and free up 
our capital rather than borrow from loan sharks I am hoping that you would be interested 
in taking back representation of this case.  Rather than hire a new attorney, I can use the 
$10,000 to pay for you legal services over the next 3 months  This gives me 3 months 
to make the arrangements needed to have enough funding to go at this paying in full the 
whole way through.  If after 3 months I don’t have the funds to finish this case, you can 
withdraw again.  I believe this would give both of us the best chances at recouping the 
money and time invested thus far.  Time is limited so please think about this and let me 


1 � Exhibit E2-Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of 
McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf (Page 41)


2 � Exhibit E2-Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of 
McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377.pdf (Page 45)


3 � Exhibit 50-2020-10-16_1044 AM_SENT_PLEASE HELP WITH CASE FILE.pdf (Page 1)
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know in the next day or two.”1


2E14.	On October 19, 2020 at 9:52 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:


“We will cannot accept your matter again.  As for the remainder of the emails that you 
sent, we provided you with the entire file. The documents are labeled. Anything in the 
folder that stated it was produced to OC—I provided the specific name in my email last 
week—those documents/written discovery answers were produced to OC. If it’s not in 
that folder, it wasn’t produced. There are several duplicates of documents—you should 
cross check it with that folder. We did produce everything we could to OC with the 
exception of confidential communication between you and Gooch. I believe all the other 
relevant and requested documents were produced.  We did not respond to the July 2020 
supplemental discovery that George Flynn issued to you. I sent the requests in an email to 
you, but they are also on the flash drive.


Again, everything is on the flash drive, so we recommend that you look there. We wish 
you the best of luck.”2


2E15.	The following exchanges took place on April 1, 2021 in court:3


THE COURT: All right. For the record, this is Dulberg versus Mast. And, plaintiff’s 
counsel, if you could identify yourself.


MR. TALARICO: Your Honor, good morning. Mr. Flynn. My name is Alphonse Talarico. 
I represent the plaintiff, Paul Dulberg.


THE COURT: Okay. And for the defense?


MR. FLYNN: Attorney George Flynn, F-l-y-n-n. And, Judge, and, counsel, I would like 
to extend my apologies for the calendaring issue last week.


THE COURT: It happens. But let’s -- where are we? Because I -- yeah, bring me up to 
date with where you are.


MR. FLYNN: Generally, Judge, the -- Okay. So the court ordered the plaintiff to produce 
certain documents that were withheld. That has been done. We have I think a continued 
issue with respect to interrogatory answers from the -- Hans Mast interrogatories served 
in July of 2019, and then the improper and vague answer, responses, to the production 
request where the plaintiff has just simply identified Bate’s documents 1 through 8,708 
relative to the discovery of the alleged malpractice.


THE COURT: Yeah, I looked at the answers, those answers, and I believe those are 
nonresponsive. Merely identifying all the records is not a direct response to your request, 
so I’m going to direct plaintiff to provide a supplemental response to those requests. Mr. 
Talarico, you have something to say?


1 �� Exhibit 52-2020-10-19_0952 AM_RECV_Contingency.pdf
2 � Exhibit 52-2020-10-19_0952 AM_RECV_Contingency.pdf
3 � Exhibits/Exhibit E15_2021-04-01_Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1.pdf Page 2 Line 1 


through Page 12 Line 20
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MR. TALARICO: Yes, Judge, actually, I do. Those 8,707 prior documents that had been 
submitted, according to the information I have, between Mr. Flynn and the Clinton Law 
Firm, the previous law firm, were under the initial request to produce. The answers 
that I have from the Clinton Law Firm indicate the wording that the documents will be 
produced and then there is no objection between Flynn -- Mr. Flynn and the Clinton Law 
Firm. There’s no -- and I have no way of researching how the relationship between the 
first set of answers that covered document 1 through 8707 have been done. I -- that’s 
why I said that that will be unreasonable and an expense and I have to go back to each 
document and see how it responded.


Mr. Flynn, as far as I’ve seen, had not objected to those answers, so to do that would 
force me to review close to 9,000 documents to see which were responsive -- 9,000 -- 
8,707 that have already been turned over and, in addition to that, on February 10th,


Judge, the last hearing date on this matter, you focused and ordered us to focus our 
response to the time Mr. Dulberg knew or should have known, and the only documents 
that at that time hadn’t been turned over to Mr. Flynn would be six hundred something 
odd documents, communications between the second -- the Gooch law firm and Mr. 
Dulberg. Those I reviewed and submitted the one that responded to what -- to what the 
court indicated the communications in December of --


THE COURT: Before we get into that -- because I think that issue’s resolved. Before we 
get into that, why are you -- I guess I’m not following. You’re saying that it’s -- giving 
him specific responses to his discovery requests is overly burdensome on you at this 
point?


MR. TALARICO: Right, to go back and review 8,700 documents that had been turned 
over in the past --


THE COURT: Well, who should?


MR. TALARICO: Excuse me?


THE COURT: Well, who’s burden is that to provide the accurate answer?


MR. TALARICO: Judge, those were responded to. They were supplied to Mr. Flynn in 
the past in response to requests to produce.


THE COURT: He may have -- I accept he has every single relevant document, but you 
can’t just say in response to a discovery request find it yourself, it’s in these thousands of 
pages of documents. You got to tell him where it is. So --


MR. TALARICO: I understand -- I’m sorry, Judge.


THE COURT: The bottom line, your answer has to be one that you can be pinned down 
on for purposes of impeachment, and your answers are -- don’t permit that. So if you’re 
going to respond, you’ve got to give him a direct response to a direct question, and you 
didn’t do that. You’ve given him -- you said here’s everything we have, find it yourself. 
And that is nonresponsive.


MR. TALARICO: Judge, with all due respect, again, the -- this was -- what I’m reflecting 
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on is these are the documents that were submitted to Mr. Flynn by the Clinton Law Firm 
with no objection.


THE COURT: But I have a motion to compel that -- I mean -- so I think --


MR. FLYNN: And that’s not accurate, Judge. There have been multiple 201(k) 
conferences and it was a long, unusual production in response to the interrogatories in the 
case as it was.


THE COURT: Regardless, I am ordering compliance and you must give specific 
responses to each of the requests, and you can’t just say it’s somewhere in these 8,000 
plus pages. How long is it going to take you to do that?


MR. TALARICO: Judge, if I could have 60 days to cover 9,000 -- close to 9,000 
documents.


THE COURT: Sure, I’ll give you 60 days, because, yeah, that is a lot of -- those are a lot 
of documents, so I’ll put this out 60 days. Mr. Flynn, is there anything else we need to 
address at this time?


MR. FLYNN: Well, the supplemental production response, again, is a nonresponsive 
production response. The question is, is there a document in that 8,000 pages. We don’t 
think there is, but Dulberg testified both ways essentially, whether there was a December 
16, 2016, written communication with Tom Gooch that provided him with the basis for 
the tolling of the statute of limitations. If there is none, then the response should say there 
is none, not see 8,000 documents and maybe it’s in them.


THE COURT: I agree. Mr. Talarico, --


MR. FLYNN: And with respect to the --


THE COURT: Well, hang on. Mr. Talarico, I’m not going to tell you how to respond, 
but if there is no such document, -- I did take note of the fact that I saw none in the 
documents I reviewed -- if there is no such document, then just say there is no such 
document.


MR. TALARICO: With all due respect, I think I did answer that question. There was one 
document and I turned it over to Mr. Flynn. The only document between Gooch and the 
plaintiff in December of 2016, one document turned over, without objection, without a 
privilege log.


THE COURT: Mr. Flynn? You’re being told that all documents responsive to that request 
have been turned over. And I agree that at least in the documents I was asked to review, 
there was nothing that corresponded with the December 2016 date that we initially were 
discussing, but --


MR. FLYNN: It should be a pretty simple process then and it should be in writing. 
Then I can attach it to my summary judgment motion, which I know is not a surprise to 
anyone. The same goes with respect to the interrogatory answers. Dulberg admitted in his 
deposition that he didn’t respond completely to interrogatory number one, in particular, 
from Hans Mast.
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So that is also part of this motion to compel. Again, that one is a little different. It says 
identify and describe each and every way that Popovich or Mast breached any duty of 
care to you, the date of the breach and when and how you became aware of the breach. 
He didn’t answer it.


THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Talarico? And I’m going to move on to everybody else and 
then come back to you -- in fact, I’ll come back to you guys. I’ll let -- let me get rid of 
everyone else and we’ll resume this in a moment. 


(Whereupon, the above-entitled cause was passed and subsequently recalled.)


THE COURT: That brings us back to Dulberg. What I’m doing right now is looking up 
-- I want to go to the interrogatory. Mr. Flynn, while I’m looking for -- it’s interrogatory 
number one; am I correct?


MR. FLYNN: Correct.


THE COURT: All right. I’m looking in your motion to compel and since nothing is 
marked, I’ve got to page through these one at a time, so while I’m doing that, rather than 
just staring at me, why don’t you tell me what the interrogatory says.


MR. FLYNN: Sure. It says identify and describe each and every way that Popovich 
or Mast breached a duty of care to you, the date of the breach, and when and how you 
became aware of the breach.


THE COURT: Okay. And what was the response?


MR. FLYNN: Between October of 2013 and January 2014, Mast told Dulberg that 
Illinois law does not permit a recovery against the McGuires in the circumstances of 
Dulberg’s case and that he would not receive any recovery from the McGuires.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. FLYNN: Mast advised Dulberg that the judge would rule in favor of the McGuires 
on a motion for summary judgment. Mast further told Dulberg that Dulberg would retain 
his claim against Gagnon and be able to seek and receive a full recovery from Gagnon. 
So that says nothing specifically about a breach, the date of the breach or when and how 
he became aware of it.


THE COURT: Well, it doesn’t -- no, it doesn’t tell you the date. Mr. Talarico, do you have 
a response on that?


MR. TALARICO: No, Your Honor, it doesn’t say specifically the date of the breach.


THE COURT: All right. And --


MR. FLYNN: And we were forwarded the discovery. Again, this goes back to the Gooch 
-- whether it be a verbal or written communication on December 16, 2016.


MR. TALARICO: Mr. Flynn, verbal -- I don’t know where I could get verbal responses. 
I’ve gone over everything and I -- Judge, I have in total 90 emails between the two, 
between Mr. Gooch and Mister -- and the plaintiff, and I would be willing to turn over 
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every one of them. That’s the written -- that’s what I have.


MR. FLYNN: I just want to know what the basis is for the discovery of the malpractice, 
and if there isn’t anything other than a verbal discussion with Tom Gooch in his office, 
that’s fine; but it just needs to specify that. And I think that’s been the ruling with this.


THE COURT: And I think --


MR. FLYNN: And that’s what the testimony seems to reflect.


THE COURT: I -- I think the answer -- and I certainly don’t know, but based upon what I 
understand already, I think the answer points to that December 2016 date addressed in the 
production response, but I don’t know and I -- my concern is making sure it is clear from


the answer to interrogatory that is in fact what we’re talking about. If there’s another 
date, fine, but it has to be disclosed. I don’t know about -- I’m not sure how he responds 
to the date of the breaches because I -- I do think that that’s an incredibly broad question 
because it --


MR. FLYNN: I understand that.


THE COURT: -- in essence, it’s every day after the resolution of the initial claim, and you 
do have a date for that, at least by way of a settlement or order. So, Mr. Talarico, can you 
supplement that answer with the date of discovery?


MR. TALARICO: I will do my best, Judge. I will.


THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Flynn, the next one?


MR. FLYNN: You know, generally I think that’s it, Judge. It’s the supplemental 
production response and then these interrogatories, so what I would ask that the 
order reflect, that the specific answers need to be made and that the objections in the 
supplemental production response be overruled. I think the objection is undue burden on 
each of them --


THE COURT: Yeah, and to the extent that there are objections to the burdensome nature, 
those are overruled. I recognize that it is a burden, but you got to -- somebody’s got to do 
it, and it is your claim, it is your burden. But I will give you 60 days in which to complete 
that.


Mr. Talarico, anything you want to add?


MR. TALARICO: No, Judge.


THE COURT: So why don’t we -- 60 days is June 1st. Let’s assume -- and I’m going to 
-- I won’t assume compliance prior to June 1st, but if we come back on June 14th, that’s 
a Monday, Mr. Flynn, do you think you would be able to give me your comments on 
compliance by then?


MR. FLYNN: If I have a response and, say, amended interrogatory answers and amended 
supplemental responses by June 1?


THE COURT: Yeah.
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MR. FLYNN: Yes, sure.


THE COURT: Okay. So I will direct a supplemental answer to interrogatory number one. 
I’ll direct amended answers to the production request, and all due by June 1st.


2E16.	On June 14, 2021 the following exchange took place in court:1


What’s going on with the case? What -- we are here for discovery compliance.


MR. TALARICO: Yes, your Honor. Well, I believe we have complied to your order 
completely.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. TALARICO: We have filed and served all the proper documents, searched all -- 
whatever, close to 9,500 documents and responded appropriately.


A reasonable person can conclude that Williams intentionally suppressed documents mentioning 
the subjects of Brad Balke, Bankruptcy, Saul Ferris, the Saul Ferris declination letter and the 
Baudins that the opposing counsel was actively seeking from May 30, 2019 until July 9, 2020 
and then, just before Williams resigned, Williams “flooded” Dulberg with over 6000 documents, 
leaving Dulberg to answer the supplemental document discovery request on his own or with a 
new attorney being presented with a massive trove of documents to look through and perhaps 
only 28 days to do it. A reasonable person can conclude that this was done to intentionally 
confuse and overwhelm Dulberg and any new attorney he may retain to benefit the defendants 
and sabotage Dulberg’s case against Popovich and Mast.


2F	� THE EXAMPLE OF THE BAUDINS


2F1.	 The Baudins were retained2 on September 22, 2015 by Dulberg to represent Dulberg in his 
PI lawsuit against David Gagnon, after Dulberg fired Brad Balke.


2F2.	 Just like Balke, the Baudins, in violation of the automatic stay, represented Dulberg in the 
22nd Judicial Circuit Court (which had no jurisdiction over the PI case) even though the Baudins 
must have known Dulberg had no standing as plaintiff in PI case 12LA178.


2F3.	 Williams suppressed all emails between the Baudins and Dulberg from the document 
disclosure to opposing counsel on May 30, 2019 except bates number “Dulberg 001308” 
(which is a notice of the binding mediation award). Williams also suppressed documents on the 
relationship of the Baudins to the bankruptcy estate.


2F4.	 Dulberg later discovered that Clinton and Williams failed to inform him of the ways which 
the defendants Popovich and Mast, Balke and later the Baudins (and Allstate and bankruptcy 
Trustee Olsen) acted in violation of Federal Bankruptcy Laws.


2F5.	 On June 13, 2016, in violation of the automatic stay, in the Circuit Court Allstate attorney 


1  2021-06-14_17LA377_Report of Proceeding_TALARICO_Judy A Carlson.pdf
2 � Exhibit 53-2015-Baudin_FeeAgreement.pdf
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Reddington stated that she and the Baudins are considering this case as a possible ADR candidate 
without Dulberg’s knowledge or permission. The Baudins were representing Dulberg in the 22nd 
Judicial Circuit Court without Dulberg having standing as plaintiff, the case under automatic 
stay and without being hired as special counsel or receiving leave from the 7th Circuit United 
States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Western Division. Allstate attorney 
Reddington stated in the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court, “I have four motions up this morning. 
Plaintiff’s attorney and I are working on the case to see if it’s a possible ADR candidate. He 
asked that we get our motions entered and continued. They’re for an IME.” Allstate attorney 
Reddington also said, “And honestly, if I get a decision sooner, that -- well, I don’t know if this 
is a case we -- we probably wouldn’t be able to enter a dismissal order if we went to ADR until 
after the ADR was done.” 


On June 13, 2016 the following exchange took place in the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court:1


THE COURT: Dulberg versus Gagnon?


(Whereupon the afore-captioned cause was recalled.)


SPEAKER: Judge, I’m here on Dulberg versus


Gagnon.


THE COURT: Yeah.


SPEAKER: I have four motions up this morning. Plaintiff’s attorney and I are working on 
the case to see if it’s a possible ADR candidate. He asked that we get our motions entered 
and continued. They’re for an IME.


THE COURT: Okay.


SPEAKER: They’re to continue the trial, they’re to bar one of his witnesses, and they’re 
to compel his expert.


THE COURT: Okay.


SPEAKER: For a dep. Randy Baudin and I have been talking all last week. And I said, 
What do you want to do about today? He’s working with a client who’s on his third 
attorney, so.


THE COURT: I had an extensive pretrial, so.


SPEAKER: Yes. And I’m new to it, but I’m like, Okay, we’re going to, you know, get it 
ready for trial if that’s what we’re going to do.


THE COURT: When did Mr. Baudin want to come back?


SPEAKER: He didn’t say. But I know, like myself, he’s going to a volleyball tournament 
with his daughters in Florida.


THE COURT: Okay.


1 �� Exhibit 58-2016-06-13_CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 2_24_2022 -  - - REOP -  -.pdf
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SPEAKER: At the end of the month.


THE COURT: So --


SPEAKER: I don’t want to --


THE COURT: We’ll get into July. Why don’t we go 30 days. What’s a day that works for 
you?


SPEAKER: And honestly, if I get a decision sooner, that -- well, I don’t know if this is 
a case we -- we probably wouldn’t be able to enter a dismissal order if we went to ADR 
until after the ADR was done.


THE COURT: Yeah.


SPEAKER: Based on the history. I am gone the first week of July. So after that, I am here 
July 11th.


THE COURT: Let’s come back July 11th.


SPEAKER: Are you comfortable with leaving the trial date until that time?


THE COURT: Yeah.


SPEAKER: Because the trial date’s out in September.


THE COURT: Yeah.


SPEAKER: Okay. All right.


THE COURT: It’s not like it’s extra work for me.


SPEAKER: Well, I just -- you know, for purposes of your calendar.


THE COURT: You’re -- you’re the number one case, so everybody else will be happy if 
you go away.


SPEAKER: I’m sure they will. Okay. Thank you, Judge.


THE COURT: All right. Thank you.


2F6.	 On July 11, 2016 the following exchange took place in the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court:1


THE COURT: Dulberg. Do we have -- When do you want to come back?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We’re entering continuing the motions, is that what we’re 
doing?


THE COURT: Yes.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Okay. When’s your next available date, Judge?


THE COURT: For a hearing?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yes.


1 � Exhibit 54-CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 3_2_2022 -  - - REOP -  - (1).pdf
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UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Or a brief.


THE COURT: Are we briefed? Has it been briefed?


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: No. They’re just motions that I presented as emergencies 
and then we continued them pending discussions.


THE COURT: Well, when -- if it goes into mediation, the motions become moot. Or do 
we have to address them regardless? I don’t know what they are.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I think the type of mediation we would do, it would be 
moot because --


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Yeah, other than, possibly, an IME. But, you know, we can 
certainly work -- we’ve worked well together so far, so we could certainly see if we can 
work things out.


THE COURT: Speaking generally, I’d probably grant an IME. I haven’t seen your 
motion, though, so I don’t know. I mean, I could put this over to July 21st, and that 
should give you enough time to decide what you want to do with mediation.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I can be here.


THE COURT: Okay. All right. And that will be just at 9:00 o’clock for presentation of the 
motion, and then we’ll figure out what we’re going to do.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you for your time.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Thank you. Appreciate it.


2F7.	 On July 21, 2016 the following exchange took place in 22nd Judicial Circuit Court:1


APPEARANCES:


THE BAUDIN LAW GROUP LTD., by: MS. KELLY N. BAUDIN, on behalf of the 
Plaintiff;


LAW OFFICE OF STEVEN A. LIHOSIT, by: MS. SHOSHAN E. REDDINGTON, on 
behalf of the Defendant David Gagnon.


MS. BAUDIN: Kelly Baudin on behalf of the plaintiff. Mr. Dulberg is present and 
approaching.


MS. REDDINGTON: Good morning, Judge. Shoshan Reddington for the defendant.


THE COURT: Good morning.


MS. REDDINGTON: We talked last night. We’ve got some things agreed to, so I would 
like to just give us a moment to discuss that and step back up.


THE COURT: Okay. I will pass.


MS. BAUDIN: Thank you.


1 � Exhibit 55-CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 3_2_2022 -  - - REOP -  - (2).pdf
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MS. REDDINGTON: Thank you.


THE COURT: All right. Thank you.


(Whereupon, the above-entitled cause was passed and subsequently recalled.)


MS. BAUDIN: Okay, Judge. As you know, we had previously been discussing binding 
mediation. We came to a semi-agreement, --


THE COURT: Okay.


MS. BAUDIN: -- but we would like probably two weeks to just see if we can figure out 
the details and see if we can reach an agreement on how that is going to proceed. So I 
think we’re looking at an August 4th date for that.


THE COURT: Can’t do August 4th --


MS. BAUDIN: Oh, okay. I just was looking at two weeks, Your Honor.


THE COURT: -- because that’s when I’m not here.


MS. BAUDIN: Oh, I see on the calendar. I apologize.


THE COURT: Any day after that.


MS. REDDINGTON: The following week, anything?


MS. BAUDIN: Grab my -- Let’s say either the 8th or the 10th are probably the best.


THE COURT: Either’s fine?


MS. REDDINGTON: My calendar’s currently crashed on my -- so I can’t answer that, 
but --


MS. BAUDIN: Why don’t we do the 10th, just so it’s --


THE COURT: Is there a date you know you’re going to be here?


MS. REDDINGTON: No.


THE COURT: Okay.


MS. REDDINGTON: Judge, and I have several motions, and what I’d like to do is get the 
trial stricken which is on 9/- --


MS. BAUDIN: 27th I believe or 22nd?


MS. REDDINGTON: -- the 26th, and then to set it for the status instead on the 8/10, and 
then I also had a motion on an IME. I’m a little stymied right now because my claim rep 
is out this week and there’s a couple of issues that I can’t answer for counsel, but if we do 
get the agreement in place, what we’d like to do is do the mediation and then come back 
for a status to dismiss it once the mediation is done, if that’s agreeable.


THE COURT: First off, with respect to the motion to strike the trial date, any objection?


MS. BAUDIN: No.
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THE COURT: All right. I will -- I will strike the trial date for September 26, as well as 
the pretrial date of the 23rd.


MS. REDDINGTON: Okay.


THE COURT: I will enter and continue your other motions until we’re certain what’s 
going to happen.


MS. REDDINGTON: Okay.


THE COURT: The removal of the trial date pretty much means we can do anything.


MS. REDDINGTON: Takes care of that. Okay. And hopefully we’ll come back with 
everything in place and then we’ll just even set a date and then get a status for after that 
date to be able to come back and say it’s done; we’re willing to dismiss with prejudice 
because mediation’s binding and it’s done.


THE COURT: All right. However you want to do it, it is fine.


MS. REDDINGTON: Thank you.


THE COURT: All right. Take care.


MS. BAUDIN: Thank you


2F8.	 On August 10, 2016, in violation of the automatic stay, the Baudins and Reddington 
moved to enter into binding mediation on August 10, 2016, The date of the Binding Mediation 
hearing was already set for December 8, 2016 by the time the following exchange took place on 
August 10, 2016 in the Circuit Court:1


MS. REDDINGTON: Number one, Dulberg vs. Gagnon. Shoshan Reddington for the 
defendant. We have (indiscernible) scheduled for 12-8.


THE COURT: Okay.


MS. REDDINGTON: We’d like to have a status date after that date.


THE COURT: What date works for you? You said December 8?


MS. REDDINGTON: December 8.


THE COURT: Okay. How about the following Monday, the 12th? Or do you want to go 
out further? The 16th, Friday? 


On August 10, 2016, in violation of the automatic stay, Judge Meyer of the 22nd Circuit Court 
entered an ‘Agreed Order’2 that stated “This case is continued on Motion of  ‘by agreement’ to 
12/12, 2016 at 9:00am for Status on binding Mediation.”. The order also stated “Defendants 
appear by attorney Reddington”. Reddington represented Allstate. The Baudins were not present. 


1 � Exhibit 56-CC-Civil - 12LA000178 - 3_3_2022 -  - - REOP -  - (4).pdf, (Page 2 Lines 2-10)
2 � Exhibit 57-12LA000178--2016-08-10--ORD_0097.pdf
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2F9.	 Allstate and the Baudins misrepresented Dulberg’s wishes to the 22nd Judicial Circuit 
Court (which has no jurisdiction over the PI case) and claimed they had an agreement to enter 
into binding mediation on August 10, 2016. Judge Meyer entered the order and pushed the next 
status date to December 12, 2016, which is 4 days after the scheduled binding mediation date of 
December 8, 2016. All this was done while the case was under automatic stay and Baudins client 
Dulberg had no standing in the case.


2F10.	On December 8, 2022 Dulberg filed a complaint 2022L0109051 against the Baudins 
for legal malpractice and contract fraud based on the later research and initiative of Dulberg’s 
subsequent counsel. A reasonable person can conclude that Williams intentionally suppressed 
documents which clarified Baudins relationship to the bankruptcy estate for the same reason that 
she suppressed other documents on the bankruptcy: to avoid all the complex issues which arise 
in civil complaint 2022L010905.


(a) �That Dulberg’s signature was fraudulently placed on the Executed Binding Mediation 
Agreement executed 4 days earlier on December 8, 2016.


(b) �That Trustee Olsen misrepresented Dulberg’s consent to the Bankruptcy Judge on October 
31, 2016.


(c) �That Allstate, the Baudins and Trustee Olsen knew Dulberg had no standing to pursue 
the case 12LA178 while the case was under an automatic stay.


(d) �That Allstate, the Baudins and Trustee Olsen all knew the case 12LA178 proceeded in 
the Circuit Court in violation of the automatic stay.


(e) �That the Baudins by agreement with Allstate, in violation of the automatic stay, 
before the Baudins were approved to be hired as special counsel under Trustee 
Olsen, misrepresented Dulberg as agreeing to Binding Mediation in Circuit Court on 
August 10, 2016 and asked Associate Judge Meyer to delay the next status hearing 
to December 12, 2016 after the binding mediation was to take place on December 8, 
2016.


(f) �That the Baudins’ and Allstate’s acts in violation of the automatic stay, started laying 
the groundwork as early as June 16, 2016 and finally set the binding mediation date 
for December 8, 2016 on August 10, 2016 in the Circuit Court. This happened before 
Trustee Olsen was even appointed to the position on August 31, 2016 and before 
Trustee Olsen received permission from the Honorable Judge Thomas M. Lynch, to 
hire the Baudins as special counsel and permission to enter into the proposed capped 
Binding Mediation Agreement on October 31, 2016.


(g) �That the Baudins filed their APPEARANCE as REGULAR COUNSEL in 12LA178 
on 11/6/2015 in violation of the automatic stay.


(h) �That there is no APPEARANCE filed by the Baudin Defendants that is not VOID in 
case 12LA178.


1 � Exhibit F5-Filed Complaint December 8 2022 DisplayFromAWS.pdf
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(i) �That the Baudin Defendants’ failed to file an APPEARANCE to represent the 
bankruptcy estate in case 12LA178 after being hired as special counsel by Trustee 
Olsen.


(j) �That Trustee Olsen received permission from the Bankruptcy court to enter into the 
proposed Binding Mediation Agreement and later made a choice and Trustee Olsen did 
not act and sign on the advice of his special counsel the Baudins.


(k) �That Trustee Olsen did not “pursue” and “exercise control “over the claim/asset and in 
doing so Abandoned the asset and it reverted back to the DEBTOR.


(l) �The Baudin Defendants were approved and hired as Special Counsel for the Estate and 
in such a capacity had no standing to execute a Binding Mediation Agreement for the 
DEBTOR.


(m) �The only party with standing over abandoned assets is now the DEBTOR.


(n) �That there can be no agreement between Allstate and the Baudin Defendants acting 
as counsel for the bankruptcy estate to have the case dismissed with prejudice in the 
circuit court on December 12, 2016 since the Baudins failed to file any appearance 
anywhere that is not VOID and had no standing since they did not represent the 
DEBTOR.


(o) �Trustee Olsen and the Baudins collected the monies paid out by Allstate after 
ABANDONING the ASSET that then reverted back to the DEBTOR.


Dulberg clearly did not know any of this fraud took place when he was awarded $660,000 in 
the capped Binding Mediation but Allstate, Trustee Olsen and the Baudins must have known. 
At that time Dulberg believed that the Bankruptcy Judge forced the case into a capped Binding 
Mediation without Dulberg’s consent because that is what the Baudins told Dulberg. Dulberg 
stating “Yeah, you two did good, real good, and I thank both of you sincerely. I just can’t help 
it, what I see here is a gift of $261,000 given to those responsible for my injuries.” just after 
learning of the capped Binding Mediation Award and that cannot be interpreted as Dulberg 
knowing about the fraudulent concealment listed as (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h), (i), (j), (k), 
(l), (m), (n), (o) at that time. He was not happy about not being able to collect all that he was 
awarded, but that does not mean he knew or could have known about the fraudulent concealment 
listed as (a) through (o) (from paragraph 24).


A reasonable person can conclude that this benefits the defendants in that it caps Dulberg’s 
possible recovery from Popovich and Mast to $300,000 without questioning the legal validity of 
how any ‘cap’ came to be part of any binding mediation agreement or without questioning the 
legal validity of the binding mediation agreement as a whole.


2F11.	As Dulberg’s retained legal malpractice attorney at the time, Williams knew or should 
have known that the Baudins committed legal malpractice against Dulberg for how they handled 
the binding mediation agreement and how they handled the Bankruptcy Estate. It is noteworthy 
that Williams never at any time advised Dulberg that either the Baudins or Bankruptcy 
Trustee Olsen did anything wrong or breached any duty of care they owed to Dulberg or to the 
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Bankruptcy estate in which Dulberg was a beneficiary. As Dulberg’s retained legal malpractice 
attorney at the time, Williams effectively shielded the Baudins and Trustee Olsen and both the 
bankruptcy and binding mediation processes from any scrutiny for their actions described in the 
legal malpractice and contract fraud complaint 2022L010905.


What the example of bankruptcy and the example of the Baudins show clearly is that Clinton 
and Williams repeatedly gas-lighted their fully disabled client in order to protect fellow attorneys 
who were previously gas-lighting the same fully disabled client.


2G	� THE DEFENDANT GAGNON, FFECTIVELY ADMITTING NEGLIGENCE FOR 
DULBERG’S INJURY


2G1.	 On February 1, 2013 Ron Barch filed CROSS-CLAIM FOR CONTRIBUTION 
AGAINTS CO-DEFENDANT DAVID GAGNON1. In the cross-claim the McGuires state as 
follows:


7.  At the time and place alleged, notwithstanding his aforementioned duty, Defendant 
David Gagnon was then and there guilty of one or more of the following negligent acts 
and/or omissions:


a. Caused or permitted a chainsaw to make contact with Plaintiffs right arm;


b. Failed to operate said chainsaw in a safe and reasonable manner so as to avoid 
injuring Plaintiff’s right arm;


c. Failed to maintain a reasonable and safe distance between the chainsaw he was 
operating and Plaintiff’s right arm;


d. Failed to properly instruct Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating 
chainsaw;


c. Failed to properly warn Plaintiff prior to approaching him with an operating 
chainsaw;


f. Failed to maintain the chainsaw in the idle or off position when he knew or should 
have known that Plaintiff was close enough to sustain injury from direct contact with 
the subject chainsaw;


g. Failed to maintain a proper lookout for Plaintiff while operating the subject 
chainsaw;


h. Failed to maintain proper control over an operating chainsaw;


i. Was otherwise negligent in the operation and control of the subject chainsaw.


8. That the injuries alleged by Plaintiff PAUL DULBERG, if any, were the direct and


proximate result of negligence on the part of Defendant David Gagnon. 


1 � Exhibit G1-2013-02-01_12LA178_CROSS CLAIM FOR CONTRIBUTION AGAINST CODEFENDANT 
DAVID GAGNON_CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE_Barch-McGuires copy-OCR.pdf
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2G2.	 Gagnon’s attorney Accardo has never filed an answer on behalf of Gagnon.


2G3.	 On February 1, 2013 the McGuires filed DEFENDANTS’ AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE1 in 
which they stated:


1.  That on the date and the place alleged in the Plaintiffs Complaint, the Plaintiff, PAUL 
DULBERG, was guilty of negligence by failing to exercise due care and caution for his 
own safety in that he:


b.  Failed to use due care and caution as he assisted Defendant David Gagnon during 
the trimming and cutting of trees and branches when he knew and appreciated the 
dangers associated with chainsaw usage.


c.  Was inattentive and unobservant to surrounding conditions and dangers as he 
assisted Defendant David Gagnon during the trimming and cutting of trees and 
branches.


d.  Notwithstanding a reasonable opportunity to do so, failed to maintain a safe distance 
between himself and an operating chainsaw.


e.  Was otherwise careless and negligent as will be demonstrated by the evidence at 
trial.


2.  That by reason of the aforesaid negligence of the Plaintiff, PAUL DULBERG, and as a 
direct and proximate result thereof, the Plaintiff sustained the damages claimed.” 


2G4.	 Of February 6, 2013 Mast filed an ANSWER TO AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE2 on behalf 
of Dulberg which denied each of these allegations. 


2G5.	 David Gagnon or his attorney has never filed an answer to these allegations in the 
cross-claim for contribution. By not filing an answer to a cross-claim for contribution Gagnon 
effectively admitted to each of charges (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h) and (i).


2G6.	 In addition, Gagnon never answered the interrogatory questions Popovich and Mast sent to 
the Allstate attorney Accardo in October, 2012.


2G7.	 As Dulberg’s attorneys at that time Popovich and Mast knew Gagnon never filed an 
answer to the cross-claim. As Dulberg’s subsequent attorneys in his personal injury case, 
both Brad Balke and the Baudins also knew Gagnon never filed an answer to the cross-claim. 
Dulberg’s first legal malpractice attorney, Gooch, also knew Gagnon never filed an answer to the 
cross-claim. Clinton and Williams also knew Gagnon never filed an answer to the cross-claim.


2G8.	 Clinton and Williams knew or should have known that Mast and Popovich must have 
known about the cross-claim filed by the McGuires against Gagnon and unanswered by Gagnon 


1 � Exhibit G2-2013-02-01_12LA178_DEFENDANTS ANSWER_DEFENDANTS AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE_
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE_Barch-McGuires copy-OCR.pdf


2 � Exhibit G3-2013-02-06_12LA178_PLAINTIFFS REPLY TO DEFENDANTS BILL AND CAROLYN 
MCGUIRES AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE_Mast-Dulberg copy-OCR.pdf
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since early March, 2013. This was not mentioned in the complaint.


2G9.	 Clinton and Williams knew or should have known that the Baudins also knew or should 
have known about the cross-claim filed by the McGuires against Gagnon and unanswered by 
Gagnon since they first began to represent Dulberg in October, 2015. This was not mentioned in 
the complaint.


2H	� BARCH DOCUMENT AVAILABILITY BEFORE DULBERG’S DEPOSITION


In this section the way Clinton and Williams can delay their client’s request for a subpoena of 
documents for over 8 months and they way the documents finally appear the day after Dulberg’s 
deposition shows some classic gas-lighting techniques of a permanently disabled client.


2H1.	 On July 8, 2019 at 11:06 AM, about one week after Dulberg received the Popovich 
Document Disclosure from Williams, Dulberg sent an email1 to Williams with an attached folder 
called “To_Julia”2. In the folder there was a file called “_READ_ME.txt”3. The text stated:


“timeline_of_mcguire_settement.txt


This gives you a rough timeline of events leading to Paul accepting a $5,000 settlement 
from the McGuires.  Since we were never able to see (pop 192) until now, we never 
understood the details of how Mast tricked Paul into such a small settlement.  The fact 
that Mast initiated the settlement process through (pop 192) without Paul’s knowledge or 
permission is proof that this case is about more than Mast’s negligence.  It is about willful 
intent or malicious intent to deceive his client.


Of course you will need convincing proof that (pop 192) was initiated without Paul’s 
knowledge.  We have that proof.  As I fill in the timeline more and more, the evidence 
will be stronger and stronger.”


2H2.	 This is when Dulberg first became aware of a document of a $7,500 offer made by Mast to 
opposing counsel Ron Barch on Dulberg’s behalf to settle the claim against the McGuires.


2H3.	 Shortly after sending the folder Dulberg asked Williams by phone to subpoena the records 
of Ron Barch.  Dulberg wanted to know if the October 22, 2013 document in which Mast offers 
to settle the claim against the McGuires for $7,500 was authentic.  But he needed the Barch 
communications to verify the authenticity of the document.


2H4.	 On October 10, 2019 at 2:01 PM Dulberg sent an email to Williams stating:


“3. Did we supoena the Attorney Barch with Auto-owners insurance for his 
communications with the Popovich Firm concerning the Dulberg case?  If yes, have we 
recieved any of these documents?  If no, when will we be asking for these documents?


4. Have we supoenad Attorneys Mr Accardo & Ms Reddington with Allstate Insurance 


1 � Exhibit C7a-2019-07-08_1106 AM_SENT_Fwd Forward to Julia_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
2  �Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 14-To_Julia
3  �Exhibit H1-_READ_ME.txt
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for their communications with the Popovich Firm concerning the Dulberg casr? If yes, 
have we recieved any of these documents? If no, when will we be asking for these 
documents?


5. Have we supoenad the Bankruptcy Trustees Heeg and (I need to look up the names 
in the Bkruptcy docs) for their communications with the Popovich Firm concerning the 
value of the Dulberg case/asset?


If yes, have we recieved any of these documents? If no, when will we be asking for these 
documents?”1


2H5.	 On October 21, 2019 at 1:40 PM (Subject: Discovery and status update) Williams sent an 
email to Dulberg stating:


“Subpoenas:  Mary is working on the issuing various subpoenas. She will send copies to 
you.  There is nothing further for you to do on this at this time.”2


2H6.	 On October 24, 2019 at 10:53 AM Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:


“Provided are copies of the Subpoenas which were mailed out today.  Ed”


“Good morning. 
ARached are copies of the following subpoenas regarding the above referenced case: 
1. Perry Accardo, Law Office of Gerard Gregoire 
2. Law Office of Steven A. Lihosit 
3. Joseph Olsen at Yalden, Olsen & WilleRe 
4. Cicero France Barch & Alexander PC 
Ed”3


2H7.	 On November 22, 2019 4:21 PM Ed Clinton sent an email to Chantel Bielskis stating:


 “Chantal,The 14 day extension you requested is fine”4


2H8.	 On December 10, 2019 at 4:48:56 PM CST Chantel Bielskis wrote to Ed Clinton stating:


“Hello Ed – I am working on your subpoena for records. Is it safe to assume you have the 
entire court file or are you asking me to produce all of the pleadings I have as well?”5


2H9.	 On December 11, 2019 Chantal Beilskis sent an email to WIlliams stating;


“As I mentioned to Ed, I propose providing a list of all the treatment facilities from which 
we received records/bills per subpoena (either ours or Attorney Accardo’s) instead.”  


1 � Exhibit H2-2019-10-10_1401 PM_SENT_Dulberg Case.pdf
2 � Exhibit H3-2019-10-21_1340 PM_RECV_Discovery and status update_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
3 � Exhibit H4-2019-10-24_1053 AM_RECV_FW Dulberg v Popovich et al   Kane County Case No 17 LA 377_


ATTACHMENTS.pdf
4  �Exhibit H7-RE Dulberg AOIC Claim No 13277911.pdf (Page 3)
5  �Exhibit H7-RE Dulberg AOIC Claim No 13277911.pdf (Page 2)







96


Beilskis also stated, “Lastly, I propose sending a list of the deposition transcripts along 
with the corresponding reporter’s info.”1


2H10.	On December 23, 2019 at 3:51 PM Chantal Bielskis sent an email to Williams stating:


“Dear Julia: In follow-up to my email below and in response to your firm’s subpoena for 
records, please see, attached, copies of the non-privileged correspondence from my file.”2


2H11.	On December 23, 2019 at 3:55 PM Williams sent an email to opposing counsel Flynn 
stating;


“Dear George, Please the below response form Cicero’s office re our subpoena. Best 
Regards, Julia Williams”3


2H12.	On Dec 23, 2019, at 3:59 PM, Chantel Bielskis sent an email to Williams stating;


“You are welcome. Attached, please find one of the Exhibits from the Gagnon dep as well 
as photos of the injury. Unfortunately, I will not be able to get the remaining documents 
scanned in and over to you until after the 1st of the year. I apologize for the delay. 
Sincerely, Chantel R. Bielskis”4


2H13.	On December 23, 2019 4:32 PM Williams sent an email to Chantal Beilskis stating;


“Thanks Chantel. No need to apologize for the delay. Enjoy your holidays! 
Best Regards, Julia Williams”5


2H14.	On Feb 12, 2020, at 12:26 PM, Dulberg emailed Williams stating:


“Due to the significants of the October 22, 2013 letter between Mast/Popovich and 
Ronald Barch/Auto-Owners I feel that the documents and communications between Mast 
and Barch are essential to have prior to any depositions. When can we get them?”6


2H15.	On Feb 12, 2020, at 1:29 PM, WIlliams emailed Dulberg stating:


“We can move Hans Mast and Tom Popovich to the end of March.  Defense counsel will 
not agree to move your deposition and would file a motion to compel.  At this stage, I 
think it makes sense for you to go ahead and sit for your deposition on Feb. 19 at 1pm; 
we will prepare on Feb. 18 at our office at 1pm. For Feb. 19, I propose we meet here, at 
our office at 12:30 and walk to Karbal together.”7


1  �Exhibit H7-RE Dulberg AOIC Claim No 13277911.pdf (Page 1)
2  �Exhibit H7-RE Dulberg AOIC Claim No 13277911.pdf (Page 4)
3  �Exhibit H7-RE Dulberg AOIC Claim No 13277911.pdf (Page 14)
4  �Exhibit H7-RE Dulberg AOIC Claim No 13277911.pdf (Page 20)
5  �Exhibit H7-RE Dulberg AOIC Claim No 13277911.pdf (Page 26)
6  �Exhibit H5a-2020-02-12_1226 PM_SENT_Barch Documents.pdf
7 � Exhibit H5b-2020-02-12_1329 PM_RECV_Barch Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
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2H16.	On Feb 12, 2020, at 5:28 PM, Dulberg emailed Williams stating:


“How did we get fixed, forced or locked in on a date to give my deposition before we 
have finished document discovery of the Barch communications?  Determining relevance 
of documents not yet gathered or analyzed on a central issue to our case isn’t solely up 
to the defense to decide.  It is not fair to us to have to walk into a discovery deposition 
without seeing the all the documents first whether or not the defense thinks those 
documents are relevant to my deposition.  We will determine if the Barch documents are 
relevant to my deposition or not after seeing what is in them.  It is also not fair to push 
Mast and Popovich depositions a month further out on the calendar if the defense is going 
to try and compel me to testify now. This serves no purpose other than buying the defense 
more time to formulate responses to what is discovered in my deposition.  The dates of 
the depositions should stay as close together as logistically possible if we want the truth 
and not some formulated fiction of it.


Let them file the motion to compel. I believe the Judge would agree that we should be 
able to analyze the Barch records and keep the depositions as close together as possible 
to get to the truth. I believe it is within our rights to see all documents before any 
depositions begin When can we expect to see the Barch communications and documents 
and how long will we have to analyze them before depositions begin?”1


2H17.	On Feb 12, 2020, at 6:42 PM, Dulberg emailed Williams stating:


“Perhaps we should file a motion to compel Ronald Barch and Auto-Owners Insurance 
to turn over all communications and document records with Hans Mast and the Popovich 
law firm as soon as possible.  My thought is if we get those documents now and have a 
few days to digest them maybe we can keep the deposition dates as they are scheduled.”2


2H18.	On Feb 12, 2020, at 8:12 PM, Ed Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:


“Is there a reason you are reluctant to be deposed?  Ed”3


2H19.	On Feb 13, 2020 at 7:18 AM, Dulberg emailed Clinton stating:


“Is the October 22, 2013 letter an actual communication between Mast and Barch or is it 
a strategy or trick?  It is essential to verify this from the Barch documents to determine if 
the letter is a fact or not.  It is also important to limit the time between depositions.  This 
is my only reluctance.”4


2H20.	On February 13, 2020 at 11:52 AM Ed Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:


“Just remember that you cannot win a case during your deposition. 
Testify from your own personal knowledge. 


1 � Exhibit H5c-2020-02-12_1728 PM_SENT_Barch Documents.pdf
2 � Exhibit H5d-2020-02-12_1842 PM_SENT_Barch Documents.pdf
3 � Exhibit H5e-2020-02-12_2012 PM_RECV_Barch Documents.pdf
4 � Exhibit H5f-2020-02-13_0718 AM_SENT_Barch Documents.pdf
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I highly doubt that you can testify (or that you should testify) about a letter somebody 
else wrote, which may or may not be genuine. Stick to what you know - what you saw 
and what you observed. 
Please focus on getting the deposition done and making a demand.”1


2H21.	On Feb 13, 2020 at 1:29 PM, Dulberg sent an email to Williams and Clinton stating:


“As of July 2019, I now know about the October 22, 2013, $7500 offer Mast made to 
Barch without my knowledge.  We need to confirm this letter is real by acquiring the 
Barch firms documents and communications with Mast by compelling them if necessary.  
I have been asking for the Barch communications and documents since last July Why 
hasn’t Barch turned over those communications and documents?  Do we need to be 
concerned that Barch feels those documents may implicate himself somehow or has he 
made a backroom deal of some sort with Mast/Popovich?  The only reluctance that I 
have is the amount of time Mast and Popovich will have to both read and formulate a 
strategy before being deposed themselves. I have learned the hard way not to trust these 
two gentlemen (Mast & Popovich) and have cause for concern or we wouldn’t be here.  
In the underlying case, after reading Caroline McGuires deposition it became obvious 
to both myself and Mast that she had read my deposition prior to her being deposed.  
Caroline McGuire described my description of the chainsaw incident.  After I realized 
that Caroline McGuire had information that she would not otherwise have had or possibly 
known before being deposed I learned to never let that happen again.  It is not fair that the 
defense witnesses get to read my testimony/deposition before giving their own  estimony/
deposition.  Even if the defense witnesses don’t read my deposition directly I’m positive 
they will be briefed by their counsel on the key points they need to address.  Given 
enough time they (Mast & Popovich) will develop an alternative fictional half truth as 
a strategy.  Fictional half truths is exactly what Mast and Popovich did to me when they 
lied and bullied me into settling with the McGuires.


These two gentlemen (Mast and Popovich) have a proven track record of deceiving 
and lying to me so why would I believe documents they turn over without confirming 
them by getting those records from Barch?  If we need to postpone Mast and Popovich’s 
depositions by a month because we haven’t received the Barch communications then it 
seems only fair that my deposition is also postponed.


I don’t know if Mast turned over all the communications and documents with Barch 
or not, the only way to find out is to see what Barch has, who knows what else those 
documents will show?


Believe me, I wish to get this over with as soon as possible but limiting the time both 
Mast and Popovich have to prepare after reading my deposition is more important and 
having the Barch communications before deposing Mast and Popovich is essential.  If 
I could wave a magic wand and get the Barch documents and everyone deposed today 
I would do it in a heart beat.  There is more than just the Barch documents that would 
be ideal to show the 2-1/2 years of deception, lies and abuse perpetuated by Mast and 


1 � Exhibit H5g-2020-02-13_1152 AM_RECV_Barch Documents.pdf
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Popovich on me, their client, but those other documents and communications are not at 
the core of our case.  The Barch firms communications and documents are at the core of 
our case and must be obtained.  I’m sorry if I hurt anyone feelings because I don’t want 
to give Mast and Popovich over a month to pour through my deposition before answering 
questions but this is too important to care about their feelings.”1


2H22.	On February 13, 2020 at 5:04 PM Clinton sent an emai to Dulberg stating:2


“We need to know if you are going to do your deposition on Wednesday next week. 
Second, I admit I don’t understand your reluctance to be deposed. It does not make sense 
to me. We need to resolve this quickly . We need to get this case moving. I’m concerned 
we are not on the same page. 
We believe Mast was negligent but we don’t think those communications (that you were 
not a party to) are relevant to your testimony. 
I’m much more concerned that this case is not moving along appropriately - there is no 
demand and no one will pay you until you are deposed”


2H23.	On February 19, 2020, the day of Dulberg’s deposition, at 1:18 PM Chantal Bielskis sent 
an email to Williams stating;


“Hello Julia – Attached, please see the letter going out to your firm today regarding 
my subpoena response. Please let me know if you need anything further regarding the 
subpoena. Also, if possible, I would appreciate you letting me know when this case is 
resolved. Have a good day. Sincerely, Chantel R. Bielskis”3


Attached letter states:


“Dear Mr. Clinton and Ms. Williams:


In follow-up to our prior communications regarding the above-referenced case, please 
find, enclosed, one DVD containing my firm’s response to your records subpoena. Please 
note that, for the sake of completeness and convenience, the DVD contains all of the 
documents previously sent via email as well as the remaining documents I am producing.


Regarding the medical records and bills in my possession, due to the volume, I have 
included a list of the facilities from which we have records/bills and identified the source 
of the records (for example, Complex Legal Services).


I have included a similar list of the deposition transcripts in my possession along with the 
relevant court reporters so that you may order same if you wish.


Finally, I do have in my possession a copy of the MT 3500 Operator’s Instruction 
Manual. However, due to the physical nature of the document, producing a copy would 
require sending it to an outside copying service. If you would like me to do so at your 


1 � Exhibit H5h-2020-02-13_1330 PM_SENT_Barch Documents.pdf
2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-02-13_1704 PM_


RECV_Barch Documents.pdf
3 � Exhibit H7-RE Dulberg AOIC Claim No 13277911.pdf (Page 31)
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firm’s expense, please let me know.


If you have any questions concerning this, do not hesitate to contact me.”1


2H24.	On March 4, 2020 at 11:34 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:


“Attached are the documents we received in response to our subpoena to Cicero, France, 
and Alexander P.C., the successor to Mr. Ronald Barch’s former firm, Cicero, France, 
Barch & Alexander PC.”2


2H25.	It is noteworthy that:


a)  �When Williams received subpoena documents from Bieilski on December 23, 2019, she 
sent a copy to opposing counsel Flynn within 4 minutes.  Dulberg was asking his own 
attorneys for the same documents and he did not receive them until March, 4, 2020, more 
than 104 days after Williams gave them to opposing counsel and more than 2 weeks after 
Dulberg’s deposition was already over.


b) �In the exchange between Williams and Bielskis, on December 23, 2019, Beilskis stated, 
“I will not be able to get the remaining documents scanned in and over to you until after 
the 1st of the year.”  Williams answered, “No need to apologize for the delay. Enjoy 
your holidays”.  Around 59 days later (and hours after Dulberg’s deposition), Beilskis 
apparently sent the final documents to Williams.  And more than 2 weeks after receiving 
the subpoenaed documents, Williams sent them to Dulberg.  Dulberg was asking Williams 
and Clinton for the documents the since July, 2019 (when Dulberg first discovered the 
$7,500.00 offer Mast made to Barch on October 22, 2013 without Dulberg’s consent).


2H26.	Dulberg has never received any DVD from Clinton or Williams that was mentioned in the 
letter3 attached to the February 19, 2020 email.4


2I	� THE EXAMPLE OF WEAKENED VERIFICATION PAGES OF DISCOVERY 
PRODUCTION


2I1.	On January 30, 2020 3:34 PM Williams sent an email to Opposing Counsel Flynn stating:


“Please find attached the updated 214 affidavit.  We will continue to supplement records 
as required under the rule.”5


2I2.	On January 30, 2020 at 3:50 PM Opposing Counsel Flynn sent an email to Williams stating:


“I appreciate you forwarding the affidavit. The issue with it is that it is general, is not 
dated, and does not identify the instrument it is referencing (nor is it attached to the 


1 � Exhibit H7a-01ltr.Clinton.Law.Firm.2.19.20.pdf
2 � Exhibit H8-2020-03-04_1134 AM_RECV_Dulberg v Mast Cicero France Barch Production_ATTACHMENTS.


pdf
3 � Exhibit H7a-01ltr.Clinton.Law.Firm.2.19.20.pdf
4 � Exhibit H7-RE Dulberg AOIC Claim No 13277911.pdf (Page 31)
5 � Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Page 29)
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referenced instrument).  I would prefer that it be attached to whatever document is 
referencing, should it need to be marked as an exhibit at a deposition, for example.  
My apologies, I am not trying to create additional work here, but it could become a 
bit unwieldy if I had to attach a discovery response, a general undated 214 affidavit, 
and an email from you explaining the document that it is intended to support, all as an 
exhibit.  Please also let me know where we stand on the email attachments that were not 
previously produced. The “PDF” icon which shows in the subject lines of the emails, 
suggests that they would have still been in Mr.  Dulberg’s possession when he produced 
the emails.  Could you also please call me regarding our tentative February 3 inspection? 
I have a conflict that I may not be able to clear.”1


2I3.	On January 30, 2020 at 3:59 PM Williams sent an email to Opposing Counsel Flynn stating:


“Attached is the RTP answer with the verification in the document. I hope this will 
work.”2


2I4.	On January 31, 2020 at 11:21 AM Williams sent an email to Opposing Counsel Flynn 
stating:


“I will give you buzz later today (we are getting new phones right now).”3


2I5.	On January 31, 2020 at 11:23 AM Opposing Counsel Flynn sent an email to Williams 
stating:


“Fair enough. Thanks Julia.  I will be in the office until I leave for court around 2:30 
p.m.”4


2I6.	Williams replied that she would call Flynn later in the day on January 31, 2020, and this is 
the last evidence of any communication between Williams and Flynn about any verification of 
document production. Even after Williams produced over 6000 documents almost 6 months later 
on July 9, 2020 neither Flynn or Williams mention of any need for any verification statement. 


2I7.	On February 10, 2021 Flynn claimed in court that:


 “there were issues with signature pages throughout written discovery.”5


2J	� Clinton and Williams efforts to place an upper cap on the value of Dulberg’s legal 
malpractice case 17LA377


2J1.	On July 8, 2019 at 11:06 AM, about one week after Dulberg received the Popovich 
Document Disclosure from Williams, Dulberg sent an email6 to Williams with an attached folder 


1 � Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Page 33)
2 � Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Page 38)
3 � Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Page 51)
4 � Exhibit 20-Dulberg v Popovich et al.pdf (Page 59)
5 � Exhibit D0d-Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1-3.pdf (Page 5)
6 � Exhibit C7a-2019-07-08_1106 AM_SENT_Fwd Forward to Julia_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
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called “To_Julia”1. In the folder there was a file called “_READ_ME.txt”2. The text stated:


“timeline_of_mcguire_settement.txt


This gives you a rough timeline of events leading to Paul accepting a $5,000 settlement 
from the McGuires.  Since we were never able to see (pop 192) until now, we never 
understood the details of how Mast tricked Paul into such a small settlement.  The fact 
that Mast initiated the settlement process through (pop 192) without Paul’s knowledge or 
permission is proof that this case is about more than Mast’s negligence.  It is about willful 
intent or malicious intent to deceive his client.


Of course you will need convincing proof that (pop 192) was initiated without Paul’s 
knowledge.  We have that proof.  As I fill in the timeline more and more, the evidence 
will be stronger and stronger.”


2J2.	On January 31, 2020 at 1:30 PM Julia C. Williams (using jwilliams@williamslawchicago.
com) sent an email to Dulberg stating:3


“Also, it is likely an appropriate time to make a demand in this case. 
 Given that the total award Gross Award of $660,000 with 15% comparative fault in the 
Gagnon matter for an award of $561,000, I believe that it would be hard to prove that 
if Gagnon and the McGuires were tried or arbitrated together, you would somehow get 
a larger award. I think there is a good argument to say that Gagnon and the McGuires 
would have been jointly liable for the award of $561,000.  You recovered $300,000 from 
Gagnon, the remainder would have been paid by the McGuire’s through their insurance.
Thus, your damages for dismissing the McGuires is about $261,000 less the $5,000 you 
obtain from them for total damages of $256,000.  Do you want me to make a demand of 
$256,000 from Defendants in this case?”


2J3.	On February 1, 2020 at 2:16 PM Dulberg sent an email to To: Julia C. Williams (at 
jwilliams@williamslawchicago.com) stating:4


“I have a few concerns on the demand. If we use the ADR award as you outlined:  I 
had to pay new attorneys to take the case and they wouldn’t do it for the regular 1/3 
contingency fee.


1. I had to pay the Baudin’s 40% plus I paid all costs up front and out of pocket.


On this I have to go back and find exactly how much I paid for things like Dr Lanford’s 
expert opinion before giving you the total costs I paid. I will need a few days to dig all 
that up and we may get a more accurate number from Baudin. I believe that we are all 
responsible for the likely and probable consequences of our actions.


1  �Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 14-To_Julia
2  �Exhibit H1-_READ_ME.txt
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-01-31_1330 PM_


RECV_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates .pdf
4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-02-01_1416 PM_


SENT_Dulberg v Popovich et al Deposition dates .pdf
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On that note:


But not for Popovich/Masts actions:


1. I would not have filed for Bankruptcy and had to pay the costs associated with it nor 
suffered the credit consequences.


2. The Bankruptcy Judge and trustee wouldn’t have had the authority to order the suit be 
settled by ADR


3. This case most likely would have gone before a jury.


4. I know from the only comprehensive study done in the nation by a university in 
California that jury’s typically give judgements 10x that of an ADR award. This study 
compared nearly identical cases across a large spectrum of suits that went the two 
different routes over many years. Now assuming the university findings are correct, 
660,000 x 10 = 6,600,000


5. Gagnon’s and McGuires assets could not have paid for a Jury award anywhere close to 
6,600,000 but collectively their insurance and assets together at the time would be worth 
somewhere between 900,000 and 1,200,000. We can get their exact worth at that time 
from an asset check that I am willing to pay for.


6. I would have received between 900,000 and 1,200,000 which is a considerable step up 
from the ADR award of 660,000 even if the jury award was 8x less than that study done 
in California found to be the norm.


7. I understand that going this route may take longer and require risking a jury to decide 
the issues and amount, if any, the McGuires and Gagnons would have been liable for. Is 
this risk worth adding a possible 240,000 to 540,000? This we need to talk about before 
we limit ourselves by sending the demand letter. Please feel free to weigh in and let me 
know what I am missing or got dead wrong”


2J4.	On February 13, 2020 at 2:38 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:1


“I did not address the demand portion of your email. We should have the entire Popovich 
policy before moving forward on this. Popovich only supplied the declaration pages in 
the document disclosure. Are we not entitled to see the entire policy?”


2J5.	On February 13, 2020 at 3:25 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:2


“Hi Ed, On the demand portion it would also be helpful to get the McGuires insurance 
policy from Barch. William McGuire said his limits were 300,000 in his Interrogatory 
but that is just his word. The actual policy from the McGuires would be helpful before 
writing a demand letter Can we get that with the rest of the Mast/Barch Communications 


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-02-13_1438 PM_
SENT_Barch Documents.pdf


2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-02-13_1525 PM_
SENT_Barch Documents.pdf
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and documents?


While we are at it, it would also be helpful to have the Gagnon asset check that 
the Baudins did as well as getting a McGuire asset check done. I don’t see it in the 
documents, did the Baudins include the Gagnon asset check they performed with the 
Case file?


FYI - Baudins asked for 1.2 million at the ADR and I believe that was based on the 
Gagnon asset check and his insurance limits of 300,000 as well as my injuries and lost 
wages. We could not ask for monies based on permeant disability because that was 
determined the following year by social security.”


2J6.	On February 13, 2020 at 5:04 PM Clinton sent an emai to Dulberg stating:1


“We need to know if you are going to do your deposition on Wednesday next week. 
Second, I admit I don’t understand your reluctance to be deposed. It does not make sense 
to me. We need to resolve this quickly . We need to get this case moving. I’m concerned 
we are not on the same page. 
We believe Mast was negligent but we don’t think those communications (that you were 
not a party to) are relevant to your testimony. 
I’m much more concerned that this case is not moving along appropriately - there is no 
demand and no one will pay you until you are deposed”


2J7.	On February 14, 2020 at 4:13 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:2


“You said work on the demand so today I spent all day trying to draft a demand letter. I 
have no idea what I’m doing  
I have attached it as Demand Draft - in process.txt 
It’s not even close to being finished and I’m not sure if I’m even on the right track 
Please review it and let me know where I need to fix it.”


2J8.	On Feb 13, 2020, at 5:26 PM, Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:3 


“I think we are talking past each other here because this is complex and we discussing 
different topics. You are correct, there is nothing wrong with me giving my deposition on 
Wednesday. Yes, I will give my deposition next week on Wednesday. 
On the Mast Deposition topic: I definitely want to see Barch documents before Mast is 
deposed. If this is possible, we are in agreement and on the same page.”


2J9.	On February 14, 2020 at 5:32 PM Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:4


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-02-13_1704 PM_
RECV_Barch Documents.pdf


2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-02-14_1613 PM_
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“We will rewrite it. We need a number so can start negotiating.”


2J10.	On February 14, 2020 at 5:40 PM Dulberg sent an emil to Clinton and Williams stating:1


“A number is tough. 
In that Demand draft I was already at 3.2 in todays dollars but considering future inflated 
dollars, off the top of my head I would say 10x what the ADR awarded but I think what 
you’re asking is what number would they give not to have to go through a trial.  Let me 
ask you, in your experience what kind of number will make them really think about it? 
This will give me a starting point.”


2J11.	 On February 14, 2020 at 6:11 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:2


“Should I hire an expert to come up with the number?”


2J12.	On February 14, 2020 at 6:32 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:3


“Sorry for all the emails in a row but I have too many questions 
How does this demand then negotiation work? 
Is it true that even if they agree to some arbitrary number don’t we still need to prove the 
McGuires and Gagnons could pay for it or is that the case only if it goes to trial?”


2J13.	“On February 14, 2020 at 7:39 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:4


“I haven’t heard back so I’m assuming you just want a number. 
If you need a number to start negotiating from start at 6,600,000 - 300,000 that was 
already paid from the ADR award. Thats 6,300,000. 
Let’s see where they come in at. 
Thats the number from everything I’ve researched over the past 9 years that a jury today 
would award in the underlying case. 
I hope that these are for settlement purposes only because I have no intention of limiting 
any possible recovery”


2J14.	On February 15, 2020 at 9:45 AM Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:5


“I was thinking more like $350,000.”


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-02-14_1740 PM_
SENT_Barch Documents.pdf
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2J15.	On February 15, 2020 at 12:36 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:1


“Sorry but No. 
That’s less than the balance left from ADR award of 660,000 
The balance left from ADR is 360,000 if we choose to enforce the ADR award and not 
retry the underlying case. 
November 26, 2018, $5.5 million settlement on behalf of a man who was severely injured 
on his motorcycle in McHenry County, Illinois 
Please follow my logic here...I believe a jury would have awarded between 5.5 and 6.6 
million in the underlying case and still will be very close to that today. 
I believe the most I could have actually collected from a jury award from the defendants 
insurance policies and their assets is 1.2 million. 
Since Mast Never did an asset check or pulled the insurance policy limits on the Gagnons 
or McGuires, they have no idea what the defendants could actually pay. 
For all the defense knows, the McGuires and Gagnons could have been carrying 1 million 
in additional insurance coverage each plus their assets. 
My thought is offer them 2.25 million to settle now or our demand amount goes up 
500,000 each time I’m asked to try and settle. 
Put on a good poker face and let them know we will retry both the underlying case and 
the malpractice case in front of a jury and see where the chips fall. 
r2.25 million and rising is my number”


2J16.	On February 19, 2020 at 7:34 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:2


“Yesterday we talked about lost wages being high, last night I remembered part of a 
conversation with Randy Baudin talking to me a bit about wages 
He talked about averaging wages over many years to get an average 
He also wanted to know what the benefits that went with those wages were worth. 
I had a nice benefit package at Intermatic 
I told randy when applying for home loans Intermatic had reported my wages with 
benefits at 80k per year 
They also reported that same number to an attorney I had in the motor vehicle accident 
back I think somewhere around 2003 (I have to go back and find the exact year that 
happened) 
I think this may be part of the equation he used but I cannot be sure”


2J17.	On February 19, 2020 at 8:17 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:3


“On this same subject I’m trying to remember some of the benefits I had with Intermatic 
The main things I remember are 
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Five million in life insurance policy 
One million in health insurance 
And a ton of other stuff that I’d need to go back and dig up if I still have it 
Don’t know if any of this matters but I wanted to get this to you as I remember it”


2J18.	On February 21, 2020 at 9:43 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:1


“I have been doing my homework. 
I believe that my case does not fill all five prerequisites required before a court can 
invoke judicial estoppel 
I did not take two positions that are factually inconsistent because I initially disclosed 
the suit as an asset to the bankruptcy court and maintained that position throughout 
all judicial proceedings five prerequisites required before a court can invoke judicial 
estoppel: 
the party must 
(1) take two positions; 
(2) that are factually inconsistent; 
(3) in separate judicial or quasi-judicial administrative proceedings; 
(4) intending for the trier of fact to accept the truth of the facts alleged; and 
(5) have succeeded in the first proceeding and received some benefit from it. 
A statement under oath was not, however, a requirement for applying judicial estoppel. 
The only prerequisites I believe can be perceived as being met here is (3,4,5) and that was 
with the Gagnon at the ADR not the McGuires since they had been removed previously. 
I do not believe that Flynn can win a judicial estoppel motion limiting the amount we can 
recover since only three of the five prerequisites may have been met and that those three 
prerequisites is questionable at best. 
Please advise and let me know if I am in error.”


2J19.	On February 21, 2020 at 9:54 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:2


“I should include that the Bankruptcy trustee (Olsen) was also made aware of the 
impending malpractice suit as soon as Gooch determined I had a valid case and I 
remember Olsen stated something very close to this, the bankruptcy was already solvent 
and that I would be receiving 100% of anything acquired by the malpractice suit so he 
had no interest in it”


2J20.	On February 21, 2020 at 10:54 AM Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:3


“At most your demand could be $261,000 based on the arbitration award. 
You cannot get around that award in this case. 
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You are stuck with it 
Ed Clinton, Jr.”


2J21.	On February 21, 2020 at 11:06 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams 
stating:1


“Please don’t take this as confrontative, perhaps I just don’t understand. 
If judicial estoppel doesn’t apply because I have never taken two different positions that 
are that are factually inconsistent in separate judicial or quasi-judicial administrative 
proceedings what’s left that binds us to the adr award for the demand. 
Please see the emails sent today 
Subject: judicial estoppel and Re: judicial estoppel”


2J22.	On February 21, 2020 at 5:30 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:2


“2 quick points 
What is the probability the defense will take the $261,000 right now if we demand it? 
I need to understand exactly how judicial estoppel applies to my case considering the 5 
requirements needed to invoke judicial estoppel don’t come close to aligning to our case.”


2J23.	On February 21, 2020 at 5:41 PM Willimas sent an email to Dulberg stating:3


“Ed is not talking about judicial estoppel. The doctrine is collateral estoppel, when an 
issue has been litigated and cannot be relitigated. Here is a link to a Minnesota article that 
explains it well. Minnesota law and Illinois law are similar on this issue. But feel free to 
do your own research on Illinois law.


https://mitchellhamline.edu/minnesota-administrative-procedure/12-1-res-judicata-and-
collateral-estoppel/


Julia Williams”


2J24.	On February 21, 2020 at 5:44 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:4


Thank you for the correct terminology 
I will do some reading on it 
When is Masts deposition and when will we get together before it?


2J25.	On February 21, 2020 at 6:49 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:5
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Here is my first draft as a counter argument to Collateral Estoppel 
Collatertal Estoppel 
The countervailing and generally successful argument, is that the defendant attorneys 
Mast and Popovich had their hands in the McGuire settlement, which would not have 
taken place except for mistakes made by the attorneys Mast and Popovich. The McGuire 
settlement removed the McGuires from the chance to litigate with Dulberg at the ADR 
and could have changed the outcome. Particularly the amount of the award. 
The countervailing and generally successful argument is that the attorneys Mast-
Popovich had their hand in the dismissal of the McGuires, which would not have taken 
place except for mistakes made by the attorneys Mast-Popovich in the October 22, 2013 
letter to Barch without Dulberg’s knowledge or consent followed by the next 3 months of 
false and misleading information given to Dulberg by Mast-Popovich as documented in 
the emailed communications.


The attorneys Mast-Popovich also had their hands in the false and misleading amounts 
of insurance available from the remaining defendant Gagnon which was told to 
Dulberg after the dismissal of the McGuires and played the only hand in the plaintiff 
Dulberg deciding to file for bankruptcy after Mast-Popovich first telling Dulberg that 
he would be able to recover everything from Gagnon prior to the dismissal of the 
McGuires, it is documented in emails that Mast-Popovich was recommending different 
bankruptcy attorneys to Dulberg as a coarse of action, the Dulberg bankruptcy would not 
havehappened but for the attorneys Mast-Popovich false and misleading statements about 
what if any possible recovery was available to Dulberg. 
The underlying litigation at the ADR Binding Mediation which was brought about by the 
bankruptcy court would not have happened but for Mast-Popovich hands in the false and 
misleading information they gave to dulberg which sealed Dulberg’s decision to file for 
bankruptcy. 
Bottom Line: Dulberg hired and trusted Mast-Popovich as 20 year veterans in personal 
injury liability and as 20 year veterans as officers of the court to be honest with him and 
Mast-Popovich violated and abused that trust as document in the email correspondence 
which shows Mast-Popovich hands in every part of the underlying case except for 
the litigation at the ADR.  Because Mast-Popovich have their well documented dirty 
hands in all decisions in the underlying cases up until they withdrew as council, they 
breached their duty of care for Dulberg and caused the most likely coarse of events in the 
underlying case to be litigated in a manner that was not in the best interests for their client 
Dulberg well before Mast-Popovich withdrew from it.


2J26.	On February 22, 2020 at 7:37 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:1


“Assuming for a moment that if we have to litigate this in front of a judge or jury and 
eventually we do become limited by collateral estoppel what changed from the email 
below asking $350,000 in the demand to $261,000 now?”


SENT_Barch Documents.pdf
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2J27.	On February 22, 2020 at 9:37 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:1


The findings of fact would change from the original litigation to include Dulberg’s 
permanent disability as a result of the accident rather than the narrower determination that 
Dulberg was only severely impaired used in the previous adjudication.


Not withstanding my first draft to the counter arguments made in the previous email 
please take a look at the requirements to invoke collateral estoppel in Illinois and How 
they don’t align to our current attempt to relitigate the underlying case


collateral estoppel


Illinois requirements for the application of the collateral estoppel doctrine are:


(1) the issue decided in the prior adjudication is identical with the one presented in the 
suit in question;


(2) there was a final judgment on the merits in the prior adjudication;


(3) the party against whom estoppel is asserted was a party or in privy with a party to the 
prior adjudication.


“In other words, collateral estoppel or issue preclusion prevents relitigation of an issue 
between the same parties or their privies in any future lawsuit based on a different claim.”


Collateral estoppel applies to questions of law and findings of fact.


1. the issue decided in the prior adjudication is identical with the one presented in the suit 
in question; The determination of Dulberg’s injuries resulting in permanent disability vs 
sever impairment makes the issues decided in the prior adjudication vastly different from 
the issues that would be adjudicated in the present suit.


2. there was a final judgment on the merits in the prior adjudication 
The merits used in the prior adjudication could not be the same as the current 
adjudication. Dulberg was not determined to be permanently disabled from his injuries 
in the prior adjudication but rather, more narrowly only severely impaired, which makes 
the merits used in final judgement in the prior adjudication different from the current 
adjudication.


3. the party against whom estoppel is asserted was a party or in privy with a party to the 
prior adjudicatioI’ll accept that this requirement is met 
“In other words, collateral estoppel or issue preclusion prevents relitigation of an issue 
between the same parties or their privies in any future lawsuit based on a different claim.”


The claim of negligence is not different but rather the same. The relitigation of the same 
claim would bring back Parties that were wrongly removed in the prior litigation and 
bring to light the merits that were not part of the original litigation or Judgement which 
are the real damages of the permanent disability Dulberg suffered 
Collateral estoppel applies to questions of law and findings of fact. 
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The findings of fact would change from the original litigation to include Dulberg’s 
permanent disability as a result of the accident rather than the narrower determination that 
Dulberg was only severely impaired used in the previous adjudication. 
Only 1 of the 3 requirements are met for collateral estoppel to be invoked upon Dulberg


2J28.	On February 22, 2020 at 11:03 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams 
stating:1


Also on the topic of the Bankruptcy court ordering the binding mediation. 
I have just found out that Dulberg owned the asset and Dulberg alone had final say on 
whether the asset would be subject to binding mediation. In other words “the client owns 
the case”. 
The bankruptcy court was in error and assumed absolute control over an asset that was 
beyond the courts power to do by ordering it into Binding mediation with high and low 
limits. 
Second this with Dulberg’s refusal to sign the ADR agreement and we can have that 
whole process undone. It does not matter that Dulberg was present at the ADR. What 
Matters is, did the client sign the agreement? 
The Bankruptcy Court should have waited for the case to be resolved then collected the 
proceeds from the recovery and distributed them to the creditors accordingly. 
If need be, I think I can file an appeal on the Bankruptcy’s courts decision to prematurely 
dissolve the asset by court ordered Binding Mediation based on powers not granted to the 
bankruptcy court and interfering with the clients control over the direction of the suit.


2J29.	On February 23, 2020 at 9:27 AM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:2


To: Ed Clinton ed@clintonlaw.net


“On this demand letter, I’d rather the larger number you suggested of 350,000 over 
261,000 but trust you to decide which number we have to put in it.”


2J30.	On March 3, 2020 at 3:50 PM Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:3


I’d like to make a demand to at least gain information - are they going to offer anything 
or not? 
$350,000 is obviously better. 
Do I have your approval to make that demand? 
Ed


2J31.	On March 3, 2020 at 3:53 PM Dulberg sent an email to CLinton and Williams stating:4
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“Yes you have my permission as long as it is for settlement purposes only and does not 
bind us later down the road.”


2J32.	On July 29, 2020 at 1:56 PM Dulberg sent an email to Clinton and Williams stating:1


“I would like to ask a few questions before your departure from the case so I can better 
address some of the issues with possible new counsel. 
The list below is not complete but it’s a good start to issues I believe are still outstanding. 
Outstanding questions on open issues for Clinton firm before departure:


1. Did you send a demand letter? If so, did we receive a response and may I get copies 
the demand letter and the response?


2. What happened with the objections raised during Dulberg’s deposition when Dulberg 
was questioned about conversations with Dulberg’s former counsel Gooch? Did you get a 
ruling or does that still need to be argued before judge Meyer?


3. Similar to the last question, Have the objections in the Mast deposition been worked 
out or ruled on by judge Meyer?


4. Did you find out who Gooch was using for an expert witness and did you contact 
any possible expert witnesses? If so, may I get a copy of their reports and contact 
information?


5. After you withdraw from this case would you be interested in some sort of limited 
scope representation or unbundled legal services type of role until I find new counsel and 
get them up to speed?


Again, Thank you so very much for your help with this case”


2J33.	On July 30, 2020 at 9:06 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:2


“Per your email request, here is the demand sent to Mr. Flynn. We did not receive a 
formal response, other than it was passed along to the client as you see below. I did 
discuss the demand with Mr. Flynn. He indicated that his client would not accept such 
a large demand. He indicated that his client would be more inclined to accept a smaller 
demand, more in the $10,000-$20,000 range, but did not give a specific number and did 
not make any formal counter-offer.”


2K	� UNEXPLAINABLE TECHNICAL DIFFICULTIES DURING THE DEPOSITION 
OF HANS MAST AND AFTER


2K-1.	 On April 30, 2020 at 11:13 AM Flynn emailed Williams stating:3


SENT_Barch Documents.pdf
1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-07-29_1356 PM_


SENT_Need clarification on outstanding issues before your departure.pdf
2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 24-Emails_Clinton Firm-Dulberg/2020-07-30_0906 AM_


RECV_Fwd Settlement DemandDulberg v Mast_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
3 � Exhibit K2-Dulberg v Popovich-3.pdf (Page 1)







113


“... The recent temporary amendment to Rule 206 (facilitating depositions during the 
Covid crisis), prompted me to touch base and inquire whether you may want to consider 
attempting to depose Hans Mast remotely in the 2nd half of May.


Otherwise, perhaps we can get a live deposition on the books for some time in June. If so, 
I would suggest the 2nd half of June. ...”


2K-2.	 On May 4, 2020 at 11:37 AM Williams replied to Flynn stating:1


“... I would prefer to do an in-person deposition given that the client will likely want to be 
present and that may present some issues with a video deposition. That being said, I don’t 
want to hold this up indefinitely.


Let’s plan for the end of June. If the “stay at home” orders get extended again, we will 
reconsider the “in person” v “remote” deposition. ...”


2K-3.	 On May 4, 2020 at 11:37 AM Williams emailed Flynn stating:2


“... Made an executive decision on this one. I thought that if Paul wants to be present, and 
I am sure he will, it will be easier to communicate with him in person as opposed to a 
video dep. ...”


2K-4.	  On May 4, 2020 at 11:43 AM Flynn emailed Williams stating:3


“... Sounds like a plan. ...”


2K-5.	  On May 29, 2020 at 4:37 PM Williams emailed Flynn stating:4


“... I anticipate this will be a video deposition, despite things opening back up, I think it 
is the safest route for everyone and given the Supreme Court rules, it makes sense to take 
advantage of the remote deposition option. Details to come on that. ...”


It appears that Williams does an ‘about face’ on her earlier “executive decision” to wait for an in 
person deposition, has read and understands the supreme court rules on remote depositions and 
will “take advantage” of those rules.


2K-6.	 On June 18, 2020 at 9:32 AM opposing counsel Flynn sent an email to Williams 
stating:5


“... Please let me know when you can about your plan for exhibits. I will assume that I do 
not need to print or bring anything with me unless you advise otherwise.”


2K-7.	 On June 19 2020 at 2:35 PM, six days before the deposition of Mast, Flynn sent an 
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email to Williams stating:1


“Julia: I just received your notice of attorney lien. Will you still be taking the dep next 
week?


My experience with receiving liens at this stage of litigation(in a high percentage of 
cases) is that a withdrawal shortly follows. Hopefully not the case here, but just making 
sure we are still on for Mast’s dep. ...”


Flynn is correct, Williams and Clinton are preparing to withdraw and have no intention of 
representing Dulberg in litigating this case any further. 


2K-8.	 On June 19, 2020 at 2:54 PM Williams emails Flynn and states:2


“... We are still on. This will be the first remote deposition that I have taken so I am still 
working on figuring out the exhibits. I believe that I can upload them to the US Legal 
system and then share them during the deposition. But, if not, I will be sure to have them 
to you no later than Tuesday by 5pm. ...”


2K-9.	 June 23, 2020 at 4:25 PM Williams Emails Flynn stating:3


“... I am attaching the deposition exhibits that I may use on Thursday. I don’t believe 
there will be any additions between now and then, but if there are they will minor and I 
will do my best to send them ahead of time. Obviously, I may not use all of these.


I have not used US Legal or done any remote depositions so you will have to forgive any 
errors. My understanding is that in the video conferencing system I will be able to upload 
the document in Pdf or other format (I am only using PDFs), then you and the court 
reporter will be able to download it. The court reporter will label the exhibits and include 
them in the transcript after the deposition is complete. You are not required to print any of 
the documents—unless of course you would like to do that.


I did my best to label the exhibits in the number order that I believe I will use them. That 
being said, things change in depositions and they may have to be renumbered. In an effort 
to not make it super confusing, I used descriptive names as well. ...”


It appears from the email that Williams sent Flynn 23 proposed exhibits in this email. There is 
no evidence that she did the same for the court reporter. Williams has already set herself up for 
violating the Supreme Court rule and the deposition is still days away.


2K-10.	 On June 24, 2020 at 12:50 PM Flynn emailed Williams stating:4


“Thanks Julia. I also received the additional exhibit you may use. See you tomorrow.”
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(After several exhaustive searches, Dulberg cannot locate any file containing the email where 
Williams sends Flynn this “additional exhibit” in the Clinton case file.


Possibly sent to Flynn using “Julia.c.floyd@gmail.com”?1)


Could this possible backchannel email address be why Mr Flynn announced himself as “George 
Floyd” in open court on February 25, 2019 and later harrassed the court reporter to change the 
transcript to read “George Flynn”?2


The court reporter did not sign the certification page of the transcript that now reads “George 
Flynn”3 even after being reminded and asked to do so twice.4


2K-11.	 Flynn preprinted some of the proposed exhibits and only portions of the larger 
exhibits to save paper, Most having the wrong exhibit number from what will be used in the 
deposition.


2K-12.	 The court reporter was recording from a remote location and was not in the room 
with Williams or the deponent Mast and manages to capture a bizarre episode of alleged wifi 
connection problems (mostly off the record) without any actual break in the audio like we would 
expect from someone who lost their connection to the Internet during a zoom meeting.


2K-13.	 From the beginning of the deposition Williams was uploading the exhibits she 
was referencing but Mast was in his email attachments viewing the proposed exhibits Flynn 
forwarded to him (and was ignoring the exhibits uploaded by Williams).


2K-14.	 Early into the deposition Mast and Flynn claimed a wifi outage occurred and Mast 
couldn’t view the proposed exhibits in Masts email anymore. Both claimed that they got booted 
from the office wifi.  They also claimed they had audio but no video on zoom.


2K-15.	 Flynn then claimed he figured out how to log back in to the zoom meeting using 
Flynn’s cellular hot spot to reconnect.


2K-16.	 Once logged back into the zoom meeting using Flynn’s cellular hot spot, Mast then 
claimed he couldn’t see his emails or proposed exhibits on those same computers and devices 
that were now connceted over the cellular hot spot.


2K-17.	 Rather than use the files uploaded by Williams on zoom, Mast then turned to Flynn’s 
incomplete printed portions of the proposed exhibits (which are mostly marked with old exhibit 
numbers that do not match the exhibit numbers being assigned as Williams uploaded them, 
causing constant confusion over what is actually being viewed by the deponent).


2K-18.	 Williams then attempted to email an exhibit and sets up “screen sharing” with the 
exhibit.  This was done because Mast and Flynn claimed they couldn’t find the exhibit in the 
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partially printed proposed exhibits (and apparently Mast and Flynn refused to use the uploaded 
Exhibits feature that are readily available through zoom.


(After several exhaustive searches Dulberg can find no emails sent by Williams during the 
deposition in the Clinton case file. Possibly sent to Mast using “Julia.c.floyd@gmail.com”?1)


2K-19.	 Mast later claimed he had the proposed exhibits on his computer and told Williams 
she doesn’t need to keep uploading them (but makes no reference to his email or wifi working).


2K-20.	 Williams seemed to go along with all this, rather than simply instruct Mast to use the 
exhibits she was uploading (to comply with the Supreme Court rules for remote depositions) or 
cancel the deposition and reschedule it (due to Mast and Flynn’s equipment failures).


2K-21.	 The following excerpts from the deposition transcript2 and mast.wav3 file and are just 
a few examples of the confusion these alleged technical difficulties/equipment failures created:


Page 17 Lines 8-104


MAST:  Yeah. What I’m going off are an email I got with all the exhibits attached, so I’m 
not -- that’s what I’m looking at.


Page 22 Lines 2-20:5


MAST:  Oh, uh, I think -- It just kicked me off.


MR. FLYNN: I got disconnected, too. It’s the Wi-Fi.


BY MS. WILLIAMS:


WILLIAMS:  Okay, we’ll just wait a minute here.


MAST:  I can hear you. I just can’t see you.


WILLIAMS:  We’ll wait a minute until you can get your video back on.


MR. FLYNN: Julia, we think the Wi-Fi may have dropped here in the office.


WILLIAMS: Okay. Well, let’s just give it a minute and see.


MR. FLYNN: Okay.


(Whereupon, a break was taken.) 


[A bizarre off the record audio is recorded by the court reporter about the alleged wifi Internet 
outage/equipment failure at: mast.wav 22:50 - 36:406]
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WILLIAMS:  Okay. I think we’re back on the record. Barb, are you doing all right?


THE REPORTER: Yes....


Page 26 Lines 5-171


WILLIAMS:  Okay. I just uploaded Dulberg Mast Exhibit 4 and it says letter -- it’s 
“Letter Re Settlement,” and that should be -- still be Exhibit 4 that was emailed around 
to Counsel so that you would have it. And it is labeled POP192 and POP193. Do you 
recognize those documents?


MAST:  Wait. I think the Internet, maybe because we were having problems, is the 
Internet went down, so now my exhibits aren’t pulling up. Can you try it again? Do you 
have that, George?


MR. FLYNN:  Yeah, here’s the hard copy.


MAST:  I’ll look at the hard copy, so what are you asking?


Page 28 Lines 20-24 and Page 29 Lines 1-18:2


WILLIAMS:  Okay, and here in this email it looks like you started this email chain to 
Paul on October 25, 2013. Do you see that?


MAST:  It looks like there’s a couple emails here. There’s several pages. You just mean 
the first page?


WILLIAMS:  I think -- It should only be, I believe it’s only one page and it looks like --


MAST:  Oh, these aren’t part of it? Just one page?


WILLIAMS:  The document that I have is just one page. Are we looking at the same 
thing?


MAST:  Okay.


WILLIAMS:  It’s POP00195 on the bottom.


MAST:  Yeah, he had a couple other pages on it, but okay.


WILLIAMS:  Okay. I just want to make sure that I didn’t -- Okay. And on the bottom 
there of the first sheet, if you have several, I’ve only published one sheet for the purposes 
of this deposition, it states, “Friday, October 25, 2013,” do you see that?


MAST:  Where does it say that?


WILLIAMS:  So about halfway down the page it looks like it says, “Original message 
from Paul”?


MAST:  Yeah.
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Page 31 Lines 10-24:1


WILLIAMS:  Okay. So I’m going to upload another file here.


MAST:  Yeah, our Internet is down. That’s why I can’t bring these up.


WILLIAMS:  Okay.


FLYNN:  Julia, just so you know, I’ve got hard copies of the majority of the exhibits 
you sent with the exception of the larger files, like the insurance policy and the dep 
transcripts.


WILLIAMS:  Okay. Okay, great.


FLYNN:  I’ve got some of the deposition transcripts, but I didn’t want to waste a lot of 
paper and ink at home.


[Audio mast.wav 50:07-50:17:  “I’ve got portions of some ...”2]


WILLIAMS:  Okay. I think we’ll be -- For the most part, I think we’ll be fine and we’ll


Page 32 Lines 1-24:3


deal with it if and when we get to that point.


WILLIAMS:  Okay. So the document that I’m looking at now is another email on the -- 
it’s now titled Exhibit 6. I don’t think it was entitled Exhibit 6 in what I sent to George, 
but it’s an email that the first date on the email is November 4, 2013, and the last date 
on the email is November 5, 2013 email chain and it’s -- at the bottom it’s stamped 
Dulberg001531.


MAST:  What exhibit is it?


WILLIAMS:  I think it might have been 5-A to George. It’s now Exhibit 6 for the 
purposes of this deposition.


MAST:  Yeah, that wasn’t part of the download then. Do you have --


FLYNN:  Yeah, I don’t think that was included.


MAST:  What’s the Bates stamp or what’s the stamp?


WILLIAMS:  The Bates stamp is Dulberg001531.


MAST:  Yeah, I don’t recall --


FLYNN:  I don’t recall seeing a 5-A on the download. I think it just went straight from 


Page 33 Lines 1-24:4


1 � Exhibit C15-Hans Mast 062520 FULL.pdf (Page 31 Lines 10-24)
2 � Exhibit K5-mast.wav (50:07-50:17)
3 � Exhibit C15-Hans Mast 062520 FULL.pdf (Page 32 Lines 1-24)
4 � Exhibit C15-Hans Mast 062520 FULL.pdf (Page 33 Lines 1-24)
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5 to 6.


WILLIAMS:  Okay, let me see if I can do something else. I’m going to try to share my 
screen. I don’t know if I’m going to be able to do it. So bear with me. Okay. I can’t -- I 
can’t share the screen. Can I email -- George, can you pull up an email if I email it to 
you?


FLYNN:  I should be able to eventually.


WILLIAMS:  Okay, let me see if that will --


MAST:  Let me run to the washroom real quick while you guys do --


WILLIAMS:  We’ll take a quick break, that’s fine, we’ll try to work this out. If anybody 
else needs a break, obviously take a break now.


(Whereupon, a break was taken)


[Audio mast.wav 52:25-55:541]


BY MS. WILLIAMS:


WILLIAMS:  Okay, back on the record. This is the Exhibit 6 for the deposition and it’s 
marked at the bottom Dulberg001531 and it’s an email chain between Paul Dulberg and 
Hans Mast dated November 4th through about November 5th, is that accurate, Hans?


Page 34 Lines 16-18:2


 MR. FLYNN: Julia, now I recall, this is a separate exhibit you sent a little bit later than 
the original download, so I did have this.


Page 35 Lines 5-19:3


WILLIAMS:  Okay. Okay, I’m going to stop screen sharing. Okay. I’m going to upload 
another file. This is Deposition Exhibit 7. George, you probably had it as Exhibit 6, but 
for the purposes of this deposition right now it’s going to be 7 and it’s an email chain 
dated --


MAST:  I have these on the computer. You don’t need to, unless you want to, but I’m just 
saying I have these on the computer.


WILLIAMS:  Okay, but Barb needs them, so that’s why I keep uploading them, otherwise 
she doesn’t have them. Okay. So Exhibit 7, and it’s POP00181 and POP00182, and it’s 
two pages of an email chain, November 15th, looks like on the second page it starts 
November 15th and ends November 19th, is that accurate?


2K-22.	 The issue of what Mast is looking at for an exhibit (compared to what Williams is 


1 � Exhibit K5-mast.wav (52:25-55:54)
2 � Exhibit C15-Hans Mast 062520 FULL.pdf (Page 34 Lines 16-18)
3 � Exhibit C15-Hans Mast 062520 FULL.pdf (Page 35 Lines 5-19)
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uploading as an exhibit just for the court reporter) is a problem throughout the entire deposition.


2K-23.	 Mast and Flynn claimed they became disconnected from wifi causing them to not be 
able to see the proposed deposition exhibits and had to reconnect to the Internet and zoom over a 
cell phone hot spot, yet they were still being recorded by the court reporter the whole time. The 
audio caught by the court reporter (when they were off the record trying to reconnect to the wifi 
and zoom) is not possible as it was described by Flynn. The court reporter was recording from a 
remote location via zoom.  Flynn and Mast allegedly were completely disconnected and had to 
log back in to the zoom meeting (all while claiming the sound was working but not the video).


2K-24.	 Williams failed to ask obvious question like, “ How is it that I can hear you if you’re 
disconnected and logging back in?”


2K-25.	 Williams failed to instruct Flynn and Mast to use the exhibits she was uploading (in 
accordance with the Supreme Court rules for remote depositions).


2K-26.	 Williams failed to cancel the deposition and reschedule due to alleged wifi equipment 
failures and moving forward, as she did, is a clear violation of the Supreme Court rule.


2K-27.	 Williams then uploaded “exhibit 12” and neither Mast nor Flynn could see “exhibit 
12” as the following exchange demonstrates:1


Williams:  “Okay, I’m uploading Dulberg Mast Dep Exhibit 12.· This is titled, “Legal 
Research.”· And this is hard because there’s -- it’s 27 pages.· Some ·of them have 
Bates numbers, but some of them are black on the bottom, so I think the Bates numbers 
didn’t -- didn’t take, but it’s roughly -- looks like roughly 204, maybe 205, Dulberg204, 
205 through roughly Dulberg00304 -- Actually, I’m sorry, these aren’t going to be 
continuous.· But do you have that packet of legal research in front of you? It appears to 
be copies out of a -- copies of case law out of the Northeastern Digest.


Mast:  “I just have the one case here.”


Williams;  “Just one case?· Which -- What’s the case title?


Mast:  “The first one, it’s L A J A T O.”


Williams:  “Okay.· Do you -- Did you copy this case law?”


Mast:  “I don’t know.”


2K-28.	 Williams never provided the court reporter Barbara G. Smith with a usable, viewable, 
uncorrupted, error free “Exhibit 12” during the deposition or at any time afterward that matches 
what Mast described it as in his deposition. 


2K-29.	 Flynn did not make available to the court reporter the partial printouts of portions of 
the proposed exhibits he had in his possession and gave to Mast to use during the deposition. 


2K-30.	 Flynn also did not make available to the court reporter Mast’s emails or computer 


1 � Exhibit C15-Hans Mast 062520 FULL.pdf (Page 49 Lines 20-24 and Page 50 Lines 1-13)
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files where Mast was looking at the proposed exhibits some of the time.


2K-31.	 Later, after Clinton and Williams withrew, the court reporter Barbara G Smith was 
subpoenaed for her records of the Mast deposition and responded providing everything she had.1


2K-32.	 The document “Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf” has a fundamental 
flaw and is corrupt2 when opened with Adobe Acrobat DC. (Anyone who has Adobe Acrobat DC 
can confirm the issue exists by simply opening the file, see the error code, and browse through 
the blank pages.) This file does appear to open normally in some 3rd party PDF readers but it is 
obvious from the record and Barbara G Smiths notes that none of the parties looking at exhibit 
12 were looking at the same parts of exhibit 12 and were not on any 3rd party PDF readers that 
could display the whole exhibit 12.


2K-33.	 Dulberg intended the sources of the corrupted file, “Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 
Legal Research .pdf” to be from 3 emails sent in series to Williams On April 18, 2019 at 10:38 
AM.3 The source emails subject lines were “318 Cases from December meeting 1 of 3”4, 
“318 Cases from December meeting 2 of 3”5 and “318 Cases from December meeting 3 of 
3”6. The attached files to these emails were “IndependantContractor-CaseLaw1_Mast.pdf”7, 
“IndependantContractor-CaseLaw2_Mast.pdf”8 and “IndependantContractor-CaseLaw3_Mast.
pdf”9 and are not corrupt. (Anyone who has Adobe Acrobat DC can confirm this by simply 
opening the files.) None of these source files are stored in the Clinton Case file with the original 
names. None of the emails Dulberg sent Williams with the attachments are in the Clinton case 
file. Dulberg did mistakenly call the November 20 meeting “December meeting” or “December 
2013 meeting” in the emails.


2K-34.	 Williams successfully incorporated both the Choy “IndependantContractor-
CaseLaw2_Mast.pdf” and Lajato “IndependantContractor-CaseLaw3_Mast.pdf” cases into the 
Bates stamped documents and turned them over to opposing counsel without any issues of errors 
or file corruption. But Williams never bates stamped nor turned over to opposing counsel the 
certified slip ruling of Tilschner v Spangler “IndependantContractor-CaseLaw1_Mast.pdf”, it 
was downloaded, renamed (Tilschner v. Spangler et al 2-10-0111 Opinion 2011 May 6.pdf10) and 
stored in the Clinton case file at:


Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Research/Tilschner v. Spangler et al 2-10-0111 Opinion 2011 
May 6.pdf11


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 17-Barbara G Smith Subpoena Responsive Thumbdrive
2 � Exhibit C10a-Screenshotof error code in Adobe Acrobat DC-Exhibit 12.png
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit Folder 21-Source of 318 Cases
4 � Exhibit K13-2019-04-18_1038 AM_SENT-3_318 Cases from December meeting 1 of 3_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
5 � Exhibit K14-2019-04-18_1038 AM_SENT-4_318 Cases from December meeting 2 of 3_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
6 � Exhibit K15-2019-04-18_1038 AM_SENT-5_318 Cases from December meeting 3 of 3_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
7 � Exhibit C0a-IndependantContractor-CaseLaw1_Mast.pdf
8 � Exhibit C0b-IndependantContractor-CaseLaw2_Mast.pdf
9 � Exhibit C0c-IndependantContractor-CaseLaw3_Mast.pdf
10 � Exhibit K16-Tilschner v. Spangler et al 2-10-0111 Opinion 2011 May 6.pdf
11 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Research/Tilschner v. 


Spangler et al 2-10-0111 Opinion 2011 May 6.pdf







122


It is worthy to note that Williams named exhibit 12 using the terms “Legal Research” in the file 
name (“Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf”) and placed the certified slip ruling of 
Tilschner in a file named “Dulberg Research”.


It is also worthy to note that the Clinton firm did their own research on Tilschner and saved 
a PDF from Find Law in Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Matter Ed Clinton/Dulberg Research 
TILSCHNER v. SPANGLER | FindLaw.pdf1 on 10/19/2020.


2K-35.	 It is more likely than not that the corrupt file “Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal 
Research .pdf” was intended to create confusion or a distraction to make it seem like a there was 
a “technical issue” with the wifi or the file was corrupted as to why Tilschner was not part of 
exhibit 12 for the deposition. Dulberg has the Preview app that Williams used to create exhibit 12 
and the bates stamped documents it was pulled from and has never been able to recreate the same 
error in the file.


It is more likely than not that the “file corruption” in exhibit 12 was done intentionally to hide 
the fact that Tilschner was intentionally suppressed by Clinton and Williams to benefit the 
defense (in order to hide the one case of the three case laws Mast gave Dulberg for changing 
their legal opinion as to the McGuire liability in the underlying case. Why, because Tilschner is 
a case that both Mast and Popovich took to the Appellate Court, possessed a certified slip ruling 
and could not get away with the generic answers Mast gave Williams about exhibit 12 in his 
deposition). After all, the certified slip ruling for Tilschner v Spangler remained the only (known) 
document separated, suppressed and never Bates stamped or released by Williams and Clinton. 
On top of that the Clinton firm did not keep copies of the emails Dulberg sent them with all 3 
318 cases, Tilschner, Lajato, Choi.


2K-36.	 Williams knowingly violated the Supreme Court rules for remote depositions and this 
deposition should have been void and redone (but Williams was already planning on leaving the 
case prior to the deposition and wasn’t about to let Dulberg and his new counsel have a fair stab 
at Mast in a deposition.).


2K-37.	 On June 25, 2020 at 12:31 PM, about 20 minutes after the deposition of Mast, Flynn 
sent an email to Williams stating:2


“... Just wanted to write while it is fresh in my mind, but I’d like to close the dangling 
issues from your client’s deposition, including the production of communications with 
Mr. Gooch in view of the “discovery rule” issues. Please advise ...”


2K-38.	 On June 26, 2020 12:13 PM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:3


“... Thank you for the follow up. I am working on the production today. Are you around 
on Monday—can we chat then? ...”


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Matter Ed Clinton/Dulberg 
Research TILSCHNER v. SPANGLER | FindLaw.pdf


2 � Exhibit 23-Dulberg -3.pdf (Page 1)
3 � Exhibit 23-Dulberg -3.pdf (Page 2)
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2K-39.	 Williams never worked on any production of communications with Mr Gooch 
and she did not address the Dulberg deposition objection issue in court. Instead, she sent 
Dulberg Flynn’s “DEFENDANTS, THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C.’S 
SUPPLEMENTAL REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION TO PLAINTIFF” telling Dulberg to 
start collecting the privileged Gooch Communications she already had in her posession since 
November 17, 20181. Instead Williams produced over 6000 pages of intentionally suppressed 
documents that were not related to Gooch in any noticeable way and then resigned as Dulberg’s 
attorney.


2K-40.	 On July 2, 2020 Barbara G Smith emailed Williams stating:2


“Hi Ms. Williams - This is Barb Smith, the court reporter from US Legal that was present 
at the dep of Hans Mast on 6-25-20. I am currently working on the transcript and while 
preparing the exhibits I noticed that Exhibit No. 12, which is the 27 pages of legal 
research, did not download completely. The Exhibit 12 that I have has blank pages 1-22 
and only pages 23-27 have print on them. I just wanted to let you know and check if you 
wanted to resend or if that’s how No. 12 is supposed to be.”


In handwritten notes it states:


“7-2-20 Called 7-6-20 left message”


“7-7 submitted job and emailed Noelle about it”


“Williams responded 7-2-20 but the text space was blank.”


(After several exhaustive searches Dulberg cannot locate a single email in the Clinton case file 
between Barbara G Smith and Williams.)


(Possibly sent to “Julia.c.floyd@gmail.com”3?)


As noted “Williams responded 7-2-20 but the text space was blank.” was this ‘blank’ email 
intended to be funny because of the ‘blank’ exhibit 12?


2K-41.	 On July 2, 2020 at 12:11 PM Williams emails Dulberg Flynn’s filing: 
of “DEFENDANTS, THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C.’S 
SUPPLEMENTAL REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION TO PLAINTIFF” stating in the email:4


“... Opposing Counsel has tendered a supplemental request for production. Please review. 
A response is due by July 30, 2020.


You can begin gathering responsive documents.


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit Folder 20-Gooch communications sent to Williams
2 � Exhibit K9-job papers0001.pdf (Page 3)
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Emails 2020 August 19/US 


Legal Support  Confirmation of Scheduling  Job No 923267-2.pdf (Page 2)
4 � Exhibit E1-2020-07-02_1211 PM_RECV_Fwd PAUL DULBERG v THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J 


POPOVICH PC et al Circuit Court of McHenry County IL No No 17 LA 377_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 1)
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Some of the document may be subject to attorney-client privilege. ...”


2K-42.	 On July 7, 2020 at 10:58 AM Williams and the Clinton Firm drafted a resignation 
letter named:1


“Dulberg Draft Letter re case 2020 July 7 .docx”


and place it in a folder in their case file for Ed Clintons copy of the documents Barch produced 
in response to a subpoena named:2


“Dulberg Cicero France Barch Production Complete”


2K-43.	 On July 7, 2020, 09:32 PM Barbara G Smith emailed Noelle stating:3 4


“... One of the exhibits, #12, was downloaded during the Zoom session. It’s 27 pages and 
when Ifirst looked at it I noticed that pages 1-22 were blank. I emailed Julia Williams, our 
client, on 7-2 about this. She responded and the message section of her email was blank. 
I waited for another email but received none. On 7-6 I called and left her a message and 
have not received a response. I did note all of this information in the email that I sent the 
job with. ...”


Barbara G Smith certified and submited the transcript and it’s exhibits to Noelle Kappes with US 
Legal Support for distribution to the parties noting issues with Exhibit 12. Exhibit 12 is missing 
from the final output.5 6


2K-44.	 On July 9, 2020 at 11:44 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:7


“... More documents were sent to George Flynn today to ensure that Gooch’s entire file 
on the underlying case was sent as well as communications from your subsequent counsel 
in the underlying case. 
 
There are two emails. This is the first with three files attached. ...”


Attached files:


‘Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf’8 
‘Dulberg 7893-8551.pdf’9 


1 � Exhibit 7d-Dulberg Draft Letter re case 2020 July 7 .docx
2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 2-Dulberg Master File/Dulberg Matter Ed Clinton/Dulberg 


Cicero France Barch Production Complete/Dulberg Draft Letter re case 2020 July 7 .docx
3 � Exhibit K9-job papers0001.pdf (Page 4)
4 � Exhibit K9-job papers0001.pdf (Page 4)
5 � Exhibit K30-job papers 0002.pdf
6 � Exhibit K9-job papers0001.pdf (Page 4)
7 � Exhibit C0i-2020-07-09_1144 AM_RECV_Fwd Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
8  Exhibit 27-Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf
9  Exhibit 28-Dulberg 7893-8551 .pdf
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‘Dulberg 8552-8708.pdf’1


2K-45.	 On July 9, 2020 at 11:47 AM Williams sent an email to Dulberg stating:2


“... This is the second email I sent to George with the fourth and final file. ...”


Attached files:


‘Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf’3


Any reasonable person receiving these emails with over 6,000 documents would need weeks 
to digest what is happening here and would assume somewhere in here Williams is replying 
to Flynns “DEFENDANTS, THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C.’S 
SUPPLEMENTAL REQUESTS FOR PRODUCTION TO PLAINTIFF” since Williams has 
been in posession of the Gooch emails since November 17, 20184, However thats not what is 
happening here, Williams is releasing Documents she intentionally suppressed since May 30, 
2019 without Dulberg’s knowledge.


2K-46.	 On Jul 10, 2020, at 10:46 AM Williams sent an email to Flynn stating:5


“... I believe there may have been three, but simply because the first email took forever 
to send as the documents attached were so large. The first contained all four of the files. 
The second contained three files and the third contained one file. There are only four files 
total—so the emails are duplicative as originally I did not believe the first email would 
send. Thus, you should have these four files:


1. Dulberg Stamped 2646-2649 
2. Dulberg 2650-7892 
3. Dulberg 7893-8551 
4. Dulberg 8552-8708.


Please let me know if you did not receive all of the documents. ...”


Williams is ‘flooding’ Dulberg with an overwhelming number of documents and sneaking all but 
one of the documents that were previously suppressed into the flood, behind thousands of pages 
of useless material. Williams continues to suppress one document: the Appellate Court slip ruling 
Tilschner v Spangler. 


None of the 6000+ pages of documents have anything to do with the Gooch Communications. 
Williams doesn’t provide and Flynn doesn’t ask for a certification/verification page signed by 
Dulberg.


1  Exhibit 29-Dulberg 8552-8708.pdf
2 � Exhibit C0j-2020-07-09_1147 AM_RECV_Fwd Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
3 � Exhibit 27-Dulberg 2650-7892.pdf
4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit Folder 20-Gooch communications sent to Williams
5  Exhibit 25b-Dulberg v Popovich et al Documents-2.pdf (page 7)
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2K-47.	 On July 10, 2020 at 2:03 PM witranscripts@uslegalsupport.com emailed Williams 
links to download the Mast deposition and exhibits. Exhibit 12 is missing.1


2K-48.	 On July 10, 2020 at 2:57 PM Williams emails Dulberg the Mast deposition stating:2


Attachment:


Dulberg Hans Mast deposition transcript Legal Mal 2020 June 25.zip 3


Rather than forward Dulberg the links to download the files directly from US Legal Support, 
Williams takes time to Download each file and compress the deposition and all the exhibits into a 
single zip file. This was probably done so Dulberg wouldn’t have to go in and download each file 
one by one with the visual cue from the list sent by witranscripts@uslegalsupport.com (where 
it would have become immediately apparent to anyone downloading the files one by one that 
Exhibit 12 is missing.)


2K-49.	 On July 13, 2020 at 8:37 PM Noelle Kappes nkappes@uslegalsupport.com emailed 
Williams stating:4


“... The court reporter indicated you would be sending us exhibit 12 from this deposition 
so we can include it with the transcript. I don’t believe we have received it. Can you send 
it on tomorrow? ...”


2K-50.	 On July 14, 2020 at 9:40 AM Williams emails Kappes stating:5


“I am sorry. I thought I had responded to Barbara’s email with the exhibit. It is attached 
here.”


Perhaps Williams is showing her sense of humor since she replied to Barbara’s email about blank 
pages as exhibit 12 with a blank email.6 Is this an inside joke? (Because Barbara and Noelle 
don’t seem to be in on it.)


2K-51.	 Williams provided the deposition Scheduling Manager Noelle Kappes with the 
corrupted copy of exhibit 12 no earlier then July 14, 2020 (more than 2 weeks after the Mast 
deposition). The corrupted copy of “exhibit 12” provided to Noelle Kappes on July 14, 2020 
contained 2 exact copies of Lajato and a copy of Choi. It did not contain Tilschner v Spangler 
even though Williams had been instructed by Dulberg in writing to include it on at least six 
different occasions.


Attached is the same corrupted file Williams uploaded during the Mast Deposition:


1 � Exhibit K17-Paul Dulberg v Law Offices of Thomas Popovich et al.pdf
2 � Exhibit C0k-2020-07-10_1457 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Popovich et al Mast Deposition_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 18-2020-07-10_1457 PM_RECV_Dulberg v Popovich et al 


Mast Deposition/Dulberg Hans Mast deposition transcript Legal Mal 2020 June 25.zip
4 � Exhibit K8-US Legal Support  Confirmation of Scheduling  Job No 923267-3.pdf (Page 1)
5 � Exhibit K8-US Legal Support  Confirmation of Scheduling  Job No 923267-3.pdf (Page 1)
6 � Exhibit K9-job papers0001.pdf (Page 3)
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Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf1


2K-52.	 On July 14, 2020 at 10:30 AM Barbara G Smith has handwritten notes on a copy of 
Williams July 14, 2020 email to Kappes with handwritten notes stating:2


“put this x in folder on desktop & renamed bad file 12-A-this is the new 12”3


“Still couldn’t read 1-22”


“There was a problem reading this document”


“Called Noelle - 10:30-7-14- She will have William look at it or email Williams”


2K-53.	 On July 14, 2020 at 11:13 AM wtolliver@uslegalsupport.com emailed4 Williams and 
Flynn a link to download “Exhibit 12” now named “EX 0012 Hans Mast 062520.pdf”5


EX 0012 Hans Mast 062520.pdf has an exhibit sticker that misspelled the defendants name 
“Hans Mast” as “Hans Mist” and did not match the exhibit tags placed on by the court reporter 
Barbara G. Smith.6 7 8 9 10 11 12


Of Special note is the differences found within the meta-data in the two different files:


“EX 0012 Hans Mast 062520.pdf”


Size: 27.4 MB


Date: July 14, 2020 


Title: Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research (1).pdf


Authors: wtolliver


Version: 1.4


1  Exhibit C10-Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf
2 � Exhibit K9-job papers0001.pdf (Page 1)
3 � Exhibit K18-Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12-A Legal Research.pdf
4 � Exhibit K19-Exhibit 12  Paul Dulberg v Law Offices of Thomas Popovich et al  Deposition of Hans Mast 


6252020.pdf
5 � Exhibit C10-EX 0012 Hans Mast 062520.pdf
6 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 19-From OMNI Document Experts/2022-07-07_Hans Mist 


Exhibit 12/Hans Mast Exhibit 12 Deposition June 25 2020 by Omni CHARTS Stickers .  TALARICO.  .pdf
7 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 19-From OMNI Document Experts/2022-07-10_Written 


report on Exhibit 12 Tag/1. REPORT page 1 Talarico.pdf
8 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 19-From OMNI Document Experts/2022-07-10_Written 


report on Exhibit 12 Tag/2. REPORT page 2-3 Talarico.pdf
9 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 19-From OMNI Document Experts/2022-07-10_Written 


report on Exhibit 12 Tag/3. CHARTS labels . .pdf
10 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 19-From OMNI Document Experts/2022-07-10_Written 


report on Exhibit 12 Tag/4. K1 to K11 and K13 to K15.     K12 is identified as Q1.pdf
11 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 19-From OMNI Document Experts/2022-07-10_Written 


report on Exhibit 12 Tag/5. Q1 in its entirety .  pages 1 to 13.pdf
12 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 19-From OMNI Document Experts/2022-07-10_Written 


report on Exhibit 12 Tag/5. Q1 in its entirety . 27 pages.pdf
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Content Creator: PScript5.dll Version 5.2.2


Encoding software: Acrobat Distiller 10.1.16 (Windows)


vs the original file:


“Dulberg Mast Dep Exh 12 Legal Research .pdf”


Size 35.1 MB


Date: June 19, 2020


Title: - 


Authors: - 


Version: 1.3


Content Creator: Preview


Encoding software: macOS Version 10.15.4 (Build 19E287) Quartz PDFContext, 
AppendMode 1.1


The meta-data clearly shows wtolliver as the author using a Microsoft Windows Operating 
system and Adobe Acrobat Distiller to create the 27.4 MB file on July 14, 2020 Verses the 
original meta-data that clearly shows there is no author recorded, using a Macintosh Operating 
System and a program called Preview to create the 35.1 MB file on June 19, 2020.


All the other exhibits certified by the court reporter Barbara G. Smith and made available 
through downloadable links via email by US Legal Solutions on July 10, 2020 may have the 
names of the files changed, a very minor file size increase due to the tag being added but the 
meta-data is the same as the original files Williams uploaded on June 25, 2020 during the 
deposition.


wtolliver changes the file considerably (35.1 MB to 27.2 MB), adds a misspelled exhibit stamp 
that is a poor forgery of the tags provided by the court reporter, becomes it’s author and releases 
it 14 minutes before Noelle Kappes acknowledges it’s received to Williams.


2K-54.	 On July 14, 2020 at 11:17 AM Williams emailed/passed this forgery as authentic to 
Dulberg stating:1


“Attached is exhibit 12 that was missing in the original transcript copy because the copy 
that the court reporter received was blank.”


A reasonable person can conclude that if the Court Reporter received a blank “Exhibit 12”, then 
defendant Mast also received the same blank “Exhibit 12” uploaded by Williams during the 
deposition.


1 � Exhibit K20-2020-07-14_1117 AM_RECV_Fwd Exhibit 12  Paul Dulberg v Law Offices of Thomas Popovich et 
al  Deposition of Hans Mast 6252020_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
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Is Williams sending the court reporter a blank email in response to a blank exhibit? Is this 
Williams inside joke (that Barbara & Noelle were not in on)? This “hoax” caused the exhibit to 
never be certified or possessed by the court reporter.1


It should also be noted that Williams gave “Exhibit 12” to (and received from) persons other than 
the Court Reporter. She then passed it on as if it was certified and authentic knowing full well 
that the Exhibit 12 she was passing on to Dulberg did not Match what Mast had to review in the 
deposition.


2K-55.	 On July 14, 2020 at 11:27 AM Noelle Kappes nkappes@uslegalsupport.com replies 
to Williams emailing Exhibit 12 stating:2


“Received, thank you.”


2K-56.	 Neither wtolliver, Noelle Kappes, Williams or Flynn ever sent Barbara G Smith a 
copy of the file wtolliver created.3


2K-57.	 Neither Noelle Kappes nor wtolliver are the Officer administering the oath nor the 
licensed short hand reporter hired for tagging, certifying, storing and releasing the exhibits in this 
case, Barbara G Smith is and Barbara G Smith never received a viewable copy of exhibit 12 that 
does not have an error.4 


2K-58.	 The file wtolliver created and Flynn & Williams are passing on as an exhibit does not 
match what the deponent Mast had at the deposition and is a forgery. Mast claimed he could only 
see one Lajato case on the exhibit he was looking at, Barbara G Smith could only see the Choi 
case in what she was given and wtolliver created an exhibit with two Lajato cases and a Choi 
case.


2K-59.	 On July 27, 2020 at 2:24 PM Ed Clinton sent an email to Dulberg stating:5


“Dear Paul, Please see the attached letter.  Best Regards”


In the attached letter6 Clinton and Williams resigned as Dulberg’s counsel while still suppressing 
the certified slip ruling on Tilschner v Spangler and never informing Dulberg the document 
hasn’t been bates numbered or used in Exhibit 12. This resignation acts as another deterrent to 
Dulberg’s eventual discovery that Williams forever suppressed the certified Tilschner slip ruling 
by diverting Dulberg’s attention to a more pressing matter, the hunt to find new counsel fast 
during the height of the COVID 19 pandemic when most attorneys are not personally meeting 
with new clients.


1 � Exhibit K9-job papers0001.pdf (Page 3)
2 � Exhibit K8-US Legal Support  Confirmation of Scheduling  Job No 923267-3.pdf (Page 3)
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 17-Barbara G Smith Subpoena Responsive Thumbdrive/


Mast 6-25-20
4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 17-Barbara G Smith Subpoena Responsive Thumbdrive/


Mast 6-25-20
5 � Exhibit 44-Dulberg v Popovich 2017 L 377.pdf (Page 1)
6 � Exhibit 7h-Dulberg Client Letter 2020 July 27.pdf
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2K-60.	 Dulberg and his subsequent counsel, Alphonse Talarico, grew suspicious of how 
Williams could have forgotten all about Tilschner v Spangler when preparing exhibit 12 for 
Mast’s deposition considering the number of times she was told about it in writing.


2K-61.	 Dulberg and his subsequent counsel, Alphonse Talarico, grew suspicious of how 
Williams could have forgotten all about Tilschner v Spangler when preparing exhibit 12 for 
Mast’s deposition considering the number of times she was told about it in writing.


2K-62.	 On August 2, 2022 Dulberg subpoenaed Clinton1 and Williams2 for documents and 
communication connected to the preparation and treatment of exhibit 12 before, during and after 
Mast’s deposition.


2K-63.	 On September 29, 2022 Williams responded for both Clinton and herself.3


2K-64.	 On October 28, Clinton responded for himself.4


2K-65.	 On October 28, Julia Williams responded for herself.5


2K-66.	 On November 04, 2022 Williams was asked about “exhibit 12” in court. After 4 
different subpoena responses related to exhibit 12 over the previous 3 months, and after being 
informed by Dulberg at least 6 different times in writing about the importance of Tilschner v 
Spangler, Williams claimed to not know the contents of exhibit 12. The following exchange took 
place in court:6


“MS. WILLIAMS:  ... So sometime after the deposition, we -- we did provide the exhibit 
that was utilized in the deposition to the court reporter, and at that time they marked it 
and sent it back to everyone.  


THE COURT: Okay. What was Exhibit 12 again?


MS. WILLIAMS: It was a series of cases. I don’t know that -- I just can’t recall what all 
was asked about it, but I know there were -- it was -- it was --


THE COURT: All right. These would have --


MS. WILLIAMS: -- copies of case law.


THE COURT: All right.


MR. FLYNN: They were photocopies of the old books, Judge, cases that were contained 
in Mast’s file.


THE COURT: Okay.


MR. FLYNN: And he was -- you know, they have -- they’re, obviously, not complete 


1 � Exhibit K22-July 17 2023 Requested Subpoena served on Clinton .pdf
2 � Exhibit K21-July 17 2023 Requested Subpoena served on Julia C. Williams.pdf
3 � Exhibit K23-9-29-22_July 17 2023 Response for both by Williams only.pdf
4 � Exhibit K24-10-28-2022_July 17 2023 Response to Subpoena served on Clinton .pdf
5 � Exhibit K25-10-28-2022_July 17 2023 Amended Response by Williams only.pdf
6 � Exhibit C11-2022-11-04 17LA377 Report of Proceedings.pdf (Page 17 Line 4 through Page 20 Line 1)
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because they -- placed on a printer, appeared like we used to do in the old days.


MR. TALARICO: Yes. Was the Tilsner case included in -- in the blank Exhibit 12 you 
sent to U.S. Legal, Barbara Schmidt? And was -- when you discussed with Mr. Flynn 
the failure of his -- or Mr. Mast’s internet, didn’t he say, I can’t see these, I can only see 
their first one (indiscernible), which was the Lagano (phonetic) case? And wasn’t there 
continued discussion by Mr. Flynn that he didn’t -- he didn’t produce all of the documents 
you sent on -- in hardcopy because he wanted to save paper?


MS. WILLIAMS: So that’s -- I guess that’s a lot of questions. So what --


MR. TALARICO: It is.


MS. WILLIAMS: What -- what -- I cannot recall what cases were included and weren’t 
included at this point. There -- there was an e-mail to Mr. Flynn with the exhibit that is 
attached that I believe was produced in the subpoena.  So whatever that exhibit was is 
-- is what I would have used. So I know there was, like, a Laravo case or -- I remember 
the first case was like Laravo or Lavajo, L-A-V-A-J-O, or something like that.  But right 
now, off the top of my head, I don’t remember what other cases were included.


MR. TALARICO: I’m talking about -- Judge, if I might, please? Excuse me. I’m sorry, 
Ms. Williams.  There was -- what the reporter had was blank. What Mr. Flynn’s client 
said was, I see the Lagano (phonetic) one. So the Exhibit 12 that was sent, like, a week 
or two after the deposition had Lagano, Troy, and the same exact Lagano case, and it did 
not have the Tilsner case involved, and the Tilsner case was very important. So it was an 
exact duplication of one case and a second case.    But this is -- Judge, it’s not just the 
Exhibit 12. The entire deposition --


THE COURT: Well, are you asking a question about Exhibit 12? Because if we’re done 
asking questions, I’m gonna let her go.


MR. TALARICO: Okay. Yep. I’m done.”


2K-67.	 It is not credible that Williams made the claim to the court that she cannot recall the 
contents of “exhibit 12” when she stated, “It was a series of cases. I don’t know that -- I just 
can’t recall what all was asked about it, but I know there were -- it was -- it was --” “ -- copies of 
case law.” and when asked by Dulberg’s current attorney she claimed, “What -- what -- I cannot 
recall what cases were included and weren’t included at this point.” When Williams states “...
at this point” she was implying that her dealings with exhibit 12 were so long ago that “at this 
point” she can no longer recall what they were. But Williams prepared 4 different responses 
to a subpoena which centered on exhibit 12 within the previous 3 months and Williams was 
then appearing in court to address outstanding issues with the subpoena and around exhibit 12, 
including a motion to compel. 


2K-68.	 Of interest is that more than 2 years after the Hans Mast Deposition, opposing counsel 
Flynn was the only person in the November 4, 2022 court record attempting to give a detailed 
description to the contents of “exhibit 12” while Williams, the only person who prepared “exhibit 
12”, and fresh from producing 4 responses to a subpoena centering on the subject of “exhibit 
12”, could not recall the contents of “exhibit 12” when asked “at this point” because her dealings 
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with exhibit 12 were assumably ‘so long ago’.


The example of the hiding of the certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler shows the extreme 
degree to which Williams and Clinton will go to suppress key evidence which was in the 
possession of their permanently disabled client.


2K-69.	 On November 30, 2022 Flynn filed DEFENDANTS THE LAW OFFICES OF 
THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C. AND HANS MAST’S RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S 2nd 
AMENDED MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE DEPOSITION OF HANS MAST which contains 
the following point ¶12:1


“12) Of concern is a statement on page 19 of Dulberg’s motion in which he argues that 
Mast had insisted that the decision in the Tilschner v. Spangler case was the reason 
Dulberg would not prevail in the underlying case against the McGuire’s. The statement is 
inexplicably made “on information and belief.” This is unacceptable. Dulberg has made 
no such disclosure in fact discovery (now closed) about this very specific discussion 
between Mast and himself regarding the Tilschner case. If Dulberg believes he has 
disclosed it, he should be required to identify where in his answers and amended answers 
to discovery or his deposition he has identified such discussion with this amount of 
specificity. Defendants submit that no such disclosure exists.”


2K-70.	 A reasonable person can conclude that Williams intentionally suppressed Tilschner v 
Spangler.  A reasonable person can also conclude that Williams suppressed Tilschner v Spangler 
to benefit to the defendants over Dulberg and to sabotage Dulberg’s case against Popovich 
and Mast. The suppression of Tilschner v Spangler helps the defense deny that Mast ever 
discussed the Tilschner case with Dulberg and helps Mast deny that Tilschner v Spangler and the 
Restatement of Torts 318 was the legal theory Mast gave Dulberg as to why the McGuires were 
not responsible in any way for his injury on their property.


2K-71.	 On December 5, 2022, the following dialogue transpired in the Circuit Court:2


THE COURT: What’s the date of your summary judgment?


MR. FLYNN: It’s -- the plaintiff’s response is due on December 28. The motion was 
originally filed way back on September 15. So it’s -- we have had an extensive amount of 
time.


THE COURT: I won’t be hearing the summary judgment. So --


MR. FLYNN: Yeah. I understood there was some comments being made before I left 
about your Honor’s handling the case or --


THE COURT: Well, after 13 years, they have decided this is the worst place for me. 
So I’m being moved to traffic, and then, Judge Berg is taking over January 1. So it’s 
-- I don’t know what’s going to happen with the scheduling of your summary judgment 


1 � Exhibit C16-2022-11-30_Flynn Answer to Motion to Strike Mast Deposition.pdf (¶12 on Page 4)
2 � Exhibit K31-2022-12-05_ROP_Pages from ROP_Vol_1_of_1_230421_1628_8FF9DDF1-10.pdf (Page 13 Lines 


8-24 and Page 14 Line 1)
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because he’s going to be combining his small claims call with a law division jury, and I -- 
I question the practicality of that but that’s not my -- that’s not my call.


2K-72.	 On February 1, 2023 Dulberg lost at Summary Judgement in front of Judge Berg, 
formerly a small claims Judge.


2K-73.	 On March 1, 2023 Dulberg sent for a records request for case 12LA326.1


2K-74.	 On March 2, 2023 Dulberg received the case file 12LA326 from the clerk.2


2K-75.	 In the file Associate Judge Thomas A. Meyer recused himself from 12LA326 because 
Mr Meyer is a personal friend of Thomas J. Popovich.3 4


2L	� OTHER WAYS CLINTON AND WILLIAMS ATTEMPTED TO SABOTAGE 
PLAINTIFF’S CASE


2L34.	In addition to the examples listed in which a reasonable person could claim there is 
evidence that documents suppressed by Williams have benefited or could benefit the defendants 
in the future, Clinton and Williams are Legal Malpractice Attorneys’ and knew or should have 
known the following:


2L35.	Clinton and Williams knew or should have known that THOMAS J. POPOVICH 
individually should have been named as a defendant. 


2L36.	Clinton and Williams knew or should have known that the suppressed Tilschner v 
Spangler document was the slip copy of the original certified appeals court decision on Tilschner 
v Spangler and therefore a very unique document.


2L37.	There was a witness at the key November 20, 2013 meeting between Mast and Dulberg 
in which Mast changed his legal opinion and explained his legal theory as to why the McGuires 
were not liable for Dulberg’s injury where the witness took notes of main subjects of the 
meeting. Williams misidentified the witness of the November 20, 2013 meeting as “a friend” 
during the deposition even though she had a teleconference with Dulberg and his brother Thomas 
Kost (the witness) just 5 days earlier and the same person was present at the first meeting 
Dulberg had with Clinton and Williams. The notes of the witness consist of the 6 phrases:


“forseeable duty” 
“negligent” 
“statement of torts sect 318 not applicable in Illinois” 
“agent vs contractor” 


1 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 23-Records request 12LA326/2023-03-01_1035_Records 
request for case 12LA326_SENT/2023-03-01_1035_Records request for case 12LA326_SENT.pdf


2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 23-Records request 12LA326/2023-03-02_1402_Records 
request for case 12LA326_RECV/2023-03-02_1402_Records request for case 12LA326_RECV.pdf


3  Exhibits/2012LA000326--2012-10-19--ORDREA_0004.pdf
4 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 23-Records request 12LA326/2023-03-02_1402_Records 


request for case 12LA326_RECV/Attachments/2012LA000326/2012LA000326--2012-10-19--ORDREA_0004.
pdf
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“level of control” 
“Kajawa”


2L38.	Williams and Clinton made no use of a witness of the November 20, 2013 meeting or their 
notes. Williams never inquired into what the witnesses of the November 4 and November 20, 
2013 meetings saw and heard.


2L39.	Williams never inquired as to why Mast called the November 20, 2013 meeting.


2L40.	Williams never inquired as to why Mast called the November 4, 2013 meeting.


2L41.	Williams was in possession of evidence which shows the $7,500 October 22 offer made on 
Dulberg’s behalf was not in Baudins’ or Gooch’s possession, it wasn’t in their case files, and they 
most probably didn’t know the secrete offer was ever made. Williams was instructed in writing 
by Dulberg exactly where to look to find this evidence and the significance of this evidence. 
Williams never made use of this evidence.


2L42.	Williams knew or should have known the $7,500 offer was not discussed at the November 
20th meeting and that a witness at the meeting can confirm this but she never made use of this.


2L43.	Williams knew or should have known that it is not possible for Mast to explain why he 
called the November 20th meeting or what was discussed if Dulberg already agreed to $7,500 
nearly one month before on October 22nd but she did not make use of this.


2L44.	Williams knew or should have known that Mast’s story was absurd on its face in that he 
was claiming that Dulberg made a $7,500 offer to the McGuires to settle the case on October 
22, yet Mast repeatedly informed Dulberg from November 20 onward that Dulberg has only 2 
options: To accept a $5,000 offer or receive nothing. The story is logically incoherent and not 
credible on a very simple level.


Chapter 3:   COMPARISON BETWEEN LEGAL MALPRACTICE ATTORNEY GOOCH 
AND LEGAL MALPRACTICE ATTORNEYS CLINTON AND WILLIAMS


3-1.	Dulberg’s experiences with his second legal malpractice attorneys, the Clinton Law Firm, 
are described in detail in ‘ARDC Complaint against Edward X. Clinton and Julia Williams’.  
Chapter 1 of the complaint against Clinton and Williams describes and maps a massive system 
of document and information suppression which Clinton and Williams used against Dulberg.  
Chapter 2 of the same document shows at least 10 different ways the system of document and 
information suppression was used to sabotage Dulberg’s case.  5 of the ways are:


2-A Bankruptcy and origin of the $300,000 cap and the “high-low” agreement. 
2-B Saul Ferris documents 
2-C Tilschner v Spangler 
2-D Balke 
2-F Baudins


3-2.	Dulberg did not meet with Clinton and Williams before October 12, 2018, yet Dulberg’s 
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previous legal malpractice attorney, Thomas Gooch, was suppressing information on each of 
these 5 subject matters long before the Clinton Law Firm was retained by Dulberg.  In addition, 
Gooch misspelled Dulberg’s name “Duhlberg”,  just like Clinton and Williams did later, and 
Defendant Popovich and Mast did earlier.


ON BANKRUPTCY


3-3.	Previous to Clinton and Williams, legal malpractice attorney Thomas Gooch ignored 
anything related to Dulberg’s bankruptcy, including:  (1) how Balke acted in violation of the 
automatic stay, (2) how the Baudins acted in violation of the automatic stay, (3) how Popovich 
and Mast acted in violation of the automatic stay, (4) how Dulberg entered the binding mediation 
process, and (5) how the $300,000 cap was placed on any binding mediation award.  By avoiding 
the subject of Dulberg’s November 2014 bankruptcy, or by mentioning bankruptcy as little as 
possible, both Gooch and later Clinton and Williams ignored:


(a) �That Dulberg’s signature was fraudulently placed on the Executed Binding Mediation 
Agreement executed on December 8, 2016.


(b) �That Trustee Olsen misrepresented Dulberg’s consent to the Bankruptcy Judge on 
October 31, 2016.


(c) �That Allstate, the Baudins and Trustee Olsen knew Dulberg had no standing to pursue 
the case 12LA178 while the case was under an automatic stay.


(d) �That Allstate, the Baudins and Trustee Olsen all knew the case 12LA178 proceeded in 
the Circuit Court in violation of the automatic stay.


(e) �That the Baudins by agreement with Allstate, in violation of the automatic stay, 
before the Baudins were approved to be hired as special counsel under Trustee 
Olsen, misrepresented Dulberg as agreeing to Binding Mediation in Circuit Court on 
August 10, 2016 and asked Associate Judge Meyer to delay the next status hearing 
to December 12, 2016 after the binding mediation was to take place on December 8, 
2016.


(f) �That the Baudins’ and Allstate’s acts in violation of the automatic stay, started laying 
the groundwork as early as June 16, 2016 and finally set the binding mediation date 
for December 8, 2016 on August 10, 2016 in the Circuit Court. This happened before 
Trustee Olsen was even appointed to the position on August 31, 2016 and before 
Trustee Olsen received permission from the Honorable Judge Thomas M. Lynch, to 
hire the Baudins as special counsel and permission to enter into the proposed capped 
Binding Mediation Agreement on October 31, 2016.


(g) �That the Baudins filed their APPEARANCE as REGULAR COUNSEL in 12LA178 
on 11/6/2015 in violation of the automatic stay.


(h) �That there is no APPEARANCE filed by the Baudin Defendants that is not VOID in 
case 12LA178.


(i) �That the Baudin Defendants’ failed to file an APPEARANCE to represent the 
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bankruptcy estate in case 12LA178 after being hired as special counsel by Trustee 
Olsen.


(j) �That Trustee Olsen received permission from the Bankruptcy court to enter into the 
proposed Binding Mediation Agreement and later made a choice and Trustee Olsen did 
not act and sign on the advice of his special counsel the Baudins.


(k) �That Trustee Olsen did not “pursue” and “exercise control “over the claim/asset and in 
doing so Abandoned the asset and it reverted back to the DEBTOR.


(l) �The Baudin Defendants were approved and hired as Special Counsel for the Estate and 
in such a capacity had no standing to execute a Binding Mediation Agreement for the 
DEBTOR.


(m) �The only party with standing over abandoned assets is now the DEBTOR.


(n) �That there can be no agreement between Allstate and the Baudin Defendants acting 
as counsel for the bankruptcy estate to have the case dismissed with prejudice in the 
circuit court on December 12, 2016 since the Baudins failed to file any appearance 
anywhere that is not VOID and had no standing since they did not represent the 
DEBTOR.


(o) �Trustee Olsen and the Baudins collected the monies paid out by Allstate after 
ABANDONING the ASSET that then reverted back to the DEBTOR.


These are a lot of messy, complicated issues that could all be avoided by avoiding any mention 
of ‘bankruptcy’, which is exactly what Gooch, and later Clinton and Williams did.


GOOCH ON THE BAUDINS AND BALKE


3-4.	In “ARDC Complaint against Clinton and Williams”, in both Chapter 1 and Chapter 2, 
Sections D and E it has been shown that Clinton and Williams suppressed about 40 email 
documents involving Brad Balke and all email documents of the Baudins. This is consistent with 
the suppression of the subject of bankruptcy, since both the Baudins and Balke acted in violation 
of the automatic stay.


3-5.	Before Clinton and Williams acted, Gooch also suppressed all mention of violations of 
the automatic stay by Mast and Popovich, Balke, and the Baudins, as well as all mention of 
bankruptcy, from the COMPLAINT1 and the AMENDED COMPLAINT2.


GOOCH ON TILSCHNER V SPANGLER


3-6.	How Clinton and Williams suppressed documents and information of Tilschner v Spangler 
has already been described in detail in ‘ARDC Complaint of Clinton and Williams’, Chapter 2, 
Section C and is shown in ‘Visual Aid 5- …”. As Explained, Williams was given explicit written 
instructions on at least 6 different occasions about the importance of Tilschner v Spangler. The 


1 � Exhibit 3-5-17LA000377--2017-11-28--COA_0002.pdf
2 � Exhibit 3-5a-17LA000377--2018-06-07--COAA_0021.pdf
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Example of Tilshner v Spangler, Chapter 2, section C demonstrates the extreme degree to which 
Williams has gone to suppress Tilschner v Spangler and then to deny any knowledge or memory 
of Tilschner v Spangler.


3-7.	Like Clinton and Williams, Gooch was also told about the importance of Tilschner v 
Spangler at his first meeting with Dulberg. Dulberg brought a certified slip copy of Tilschner v 
Spangler1 (that Mast had given to Dulberg in his office) to Dulberg’s first meeting with Gooch 
and Dulberg handed the document to Gooch. Gooch looked at it, gave it back to Dulberg and told 
Dulberg he didn’t need the document because he just pulled up the Tilschner v Spangler decision 
on in his computer.


3-8.	Gooch never mentioned Tilschner v Spangler when crafting both the COMPLAINT2 and 
AMENDED COMPLAINT3.  In fact, about 5 years later  (on November 30, 2022) when Dulberg 
did mention Tilschner v Spangler in  DEFENDANTS THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS 
J. POPOVICH, P.C. AND HANS MAST’S RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S 2nd AMENDED 
MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE DEPOSITION OF HANS MAST, the defendants answered this 
way:


12) Of concern is a statement on page 19 of Dulberg’s motion in which he argues that 
Mast had insisted that the decision in the Tilschner v. Spangler case was the reason 
Dulberg would not prevail in the underlying case against the McGuire’s. The statement is 
inexplicably made “on information and belief.” This is unacceptable. Dulberg has made 
no such disclosure in fact discovery (now closed) about this very specific discussion 
between Mast and himself regarding the Tilschner case. If Dulberg believes he has 
disclosed it, he should be required to identify where in his answers and amended answers 
to discovery or his deposition he has identified such discussion with this amount of 
specificity. Defendants submit that no such disclosure exists.4


3-9.	Dulberg first met Gooch on December 16, 20165 and informed Gooch of the importance of 
Tilschner v Spangler. Dulberg also informed Gooch about the importance of Tilschner v Spangler 
in the letter6 which offended Gooch and led to Gooch’s firing on October 8, 20187. Dulberg sent 
the same letter to Clinton and Williams as an email8 attachment and discussed the letter and the 
importance of Tilschner v Spangler with Clinton and Williams at their first meeting. As has been 
explained in detail in Chapter 3, Section C Williams was given explicit instructions about the 
importance of Tilschner v Spangler at least 6 different times.


3-10.	 Yet on November 30, 2022, the defendants made the claims in ¶ 129 of DEFENDANTS 


1 � Exhibit C0d-2019-04-18_1038 AM_SENT-3_318 Cases from December meeting 1 of 3_ATTACHMENTS.pdf
2 � Exhibit 3-5-17LA000377--2017-11-28--COA_0002.pdf
3 � Exhibit 3-5a-17LA000377--2018-06-07--COAA_0021.pdf
4 � Exhibit C16-2022-11-30_Flynn Answer to Motion to Strike Mast Deposition.pdf (Page 4)
5 � Exhibit 2A-2018-11-17_1247 PM_SENT_Supporting Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 6-9)
6 � Exhibit C1-second_amended_complaint_comments.txt
7  �Exhibit 2A-2018-11-17_1247 PM_SENT_Supporting Documents_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 10-11)
8 � Exhibit C1a_2018-10-10_1734 PM_SENT_Legal Malpractice Case_ATTACHMENTS.pdf (Page 234-242)
9 � Exhibit C16-2022-11-30_Flynn Answer to Motion to Strike Mast Deposition.pdf Page 4
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THE LAW OFFICES OF THOMAS J. POPOVICH, P.C. AND HANS MAST’S RESPONSE 
TO PLAINTIFF’S 2nd AMENDED MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE DEPOSITION OF HANS 
MAST and a few weeks earlier, on November 4, 2022, Julia Williams inexplicably stated in 
court “I cannot recall what cases were included and weren’t included at this point.”1 as if its 
been years, when if fact Williams responded to the subpoena about “Exhibit 12” four times since 
August 2, 2022. Williams responded to the subpoena on September 1, 2022, September 9, 2022, 
October 2, 2022, and October 5, 2022. Williams was then Ordered to appear before the Judge 
over the exhibit. It is just not credible that Williams would not know the contents of an exhibit 
she created, used in a deposition, recently was issued a subpoena over and gave four responses 
to, the last of which was less than a month before her statement in court, then had to go through 
the process and preparation for her appearance in court over the same exhibit and still doesn’t 
know what was in the exhibit.


3-11.	 For these reasons the example of Tilschner v Spangler shows the extreme degree to which 
both Gooch, Clinton and Williams went to not allow any mention of Tilschner v Spangler to 
appear in the 17LA377 common law record or 17LA377 records of proceedings for over 6 years.  


3-12.	 This is a pretty straight-forward and very well documented case of the suppression of key 
evidence of ones own permanently disabled client by 2 successive legal malpractice attorneys.


ON SAUL FERRIS DOCUMENTS


3-13.	 The Saul Ferris Declination letter is located in Gooch’s case file at:


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Misc/Kupets & DeCaro Letter 
RE Case 3.5.15.pdf2


3-14.	 A different letter by the law firm Kupits and DeCaro is located in Gooch’s case file at:


Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From Client/Misc/Ferris, Thompson & 
Zweig Letter RE Case 3.4.15.pdf3


3-15.	 The names of the two files were inexplicably switched in Gooch’s case file on the Gooch 
Thumbdrive. We could not find any other files on the entire Gooch Thumbdrive which had their 
file names switched.


3-16.	 In ARDC Complaint against Clinton and Williams, Chapter 2, Section B explains how:


a)  Williams suppressed emails between Ferris and Dulberg and emails mentioning Ferris


b)  Williams acted to Dulberg as if she did not know who Ferris was and who Balke was


c)  �Suppressed information that showed the actual Ferris declination letter was in the 


1 � Exhibit C11-2022-11-04 17LA377 Report of Proceedings.pdf (Page 18 Lines 21-23)
2 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/Misc/Kupets & DeCaro Letter RE Case 3.5.15.pdf
3 � Group Exhibits (showing key folders)/Exhibit folder 1-Gooch Thumbdrive/Dulberg Paul Dulberg Files From 


Client/Misc/Ferris, Thompson & Zweig Letter RE Case 3.4.15.pdf
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possession of Popovich and Mast for almost 2 months while Popovich and Mast 
actively denied it was in their office


d)  �Opposing counsel Flynn filed an RFA to get Dulberg to admit that the letter was sent 
to his home directly from the office of Ferris


e)  �Opposing counsel Flynn then deposed Ferris and had Ferris claim his law office sent 
the letter directly to Dulberg through first class mail.


f)  �The address at the top of the letter was that of the law office of Thomas Popovich, and 
Flynn must have known this the entire time.


3-17.	 Just one of the suppressed email documents would have contradicted a number of claims 
Flynn was trying to make.  For example, on March 20, 2015 3:49 PM Dulberg sent an email to 
Balke with the Subject “Missing Depositions and pre-trial settlement brief” stating:


“Hi Brad, As we discussed, I was to receive via certified US Mail depositions and 
communications between Hans Mast and myself from Saul Ferris an attorney in Gurnee, 
IL. Saul Ferris number is (847) 263-7770  I called Saul Ferris office last week and was 
assured they were sent. I was told to give it another week. I called Saul Ferris office again 
today to find out they were mailed to and signed for at 3416 W. Elm St. McHenry, IL. 
by someone named Anne Oupl on March 7th. This is Hans Mast office. I called Hans 
office and apparently no one by that name works there and no one knows anything about 
receiving the certified mail. I’m at a loss as to how these documents were sent to the 
wrong place and am a bit furious because it has the memo about the pre-trial settlement 
you wanted to see.”1


3-18.	 The packages with the Ferris declination letter and the pretrial settlement memo remained 
in the law office of Popovich for almost 2 months, yet opposing counsel Flynn was pressuring 
Dulberg to admit he received the letter directly from Ferris at his home by first class mail.


1 � Exhibit 7a-Hans Mast2-65.pdf
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3-19.	 TABLE 1 compares the actions of Gooch and Clinton/Williams toward each of these 5 
subject matters.


TABLE 1


GOOCH CLINTON & WILLIAMS


BANKRUPTCY Never mentioned Dulberg’s bankruptcy  in 
Complaint or Amended Complaint


Removed all mention of Dulberg’s bankruptcy from Second 
Amended Complaint.  (described in ‘ARDC Complaint against 
Clinton and Williams’, section 2-A)


SAUL FERRIS
In ‘Gooch Thimbdrive’ the Ferris declination 
letter was misnamed and switched with 
‘Kupets and DeCaro’ declination letter


Suppressed all but 1 email document mentioning Ferris.


Pretended to not know who Ferris was.


Suppressed Ferris declination letter


(described in ‘ARDC Complaint against Clinton and Williams’, 
section 2-B)


TILSCHNER v 
SPANGLER


Was in possession of certified slip copy of  
Tilschner v Spangler at first meeting.  Gave 
it back to Dulberg saying he does not need it  
because he already downloaded it.


Never mentioned Tilschner v Spangler in  
Complaint or Amended Complaint.


Nothing on Tilschner v Spangler in ‘Gooch 
Thumbdrive’.


Hid  certified slip copy of Tilschner v Spangler and went to extreme 
lengths to deny they knew anything about the Tilschner v Spangler 
case.


(described in ‘ARDC Complaint against Clinton and Williams’, 
section 2-C)


BALKE


Never mentioned Balke: 


a) Contracted with Dulberg even though he 
knew Dulberg had no standing as plaintiff in 
the case.


b) Agreed to take case to trial.


c) Represented Dulberg in 22nd Judicial 
Circuit Court  even though the automatic stay 
was in place.


d) Did not enter into any agreement with 
Bankruptcy trustee who he knew has standing 
as plaintiff in the case.


e) Knew or should have known that Gagnon 
already effectively admitted to negligence.


f) Only discernible work done in 22nd 
Judicial Circuit Court was to try to get 
Dulberg to agree to Allstate settlement for 
$50,000 or less.


Hid around 40 documents of email communication between Balke 
and Dulberg.


Claimed to not know who Balke was


Never mentioned Balke: 


a) Contracted with Dulberg even though he knew Dulberg had no 
standing as plaintiff in the case.


b) Agreed to take case to trial.


c) Represented Dulberg in 22nd Judicial Circuit Court  even though 
the automatic stay was in place.


d) Did not enter into any agreement with Bankruptcy trustee who he 
knew had standing as plaintiff in the case.


e) Knew or should have known that Gagnon already effectively 
admitted to negligence.


f) Only discernible work done in 22nd Judicial Circuit Court was to 
try to get Dulberg to agree to Allstate settlement for $50,000 or less.


(described in ‘ARDC Complaint against Clinton and Williams’, 
section 2-D).


BAUDINS


Never mentioned the Baudins: 


a) Contracted with Dulberg even though they 
knew Dulberg had no standing as plaintiff in 
the case.


b) Agreed to take case to trial.


c) Represented Dulberg in 22nd Judicial 
Circuit Court even though the automatic stay 
was in place.


d) Did not enter into any agreement with 
Bankruptcy trustee who they knew had 
standing as plaintiff in the case until 
10/31/2016.


e) Knew or should have known that Gagnon 
already effectively admitted to negligence.


f) Only discernible work done in 22nd 
Judicial Circuit Court was to try to get 
Dulberg to enter into Binding Mediation with 
Allstate with a $300,000 cap.


Never mentioned the Baudins: 


a) Contracted with Dulberg even though they knew Dulberg had no 
standing as plaintiff in the case.


b) Agreed to take case to trial when contracting.


c) Represented Dulberg in 22nd Judicial Circuit Court  even though 
the automatic stay was in place.


d) Did not enter into any agreement with Bankruptcy trustee who 
they knew has standing as  plaintiff in the case until 10/31/2016.


e) Knew or should have known that Gagnon already effectively 
admitted to negligence.


f) Only discernible work done in 22nd Judicial Circuit Court was 
to try to get Dulberg to enter into Binding Mediation with Allstate 
settlement with a $300,000 cap. 


(described in ‘ARDC Complaint against Clinton and Williams’, 
section 2-E)


3-20.	 The actions of Clinton, Williams and Gooch (all legal malpractice attorneys) can be better 
understood as a part of a larger pattern of successive attorneys committing fraud on the same 
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(fully disabled) client. Table 2 below compares strategies and methods used by 5 consecutive law 
firms retained by Dulberg.


TABLE 2


ATTORNEY STRATEGY METHODS


Popovich & 
Mast


Personal Injury Case


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally weakens 
or sabotages plaintiff’s 


case


Destruction and concealment of evidence 


Forged signatures


Staged depositions (depositions with no actual court reporter present)


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


Worked in violation of federal bankruptcy court automatic stay to force a settlement against 
client’s wishes


Represented a client when they knew client  had no standing as plaintiff in court


Tried to put a cap of $50,000 on the remaining case


(ARDC Complaint against them will be submitted)


Balke
Personal Injury Case


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally weakens 
or sabotages plaintiff’s 


case


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


Worked in violation of federal bankruptcy court automatic stay to force a settlement against 
client’s wishes


Represented client when they knew client had no standing as plaintiff in court


Tried to put a cap of $50,000 on the remaining case


(ARDC Complaint against him will be submitted)


The Baudins
Personal Injury Case


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally weakens 
or sabotages plaintiff’s 


case


Forgery


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


Worked in violation of federal bankruptcy court automatic stay to force a settlement against 
client’s wishes


Represented client when they knew client had no standing as plaintiff in court


Placed a cap of $300,000 on the remaining case


(ARDC Complaint against them will be submitted)


Gooch
Legal Malpractice Case


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally weakens 
or sabotages plaintiff’s 


case


Said he would file lawsuit in 7 days but actually filed more than 11 months later


Gooch law office did not even scan client’s files into digital form for 6 months


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


Suppression of information on bankruptcy, Baudin and Popovich negligence


Filed 2 complaints which intentionally included a ‘trap door’ to allow defendants to get out 
of the case on 2-619 and 2-615 summary judgment


(ARDC Complaint against him will be submitted)


Clinton & 
Williams


Legal Malpractice Case


Plaintiff’s attorney 
intentionally weakens 
or sabotages plaintiff’s 


case


Massive and sophisticated suppression of key evidence and information during pleadings and 
discovery document disclosure process


Knew defendant Gagnon already admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury


[Described in detail in this Complaint]


3-21.	 What immediately stands out (in red font) is that all successive attorneys to the same 
(fully disabled) client used the same overall strategy:  To intentionally weaken or sabotage their 
own client’s case. All three personal injury attorneys retained by Dulberg acted in violation of 
the automatic stay.  They continued to appear in the 22nd Judicial Circuit Court (which had no 
jurisdiction) claiming to represent Dulberg (who had no standing as plaintiff). All 3 PI attorneys 
made efforts (in orange font) to place a cap on the remaining case without having any authority 
from the Bankruptcy Court to do so. Both legal malpractice attorneys suppressed all information 
of how all 3 PI law firms violated federal bankruptcy laws (in blue font) from Dulberg and from 
the complaints.
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3-22.	 Another feature that stands out (in green font) is that all five law firms (3 personal injury 
law firms and 2 legal malpractice law firms) knew or could easily discover that the personal 
injury defendant (who was operating the chainsaw that injured Dulberg) Gagnon effectively 
admitted negligence for Dulberg’s injury as of early March, 2013. None of the 5 law firms ever 
informed Dulberg of this. The original defendant and operator of the chainsaw, Gagnon, admitted 
to being negligent:


about 10 months before Dulberg was coerced into settling with the owners of the property 
(the McGuires) on which the accident occurred and for whom Gagnon was working.


about 21 months before Dulberg declared bankruptcy.


about 39 months before any binding mediation agreement with Gagnon was mentioned. 


about 40 months before any cap was placed on any binding mediation award from 
Gagnon.


3-23.	 There was no reason for any of these activities to take place if the defendant who operated 
the chainsaw already admitted to being negligent.


3-24.	 Gooch targeted the same subject matters of information that were later targeted by Clinton 
and Williams.  In short, the Gooch methods of document and information suppression were 
seamlessly aligned with the more sophisticated system of document and information suppression 
of Clinton and Williams and targeted the same key subject matters to weaken and sabotage the 
valid claims of their own (permanently disabled) client. 


EVIDENCE OF SECRET COMMUNICATION BETWEEN NETWORKS OF 
ATTORNEYS TO SYSTEMATICALLY DEFRAUD A (PERMANENTLY DISABLED) 
CLIENT


3-25.	 What reveals Gooch as working as part of a network of attorneys is that: 


a) �He acted in a way that protected all 3 personal injury law firms from facing any 
consequences for their fraudulent actions at the expense of his own client.


b) �His subject matters of information suppression formed a seamless match with those of 
Clinton and Williams.


3-26.	 What reveals the 3 personal injury attorneys as working as part of a network of colluding 
attorneys is that:


a) �All 3 PI law firms violated the federal bankruptcy automatic stay with a casualness and 
sense of impunity that is quite shocking. They each acted in a larger Court environment 
in which each attorney who violated the automatic stay seemed to have no fear of 
being detected or called out by any other attorney.


b) �All 3 PI attorneys were in possession of an effective admission of negligence against 
the person (Gagnon) who was operating the chainsaw that injured Dulberg, yet none of 
them acted on the admission for their own client’s benefit.
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c) �All 3 PI attorneys knew Gagnon never answered any interrogatory questions yet none 
of them objected.


d) �All 3 PI attorneys acted to place an upper limit on the PI case 12LA178 (in violation of 
the automatic stay) and to coerce Dulberg to accept the upper limit crafted by opposing 
counsel.


3-27.	 On the contrary, it strains credulity to claim these alignments of similar actions by 
different law firms, one after another, are all mere coincidences, and that these different law 
firms were acting independently of one another. Such a claim, though expected from those 
caught in the act of collective fraud against a permanently disabled person, is simply not 
plausible.
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